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NOTICE TO THE PRESENT EDITION.

The first volume of the " Collections of the Maine Historical Society,*' has been out of print for

several years. As five additional volumes have, from time to time, been published, the demand for

the first volume, to complete the sets, has been continually increasing. The society have therefore

concluded to reprint the first volume, and in doing so they improve tie' occasion to make such

corrections and additions as experience and the lapse of time render expedient and useful.

It is now forty-two years since the organization of the society, under a charter granted to forty-

nine of the most respected citizens of the State. Of these, hut 7iine survive. When the first

volume was published, thirty-three years ago, the society consisted of one hundred and thirty-five

members, of whom thirty-five are living. A list of the present resident and corresponding members

is contained in the sixth volume.

On the publication of the first volume, our society was poor and struggling with many difficulties

We had no funds, and depended for our ways and means on our annual assessment, with difficulty

collected, and from some members not at all; and it was not until, by the great exertions of tho

late John McKeen, a grant of a half-township of land was obtained from the State, that any ease,

or much progress attended our exertions. Little interest had previously been taken among our

people in historical studies, and although our State furnished most ample materials for the anti-

quarian explorer, scarcely any persons were found ready to engage in the pursuit. Few historical

or literary works had, previous to the publication of our original volume, been issued from any press

in the State. Gov. Sullivan's history of Maine appeared in 1795, from the Boston press.

" A statistical view of the District of Maine," by Moses Greenleaf, was published by him in

Boston, in 1S16. Greenleaf's Ecclesiastical Sketches of Maine, a most valuable work, was published

in 1821, at Portsmouth, and the same year Mr. Freeman's edition of the Rev. Mr. Smith"s journal

appeared from a Portland press. The latter two in duodecimo form. In 1S29, Moses Greenleaf

published his map of Maine, and accompanied it with an octavo volume of statistics relating to

Maine, prepared with great care, and making an important addition to the history of the State.

This was printed in Portland. The next historical work preceding the publication of our first

volume was the " History of Saco and Biddeford," in 1830, by George Folsom, a member of this

society, which contained the result of much careful research, and preserving many interesting and

valuable facts. Beside these, only a few brief articles in pamphlet form, or in the Massachusetts

Historical Collections, relating to Maine, had been published.

In 1831, the volume, of which the present is a reprint, made its appearance, the first of a series

of six octavo volumes, which have been issued by the society, and which have produced no incon-

siderable effect in turning public attention to many points of great interest in the early colonization

and progressive history of our State. The present volume is issued in the hope that it will still

further excite historical investigation, promote the honor and usefulness of the Maine Historical

Society, and shed new light upon our early history.

The additional matter of this volume will be included in brackets [ ].





INTRODUCTORY REMARKS,

{Original Edition.)

It is as natural for a young nation as for a young man to look forward to the future rather than

back on the past, to he more occupied by anticipation than reflection, and to live on hope rather

than memory. To such a nation, its limited experience offers but few objects for memory to dwell

upon, but little which can either gratify self-love or bring with it self-reproach; but the unbounded

future presents itself dressed in the gayest colors of hope. The mind loves to dwell on the pleasing

visions of anticipated prosperity, while it fashions to itself, at will, a career of successful enterprise

and honorable fame ; and, before tho proud consciousness of its untried strength has been chastened

by tho lessons of experience, easily and naturally slides into a tone of sentiment, partaking a little

of ostentation and vain glory.

This has often been made by foreigners a matter of reproach to our countrymen. We are told

sometimes in a style of sarcasm, and sometimes in a tone of patronising superiority, that Americans

love rather to tell of what they will do than of what they have done, and boast more of what their

posterity will be than of what their ancestors have been. If such be peculiarly the habits of our

countrymen, they are the natural result of our position and circumstances. If our eyes are turned

forward rather than back, it is not because the past presents any thing humiliating to our pride.

We are yet but a young people, just emerged from our minority. All about us is yet youthful and

vigorous, and it is as evident to foreigners as to ourselves, that we have obtained but a small part

of our growth. The immense extent of territory under our jurisdiction admits of an almost

indefinite extension of national power; and when we look forward to the time when the march of

civilization under our free constitutions and laws shall have passed the rocky mountains, and

populous cities and a cultivated country shall bo seen flourishing under our dominion, on tho

shores of the Pacific Ocean, a little, we think, may bo pardoned to the spirit of exaggeration. It

must be a cold and phlegmatic temper that is not warmed into something of enthusiasm, perhaps

of extravagance, in contemplating what may, nay what certainly will be our destiny as a nation,

if we are true to ourselves. With such prospects before us, it is at least excusable to dwell on the

brilliant future with a little more complacency than do the inhabitants of other countries, which

have already received the maximum of their growth, who have attained the zenith of their power,

and who must comparatively decline in the scale of nations as their neighbors rise.

But if we are still a young people, we have passed the period of childhood. We have arrived at

an age in our national existence when there is a sober and chastened pleasure in looking backward

as well as forward. The mosses of more than two centuries have already gathered themselves on

the tombs of the first settlers. Tho early events of our national story are beginning to appear

misty and indistinct in the distance, and are fast acquiring something of that hallowed interest that

belongs to antiquity. The largo number of journals, memoirs, and other writings, which have

been published within a few years relating to the early history of the country—tho avidity with

which these have been received by the public, and the numerous historical and antiquarian societies

formed for the purpose of collecting and preserving the records of the primitive condition of tho

country, and of its earliest inhabitants, all serve to show that a lively and general interest is now

beginning to be felt in what may be termed, without doing much violence to the proprieties of

language, our ancient history.
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It was this feeling that led to the establishment of the society, the first volume of whose collec-

tions is now offered to the public. The object of an historical society is not to furnish a history of

the country, but to collect and preserve authentic materials, out of which it may be written. As a

society, we can do nothing more than indicate the objects which more particularly deserve attention.

The rest must be the work of individual diligence.

One of the first if not the very first object of interest to an American antiquarian is whatever

relates to the original inhabitants of the country. This singular and interesting people are now

fast vanishing from the face of the earth. Nation after nation of the race once exercising a pow-

erful sway, and extending their authority over a wide extent of country, have already disappeared.

Fuimus Troes has long ago been recorded of the proudest empires that adorned this western world,

and the inevitable doom of the melancholy remains of other tribes and nations, is already sealed

and cannot be very long delayed. The utter extinction of an entire race of people, once occupying-

a whole continent, and constituting one of the great varieties of the human race, will be one of the

most extraordinary, and at the same time one of the most melancholy events in the whole record

of history. And judging of the future from our experience of the past, at the end of two centuries

more we can scarcely expect that there will remain a single pure and unmixed specimen of the

primitive inhabitants of this country, as the representative of his race in the whole extent of the

American continent.

In future ages, when this singular people shall live only in memory, their character, manners,

and history will become objects of extreme curiosity. Every thing that can illustrate their man-

ners and customs, their civil polity, their domestic habits, and their primitive religion, will be

sought for with an avidity and an intensity of interest, of which we of the present age, who know

them familiarly, can form but a very inadequate idea. Their strange and romantic story, so differ-

ent from that of the civilized races of men, the unconquerable firmness of their wild and savage

natures, their daring spirit of adventure, their patient courage, and the steady and inflexible obsti-

nacy with which they refused to adopt the manners and incorporate themselves into the society of

their civilized conquerors, even when this alternative presented itself as the only possible mode of

escaping the total and utter extinction of then- race, will become the theme of popular poetry and

stirring romance. The traditions which they leave behind them under the creative hands of future

poets, will constitute the true mythological or romantic period of our history. And they will not

only afford materials for the imagination of the poets, but subjects of curious speculation in phil-

osophy. Their moral and physical natures will, we may easily believe, become the objects of

profound philosophical investigation, and reasons will be sought for to explain a fact, so remarkable

and unique in the history of the world, as the entire extinction of a race of men, once composing

numerous and powerful nations. When a barbarous nation has been subjugated by one of superior

civilization, the usual result has been, that the conquered people have adopted the manners of

their conquerors, have become mixed with them by intermarriages, and the two nations have soon

become amalgamated into one, leaving no visible trace by which the different origin of the indivi-

duals can be distinguished. But the American Indians instead of adopting the manners and arts

of their conquerors, instead of becoming incorporated with them by intermarriages, have kept

themselves separate, have rapidly declined and melted away, and disappeared like snow before the

summer sun. They have steadily and sullenly refused to adopt modes of life which they see pre-

vailing among their more refined neighbors. All attempts to introduce among them the arts and

sciences have failed; even the most common and useful arts, have been received among them, but

to a very limited extent, and that with a sullen and disdainful reluctance ; and in proportion as

they have been received, the nobleness and generosity of their wild nature has been debased by

the vices of civilization, instead of being elevated and adorned by its refinements and graces.

The causes which have made the natives of this country an exception to all the other experiences

of the world, are well worthy the inquiries of curious and philosophical minds, and will be likely

to excite a higher interest as they recede more and more from future ages. They seem to imply a

difference, if not an inferiority of nature. Everything therefore which can serve to illustrate their

character, whether in their primitive and natural state, or in their decline and degenerate con-
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dition under the deleterious influence of their civilized conquerors, must always be regarded with

great interest.

Whatever relates to the first settlement of the country by our ancestors; all that can contribute

to illustrate their character, their trials and sufferings, and the primitive institutions of the earliest

settlers comes to our mind with another and still deeper interest. It is the early establishments

of a people, the manners, habits, opinions, and modes of thinking which prevail at this time, that

most deeply imprint themselves on the national character. The impressions then made are in

their effects analogous to those made on the mind of an individual in the tender and susceptible

age of childhood. Opinions and creeds are adopted with but little examination, and they take

their place in the mind, and fix themselves with a firmness, bearing a pretty just proportion to

the facility with which they are received. It is the age of credulity, and the faith of a people is

lively and strong in exactly the same degree as their reasoning powers and habits of observation

are weak and unpracticed. Their opinions, their manners, and their tastes, their religious belief,

their civil establishments, and their holiday diversions, in succeeding ages pass into traditions and

become fixed on the nation by habit: and their accidental and casual amusements as well as their

more important civil institutions become incorporated into the civil and social condition of their

posterity, or at least produce upon them very perceptible ami lasting effects. From this view of

the subject, it is evident that every thing which will throw light on the manners, opinions, the

civil and social condition, and domestic habits of the first settlers of the country must have a deep

interest in the minds of their posterity. It not only gratifies that natural and laudable curiosity

which wishes to know, intimately and thoroughly, the character and condition of our progenitors,

but it will serve to explain in a great measure the causes of that civil and social state, which we

now find actually existing.

This adherence to ancestral traditions does not indeed prevail in an ecmal degree among all

nations. The principle is seen to operate in its full and entire vigor among the nations of Asia.

The manners, the opinions, modes of social life, the laws and form of government which were

established there at the earliest period to which written history extends, have been preserved by

an almost unbroken tradition to this day. Everything remains immovable and unchangeable.

This monotonous fixedness has given occasion to a lively writer to say that, "The East always

motionless, does not exist in time, but lives only in space, the image and history of nature." In

looking back through thousands of years, on that primitive seat of the human race, in contemplating

all the revolutions of power, which have from time to time visited and scourged its inhabitants,

and beholding the same forms of government, the same civil and social condition, the same man-

ners, habits, customs, and beliefs, all remaining unchanged and immovable, so that a man who had

fallen asleep in the age of Sesostris, and awakened in that of Tamerlane, in mingling in society and

observing the actual forms of civil and social life, would find so little new, that he might suppose

he had slept but a single night ; the writer seems almost justified in saying that Asia has not existed

in the succession of time, but in the unchangeableness of eternity.

Other people indeed, at least, the European races, have not gone on like those of the east, century

after century, in the beaten track of their ancestors, without change and without improvement.

The more secluded a people are, the more they live within themselves, the slower will they be

to depart from the customs of their ancestors, while the more free their intercourse with other

nations, the more rapidly will be effaced the vestiges of ancient manners. The European races are

endued with a migratory disposition, a restlessness and vivacity of temper, which renders it impos-

sible for them to remain stationery, and keeps them in a perpetual struggle to advance and improve

their condition. But with the same general tendency to improvement, there are diversities of

character and taste which lead them in the path of improvement in different directions; and the

cause of these differences as they now exist, may be found in part, at least, in the accidental diver-

sities of the civil and social condition of the nations when they were yet rude, when the national

mind was in its infancy, and received impressions which continued to have an influence in giving a

direction to national manners and customs for ages after the causes, which produced these impres-

sions, had ceased to exist. It is this silent influence of ancient customs and opinions which renders
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the primitive annals of every people, who have hecome renowned in history, so curious and instruc-

tive to a philosophic mind. And it is this which should lead us to collect with pious and patriotic

diligence, all the monuments and memorials which can place in a full and clear light the peculiari-

ties of character that belonged to our am - -

The most marked feature in their character has been generally supposed to be their piety or

sense of religious obligation. It is perhaps that which stands out in bolder relief than any other,

and is therefore more apt to strike a cursory observer. But it may be doubted whether it is their

most peculiar and discriminating trait. This is one which belongs to them more in common with

the mass of mankind, than some others. All people, especially in the earlier stages of the progress

of their improvement, are strongly marked by their devotion to the duties of religion, in some

form or other. The pilgrims of Xew England were as much distinguished by their unquenchable

]Ove of civil liberty, as by their devotion to religion. If to these be added the high but not exag-

gerated value they placed on the general education of all classes of the people, and a hardy spirit

of enterprise which no obstacles or hardships could overcome or discourage, we shall have a group

of the most striking, and salient traits in the character of the Xew England Pilgrims. These were

their governing and absorbing passions, and they are such as mark a generous and proud elevation

of character. Their religion was intellectual, dwelling more in the understanding than in the

imagination, and stripped of all the parade of external show which addresses itself to the eye. It

was abstruse and metaphysical, adapted rather to sharpen the reasoning faculties, than to refine

and purify the taste : and while it drew its resources from a cultivated logic, it disdained and pro-

scribed the fascinating and elegant arts of painting and sculpture as aids to devotion. Abounding

in abstruse dogmas and subtle distinctions, it was naturally disputatious. To maintain a dispute on

the refined dogmas of a metaphysical creed, requires intellectual cultivation, and it was this meta-

physical character of their religion, more perhaps than any other cause, that led them to place so

high a value on the advantages of general education.

If the religion of the pilgrims was shaded with bigotry, and dishonored by an intolerant and

persecuting spirit, it is only a proof that they were not in all respects superior to the age in which

they lived: and it shows the powerful and lasting influence of national traditions on the national

mind, that these very blemishes on the brightness of their religious character are now pleaded, as

an apology or justification of something like the same intolerance at the present day.

It will be an important as well as a pleasing part of the duties of this society, to collect and

e all the memorials remaining, which will serve to illustrate the character of our ancestors.

If these exhibit some defects, they are such as belong rather to the age, than such as distinguish

them from their cotemporaries ; while the brilliant parts of the picture, particularly that zeal

and holy perseverance with which they laid a broad foundation of a system of general education

of all classes of the people, at the public expense, and that zealous and enlightened spirit of liberty

which disdained all compromise with despotic or usurped power, and established as wise a system

of safeguards for the protection and preservation of civil liberty as has ever been devised, honorably

distinguishes them not only from men of their own, but of every other age of the world.

The plan of our publication will include particular and local histories of towns, and we would

illy call the attention of such as are disposed to contribute to our collections to the history

of the earliest settlements connected with anecdotes of persons, who have been most distinguished

for th.ir enterprise or influence in the early state of the settlements. Biographical sketches of

men remarkable for their public services or for any peculiar traits of character, topographical

nitains. rivers. &c, the natural history of animals, birds, and fishes,

accounts of the former and present modes of cultivation, and improvements that have been made

i i husbandry, description <!" vegetable productions, minerals, ftc., observations on the weather and

climate, and the changes that have taken place since the first settlement of the country, accounts

of epidemic diseases, which may have prevailed, accurate bills of mortality, singular instances of

longevity or fecundity, will all fall within the plan of our publication, aud furnish materials for

future history.



ACT OF INCORPORATION.

STATE OF JVE^IJNTIE.

In the year of our Lord out- thousand eiglU hundred and twenty-two.

AN ACT TO INCORPORATE THE MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

Section- 1. Be it enacted by the Senate and Him tativestn Legislature assembled,

That William Allen, Albion K. Parris. Prentbs Mellen, William P. Preble, Ichabod Nichols, Edward

Pi - m, Joshua Wingate, Jr.. Stephen Longfellow, Jr., George Bradbury, Ashur Ware. Edward

Russell, Benjamin Orr, Benjamin Hasey, William Kins. Daniel Ruse, Benjamin .'.

Lincoln, Benjamin Yaughan. Nathan Weston, Jr., Daniel Coney. Robert H. Gardiner. Sanford

Kingsbery, Eliphalet Gillet. Thomas Bond, John Merrick. - [rue, James Parker, Ariel

Mann. Ebenezer T. Warren. Benjamin Tappan, Renel Williams. James Bridge. Hezekiah Packard,

Samuel E. Smith, William Abbot, Leonard Jarvis, John Wilson, William D. Williamson, Jacob

McGaw, David Sewall. John Holmes, Jonathan Cogswell, Josiah W. Seaver, William A. 1!

Joseph Dane, Ether Shepley, Enoch Line.. in. Horatio G. Balch, and Jndah Dana, ill with their

fellows ssociates - re, be, and they hereby arc, niade a body poUtic and corj

by the name of the Maine Historical Society; and by that name may sue and be sued, plead and

be impleaded; and may have a common sea] which they may alter at pleasure; and may hold real

to an amount not exceeding the yearly value of five thousand dollars, an I] ' ite to

an amount not exceeding, at any one time, fifty thousand dollars: and may choose a President,

Librarian. Treasurer, and such other officers, as they may think proper; and may make and ordain

by-laws for the government of said Society: provided the same are not repugnant to the constitu-

tion and laws of this State.

S Hon 2. Be it further enacted, That the annual meeting of said Society shall be held at

Brunswick, on the Tuesday next preceding the annual Commencement at Bow; r the

choice of officers, and the admission of fellows, and a general examination into the state of the

funds and con eras of the S ciety.

Fiox3. Beitfurther enacted, That it shall be the duty of sa I Society I

as far a.s the state of their funds will admit, whatever, in their opinion, may tend to explain and

illustrate any department of civil, ecclesiastical, and natural history, especially of this State, and

of the United Stat.-. And the Legislature of ' - 11 ever have the right to examine into

and ascertain the condition of said Society, and to alter, limit, restrain, enlarge, or repeal any of

the powers conferred by this charter of incorporation.

(I) Of Ihe forty-nine corporate members, nine were livirg- io February, 1854 ; viz: Win. Allen, Ashur Ware, Isaac
Lincoln, Nathan WesLon, Robert H. Gardiner, Peleg Sprat ue, Jacob M'tGaw, Jonathan Cogswell, and EJier Sbrpley.
Of ihese, Jud;e Sprague is the vounjest, having enteied upon nis list year in April, 1:63.
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Section 4. Be it further enacted, That Prentiss Mellen, Ichabod Nichols, and Edward Payson,

or any two of them, are authorized to call the first meeting of said Society, for the purpose of

organizing the same, to be held at such time and place as they may designate, by publishing a

notification of such intended meeting two weeks successively in such of the public newspapers,

printed in Portland and Hallowell, as they may think proper.

In the House of Representatives, February 4, 1822.

This bill, having had three several readings, passed to be enacted.

BENJAMIN AMES, Speaker.

In Senate, February 5, 1822.

This bill, having had two several readings, passed to be enacted.

DANIEL ROSE, President.

February 5, 1822. Approved, ALBION K. PARRIS.

STATE OIF nX^T-A-IUSTE.

In the year of our lord one thousand eight hundred and twenty-eight.

An Act repealing the second section of an Act entitled " An Act to incorporate the Maine Historical

Society," passed February 5th, A. D. 1828, [should be 1822] and for other purposes.

Section 1. Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in Legislature assembled,

That the second section of the act aforesaid, to which this is in addition, be, and the same is hereby

repealed.

Section 2. Be it further enacted, That the said Maine Historical Society, be, and hereby are

authorized to hold their annual and other meetings, at such times and places as they may think

proper.

In the House of Representatives, February 13, 1828.

This Bill, having had three several readings, passed to be enacted.

JOHN RUGGLES, Speaker.

In Senate, February 14, 1828.

This bill, having had two several readings, passed to be enacted.

ROBERT P. DUNLAP, President.

February 15, 1828. Approved, ENOCH LINCOLN.

The first meeting of the Maine Historical Society was held at the Council Chamber in Portland;

April 11th, 1S22, when it was duly organized, and the following officers chosen, viz

:

ALBION K. PARRIS, President.

BENJAMIN HASEY, Recording Secretary.

EDWARD RUSSELL, Corresponding Secretary.

PRENTISS MELLEN, Treasurer,

EDWARD PAYSON, Librarian.



EEGULATIONS AND BY-LAWS.

Adopted January 27, 1S29. (1.)

Article 1. Those members of the society who shall reside in the State of

Maine shall be denominated resident members ; all others corresponding mem-
bers, resident members alone shall be required to contribute to the funds of

the society.

Art. 2. Each resident member shall pay three dollars at the time of his ad-

mission, and one dollar annually, to create a fund for the benefit of the institu-

tion. But any member who shall at the time of his admission pay the treasurer

ten dollars shall be exempted from said payments. And any member shall bo

exempted from the annual payments who will at any time pay the treasurer

seven dollars in addition to the sums he may have before paid.

Art. 3. If any resident member shall neglect to pay his admission money

for one year after being apprised of his election, the said election shall be con-

sidered void. And if any member shall neglect to pay his annual assessment

for the space of two years after it becomes due, the treasurer shall notify him

of his neglect, and unless payment shall then be made, he shall no longer be

considered a member of the society. Each member at his election shall be

furnished with a copy of the by-laws and regulations of the society.

Art. 4. All elections of officers and members shall be made by ballot. No
member shall nominate more than one candidate at the same meeting ; and all

nominations shall be made at a meeting previous to that at which the ballot is

to be taken.

Art. 5. It shall be the duty of the president, and in his absence, of the

recording or corresponding secretary, to call occasional meetings of the society,

on the application in writing of the standing committee, or any five members.

Art. 6. There shall be chosen at the annual meeting a president, recording

secretary, corresponding secretary, a treasurer, a librarian, a cabinet- keeper,

a standing committee of five, and, whenever it shall be thought proper, a pub.

lishing committee.

Art. 7. For the election of members, as well as for making alterations in

or additions to the by-laws and regulations of the society, it shall be necessary

1. These By-laws were revised and amended in 1859, and are printed in the Cth Volume of the
Collections.
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ADVERTISEMENT.

nmdh originally contained within its limits the present town- .it Falmouth, Cape Eliz<

Portland, and Westbrook; and embraced a number of large and valuable islands lying in CascoBay.

It i> proposed in the introduetorj chapter of the following work, to present a cursory view of the

settlements made, and attempted to be made, on the coasl of Maine, pre^ \<>n< to that of Falmouth.

After which my attention will be more exclusively confined to that town, until Portland was

soparatelj incorporated; this latter town will then receive more exclusive notice.

The various changes in the government of the country, especially during the early period of its

history, will be briefly alluded to. as tiny had an immediate influence upon the happiness and

prosperity of the inhabitants.

The work will he divided into two parts; the firtt will bring the history down to the close of the

17th century, the second, to the 'present time.

The entire loss of the records in the destruction of the town by the Indians in 1690, has deprived

me of many valuable materials for the present work, and rendered my task at the same time more.

difficult and more unsatisfactory. Hut this consolation has accompanied me, that whatever facts I

could glean from the state and county records and other scattered sources of information, become

more valuable ami more interesting, by the unfortunate events whichhave destroyed the more

ready and minute aids to historical accuracy.

It is known to most readers, that previous to 1752, the year commenced on the 25th day of March

;

Consequently the time between tic first day ofJanuary and that day, was reckoned with the former

year, and it was usually expressed by a double date: an instrument for instance, bearing date

January 15, 1640, according to our calendar, would be expressed dan. 15, 1639—W. Somel

only 1639. In such cases I have invariably adapted the date to the present mode of computation,

so tar as regards the year. The day of the month by the new style, may be ascertained by omi

10 days in the 17th century, 11 in thel8th,and 12inthe 19th. The alteration was madeii

land by a statute passed iii 1751, to take , iicct January 1. 1752, and which authorized th uission

of the 11 intermediate days <: the calendar, from the 2d to the 14th day of September of thai

Cortland. 1831.
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TtfTRODCCTORY CHAPTER.

A BRIEF ACCOUNT OP TOE VARIOUS SETTLEMENTS ON THE COAST OF MAINE, PREVIOUS TO 1632.

In the beginning of the year 1603, there was not one Euro-

pean family on the whole coast of America, from Florida to

Greenland1
. There had been made, previous to this time,

three attempts to settle Virginia'2 , and one in 1602 by Gosnold,

to plant a colony on the southern shores of Massachusetts ; all

of which failed. The whole coast of North America was now

open to European enterprise, and although discouragements

had hitherto attended the efforts of commercial speculation,

yet it was not disheartened. In 1603, new exertions were

made, which resulted in bringing the Coast of Maine more into

notice, and preparing the way for future settlements upon it.

On the eighth of November of that year, Henry 4th of France,

granted a charter of Acadia and the neighboring country to

Du Mont3
, extending from forty to forty- six degrees of north

latitude. Du Mont having received a commission as Lieuten-

ant-general of France, the next year fitted out an expedition

in company with Champlain and others, with which he sailed

1 Prince's N. E. Chro. p. 1. - Prince's Intro., p. 104.

3 Hazard, vol. i, p. 45. This included the whole country from Philadelphia

to the St. Lawrence, nominally, but never in practise extending west of the

Keimebeck river. Du Mont took possession of all the territory east of Ken-

nebec river for the king of France. Sul. Hist, of M. pp. 52, 55.
9
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along the coast of Maine, formed a temporary settlement at

the mouth of the river St. Croix, where his company spent

one winter, and then established a colony on the other side

of the bay of Fundy, at a place which they named Port

Royal and now called Annapolis.* Du Mont, in two or three

years afterward withdrew his attention from Acadia and turned

his trade to the St. Lawrence. Poutrincourt, one of his

companions in the settlement of Port Royal, sent his son

Biencourt home in 1608, for supplies of men and provisions

for the colony. The Jesuits, ever zealous for the propaga-

tion of their faith, seized this occasion to send over two of

their order, Biard and Masse, to take charge of the spiritual

concerns of the new plantation, and probably also to extend

their regards to those of the Aborigines. But the priests

having assumed to control the civil affairs of the plantation,

soon quarreled with the government, and Biencourt, who, on

the return of his father to France, had become the leader of

the colony, caused them to remove to an island on the coast

of Maine, then called Mont Mansellf now Mount Desert.

Here they planted gardens, laid out grounds, and entered on

*[An interesting account of this first attempt to establish a colony in Maine,

is given by Les Carbot, who accompanied it as chaplain and historian. His

work was first published in Paris in 1G09 and has passed through many editions

in the original and translation. It was translated into English the first year

after its publication. Among the other companions of Du Mont were M. du
Pont Gravd! and M. de Poutrincourt, who established the colony at Port Royal.J

f[ Madame Guercheville, a zealous Catholic lady, with a«view to propagandism,

sent out Biard and Masse in 1611. In March, 1613, she sent another colony to

the aid of her first missionaries, which arrived at Port Royal, May 16. Thence,

they soon after sailed, intending to establish a mission at the mouth of the

Penobscot river. Owing to adverse winds and fogs, they put into a fine harbor
on the south-eastern side of Mount Desert, with which they were so much
pleased, that they concluded to make that place the center_of their operations.

Biard says the savages called the island Pemetig. Champlain gave it the name
of Mount Desert and the English, that of Mount Mansell, in honor of Sir Robert
Mansell, one of the Plymouth patentees. Biard, after the capture by • the

English returned to France where he died in 1622.]
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the work of their mission. 1 But they were not permitted long

to enjoy even this state of seclusion. Disputes had already

arisen between the English and French, respecting the boun-

daries of the grants from their respective governments, which,

from want of information relating to the situation of the coun-

try, run with strange perplexity into one another. The French

occupied Port Royal, St. Croix, Mount Desert, and the mouth
of the Penobscot, and had erected forts at each of those places

for their protection.2 The fort erected by the French on Mount
Desert was called St. Sauveur? The disposition of the French

to extend their settlements still further west, was viewed with

alarm by the government established in Virginia, and in 1G13,

they sent Capt. Argall to dislodge them. In the summer of

this year, he seized the forts at Mount Desert, St. Croix, and

Port Royal, and carried their ship and pinnace, together with

their ordnance, cattle, and provision to Jamestown. 4 The

French power in this quarter was thus interrupted, and it was

a number of years before it recovered from this disaster.

The name of Accidie is first given to the territory between

forty and forty-sixth degrees of north latitude, in the grant

from Henry 4th to Du Mont. The origin of the name is

lost. Douglass5 says it is derived from Arcadia in Greece.

The French in the treaty of St. Germain, call the country

Lacadie, (i which Prince Anglicises Laccady7 .* The English

1 Belknap Biog., p. 340. 2 Hutch, land titles in Maine p. -.

3 Sullivan, p. 15G. 4 Prince, vol. i, p. 37.

5 Prince, vol. i, p. 305. 6 Hazard, vol. i. p. 319.

" Hazard, vol. ii, p. 78. Some writers have supposed this name to be derived

from a tribe of Indians in that territory called the Passamaquoddy or Passa-

niacadie tribe.

[ Mr. Porter Bliss, long a resident among the Seneca Indians, and who has a

good understanding of the Indian language, in 1861 informed me that Acadi is

a pure Micmac word, meaning "place," and is always used in combination with

some explanatory word, as Sttga-bun-Acadi, the place of ground nuts, the

present Shebenacadi in Nova Scotia ; Umskegu-Acadi, Great Meadow, Grand Pr^,

Passam-Acadi, a place of fish.
|
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occupied ihc country exclusively as far east as the Kennebec,

and the French, except when dispossessed by treaty or actual

force, had exclusive occupation as far west as the Penobscot.

The country between these two rivers was debatable land,

both parties continually claiming it, and each occupying it by

intervals. In the commission to the French governor before

the treaty of Utrecht in 1713, Acadia is described as extend-

ing to the Kennebec, and the whole was then ceded to the

English. But in the construction of that treaty, the French"

restricted the territory to Nova Scotia. 1 In fact the limits

of the province were extremely indefinite, and the title de-

pended iipon possession, which was continually fluctuating.

The colony of Du Mont was undoubtedly the first attempt to

plant upon the coast of Maine, and continued longer than any

other which did not become permanent.

The expedition of Du Mont, [with the voyage of Martin Prinn

in 1608, and the very successful exploration of the coast of

Maine, between the Penobscot and Kennebec rivers, of which

a glowing account was given by Rosier,] drew the attention ot

the English to this side of the Atlantic ; and in April, 1606, a

charter was procured for the large extent of territory lying

between the thirty-fourth and forty-fourth degrees of north

latitude, and from the Atlantic to the Pacific ocean. This

large tract was divided between two colonies; the first, stretch-

ing to the forty-first degree of north latitude, was bestowed

upon a London company, and called South Virginia, the

northern part was called North Virginia, and was granted to

a company of adventurers in the town of Plymouth. Each

colony had a distinct council of thirteen appointed by the king

for the management of its affairs.2

Under this charter, the adventurers sent out colonies in 1607.

1 Hutch, vol. iii. p. 3. Memorials of the English and French Commissioners,

respecting the limits of Xova Scotia, London, 1755.

- Hazard, vol. i, p. 50.
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The one from Plymouth destined to the northern shore, con-

sisted of two ships and one hundred men, under command of

Capt. George Popham, as president, and Capt. Rawly Gilbert,

as admiral. They sailed from Plymouth on the 81 si of May,

and arrived at Monhegan upon this coasl August 11th. and

then continued on to the Kennebec, where they planted them-

selves upon an island, in the mouth of that river. 1* Here

they built a fort, called St. George, and made preparations for

a permanent settlement. But a succession of peculiarly un-

favorable•circumstances3 terminated the existence and hopes

of this colony within one year from its commencemenl ; and

at the same time raised prejudices against the northern coast,

which checked the spirit of colonization and discovery, and

threw back the settlement of the country for a number of

years. Smith says that "the country was esteemed as a cold,

barren, mountainous, rocky desert;'' and Prince adds, that

1 Prince, vol. ii, pp. 21, 254. Smith's N. E., p. 173. Jocelyn. The late Gov
Sullivan thought he found traces of this settlement on Stage Island, as late

as 1778 ; others suppose the settlement to have been made on Parker's Island,

forming part of Georgetown.

*[Recent investigation has proved the statements of Sullivan and others, in

regard to the locality of the first settlement to have been erroneous; and it is

now known to have been on the peninsula on the west bank of the river near

its mouth, called by the Indians Sabino, but now bearing the English name of

Ilunneweirs Point. Strachey, who was one of the colony, gives a description

of the spot, which cannot be mistaken. The United States government are

erecting a fort upon or near the site of Fort George, called Fort Popham, in

honor of the Governor of the first colony. The occasion was improved, August

29, 1862, by the Historical Society, ami a very large and respectable assemblage

of persons from our own and neighboring States and the British Provinces, to

commemorate the two hundred and fifty-fifth anniversary of the planting of the

colony, by addresses and appropriate services, and placing memorial stones on

the walls of the fortress. The leading address wa§ by John A. Poor, Esq., of

Portland. A full account of these interesting transactions was published in a

'•Memorial Volume of the Popham Celebration,'' issued from the press of

Bailey & 1

Prince, vol. ii. p. 25.
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they " branded the country as over cold and not habitable by

our natives."

The large preparations that were made, and the circum-

stances attending this expedition, show that the design of the

adventurers was to establish a permanent settlement. They had

their President, their Admiral, Master of Ordnance, Sergeant-

major, Marshall, Secretary, Captain of the Fort, Chaplain, and

Chief Searcher, all of whom constituted the council. But the

colony arrived late in the season, and had but little time to

make those preparations which were necessary to protect them

from the severities of our climate in an inhospitable wilder-

ness. They had been led to expect from the highly-colored

descriptions of previous voyagers, a winter not more unfavor-

able than those to which they had been accustomed in England,

and did not take those precautions which experience would

have dictated. We can easily imagine that the hardships

which they endured,- would have discouraged stouter hearts

than even they possessed, inexperienced as they were in the

long and severe winters which then visited our northern region.

After the ill success of this undertaking, the patentees turned

their attention rather to commercial enterprises than to the

forming of settlements ; and some of them individually sent

out vessels every year to fish upon the coast, and to trade with

the natives. Sir Francis Popham, son of Chief Justice Popham,

and Sir Ferdinando Gorges were principally engaged in this

business.

In the spring of 1614, an expedition was fitted out under

command of Capt. John Smith, " to take whales," " and also

to make trials of a mine of gold and copper ; if those failed,

fish and furs were then their refuge." 1 Smith adds, "we found

this whale-fishing a costly conclusion, we saw many, and spent

much time in chasing them, but could not kill any ; they being

a kind of jubartes and not the whale that yields fins and oil as

1 Smith's N. E., p. 175, and his letter to Lord Bacon.
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we expected." They were also disappointed in their mines,

and he thinks the representation was rather a device of the

master to get a voyage, " than any knowledge he had of any

such matter." Leaving his vessels, Smith, with eight men in

a boat, ranged the whole coast from Penobscot to Cape Cod :

within which bounds he says, he saw at least forty several

habitations upon the sea-coast, the principal of which was

Penobscot. He adds, "westward of Kermebeke, is the country

of Ancocisco, in the bottom of a large deep bay, full of many

great lies, which divides it into many great harbours." 1 This

refers to Casco bay, and Ancocisco, may be supposed to express

the English sound of the aboriginal name of that extensive

and beautiful bay.* Smith returned to England, where he

arrived the 5th of August, and immediately prepared a map of

the country which he had visited, and gave it the name of

Neiv England.

The next year (1615) Capt. Smith was again employed by

Sir F. Gorges and others to visit New England, with a view of

beginning a settlement there : for this purpose he was furnished

writh two ships, and a company of sixteen men to leave in the

country. But he was driven back to port by a violent storm

which carried away his masts. On the second attempt, he was

captured by the French. It does not appear that this celebrated

adventurer ever came to America after 1611: he published his

description of New England in London in 1616, and died in

that city 1631.

Every year after this, vessels were sent to the coast to trade

with the natives and to fish ; many of which made profitable

l Smith's N. E., p. 192. The same name is given to this hay hy Jocelyn in

his voyages, and the natives ahout it are called the Ancocisco, by Gorges in

"America painted to the life." p. 43.

*[Aucoeisco came as near the sound of the Indian word for the bay as could

be expressed in English, as Smith and the early voyagers caught the sound.

It should be pronounced l'h-kos-is-co, the Uh being a guttural. The meaning of

the Indian term according to the best interpreters is Crane or Heron, from the

bird which then frequented its waters, as it does still.]



32 MAINE HISTOEICAL SOCIETY.

voyages. In 1G15, Sir Richard Hawkins sailed from England

with a commission from the council of Plymouth to do what

service he could for them at New England ; but on arriving

here he found a destructive Avar prevailing among the natives,

and he passed along the coast to Virginia. 1 In 1616, four

ships from Plymouth, and two from London, made successful

voyages, and obtained full cargoes of fish, which they carried

to England and Spain. Sir F. Gorges also sent out a ship

under the charge of Richard Vines, who afterward became

conspicuous in the early history of Maine ; he passed the win-

ter at the mouth of Saco river ; from which circumstance, I

suppose, was derived the name of "Winter Harbor,2 which it

still bears.

In 1618, Capt. Edward Rocroft was sent by Gorges in a ship

of two hundred tons, to fish upon the coast. He captured a

French bark lying in one of the harbors, sent her crew in his

own ship to England, and retained the bark with a view to

winter here. But some of his men conspiring to kill him and

run away with his prize, he put them on shore at Sawguatock

( Saco) and in December, sailed for Virginia. The men who

were thus left, succeeded in getting to Monhegan Island, where

they spent the winter,3 and were relieved in the spring by Capt.

Dermcr, in another of Gorges' ships.

Monhegan was a convenient stage for fishermen, and had

become a place of usual resort ; it is therefore probable, that

buildings, or temporary shelters, had been erected upon it.

In 1620, a new charter was obtained of King James, by the

Northern Company, bearing date November 3d. It embraced

the territory lying between the forty and forty-eighth degrees

of north latitude, including the country from Philadelphia to

1 Prince, vol. ii, p. 43.

- Douglass, vol. i, p. 394, derives the name from Mr. Winter, who he says

had a farm there : but in this fact he is mistaken: Winter's farm was at t he

mouth of the Spurwink.

'•*> Prince, vol. ii, p. 54,
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the Bay of Chaleurs, which empties into the gulf of St. Law-

rence. 1 The patentees were the Duke of Lenox, the Marquises

of Buckingham and Hamilton, the Kails of Arundel and War-

wick, Sir LVrdinando Gorges, and thirty-four others, who were

styled the council established at Plymouth, in the county of

Devon, for the planting, ruling, ordering, and governing of

New England, in America.

Under this patent, were all the grants made, which originally

divided the country between the Hudson and the Penobscot

rivers ; beyond these bounds the patent of 1620, had no prac-

tical operation.

While these patentees were procuring a new charter, the

more successfully to prosecute their design of private emolu-

ment, another company was arising of an entirely different

character, who. without concert with the patentees or without

their concurrence, and it may even be said without any design

of their own, were to give the strongest impulse to the coloni-

zation of New England, and to stamp their peculiar features

upon its future destinies.

The English residents at Leyden, had determined to seek

security and freedom of wqrship in the wilderness of America,

and in the summer' of this year commenced their voyage for

the Hudson river. But either by design or accident, they fell

short of their destination, and arrived at Cape Cod, on the

10th of November, 1620. In this neighborhood they resolved

to remain, and having selected the spoT which they named
Plymouth, they established there the first permanenl settlement

that was mad.? in New England. The French had then a

plantation at Port Royal, and the English had settlements in

Virginia, Bermuda, and Newfoundland. The nearest planta-

tion to them was the one at Port Royal.3

We can merely allude to this interesting company, in the

1 Hazard, vol. i, p. 103. Trip. ... 7<i 94.

- Prim
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pursuance of our plan to bring into view the different settle

ments and attempts at settlement upon our coast previous to

the one, of which it is our purpose particularly to speak.

Other hands have done justice to this important event in the

history of this country.

On the 10th of September, 1621, the north-eastern part of the

territory included in the charter to the council of Plymouth,

was granted by James I, to Sir Wm. Alexander. 1 This was

done by the consent of the company, as Gorges in his descrip-

tion of New England declares.2 The grant to which the name

of Nova Scotia was given, extended from Cape Sable north to

the St. Lawrence, thence by the shore of that river and round

by the sea to the first point ; included Cape Breton and all the

islands within six leagues of the western, northern, and eastern

parts, and those within forty leagues south of Cape Sable.

Sir William was engaged in this adventure by becoming

acquainted with Capt. Mason, who a short time before had

returned from Newfoundland.

In 1622 or 1623, Sir William Alexander subdued the French

inhabitants within his grant, carried them prisoners to Virginia,

and planted a colony there himself. 3*

New England being now brought into notice by the respec-

l Prince, vol. ii, p. 111. Hazard, vol. i, p. 134. - Hazard, vol. i, p. 387.

3 Jeremiah Dummer's Mem., vol. i. 3d Ser. Mass. H. Col., p. 232.

*[On tlie 12th of April, 1635, the council of Plymouth granted to Sir Wm.

Alexander all that part of the main land in New England from St. Croix ad-

joining New Scotland along the sea coast to Pemaquid, and so up to the Kine-

beqni to be called the county of Canada. Also Long Island, west of Cape Cod,

" to be holden per gladium comitatus, that is to say to find four able-bodied men

to attend on the Governor of New England on fourteen days notice." Saimbun/'s

Col. Papers, vol. i, p. 204. In 1G22, Capt. Robert Gorges, the eldest son of Sir F-

Gorges was appointed Governor of New England, with Capt. Francis West,

Christopher Lewitt, and the Governor of New Plymouth as his counselors.

Lewitt came over in 1G23 and visited the coast of Maine from Piscataqua to

Pemaquid. An interesting account of this voyage is contained in the 2d Vol. of

the Me. Hist. Col.]
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tability of the persons who had engaged in its cause, and

especially by the profits derived from the fish and fur trade,

the intercourse with it was yearly increasing. In 1621, ten

or twelve ships from the west of England, procured fall cargoes

of fish and fur : in 1622, thirty-live ships, in 1623, forty ships,

and inl624, fifty ships were engaged in the same trade. 1 So

great seems to have beeE the excitement in this new channel

of speculation, that the Plymouth company found it necessary

to procure a proclamation from the king, which bears dad'

Nov. 6, 1622, to prevent " interloping and disorderly trading"

upon the coast.- It is alleged in the proclamation, that persons

without authority committed intolerable abuses there, not only

by destroying timber and throwing their ballast into the har-

bors of the islands, hut by selling war-like implements and

ammunition to the natives and teaching them their use.

The same year. August 10th, the council of Plymouth

granted to Sir F. Gorges and Capt. John Mason, two of their

company, "all the lands situated between the rivers Merrimac

and Sagadehoc," extending hack to the great lakes, and the

river of Canada.3 In 1623, they sent over David Thompson,

Edward and William Hilton, and others, who commenced a

plantation upon the west side of the Piscataqua river, which

was the first settlement in New Hampshire, and the beginning

of the present town of Portsmouth. 4 Gorges and Mason con-

tinued their joint interest on the Piscataqua, having procured

a new patent in Idol, including all their improvements on both

sides of the river until 1634, when they made a division of

their property
;

5 Mason took the western side of the river, ami

Gorges the eastern, and they each procured distincl patents

for their respective portions, which thej afterward separately

pursued.

1 Trinco. vol.i. pp. 99, 117. - Hazard, vol. i, p. 151. Sainsbury.

3 Hutchinson, vol. i, p. 2S">. Hubbard, N. E., p. 614.

4 Prince, vol. i, p. 1 33. An. of Portsmouth. 5 Belk., vol. i, N. H. App.
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Gorges did not confine his attention exclusively to Piscataqua,

even while he continued a partner in the Laconia patent ; for

in February 1623, we find that he had already a plantation

established upon the island of Monhegan. This was probably

for the accommodation of the fishermen ; but it had become of

sufficient importance to draw thither the persons settled in

Massachusetts bay for supplies. l This plantation must have

been commenced in 1621, or 1622, and was the first which

continued for any length of time upon any part of the territory

of Maine. Monhegan is a solitary island, about twelve miles

south-east of Pemaquid point, which is the nearest main land.

From this island the transition to the main was easy ; and from

the concourse of vessels to this neighborhood in the fishing

season, it might naturally be expected that here settlements

would be early formed. Such appears to have been the fact,

and we find that in 1625, a settlement was commenced at New
Harbor, on Pemaquid, which continued to increase without

interruption, until the destructive war of 1675.

On the 15th of July, 1625, John Brown, of New Harbor,

purchased of Capt. John Somerset and Unongoit, two Indian

Sachems, for fifty skins, a tract of land on Pemaquid, extend-

ing eight miles by twenty-five, together with Muscongus

island. 2 The next year Abraham Shurt was sent over by

Alderman Aldsworth and Giles Elbridge, merchants of Bristol,

as their agent, and was invested with power to purchase Mon-

hegan for them. This island then belonged to Abraham

Jennings of Plymouth, of whose agent, Shurt purchased it for

<£50.3 In 1629, Aldsworth and Elbridge sent over to Shurt

a patent from the council of Plymouth, for twelve thousand

1 Prince, p. 127. Morton's Mem., p. 109.

2 Report of Mass. Com. on the Pemaq. title 1811, p. 107.

3 Shurt was about forty-four years old when he came over, and was living in

1G62, aged about eighty. In 1075, there were no less than one hundred and

fifty-six families east of Sagadahoc, and near one hundred fishing vessels
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acre? of land on Pemaquid, bounded north by a line drawn from

the head of the Damariscotta to the head of the Muscongus

river, and from thence to the sea, including the islands within

three leagues of tin 1 shore.'* Here was* commenced the first

permanent settlement od the main land within the territory of

this state, by any European power. Thomas Elbridge,the son

of Giles, the patentee, came over a few years afterward and held

a court within this patent, to which many of the inhabitants of

Monhegan and Damariscove repaired, and made acknowledg-

ment3 of submission. This place from its numerous harbors

and islands, possessed many advantages of trade as well as of

farming and fishing, and rapidly increased in population and

business. An additional grant was made to the same persons

in 1632, in which it is recited, that the land is
tw next adjoining

to this place, where the people or servants of said Giles and

1 We here present a fac-simile of the signatures of Abraham Shurf. and

Thomas Elbridge.

*[Sainsbury in his colonial calendar, says that this grant -was to be laid out

near the river of Pemaquid. with an additional one hundred acres to every per-

son who should settle there, in consideration of the patentees having undertaken

to build a town and settle inhabitants there for the good of the country, lie

puts this down under date Nov. 24, 1631.]

2 Sil. Davis's Report, p. 40.

owned between Sagadahoc and St. Georges' river.

council in 1675.

Sil. Davis's statement to the
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Robert are now settled, or have inhabited for the space of three

years last past." 1 *

1 Since the above was put to press, I have discovered among a bundle of old

papers, just put into my hands, a certificate or declaration of Samuel Welles,

of Boston, made in 1750, relative to a settlement at Pemaquid two or three years

earlier than I have stated in the text. I have introduced this certificate as

noticing an important fact, which, it is surprising, has hitherto escaped obser-

vation.

" This may certify all concerned, that I ha^e in my hand, a certain patent,

signed by the Earl of Warwick, and several other members of the council of

Plymouth, in England, dated June 1st, 1621, about three years after the patent,

constituting the council of Plymouth for ordering the affairs and settlement of

New England ; that is, of land between the fortieth and forty-eighth degree of

north latitude. The sum and substance of this patent of June 1st, 1621, is a

grant to one John Pierce, a citizen of London, of liberty to come and settle in

New England, with divers privileges in such place as he or his associates should

choose under certain limitations o£ not interfering with other grants, or settling

within ten miles of any other settlement, unless on the opposite side of some

great and navigable river, and on return made, to have further grants or privi-

leges. Now, as I am informed, and hear it is agreed on all hands, Mr. Pierce

came over and here he settled ; that is, at a place called Broad Bay, and there

his posterity continued above one hundred years ; some time after the settlement

was begun, one Mr. Brown made a purchase of a large tract of land of the

natives ; and as Mr. Pierce's was the most ancient [grant thereabouts, they

united the grant from home with the purchase of the natives, and it is said, that

the Indians have ever acknowledged the justice of our claims, and never would

burn Pierce's house, even though he left it. This patent is the ancientest I ever

saw about any part of New England, except the original grand patent to the

council of Plymouth, made as I remember in November, in 1618. This patent

is eight years older than that to Bradford and his associates for Plymouth

Colony, and nine years older than Massachusetts' first charter. I do not think

of anything further material or needful to be said, and the above is the best

account my time will now allow me to give.

There are six seals signed by the Duke of Lenox, Duke of Hamilton, Earl

Warwick, and some others, whose names I cannot find out.

SAMUEL WELLES."
Boston, 11th September, 1750.

*[In "early documents relating to Maine," is the following memorandum,

"A. D. 1753, April 6. Deposition of Samuel AVelles, of Boston, in New England,

declaring that in 1727, great search was made after the patent of the late colony

of Plymouth, which was studiously sought after in the years 1733 and 1739;
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Iii 1626, the governmenl of Plymouth colony established a

trading house on Bagaduce Point, at the mouth of the Penob-

scot, and lirsi gave this name to that river. The Indian name

was Penobsceag or Penobscook ; the French called it Penta-

quevette or Pentagoet. 1 The Baron de St. Castin, afterward

1 Sul. Hist, of Maine, pp. 36, 38, and His. of Pen. End., Mass. Hist. Col., vol.

ix, p. 209.

and again in 1741 at Plymouth, Ipswich, and Cambridge. At length Perez

Bradford, Esq., was desired to inquire, and with much difficulty he procured it,

having been designedly concealed."

Mr, Deane in a note to "Bradford's History of Plymouth Plantat'on," p. 107,

says, " this charter or patent was granted by the president and council of New

England " to John Tierce and his associates.'' and was in trust for the benefit of

the colony. * * The original is now at Plymouth, and is probably the oldest

document in Massachusetts officially connected with her history." A copy is

published in the Appendix to the " Popham Memorial Volume,' 1

p. 118.

It is generally assumed that this patent was for the settlement of Plymouth
;

but it contains no allusion to that colony, nor is it in trust for it. The language

of the charter is, " that whereas the said 'John Pierce and his associates havo

already transported, and undertaken to transport at their cost and charges,

themselves and divers persons into New England, and there to erect and build

a town, and settle divers inhabitants," &c. "Now the said president and council,

in consideration thereof, have granted, allotted, assigned, and confirmed unto

the said John Pierce and his associates, &c, one hundred several acres of

ground in New England for eveiy person so transported, or to be transported.

* * * The same land to be taken and chosen by them, their deputies, or

assigns, in any place, or places, whatsoever, not already inhabited by any

English." * * And they further grant to them fifteen hundred acres besides,

in consideration of said Pierce and associates having undertaken to build

churches, hospitals, bridges, &c.

This language has no application to Plymouth : it is the same used in the

grant to Aldsworth and Elbridgeof a portion of Pemaquid, 1629, and .Mr. Welles

expressly says in his deposition that Mr. Pierce came over and settled at Broad

Pay under his grant, and his posterity continued there above one hundred years.

It does not appear to me that the patent or charter referred to in Weston's

letter of July 6, 1621, contained in Bradford's history, is at all identified with

that of Pierce, but the fair construction of the language is against it. Weston

says, page 107, " We hare procured you a charter, the best we could, which

is belter than your former, and with less limitation." Now the famed charter to

Pierce of June 1. 1621, does not at all answer that description, and I must still

consider that the lost document has not yet come to light.]
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erected his fort upon the site of the old trading house, and that

spot, together with the adjacent territory still perpetuates the

name of one of the most persevering enemies that our early

colonists had to contend with. In 1632, the French rifled this

trading house of property to the value of XoOO sterling.

The same government having obtained a patent on the Ken-

nebec river, erected in 1628, a house for trade up the river,

and furnished it with corn and other commodities for summer

and winter. 1

About this time, Thomas Purchase settled upon land now

included within the limits of Brunswick : the precise year in

which he went there we cannot ascertain. In a deed to

Richard Wharton, July 7, 1684, from Worumbo and other

sagamores, they confirmed to him " lands conveyed to and

possessed by Thomas Purchase, deceased, who came to this

country near threescore years ago."2 Purchase continued to

live on the same estate, which he purchased of the Indians,

until the first Indian war, and is frequently noticed in the

affairs of the province. His widow married John Blaney, of

Lynn, and was living in 1683 ; he left three children, Thomas,

Jane, and Elizabeth.3 *

1 Prince, vol. i. p. G2, 2d part.
*

2 George Way was associated in the patent with Purchase ; the grant included

land lying on both sides of Pejepscot, on the eastern end of Androscoggin river,

on Kennebec river, and Casco bay. Eleazer Way, son and heir of George, con-

veyed his moiety to R. Wharton, 1683. The patent has long been lost, and is

only known to have existed by references in early deeds.

3 York Records. •

* ["June 16, 1632. The council for New England grant to George Way and

Thomas Purchase, certain lands in New England called the river Bishopscotte,

and all that bounds and limits the main land adjoining the river to the extent of

two miles." Sainsbury's Col. Paper, vol. i, p. 152. The river intended is doubtless

the Pejepscot, which was that part of the Androscoggin lying between the Ken-

nebec river and Lewiston Falls. In August, 1639, Purchase conveyed to the

Massachusetts Company his land at Pejepscot, reserving the portion occupied

and improved by him. An abstract of the deed is in Hazard, vol. i, p. 457.

For further interesting particulars relating to this title and the settlements at

Pejepscot, I refer to Vol. Hi., Me. Hist. Col. pp. 311 and 325.]

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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In 1628, the Massachusetts company procured a charter from

the council of Plymouth, and in June sent over Capt. John

Endicott and a few associates to take possession of the grant.1

They arrived in September at Naumkeag (Salem) and laid

the foundation of that respectable town and the colony of

Massachusetts.

Some time in the course of this year, Walter Bagnall, called

Great Walt, established himself upon Richmond's'2 Island, with-

in the limits of the ancient town of Falmouth. Winthrop3
, un-

der 1631, says, he lived alone upon the island three years, and

had accumulated about <£400, mostly in goods, by his trade

with the Indians, whom he had much wronged. He and a

companion were killed by an Indian sagamore, called Squi-

drayset, and his company, Oct. 3, 1631, who burnt his house

and plundered his property. Bagnall had been a servant to

some one in Massachusetts, but when or with whom he came

to this country is not known. §

1 Prince, vol. ii, p. 171. Hazard, vol. i, p. '2')'.).

- I am not able to determine whether the original name of this island was

Eichman't or Richmond. Winthrop in his first notice of it, calls it Richman's

Island. It is afterward in the same work, and by other authors sometimes called

Richman's, and sometimes Richmond. In the early records it is often written

Richman's, it is so written in a deed from Robert Jordan, its owner, to his son

John, in 1677. On the other hand, it has borne its present name for the las
t

century, and that mode of writing it is met with nearly as often in the previous

period. A Mr. John Richmond lived in the neighborhood in 1G3G and some years

afterward; but he does not appear to have had any connection with the island
;

and Mr. Trelawny, its owner, had a bark called the Richmond, which traded to

the island in the year 1639. It may have derived its name from the Duke of

Richmond, who was one of the council of Plymouth. The Indian name is en-

tirely lost, it has never been known by any other in our history but one of those

before mentioned.

;; Winthrop's Journal, vol. i, p. G2. Prince, 2d part, p. 36.

<) [In Sainsbury's Colonial papers is this memorandum : ''Dec. 2, 1631, Patents

to Walter Bagnall for a small island called Richmond, with 1500 acres of land:

and for John Stratton for 2000 acres of land south side of Cape Porpus river

or creek."]
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Squidrayset, Squidragusset, or Scitterygusset, in each of

which modes the name is spelt, was a sachem over a tribe on

the Presumpscot river. He subsequently conveyed lands up-

on the Presumpscot to the English, and a creek near the mouth

of that river still bears his name. This occupation by Bagnall

is the first attempt to establish a plantation within the limits

of Falmouth :
* and it seems that he had undisturbed posses-

sion there until the time he was murdered. In January, 1633,

an expedition fitted out in Massachusetts to intercept a pirate,

who was said to have been hovering about Pemaquid, on their

return stopped at Richmond's island, and inflicted summary

* [This is an error revealed by recent investigation. In Sainsbury's calendar

of state papers vol. i, p. 45, is this minute of Council : "May 5, 1623, Christopher

Levett to be a principal patentee & to have a grant of 0000 acres of land." "June

26, 1623. The King judges well of the undertaking in New England & more

particularly of a design of Christopher Levett one of the Council for settling

that plantation, to build a city there and call it York." In pursuance of these

arrangements, Levett came over in 1623, touching first at the "Isle of Shoulds,"

thence to the Piscataqua, from which he sailed eastward along the coast as far

as Pemaquid, visiting the various harbors and rivers with a view to select a

suitable place to establish his plantation. He says, ''And now in its place I

come to Quack, which I have named York. At this place there fished divers

ships of Waymouth this year (1623). Itlieth about two leagues to the east of

Cape Elizabeth. It is a bay or sound betwixt the main & certain islands which

lieth in the sea about one English mile & half. There are four islands which

make one good harbor." There can be no doubt of this location ; the islands

are what are now called Bangs. House, Hog, and Peaks. He adds, "And thus

after many dangers, much labor & great charge, I have obtained a place of

habitation in New England, where I have built a house & fortified it in a good

reasonable fashion, strong enough against such enemies as are these savage

people."

Levett, after making these arrangements, returned to England to bring over

his wife and children, leaving ten men in charge of his house and property.

But it does not appear that he ever came back, nor what became of the men

he left or his property. He gives no account of it in his narrative, although it

was not published until 1628. That the settlement was broken up and aban-

doned, is certain.l
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justice upon Black Will, one of the murderers of Bagnall, by

hanging him without the forms of law. 1 *

On the 12th of February 1G30, the council of Plymouth

made two grants on the Saco river ; each being four miles up-

on the sea, and extending eight miles into the country. That

upon the west side of the river was to John Oldham and Rich-

ard Vines'2 Oldham had lived in the country six years, partly

within the Plymouth, and partly within the Massachusetts

jurisdiction, and Vines had become acquainted with the country

by frequent voyages to it, and spending one winter at the place

where his patent was situated. It is mentioned in the deed

that the patentees had undertaken to transport fifty persons

thither within seven years to plant and inhabit there. This

condition was undoubtedly complied with, and Vines, who

managed the whole concern, immediately took possession of his

grant (June 25, 1630) and entered with zeal and ability upon

the means of converting it into a source of profit.

1 Winthrop, vol. i, p. W.

* [On the 11 tli of May, 1855, the occupant of Richmond's island, in ploughing

a field near the northern shore, turned up a stone pot lying about a foot under

the surface near what had been the foundation of buildings. On examination,

the pot was found to contain twenty silver coins of the reign of Elizabeth, viz

:

four one shilling pieces, sixteen sixpences, one groat, and two half-groats ; of

the reign of James I, there were four one shilling pieces, and one sixpence, the

latter, the only one dated, had the stamp of 160G. There were also twenty-one

gold coins, of which ten were sovereigns or units of the reign of James I, and

three half-sovereigns, seven sovereigns of the reign of Charles I, and one, a

Scottish coin of James as king of Scotland, dated 1G02. A full description of

this discovery and of the coin, was published in the "State of Maine," news-

paper, May i!t. 1855, and another article on the subject soon after in the

Massachusetts Historical Collection. A more full account is contained in Me.

Historical Collection, vol. vi. p. 127. A gold wedding signet 'ring was also

found in the pot, with the initials G. Y. in a love knot, inscribed upon it. No
clue was given as to the time the deposit was made, and it is only left to con-

jecture, to form any conclusion on the subject. The latest date on the coin ia

ltiiT), and it therefore may be justly inferred that the concealment was made at

or about the time of Baguall's murder in 1631.]

2 York Records.
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The patent upon the east side of the river was given to

Thomas Lewis and Richard Bonighton, and recites that it was

made "in consideration that said Thomas Lewis Gent, hath

already been at the charge to transport himself and others to

take a view of New England for the bettering his experience

in the advancing of a plantation, and doth now wholly intend

by God's assistance, with his associates to plant there," &cx
.

The patentees undertook to transport fifty persons there in

seven years at their own expense. Livery of seisin was given

June 28, 1631, and the proprietors in person successfully pros-

ecuted the interests of their patent. Such were the beginnings

of the towns of Biddeford and Saco, and the lands continue to

be held under those patents at this day. Oldham never ap-

pears to have entered upon his grant-; Vines occupied it fifteen

years, and sold it in 1645, in which year or early the next, he

went to Barbadoes, where he probably died. Lewis died on

his estate previous to 1640, without male issue, but Bonighton

continued to enjoy his proportion of the patent to a ripe old

age, when he was gathered to his fathers, leaving a large es-

tate to his children. 3

In 1630, the colony of Plymouth procured a new charter

from the council, for a tract of land fifteen miles on each

side of Kennebec river, extending as far up as Cobbisecontee.

Under this grant, they carried on a trade with the natives

upon the river for a number of years, and in 1660, sold the

title for four hundred pounds sterling, to Tyng, Brattle, Boies,

and Winslow 4
.

1 The original patent was accidently found by Mr. Folsom, when he was col-

lecting materials for his history of Saco, and has been deposited by him in the

Archives of the Maine Historical Society.

2 Oldham was killed by the Indians off Block Island July 20, 1G36. Winthrop,

vol. i.

3 For further particulars relative to these grants and the early history of Saco

and Biddeford, we take pleasure to refer to Mr. Folsom's history of those

places, in which is collected all the information of value that is to be obtained

on the subject.

i Hazard, vol. i. p. 208. Prince vol. i: p. 190. Sullivan p. 303.
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The same year, March 13th, the grant to John Beanchamp,

of London and Thomas Lev-erett of Boston, in England, was

made. It was ten leagues square, and was situated between

Muscongus and Broad hay, and Penohseot hay. Larue prepa-

rations were immediately made for carrying on trade there,

and agents were employed for conducting it.
1 This was origin-

ally called the Lincoln grant, and afterward the Waldo patent,

a large pari of it having been held by Brigadier Waldo, to

whose heirs it descended. It now forms part of the counties

of Waldo and Knox.

In the course of the same year (1G30) the council of Ply-

mouth granted to John Dy and others, forty miles square,

lying between Cape Porpus and Cape Elizabeth, This was

named the province of Lygonia, though commonly known in

early times as the plough patent'-. The latter term is supposed

to have been applied either from the ship, named the dough,

which brought over the first company, or from the circum-

stance that the adventurers were generally husbandmen, while

the usual employment of others upon the coast was commer-

cial.

The first company arrived at Winter Harbor in the summer

of 1631, in the ship Plough, but not being satisfied with the

appearance of the country and their future prospects, the prin-

cipal part of them continued on to Boston and Watertown,

where they were soon broken up and scattered3 . No further

effective measures seem to have been taken for the occupation

IJDoaglas, vol. i. p. 384. Prince, vol. i. p. 203.

2 Sullivan, pp. 114, 304, 310. I never have been able to discover this patent,

nor ascertain its date, oor who were the patentees. 1 do not know that there is

a copy of it in the country
; the original was sent over to Richard Dummer of

Newbury, in 1038, as agent, but was afterward ordered home. Hubbard men-

tions as patentees, John Dy, Thomas Luke, Grace Harding, and John Roach

of London. Sullivan says they were John Dye, John Sinitli, Brian Brinks, and

others.

3 Winthropj vol i. p. 58,
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of this grant until 1643, when it fell into the hands of Alexan-

der Rigby, under whom a government was established. This

subject will be adverted to hereafter more particularly ; the

claim to soil and sovereignty in that province, occupies a con-

siderable space in our affairs, and gave birth to a conflict with

Gorges, which was only quieted by a submission of all parties

to the jurisdiction of Massachusetts.

This year (1630) Richard Tucker established himself at the

mouth of Spurwink river in Cape Elizabeth, where he was

joined the same year by George Cleeves, and they unitedly

carried on business there between two and three years. In

1632, they were ejected by John Winter, who acted as agent

for Robert Trelawny and Moses Goodyeare, of Plymouth, Eng-

land who had procured a patent of a tract including all Cape

Elizabeth. 1 Driven from their residence on the Spurwink, they

sought refuge on the north side of Casco or Fore river, and

laid the foundation of the first settlement upon the Neck, now

Portland, in 1632.

The same year a settlement was commenced at Agamenticus,

now York, by Edward Godfrey. This was on York river, and

probably near the mouth; the inhabitants subsequently ex-

tended up the river for the purpose of erecting mills. Godfrey

states in a petition to the General Court of Massachusetts in

1654, "that he had been a well wilier, encourager, and furderer

of this colony of New England, for forty-five years past, and

above thirty-two years an adventurer on that design, twenty-

four years an inhabitant of this place (York) the first that

everbyltor settled ther." In 1634, he procured of the coun-

cil of Plymouth, a grant to himself and associates, Samuel

Maverick, Wm. Hooke, and others, of twelve thousand acres

of land on the north side of the river Agamenticus.9 The same

1 York Records.

2 Godfrey was for several years an agent of the Laconia company at Piscata-

qua ; after he established himself in Maine, his activity and intelligence soon
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year another grant of twelve thousand acres on the west side

of the river was made to Gorges' grandson, Ferdinando.*

The next grant we meet with of land upon this coast, was

of Black Point, now a part of Scarborough, to Thomas Cam-

mock, dated Nov. 1, 1631. This was by the council of Ply-

mouth, and extended from Black Point river to the Spurwink,

and back one mile from the sea. Cammock is said to have

been a relative of the Earl of Warwick; he was one of the

company sent to Piscataqua, and was there as early as 1631.

Possession of his grant, which included Stratum's Islands, ly-

ing about a mile from the point, was given to him by Capt.

Walter Ncale, May 23, 1633'. The patent Avas confirmed to

him by Gorges in 1640 ; the same year he gave a deed of it

to Henry Jocelyn, to take effect after the death of himself and

his wife. He died in the West Indies, in 1643, and Jocelyn

immediately entered upon possession and married Margaret,

* [Sainsbury, vol. i. p. 26G says, "Grant to Edward Godfrey and others of

Dec. 2, 1G31 to be renewed, March 2, 1G38."]

1 York Records.

brought liim into notice. Sir F. Gorges appointed him a counselor of his prov-

ince in 1640 ; and in 1642, he was Mayor of Gorgiana. He was chosen Gov-

ernor by the people in the western part of the State in 1640, and was the first

in Maine who exercised that office by the election of the people. He is said by

a committee on the Mason title in England in 1660, "to have discharged this

office with much reputation of integrity and justice." He died about 1664,

at an advanced age, leaving a son, Oliver. In a report to the king, 1661, signed

by Robert Mason and others, it is said " That Edward Godfrey hath lived there

many years, and discharged the office of Governor with the utmost integrity."

Winthrop says (vol. i. p. 137) that Sir F. Gorges and Capt. Mason sent a person

in 1634, to Agamenticus and Piscataqua, with two saw-mills to be erected, one

at each place.

—

Jfass. Jilea, 1654.

[Agamenticus was the Indian name for the river now called York, and

was also applied to the adjoining hills and territory. The composition of the

word, as the R6\r
. Mr. Ballard informs me, is Ahghemak-1i-koos, means snow

shoes river, from the pond at its source in that shape.]
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his widow. The tract is now held under this title by convey-

ance from Jocelyn to Joshua Scottow, dated July 6, 1666.*

December 1, 1631, the council of Plymouth granted to Rob-

ert Trelawny and Moses Goodyeare, merchants of Plymouth,

the tract lying between Cammock's patent "and the bay and

river of Casco, and extending northwards into the main lands

so far as the limits and bounds of the lands granted to the said

Capt. Thomas Cammock, do and ought to extend toward the

north." 1 The reason given for making this grant was, "the

having expended great sums in the discovery of those parts, and

their encouragement in settling a plantation there." This in-

cluded Cape Elizabeth, but Winter, the agent of the patentees

contended for a larger extent north, than seemed to be within

the just construction of the grant. A contest was maintained

many years on this subject, and although in practice, the pa-

tent never extended north of Fore river, yet the proprietors

affirmed that the Presumpscot river was the northern bound-

ary ; and this was asserted by the Jordan proprietors, as late as

the year 1769, when they became incorporated under the stat-

ute. They then described the bounds of the grant to extend

from the sea near the east side of Cammock's patent into the

country north-westerly fifteen miles, and then north-easterly to

a river called Casco or Presumpscot river, then down said river

to the sea, then along the sea-shore to the first mentioned

bounds by Cammock's patent. These limits included nearly

* [At the same time and included in the same minute of council, as copied

by Sainsbury, a patent was granted to Richard Bradshaw, of 1500 acres. The

memorandum does not define its locality, but its being included in the same

paragraph with Cammock's grant, and being mentioned by Cleeves, in his decla-

ration against Winter, (see appendix No 1,) as lying at Spurwink, I infer that it

was adjacent to Cammock's grant. Cleeves and Tucker claim it by purchase of

Bradshaw, but it clearly conflicts witli the right of Trelawny and Goodyeare,next

mentioned, and so the court of Gorges in 1G40 decided. Appendix No. 1, an-

nexed to this article in the volume, gives the pleadings and the result of the

trial.]

1 York Records.
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all of the ancient (own of Falmouth and part of Gorham, and

are entirely unsupported by any record. One cause of diffi-

culty on this subject arose from an uncertainty as to the true

Casco river, which was agreed to be the northern boundary of

patent. One party contended that i: was the Presumpscot, and

the other, with equal obstinacy, that ii was Fore river. A de-

cision of the Courl in 1640, applied the name to Fore river;

but a certificate 1 was soon afterward obtained and transmitted

to England, founded, as was pretended, on the statements of

the Indians and ancient settlers, that the Court had made a

mistake on the subject, and that the Presumpscot was the true

Casco river, This again revived the controversy and kept open

a most unhappy quarrel during the lives of the first settlers2.

We have now touched briefly upon all the settlements made

upon the coast of Maine previous to the year L632. Jt will be

perceived that the grants were all obtained from the council of

Plymouth, notwithstanding the patent to Gorges and Mason of

li'r22, which extended from the Merrimack to Sagadehock, and

nominally covered the whole of that territory. From this circum-

stance, it would he natural to conclude that the patent of 1622

was unexecuted, and that no title passed hy it ; and it appears

by the opinion of Sir William Jones, the Attorney General in

1
1

'• 70, that the "grant was only sealed with the council seal,

unwitnessed, no seisin indorsed, nor possession ever given with

the grant3 ." This idea i- corroborated hy the facts that Gorges

was sitting at the council board, and was a party to all the

snhsequent conveyances which parceled out the land within

the limits of that patent; and that both he and Mason received

1 York Records.

2 There is a tradition in the Jordan family, that the wife of a son of the first

Robert Jordan, needing some paper to keep her pastry from burning, took from

a chest of papers. Trelawny's patent, and used it for that purpose, which thus

perished, like many other ancient and valuable manuscripts.

:; Hutchinson, vol. i. p. 2^3. Hubbard, vol i. p. »',| t.
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a grant with six or seven others in 1631, of a small tract on

both sides of the Piscataqna, which included the improvements

they had previously made there. If the patent of 1622 was

valid, it would have been wholly useless to have procured

another within the same limits.

The settlements which commenced at Plymouth in 1620,

now dotted the whole coast from Cape Cod to the Bay of

Fundy ; they were indeed few and far between, but an inter-

course was kept up among them by their common weakness

and wants, as well as for the purposes of trade. And although

Massachusetts was the most powerful of the whole, and from

motives of religious zeal, no doubt sincere, discountenanced

the less strict settlers upon this coast, who on such matters

differed from them both in doctrine and practice, she fain

would profit by their fish and fur, which enabled her to pro-

cure from Europe articles of the first necessity for the infant

colony.

John Jocelyn, the traveler, who visited his brother Henry

at Black Point in 1638, sailed along the coast from Boston to

that place in July : he says "Having refreshed myself for a

day or two upon Noddle's island, I crossed the bay in a small

boat to Boston, which was then rather a village than a town,

there being not above twenty or thirty houses." 1 "The 12th

day of July I took boat for the eastern parts of the country,

and arrived at Black Point, in the province of Maine, which is

one hundred and fifty miles from Boston, the 14th day. The

country all along as I sailed, being no other than a mere wil-

derness, here and there by the seaside a few scattered planta-

tions with as few houses."2

1 Jocelyn's voyages, p. 18.

2 Jocelyn's voyages, p. 20.



CHAPTER 1

From 1628 to 1GW.

Richmond's Island—Spurwink—Dispute between Cleeves and Tucker, and John Winter about

the title—trade at richmond's island—the neck, now portland. kirst occupied—grants in

other parts of falmouth—mltton, macworth—first judicial court for the province—set-

TLERS in Falmouth in 1040.

The first occupation of any part of Falmouth by a European,

of which we have any evidence, was of Richmond's island, by

*"Walter Bagnall in 1628. The sole object of this man seems

to have been to drive a profitable trade* with the Indians by

whatever means were in his power. He lived on the island

alone, until by his cupidity he had drawn down the vengeance

of the natives upon him, and they put an end to his life and

his injuries October 3, 1631. He had accumulated a large

property for those days, which was scattered by his death. '§

His residence promoted the future settlement of the town in

no other way than by showing to others that the situation was

favorable for the accumulation of wealth, and thus tempting

them to engage in the same enterprise.

Richmond's Island lies nearly a mile from the southerly side

* [This must be taken with the exception of Levett's attempt to establish a

plantation on one of the islands in Portland Harbor in 1623, mentioned in a pre-

ceding page.]

1 Winthrop, vol. i. Four hundred pounds sterling.

\>[Was not the pot of gold and silver coin discovered on the island in 1855,

part of Baguall's gain"?]
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of Cape Elizabeth, is about three miles in circumference, and

contains about two hundred acres of land ; the passage may be

forded on a sand-bar, at low water. Although now it contains

but a single family, it formerly afforded employment to a large

number of men engaged in the fisheries ; and a market for con-

siderable cargoes of foreign merchandise sent every year to

this coast. As early as 1637, Richard Gibson, an episcopalian

minister was settled upon the island 1

, and it is handed down

by tradition with great probability, that a church was formerly

established there. Among the items of property in 1648, men-

tioned in an inventory as belonging to the patentees, which

will be more particularly referred to hereafter, are described

vessels for the communion service, and the minister's bedding.

*Bagnall occupied the island without any title ; but within

two months after his death, a grant was made by the council

of Plymouth, bearing date December 1, 1631, to Robert Tre-

lawny and Moses Goodyeare, merchants, of Plymouth, in Eng-

land, which included this island and all of the present town of

Cape Elizabeth. The patentees appointed Jolm^WjnJtej^who

was then in this country, their principal agent. A copy of the

grant was immediately sent to him, and on the 21st of July

1632, he was put in possession of the tract by Richard Vines

of Saco, one of the persons appointed by the grantors for that

purpose2
.

There were at that time settled upon the territory near the

mouth of the Spurwink river, George Clecves and Richard

Tucker, who had established themselves there in 16303
. They

had selected one of the most valuable spots in the tract, and

1 Winthrop, vol. ii. p. 6G. York records.

* The records in the State paper office, London, show a grant to Bagnall of

Richmond's Island, dated Dec. 2, 1631, which was after his death.

2 Two other persons mentioned, were "Capt. Walter Neale and Henry Joce-

lyn, leiftenant," both of whom lived on the Piscataqua.

3 Cleeves v. Winter, Hi 10. York Records. See Appendix, No. 1.
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claimed to hold against ^Wijitor two thousand acres of laud,

with their improvements, of which however they were forcibly

dispossessed. Cleeves in L640, when regular courts were es-

tablished by Sir Ferdinando Gorges, broughl an action of tres-

pass againsl Winter, to recover damages for the removal ; and

in his declaration he stated his title as follows: "joining him-

self in partnership with Richard Tucker, then of Spurwink,

who had also a right of inheritance there, the which he bought

and purchased lor a valuable consideration of Richard lirad-

shaw, who was formerlie settled there by Capt. Walter Neale,1*

by virtue of a commission to him given by some of the lords

patentees, and son as appearelh the said Richard Tucker was

lawfully possessed of a right of inheritance at and in the said

Spurwink. Alsoe the plaintiff further declareth that he join-

ing his right by promise and possession, with his partner's right

by purchase and possession, and soe being accountable to his

said partner, they both agreed to joyne their rights together,

and there to build, plante, and continue ; which when the plain-

tififhad done and was there settled for two years or thereaboutes,

this defendant, John Winter, came and pretended an interest

there, by virtue of a succeeding pattenl surrupticiouslie obtain-

ed and soe by force of arms expelled and thrust away the

plaint, from his house, lands, and goods."

1 Walter Neale arrived in this country in the spring of 1630, and returned in

the summer of 1633. He came out as Governor of the company at Piscataqua.

* [Walter Neale in a petition to the King in 1638, says, "He has served in all

the Kings expeditions forthelast 1Z0 years; commanded four years, and brought

to perfection the Company of the Artillery Garden. Lived three years in New

England and made greater discoveries than were ever made before. Exactly

discovered all the rivers and harbors in the habitable parts of the country, Prays

to be appointed Governor."

—

Sainsbunj, vol. i. p. 285.] We annex his full and

handsome autograph.
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The verdict in this case was as follows, "the jury find for the

plaint, the house and land enclosed, containing foure acres or

thereaboute joyning with the said house, and give him eighty

pounds for damage, and twelve shillings and six pence for the

cost of Courte." The whole court consisting of Thomas

Gorges, Henry Jocelyn, Richard Bonighton, Edward Godfrey,

and Richard Vines, concurred in rendering judgment, except

Vines, who dissented.

This document enables us to fix the time of the settlement

of Cleeves'and Tucker, upon the Spurwink at 1630, which was

probably the first made there ; and from the same record, it

appears that as early as 1632, they had buildings erected, and

had made preparations there for a permanent establishment.

The grant to Trelawny and Goodyeare defeated their plans

and drove them to another spot in Casco bay, within the limits

of Falmouth.

Winter, now left without interruption, immediately employed

himself to bring into action all the resources of the grant. He
soon built a ship upon the island, " settled a place for fishing,

and improved many servants for fishing and planting." J* In

August, 1632, the general court of Massachusetts in reference

to the murder of Bagnall, speak of a plantation existing there,

but notice it in such a manner that leads us to infer that it was

under no regular government. They say, 2 "in consideration

that further justice ought to be done in this murder, the court

order that a boat sufficiently manned be sent with a commission

to deal with the plantation at the eastward, and to join with

such of them as shall be willing thereto for examination of the

murder, and for apprehending such as shall be guilty thereof,

and to bring the prisoners into the bay." Winter was in the

country at the date of the grant, for, in his defence of the action

1 Prince, vol. ii. p. 36.

*[The bark Richmond was probably the vessel built.]

2 Prince, vol ii. pp. 39, 05. Colonial Records.
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before referred to, he speaks of the patent haying been scut

over to him ; and he had probably made such a representation

to the patentees as induced them to procure it. Pie, as well as

Clecves, came from Plymouth, England. Bradshaw, of whom
Tucker is said to have purchased land at Spurwink, could not

have occupied it previous to 1630, for he was put into possession

of it by Walter Neale, who did not come to the country until

the spring of that year. The probability is, that Bradshaw did

not long occupy the land, as we find no other notice of him

than appears in Cleeves's declaration.

We may suppose that the plantation referred to in the court's

order, was composed of Cleeves, Tucker, and Winter, with their

servants : we are not able to connect with it at that time any

other names. After the ejection of Cleeves and Tucker, in t lie-

latter part of 1632, Winter took the entire control of it, and

managed it several years for the patentees. In 1034, as early

as the first of March, Winthrop says, " seventeen fishing ships

were come to Richman's island and the Isle of Shoals."* The

fish were undoubtedly cured on the islands and neighboring

main, and must have afforded employment to a large number

of men. Jocelyn in 1038, says that Winter employed sixty

men in the fishing business. 1 The trade in beaver this year

in this neighborhood was also very successful ; the government

of Plymouth colony procured at their trading house on the

Kennebec, twenty hogsheads, which were sent to England.2

This was a principal article of commerce in the early settlement

of the country ; it was a sort of circulating medium or standard

of value among the white people and natives, and remittances

to the mother country were made by it. About the year 1040,

the price of it in Casco, was from six to eight shillings a pound,

and it was received in payment for commodities and labor.

*[Levett also speaks of a large number of fishing vessels in that vicinity, in

1623.]

1 Jocelyn, p. 25. - Winthrop, vol. i. p. 138.
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Winter, in 1640, was complained of for attempting to keep

down the price to six shillings. 1

In the spring of 1635, a ship of eighty tons, and a pinnace

of ten tons arrived at Richmond's island. In 1636, Mr.

Trelawny alone is mentioned as proprietor of the patent, and

March 26th of that year, he committed the full government of

the plantation to Mr. Winter, who appears after that time to

have had an interest of one-tenth in the speculation ; and in

addition to his proportion of the profits, he was to receive from

the general fund " forty pounds per annum in money for his

personal care and charge." 3 After this time the business of the

plantation was pursued with great activity until the death of

Trelawny, which took place in 1644.* They employed the ship

Agnes, the bark Richmond, the ships Hercules and Margery,

and one other, whose name is not mentioned. In 1638, Mr.

Trelawny sent a ship of three hundred tons to the island, laden

with wine. This was probably the proceeds of a cargo of fish

sent to Spain or Portugal. Large quantities of wine and spirits

were early sent to this coast, and produced as much wretched-

ness among those who indulged in them then, as they do at

the present day. Jocelyn described their effects from personal

observation in lively colors ; he says the money which the fish-

ermen received, did them but little good, for at the end of their

voyage " the merchant comes in with a walking tavern, a bark

laden with the legitimate blood of the rich grape, which they

bring from Phial, Madera, and Canaries ;" and after they get a

" taster or two," they will not go to sea again for a whole week,

till they get wearied with drinking, " taking ashore two or

three hogsheads of wine and rum, to drink when the merchant

l York Court Records. 2 Winthrop, vol. i. p. 157.

3 Jordan's Claim, York Records.

*[Robert Trelawny was of a respectable and wealthy family of Plymouth, and

represented that borough in Parliament. Moses Goodyeare was also well con-

nected, he married the daughter of Abraham Jennings, of Plymouth, the pa-

tentee of Monhegan.]
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is gone." " They often," he adds, " have to run in debt for

their necessaries on account of their lavish expense for drink,

and are constrained to mortgage their plantations if they have

any, and the merchant when the time is expired is sure to turn

them out of house and home, seising their plantations and

cattle, poor creatures, to look out for a new habitation in some

remote place, where they begin the world again." 1 Such is

the description which this voyager gives of the early settlers of

our State, and it accounts for the fact which would otherwise

seem extraordinary, of the shipment of so large a quantity of

wine, as is above mentioned, to plantations then in their in-

fancy.

The merchandise sent to the proprietor in England, consisted

principally of pipe staves, beaver, fish, and oil. In 1639, Win-

ter'
2 sent in the bark Richmond, six thousand pipe staves,

which were valued here at eight pounds eight shillings a thou-

sand. Some shipments were made directly from the plantation

to Spain

:

2 and a profitable intercourse seems to have been

carried on for the proprietors a number of years, until it was

suspended by the death of Trelawny. After that time the

want of capital, probably prevented Winter from employing

ships on his own account, and Trclawny's heir was but a child

of six or seven years old. The commercial character of the

plantation declined from that time, and the trade gradually

sought other channels, until the mouth of the Spurwink and

Richmond's island became entirely deserted. Their mercan-

tile prosperity are now only to be found among the perishable

i Jocelyo, p. 2P2.

2 Below we present the autograph of this prominent pioneer, John Winter.

t
[ Pi r me, John Wynter.]

3 Joran's claim, York Records. Appendix.

4
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and almost perished memorials of a by-gone age. In 1648,

after Winter's death, the plantation and all its appurtenances

were awarded to Robert Jordan, by a decree of the general

assembly of Ligonia, to secure the payment of a claim which

Winter's estate had upon the proprietors. Jordan married

Winter's only daughter, and administered upon the estate.

He presented his claims to the court of Ligonia, in Sept. 16 48,

by whom a committee was appointed to examine the accounts

and make report of the state of them. This committee went

into a minute investigation, and reported in detail ; upon which

an order was passed, authorizing Jordan to retain " all the

goods, lands, cattle, and chattels, belonging to Robert Trelawny,

deceased, within this province from this day forward and for-

ever, unless the executors of said Robert Trelawny, shall

redeem and release them by the consent and allowance of the

said Robert Jordan, his heirs," ' &c.

Winter died in 1645, leaving a daughter Sarah, the wife of

Robert Jordan. Jocelyn says of Winter that he was " a grave

and discreet man ;" ~ and his management of the plantation

proves him to have been an enterprising and intelligent one.

He had much difficulty with George Cleeves respecting the

right to the soil both on the Spurwink and on the north side

of Casco river, which, although suspended during the latter

part of Winter's life, was revived by his successor. Jordan

came over about the year 1640, at least we do not meet with

his name before that year, as successor to Richard Gibson, the

minister of this and the neighboring plantations. The precise

time of Gibson's arrival cannot be ascertained. We find him

here as early as April, 1637 ; he went to Portsmouth in 1640,

and was chosen pastor of the episcopal church there ; in 1642,

he was preaching on the Isles of Shoals, and probably the same

1 See Appendix No. 2, for Jordan's petition and the proceedings thereon.

2 Jocelyn, p. 25.
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year returned home. 1 Gibson is called a scholar, by Winthrop.*

He made himself obnoxious to the government of Massachu-

setts by the zeal with which he maintained his religious tenets,

and was in some danger of being punished for it ; but on mak-

ing a suitable submission, and " being about to leave the

country" he is excused.

Having mentioned some of the most interesting particulars

relating to the early settlement of Richmond's island and

Spurwink, the spots first occupied within the territory of Fal-

mouth, we return to follow the fortunes of George Cleeves and

Richard Tucker.

Driven from the place which they had selected as the most

favorable for their purposes, and where they had made im-

provements and prepared accommodations, their next care was

to provide another convenient situation in the wilderness,

where they might hope to enjoy without interruption the com-

mon bounties of nature. They selected the Neck, called

Machigonne by the natives, now Portland,3 for their habitation,

and erected there in 1632 the first house, and probably cut

the first tree that was ever felled upon it, by an European

hand.*

1 York Records, Annals of Portsmouth, p. 27. Winthrop, vol. ii, p. GG. In

1640, Gibson brought an action in Gorges' Court against John Bonighton, of

Saco, for slander, in saying of him that he was ' a base priest, a base knave, a

base fellow," and also for a gross slander upon his wife, and recovered a verdict

for " six pounds, six shillings, and eight pence, and costs, twelve shillings and

six pence, for the use of the court." York Records.

*[Gibson was educated at Magdalen College, Cambridge, from which he took

his degree of A. B., 1G36.]

- This was first called Cleeves' Neck, afterward Munjoy's Neck, by which

name it was long known.

*[I have long endeavored to ascertain the meaning of the Indian term Machi-

gonne, without success. The Rev. E. Ballard, of Brunswick, who has paid much

attention to Indian dialects, thinks the name was given to the whole Neck,

beginning with or near Clay Cove, and that the word means bad clay. He says

that in the dialects of New England Matche means bad ; it appears, he says, to
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We are induced to fix upon this year as the one. in which

the first settlement was made upon the Neck, from a number

of circumstances which will be briefly adverted to. In Winter's

answer to Cleeves's action, before noticed, he says that after

possession was given to him of the land granted to Trelawny,

in July 1632, he warned Cleeves to leave the premises ; and

on his refusing to do it, he repaired to Capt. Walter Neale,

who required him to yield up the possession ; he then adds,

" and soone after, the plaintiff left his said possession to the

defendant." It is very reasonable to suppose that this appli-

cation to Neale was the immediate consequence of Cleeves and

Tucker's refusal to give up the possession, and that the removal

which followed " soon after," was not protracted beyond the

year ; at any rate it must have been done before midsummer

of the next year, for Neale then returned to Europe.

Again, Cleeves in another action against Winter in 1640, for

disturbing his possession on the Neck, has the following decla-

ration : " The plaintiff dcclareth that he now is and hath

been for these seven years and upwards, possessed of a tract of

land in Casco bay, known first by the name of Machigonne,

being a neck of land which was in no man's possession or

occupation, and therefore the plaintiff seised on it as his own

inheritance by virtue of a royal proclamation of our late sove-

be formed from Mat, no, not. The syllable gon is given by Schoolcraft as a pri-

mary Algonquin term denoting clay land. He considers the name descriptive of

the soil upon and around Clay Cove and other parts of the Neck.

On the contrary, Mr. Porter Bliss, who is conversant with Indian languages,

says that Mr. Ballard's interpretation is not correct : that in the Micmac or

Algonquin dialect, Much means great, and Chcgitn, knee or elbow, and its appli-

cation is to the promontory on which the Neck or Portland is situated, as a

great curve or elbow, sweeping round from the Fore river to Back Cove. He

compared it to the name Michigan, which in the Chippewa language, a branch

of the Algonquin from the same original, means the great bend or curve which

the lake Michigan takes from Huron. When such learned pundits disagree,

we do not feel competent to pronounce judgment.]
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reign lord King James, of blessed memory, by which he freely

gave unto every subject of his, wliieh should transport himself

over into this country, upon his own charge, for himself and

for every person that he should so transport, one hundred and

fifty acres of land ; which proclamation standeth still in force

to this day, by which right the plaintiff held and enjoyed it for

the space of four years together, without molestation, interrup-

tion, or demand of any ; and at the end of the said first four

years, the plaintiff, desirous to enlarge his limits in a lawful

way, addressed himself to Sir Perdinando Gorges, the proprie-

tor of this Province, and obtained for a sum of money and other

considerations a warrantable lease of enlargement, bounded as

by relation thereunto had, doth and may appear." ' The lease

from Gorges, referred to by Cleevcs, was dated January 27,

1G37, at which time he says he had been in possession of the

Neck four years ; this in connection with the possession up-

ward of seven years previous to the trial, will carry us back

to the latter part of 1632, or the very first of the year following,

and leaves no room to doubt that Cleevcs and Tucker entered

upon the Neck, immediately on being dispossessed of the land

on the Spurwink.

That they were the first that settled here, there can be no

doubt ; Henry Jocelyn a cotemporary of Cleeves, has left his

testimony of that fact in the following deposition given before

Henry Watts, commissioner : "August 18th, 1659. Henry

Jocelyn examined, sweareth, that upwards of twenty years,

Mr. George Cleeves have been possessed of that tract of land

he now liveth on in Casco Bay, and was the first that planted

there, and for the said lands had a grant from Sir Ferdinando

Gorges, as Sir Ferdinando acknowledged by his letters, which

was in controversy afterwards between Mr. Winter, agent for

1 York Records, Appendix No. 3.
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Mr. Robert Trelane of Plymouth, merchant, and the said

Cleeves, and they came to a trial by law at a court held at

Saco, wherein the said Winter was cast, since which time the

said Cleeves hath held the said lands without molestation." '

Cleeves and Tucker erected their house near where the three

story house now stands on the corner of Hancock and Fore

Streets, and their corn field extended westerly toward Clay

Cove. This location is fixed by a comparison of several docu-

ments ; the first is the conveyance of the same premises by

Cleeves to John Phillips in 1659, in which he gives this des-

cription, " all that tract, parcel, or neck in Casco Bay, and

now in possession of me, the said George Cleeves, on which my
now dwelling house standeth by the meets and bounds herein

expressed, that is to say, to begin at the point of land com-

monly called Machagony, and being north-easterly from my said

house, and so along by the water side from the house south-

westerly to the south-west side of my corn field." 2 In 1681,

Phillip's daughter, Mary Munjoy, claimed the land, and the

government of Massachusetts awarded it to her by the follow-

ing description, " the easterly end of said neck of land where-

upon her said husband's house formerly stood, bounded by a

strait line from the mouth of a runnet of water on the easterly

side, where Mr. Cleeves's house formerly stood, and so on to

the old barn on the top of the hill." 3 This "runnet of water"

still continues its course, although exceedingly diminished in

its size, and discharges itself on the beach as it did two hun-

dred years ago, notwithstanding the numerous and vast changes

1 Jocelyn lived at Black Point, to which he came from Piscataqua about

1G35. He was at Piscataqua as agent of Mason and Gorges in 1634, and we
find him a member of the court at Saco in 1636.

2 York Records.

:; York Hocords.
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which have since taken place in the physical as well as the

moral features around it.* These references and others upon

record, which it is unnecessary to cite, clearly designate the

spot on which the first settlers sof Portland pitched their habi-

tation. The situation had advantages of utility and beauty :

it was open to the sea by a small but handsome bay, accessible

to fishing boats, and near the islands, while it was protected

from the north winds by the hill in the rear of it. Here the

first settlers cultivated the soil and pursued their traffic with

the natives, for a number of years, holding the land by a mere

possessory title. Cleeves and Tucker continued partners for

many years, the former seems to have managed the land

speculations, while the latter carried on the trade : but the

*[The brook which was pursuing its accustomed course to the bay, when the

first edition of this work was published, has been diverted from its channel by

large public and private improvements. Part of it supplies water to the Grand

Trunk Railway Station house, and another part is treasured in Mr. Bethuel

Sweetsir's reservoirs from which its soft, pure stream is constantly delivered, at a

handsome profit, for the use of the shipping in the harbor, and of private families.

The following deposition of John Alliset, given in Boston in 1736, confirms the

location of Cleeves's house, and states other interesting facts. " John Alliset,

aged about eighty years, testifieth and saith. that he formerly lived in Falmouth,

in Casco Bay, and that he well knew Mr. George Cleeves, and Mr. George

Munjoy, and Mary his wife, with whom he lived eight years, and that there is a

certain run of water about twenty rods distant from Fort Point, laying about

north from said Fort Point. [Where the station-house now stands.] That

he well remembers that Mr. George Cleeves had a house and lived therein

;

which house was between the said Fort Point and the said run of water ; and

that Mr. George Munjoy had a house and lived therein, which was upon the

north-easterly side of said run of water ; that he also well remembers that there

was a meeting-house built on a point of Mr. Munjoy's land bearing about N. E.

or easterly from said Munjoy's house." This point is where the Portland

Company's works are.]
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details of their lives at that remote period are. almost entirely

lost. 1

1 Occasionally a record is found, which affords a glimpse at their occupations
;

a suit was Drought in Essex county in 1655, by Conant, and another against

Francis Johnson, for a quantity of beaver and otter, received by Johnson in

1634, the parties having previously been in partnership ; the following testimony

is found in the case; Johnson wrote to Richard Foxwell of Blue Point, under

date "Salem, February 12, 1635," that he had received his letter of December

8, by Mr. Richard Tucker, as also beaver and otter, &c. " George Taylor,

sworn June 18, 1654, saith that about eighteen years since, I dwelling with

Mr. Cleeves in Casco bay, Mr. Richard Tucker and I was going to Boston ward,

and at Sako, we met with Mr. Richard Foxwell, he desired me and Mr. Tucker

to carry a great packet of beaver and a great packet of otter for him to Mr.

Francis Johnson, which we did deliver to him in the bay."* Richard Tucker's

deposition is also preserved in the same case, taken before Edward Rishworth,

July 1, 1654, in which he says that "about eighteen or twenty years since, Mr.

Richard Foxwell delivered me in my boat, then bound for the Massachusetts, a

great fardell of beaver and another pf otter, value to the best of my remembrance

seventy or eighty pounds sterling."

These facts give some indication of the employment of Tucker, and carry us

back to 1634. Tucker continued a partner with Cleeves, in land at least, pro-

bably during their lives : we find no division between them, but on the contrary

we find as late as 1662, that his consent was required to a conveyance of land

upon the Neck, by Cleeves. He seems not to have taken an active part in the

political affairs of the province ; his name seldom occurring in the transactions

of the day, while that of his more restless partner is continually presented. In

1653, he was living on Sagamore Creek, iu Portsmouth, N. H. His wife's name

was Margaret ; she was living a widow at Portsmouth in 1681 ; in which year

she made a conveyance to her grandson, Nicholas Hodge.f

In 1742, Michael Hodge, of Salisbury, Massachusetts, executed a deed to

Phineas Jones of one hundred acres of land upon the neck, in which Hodge

declares that about the year 1662, Richard Tucker sold to one Mr. Cad, of

Boston, a tract of land on the Neck containing four hundred acres, extending

from a point of rocks to Clay Cove, reserving one hundred acres on the upper

part ; and stated that " he is the only representative, said Tucker now deceased

hath." Tucker probably had a daughter who married a Hodge, from whom

Nicholas and Michael descended. Phineas Jones's wife was a Hodge, from New-

bury, and it is not improbable that she may have transmitted to her descendants,

some of whom still live in town, the blood of one of the first occupants of tliis

soil. The blood of Cleeves flows freely in a numerous race scattered over the

State through his only daughter.

* I know nothing more of Oeorgo Taylor than that he signed the submission to Massachusetts in

1658, and lived in Scarborough in 1681, aged seventy years.

+ Registry of Deeds, Rockingham Co., N. H., by the favor of Joshua Coffin, an industrious and

faithful antiquary.
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In 1086, Cleeves went to England and procured of Gorges,

who had acquired a title to the province of Maine, then called

the province of New Somersetshire, a deed to himself and

Tucker of a large tract in Falmouth, including the Neck on

which they had settled. This deed was dated January 27,

1637, and was in the form of a lease for two thousand years:

it conveyed, in consideration of one hundred pounds sterling,

and an annual quit rent, the following described tract, " be-

ginning at the furthermost point of a neck of land called by

the Indians Mache'gonne, 1 and now and forever from henceforth

to be called or known by the name of Stogumnior, and so along

the same westerly as it tendeth to the first falls of a little river

issuing out of a very small pond, and from thence over land to

the falls of Pesumsca, being the first falls in that river upon a

strait line, containing by estimation from fall to fall, as afore-

said, near about an English mile, which together with the said

neck of land that the said George Cleeves and the said Richard

Tucker have planted for divers years already expired, is esti-

mated in the whole to be one thousand five hundred acres or

thereabouts, as also one island adjacent to said premises, and

now in the tenor and occupation of said George Cleeves and

1 The point called Machegonne is now called Jordan's point. The appella-

tion Stogummor* never obtained in practice. The proprietors were very fond

of giving new names to places within their patents, but these seldom prevailed

over the more familiar Indian titles. The old Indian name Cisco continued to

be used all the first century after the settlement, notwithstanding the town hud

received from Massachusetts the corporate name Falmouth, as early as 1658.

The falls first mentioned in the description are probably those on the Capisick

river, but the length of line to those on the Presumpscot is incorrectly stated,

whether intentionally or not, I will not pretend to say ; the distance is over four

miles. I know of no other falls which will answer the description. The quan-

tity of land is also very much under estimated. In a deed from Alexander Rigby,

in 1643, of the same tract, the length of the rear line, and the number of acres

are omitted.

*[Stognmmor is an English word, and is probably the same as Stogumber,

or Stokeomer, a town in Somersetshire, England. Gorges was fond of transfer-

ring to his new possessions the familiar names of his native country.]



66 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

Richard Tucker, commonly called or known by the name of

Hogg Island." Possession was given by Arthur Macworth by

appointment of Gorges to Cleeves and Tucker, June 8, 1637.

Gorges also on the 25th of February, 1637, gave Cleeves a

commission "under his hand and seal for the letting and set-

tling all or any part of his lands or islands lying between the

Cape Elizabeth and the entrance of Sagadahock river, and so

up into the main land sixty miles." By virtue of this com-

mission, which is referred to in the deed, Cleeves, on the 28th

of December of the same year, leased for sixty years to Mich-

ael Mitton, who married his only child Elizabeth, the island at

the mouth of the harbor now called Peaks. 1 In the deed it is

declared that this was called Pond island ; and is subsequently

to be known by the name of Michael's island from Mitton ; it

was afterward successively called from the owners or occu-

pants, Munjoy's, Palmer's, and Peak's island.

This is the first time that the name of Mitton occurs in our

history, and it is from thence inferred, that he came over with

Cleeves on his last passage.* Cleeves arrived in the month of

May, and brought with him a commission from Gorges to five

or six persons, one of whom was Gov. Winthrop of Massachu-

setts, to govern his province of New-Somersetshire, between

Cape Elizabeth and Sagadahock, and to oversee his servants

and private affairs.'- This commission was declined by Gov.

1 York Records, vol. i. p. 140.

* [The name of Mitton became extinct here, by the death of Michael's only

son, Nathaniel, who was killed by the Indians August 11, 1670, unmarried. The

blood flows through a thousand channels from his five daughters who married

two Bracketts, Clark, Andrews, Graves. The name still exists in Shropshire and

Straftbrdshire, in England. In 1484, one Mitton was Sheriff of Shrewsbury.

In the contest between Richmond and Richard III, he took an oath that Rich-

mond should not enter Shrewsbury but over his belly. But when Richmond,

victorious, approached the city, he changed his mind, and in order to save his

oath, it was agreed thathe should lie down on his back, and that when Richmond

entered the city, he should step over his body.]

2 Winthrop, vol. i. p. 231.
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Winthrop, and does not appear to have been executed by any

of the others but Clecvcs ; it is probably the one above refer-

red to under which Cleeves alone acted. He also "brought a

protection 1 under the privy signet for searching out the great

lake of Iracoyce, and for the sole trade of beaver, and the

j (hinting of Long island, by articles of agreement between the

Earl of Sterling, Viscount Canada, and him." 2

These extensive commissions to our first settler, if they re-

sulted in no profit, as they do not appear to have done, show

at least that he succeeded in acquiring the confidence of the

largo landed proprietors in England, and prove him to have

been a man of some enterprise and address.

After his lease to Mitton, Dec. 28, 1G37, we hear nothing

more of him until 1640, when he appears as a suiter in court

;

there is no doubt, however, that he remained upon his land here,

cultivating it and bringing it under settlement. For it appears

by his own declaration that from the time of his purehase until

the commencement of his suit in 1040, Winter was continually

disturbing him : he says that Winter "being moved with envy

and for some other sinister cause, hath now lor these three

years past, and still doth unjustly pretend an interest and there-

upon hath and still doth interrupt me to my great hindrance,

thereby seeking my ruin and utter overthrow." These actions

were brought in Clccvcs's name alone, but for what reason, we

are not able to ascertain ; the deed from Gorges was made to

him and Tucker jointly, and so was the deed of the same tract

which he procured of Alexander Rigby, in 1043, after he be-

came the proprietor of the plough patent. 3 They were also

living together in the same house at this time, as is apparent

from the description in Rigby's deed, as follows, "beginning at

i Winthrop, vol. i. p. 231.

2 Sir Win. Alexander was created "Viscount Canada and Bad of Sterling in

1633.

3 York Records, vol. 1. p. 94.
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the said point of land called Machegone, 1 and from thence

going westward along the side of Casco bay unto a place where

the next river, running near to the now dwelling-house of the

said George Cleeves and Richard Tucker, falleth into Casco

bay."

While Winter was pursuing his commercial speculations on

the Spurwink, and Cleeves and Tucker were enlarging their

borders on the north side of Casco river, another settlement

was set on foot within the limits of Falmouth, at the mouth

of Presumpscot river. The head of this enterprise was Ar-

thur Macworth. He must have commenced his undertaking

as early as 1632, for we find by a deed to him from Richard

Vines in 1635, that he is described as having been in pos-

session there many years ; which could hardly be said of a

shorter term than we have supposed. The deed is as follows,

leaving out the formal parts : "This indenture, made March 30,

in the eleventh year of Charles 1., between Richard Vines of

Saco, Gent., for and in behalf of Sir Ferdinando Gorges Knight,

by authority from him bearing date Sept. 10, 1634,2 on the one

part, and Arthur Macworth of Casco bay, Gent., on the other

part, witnesseth, that said Vines doth give, grant, &c, to said

Macworth, all that tract of land lying in Casco bay on the

north-east side of the river Pesumsca,3 which now and for many

years is and hath been in possession of said Macworth, being at

the entrance of said river, where his house now standeth, upon

1 It will be perceived that this name is spelt differently in almost every deed,

the natives probably never reduced it to writing, and it was spelt by the Euro-

peans as the sound caught the ear. We find it written Machegony, Machegonny

Machegonne, and Machegone.

2 This is the only instance in which I find Gorges, or any under him, exercis-

ing any right over the soil in this section of the State until after 1G35, when he

acquired a separate title from the council of Plymouth.

3 The Presumpscot river has also been called Presumsca, Presumskeak, and

Presumskeag. Sullivan supposes the original name to have terminated in eag,

which in the Indian language signifies land, and which with a prefix of particu-

lar signification, forms many aboriginal terms, as Naumkeag, Penobskeag, &c
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a point of hind commonly called or known by the name of

Menickoe, and now and forever hereafter to be called and

known by the name of Newton, and from thence up the said

river to the next creek below the first falls, and so over land

toward the great bay of Casco, until five hundred acres be

completed, together with one small island over against and

next to his house." 1 The deed was witnessed by George

Cleeves, Robert Sanky,- and Richard Tucker.

Macworth was one of the most respectable of the early settlers,

and is believed to have arrived at Saco, with Vines, in 1630.

He probably remained a short time at that place, having re-

ceived grants of land there. He was appointed by Gorges to

deliver possession to Cleeves and Tucker, of Casco Neck, in the

deed of 1037, and was for many years a magistrate. He mar-

ried Jane, the widow of Samuel Andrews, a citizen of London,

who probably came over in Vincs's company, and who died at

Saco about 1637, leaving a son James, for many years a re-

spectable inhabitant of Falmouth ; by her he had several

children. I think he must have been previously married, as

he had a house, and was living on the point which bears his

name several years before his marriage with Mrs. Andrews.

Macworth died in 1657, leaving two sons, Arthur and John,

and several daughters who were respectably married and will

be hereafter noticed.3 His sons probably died without issue,

1 York Records, vol. ii. p. 1. The name Newton, here given to this tract,

never prevailed ; the point, together with the island, were for many years called

Macworth'a point and island, and was at length corrupted to Mackey's, by which

they are known at this day. The creek referred to in the deed, retains the an-

cient appellation, Scuittery gusset, which it received from a Sachem of that name,

who lived here in the time of the first settlement.

2 Sanky lived at Saco; he was appointed by Gorges, in 1G40, 'Provost Mar-

shal,' and was subsequently marshal under Cleeves.

8 The persons employed in constructing the bridge across the mouth of Fre-

sumscot river, in 1827, found under the soil on Mackey's point, the bones of

several persons. They may be presumed to have been those of the first-settlers.
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for we do not rnoet with the name after the death of Mrs.

Macworth in 1676 ; they are not noticed in her will, and it

is presumed the name is extinct. His descendants through

his daughters are numerous, some of whom reside in this vi-

cinity. 1

Macworth continued to live upon his grant on the east side

of Presumpscot river until his death ; his widow remained

there, with her family, who settled around her, until the break-

ing out of the Indian war in 1675, when she moved to Boston,

where she died.2

We have now noticed the three points within the territory

of ancient Falmouth, on which the earliest settlements were

made. The settlements were entirely distinct and independ-

ent of each other, and continued their existence, we may al-

most say, in despite of each other. We have seen the origin

of the quarrel between Winter on the one hand, and Cleeves

and Tucker on the other, to have arisen respecting the right

to the land on which the latter had settled. In the first action,

the court in 1640, decided in favor of Cleeves, so far as to give

him his improvements on the Spurwink, and eighty pounds,

1 The following testimony relating to Macworth is preserved in York Rec-

ords. "Aug. 17, 1660, I, Robert Jordan, do ascertain on my oath, that I heard

Mr. Arthur Macworth, on his death-bed declare, that his full will and testament

was, that his wife, Mrs. Jane Macworth, should by her wisdom, dispose of his

whole estate, equally, as near as might be, between her former husband's chil-

dren and the children between them, and in case any shortness was on either

side, it should rather be on his own children's side ; and further saith not, only the

decease of the said Mr. Arthur Macworth was before the submission of these

towns of Scarborough and Falmouth to the Massachusetts authority" (in 1658).

2 Her will is dated May 20, 1G76, and may be found in Suffolk Probate Office
;

she bequeathed "her housing and land at Casco bay, to Wm. Rogers and Abra-

ham Adams, who married her daughters Rebecca and Sarah ;" and her clothing

to her four daughters ; one, the ,'wife of Francis Neale, another the wife of

George Felt. Rebecca, the wife of Rogers, had been previously married to

Nathaniel Wharf, as early as 1658 ; she was the eldest daughter, and had a son

Nathaniel by Wharf, born here 1662, who was living in Gloucester, Cape Ann,

in 1734, and some of whose descendants are still living at New Gloucester, in

this neighborhood.
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damages : but they established the general title inTrelawny, of

land south of Casco or Fore river. In the second action, which

Cleeves brought againsl Winter for disturbing him in his pos-

session on the Neck, the court confirmed Cleeves's title. At

the same court "Winter was presented by the grand jury, con-

sisting of twelve persons, of whom were Cleeves, Macworth,

and Tucker, for irregularity in his dealings. He was charged

with keeping down the price of beaver, and exacting too much

profit upon his liquor, and powder, and shot. It appeared in

evidence that he paid seven pounds sterling a hogshead for

brandy, and sold it at twenty pence a quart, which would ho

about thirty-three pounds sterling for a hogshead, and powder

at three shillings a pound, for which he paid but twenty pence.

A detail of this case may he interesting. The return of the

grand jury is as follows: "We present John Winter, of Rich-

mond Island, for that Thomas Wise, of Casco, hath declared

upon his oath, that he paid to John Winter, a noble for a gal-

lon of aquavitae 1 about two months since, and that he hath

credibly heard it reported that said Winter bought of Mr.

George Luxton, when he was last in Casco bay, a hogshead of

aquavitae for seven pounds sterling, about nine months since.

Mr. John Baley hath declared upon his oath, that about eight

months since, he bought of Mr. J. Winter, six quarts of aqua-

vitae at twenty pence the quart ; he further declared he paid him

for commodities bought about the same time, about six pounds

of beaver at six shillings the pound, which he himself took at

eight shillings the pound ; John West also declared that he

bought of J. Winter a pottle of aquavitae at twenty pence the

quart, and shot at four pence a pound. Richard Tucker, one

of the great inquest, declared that Thomas Wise, of Casco,

coming from Richmond Island, and having bought of Mr. J.

Winter, a flaggott of liquor, aquavitae, for which he paid him
as he said, a noble, asking myself and partner, if we would be

1 The common name for brandy at that time. A noble was abont one dollar

and forty-five cents of our money,
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pleased to accept a cupp of noble liquor, and how that he saw

Mr. Winter pay abord Mr. Luxton's ship, for a hogshead of the

same liquor, seven pounds sterling when he was last in Casco

bay. Michael Mitton, upon oath, declares, that he hath bought

divers times of Mr. J. Winter, powder and shott, paying him

for powder three shillings, and for shott four pence the pound,

and likewise for aquavitae, six shillings eight pence the gallon.

And he further declareth that he hath heard Mr. Richmond

declare in the house of Mr. George Cleeves and Richard Tuck-

er, that he sold powder to Mr. Winter for twenty pence or

twenty-two pence the pound. He further declared that he hath

heard by the general voice of the inhabitants in those partes

grievously complaining of his hard dealing, both in his great

rates of his commodities and the injury to them in thus bring-

ing down the price of beaver ; and that the boats and pinnaces

that pass to and from with commodities, that before they come

to Richmond He, they take beaver at eight shillings, but after-

wards they hold it at the rate of six shillings. George Lewis

likewise upon oath declareth that he hath heard and known

beaver refused to be taken at eight shillings, because the parties

could not put it away again to Mr. Winter, but at the rates of

six shillings, and himself likewise, hath refused to work with Mr.

Macworth unless he might have beaver at six shillings, alleging

that he could not put it away again to Mr. Winter, but at that

rate."

It would seem probable from the facts in this case, that the

only store of goods or place of general traffic in this neighbor-

hood, was kept by Winter, on Richmond Island, otherwise,

Mitton, Lewis, and Wise, who all lived on the north side of

Fore river, would hardly have gone there to purchase commod-

ities and exchange beaver. The quarrel which had for some

time existed between Winter, and Cleeves, and Tucker was now

finding vent in the courts, which were this year for the first

time established ; and it is not difficult to suppose that this

complaint against Winter was got up by the Casco interest, by
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way of revenge for his disturbing the possession of the settlers

on this side of the river. That there may not have been some

ground for it, we will not pretend to say; it does not however

suit the usage of modern times for courts and juries to inter-

fere with the profits a man may put upon his own merchandize. 1

This court was held in June 1640,* and was the first general

assembly ever held in the province ; at the next term, held in

September following. Winter retaliated upon Cleeves by bringing

an action of slander against him, in which he declared "that

about six years past within this province, the defendant did

slander tho plaintiffs wife, in reporting that his wife, who then

lived in the town of Plymouth, in old England, was the veriest

drunkenest w in all that town, with divers other such like

scandalous reports, as also that there were not four honest

women in all that town." § "Mr. Arthur Brown examined,

saith he hath heard the defendant say that Mrs. Winter was a

drunken woman." This action was continued ; and at the

next session the parties entered into the following agreement

1 James Treworgy was presented at this court " for, being one of the grand

inquest ; lie revealed the secrets of the association to John Winter, and other

abuses: he told Mr. Winter that he thought every man might make the most

of his commoditie." Treworgy or Trueworthy lived in Saco.

*
[ The commission and ordinances from Sir F. Gorges were dated Sept. 2, 1639

,

and contained the names of Sir Thomas Jocelyn, brother of Henry, as his Deputy

Governor, and the following persons as counselors, viz: Richard Vines, Fran-

cis Champernoon, Henry Jocelyn, Richard Bonithon, Wm. Hooke, and Edward

Godfrey. Thomas Jocelyn declined the appointment, and Thomas Gorges, the

nephew of Sir Ferdinando, was substituted and came over in the spring of 1G40.

They were authorized to hold courts, administer oaths, to determine all causes,

civil and criminal, public and private, according to justice and equity. He es-

tablished the form of process as follows : "To our well beloved A. B. greeting.

These are to will and command you to come and appear before us the council,

established in the Province of Maine, upon the 'lay of
,
to answer the

complaint of

Given under our hands and seals."
|

v;
[
Arthur Brown, in a declaration before the court in Saco, Sept. 1640, said,

"that he was bred a merchant from his youth up, and having" lived in the coun-

try these seven years or thereabout in good reputation and credit.'']

5
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for refering all their controversies: "Sacoa, June 28, 1641.

Whereas divers differences have heretofore been between Mr.

George Cleeves and Mr. John Winter, the parties have now

agreed to refer themselves to the arbitration of Mr. Robert

Jordan, Mr. Arthur Macworth, Mr. Arthur Brown, and Rich-

ard Ormesby, for the final ending of all controversies, and bind

ourselves each to the other, in an assumpsit of one thousand

pounds sterling, to stand to the award of these arbitrators, and

if these arbitrators shall not fully agree, Mr. Batchelder chosen

to be an umpire for a final ending of the same." The same

day the following award was made : "June 28, '41. An award

made between George Cleeves, Gent., and John Winter, made

by the arbitrators within named. Whereas the jury have found

eighty pounds sterling, damage, with four acres of ground, and

the house at Spurwink for the plf.—hereunto granted on both

parties, that the house and land shall be due unto Mr. Winter,

and sixty pounds sterling to the plf. presently to be made good.

Whereas, there hath been found by the jury in' an action of in-

terruption of a title of land for the plf. the same I ratify :

Avhereas also, there is a scandal objected by Mr. Winter against

Mr. Cleeves from words of defamation, it is ordered of said

Mr. Cleeves, shall christainly acknowledge his failing therein

against Mr. Winter his wife for present before the arbitrators,

and afterwards to Mrs. Winter. Stephen Batchelder. Agi-

tated by us, Robert Jordan, Richard Ormesby, Arthur Mac-

worth, Arthur Brown." 1

This award probably had the effect of suspending hostilities
;

but after Winter's death, the controversy for the title on the

north of Fore river, was revived and strenuously maintained

by Robert Jordan. At the same court, Edward Godfrey of

Agamenticus, had an action against George Cleeves for twenty

pounds, "which said Godfrey demands by virtue of an order

i York Records. Stephen Batchelder, the umpire, is probably the same per-

son who had been minister at Lynn, and afterward at Hampton, of whom an

account may be found in Lewis's history of Lynn.
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t'n mi the High Court of Star Chamber, for costs in that court

by a special writ." 1

The foregoing records present us the names of two persons

who then appear for the first time in our history, Thomas "Wise

and George Lewis. When they came here or where from, we

cannot ascertain. George Lewis, of Scituate, in Massachu-

setts, had a son George, who is conjectured to be the person

here mentioned. Lewis, previous to 1640, had received a grant

of fifty acres of land at Hack Cove, from Cleeves and Tucker,

upon which he lived ; in 1657, he received an additional grant

of fifty acres, and his son John one of one hundred acres ad-

joining; this land of the lather was near the point where

Tukey's bridge ends. Here George Lewis lived and died. On

the 29th of Sept. 1640, Cleeves and Tucker conveyed to Thom-

as Wise and Hugh Mosier, two hundred acres of land, "begin-

ning at a little plot of marsh, west side, to the north-east of

their now dwelling bouse, and next adjoining land of widow

Hatwell, thence along the water side until they come to the

western side of the marsh, and so far as the well in the creek

by George Lewis's, and thence to run north-west into the

woods." We have no previous notice of widow Hatwell or

At well, but from subsequent facts, we learn that her land was

upon Martin's point, and that she afterward married Richard

Martin, whose name the point still bears. The grants here

referred to, were probably the earliest made at Back Cove, at

least we find none earlier, and the whole margin of the cove

is subsequently covered by later conveyances from the two first

proprietors. Wise and Mosier continued a few years upon

their grant : .Mosier left it first and went further down the

i York Records. Stephen Batchelder, Ihe umpire, is probably the same per-

son who had been minister at Lynn, and afterward at Hampton, of whom an

account may be found in Lewis's history of Lynn.

- Hugh Mosier is conjectured to be the first of the name who came to this

country, and the ancestor of all o( that name in this State. They subsequently

settled in Gorham. and were among the first settlers of that town.
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bay where he died, leaving two sons, James and John. James

administered upon the estate in 1666. The two brothers oc-

cupied two islands, now in Freeport, called great and little

Mosier's, but since, by corruption, the Moges. Wise was' an

early inhabitant of Saco, from which he came to this place
;

lie also moved lower down the bay, and sold his land to Na-

thaniel Wallis, in 1658.

We are thus able to show upon indisputable authority, that

as early as 1640, there were at least nine families in Falmouth,

viz : Atwell, Cleeves, Lewis, Macworth, Mitton, Mosier, Tucker,

Winter, and Wise, of whom four were settled at Back Cove,

three upon the Neck, one east of Presumpscot river, and the

other on Richmond's Island ; in addition to which, were Mr.

Jordan, who, we suppose, was not yet married to Winter's

daughter, and the numerous persons employed by Winter in

his business, beside the persons employed by the other settlers.

The whole population at that time cannot be precisely ascer-

tained.

Before quitting this period, we may be permitted to intro-

duce an anecdote from Jocelyn, whose book is now rarely to

be found, to illustrate the manners of the early settlers. "At

this time," he says, June 26, 1639, "we had some neighboring

gentlemen in our house, 1 who came to welcome me into the

country, where, amongst variety of discourse, they told me of

a young lion not long before killed at Piscataqua, by an Indian;

of a sea serpent or snake,'2 that lay coiled up like a cable upon

a rock at Cape Ann ; a boat passing by, with English aboard

and two Indians, they would have shot the serpent, but the In-

dians dissuaded them, saying, that if he Avere not killed out

1 His brother Henry's at Black Point. Jocelyn left England in April, 1038.

and returned in Sept. 1639. He was at Black Point with his brother from July

14, 1638 to Sept. 23, 1639. He commenced his second voyage in 1663.

2 This story of the snake will give courage to the believers in the sea serpent,

he was probably the ancestor of the late visitor, or perhaps the same ancient

inhabitant.
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right, they would all be in danger of their lives. One Mr.

Mitton related of a triton or mereman, which he saw in Casco

bay; the gentleman was a great fowler, and used to go out with

a small boat or canoe, and fetching a compass about a small

island, there being many islands in the bay, for the advantage

of a shot, he encountered with a triton, who laying his hands

upon the side of the canoe, had one of them chopt off with a

hatchett by Mr. Mitton, which was in all respects like the hand

of a man ; the triton presently sunk, dyeing the water with

his purple blood, and was no more seen." 1 He adds, "Sept.

23, I left Black Point and came to Richmond Island, about

three leagues to the eastward, where Mr. Trelane kept a fish-

ing; Mr. John Winter, a grave and discreet man was his agent,

and employed sixty men upon that design. Monday 2-1, I

went aboard the Fellowship, of one hundred and seventy tons,

a Flemish bottom ; several of my friends came to bid me fare-

well, among the rest, Capt Thomas Wannerton,2 who drank to

me a pint of kill-devil alias rhum, at a draught; at six o'clock

in the morning, we set sail for Massachusetts."

1 Jocelyn's voyages, p. 23.

2 Wannerton was one of the agents of the Laconia company at Piscataqua
;

he was killed in an attack upon D'Aulney's fort at Penobscot, in 1644. Win-

throp, vol. 2. p. 177.



CHAPTER II.

The political affairs of the Province from the great patent in 1620, to the submission to the

Jurisdiction op Massachusetts in 1658.

The patent granted by James I. to the "council for the af-

fairs of New England," Nov. 3, 1620, was the civil basis of the

subsequent patents which divided the country. This patent

contained powers of government to the council and their suc-

cessors ; but it soon became a question whether the council

could, with a conveyance of any portion of territory within their

limits, transfer a right of government. 1 This point, it is be-

lieved, was never directly decided, although it may be inferred

from the practice of some of the patentees, that the general

impression was adverse to this power. The Massachusetts

patentees'* and Sir Ferdinando Gorges,3 each procured a con-

firmation of their grants from the king, with power to govern

their respective provinces. With regard to Mason's grant of

New Hampshire, which was not confirmed by the king, the two

chief justices of England agreed, that it conveyed no right of

sovereignty ; "the great council of Plymouth under whom he

claimed, having no power to transfer government to any." 1

The council of Plymouth continued their operations until

June 7, 1635, when they surrendered their charter to the king.

i Hazard, vol. i. p. 103.

2 Hazard, vol. i. p. 239.

3 Hazard, vol. i. p. 442.

4 Hutchinson, vol. i. p. 28G.
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During their existence as a corporation, a period of fourteen

years and seven months, they were not inactive. In 1621, they

relinquished a large proportion of their patent in favor of Sir

Win. Alexander,* and assented to a conveyance by the king to

him of all the territory lying easl of the river St Croix and south

of the St. Lawrence, embracing the provinces of Nova Scotia

and New Brunswick. The other grants made by the council

within the present limits of .Maine, were as follows :

1st. 1622, Aug. 10. To Sir Ferdinando Gorges and Capt.

John Mason, from Merrimac to the Kennebec river. 1

2. 1626, Nov. 6. To the Plymouth adventurers a tract on

Kennebec river; which was enlarged in 1628.9

3. 1630, Jan. 13. To Wm. Bradford and his associates, fif-

teen miles on each side of the Kennebec river, extending

up to Cobbisecontee ; this grant Bradford transferred to

the Plymouth adventurers.3

4. 1630, Feb. 12. To John Oldham and Richard Vines, four

miles by eight miles on the west side of Saco river4 at

itsmouth.

5. 1630, Feb. 12. To Thomas Lewis and Richard Bonighton,

four miles by eight, on the cast side of Saco river at the

mouth.

6. 1630. March 13, To John Beauchamp and Thomas Lev-

erett, ten leagues square on the west side of Penobscot

river, called the Lincoln or Waldo patent.5

[April 22, 1635, the council granted to Sir Win. Alexander, all that part of

the main land from St. Croix along the sea-coast to Pemaquid and so up the

Kinnebequi, to he called the county of Canada.]

1 Hutchinson, vol. i. p. 286.

2 Prince, vol. i. pp. 170, 172.

3 Prince, vol. i. p. 196.

1 A.nte and N oris Records.

5 Prince, vol. i. p. 203. Hazard, vol i. p. 318.
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7. 1630. To John Dy and others the province of Ligonia, or

the Plough patent, 1 lying between Cape Porpus and Cape

Elizabeth, and extending forty miles from the coast.

8. 1631, Nov. 1. To Thomas Cammock, Black Point, fifteen

hundred acres.2

9. 1631, Dec. 1. To Robert Trelawny and Moses Goodyearc,

a tract between Spurwink river and Casco Bay.

10. 1632. To Robert Aldsworth and Gyles Elbridge, a tract

on Pemaquid point.3

11. 1634. To Edward Godfrey and others, twelve thousand

acres on the river Agamenticus.*

12. 1634. To Ferdinando Gorges, twelve thousand acres on

west side of the river Agamenticus.4

§

1 Sullivan, vol i. pp. 114, 304. 2 York Records. 3 Hazard, vol. i. p. 315.

* [A grant was made by the council to Godfrey, Dec. 2, 1631.

—

Sainsbury .]

,

4 Beside the foregoing, a grant was made to George Way and Thomas Pur-

chase, between the Kennebec and Androscoggin rivers and Casco bay, but its

date is not known ; the original having been long since lost, and no record re-

maining. It is referred to in very ancient deeds.
.
This tract became the sub-

ject of long and bitter controversy between the Pejepscot proprietors and other

claimants, which was not finally settled until about 1814. In 1753, several

pamphlets were published by the opposing parties, containing the arguments on

the question. Eleazer Way, in a deed to Richard Wharton, of his right as son

and heir to George Way, 1683, alleged that Way and Purchase had a grant of the

territory from the council of Plymouth.

§ [Sainsbury in his Colonial Calendar furnishes the date of the grant to Way

and Purchase, " June 16, 1632."

Sainsbury's Calendar also notes a grant to Walter Bagnall, of Richmond

Island, and fifteen hundred acres of land, Dec. 2, 1631.

And the same day, two thousand acres on the south side of Cape Porpus river,

to John Stratton and his associates ; from him, the islands lying off Black Point

river, were probably named, and have uniformly borne that name to the present

day. Stratton was from Shotley, in the county of Suffolk, England.

The grant to Richard Bradshaw of fifteen hundred acres, claimed to be at

Spurwink, and before noticed, was dated Nov. 1, 1631.

There may have been other grants, which did not find their way into the rec-

ords or were never improved.]
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These are all the grants which this company made in Maine,

that we have met with previous to their final division in 1635.

In that division, the territory now called Maine, was distribu-

ted to three of the patentees. Gorges' share extended from the

Piscataqua to Kennebec or Sagadahoc. Another portion was

between Sagadahoc and Pemaquid, estimated to be ten thou-

sand acres, granted to Mason, and called Masonia. The third

from Pemaquid to the St. Croix, 1 was given to Sir William

Alexander. We have no evidence that any occupation was

had by Mason or Alexander under these titles.

On the 25th of April 1635, a short time previous to the sur-

render of their charter, the council had a meeting at Whitehall,

in London, at which they prepared a declaration of the rea-

sons which induced them to take this important step, as follows :'-'

"Forasmuch as we have found by a long experience, that the

faithful endeavors of some of us, that have sought the planta-

tion of New England, have not been without frequent and in-

evitable troubles as companions to our undertakings from our

first discovery of that coast to this present, by great charges

and necessary expenses ; but also depriving us of divers of our

near friends and faithful servants employed in that work

abroad, whilst ourselves at home were assaulted with sharp

litigious questions" both before the privy council and the

parliament, having been presented "as a grievance to the Com-

monwealth;" "the affections of the multitude were thereby

disheartened ;" "and so much the more by how much it pleased

God, about that time to bereave us of the most noble and prin-

cipal props thereof, as the Duke of Lennox, Marquis of Ham-
ilton, and many other strong staves to this weak building;"

"then followed the claim of the French Ambassador, takimr

advantage of the divisions of the sea-coast between ourselves,

to whom we made a just and satisfactory answer." "Never-

EJ Gorges Narrative.

2 Gorges' Narrative, and Hazard, vol. i. p. 390.
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theless," they add, "those crosses did not draw upon us such a

disheartened weakness, as there only remained a carcass, in a

manner breathless, till the end of the last parliament," when

the Massachusetts' company obtained their charter, and after-

ward thrust out the undertakers and tenants of some of the

council, "withal riding over the heads of those lords and others

that had their portions assigned unto them in their late majes-

ty's presence." After a further enumeration of grievances,

too grievous to be borne, they say they found matters "in so

desperate a case" by reason of the complaints made against

them, and the procedure in Massachusetts, that they saw no

remedy for "what was brought to ruin," but for his majesty to

take the whole business into his own hands. "After all these

troubles, and upon these considerations, it is now resolved that

the patent shall be surrendered unto his majesty."

In the same instrument, they provided for all existing titles

made by them, and prayed the king to confirm the grants which

they had divided among themselves. These were recorded in

a book which accompanied the surrender.

In addition to the reasons set forth in the public declaration

of the council, Ferdinando Gorges, grandson of Sir F. Gorges,

in "America painted to the life," has the following : "the coun-

try proving a receptacle for divers sorts of sects, the establish-

ment in England complained of Sir Ferdinando Gorges, and he

was taxed as the author of it, which brought him into some

discredit, whereupon he moved those lords to resign their grand

patent to the king, and pass particular patents to themselves of

such parts along the sea-coast as might be sufficient for them."

The division of the territory among the patentees was made

by lot on the 3d of February 1635, 1 the grants were executed

April 22d,a and on the 7th of June following, the president

and council made full surrender of their charter to the king.

1 Hazard, vol. i. p, 383.

^ Hazard, vol. i. p. 383. Douglas, vol. i. p. 387.
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They did however urge upon the king the necessity of taking

away the charter of Massachusetts, and of appointing a general

governor for the whole territory, to be taken from among the

lord's proprietors. 1 The king assented to this plan, but the

earnest opposition of the friends of Massachusetts and the oth-

er New England colonies, and the breaking out of the civil

war, which by its immediate and pressing danger, engrossed

the whole thoughts of the king and his government, prevented

its being carried into execution. Sir F. Gorges was appointed

General Governor of New England 1G37, but never came over.

Capt. John Mason, to whom New Hampshire had been as-

signed, and Sir Ferdinando Gorges, seem to have been the only

proprietors who pursued their separate grants with any zeal.

But Mason was not long permitted to enjoy the fruit of his

enterprise ; he died Nov 26, 1635, and his private interest in

his remote province, for the want of proper superintendence,

and owing to the unfaithfulness of agents immediately de-

clined.2

Gorges lost no time to improve his acquisition. lie gave to

his province the name of New Somersetshire, from the county

in England, in which his estates were situated, and the same

year sent over as governor, his nephew, Capt. Wm. Gorges.3

The proprietor could establish no civil government without

authority from the king, and Gorges therefore was indefatiga-

ble in procuring the necessary requisite for perfecting his title

to the sovereignty as well as the soil of the province. 1 His la-

bors for this object were not crowned with success until April

3, 1639. In the mean time, however, William Gorges arrived

in this country, and held at Saco, March 21, 1636, the first

court in this State, of which we have any record. The iiieiu-

i Hazard, vol. i. p. 381. Winthrop, vol i. p. 161.

- Belknap, N. II.. voli. p. 27. Annals of Portsmouth.

Jocelyn, 1 Chron. Chalmers, Annals, p. 173

4 Geo. Vaughn's letter, Hazard, vol. i. p. 403. Belknap, Appendix.
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bers of the court are styled commissioners, and the record

commences as follows : "At a meeting of the commissioners in

the house of Capt. Richard Bonighton, in Saco, this 21st day

of March, 1636, present Capt Richard Bonighton, Capt. Wm.
Gorges, Capt. Thomas Cammock, Mr. Henry Jocelyn, Gent.,

Mr. Thomas Purchase, 1 Mr. Edward Godfrey,2 Mr. Thomas

Lewis,3 Gent."

At this court, four persons were fined five shillings each for

getting drunk. George Cleeves was fined five shillings for

rash speeches, and "Mr. John Bonighton4 for incontinency with

Ann, his father's servant, is fined forty shillings, and said Ann
twenty shillings, and he to keep the child." The jurisdiction

of this court seems to have been coextensive with the limits of

the province, the commissioners present being from each ex-

tremity, and from the center. It does not appear that it was

held by virtue of any commission, although that fact may be

reasonably inferred. We have been able to find no record of

this court later than 1637 ; but the few memoranda that have

been preserved, prove to us that the early settlers, notwith-

standing the smallness of their number, were influenced by the

same litigious spirit and the same passions, which characterize

a denser population, and a more refined state of society. Ac-

tions of trespass and slander occur frequently on the record.

In 1636, the court passed an order, "That every planter or

inhabitant shall do his best endeavor to apprehend or kill any

Indian that hath been known to murder any English, kill their

cattle or in any way spoil their goods, or do them violence, and

1 Cammock and Jocelyn had probably now moved to Black Point. Purchase

lived in what is now Brunswick.

- Godfrey lived at Agamenticus.

3 Lewis lived at Winter Harbor.— York Records. Of Wm. Gorges, Chalmers

says, "he ruled for some years a few traders and fishers with a good sense,

equal to the importance of the trust."

4 John Bonighton was the son of Richard: he was notorious for turbulence

and insubordination during his life.
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will not make them satisfaction." While they were thus en-

deavoring to protect their own rights from the aggression of

the natives, they were not unmindful of the duties they owed

that race ; and the next year the same court ordered that A r-

thnr Brown and Mr. Arthur Macworth make John Cousins 1 give

full satisfaction to an Indian for a wrong done him.

What sort of government or civil regulation existed, previ-

ous to the establishment of this court, we have no means of

determining. Probably each plantation regulated its own af-

fairs and managed its own police without aid from or commu-

nication with the others. The usual mode in the other colonies

in absence of higher authority, was by agreement among the

settlers in writing, called a combination. Such was the course

adopted at Plymouth, at Piscataqua, and in the western part

of Maine in 1G49 : and it is believed from the following record,

that this was done at Winter harbor: "Feb. 7, 103(3. It is

ordered that Mr. Thomas Lewis shall appear the next court-day

at the now dwelling house of Thomas Williams, there to answer

his contempt and to shew cause why he will not deliver up the

combination belonging to us, and to answer such actions as

are commenced against him." In the settlement upon the

Neck, and at the mouth of Presumpscot river, the number of

inhabitants was so small, that connected as the persons in each

were to its head, there was probably no call for the exercise of

civil authority before the existence of courts here. And in

regard to the plantation on Richmond's Island, we may sup-

pose that Winter, under his general authority controlled all its

a flairs.

It appears by the records of the earliest court, that the forms

of the trial by jury were observed, which have ever since con-

tinued, although in the early stages of our history, more power

1 Cousins was born 1596; lie lived on an island near the mouth of Royall's

river, in North Yarmouth, which he bought of Richard Vines 1645, and which

still bears his name, until he was driven off in the war of 1G75. He moved to

York, where he died at a very advanced age after 1083.
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over issues of fact was assumed and exercised by the court

than is consistent with modern practice.

In the confirmation of Gorges' title by the king, in 1639, powers

of government were conferred almost absolute. 1 In this charter,*

the name it now bears was first bestowed, from a province of

the same name in France, in honor of the king's wife, a

daughter of the king of France. It is described as extend-

ing from the Piscataqua river to the Kennebec, and up

those rivers to their furthest heads, or until one hundred

and twenty miles were completed, with all the islands within

five leagues of the coast. The religion of the church of

England was established as the religion of the province.

The charter conferred upon Gorges an unlimited power

of appointment to office ; to make laws with the assent of the

majority of the freeholders ; to establish courts from which an

appeal laid to himself; to raise troops, build cities, raise a rev-

enue from customs, establish a navy, exercise admiralty juris-

diction, erect manors, and exclude whom he chose from the

province. Such powers were never before granted by any gov-

ernment to any individual, and he succeeded in procuring them

by the most untiring efforts, all the other members of the

council having failed to accomplish a similar object. His

grandson Ferdinando in his account of America,2 says, "he no

sooner had this province settled upon him, but he gave public

notice that if any would undertake by himself and his associ-

ates, to transport a competent number of inhabitants to plant

in any of his limits, he would assign unto him or them such a

proportion of land as should in reason satisfy them, reserving

only to himself a small high rent as two shillings, or two shil-

lings six pence for a hundred acres per annum."

1 Hazard, vol. i. p. 442.

* [By the charter, persons who were in possession of land under former grants,

were to be protected in their possessions, on acknowledging the jurisdiction,

"Jura regalia" of Gorges, the chief proprietor.

2 Pa«e 40.
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The following extract from Sir F. Gorges' narrative, will

show the manner in which he regulated the administration of

the province: "1st. I divided the whole into eight bailiwicks or

counties, and those again into sixteen several hundreds, conse-

quently into parishes and tythings as people did increase and

the provinces were inhabited. The form of government. 1st.

Jn my absence 1 assigned one for my lieutenant or deputy, to

•whom I adjoined a chancellor for the determination of all dif-

ferences arising between party and party, for maim and tuum,

only next to him, 1 ordained a treasurer for receipt of the pub-

lic revenue, to them I added a marshal for the managing the

militia, who hath for his lieutenant, a judge marshal, and other

officers to the marshal court, where is to be determined all

criminal and capital matters, with other misdemeanors or con-

tentions for matters of honour and the like. To these 1 ap-

pointed an admiral with his lieutenant or judge, for the ordering

and determining of maritime causes. Next I ordered a master

of the ordnance, whose office is to take charge of all the public

stores belonging to the militia, both for sea and land, to this I

join a secretary for the public service of myself and council.

These are the standing councillors to whom is added eight

deputies, to l)e elected by the freeholders of the several coun-

ties, as councillors; for the slate of the country, who are author-

ized hy virtue of their places to sit in any of the aforesaid courts,

and to be assistants to the presidents thereof." 1

This magnificent outline was never filled up ; the materials

were lamentably deficient. Gorges proceeded on the 2d Sept.

1 Narrative, p. 46 This narrative was written in into, and published by his

grandson in 1658; he also says in it, p. BO, "1 have not spoil so ill. 1 thank my

God for it, but I have a house ami home there; ami some necessary me.ins of

profit, by my saw-mills and corn-mills, besides some animal receipts, suflicient

to lay the foundation of greater matters, now the government is established."

The unfortunate knight did not anticipate so soon being deprived of his | osses-

sions and stripped of all his golden prospects. [These works are reprinted in

the Maine Historical Collections, vol ii. p. l.J
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1639, to appoint his officers, and granted a commission at that

time to Sir Thomas Jocelyn, Richard Yines, Esq., his steward

general, Francis Champernoon, 1 Esq., his nephew, Henry Joce-

lyn, and Richard Bonighton, Esquires, "Wm. Hooke,2 and Ed-

ward Godfrey, Gents, as counselors, for the due execution of

justice in his province, and established in the same commission

certain ordinances for their regulation.3 Sir Thomas having

declined the office, another commission was issued by him on

the 10th of March following, in which the name of Thomas Gor-

ges, whom he styles his cousin, is substituted for Sir Thomas

Jocelyn, but similar in other respects to the former. He gives

as a reason for the new commission the uncertainty whether the

other arrived, and his desire that justice might be duly executed

in the province. The first commission did arrive, and a general

court was held under it, at Saco, June 25, 1640,4 before Thomas

Gorges reached the country. This was the first general court

that ever assembled in Maine, and consisted of "Richard Vines,

Richard Bonighton, and Henry Jocelyn, Esquires, and Edward

Godfrey, Gent., counselors unto Sir Ferdinando Gorges, knight

proprietor of this province for the due execution of justice

here." It does not appear that any deputies were present.

The following officers were sworn at this court, viz : Yines, Bon-

ighton, Jocelyn, and Godfrey, as counselors ; Roger Garde,

register ; Robert Sanky, provost marshal; Thomas Elkins, under

marshal ; Nicholas Frost, constable of Piscataqua, Mr. Michael

Mitton, constable of Casco, and John Wilkinson, constable of

Black Point. This court had jurisdiction over all matters of a

civil or criminal nature arising within the province. At the

first session there were eighteen entries of civil actions and

nine complaints.

1 Champernoon lived in Kittery.

2 Wm. Ilooke lived in Agamenticus or Kittery. Sir Thomas Jocelyn never

came to this country. I find no subsequent mention of him. Henry and John

were his sons.

3 Sullivan, appendix. Popham Memorial Vol., appendix.

4 York Records, vol. i.
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Thomas Gorges arrived in the course of the summer ; Win-

throp 1 says of him, that "he was a young gentleman of the

Inns of court, a kinsman of Sir F. Gorges, and sent by him

with a commission for the government of his province of Som-

ersetshire. He was sober and well disposed, and was very

careful to take advice of our magistrates how to manage his

affairs." He held his first court at Saco, Sept. 8, 1640, assist-

ed by the counselors before mentioned.2 At this session there

were {tending twenty-eight civil actions, of which nine were jury

trials; and thirteen indictments, which were tried by the court

without the intervention of a jury ; four of them were against

George Burdett, minister of Agamcnticus, for adultery, breach

of the peace, and incontinency ; and what appears singular,

Burdett recovered judgment in two actions for slander against

persons for reporting the very facts for which he was at the

same court found guilty and punished.* The court passed an

order that the general court should be held at Saco every year,

on the 25th of June; they also divided the province into two

parts, one extending from the Piscataqua to Kennebunk ; the

other from Kennebunk to Sagadahoc ; and in each division estab-

lished an inferior court, to be held three times a year, which

had cognizance of all cases except "pleas of land, felonies of

death, and treason." An order also was passed that all the

inhabitants "who have any children unbaptised should have

them baptised as soon as any minister is settled in any of their

plantations."

The government seemed now to have been placed on a respect-

able footing, and to have afforded hope of permanency ; but in

1 Winthrop, vol. ii. ]>. 9.

2 York Records.

*[ Burdett came from Yarmouth, County of Norfolk, England. He took the

freeman's oath in Salem in 1635, where he preached near two years. He mov-

ed to Dover, N. H., in 1637 or 1638, and on occasion of a quarrel there he came

to York in Maine. He left a wife and children in England, to which, after these

trials in our courts, he prohahly returned.]

t!
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1642, the civil war broke out in England, the influence of which

extended to the colonies and destroyed all. that Gorges had so

long labored to establish. He was a firm episcopalian and

royalist, and joined the king's party with the same zeal which

governed all his former life ; although he was more than sev-

enty years old, he did not hesitate to buckle on his armour and

trust himself once more to the chance of war in defence of his

principles and the person of the king. But interested individ-

uals were not idle to take advantage of this state of things to

aggrandize themselves, and to gratify feelings of jealousy and

hatred against those who were unfriendly to them or stood in

their way. Among such, circumstantial evidence would seem

to place our first settler, George Cleeves. Early in 1G43, we

find him in England, and on the 7th of April of that year, 1 Col.

Alexander Rigby, an ardent republican, and a member of par-

liament, purchased of the surviving proprietors of the prov-

ince of Ligonia, or a part of them, a conveyance of their charter.

It is inferred that he was stimulated to this undertaking by

Cleeves. > Cleeves probably took advantage of political preju-

dices in England, to gain power in the province for himself ; he

had not been noticed by Gorges among the officers of his gov-

ernment ; and with Trelawny and his agent he had openly

quarreled. He therefore addressed himself to Rigby, who had

warmly espoused the republican side, and no doubt persuaded

him to engage in the speculation of purchasing Ligonia, which

was a dormant title, and under existing circumstances, but a

nominal interest, in the hope that by the aid of political ma-

chinery, it might be elevated to a real and valuable estate. We
are inclined to the opinion that Cleeves was active in this meas-

ure, because he was appointed by Rigby, his first deputy for

the government of the province, and because he succeeded in

obtaining a confirmation from him of the valuable grant in

Falmouth, originally made to him by Gorges in 1637. Another

1 Sullivan, p. :;i2.
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circumstance which throws suspicion upon Cleeves, is an at-

tempt upon the character of Richard Vines, the leading sup-

porter of Gorges. On the 28th of April, 1643, he procured a

commission from the parliament, directed to Gov. Winthrop,

Arthur Macworth, Henry I lode, 1 and others, to examine into cer-

tain articles exhibited by him to parliament against Vines. It

appeared at the court held in Saco in October, 1645, that Cleeves

had himself affixed the names of the principal planters, viz

:

Macworth, Watts, Aulger, Hamans, West, Wadleigh, Wear,

Robinson, etc. to the petition to parliament without any author-

ity from them, and which they severally under oath in court,

disclaimed ; declaring "that they neither saw nor knew of said

articles until the said George Cleeves did come last out of

England," and that they "could not testify any such things as

are exhibited in the said petition." It does not appear that

Gov. Winthrop accepted the commission, and Macworth and

Bode both refused to act. Cleeves arrived at Boston in 1643,

with his commission from Rigby, to act as his deputy in the

government of Ligonia.2 Knowing that he should have to con-

tend against an authority already established, he petitioned the

general court of Massachusetts to afford him their protection.

This they declined doing, but were willing that the governor

should write an unofficial letter in his favor. They wished,

probably, to render what assistance they could to a representa-

tive of the popular party in England, without involving them-

selves in the result of its ill success. The letter of the governor

did not have the desired effect of procuring the submission of

Gorges' friends to the authority of Cleeves ; for when Cleeves

proclaimed his commission at Casco, and called a court there,

Vines, the deputy of Gorges, opposed his proceeding, and called

a court at Saco. The inhabitants of course divided, those of

Casco principally joined Cleeves, although some dissented as

1 Bode lived in Wells.

- Winthrop, vol, i. p. r>4. Hubbard, vol. i. p. 368,
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appears by an order of the court, held at Saco, October, 1645,

assuring them of protection. l Vines was resolutely supported

by Macworth, in Casco, and, it may be supposed, by the princi-

pal inhabitants of Saco and Black Point, and he was elected

deputy-governor for the following year. In this juncture,

Cleeves wrote to Vines, that he would submit the decision of

the question, as to jurisdiction, to the government of Massachu-

setts, until a final determination could be had from England
;

but Vines not only declined the arbitration, but imprisoned

Richard Tucker, who was the bearer of the communication,

and required a bond for his appearance at court and his good

behavior, before he released him. Upon this violence, Cleeves

and his party, about thirty in number, wrote to the governor

of Massachusetts for assistance, and offered themselves as par-

ties to the confederacy of the united colonies. The governor

returned an answer unfavorable to their claim for admission to

the confederacy, objecting that "they had an order not to re-

ceive any but such as were in a church way." 2 Afterward in

April, 1644, Vines went to Boston with a letter from the com-

missioners of Sir F. Gorges, and between twenty and thirty

other inhabitants of the province ; but without effect ; they

would render aid to neither party ; and although their prede-

lictions were undoubtedly on the side of Rigby, with their

usual cautious policy they withheld themselves from any inter-

ference in the disputes here, recommending both parties to live

in peace, until the controversy should be definitely settled by

the authorities in England. Cleeves continued to maintain a

feeble sway, and must eventually have submitted to the author-

ity of Gorges, had not the party of Rigby been triumphant in

England ; the distress to which he was reduced will appear

1 "Ordered by joint consent that we will aid and protect the inhabitants of

Casco bay as namely, Mr. Arthur Macworth and all others in confederacy with

us there, and their estates from all opposition, wrong, and injury, that may be

offered them by Mr. George Cleeves or any under him."

—

York Records.

- Winthrop, vol. ii. p. 155.
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from his letter to the government of Massachusetts of July 3,

ltll"). "To the honoured governour and deputy governour,

and court of assistants of the Massachusetts colony, these.

Honoured sirs, may it please you, 1 have lately received from

Mr. Rigby, letters of instruction and advice to proceed in the

government of Ligonia, and because we are opposed by Mr.

Vines and others, his confederates, that we could not proceed

according to our instructions and being daily threatened, and

are still in danger of our lives, and also to have ourselves

seized on by them for not submitting to a pretended authority

to them given by Sir P. Gorges, without any lawful commission;

and thereupon we arc in danger of being ruined and undone,

unless the Lord do move your hearts to protect us with your

assistance. I do not hereby presume to direct you, but hum-
bly crave leave to show mine opinion, which is, that if you will

be pleased to write but your general letter to our opponents to

deter them from their illegal proceedings, and a letter to our

people of Ligonia, to advise and encourage them, that notwith-

standing Mr. Vines and the rest do oppose, that they may and

ought to adhere to Mr. Rigby's lawful authority. I hope you

may not need to put yourselves to any further trouble to finish

the work, but in so doing you will much oblige Mr. Rigby unto

you all, who doubtless would have sent over other order at this

time, if he had known the injuries offered him and us. These

letters now come are in answer of my letters sent to him on

my first arrival and not of my last nor of the * * * of the com-

missioners, as you may. see by the date of them. 1 herein shall

send you Mr. Rigby's letter of request to you and also a letter

of his to me, whereby you may see how the parliament approves

of his proceeding, and that we may expect further orders forth-

with ; and in the interim we do most humbly beseech you to

afford us such speedy assistance as the necessity of our present

condition requires, and we shall forever petition the throne of
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grace for you all, and rest your humble servants. George

Cleeves for and in behalf of the people of Ligonia." 1

This letter produced no alteration in the policy of Massachu-

setts, and in October following, Vines held his court as usual,

assisted by Richard Bonighton, Henry Jocelyn, Francis Robin-

son, Arthur Macworth, Edward Small, and Abraham Preble. 2

It being represented at this court, "that not having heard from

Sir Ferdinando Gorges of late for establishment of government,"

they proceeded to elect Richard Vines, Esq., deputy-governor

for the year,, and "if he should depart, Henry Jocelyn to be

deputy in his place." They also laid a tax for the charges of

the general court ; in which Casco is assessed ten shillings,

Saco eleven shillings, Gorgiana3 one pound, Piscataqua, which

included Kittery and Berwick, two pounds ten shillings. The

certificates before referred to, respecting the articles exhibited

against Vines by Cleeves, were offered, and his practices cen-

sured; but some allowance is undoubtedly to be made by us

for the unfavorable light in which Cleeves appears in this trans-

action, since we receive the representation of it from bitter and

prejudiced opponents, who acted under the highest degree of

excitement ; and having no opportunity to hear the exculpa-

tion of the accused party.

Vines sold his patent to Dr. Child, in October, 1645, and soon

1 From files in secretary's office, Mass.

2 Robinson lived in Saco, Macworth in Casco, Preble in Agamenticus. These

persons may be,supposed to be the leaders in their respective plantations of the

party of Gorges.

3 Agamenticus, now York, was incorporated as a city by Gorges in 1641, by

the name of Agamenticus; the next year a new charter was granted, giving it

the name of Gorgiana ; Thomas Gorges was appointed the first mayor, by the

charter. This tax exhibits the relative value of the settlements in Maine at

that time, if Casco were fully taxed, of which from its having a separate govern-

ment there may be some doubt.
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after left the province; 1 * Henry Jocelyn succeeded to the of-

fice of deputy-governor. The contest had increased to such a

height, that in the beginning of 1646, Cleeves was threatened

with personal violence; he therefore once more appealed to

Massachusetts, to aid him in this emergency. The other party

also making their ivpivscntiitions to the same power, that gov-

ernment addressed a letter to each of them, persuading them

to suspend their hostilities, and live in peace until the arrival

of the next ships, by which it was expected that an order would

come from the commissioners of the colonies to adjust the con-

troversy. On receiving these letters, both parties came to the

determination of referring the subjects of contention between

them, to the arbitration of the court of assistants of Massachu-

setts, to be held at Boston, June 3d, 1646. At the time ap-

pointed Cleeves and Tucker appeared in support of Rigby's

title, and Henry Jocelyn and Mr Roberts for Gorges.2

The result of this arbitration was inconclusive and unsatis-

factory. Winthrop3 says, "upon a full hearing, both parties

1 Vines must have had one daughter at least. I find a petition to Andross, on

Massachusetts Files,from Vines Ellicott for Cousins' Island in Casco bay, in which

he styles himself a grandson of Capt. Richard Vines. [Savage says Ellicott

came to Boston in the Supply in 1679. Ellacott or Ellicott was a respectable

family in Devonshire, England, and still is. Vines went to Barbadoes, where he

and his family were comfortably settled in 1G48. He was there in the practice

of physic. He addressed from there, two letters to Gov. Winthrop, one dated

July, 1647, the other April, 1648.— Hutchinson's Papers.]

* [Dr. Robert Child came from the county of Kent, England ;
was educated at

Cambridge, England, from which he took his first degree in 1631, second in 1G35.

He afterward studied medicine at Padua, in Italy. It does not appear that he

made any use of his purchase of Vines. The next year he got into a furious

quarrel with the authorities of Massachusetts, whom he petitioned for further

freedom in religion and civil government. He returned to England in 1G47 and

never came back.

J

2 I think there must be some mistake in this name ; I find no such person in

the province at that time ; a Giles Roberts subsequently lived at Black Point.

I have thought it probable that Francis Robinson was intended ; he was a re-

spectable magistrate of Gorges' court at this period, and lived at Saco.

3 Winthrop, vol. ii. p. 256.
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failed in their proof. The plaintiff (Cleeves) could not prove

the place in question to be within his patent, nor could derive

a good title of the patent itself to Mr. Rigby, there being six

or eight patentees, and the assignment from only two of them.

Also the defendant had no patent of the province, but only a

copy thereof attested by witnesses which was not pleadable in

law. Which so perplexed the jury that they could find for

neither, but gave in a non liquet. And because both parties

would have it tried by a jury, the magistrates forebore to deal

any further in it.
"

The government of Massachusetts was undoubtedly quite

willing that the cause should take this direction, they preferred

to keep neutral and not identify themselves with either party

until they could safely do it under the decision of the commis-

sioners for the plantations, in England. This decision arrived

soon after, and declared Rigby to be the "rightful owner and

proprietor of the province of Ligonia, by virtue of conveyances,

whereby the planting, ruling, ordering, and governing the said

province is settled." The commissioners further ordered that

all the inhabitants of said province should yield obedience to

Rigby ; and the government of Massachusetts was required, in

case of resistance, to render support to his authority. 1

Winthrop- says that the decision of the commissioners

brought the bounds of the patent to the sea-side, when, by the

language of it, it fell twenty miles short ; this explains what

he before said in speaking of the evidence adduced by Cleeves

in support of Rigby's title, that the grant did not cover the

disputed territory.

This decree was the result of political events in England
;

the republican party was now triumphant, and Gorges, who

had been taken prisoner at the seige of Bristol in 1645, and

imprisoned, was probably now dead
;

3 although, why the title

1 Sullivan, p. 314, who cites an ancient British manuscript.

2 Winthrop, vol. ii. p. 320.

3 In June, 1647, Gorges' friends in the western part of the State, addressed a

letter to his heirs. [He died in 1647.]
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to the province of Ligonia was not good, as to the soil at least,

may be difficult to comprehend. The patent bears date pre-

vious to the title of Gorges, setting aside the grant of 1G22,

which appears never to have been executed ; the proprietors

came over and took possession, and no evidence remains that

the patent was ever relinquished, or the title revoked. But

the sovereignty or the right of government is placed on a dif-

ferent ground, and not having been transferred to the propri-

etors that we have any evidence of, must have reverted to the

king, with the surrender of the grand patent by the council

of Plymouth. The question then arises, whether the charter

of the king to Gorges, conveyed the right of government to

him within the province of Ligonia, which was then held un-

der another and distinct title. But this question we shall not

stop to discuss.*

Cleeves, now triumphant over his adversaries, assumed un-

disputed sway in the whole province of Ligonia, extending

from Cape Porpus to Cape Elizabeth, including both. Under

this government were the settlements at Cape Porpus, W inter

Harbor, and Saco, Black and Blue Points, now Scarborough,

Spurwink, Richmond's Island, and Casco. Saco was the larg-

est, and the next, those of Spurwink and Richmond's Island.

He immediately commenced making grants in his newly-ac-

quired territory; as early as May, 1647, he granted to Richard

Moore four hundred acres in Cape Porpus, and in September

of the same year, he conveyed to John Bush a tract "in the

village of Cape Porpus;" he also made grants in Scarborough

and Falmouth, all of them as the agent of Col. Alexander

Rigby, president and proprietor of the province of Ligonia.'

* [In January, 1G5G, Edward Rigby petitioned the Lord Protector to aid in the

settlement of his plantation in New England, called the province of Laconia,

granted by patent from the king to his father. Referred to the Commissioners

or plantations.

—

Sainsbury.
j

1 Rigby was a sergeant at law, and one of the Barons of the Exchequer in the

kingdom of England
;
Cleeves was styled deputy-president.
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Records of only three courts held by Cleeves are now to be

found, and these are very imperfect ; one relates to a court

held at Black Point, by George Cleeves, Henry Jocelyn, and

Robert Jordan, in which merely the appointment of an admin-

istrator is noticed ; and the others held at Casco in September

and December of the same year, exhibit the proceedings which

took place on the petition of Robert Jordan, the executor of

John Winter, for the allowance of his claim against Trelawny.

These are presented in the appendix. The style of the court,

as we learn from Jordan's petition, was the "General Assem-

bly of the Province of Ligonia." We owe the preservation of

this record to die vigilance of private interest, and not to the

care of public officers. The repeated changes in government,

the confusion of the times, but most of all, the desolation spread

over the whole eastern country by Indian hostilities, have been

fatal to the preservation of any perfect records either of the

courts or towns.

After the decision which separated Ligonia from the province

of Maine, and the death of Gorges, the people in the western

part of the State, in 1649, formed a combination for their own

government, and elected Edward Godfrey their governor
;

r the

first general court under this combination was held at Gorgi-

ana (York) in July of that year. In consequence of the

state of affairs in England, which deprived them of the aid of

their chief proprietor, they petitioned parliament in 1651, to

take them under their protection and confirm their indepen-

dent government
;

2 but parliament not regarding their petition,

they were obliged in 1652, to submit to the jurisdiction of Mas-

sachusetts. Hutchinson, speaking of this period and this prov-

ince, says, the people were in confusion and the authority of

government at an end.3

1 Sullivan, p. 320. Massachusetts Historical Collections, vol. i.

2 Sullivan, p. 322.

3 Hutchinson, vol. i. p. 1(33.
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We have no means of determining with precision how the

government in Ligonia was eonstitnted ; We find a general as-

sembly in existence, and suppose it was formed upon the plan

of that in Massachusetts, or of that proposed by Gorges ; that

is, by assistants or counselors appointed by the president or his

deputy, and deputies chosen by the people. In fact, Edward

Rigby, the son of Alexander, in a Letter written in 1652, to the

province, speaks of the six assistants and the judges. The pro-

ceedings of the assembly in September, 1648, are subscribed by

George Cleeves, deputy-president, Wm. Royall, Henry Watts,

John Cossons, Peter Hill, and Robert Booth. 1 We meet with

nothing in the records which indicate that the affairs of the

province were not correctly, administered, and conducted with-

out confusion or interruption, until the death of Rigby, the

chief proprietor, which took place in August, 1650.2 After the

news of this event, the old opposition to Rigby's government

was revived, and we may conjecture from Edward Rigby's let-

ter, before referred to, that the object of the opposition was, to

form a combination and establish an independent government

;

he writes, that if they do "not desist from their private and se-

cret combinations and practices and join with him, his deputy

and other officers for the peace of the province, he will take

such course as shall not only force a submission, but also a

reparation for all their misdeeds." Tins letter was dated Lon-

don, July 19, 1652, and addressed to "Mr. Henry Jocelyn, Mr.

Robert Jordan, Mr. Arthur Macworth, Mr. Thomas Williams,

as also to Robert Booth, Morgan Howell,* John Wadleigh, Jon-

as Bailey, Thomas Morris, Hugh Mosier, and to all others whom

1 Royall and Cossons were from Westcustogo, now North Yarmouth, Hill and

Booth were from Saco, and Watts from Scarborough.

~ Hazard, vol. i. p. 570. Sullivan, p. 317.

* [Morgan Howell's will ^is proved April 1, 1G67.— York County Records. Book
F.p. 28.]
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these may concern, these present in Ligonia." 1 It appears by

this letter, that Cleeves was then in England, for he says, "I

shall with all convenient speed, not only send back Mr. Cleeves,

but a near kinsman of my own."

How the government was conducted after this time we have

no means of ascertaining ; Cleeves did not return until after

February 20, 1653, and although the majority of the inhabi-

tants of Cape Porpus and Saco submitted to the jurisdiction of

Massachusetts in 1652, he contrived to keep up some show of

power in the eastern part of the province until the submission

of the remaining inhabitants in 1658.

The government of Massachusetts seeing the disordered state

of affairs in Maine, in 1652, seriously undertook to establish a

claim to the province as far east as Casco bay. Their attention

was particularly called to the subject by a land title which was

controverted in the court of Norfolk county, then extending

to the Piscataqua. The judicial tribunal declared that they

had no jurisdiction, the land lying in New Hampshire ; the

subject was carried before the general court, which took occa-

sion to order an accurate survey of their bounds. 2 On the 26th

of May the general court "voted that upon perusal of their

charter, the extent of their line is to be from the northernmost

part of the river Merrimack, and three miles more north, and

thence upon a strait line east and west to each sea."3 In pur-

suance of this declaration, the court appointed commissioners

to ascertain the latitude of the head of Merrimack river ; the

committee made their observations on the first day of August,

1652, and reported "that the head of the Merrimack, where it

issues out of the lake Winnepusiaket,4 was forty-three degrees

1 Williams and Booth lived in Saco, and submitted to Massachusetts in 1653,

Howell lived in Cape Porpus, and Wadleigh in Wells, and they severally sub-

mitted in 1G53. Morris and Mosier lived in Casco bay, and Bailey at Black

Point.

2 Belknap, N. H. vol. i. p. 102. 3 Hazard, vol. i. p. 564.

4 Winnepisseoggee.
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forty minutes, twelve seconds, besides those minutes which are

to be allowed for the three miles more north, which runs into the

lake." Their next step was to ascertain at what point of the

coast that parallel would reach, and observations for this pur-

pose were made October 13, 1653, by Jonas Clark and Samuel

Andrews, ship-masters, who conclude their report thus : "At

the sea-side where the line doth extend there lieth a grayish

rock at a high-water-mark cleft in the middle, 1 else the shore

being sand without stones ; the line doth run over the northern-

most point of an island as we guessed, not above two or three

rods above high-water-mark, the island is called the upper Clap-

board Island, about a quarter of a mile from the main in Casco

have, about four or five miles to the northward of Mr. Macworth's

house." 2

This claim was resisted by Godfrey's government in the west-

ern part of the state, who protested against the usurpation

;

but Rawson, the secretary of Massachusetts, wrote Godfrey in

1G52, showing the grounds of their claim and their determina-

tion to pursue it and occupy the territory. Godfrey, however,

in the name of the government and people, declared that they

would resist the encroachment and continue the exercise of

their authority and rights, until the government of England

should otherwise order. 3* But the people not receiving sup-

1 _Tliisrock still remains, and is the point from which the dividing line be-

tween the ancient towns of Falmouth and North Yarmouth commenced.

2 Massachusetts Records. 3 Hazard, vol. i. p. 564.

* [Godfrey's government sent a remonstrance to the Council of State in Eng-

land, against the claim of Massachusetts, in December, 1651. And November

G, 1652, again by order of the general court of Maine, represented to the coun-

cil in England "That through the proceedings of Sir F. Gorges, they were

forced to enter into a combinationfor government, as appears by their remonstrance

and petition of December, 1651. Since which time all acts of government have

been in the name of the Keepers of the liberties of England. Requests an au-

dience for Richard I- la 1 >r, agent of theprovince,[with reference to the claims of

Massachusetts to their government and the propriety of their Ian 1 which they

have quietly possessed lor twenty years.

—

Sainsbury, vol. i. p. 392.]
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port from England, and weary of opposing the persevering

efforts of their more powerful neighbor, finally yielded to the

necessity of the case ; the inhabitants of Kittery and Gorgiana

signed the submission in November, 1652, and those of Wells,

Cape Porpus, and a majority of those in Saco, July 5, 1653. l

Massachusetts having now extended her jurisdiction to the

Saco river, continued her exertions, without relaxation, to

spread it over the whole of her claim. But she was resisted

in the eastern part of the province, both upon political and re-

ligious grounds. The most influential men east of Saco river,

were decidedly episcopalian in their form of worship, and look-

ed with dread upon the uncompromising, and we may add,

untolerating spirit of the puritan government of Massachusetts.

Our principal settlers had brought with them from England

the religious forms which prevailed in that country*, and did

not come to avoid them, as was the case with the colonists of

Plymouth and Massachusetts. At the head of this party, were

Robert Jordan, Henry Jocelyn, and Arthur Macworth, all firm

in the faith, possessing great influence, and determined to re-

sist while there was hope of success. On the other hand,

George Cleeves and others were stimulated in their opposition,

by the possession of power which they were anxious to main-

tain. In 1654, Jordan was committed to prison in Boston, and

about the same time, he and Jocelyn were summoned by the

general court to appear before the commissioners at York,

which they declined doing ; in 1657, a letter was addressed to

them by the government, but without effect, urging them to

meet their commissioners at York, "appointed for settling gov

eminent in the eastern parts."3

In 1655, Cleeves went to Boston in behalf of the inhabitants

of Ligonia, to protest against the proceedings of Massachusetts.

On the 24th of October, the government returned him a formal

1 Hazard, vol. i. p. 578. Sullivan, p. 349. Massachusetts Files.

2 Massachusetts Records.
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answer in which they urged their claim, exhibiting their patent

and the report of the persons who had surveyed their bounds

;

they stated that they desired to treat the inhabitants of the

province which fell within their limits with civility and friend-

ship, but insisted on their right to the jurisdiction over the ter-

ritory to their utmost eastern limits. They say, "We have not

endeavored to infringe the liberties of the planters of those

lands, but have offered them the same with ourselves, nor to

enrich or ease ourselves by taxing their estates, we expect no

more than what they formerly did, viz : to bear their own

charges ; nor do we seek to put upon them that which we our-

selves count unequal, viz: to be subject to such laws and con-

stitutions made by others without their consent." 1

Massachusetts was fearful that her attempts to extend her

limits would be viewed with dissatisfaction in England, and in

their instructions to their agent November 23, 1655, they say,

"If any complaint be made by Mr. Rigby concerning our claim

by virtue of our patent, as intrenching on what he calls the

province of Ligonia, you may for the present make the best

answer you may, for the reasons exprest in our answer given

Mr. Cleeves' agent, which, if it satisfy not, you may crave lib-

erty for our further answer." She was evidently desirous of

getting possession of the territory, and relied upon her own

strength and the weakness of her adversary, for the final issue.

In August, 1656, seventy-one persons, inhabitants of Saco,

Cape Porpus, Wells, York, and Kittery, addressed a petition

to Cromwell, praying to be continued under the government

of Massachusetts, alleging that they were "a people few in

number, and those not competent to manage weighty affairs,

our weakness occasioning distraction, our paucity division, our

meanness contempt." 2

In 1657, the general court appointed new commissioners,

1 Hazard, vol. i. p. 598.

2 Hazard, vol. i. p. 608.
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and issued a new summons to the inhabitants east of Saco riv-

er, to meet them at York, which they failing to do, the com-

missioners issued another notice requiring the inhabitants to

appear at the general court, to be held in Boston, October 14,

1657. But instead of regarding this summons, Cleeves sent in

a paper, " wherein he declared," as the court in their records

state, " against the legality of their proceedings and the reso-

lution of the inhabitants to deny submission to them." The

court then add, " We do hereby declare our right and claim

to those parts, and the injurious refusal of the inhabitants

there, concerning which we shall seriously advise what for the

future may be most expedient for us, yet for the present, judge

it best to surcease any further prosecution." *

Notwithstanding this declaration, they did not long " sur-

cease" further to prosecute their claim ; for in May following

(1658) they appointed commissioners to proceed to the dis-

puted territory to receive the submission of the inhabitants.

This sudden change in their resolution was probably effected

by a revolution in the feelings of the people, and by a desire

existing here for a regular government. The preamble to the

resolve by which the commission was appointed declares,

" Whereas some complaints have been brought into this court

by the inhabitants of the other side of the river Piscataqua, of

divers disorders and inconveniences which do daily arise for

want of government being orderly settled to the furthest extent

of our line in the eastern parts, it is therefore ordered," ~ etc.

The commissioners were required " to repair to Black Point,

Richmond's Island, and Casco, or some such one place, within

the county of York, as they shall judge meet, there to take in

the inhabitants thereof into our jurisdiction." 2

The people had undoubtedly become weary of the contro-

versy, and their own government was unable to afford that

1 Massachusetts Files.

2 Massachusetts Records.
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security and protection which were needed, harassed as it must

have been by the pressure of the claim so strenuously urged

without, and the struggles of an active opposition within. We
find therefore that when the commissioners held their court at

the house of Robert Jordan, at Spurwink, July 13, 1058, a

majority of the inhabitants of Black Point and Casco attended.

The commissioners in their return say, that having issued

summonses to all the inhabitants residing within the line pro-

posed, to appear before them, "After some serious debate of

matters betwixt us. removal of some doubts, and our tendering

some acts of favour and privilege to them, the good hand of

God guiding therein, by a joint consent, we mutually accorded

in a free and comfortable close." The form of the submission

was as follows, " We, the inhabitants of Black Point, Blue

Point, Spurwink, and CascQ bay, with all the islands thereunto

belonging, do own and acknowledge ourselves to be subject to

the government of Massachusetts bay in New England, as

appears by our particular subscriptions in reference of those

articles formerly granted to Dover, Kittery, and York, which

are now granted and confirmed unto us, together with some

additions as upon record doth appear." 1 This was signed by

twenty-nine persons, of whom the thirteen following lived in

Falmouth, viz]: Francis Small, Nicholas White, Thomas

Standford, Robert Corbin, Nathaniel Wallis, John Wallis,

George Lewis, John Phillips, George Cleeves, Robert Jordan,

Francis Nealc, Michael Mitton, Richard Martin. The remain-

der, with the exception of John Bonighton, who lived in Saco,

were inhabitants of Black and Blue Points.

The following is the substance of the articles of agreement

entered into between the inhabitants and the commissioners,

and may be found at large on York Records.2

1 Massachusetts Records.

- Book i. p. 78. The first volume of the collections of the Maine Historical

Society, contains this document.

7
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1. The obligations entered into were to be void if the juris-

diction of Massachusetts was not allowed by the government

of England.

2. Indemnity and oblivion "freely granted."

3. The privileges granted to Dover, Portsmouth, Kittery,

Wells, and Saco, granted to the people here.

4. In appeals to Boston, the appellant to have cost if he

recover, if not, to pay treble cost.

5. To have copies furnished them of the privileges granted

Dover, <fec.

6. Their civil privileges not to be forfeited for differences

in religion, " but their regulations therein must be according

to penal laws."

7. Those places formerly called Black Point, Blue Point,

and Stratton's islands, henceforth to be called Scarborough.

8. " Those places formerly called Spurwink and Casco bay

from the east side of Spurwink river, to the Clapboard islands,

in Casco bay, shall run back eight miles into the country, and

henceforth shall be called by the name of Falmouth."

9. Falmouth and Scarborough shall immediately establish

their bonds.

10. "The towns of Falmouth and Scarborough shall have

commission courts to try causes as high as fifty pounds."

11. The two towns of Scarborough and Falmouth are to

send one deputy yearly to the court of election, and have lib-

erty to send two if they see cause.

The name Yorkshire is given to so much of the former prov-

ince of Maine, as fell under the jurisdiction of Massachusetts,

and in consideration of its extent, and the difficulty of obtain-

ing the presence here of any of the assistants, it is granted,

"1. That with the consent of the inhabitants of the aforesaid

towns of Scarborough and Falmouth, we do constitute and ap-

point the right trusty Henry Jocelyn, Esq., Mr. Robert Jordan,

Mr. George Cleeves, Mr. Henry Watts, and Mr- Francis Neale,
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commissioners for the year ensuing-

, invested with full power,

or any three of them, for the trial of all causes without a jury-

within the liberties of Scarborough and Falmouth, not exceed-

ing the value of fifty pounds, and every one of said commis-

sioners have granted them magistratical power to hear and de-

termine small causes, as other magistrates and assistants,

whether they be of a civil or of a criminal nature." Any of said

commissioners were authorized to grant warrants, examine of-

fenders, commit to prison, administer oaths, and to solemnize

marriages, and any three of them were empowered to commis-

sion "-military officers under the degree of a captain." Jocelyn,

Jordan, Capt. Nicholas Shapleigh, Mr. Edward Rishworth, and

Mr. Abraham Preble, were invested with "magistratical power,

throughout the whole county of York." Five associates were

authorized to be chosen yearly for the county courts, instead

of three, and a court was appointed to be held in September of

every year at Saco or Scarborough, as well as at York. 1

These and some other regulations, not important to be

noticed, having been adopted, and the commissioners having de-

clared that "the change of the government hath made no change

in any man's former right, whether in respect of lands, chattels,

goods, or any other estate whatsoever," they adjourned on the

16th of July, 1658. Thus the government of Massachusetts

came into possession of the ancient province of Maine, as far

east as the eastern bounds of Falmouth, which she held, with

the exception of about three years, until the final separation

which took place in 1820.

Although the inhabitants had now generally submitted to

her jurisdiction, there were many who carried in their bosoms

a spirit of determined hostility to the power of Massachusetts.

We believe it to have been founded chiefly in difference of reli-

gious sentiments. Massachusetts at that time could hardly

allow a neutrality on this subject ; none but church members

1 York Records.
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could be freemen, and those who did not, "after the most

straitest sect of our religion," live puritans, were not tolerated.

Many of our early settlers were episcopalians ; Jordan was a

priest of that persuasion, and had been the minister to the

people here for many years, and although new settlers crowded

into our plantations from Massachusetts, bringing the religious

doctrines and feelings which prevailed there, still the attachment

of many to the mode of worship under which they had been

educated, was not and could not be eradicated. On this sub-

ject, Massachusetts exercised her power with no little severity,

and notwithstanding her guaranty in the sixth article before

mentioned, "that civil privileges should not be forfeited for re-

ligious differences," she did proceed to enforce her own doc-

trines, regardless of the religious principles which prevailed

here. Robert Jordan was frequently censured for exercising

his ministerial office in marriages, baptisms, &c; in 1660, he

was summoned by the general court to appear before them to

answer for his irregular practices, in baptising the children of

Nathaniel Wallis, "after the exercise was ended upon the Lord's

day, in the house of Mrs Macworth in the town of Falmouth,"

and was required "to desist from any such practises for the

future." 1

It is not therefore to be wondered at that this party should

seek the first favorable opportunity to throw off what they

deemed to be the yoke of oppression. This opportunity was in

a few years afforded as will be hereafter seen. *

1 Massachusetts Records.

* [We cannot dismiss this portion of our history that closes the useful con-

nection which the worthy and most honored Sir Ferdinando Gorges had with

this ancient territory, without presenting a few prominent particulars of his hon-

orahle and active life. His connection with our history sufficiently appears in

our pages. Sir Ferdinando Gorges "was the son and heir of John Gorges, of

London," (Sainshury,) and is said to have been born in Somersetshire, at a place

or manor, called Ashton-Plnllips, in 1573. We do not know upon what author-

ity the last two facts are stated, but the period of his birth is not improbable
;

and it is certain that he had estates and resided in Somersetshire. From cir-
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cumstances connected with his life, such as his being governor of Plymouth as

early as 1000, I should suppose that he was born prior to 1573. He served un-

der the Earl of Essex in the Spanish expedition when Cadiz was taken in 1500,

as sergeant-major, corresponding to colonel. He was afterward appointed gov-

ernor of Plymouth by Queen Elizabeth. He was removed from this office and

committed bo prison for complicity in the conspiracy of the Earl of Essex in

1G01. But James 1, in 1004, restored him to the office. It is probable that this

position, Plymouth being the port of early voyagers, introduced him to persons

who were engaged in voyages of discovery to the American coast; and his in-

terest was greatly excited and increased by the return of Weymouth in 1005,

with live natives from thePemaquid country. The glowing descriptions given

by the voyagers, who bad visited in June the most beautiful part of our coast,

and of the savages, gave particular force and direction to the adventurous spirit

of this enterprising man, and he engaged with energy, and pursued with perse-

verance, for forty years, the work of discovery and colonization of the eastern

shores of New England. In July, 1637 ho was appointed governor-general

of New England, but be did not enter upon its practical duties; in 1039,

he obtained his ample charter of the "province of Maine;" but the call

for his services to aid the king in the great rebellion, diverted his thoughts and

his exertions from his new province, to the strife of arms, in the midst of which,

after doing valiant deeds for his sovereign, be perished in 1047, at about the age

of seventy-five. He had at least two sons. Robert, the eldest, married a daugh-

ter of the Earl of Lincoln
;
received a grant of a portion of Massachusetts in

1622, with the appointment of governor of New England, to which be came and

spent about two years. He returned in 1024 and soon after died. The other

son was John, who succeeded to the Massachusetts grant, which he sold to Sir

William Brereton in 1629.

Gorges had also three nephews, Thomas, William, and Henry, to whom he

gave appointments and made grants in his American province. His grandson

Ferdinando, inherited this province, which he was only too glad to sell in

1077, at twelve hundred and fifty pounds sterling, in consequence of the constant

contention which the authorities of Massachusetts kept up for its title and juris-

diction.

Mr Polsom, in his discourse on Gorges,second Maine Historical Collections, says

"The Family of Gorges had an ancient seat at Wraxhall, in Somersetshire, six

and a half miles from Bristol. (They resided at Wraxhall as early as 1260.)

In the church at that place is a large altar tomb with figures of Sir Edward
Gorges, K. B., and Annie, his wife, a daughter of John Howard, Duke of Nor-

folk. In the same neighborhood, in the parish of Long Asbton, was the manor

of Ashton rhillips belonging to Sir Ferdinando. The village of Long Asbton

lies on the south-east slope of an eminence, called Asbton Hill, about five miles

from Bristol.

imden's Britaunia, it is stated that from the time of Ralph de Gorges, 12G0,
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to about 1700, the family hadjbeen continued in Wraxhall, "and is lately reduced

to an issue—female." The name still exists in Somersetshire, probably by

the marriage, in 1350, of one of the Russells of Gloucestershire "with an heir-

ess of the honorable family of Gorges," who assumed the name of Gorges. This

Russell was of the family afterward raised to the peerage, and is now a promi-

nent constituent of the aristocracy of England.]—Ed.



CHATTER III

161,0 to 1660.

Boundaries and Name of the Town—Inhabitants in 160'', and tlaces of Residence—Early Con-

veyances— First Mills—Settlers at Back Cove—Jordan's claim and quarrel with Ci.eevls.

The limits of Falmouth were described in general terms in

the compact with Massachusetts of 1658 ; they were afterward

to be particularly marked out by the inhabitants themselves,

or, in case of their neglect, the next county court was to ap-

point commissioners for that purpose. This duty not having

been performed, the general court at their session in May, 1659,

appointed "Capt. Nicholas Shapleigh, Mr. Abraham Preble,

Mr. Edward Rishworth, and Lt. John Saunders, to run the

dividing lines," not only of Falmouth, but of Saco and Scar-

borough. This committee attended to the service and reported

" that the dividing line between Scarborough and Falmouth,

shall be the first dividing branches of Spurwink river, from

thence to run up into the country upon a due north-west line,

until eight miles be extended : and that the easterly bounds of

Falmouth shall extend to the Clapboard islands, and from

thence shall run upon a west line into the country, till eight

mill's be expired." ' These boundaries are the same as at the

present time, with the exception of the eastern line, which now
runs north-west from the while rock, opposite Clapboard island,

referred to in the survey of the eastern line of the province by

1 Return of the Committee.
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Massachusetts. A west line corresponded precisely with the

exterior line of the province, as then claimed by that govern-

ment. The two side lines of the tract, are now parallel, both

running north forty-five degrees west, a distance of over eight

miles from the sea ; the rear line is a few rods over ten miles

long. The name which was given to this town, was borrowed

from that of an ancient town in England, standing at the mouth

of the river Fal, in Cornwall, and hence called Falmouth.

This river, after passing through a part of Cornwall, discharges

itself into the British channel, forming at its mouth a spacious

harbor. Several of our early settlers came from that neigh-

borhood, and adopted the name in compliance with a natural

and prevailing custom in the first age of our history of apply-

ing the names which were familiar to them in the mother

country to places which they occupied in this. Previous to

this time, the plantation upon the Neck, and indeed all others

in the bay, were called by the general name of Casco, or Casco

bay, no boundaries were defined ; but when a particular spot

was intended to be designated, the local terms borrowed prin-

cipally from the Indians were used, as Machegonne, Purpoo-

duck, 1 Capisic, Westcustogo, Spurwink, etc. These names

continued to prevail many years, and some of them remain in

familiar use at the present day.

Besides the thirteen persons who subscribed the submission to

Massachusetts, the following were inhabitants of the town in

1658: James Andrews, Thomas Greenly or Greensledge,

George Ingersoll, John Lewis, Jane Macworth, Joseph Phip-

pen, Sampson Penley, Robert and Thomas Sanford or Stanford,

and Nathaniel Wharff.

James Andrews was the son of Jane Macworth, by her for-

mer husband, Samuel Andrews, and was born in 1685, proba-

bly at Saco. Greensledge, in 1666, is called a servant of

George Clecves, we know nothing more of him than that he

1 Purpooduck was the aboriginal name for Spring Point, but it afterward was

extended over the whole northern shore of Cape Elizabeth.
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was an inhabitant, June, 1058. We find George Ingcrsoll here

as early as 1657, but are not able to determine the period of

his arrival; he was born in 1618, and was probably the son of

Richard Ingcrsoll, a Bedfordshire man, who with his family

was sent to Capt. Endicott, in Salem, by the Massachusetts

Company in 1629. 1 John Lewis was the son of George ;- he

received a grant of 100 acres of land at Back Cove from George

Clecvcs, June 26, 1657 ; his father had lived here a( thai time

at least seventeen years, and had several children born previous

to that period. Joseph Phippen was an inhabitant of Falmouth

as early as 1650; he probably came from Boston, where several

of that name were then living; a David Phippen was admitted

freeman of Massachusetts in 1636, and one by the name of Jo-

seph in 1644.* He purchased one hundred acres at Purpoo-

duck, of Cleeves, September 30, 1650. Sampson Penley was

here as early as June, 1658, we do not know where he came

from, he lived many years in Falmouth, and raised a family

here. We know nothing of the origin of the Stanfords, they

were residing at Purpooduck in 1687, when in a petition to

Andross, they stated that they had possessed land on the south

side of Casco river thirty-live years. Nathaniel Wharff was

1 See the company's letter in Hazard, vol. i. p. 279.

2 George Lewis, who I have supposed was the father of our George, was a

clothier. He came from Kent county, England, to Plymouth, before 1630, and

moved to Scituate in 1634. He had a brother John, who took the freeman's

oath in Scituate in 1G37. Our conjecture receives some countenance from the

similarity of names.

*[ The name of Phippen was originally Fitzpen and still exists in Cornwall,

England. Joseph's father, David, was one of the thirty who with Rev. Peter

Hobart settled Hingham, Mass. He was admitted an inhabitant of Boston in

1641, and died before 1653. Joseph bad a house lot in Hingham granted him

1G37 ; he lived in Boston in bill. He married Dorcas W i and had issue, Jo-

seph, 1642, Mary, Sarah. Elizabeth, David. 1647, and Samuel. He died in Sa-

lem about 1087. Tn England, the Jordans intermarried with this family. Robert

Jordan, a merchant in Melcomb, i- supposed to have married a li'
; en or Hap-

pen. J

—

Ed,
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married to Rebecca, eldest daughter of Jane Macwortli, as

early as March 28, 1658, at which time he received from Mrs.

Macwortli a conveyance of land near the mouth of Presumpscot

river, where he afterward lived. 1 In addition to these persons

there then lived in the hay, John Cousins, near the mouth of

Royall's river ; Thomas Hains, at Marquoit ; James Lane, on

the east side of Cousins' river ; Richard Bray, on Mains' point

in North Yarmouth ; John Maine, at the same place ; James

Parker, on the Kennebec river or its neighborhood ; William

Royall, on the east side of Royall's river, near its mouth ; John

Sears, probably on one of the islands. Besides these, there

were Hugh Mosier, Thomas Morris, and Thomas Wise, who liv-

ed some where in the bay at this time, but at what particular

place, we are unable to determine
;
probably in North Yar-

mouth.

The distribution of the inhabitants of Falmouth, in the sev-

eral parts of the town is as follows : On the east side of Pre-

sumpscot river, lived James Andrews, Jane Macwortli, Francis

Neale, and Nathaniel Wharff ; on the west side of that river,

Robert Corbin, John Phillips, Richard Martin,3 the settler at

Martin's Point, opposicle Macworth's Point; at Back Cove,

George Ingersoll, George Lewis, John Lewis, and Nathaniel

Wallis ; on the Neck, lived George Cleeves, Michael Mitton,

and Richard Tucker; at Purpooduck, Joseph Phippen, Samp-

son Penley, Thomas Staniford, Nicholas White, and probably

John Wallis ; Robert Jordan is the only name we meet with

from Spurwink ; Francis Small lived at Capisic, on a tract of

land he purchased of the Indians.

The several parcels of land conveyed by Cleeves and Tucker,

were invariably situated upon the margin of one of the rivers,

or of the Back Cove. The earliest grants from them we meet

with, were to Atwell, at Martin's Point, and to George Lewis,

1 York Records.

2 Martin married widow Atwell, ami afterward occupie:! her farm.
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at the entrance into Back Cove ; these were made before 1G40,

and probably after June 8, 1637, the date of their possession

under Gorges' deed. The next conveyance we have discov-

ered, was of two hundred acres at Back Cove, to Wise and

Mosier, in 1(310, between the land " of Atwcll and Lewis.

We find no trace of any other conveyances from those persons

until 1646, when they granted to John Moses, " now of

Piscataqua river," "one hundred acres of land in Casco bay,

adjoining unto land formerly granted unto George Lewis," in

consideration of seven years service as an apprentice to them. 1

Between the date of the two last mentioned conveyances,

Cleeves went to England and procured his commission from

Rigby, and also May 23, 1643, a title to the same tract which

had been granted to him by Gorges.

For a number of years after this period, Cleeves was engaged

in a controversy with the agents of Gorges for the maintenance

of his power as the deputy of Rigby ; and after he was quietly

established in his government, he soon became occupied in

resisting the claim of Massachusetts. These employments,

together with the continual opposition by which his adminis-

tration was harrasscd by discontented subjects, must have left

him but little opportunity for the improvement of the large

tract conveyed to himself and partner.

In 1650, May 1, he confirmed Peaks' Island to Michael Mit-

ton, his son-in-law, under authority from Rigby, and January 1,

1651, by the same authority, he conveyed to him one hundred

acres at Clark's Point, adjoining his dwelling-house , which Mitton

"had possessed for ten years." February 24, 1651, he trans-

ferred to him all that tract lying in Casco bay, granted to him

by Alexander Rigby, which he describes as being "now in the

possession of me the said Cleeves and other of my tenants," also

all the utensils, household stuff in and about the house and

buildings, with all his houses, buildings, "cattle as well as cows

1 York Records.
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and calves and steers and swine, young and old, as also all

other cattle and goods," and mentions as the consideration a

sum of money, and also "that he the said Michael Mitton, shall

at all time and times hereafter maintain and provide for me,

the said George Cleeves1

; and for Joan, my now wife, good and

sufficient meat and drink, apparel and lodging and physick and

all other necessaries for the relief of this frail life for both of

us, and the longest liver of both of us, as well as for other con-

siderations me hereunto moving as well the marriage of my
daughter as otherways." Although this deed appears to have

been regularly executed, yet it probably never took effect, as

we find Cleeves afterward, even the same year, making con-

veyances of parcels of the same land ; the deed was not record-

ed until 1717.

December 26, 1651, Cleeves conveyed to Nicholas Bartlett,*

of Cape Porpus, "one hundred acres lying together in Casco

bay, near unto the house of me, the said George Cleeves, to

begin at the south-west side of the corn field, now employed for

tillage and corn, by me the said Cleeves ; the bounds to begin

at the small water lake, which runneth into the cove, near the

said corn field, and is to run eightscore poles into the woods,

and from the cove south-west by the water side toward the house

of Michael Mitton, one hundred poles, together with so much
marsh ground as is to be appointed to every other tenant for

every hundred acres." 1 This description points out the situa-

tion of the grant ; it extended from Clay Cove to about where

Union street now is, and included the whole width of the Neck.

* [Bartlett lived sometime in Scarborough.]

1 In the time of Gov. Andross, 1687, Bartlett petitioned for confirmation of

this title, and represented that he bore arms for King Charles eight years, for

most of which time he had no pay, especially the last three years he served in

the Princes guard, and at last was forced to fly out of England for his life, poor

and destitute; and in order to settle himself here, purchased land of Cleeves.

Tliat Danforth disposed of the land to other men who built upon it. He was

then living in Salem.— York Hecorih.
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This tract was conveyed by Bartlettto John Higginson, Jr., of

Salem, in 1700, and by Higginson's executors to John Smith

of Boston in 1720, but it does not appear that it was ever oc-

cupied by Bartlett or those who claimed under him. It is very

certain that it was entirely disregarded by President Danforth

in the settlement of the town in 1080.

On the 20th February, 1653, Cleeves being in England, re-

ceived from Edward Rigby a grant of one thousand acres

adjoining the land formerly granted to him, "beginning at the

little falls in Casco river, and running westwardly three hun-

dred and twenty poles, and five hundred poles southwardly."

Possession was delivered by Mitton to Richard Tucker by the

appointment, and for the use of Cleeves; and July 18, '1658,

Cleeves conveyed the same to Tucker for thirty pounds sterling.

^Yc hear nothing more of this title, and presume it died with

Tucker.

These arc the only conveyances we find from Cleeves pre-

vious to ir>">7
; after that time they arc more frequent, owing

probably to the increase of immigration. In May, 1657, he

granted to "James Andrews, son of Samuel Andrews, citizen of

London, deceased," one hundred acres of land at the upper

end of the marsh on Fore river, near Capisic. 1 In this deed

mention is made of a grant of one hundred acres next adjoin-

ing, by Cleeves to his granddaughter, Ann Mitton ; we do not

find the latter deed recorded, but the land is held under that

title at the present day ; Ann Mitton having married Anthony

Brackett, who occupied the estate and left the whole, or part

of it, to his posterity.*

June 26, 1657, Cleeves conveyed to "John Lewis, eldest son

of George Lewis, of Casco," one hundred acres bordering on

his father's former grant of fifty acres. This was situated at

Back Cove, not far from Tukcy's bridge, and is part of the farm

1 York Records.

* [This forms part of the Deering farm at Back Cove.]
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now owned by Henry Ilsley. * Lewis conveyed it to Nathaniel

Wallis in 1674, who occupied it. November 20, of this year,

Cleeves made another conveyance of fifty acres to George Lewis,

lying southerly of his son John's grant, and extending to

Fall Cove.

The earliest Indian deed we have met with of land in Fal-

mouth, was made July 27, 1657, by Scitterygusset to Francis

Small ; it runs thus : "Be it known unto all men that I, Scit-

terygusset, of Casco Bay, Sagamore, do hereby firmly covenant,

bargain, grant, and sell unto Francis Small, of the said Casco

Bay, fisherman, his heirs, etc., all that upland and marshes at

Capisic, lying up along the northern side of the river, unto the

head thereof, and so to reach and extend unto the river side

of Ammoncongan." The consideration for the conveyance of

this large tract, about two miles in extent, was "one trading-

coat a year for Capisic, and one gallon of liquor a year for

Ammoncongan."

We know but little of this Sagamore ; Winthrop mentions

him as the leader of the party which murdered Bagnall on

Richmond's Island in 1631, and a creek near the mouth of

Prcsumpscot river still perpetuates his name. What extent of

territory he ruled over, or what distinguishing name his tribe

bore, we have no means of ascertaining. We may, however,

reasonably conjecture that his people spread between the An-

droscoggin and Saco tribes, and occupied the river Presumpscot

and the large ponds from which it has its source. Aucocisco,

the name that Capt. John Smith and other early writers apply

to the natives upon this bay, may be considered as belonging

to this tribe, which may therefore be called the Aucocisco, or

as the name is now used, the Casco tribe, of which Scittery-

gusset was the chief Sagamore at this time.

The neighboring tribes had their appropriate appellations,

and the name we have assumed, is the only one of those pre-

served by the early writers, which remains unapplied.

* [In 18G4, the Woodman farm is part of it.]
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At the date of this deed, Francis Small was thirty years old;

he settled on his purchase, where he remained several years,

ami afterward moved to lvitteiy, where he was living in L683.

In May, 1G58, he sold half of the tract to John Phillips, of

Boston, and it was subsequently improved by his son-in-law,

(ieorge Mnnjoy, who made an additional purchase of the In-

dians in L666.

The natives had a large place cleared at Ammoncongan, on

the north side of Presumpscot river, which they improved for

planting, and which retained the name of the Indian planting

ground for many years. The purchasers subsequently used it

for I he same purpose.

August 10, 1657, Cleeves conveyed to John Phillips fifty

acres on the sonth-west side of the Presumpscot, adjoining the

last falls on that river, and between "said mill falls and Rich-

ard .Martin's land." On the 3d of May, 1658, he conveyed to

him fifty acres more, "adjoining the now dwelling house of said

Phillips;" in the latter deed, Phillips is described "of Casco

Bay millwright." In 1662, Cleeves confirms to Phillips his

former conveyances, speaking of (hem as containing two hun-

dred and fifty acres with mill privileges, etc.
1 Phillips was a

Welehinan;- he had previously lived on Broad bay, in North

Yarmouth, on a place which he sold before 1*543, to George

Felt. It is presumed that he purchased the mill privileges be-

fore mentioned for the purpose of pursuing his occupation. Ho
had made previous purchases there, and Cleeves' confirmation

speaks of a much larger quantity of land, than the deeds we
have found convey. It is believed that Phillips established on

the Presumpscot river the first mills ever erected there, or in-

deed in any part of the town. In fact, mills were erected on

no other part of that river for many years afterward, and not

until they were in operation at Capisie, and at Barbary Creek,

1 York Records.

2 Felt's deposition. York Records.
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in Cape Elizabeth. The first notice of mills in this town which

we have met with, is in a deed dated June 8, 1646, in which

is the following recitation : "I John Smith and Joane my wife,

now living at Casko mill, under the government of Mr. George

Cleeves, sell to Richard Bulgar of Boston, all that dwelling

house which said John Smith hath in dowry with his wife Jo-

ane situated in Agamenticus ;" the deed "was sealed and de-

livered unto Mr. George Cleeves and Richard Tucker for the

iise of Richard Bulgar."3 We know of no place in the town

which unites so many probabilities in favor of the location of

the first mill as the lower falls on the Prcsumpscot, and there-

fore presume that Smith must have lived near that spot. In a

description of land at Back Cove, between Fall Brook and the

Prcsumpscot, accompanied by a survey made in 1687, we find

the land and dwelling house of a John Smith referred to ; if

this be the same Smith and the place where he lived in 1646,

we should have no hesitation in determining that the territory

which Smith mentions under the name of "Casko Mill," was

situated around the lower falls of the Prcsumpscot. The name

of Smith was as common in the early history of the country as

it is at the present day. Captain John Smith we have before

mentioned as one of our first visitors ; another John Smith

was one of the earliest settlers at Saco ; he was born in 1612,

and was a carpenter by trade ; in 1685, he gave his deposition

in which he described himself as John Smith, Senior, said he

was seventy-three years old, and "forty years agone was mar-

shal under Mr. George Cleeves ;" Thomas Smith and a John

Smith were jurymen in 1640 ; Richard Smith witnesseth the

possession of Black Point to Cammock, in 1633, and William

Smyth of Black Point, planter, died in March, 1676, aged 88,

having bequeathed his property to his brother Richard of West-

chester, England. The John Smith of Casko Mill, does not

occur again in our records, and we have no means of distin-

guishing him from the numerous others of his name.

3 York Records.
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There were two persons of the name of John Phillips who

frequently appear in our early transactions ; one was deacon

John Phillips of Boston, a merchant, whose only daughter,

Mary, married George Munjoy, a distinguished inhabitant of

Falmouth; he became a Large purchaser of land here, although

never a permanent resident: he died in 1683, in Boston. The

other was John Phillips, the millwright, who lived here many

years and until driven away in the Indian war, when he moved

to Kittery, where he died without issue; he was born in 1607,

and was living in 1684.

We meet with the names of George Ingersoll and Robert

Corbin for the first time in 1657; in 1685, Ingersoll testified

that about twenty-eight years since, Robert Corbin cleared a

parcel of that meadow, called George Lewis's marsh, about

eight or ten acres or thereabouts, at the north end of said

marsh." Corbin had relatives living in the vicinity of Boston,

and probably himself came from that neighborhood; a Robert

Corbin is mentioned by Winthrop 1 as being captain of the

Speedwell, in August, 1637. Our Robert married Lydia, the

daughter either of Richard Martin or of his wife, by her for-

mer husband, Atwell, and lived on a large farm adjoining

Martin's on Presumpscot river, until he was killed by the In-

dians, August 11, 1676.

In the beginning of the next year, 1658, Cleevcs made sev-

eral conveyances of land, principally at Back Cove; the deeds

were dated March 25th, the first day of the year* according to

the ancient mode of computation. The first was to Humphrey

Durham of fifty acres, adjoining south-west on Nathaniel Mit-

ten's land, thence easterly fifty rods by the water side, thence

one hundred and sixty rods north-westerly into the woods; the

next, was to Phineas Rider, of fifty-five acres, extending fifty.

five rods from Durham's by the water; next, to George Inger-

soll, fifty-live acres extending fifty-five rods adjoining the wa-

1 Winthrop, vol. ii. p. 8 I
s

. * [Annunciation or Lady-day.]

8
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ter ; next, to Thomas Skillings,* the same quantity and distance

bordering on the cove "home to the bounds of Richard Tuck-

er."* The consideration of these conveyances respectively, was

a shilling an acre for the land, a yearly rent of twelve pence

and "one day's work for one man every year for all services

and demands." The purchasers occupied their respective

grants ; but whether they took immediate possession of them

is not known. The grant to Skillings remained many years in

his family. It is believed that Anthony Brackett purchased

the grants of the other three, as his farm is described as ex-

tending to the land of Skillings. In May following (1658)

Cleeves conveyed to his grandchild, Nathaniel Mitton, fifty

acres adjoining the fifty acres formerly granted to his father,

"and so to go toward the north-east by the water side home

to the lot of Humphrey Durham," also fifty acres at the narrow

of the neck, west of round marsh. The latter parcel, Mitton

sold to Richard Powsland, in 1674, who afterward occupied it

;

of the other, he probably died seized.

In order to bring together the grants and settlements around

Back Cove, we will anticipate a year or two and introduce the

conveyance by Richard Tucker, of the only land on the north-

ern margin of the Cove, which remained at this time unoccu-

pied. Tucker's deed was made May 2-3, 1661, to Thomas

Wakely, Matthew Coe, John Wakely, and Isaac Wakely, all of

Cape Ann ; the land is described as follows : "the full quantity

of two hundred acres of upland ground not yet improved, with

the ten acres of meadow, lying and being within two miles or

thereabouts of the said land, which meadow hath formerly been

improved by order of said Tucker. Now know ye that this two

hundred acres of land before expressed, is situate, lying and

being between the lot of George Lewis and Thomas Skillings,

in the place commonly called Back Cove, and where now the said

Lewis and Skillings are inhabited." These persons constituted

one family; John and Isaac Wakely, were the sons of Thomas,

* [These form part of the present Peering farm at Back Cove.
|
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and Mathcw Coc married his daughter; they immediately set-

tled upon their purchase. The lino of communication was

now formed around the Cove, and may lie traced as follows:

beginning with Michael Mitton, whose fifty acres lay upon the

northerly side of Ware Creek, which passes up from Back Cove
;

next, his son Nathaniel, fifty acres ; after him in order, Durham,

fifty acres ; Rider, Ingersoll, and Skillings fifty-five acres each;

Wakely and company two hundred acres, which extended to

<i >rge Lewis's land on Fall Cove; next, George Lewis, fifty

acres ; his son John one hundred acres ; then George Lewis's

first grant of fifty acres on the neck, which from him was called

Lewis' neck, and is the point which extends south-easterly, form-

ing the northerly side of the passage into Back Cove. Next to

L >wis's was the grant oi' two hundred acres to Mosier and Wise

which Wise, in 1658 ,sold to Nathaniel Wallis; and last, Rich-

ard Martin's land reaching to the mouth of Presumpscot river.

The settlements then turned up the river and spread to the

falls. At this period, 1658, we know of no other persons as oc-

cupants on the westen border of that river than Martin, Corbin,

and Phillips. We thus perceive that Back Cove was soon oc-

cupied, the land having heen all taken up along the shore as

early as 1661. The advantages afforded by the marshes in the

cove, and creeks formed by it, were inducements to the settle-

ment of thai pari of the town ; the country was a thick forest,

the cattle and the people could be provided for on the inter-

vales and on the margins of rivers, far more easily than in those

remote from the water.

Bu1 Cleeves's grants were not confined to that part of the

town. On tin- first of May, 1658, he conveyed to Michael Mit-

ton ''all that tract of land on the north-east side of Casco river,

to begin at the now dwelling house of said Mitton, and from

thence down the river to the hounds of Richard Tucker, that

is to say to the marked fcree at the great point of rocks, and

thence up the river by the water side, south-westerly, to the

great standing pine tree, marked this day, and from both these
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marked trees upon a direct line north-westerly or thereabouts,

home to the Back Cove." 1 The point of rocks here mentioned

is the one near Robinson's Wharf, and the tract described in-

cludes that part of the town which lies between Anne Street

and a line drawn east of Judge Parris's house ; nearly all the

land is now held under this title, part by some of the Brackett

family, who are descendants of Mitton, and the remainder by

conveyances from them, Nathaniel Mitton and Thaddeus Clark,

who married a daughter of Mitton. On the 15th of May, of

the same year, Cleeves sold Hog Island to Thomas Kimball, a

merchant of Charlestown, who sold it in 1663, to Edward Tyng

of Boston, for twenty-five pounds sterling, under whom it is

now held. On the 26th of September, 1659, Cleeves sold his

homestead, including all the land east of Clay Cove, "together

with all the woods and underwoods and timber trees growing

thereon, and all his house and housing, cornfield and gardens,"

to John Phillips of Boston, and also round marsh at the nar-

row of the Neck ; his wife Joane, executed the conveyance,

and August 15th, of the next year, Tucker consented to the

sale as follows : "I Richard Tucker, do consent to the sale of

Mr. George Cleeves, made to Mr. Phillips for the point of land

within expressed, and do also consent that Mr. Phillips shall

go from the cove next to Mr. Cleeves's cornfield right over upon

a strait line to the Back Cove, or bay towards George Lewis's

lot, which is some part of the lands belonging to me, the said

Tucker." 2* Phillips permitted Cleeves and his wife to improve

the house and corn field during their lives ; the remainder of

the property was immediately occupied by George Munjoy, the

son-in-law of Phillips, who moved from Boston this year, and

1 In 1732, Josiah Wallis testified that he saw the stump of the pine tree men-

tioned as the south-west bound of Mitton's land, with some of the notches on

it, and the remainder of the tree lying upon the bank. ^He had seen the tree

standing in 1680. Deposition.— York Records.

2 Original manuscript in my possession.
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erected a framed house a few rods east of Cleeves's, which be-

came his residence until the destruction of the settlement in

1676. The eastern part of this tract is held at the present day

under this title by mesne conveyances from the heirs of Mrs.

Munjoy, the western part she relinquished to the government

in 1681.

On the 31st of May, 1660, Cleeves conveyed to Hope Allen

of Boston, the upper extremity of the Neck, by the foliowing-

description, "four hundred acres lying together, being part up-

land and part meadow, bounded with a river called Casco river,

south-easterly, with the land of Ann Mitton and James Andrew

westerly, and so to run down the river four hundred poles, and

to run into the woods eightscore poles, until the said four hun-

dred acres be fully completed." The deed was acknowledged

before Governor Endicott of Massachusetts, June 8, 1661, and

possession given June 3, 1662. l Eart of this large tract ex-

1 The original deed on parchment is in my possession. *

* [The following words and signatures are fac-similes from this document.

/^Wr QJLtoH

}

George Lewis,

his mark.

On the back of this deed is the confirmation of Tucker, attested by Robert

Howard, a Notary Public who lived in Boston, in 1660, and died 1683, with the

signature of the time honored Recorder of York County, Edward Rishworth,
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tending from Michael Mitton's land to round marsh, is held

under this title at the present day ; Hope Allen bequeathed it to

his son Edward, and Edward sold all but fifty acres to George

Bramhall, November 13, 1678, who dying seized of it in 1689,

it descended to his children, whose descendants conveyed their

title to William Vaughan. Bramhall's hill within the grant

received its name from the first occupant.

The name of Anthony Brackctt occurs for the first time in

our history, as a witness of the delivery of possession under

this deed in 1662, and the name has ever since been connected

with the affairs of the town through a numerous posterity, de-

scendants of Anthony and his brother Thomas.

These arc all the conveyances we find from George Cleeves

within the territory claimed by him under grants from Gorges

and Rigby, and in fact they cover all the land which at that

time was eligible for cultivation and settlement, except the

tract lying on the Neck between the rocky point near Robin-

son's Wharf and Clay Cove ; and although one hundred acres

of this were conveyed by Cleeves to Nicholas Bartlett in 1651,

Richard Tucker sold the whole, estimated in the deed as con-

taining four hundred acres to Mr. Cad of Boston, on or about

who married a daughter of the Rev. John Wheelwright, and was many years

highly respected as a magistrate in the province of Maine.

&% Tivrfotr
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the year 1662.

"

!* Thus it appears that as early as 1662, Cleeves

and Tucker had conveyed away all their title to lands upon the

neck, now Portland, and also in all other parts of their exten-

sive grant, which were capable of improvement by the limited

population which at this time occupied the territory.

"We will now briefly notice the conveyances which were early

made in other parts of the town. It will be recollected that in

1635, Arthur Macworth received a grant from Richard Vines?

acting under the authority of Gorges, of five hundred acres of

land on the east side of Presumpscot river at its mouth, togeth-

er with the island adjacent ; Macworth died possessed of this

tract in 1657, and his widow divided it among her children
;

March 28, 1658, she conveyed "to Francis Neale of Casco, who

married her daughter," one hundred acres adjoining his dwell-

ing house, and part of the marsh on the north-west side of Scit-

terygusset creek, and the same day she conveyed another tract to

Nathaniel Wharff, the husband of her eldest daughter, Rebecca;

in 1666 she conveyed the island, fifty-six acres of land, to Abra-

ham Adams, who married her daughter Sarah; and in 1674, to

her son James Andrews, a large farm on the bay, east of the

point.2 These persons occupied their respective grants for a

number of years ; Wharff died here before the Indian troubles,

leaving a widow and one son at least ; Neale's house was near

Scitterygusset creek ; he moved to Salem in 1675, to avoid the

dangers of the Avar, and never returned ;* Adams, Andrews, and

1 Michael Hodge's deed to Phineas Jones, 1727.

* [We know nothing of this Mr. Cad. There were several persons in Water-

town, Hingham, and other places in Massachusetts by the name of Cade or Cady,

but it never existed in this town.]

2 Part of this tract was occupied by the Jones family, whose ancestor Nathan-

iel, came from Worcester County, Massachusetts. It is now owned by Capt.

Samuel Moody, 1831. [Since that date, it has changed hands several times and

is now owned in part, by the heirs of Moody, J. W. Dana, of Portland, who

has a summer residence there, and several others.]

* [Neale died in Salem, 1696, leaving a widow and son Samuel. His eldest

son, Francis, died in 1693. Thomas Wharff, a descendant of Nathaniel and Re-

becca Wharff, died in New Gloucester. February 18, 1864, aged 94.]
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their mother at the commencement of the war of 1675, wont to

Boston, where she soon after died. Several other persons in a

few years settled upon this side of the river, and carried their

improvements as high up as the falls; of these the first in or-

der from the month of the river, was Jenkin Williams, who

lived above Scitterygussett creek ; next above him was John

Wakely's plantation, fronting upon the river about three quar-

ters of a mile below the falls ; above this was Humphrey Dur-

ham's farm, which was probably the highest upon that side of

the river. Williams came here before 1667, and continued

until 1675, when he moved to Salem, and did not return ; John

Wakely was the son of Thomas, he came here in 1661 ; Dur-

ham is first mentioned under the year 1658, as a purchaser of

land at Back Cove ; when he moved to the east side of the river

we are not able to ascertain.

On the 1 Ith of August, 1072, Jenkin Williams, George Felt,

and Francis Neale purchased of the Indians, Xanaadionit and

Wavaad Button, a large tract of land on the north-east side of

the Presumpscot river, beginning at the eastern end of the

mile square, which Munjoy bought of the Indians in 1666, and

extending along by the river "to within fourscore poles of

John Wakely's now dwelling house," and six miles back from

the river. The eldest son of George Felt sold his father's

part of this tract to David Phippen in 1600, and Neale and

Williams afterward conveyed theirs to the same person.

The mile square referred to, was conveyed by Cunnateconett

and Warrabita, to George Munjoy, June 4, 1060, and is de-

scribed as a mile square at Ammoncongan. beginning at the

great falls, ( Sarearappa. ) and extending down the river to the

lowest part of the town planting ground, and from these two

points into the woods until a mile is completed. 1 This tract,

Munjoy's widow and son George, sold to Thomas Cooper of

Boston. April 5, 1692, from whom it passed by mesne conwv-

ances into tin' bands of Brigadier Waldo, under whose heirs it

is now held.

1 Original deed, see Appendix No, vii.
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We have been thus particular in noticing the conveyances

of land on the north side of Casco river, because they form the

basis of many titles at the present day, and enable us to fix the

localities of the first settlers with a degree of certainty other-

wise unattainable. On the south side of the river, Robert

Jordan was chief proprietor, and the lands there are principally

held under his grants at this time. His earliest conveyances

were to Joseph Phippen, Sampson Penley, Robert and Thomas

Staniford, Ralph Turner, and some others along the northern

part of Cape Elizabeth ; but he retained possession of Spur-

wink and nearly all the southern part containing the marshes

and the most valuable land, for his own family. He was not

however content with the large territory over which his title

was undisputed, but struggled for many years to extend his

domain as far north as the Presumpscot river. This involved

him in quarrels with Cleeves and his tenants, which continued

during his life. In pursuance of his plan, Jordan, in 1657,

procured in the first place of Richard Tucker, authority to oc-

cupy land about the falls of Presumpscot river, expressed as

follows: "September 11, 1(357, 1 Richard Tucker, do authorize

Mr. Robert Jordan to make use of land adjoining to the falls of

Casco river above Mrs. Macworth's, and there to erect saw-mills,

if he thinks expedient. York 5. 5. '59, (July 5, 1659,) Mr.

Tucker being in court confessed this to be his act." 1 Having ob-

tained this color of title, he next endeavors to obtain possession

by consent of the inhabitants, and for this purpose makes an in-

sinuating appeal to their interest in the following address to

them. "June 28, 1658. To the inhabitants of Casco Bay have

presented—Whereas your neighbor Robert Jordan and others,

out of regard to the public good and for the reconciling of trade

in these parts, have endeavored and assayed to erect a saw-mill

at their great charge, all or the most whereof hitherto hath

come to remediless damage through some obstruction, and a

1 York Records.
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death put upon our work and design ; the said Jordan doth to

you hereby declare that as be resolveth he in himself hath a

righl and privilege to and in (lie place for the erection of such

a work ; but in such case as it shall be made duly and legally

appear, the said righl and privilege to be invalid, then the said

Jordan bath a right and privilege there by consent and allow-

ance of Mr. Richard Tucker, under bis band to such right he

pretendeth to or may have there also, ye said Jordan by virtue

of a covenant made with John Phillips, hath a righl and privi-

lege to and in said place, for erection of said mills in reference

to the pretension of a right there from Mr. Clceves. by virtue

of a contract made with him; all which being not now to be

disputed: the said Jordan desireth you in regard of present

desolation we stand in, that you would, as you sec cause and

reason, by your subscription, declare whether the said Jordan

may have or bath your free consent and allowance to go on

and perfect the said work, and fall timber for the work and

effects thereof, with other conveniences, in peaceful manner,

without violence or opposition, rendering himself willingly sat-

isfaction to such person or persons in future, who can or shall

justly make it appear they are or have been unduly injured

by his so doing, or otherwise you would declare your reason-

able exception: presented by me, Robert Jordan. Consented

toby us, Robert Corbin, Thomas Grienly, John Hares, Thomas

Hains, Francis Neale, Michael Mitton, Nathaniel Wallis,

Nicholas White, William Ryall, Jane Macworth, Thomas Mor-

rice, James Andrews, Gyles Roberts, Richard Martin, Samp-

son Penley, Joseph Phippen." 1

Mitton, the son-in-law of Clceves. who here appears to sanc-

tion the pretensions of Jordan, had prohably bad some misun-

derstanding with Cleeves, and joined the party of Jordan, tj

appears by the records of next year, tbat be was a witness

against Phippen, who was presented for "breeding a disturb-

1 York Eecords.
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ance in town meeting by flinging Mr. Jordan's votes on the

ground," and at the same court, a witness with Jordan and

Neale, against his father-in-law who was presented for denying

to vote for magistrates, and for saying, if the people would vote

for Mrs. Clarke to be a witch, he would vote. It also appears

that Mitton, in 1660, executed to Jordan a release of all his

interest in lands in Falmouth, in consideration of a confirma-

tion from Jordan of the title to land conveyed to him by

Cleeves.

The controversy between Cleeves and Jordan was carried

into the first court, which appears to have been held in the

county after the submission of Falmouth and Scarborough to

the authority of Massachusetts. This was on the 4th of July,

1659. The first action was brought by Cleeves against Jordan

for breach of the arbitration bond entered into by Cleeves and

John Winter in 1640, by which they bound themselves in the

sum of one thousand pounds, to abide the award of referees on

the subject of the disputed title to lands. This action was

withdrawn. At the same court Cleeves entered another action

against Jordan, "for making demands of certain lands pur-

chased by great sums of money, and possessed by order of

former grants these twenty-seven years." This action called

forth proof of the original title, and Jordan introduced the

certificate of part of the judges who tried the action in 1640,

between Cleeves and Winter, taken soon after that trial, of

which the following is an extract : "That which Mr. Cleeves

and the jury took for Casco river to be but a creek into which

we saw but one little brook to run, but the other which Mr.

Trelawny takes for Casco river to be the river, it hath its issue

out of a great pond named Sabadock : the river is of a reasona-

ble depth and breadth, by the relation of the ancient inhabi-

tants and natives, ever to have been called Casco river." This

is signed by Thomas Gorges, Henry Jocelyn, and Richard

Vines. Jordan also introduced the deposition of Roger Willine,

taken December 7, 1658, in which he says that "about twenty-
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one or twenty-two years agone, he helped to row up the river,

which runneth by Mrs. Jan i Macworth's to ye falls called

Casco falls, Mr. Richard Vines, Mr. Arthur Macworth, Mr.

John Winter, Mr. Henry Abilie, with divers others whom he

hath forgotten, where he saw Mr. Richard Vines deliver unto

Mr. John Winter, possession of the lands and falls there, by

turf and twig." On the other hand, Cleeves relied upon his

deeds and possession; but the jury found for Jordan. Jordan

also recovered judgment against him in an action of debt for

ten pounds ten shillings.

Cleeves attributed his ill success in the county court to the

fact that Jordan himself was one of the judges; he therefore

sought redress by petition to the general court. His memorial

is as follows

:

"To the honored General Court, assembled and setting in

Boston this 24, 3 mo. 1661. (May 24, 16(31.)

"The humble petition of George Cleeves, of Falmouth. Gent.

humbly sheweth,

"That your petitioner hath been and yet is greatly wronged

and oppressed by Mr. Robert Jordan, not only in laying claime

unto all my lands which 1 have purchased at very deare rale-;

but by forewarning of my tenants that are, and hindering oth-

ers that would be, although L have had after purchase, posses-

sion for these twenty-seven years or thereabouts: by means

whereof the populating of the town of Falmouth is much hin-

dered to the great loss and detriment of your petitioner and

eonsid'.M-able hindrance to the country; and least 1 should quid Ly

enjoy my just rights, he hath for two years together now past,

or thereabouts, continually vexed your petitioner (as he hum-

bly does conceive and hopes to prove) with unnecessary suites

in law in severall courts, whereby he hath soe farr misinformed

severall courts, as your petitioner hopes to prove, as that pre-

vailing, he hath almost, and if help and redresse fayle, is in a

faire way utterly to ruin your humble petitioner and his for-

ever. The particulars whereof are too large to trouble the
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honored court with in this sort. And therefore your humble

petitioner doth humbly beseech the honored court to consider

the premisses, and either to admit audience of your petitioner's

declaration in the court in generall, or else to grant a commit-

tee to heare what he hath to say, that soe your oppressed peti-

tioner may have some relief in his great suffering.

"Your most humble petitioner doth humbly intreat the hon-

ered court to ponder the premisses, and grant your petitioner

such relief as in your wisdomes you shall see meet, and your

petitioner humbly craving leave, praying for a blessing of God

upon you and your administrations, subscribe myself yours.'"

The return upon this petition is as follows : "The petitioner

appeared before the committee ; but Mr. Jordan, against whom
he complains, was not present," the committee therefore recom-

mend that a day be appointed for a hearing of the case, of

which Mr Jordan should have legal notice, or else that a com-

mittee should be appointed in those parts to examine into the

facts and make report.

It is probable that nothing effectual for Cleeves was done un-

der this petition, for we find him appealing again next year to

the general court, against the injurious treatment of Jordan,

in a tone of the deepest distress and humility. This document

preserves some interesting facts, and containing the language

of our primitive settler on a subject immediately connected

with our soil, we cannot omit and feel unwilling to abridge it:

It is as follows

:

"The Declaration of George Cleeves or his Bill of complaint

against Mr. Robert Jordan, of Falmouth, in the county of York.

Imp. Mr. Robert Jordan, at the county court of York, held

in the moneth of July in the year 1(359, did make a sute

against me for a debt not properly myne, but so pretended and

recorded against me to the value of ten pounds ten shillings,

and costs of court. To the which that he had no just ground

1 Massachusetts Files.
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of sute against me, 1 make appcare as followeth: Although I

acknowledge that I did receive of him to the value of ten

pounds, yet it was not on my own account, but on the generall

account of the townes of Falmouth and Scarborough, in the

county of York aforesaid, I being appointed by them to ap-

peare at the general court in their behalf, And my charges

appointed by them to be borne, in part whereof I received

the before named sum of ten pounds. And Mr. Jordan him-

self did ingage to pay his proportion of the charges, and to

supply me while I was at the court, as 1 can by evidence make

appeare.

Secondly, in an action by me entered and prosecuted against

him at the same court for unjust claimes by him laid to my
lands and wrongfull interruption and hindrance of my rents

and himself being an Associate of that court, I was cast as I

conceive wrongfully in that action and the costs of court found

against me, which I also for further clearing refer to testimony.

Thirdly, Mr. Robert Jordan having recovered the said ac-

tions against me, takes forth executions against me for it, as

also for the cost of court aforesaid, all which with charges of

extending did amount unto the sum of seventeen pounds or

thereabouts, as appears by the constable's testimony, who lev-

ied it on my house and household goods and cow.

Fourthly, Mr. Robert Jordan having soe recovered and ex-

tended as aforesaid, notwithstanding did not then expel me,

my house, nor tooke possession of it, but tooke my word and en-

gagemenl to pay him the just sum due to him by virtue of the

said judgements, which accordingly I did pay unto him. Not-

withstanding which, I having given him under my hand, that

the house and goods should remaine as his till the sum were

paid. And though I had paid it fully, vet at a court of Asso-

ciates in March last, (himself being one of the Associates,) he

sues me again for delivery of my house, goods, and cow, and

recovered against me and hath taken them from me and holds
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them, the house being prised but at eight pounds, which but a

little before cost me sixty pounds.

Fifthly, Mr. Jordan at the former court of that county afore-

said, (which I should have minded before,) after he had cast

me in the action of interruption aforesaid, did under pretence

of law sue me in an action of molestation, because I recovered

not the action against him, though it was a just action, which

I prosecuted, but himself being of that court, I was cast five

pounds again in that action, and he not being therewith con-

tented, demands of me fifteen pounds' alleging that the law

gives treble damages in such cases, which I conceive I shall

make appear to the Honorable Court to be a very unjust and in-

jurious thing.

Sixthly, At the same court of Associates in March last, hav-

ing again recovered my house, cow, Bed and Bolster and bed

clothes, my brewing kettle, pott and other goods, obtains an

execution directed to the constables Deputy to possess him, the

said Jordan, of the said house and goods, and commanded the

constables Deputy (being his own creture) to throw out all my
other goods, as apparel, chests, trunks, and provisions out of

doors, who so acted to the spoyling and breaking of many of my
things, and whereby I lost mnch of my goods and writings and

apparel of my wife's, and many other things, to my damage more

than one hundred pounds sterling. And more to vex and grieve

me, he brought with him one of his own men (to assist the

constable's Deputy) who was] starke drunke, taking my kettle

and pott, being full of worte for beere, ready to tun up, and

threw it about the house, and carried away the said kettle and

poet and detaineth them to this day, being contrary to the law

in such cases provided ; and further to increase my griefe, he

requested his drunken man and Deputy constable to go into my
wife's chamber where she was laid on her bed and very sick,

who in a Barbarous manner pulls her from off her bed and takes

her bedd from under her, and the bed clothing and carries all
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away, my wife being no less than fourscore and seven years of

age, ami all this done after a warrant of Attachment was serv-

ed upon the said house, goods, and cow, by the said Deputy

constable under the hand of Mr. Edward Rishworth, one of the

Associates, requiring the said house and goods to be responsi-

ble to answer my action of review to be tried at the next court

of Associates, where ( in truth ) 1 have but small hopes of good

success in my sutes against him, lie being one of them, and

one that Bouhlly said, let them, if they durst, find anything

against him: My suspicion being the greater for that I proved

at the Last court, that I had paid Mr. Jordan twenty pounds

towards the two executions to purchase my peace for the pres-

ent, until I might by some review or complaint, redress my
wrong, for which I had no allowance by any order of court,

Albeit the two first executions came but to fifteen pounds ten

shillings, besides what I paid the constable for fees and other

charges as appeareth by the constable's testimony, soe that Mr.

Jordan detained from me wrongfully my goods and two cows,

being all the cattle 1 had for my subsistence for the present,

and hath preferred to sell my house to any that would buy it,

and all this of purpose to starve and ruin me and my family.

All which 1 hope this Honorable Court will duly consider and

order my reparations. GEORGE Cleeves."'

"The Deputies conceive in answer to this petition, that the

county court of York next are hereby ordered to examine the

grounds of these' complaints exhibited against Mr. Jordan, and

proceed therein as they shall judge meet according to lawes

here established."

This order was entered at the October session in L662, at

which the petition was probably presented; bu1 what was the

final result of the complaint, the records do not disclose. Jor-

dan, Jocelyn, and others, before the next court, had seceded

from the authority of Massachusetts and set up a jurisdiction

under Ferdinando Gorges, the grandson of Sir Perdinando, who,

9



138 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

after the restoration of Charles II., had procured from the

king a favorable notice of his title, and letters to the inhabi-

tants, requiring them to submit to his government.

These representations would make it appear that Cleeves's

fortune was at this time at a low ebb ; he seems to have been

deprived of property and friends, and was living to behold him-

self turned out of the last acre of the large domain of which

he was once the owner, and over which he formerly ruled. But

the circumstances show that his case was not so piteous as he

would represent it. It appears that he was chosen one. of the

commissioners of the town in 1659 and 1662 ; and in 1663 and

1664 he was the deputy from Falmouth to the general court.

He probably would not have been noticed in this manner, had

his affairs been so desperate as they appear in his own repre-

sentations. There was a strong party undoubtedly against

him ; he had made himself unpopular, partly perhaps by the

violence of his temper, and partly by the zeal with which he

pursued his landed interests. It appears by the record of the

county court in 1659, that at the same time that he sued Jor-

dan for disturbing his possession, he brought actions against

Francis Small for presuming to build and settle on his land,

and felling timber without his leave, and against John Phillips

for trespass. These suits probably related to land which the

defendants claimed under Indian deeds at Capisic ; Cleeves

was unsuccessful in them both. At the same court he was

sued by Thomas Elbridge, who lived at Pemaquid, in two ac-

tions, one for defamation, the other for assault and battery.

In the first case, the jury returned a verdict against him for

fifty pounds, and also that he should make an acknowledge-

ment of his offense when the court. shall appoint ; which the

court ordered to be in presence of the court and at Casco the

next public town meeting. He Avas also {(resented for denying

to vote for magistrates, etc. These contradictory circumstan-

ces, appointments to public office, and open condemnation in

eourt, indicate a most unsettled state of society, if they do not
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on the whole leave a shade upon the character of Cleeves]

And the inference cannot be resisted, that a state of party ex-

isted here at that time as virulent and bitter as has been wit-

nessed in any subsequent stage of our history.

"



CHAPTER IV

Inhabitants petition* the General Court against the claims of Cleeves and Jordan—Petition

of the Freemen to the General Court—Islands belonging to Falmouth—New Settlers, Mun-

joy, Wakely, Coe, Braokett, Clarke, Felt, Cloise, etc.—Mitton's Death.

While the large proprietors were contending for the title to

the lands lying between the Presnmpscot and Pore rivers, the

tenants and other inhabitants were not free from trouble

attendant upon the controversy. In 1660, a part of the in-

habitants sought the aid of government to protect them from the

inconvenience which arose from these conflicting claims, and at

the May session of the general court, they presented the fol-

lowing petition which sets forth their grievances.

"To the Honorable General Courte now assembled at Boston,

30 May, 1660, the humble petition of some of the distressed

inhabitants of the town of Falmouth.

"The humble desire of your poore petitioners hoping that

you will take it into serious consideration, our present condition

that we stand in, in respecte, of the pretended patenes and

clames that Mr. Robert Jordan and Mr. George Cleeves laies

clame to, so that much trouble cometh to us, suing men to

Cortes, as witnes the many sutes and actions at Cortes and are

still goen on against us and other trctened against, so that we

are much destracted in our afares and know not what we shall

doe in thes our trobeles, only our prayers are to God and you,
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that you would be pleased to consider our condition and des-

tractions that we arc in, and that it will be the overthrow of

thes hopeful beginenes that is amongs us. God begun to an-

swer our prayers, and to send us a faithful dispenser of the

word to us, for which we desire to blcs God for and we hope

shall enjoy, if these destractions doe not discourage him, there-

fore our oumbell request is to this oncrcd assemblie that you

would Be pleased to take into it consideration our present condi-

tion, for if that Mr. Jordan's paten and claim hould with Mr.

Cleeves, the town is overthrown and noe man shall enjoy what

he hath labored uppon and possessed, unless it be uppon ther

terms, and at ther wills and pleasures, but we hope that we

shall injoy our privclegcs and town affairs with the rest of the

towns in the jurisdiction, thes not to trobele your oners noe

farther, but leave the case to God and you, hoping for a com-

fortable answer, "We remain yours in all faithfulness. George

Ingersoll, George Lues, (Lewis,) Joseph Phippcn, Nathaniel

"Wallis, Thomas Cellen, (Skillin,) Houmphry Durham, John

Walles, Nicholas Wite, Phinehas Rider." 1

What was the result of this petition does not appear ; it is

probable that the contentions referred to had the effect, as

Cleeves suggested in his memorial, not only of preventing per-

sons from entering upon his grant, but eveft of driving from

the debatable ground some of those who had already settled

upon it. Of the above petitioners, who it would seem all lived

upon the disputed territory, four of them at least, removed

from it to other parts of the town, viz: Phippen, Durham,

White, and Rider. The petitioners include all the inhabitants

on that territory, except Martin, Corbin, Phillips, Munjoy, and

Clcevt's"s family. Munjoy seems to have bought his peace with

Jordan, by taking a deed from him of ten acres on the Neck,

"near unto the now dwelling house of Mr. George Cleeves;"

Jordan warranted the title against the claims of Trelawny and

1 Massachusetts Files.
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all other persons ; the deed is dated August 21, I860.* The

next day, mutual releases passed between Jordan and Michael

Mitton, relative to land upon the Neck ;' by these, it Would

seem that Munjoy and Mitton were willing to admit that Jor-

dan either had title or a color of title on this side of the river.

Although in practice we are confident that Jordan never oc-

cupied any territory north of Fore river under the Trelawny

title
;
yet this unhappy controversy, so vexatious to the inhab-

itants and productive of so much evil to the parties themselves,

was never determined by a judgment of court. While it was

raging at its highest point, a temporary separation took place

from the government of Massachusetts, during which the feeble

administration of the laws, and the balanced state of parties

prevented, we may presume, a judicial investigation of the

subject ; and when the jurisdiction of Massachusetts was again

restored, Cleeves was probably dead. The Indian troubles soon

after commenced, in which Jordan fled never to return ; after

that time we hear no more of the controversy, until the reset-

tlement in 1718, when Jordan's grandchildren revived the

claim ; it was finally adjusted in 1729, by compromise with the

town of Falmouth, when Dominicus Jordan released, for a grant

of two hundred acres, all title "from himself, his heirs, and all

and every other Jordan whatsoever" in any land "between the

rivers."2

* [The original is in my possession, from which the annexed fac-similes of at-

testation and signature are taken.]

1 York Records.

2 Town Records.
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Soon after the jurisdiction of Massachusetts was established,

the inhabitants of the town undertook to exercise ownership

over some part of the lands claimed by Oleeves. Nor was

he the only one of the Large proprietors who was exposed

to injury from the effects of Agrarian law, which the people

seemed disposed to adopt. Complaints were made to govern-

ment in 1060, by Cleeves, and large land-holders in Saco,

John Bonighton, Richard Foxwell, and William Phillips, "crav-

ing the help of the court for settling their respective interests

and possesssions in the east parts of this jurisdiction." The

general court appointed a committee to repair to Saco, and in-

vestigate the facts. This committee adjusted the controversy

b rtween Phillips and the inhabitants of Saco, and recommended

that a division should be made of the Bonighton patent

;

they thus close their report : "And as for the complaint of Mr.

George Cleeves, when we were at Saco attending the general

court's before mentioned order. His writings and evidences

were not present, therefore we can make no certain return

thereof, but judge meet, The townsmen of Falmouth be or-

dered not to dispose of any lands, which arc within the bound-

aries of the patents or grants of the said Mr. George Cleeves

until this court take further order therein;" dated October 25,

1660.'

The terms on which Cleeves lived with a part of the inhabi-

tants, may be gathered from a petition which they sent to the

general court about this time ; it has no date, but internal evi-

dence fixes it upon this period : "To the Honorable General

Court of the Massachusetts, or whom els it shall or may concern,

tin' humble petition of divers inhabitants and freemen of Fal-

mouth, humbly sheweth,

"Thai whereas there hath been a sad contention in these parts

concerning government, Your petitioners most of them living

upon their labour, and desirous rather to live in peace and

1 York Records.
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learne to be obedient and submit to what government it shall

please-the Lord and our sovereign to appoint over us, than to

contend or determine who our governors shall be, yet there

hath latelie certaine men appeared in our names att ye Honor-

able General Court, and as we are informed, presented a peti-

tion which was without our consents or knowledge, for had ye

government been settled and that we could have acted with

freedom of spiritt wee would never have dishonoured the Hon-

orable General Court with men of such lives and conversa-

tions, as are first George Cleeves, who is upon record for breach

of oath and accused of forgery. Mr. Phippen not many days

before his departure was beating and drawing of ye blood of

his Majestie's subjects and stands upon record for slandering ye

deputie governor and was always a man of contention and

strife since he came in our parts. John Phillips hath acknowl-

edged himself guilty of keeping a woman which is none of his

wife this fourteen years. These men cam in your names and

exercise authoritie over us with many soare threatenings,

wherefore our humble request is, That if itt please the Lord to

continue us still under your government, you would be pleased

to grant us the liberty that other of his Majestie's subject have,

and you by Article granted, yt is freedom to vote for our offi-

cers and not such men imposed upon us, and we shall ever

pray, &c. Francis Neale, Jane Macworth, widdow, Nathaniel

Wharfe, Robert Sandford, Sampson Penley, Francis Small,

Richard Martin, George Felt, Thomas Sandford, John Winter,

Robert Corbin, James Andrews, feenja. Hatwell, John Cloyes,

Edw." (This last name I cannot decipher.) Then follows,

"There is butt twelve or thirteen freemen in our towne accord-

ing to ye Article of freemen in our submission to ye govern-

ment, six of whom have subscribed hereunto, and five voted

for governor and other officers, yet there are several who say

they are free, butt we know it note, and most of us would have



TITLES TO ISLANDS IN FALMOUTH. 145

voted if we had had wan-ants as formerlie, to command us so

to doe." 1

In 1G64, Cleeves made the following explanation relative to

his grants: "Whereas I George Cleeves, of Falmouth, Gent.,

have by virtue of a patent granted from Sir Ferdinando Gor-

ges, and also from Alexander Rigby, granted several ptireels

thereof unto sundry men as per (\<'t't\< given under my hand

appeareth, and the bounds in said deeds are to run from the

water side north-west. Xow to prevent any mistakes in any

of the said bounds and any future trouble among neighbors,

it is therefore hereby declared my intent is and ever was when

I granted any of said lands that the bounds should be north-

west as direct as may be, excepting the Back Cove grants are

to run a little more westerly, to run right up the country to

those bounds there, and all other though expressed north-west-

erly, according to sea affairs, yet I meant, and is the true in-

tent, according to the husbandman's account, who knows but

eight points of the compass, which this north-westerly or north-

west is one, and this I do assert to be a truth, as witness my
hand this 12th day of April, 1G64, by me, George Cleeves."-

We will now briefly notice the titles to some of the islands

within the limits of ancient Falmouth. The names are Clap-

board, Chebeag, Jewell's, Long, Peak's, Green, Bangs', Hog,

Cow, House, Marsh, Overset, Mackcy's, Ram, and Richmond's/ 1

1 Massachusetts State Files.

2 York Records.

3 The ancient names of some of the islands have been preserved, as Clapboard,

Chebeag, Jewell's, Lnnn. Hog, Cow, ami House; Chebeag was sometimes failed

Chebaccho, and Jewell's, Donnell's island, from Henry Donnell, an ancient o

panl an 1 owner, who wen; from York. Markov's is a corruption of Macworth,

and derived its name from its Brsl occupant. Peaks was originally called by

the English, Pond [sland; Cleeves gave it the name of Michael, when he in 1637

conveyed it to Michael Mitton ; after it passe i into Munjoy's possession it bore

his name ; his son-in-law. Palmer, after the decease of Munjoy, occupied it and

gave it his name. To whom it owes its present appellation, I am unable in

it is however at least coeval with the name of Palmer. Bangs' Island was o
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We find no early conveyance of the lower Clapboard Island;

nor are we able to say by whom or how early it was occupied

;

it contains about thirty acres, and lies about a mile from the

shore, near the eastern line of Falmouth ; it was granted by

the town to Mrs. Munjoy in 1681, as part compensation of land_

taken from her on the Neck for the use of the inhabitants. 1

The upper Clapboard is in Cumberland, and was very early

occupied by Thomas Drake and his grantees. There are two

islands in the Bay called Chebeag, distinguished by the addi-

tion Great and Little ; the latter only belongs to our limits,

the former is in Cumberland. Great Chebeag contains some-

thing over two thousand acres, the other about one hundred

and eighty. In early grants they are not distinguished ; the

first conveyance of either of them which we find, is from

Cleeves to Walter Merry, September, 18, 1650 ; this grant is

referred to by Danforth in a deed to Edmund White of Lon-

don, in 1685, in which he recites that "George Cleeves, Gent.,

Deputy President of the province of Ligonia in New England,

by order of Alexander Rigby, Esq., sergeant at law, and one of

the Barons of the Exchequer in the kingdom of England, did

grant unto Walter Merry of Boston, all that small island in

Casco bay commonly called Chebeag, and now by the name of

Merry's Island."'- Whether this conveyance refers to the large

or small island, we cannot precisely ascertain ; it would seem

to be Great Chebeag, from the fact that president Danforth,

1 So say the depositions of Wallis and Lane, but the statement is doubtful.

2 The same island by the description of Chebeag or Merry's Island, was con-

veyed by Robert Thornton of Canton, in New Plymouth, to Josiah Willes of

Boston, October 8, 1G75.

inally called Portland, it is so named in Hubbard, as is also the point opposite

on which the light-house stands ; and the passage between them was called

Portland sound ; the island afterward received the name of Andrews' Island

from James Andrews, who owned that and Ram Island lying near it ; for its pres-

ent name, it is indebted to Joshua Bangs, its modern owner, who came here

from Cape Cod, and died in 17C1.
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in 1682, granted Little Chebcag to Silvanus Davis, which re-

mained in his possession many years. It cannot be supposed

that Danforth so soon as three* years afterward would have

conveyed the same island to another, July 12, 1680, Domini-

cus, Samuel, and Jeremiah Jordan, sons of Robert Jordan,

conveyed to Walter Gendall, six hundred and fifty acres on

Great Chebeag, which his administrator, Thcodosius Moore,

who married Gendall's widow, claimed ander a resolve of Mas-

sachusetts. 1 This tract was on the eastern side, of the island,

where improvements had been made. It had probably been

used as a stage for fishermen, for which purpose it was advan-

tageously situated. In 1683, the government of Massachusetts

granted or confirmed to Richard Wharton, six hundred ami

fifty acres on the western side of the island, which his admin-

istrator, Ephraim Savage conveyed to the deacons of tin 1 first

church in Boston, for the use of the poor, and which they

claimed, calling the island Chebcag, or Recompense Island.

This latter name, however, it did not retain. In 1743, it was

owned by the first church in Boston and Col. Thomas West-

brook, and in that year Westbrook's half was set off on execu-

tion to Samuel and Cornelius Waldo, as was Little Chebeag,

also belonging to Westbrook and Waldo, ami derived by them

from the legatees of Silvanus Davis.*

JJThe legislature of Massachusetts, on the 7th of March,. 1700, passed a re-

solve appointing '-a committee to receive ami examine the claims of all proprie-

tors of lands and of such as challenge propriety, in any of the lands lying with-

in this province to the eastward of the town of Wells, laid waste by the late war."

In 1697, an act had been passed for quieting po which limited all ac-

tions for lands east of the Piscataqua t<> Sve years after the termination ol

Indian war then pending. In 171"), this provision was extended five years
; the

additional act provided "thai there shall be a further time of five years, from

the last of this instant. .Inly. L715, allowed all persons to pursue their right and

claim, to any houses ami lands in those parts an 1 places, and every of them, and

no longer." Under these provisions numerous claims were entered for lands

between Wells and the Penobscot river.

* [On May 26, 1685, Massachusetts granted to Thomas Danforth, Esq., presi-

dent of the province of Maine, and to Samuel Nowell, Esq, for their great
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Jewell's Island was purchased by Henry Donnell, of the In-

dians, and occupied by him as a fishing stage for thirty years,

until driven away in the war of 1688, with the loss of several

lives, according to the statement of his son Samuel, who claimed

it iii 1710. Donnell went from York and married a daugh-

ter of Thomas Reading, an ancient inhabitant in the bay,

who died prievous to 1674, leaving a widow and children.

Donnell' gave his own name to the island, but it has not pre-

vailed in practice ; its first name was probably derived from

George Jewell, an early inhabitant of Saco, who was drowned

in Boston Harbor in 1638. It was laid out by the new proprie-

tors of Falmouth to John Tyng, under whom it is now held.

Long Island contains six hundred and fifty acres, and was

early taken up by John Sears, but at what particular time we

are unable to determine ; he was an inhabitant of the bay be-

fore 1616. In June, 1655, Sears sold this island to Isaac

Walker of Boston, who in August, 1667, conveyed it to Richard

Russell of Boston. It was confirmed by Massachusetts in 1683,

to James Russell, son of Richard, who conveyed it to John

Smith of Boston in 1706. "We have lately found it called

Smith's Island, in an old map of Casco bay, published in Lon-

don, without date, but probably in 1702 or 1703.

We have often had occasion to notice Peak's Island ; from its

vicinity to the town, and the goodness of its soil and situation, it

early attracted attention ; it was conveyed by Cleeves to his son-

in-law, Mitton, December 28, 1637; confirmed to him by Thomas

Gorges in 1642, and again by Cleeves, as Rigby's agent, in

1650. Mitton's widow transferred it to John Phillips of Boston,

pains and good service done by order of this court in the expedition and several

journeys to Casco, for which no recompence hath been made them, an island

called Chebiscodego, in Casco bay, in the province of Maine, provided they

take the same in full satisfaction for all service done, referring to the settlement

of the province of Maine. This is no doubt Great Chebeag; and did it not re-

ceive the name Recompense, from the word in the ^rant, and the fact that it

was payment for the grantees' services ?]
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in 1661, by whose son-in-law, Munjoy, and his son-in-law, John

Palmer, it was occupied many years, and was said to have been

given to Palmer's wife, .Mary, by her grandfather Phillips. Mun-

joy erected a stone house upon the island before L675.* This

island became the fruitful mother of lawsuits in modern times,

it having been claimed by the posterity of Mitton, and by per-

sons who purchased Phillips's title from the heirs of Munjoy.

And it is believed now to be held under both titles by a sort of

compromise; the Bracken branch of the Mitton family occupy-

ing part of it, and the grantees under Phillips the remainder.

§

Bangs' Island was owned by -lames Andrews before the first

Indian war, and was called by his name: but how he derived

his title we have no means of determining ; it was confirmed

to him by president Danfbrth, July, 1682. Hannah Hallom of

Boston, 1733, testified that she lived in Falmouth in 1667, and

"well remembers that said Andross improved a certain island

in the mouth of Casco harbor, which was called Andross's own,

and she never knew or heard any other person claim said island,

or question said Andross's title thereto." Joshua Brackett, in

a deed of Peak's Island to his son-in-law, Trott, in 1702, de-

scribed it as "lying between And6rs, Hog, Long, and House

*[T lie access to the voyage of Christopher Levett, published in the second

vol. of the Maine Historical Collections, leads me to doubt whether the stone

house referred to, was not in part the one built by Levett in 1623, rather than

by Munjoy. We have no evidence that Munjoy ever lived himself on the island,

although he improved it
; Palmer, who married his daughter, lived there. Lev-

re says, in his narrative, "And thus after many dangers. &c. I have obtained a

place of habitation in New England ; I have built a house and fortified it in a

-liable good fashion.'" This was at the place called by the Indians, Quack,

and which he named Fork, and which was one of the four islands, between

which he made his boasted harbor. The four were Bangs, House. Peak's, and

Hog, which now. as then, form the s im • b tutiful and safe shelter for thousands

of vessels annually seeking i;s protection.]

ty
[Elizabeth Mitton, wife of Michael Mitton, October 7, 1661, conveyed Pond's

or Peak's Island to John Phillips of Boston, who gave it to his granddaughter,

Mary Munjoy, wife of John Palmer. It has borne the successive names of Pond,

Michael, Munjoy, Palmer, and Peak's.
]
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Islands." Ma)r 17, 1698, Andrews conveyed this island, which

he called Portland Island, and the small one adjoining it, called

Ram Island, to John Rouse of Marshfield ; Rouse claimed it

under the resolve of Massachusetts before referred to, and after-

ward conveyed it to John Bourne of Marshfield. This island

was also called Fort Island, probably from its having been a

place of retreat from the Indians in 1676, when a fort was hast-

ily thrown up there for protection ; there are now remaining

the ruins of a stone building upon the island.*

Hog Island was granted by Gorges to Cleeves and Tucker

in January, 1637 ; in May, 1658, Cleeves conveyed it to Thomas

Kimball of Charlestown, who, with Henry Kimball, sold it to

Edward Tyng of Boston for twenty-five pounds, July 24, 1663.

He conveyed it to his daughter Eunice, wife of Rev. Samuel

Willard, September, 1679. Elizabeth Clark, granddaughter of

Cleeves, and mother-in-law of Edward Tyng, testified in 1728,

"that Phillip Lewis lived a considerable time on Hog Island, as

tenant to Mr. Tyng, her son-in-law, and received money several

times of the people of Falmouth for feeding their creatures on

the said island." 1 This beautiful and valuable island contain-

ing about two hundred and fifty acres, is held at the present day

under the ancient title. Through all the changes of its owners

it has preserved its original name, which, although not very

classical, is a more common name for islands, than any other

upon our coast. Cousin's Island in North Yarmouth, was

anciently called Hog Island, and by the Indians, Suscussong,

but the name of its first white proprietor has prevailed over

them both.

§

* [Bangs bought the island of Ezekiel dishing, September 14, 1760, and soon

after mortgaged it to his son-in-law, Jedediah Preble, describing it as contain-

ing two hundred and fifteen acres. Preble afterward acquired the whole title,

and it descended to his heirs.]

1 This fragment was furnished me by Win. Gibbs, Esq., of Salem, a descend-

ant of Edward Tyng. to whom I am indebted for some other particulars from

the records of that county.

—

Essex County Record.

<) [The origin of this very common name for islands on our coast it is difficult
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House Island was very early improved by persons engaged

in the fishing business, for which its eligible situation peculiarly

adapted it. In October, 1661, "Nicholas White, of Casco Lay,

planter," sold to John Breme, ••now in the same hay, fisher-

man," for five pounds three shillings, all his interest in House

[siand, being one quarter part, with one quarter of the house,

but reserved liberty for Sampson Penley to make fish on said

island during his life, and to have the refusal of the purchase,

if Breme should sell. In 1663, Penley Levied an execution

against Joseph Phippen upon one quarter of the island, half of

the old house and all of the new house, together with half of

the stages ; and in March of next year he sold his whole inter-

est in the island to George Munjoy. In November, 1(563,

William Noreman, "resident in Caseo, fisherman," sold to

George Munjoy, quarter of the island and quarter of the house

upon it. .Munjoy seems now to have acquired the whole title,

which was confirmed to his widow in 1681, by president Dan-

forth, and descended to her heirs under whom it is now held.

White, after selling his interest in the island, moved further up

the bay, and we afterward find him in North Yarmouth, then

called Westcustogo. Phippen probably used the island until

dispossessed by Penley; he lived at Purpooduck.* We do not

meet with the name of Noreman after this occasion; he was

probably a transient person. Richmond's Island, we have be-

fore sufficiently noticed; the other islands, the Green, Cow,

4
( Bouse Island has continued to the present day to be used as a place for

fishing stages. The government of the United States purchased the western

part of it in L808, erected a wooden block-house upon it, which is now (1801)

being greatly enlarged and strengthened, and made a formidable fortress.]

to learn or conjecture. It is very clear that it could not be derived from the

animal of that name, for they did not exist there. I suppose it must be a cor-

ruption of some Indian term having local sense. Is not the word Quack which

Levett applies to one of these islands, the true name, and may it not have reach,

ed its appellation, thus, Quack— Quoaj, spelt by Webster Quahauj. a species of

c!am

—

Hog, I cannot give a more probable interpretation J
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Marsh, Overset, and two small ones called the Brothers, which

belong to the Macworth property, are of small extent, not

inhabited, and not of sufficient consequence to claim particu-

lar attention.

In 1663, the court of York, consisting of two commissioners

specially appointed by the general court, and the associates of

the county, passed the following order relative to the islands

:

"We, by virtue of a commission to us granted by the general

court of Massachusetts, do grant that all the islands in Casco

bay lying within the jurisdiction of the government of Massa-

chusetts, and within the limits of the breadth of the lines of

the town of Falmouth, eastward into the said bay shall belong

and are hereby ordered to be within the said town and under

the government thereof, and bear town charges in proportion

with other inhabitants there, saving the propriety of each per-

son in every of the said islands, with Bichman's Island."

The extension of the laws and jurisdiction of Massachusetts

over this territory had an important influence upon its set-

tlement and prosperity. Hitherto we may presume that no

permanent code of laws had been established, the records fur-

nish no indication of the kind ; but temporary ordinances were

framed as they were called for by the wants of the people and

the emergency of the occasion ; and the execution of these must

have been inefficient and fluctuating. But when the laws of

Massachusetts were introduced, sanctioned by her example and

power, and enforced with rigor, security was afforded for the

enjoyment of property and civil privileges. Persons were en-

couraged to migrate to this province from the neighboring col-

onies, by the prospects which were furnished in the facilities for

fishing, for agriculture and trade. Among those who were

drawn here at that time, was George Munjoy, a man of educa-

tion and enterprise, and who united with these advantages the

command of a capital, which enabled him to exercise an exten-

sive influence over the prosperity of the place. He was the

son of John Munjoy, of Abbotsham, in the county of Devon,
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England, or Mountjoy, as the name still exists in thai county,

and was born in 1626. At the age twenty-one, in 1647," he

was admitted a freeman of Massachusetts, and soon after mar-

ried Mary, the only daughter of John Phillips, deacon of the

first church in Boston, and a respectable merchant; his eldest

son, John, was born April 17, 1653, in Boston, as were also

George in Idol), and Josiah in 1658 ; his other children were

Pelatiah, Eepzebah, married to Mortimorc, and Mary, his eld-

est daughter, married to John Palmer; the date of her birth*

we have not ascertained, but it was probably before that of John;

the other two we suppose were born in Falmouth. Munjoy

had visited Falmouth as early as 1657, as we perceive by his

signature as a witness to several deeds, but he did not settle

here until after .May, 1659; for in an agreement entered into

in thai month, he .is styled of Boston. His father-in-law, in

September, 1659, purchased Cleeves's homestead at -the lower

end of the Neck, and erected a house for him upon a part of

the land : this continued to be his residence during his abode

here, although he subsequently purchased a large tract of land

on the Presumpscot, at Ammoncongin, and a farm of four hun-

dred acres on the northerly side of Long Creek, both of which

he improved for several years immediately previous to the first

Indian war. He lived on this farm in part, about four years be-

fore the Indian war. He had a sister Mary who married John

Saunders of Braintree, Mass.

Beside Munjoy, there came, in 1661, the three Wakelys,

Thomas, John, and Isaac, and Matthew Coc, who married a

daughter of Thomas Wakely. They came from Gloucester,

Cape Ann, and settled at Back Cove on two hundred acres,

purchased of Richard Tucker, west of Fall brook. Mather,

in his Magnalia, speaking of Thomas Wakely, says, "Now this

honesl old man was one who would often say with tears, that

* [Savage says Mary was born in Falmouth, and came to Boston for baptism,

July 9, 1G65. Savage also mentions sons, Phillip, Benjamin, and Gershom ; they

died unmarried. Tlio name is extinct except in the hill at Portland. I

HI
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he believed God was displeased at him, inasmuch as albeit he

came into New England for the sake of the gospel, yet he had

left another place in the country where he had enjoyed the gos-

pel in the communion of a gathered church, and now lived many

years in a plantation where there was no church at all, nor

the ordinances and institutions of the Lord Jesus Christ."

John Wakely, the son, afterward settled upon the east side

of Presumpscot river, below the falls ; Matthew Coe died be-

fore the war, leaving several children, John, 1 his eldest son;

Isaac ; Martha, married to a Farnum of Boston ; Elizabeth,

married to a Tucker of Roxbury ; who were both widows in

1731 ; and another daughter, married to Joseph Ingersoll, one

of our early settlers.

Two other persons, one of them of great influence in the

subsequent affairs of the town, came here about this time,

Anthony and Thomas Brackett, They were brothers, and came

from that part of Portsmouth, in New Hampshire, which is now

called Greenland. We first meet with Anthony's name in

1662, as a witness to the delivery of possession of the Bram-

hall farm to Hope Allen, June 3rd, of that year ; he married

Ann, the daughter of Michael Mitton, and occupied the one

hundred acres granted to her by George Cleeves, at Back Cove.

He subsequently enlarged his farm to four hundred acres, in-

cluding one hundred acres which belonged to Michael Mitton

and his son Nathaniel, Durham's fifty acres, and two lots of

fifty-five acres each, which belonged to Ingersoll and Rider.

His brother Thomas married Mary, another daughter of Michael

Mitton, and occupied the homestead on Clark's Point, having

entered into covenant, in 1671, to support his mother-in-law-

during her life.

1 John Coe moved to Rhode Island, his son John was a cordwainer in Little

Compton in 1731, and is undoubtedly the ancestor of Dr. John Coe, late of this

town.

2 There were at least two distinct families of Brackett early settled in New
England, one in Boston, the other in Portsmouth. Richard was the head of the
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Thaddeus Clarke, who married Elizabeth, also a daughter of

Michael Mitton, appears for the first time in our records in

1663; lif was then married bui could not long have boon, as

his wife at this time was bu1 eighteen years old. The record

referred to is an assignment to him of the deed from Cleeves

to .Milton ol* the one hundred acres at Clarke's Point; it is

dated .March 1, and is as follows: "These presents witness that

I. Elizabeth Mitton, laic wife to Michael Mitton, deceased, in

consideration that Thaddeus Clarke married my daughter

Elizabeth, I do by these presents grant, give, and make over all

my right, title, and interest in tin; lands within mentioned, un-

to the said Thaddeus Clarke, his heirs, 1

etc." Wo do not

know where Clarke originated, or when lie came here; the

Rev. Timothy Alden, in his notice of the Tyng family, says

Clarke came from Ireland, hut he does not say when, nor does

he give any authority for the statement.

Beside those before mentioned, the following persons appear

to have been inhabitants of the town previous to 1670, viz:

John Cloice, Robert Elliott, Lawrrence Davis, George Felt,

Walter Gendall, John Guy, John and Joseph Ingersoll, Phillip

Lewis, Michael Madiver, Robert Nichols, James Ross, John

Shillings, Ralph Turner, William Whitwell, and Jenkin Will-

iams, of whom Elliott, Davis, Gendall, Guy, Madiver, and

Turner settled upon the south side of Fore river ; Cloice and

1 York Records.

Boston family
;
he was admitted freeman in 1636, moved to Braintree in 1642,

and the same year was ordained deacon of the church there. He died in 1G89,

having had seven children, four sons and three daughters. There were others

w ho d'nl not belong u> Richard's family : the name was common in Boston and

the vicinity in those days, and sustained a respectable standing. The first of

the name we meet with in New Hampshire, is William, who was sent by Capt.

John Mason to Piscataqua, in 1631, among "his stewards and servants." May
25, 16 M. Anthony Brackett, one of the inhabitants of Portsmouth, signed a deed

of glebe land to the church wardens for a parsonage. This person, I conjecture

to be the father of Anthony and Thomas, who came here, and whose descend-

ants are widelv scattered over the State.
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Nichols on the west side of Prescumpscot river ; Lewis, Ross,

and Skillings at Back Cove ; the two Ingersolls near the nar-

row of the Neck, their farms stretching westerly toward Capi-

sic ; Whitwell on the Neck, near Robinson's wharf; and Will-

iams on the east side of Presumpscot river, near Scitterygiisset

creek. The father of George Felt was one of the first settlers

of North Yarmouth, having established himself at Broad Cove

about 1640 ; here he built a stone house, made improvements,

and raised a family. His son George was concerned in a large

purchase of the Indians in 1G72, of land on the north-easterly

side of the Presumpscot ; he married a daughter of Jane Mac-

worth, and joined the freemen of Falmouth in a petition to the

general court about 1(360. He had a brother Moses, born in

1650, who lived in North Yarmouth and Falmouth until 1690,

with the exception of the Indian war, and was living in Chelsea

in 1733, aged eighty-three years. 1

John Cloice or Cloyes was a mariner and probably came

from Watertown, in Massachusetts, with his family ; he was here

in 1660 ; his first wife's name was Abigail, his second Juliann.

His children by his first wife, born in Watertown, were John,

August 26, 1638 ; Peter, May 27, 1610 ; Nathaniel, March 6,

1612; Abigail, married to Jenkin Williams ; i-Tarah, married to

Peter Housing"; and Thomas, born of the second wife. The

1 George Felt, Senior, was born in 1601, and was living in Maiden 1688, aged

eighty-seven ; in a petition to Andross, 1688, lie stated that about eighteen years

before he had bought a plantation or farm of John Phillips of Boston, at a place

called Great Cove, in Casco bay, containing about two thousand acres, for which

he paid sixty pounds, that he had occupied it about three years before the pur-

chase; that after the Indian war, it was withheld from him by Casco people,

and he being impoverished could not recover it; that he was then suffering for

want, being about eighty-seven years old. In 1727, Moses Felt in a deed to a

committee of North Yarmouth of three hundred acres on Broad Cove, recited

that his father, George Felt, bought said land of John Phillips of Casco bay,

and afterward again purchased it of the agent of Sir F. Gorges, about the year

1643 ;
that said Felt built a house on this land and lived in it above forty years

without molestation until 1684.— North Yarmouth Records.

[George Felt, Senior, died at Maiden, in 1693.]
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nunc is not found here now, nor in the vicinity ; the last per-

son who boreil in town was Thomas, who was killed by tin; In-

dians in 1690, leaving two sons, Thomas and George, and a

daughter Hannah ; Thomas moved to Boston and George to

Salem.

An active, hardy, and enterprising population was fast spread-

ing over the town, clearing up the forest and opening the soil

to the face of day. The children of the first settlers were

coming forward on the stage ; and we find even at this early

period, thai town horn children were arriving at the age of

maturity and becoming themselves the heads of families. The

death- of adult persons as far as we have been able to ascertain,

were few ; Winter and Macworth alone occur previous to 1600:

we have now to notice in the latter year thai of Michael Mitton.

Mitton's last act was his release to Jordan before mentioned,

dated August 25, 1660; his widow alone acknowledged the

deed, and October 7, of the next year, she alone conveyed

Peak's Island to John Phillips. We have supposed that Mit-

ton came over from England with Cleevcs in 1037, for in that

year he makes his first appearance upon our soil as the grantee

of Peak's Island. The time of his marriage with Cleeves's

only child Elizabeth, cannot be precisely ascertained ; their

daughter Elizabeth was born in 1644, she gave her deposition

in Boston, in 1735, in which she testified that she was about

ninety years old : their daughter Anne was probably the eld-

esl : she signed as witness, a deed from her grandfather Cleeves

to her father, in 1651. They had five daughters and one son,

whose names were as follows : Anne, married to Anthony

Brackett; Elizabeth, to Thaddeus Clark: Mary, to Thomas

Bracked: Sarah, to James Andrew-: and Martha, to John

Graves, who lived in Kittery first, and subsequently in Little

Compton : last, Nathaniel, who was never married. The name
is now extinct in this country, hut his blood in the1 female line

flows over the whole State, and is not confined to it. Mitton

is styled in conveyances, Gentleman, a title which had not lost
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all its meaning in that day ; in 1(340, lie was appointed by the

first general court in the province, constable of Casco, an office

of respectability in our early history. John Jocelyn says of

him, "The gentleman was a great fowler." Mitton's charac-

ter partook of the licentiousness which prevailed throughout

the province in the first stages of its history ; and one trans-

action which is recorded, must ever leave a perpetual stain

upon his memory. Richard Martin, an early inhabitant of

Casco, was the father of two daughters, whom, being about to

return to England to arrange his affairs, he left in the family

of Mitton. During their residence of several months with him

in 1646, he ' insinuated himself into the favor of the eldest,

named Mary, whom he seduced. She afterward went to Bos-

ton and was delivered of a bastard child, of which she confessed

Mitton to be the father ; overcome with shame, she endeavored

to conceal her first crime by the commission of a more heinous

one in the murder of her infant. For this she perished upon

the scaffold, at the early age of twenty-two years in March,

1647. 1

The want of a regular government east of the Piscataqua

for many years, encouraged a laxity of morals which did not

prevail in any other part of New England. We meet' upon the

records numerous and frequent complaints of adultery and for-

nication, the parties in which escaped with a small fine or other

slight punishment. 2

The widow of Mitton, a few years after his death, married a

Harvey, an undistinguished man, who died before her, leaving

her a second time a widow ; she died herself in 1681.

i Winthrop, vol. ii. p. 302.

2 The commissioners of the king in the Report of their doings here in 1665,

speaking of the people east of the Kennebec, say "those people for the most

part are fishermen, and never had any government among them : most of them

are such as have fled from other places to avoid justice. Some here are of

opinion that as many men share in a woman as they do in a boat, and some have

done so."
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' The first court held after the submission of Falmouth and

Scarborough., of which we have any record, was at York, July

4, 1659. Massachusetts sent two of her magistrates to preside

at this court, who were assisted by Major Nicholas Shapleigh, 1

Mr. Abraham Preble,9 and Mr. Edward Rishworth,9 local magis-

trates. Several actions were entered by and against persons

living iu the eastern part of the country, as we have before

noticed. George Lewis was appointed constable for Falmouth,

and Henry Jocelyn,3 Robert Jordan, George Cleeves, Francis

Neale, and Henry Watts, 3 commissioners for Falmouth and

Scarborough.

1 Of Kittery. 2 Of York'

3 .Tocelyn lived at Black Point, and Watts at Blue Point, on the opposite side

of the river; Watts was burn in 1604, was in Saco as early as 1631, and was

living in 1684.

[The following is a fac-simile of the hand-writing and signature of Henry Watts,]
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The care of the morals of the people and the promotion of

religious instruction among them, early and steadily occupied

the attention of the government after they acquired a jurisdic-

tion over the province. They wished however to instruct in

their own way, and to have the people conform to their modes

of thinking and practice on religious subjects. The following

order relative to Falmouth was passed at the first court : "This

court being informed that the inhabitants of Falmouth are at

present destitute of any public means for their edification on

the Lord's Day, and by reason of the people not meeting to-

gether for their mutual furtherance in the ways of God, great

advantage is given unto the common enemy, joining with the

corruption of such as have no delight to sanctify God's holy

rest, the neglect whereof being an inlet to all profaneness, and

cannot but be provoking to the jealousy of him who is the

fountain of our peace and welfare ; for the prevention whereof

these are therefore to require all the inhabitants of the said

place from time to time in one or more convenient place or

places to meet together on the Lord's Day, for their mutual

edification and furtherance in the knowledge and fear of the

Lord, by reading of God's word and of the labors of known

and orthodox divines, singing of psalms, and praying together,

or such other ways as the Lord shall enable them, till the favor

of God shall so far smile upon them as to give them better and

more public means for their edification."

It appears by a petition of the inhabitants to the general

court, which we have before noticed, that in the May following

the date of this order, they had a preacher among them ; they

say, "God begun to answer our prayers and send us a faithful

dispenser of the word," which, they add, they hoped to enjoy, if

"their destractions doe not discourage him." He was probably

with them in 1661, for the general court in that year, require

Saco, Scarborough, and Wells to procure able and orthodox

ministers in six months time, but say nothing of Falmouth.

This, without doubt, is the only preacher they had been favored
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with, beside those of the Episcopalian order, Gibson and Jor-

dan; but it appears thai lie did not stay long among them, for

in July, L669, the court order Falmouth and Scarborough both,

"forthwith to seek out and provide themselves of an able and

orthodox preacher to be their minister; and in ease of neglect

to supply themselves by the 20th day of September next, they

shall each pay unto the ministry of the next town adjoining to

theirs that is supplied, fifty pounds per annum, during their

being destitute."

Falmouth probably obeyed the above order, as next year

Scarboro alone is presented for not complying with it. But

who tin' preacher was on either of these occasions, no record

furnishes us with the slightest intimation. 1 A majority of the

inhabitants consisted of emigrants from the .Massachusetts and

Plymouth colonies, and were therefore favorable to the puritan

form of worship ; the government used their utmost exertions

to discourage every other sect. Although a few of the old set-

tlers retained their original principles, the religion of the state

enforced by the laws, became from this time the predominant

religion of the province. The government of Massachusetts

Was certainly influenced by a sincere desire to reform the mor-

als of the people, and to preserve purity of worship : they earn-

estly desired that all the ordinances of religion should he strictly

observed, hut it may well he doubted whether by their over

rigid discipline and exclusive zeal, they did not do injustice to

their liberal professions and to the cause which they were

earnesl to promote. The following injunction against Jordan

adopted by the general court in October, 1660, does not seem

1 Thomas Jenner, who was preaching in Saco in 1641, mentions in a letter to

Gov. Winthrop, found in Eutchinson's collections, dated April 16th of that year

that he had been solicited by the inhabitants I co to help them (to a godly

minister. It does not appear that any was furnished. [The next notice of any

minister being in this region, is from the complaint of .Jordan and Jocelyn to

the court in 1659, of Rev. John Thorpe for "preaching unsound doctrine." He

was silenced by the general court.

J
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to aim at any corruption or immorality, but only at the form

under which the ordinance was administered : "Whereas it

appears to this court by several testimonies of good repute, that

Mr. Robert Jordan did, in July last, after exercises were ended

on the Lord's Day, in the house of Mrs. Macworth, in the town

of Falmouth, then and there baptise three children of Nath'l

Wallis, of the same town, to the offence of the government of

this Commonwealth, this court judgeth it necessary to bear

witness against such irregular practices, do therefore order that

the secretary, by letter in the name of this court, require him

to desist from any such practices for the future, and also that

he appear before the next general court to answer what shall

be laid against him for what he hath done for the time past." 1

Among the complaints against Massachusetts, made to the

king 's commissoners in 1665, the following are noticed : "They

will not admit any who is not a member of the church to com-

munion, nor their children to baptism."

"They did imprison and barbarously use Mr. Jordan for bap-

tising children as himself complained in his petition to the

commissioners."

The exercise of this exclusive sectarian spirit by that col-

ony, had been successfully employed against them, by their

enemies in England after the restoration of Charles ; and the

king in his letters to the government and his instructions to

the commissioners, insists upon a reformation and a more lib-

eral practice in that particular. This order was treated with

a dexterity which that government ever exercised in its negotia-

tions with the home government ; and was evaded in a manner

that did not seem openly to violate the king's commands, while

no material relief was afforded to those who were oppressed by

the existing laws.

In September, 1659, a court of associates was held at Scar-

1 Massachusetts State Records.
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borough for the county, by Eenry Jocelyn, Nicholas Shapleigh,*

Roberl Jordan, Edward Rishworth, and Abraham Preble. It

had been previously arranged thai one court* should beheld

yearly in the eastern part of the county, and another in the

western. It does not appear that ( Sleeves who had held the first

place in the former government ever arrived at the honor of

being chosen one of the associates of the county
; these were a

higher order of magistrates, and the judges of the county court.

The provision of law seems to have been that they should be nom-

inated by the freemen, and appointed by the general court. 1 But

by the practice in this country, they appear to have been chosen

annually by the freemen, whose votes were returned to the

county court. Cleeves, however, was repeatedly chosen one of

the commissioners for Falmouth, and approved by the court.

These officers were elected "annually, and exercised a power

similar to that of justices of the peace. Tie was also the first

person chosen a deputy from the town to the general court.

By the articles of submission, the two towns of Scarborough

and Falmouth were required to choose one deputy at least, and

had the privilege of being separately represented if they wished.

In 1659, Edward Rishworth of York, appears as the represen-

tative of Scarborough, but he was probably selected by the two

towns: it was not thenrequired bylaw that the deputy should

reside in the town which he represented. Next year. Henry

Jocelyn of Scarborough was chosen deputy ; after that, neither

town seems to have been represented until 1663, when Cleeves

is chosen, and again the next year. They are unrepresented

from this time until 1669, during which the authority of Ma

chusetts over the province was suspended. In the latter year,

Richard Callicot, who first lived in Dorchester, and afterward

in Boston, appears as the representative of Falmouth, and next

* [Shapleich was son of Alexander Sbapleigh who lived at Kitten- in 1642;

he was born in England
;
be held many prominent offices in Maine; returned to

England about 1670, and died without issue about 1682.]

1 Tolonial Laws, p. 91.
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year our inhabitant Francis Neale, is chosen deputy ; he is the

last representative sent from Scarborough or Falmouth to the

general court of Massachusetts, until the organization of the

government under the charter of 1691. But part of this time,

viz: from 1680 to 1686, the province was governed by a local

administration, consisting of a president, and a general assem-

bly, in which each town was represented.

The associates for the county in 1660 and 1661, were Henry

Jocelyn, Robert Jordan, Nicholas Shapleigh, Abram Preble,

Edward Rishworth ; the following notice is added to their

names in the year 1660, "chosen associates by the votes of the

major part of the freemen of this county for the year ensuing;"

Abraham Preble was chosen treasurer. 1 The commissioners

for Falmouth in 1661, were Robert Jordan, George Munjoy,

1 Abraham Preble died in 1G63, and in July of that year, administration was

granted to his widow Judith. Mr. Preble, the ancestor of all of that name in

this State, emigrated from Scituate, in the old colony;* he was one of the first

settlers of that place, being mentioned among its inhabitants in the year 1637.

His wife, Judith, was a daughter of Nathaniel Tilden, also of Scituate. the an-

cestor of the Tilden family now living in Boston. We do not meet with him in

this state before 1642 ; in that year he purchased a tract of land at York, of

Edward Godfrey, and in the deed they are both styled of Agamenticus. He

soon rose into consideration, and sustained during the remainder of his life, some

of the most honorable and responsible offices in the province. As early as 1645,

he was one of the counselors or assistants in Sir Ferdinando Gorges' govern-

ment, which office he continued to sustain until its dissolution
;
under the suc-

ceeding brief sway of Godfrey, he was a member of the general court, and held

the first military appointment with the title of major; and when Massachusetts

extended her jurisdiction over the western part of the province, in 1652, Mr.

Preble was selected with :< the right trusty Mr. Edward Godfrey, Mr. Edward

Johnson, and Mr. Edward Rishworth," a commissioner to hold county courts,

attend to the execution of justice, commission military officers, and perform

other services of a responsible nature. He left several children, one of whom,

Abraham, filled important offices in succeeding years. Benjamin, the second

son of the second Abraham, was the father of Brigadier Preble, the first of the

name who came to this town, and whose posterity continue among us ; Judge

Preble, minister to the Hague, originated in York, from another branch of the

same family, a descendant of the first Abraham.

* [Farmer's Register.— IJ tyl lis Memoir of Plymouth Colony.]
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and Francis Neale ; Joseph Phippen was appointed constable.

At the July term of the courl this year at 5Tork, it was ordered

that jurymeD should have three shillings a day, and pay their

own charges, and be allowed for travel at the following rates :

one day's pay for each day's travel in going to and returning

from court ; the time allowed for this purpose from the respect-

ive towns was as follows : Falmouth, five days; Scarborough,

four days
; Saco, three days ; Cape Porpus, two and a half days;

Wells and kittery, cadi two days. Sonic idea may be formed

of i he state of the traveling in the province, when one day was

allowed to go from Wells to York, now passed over in two or

t hive hours.

In 1653, the commissioners at Wells, who received the sub-

mission to Massachusetts, of Wells, Saco, and Cape Porpus,

ordered that the inhabitants of those towns should make ''suffi-

cient highways within their towns, from house to house, and

clear and lit them for foot and cart, before the next county

court, under the penalty of ten pounds for every town's defect

in this particular, and that they lay out a sufficient highway for

horse and foot, between towns and towns, within that time. 1

From this it would appear that no roads existed at that period

from town to town, and Sullivan says,'2 that the commissioners

could get no further than Wells for want of a road to travel in.

Communications at that time were probably made by water;

all the settlements being upon the coast or on the banks of the

rivers. In 1669, Falmouth and Scarborough arc presented to

the courl for not making their roads passable. In 1673, the

towns lying between Wells and Falmouth, inclusive, were or-

dered "to mark out the most convenient way," "every town

marking out their own part within their own extent." The
associates for 1662, were Henry Jocelyn, Edward Rishworth,

Abraham Preble, George Munjoy, and Humphrey Chadbourn
;

1 Sullivan, p. 365.

- Sullivan, p 355.
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the commissioners for Falmouth were George Munjoy, George

Clceves, and Francis Neale. In the proceedings of this court,

held at York, we have the first notice of a prison in Falmouth;

it is as follows : "John Phillips of Falmouth, accused for sus-

picion of felony, by reason of the unfitness of the prison to

receive him, is confined to his own house as a prisoner, and

engageth to appear at the next court."*

Nothing further is met with of Phillip's case, nor do we know

what gave rise to the suspicion. From the representation of

the prison here made, it would appear that it was not much

used ; we have no information where it was situated nor when

it was erected. It must have been but a temporary structure,

for in July, 1666, the court appointed by the king's commis-

sioners sitting at Falmouth, order, "that by this time twelve-

month, there shall be a prison erected and set up for the

eastern division of this province, in some convenient place

in Casco bay, alias Falmouth ; to which end, that it may be

better effected, the several towns within this division, are to

make return of their estates unto the next court of Pleas hold-

en at Casco, on the second Tuesday in November next." 1 In

1669, the following order relating to this subject was adopted

:

"This court understanding that there was a course taken for-

merly by the consent of the country, by their deputies, for the

building of a jail in Falmouth, which is builded as we under-

stand by Mr. Munjoy, but the towns and persons not having

paid their proportions toward it, are required to do so :" per-

sons are appointed to take a diligent survey that the jail be fin-

* [On March 13, 1668, Sampson Penley sold to George Munjoy "one-half acre

of land lying near my now dwelling house, being the land on which the jail now

standeth."]

1 The proportion of this expense for Saco, was fifteen pounds sixteen shillings

cloven pence, as ordered by the deputies. Wheat was to be received at five

shillings six pence the bushel, Indian corn at three shillings six pence, peas at

four shillings

—

History of Saco. p. 151. lam not aide to ascertain the ratio of

other towns.
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[shed according to covenant with Mr. Munjoy, and to appoint a

keeper. Sampson Penley was the keeper in 1671, and is then

called to accounl for releasing Francis Morgan. 1

In 1662, the opposition to the government of Massachusetts

begun to manifest itself in open hostility* Jocelyn and Shap-

leigh, who had been chosen associates, refusingto take the oath

of oflice, the court adjourned : and the general court, at its

October session, appointed Capt. Richard Waldron, of Dover,

"to repair to York, at the time of the county courts adjourn-

ment, and send for the several persons chosen commisioners

by the said court, and give them their several oaths to admin-

ister justice according to law, for the year ensuing." To Wald-

ron's summons, Jocelyn and Shapleigh sent, the following

protest: "We, Henry Jocelyn and Nicholas Shapleigh, com-

missioners of the province of Maine under the authority of

Ferdinando Gorges, Esq., lord proprietor of said province, do

protest against the acts and order of the general court of Mas-

sachusetts, exhibited by Capt. Waldron, at said adjourned

county court, being contrary to our Cornier articles, and a col-

lateral agreement with our commissioners at Wells."2 These

and other considerable persons in the province were induced

openly to avow their opposition at this time, by the support

they received from the proprietor in England, aided by letters

from the king, who now turned a favorable ear to the repre-

sentations of the heirs of Mason and Gorges. A letter from

CI leves written at this time, fortunately discovered, furnishes

us with some interesting particulars relating to this crisis/
5

The letter is thus superscribed, "The Hon. Jno. Endicott,

Esq., and to' Rich. Bellingham, Esq., our lion. Gov. and Dep-

i Robert Morgau was an inhabitant of Saco in 1636, and one of the same

name lived at Sagadahoc in 1665; wo know nothing of this Francis. [Francis

Morgan lived in Kittery in L664.]

2 York Records.

3 The original letter is preserved on the files in the office of state in Massa-

chusetts.
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uty Gov. and to as many our Hon. Magistrates whome thes

may consarne in Boston present with trust.

(By Mr. John Bateman

whom God presarve)

Evar honored Sirs

After my due respects and humble sarvis presented, thes

may informe you that since your commissioners were at York,

we meaning Mr. George Munjoy and myselfe, by accident re-

ceived a papar * * * * 1 warrant from Mr. Henry Joccellen

directed to John Guy constable of Falmouth, which after we

had Red and considered wee thought requisite to this exact

coppie here inclosed and to detain the papar untill the publi-

cation of the General Court's order was by myselfe publiquely

Red in the congregation, the whole towne being present the

last Lord's Day after meeting, at which tyme also Mr. Munjoy

received the king's letter, and had not Mr. Rishworth's care

been to send the Court's order in a lettar to Mr. Munjoy, wee

had been deprived of the benefit of the Court's order for we

are truly in formed that the orders sent to all the towns in that

county were stopped and not published neither in Saco nor

Scarborough, but countermanding warrants in his Majestie's

name under the authority of Mr. Gorges under the firm of

Mr. Joccellen published there ; we do also understand that the

pretended commissioners have appointed a meeting at Saco on

the 25th day of this present November and we suppose is to see

what strength they can gather and suppres your authority and

to establish their pretended interest ; who have given it out

that the Gen. Court have deserted the towns of Falmouth and

Scarborough and that Mr. Brodstreete and Mr. Norton have

desarted the whole county of York there in England and here

too and thereupon all well affected in Welse and elsewhere are

put to a great stand fearing that the Massachusetts colony doe

1 Two words that we cannot decipher, probably they are "being a" or "in-

closing a" or something similar.
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deale <l h them by reason of thes and other such like

i oul by Mr. Joccolleii, who also reports thai they

do dayli :1 Mr. Maverick with four other coinmi

ots to countermand your authority in this your

ion. but I believe the ships are notyel buyll ; wee may
;

,• Mr. Joccellen and Mr. Jordan to com to our

l to • what they can <!•> bul my care shall be to

there purposes in whal 1 may.

••Now farther, my humble requesl is thai yon will considar

taken with those who do deale so parfiddi-

ously, having taken the oath of freedom and fidelity for exam-

ple to others, for the mainte f your own honour, who

have engaged to protecl all the \\ 11 a id in this your juris-

diction. I also desire to understand your sense whether the

Gen. Court's mind was that the offisars in that county, that

was chosen and sworn under your authority should stand in

iill the tyme of tiewe election, or these constables

chosen and sworn by Mr. Joccellen and unto thai powre ; And

as touching Associates wee understand that Mr Joccellen and

Mr. Preble have both refused the oath and the exercise of their

places and only Mr Rishworth and Mr. Chadbourn sworn and

Mr. Munjoy not sworn, willing to submil when tendered unto

him. Now I desire to know whether I may not administer the

oath unto him as is directed in the Law-book, being a commis-

sioner and appointed by the courl to administer the oath of

the Lord to any parson as occasion may Require, or whether

any other Associates may lie appointed to the numher of ftve

as also whether any other commissioners may be appointed for

the two towns of Falmouth and Scarboro' in the Roome of Mr.

Jocc sllen or any other in ease of refusall, for we suppose there

may be greal courl shortly. 1 cannol omit to give

you to understand thai Mr. Joc'cellen doth trumpet abroad t]

ther are many discontented in Boston and to the westward

aboul the king's lettar, and I fear it proceeds from a spirit that

11
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fain would raise a faction amongst us if not tymely prevented

;

but I hope that the wisdom and councells of God is with you

or else who knoweth how great a flame a littell fire may kin-

dell, all which I leave to your wise consideration humbly de-

siring a speedy answer if it seem good to you by some publick

offisar or other safe messenger in regard of the season of

the year, this craving pardon for my boldness to be so larg,

commending you all to 4he grace of God and care Resting your

faithfull and humble servant to command,

George Cleeves.

Falmouth, November 24, '62."

The opposition to the government of Massachusetts had now

taken a decided stand under the guidance of Jocelyn and Jor-

dan, who seem to have been the most active partisans of the pro-

prietor; they were joined here by Francis Neale, Robert Corbin

Thomas Staniford, and others, and supported in the western

part of the state by Capt. Francis Champernoon and Nicholas

Shapleigh of Kittery. In 1663, the county court was held by

William Hawthorn and Edward Lusher, from Massachusetts,

assisted by George Munjoy, Humphrey Chadbourn, and Edward

Rishworth, of the province. The associates for the ensuing year

were Edward Rishworth, Capt. William Phillips of Saco, Mr.

George Munjoy, Ezekiel Knight of Wells, and Roger Plaisted

of that part of Kittery, which was afterward incorporated

as Berwick. The spirit of party raged with more violence in

Falmouth, probably, than it did in any other part of the county

;

the friends of Massachusetts succeeded in choosing two commis-

sioners, Mr. Cleeves and Mr. Phippen, friendly to government,

and in obtaining a vote to adhere to that jurisdiction. No oth-

er officers were returned to the county court, nor were any sent

by Saco and Scarborough. A third commissioner elected in

Falmouth was not approved by the court ; their decision on the

subject was expressed as follows : "For the election of commis-

sioners in Scarborough and Falmouth, we determine as follows,
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that Falmouth who have chosen according to law, thai twoof

them which they lnr n stand, which is Mr. Cleeves and

ph Phip Who the rej scted one was docs noi appear

by the record. Those two (owns also sent attorneys to the

GOUrl who declared the adhesion of the inhabitants as follows:

"Th -lily that we, Arthur Augur and Francis

Small, attorneys for the towns of Scarborough and Falmouth

to act tor them according to the said letter of attorney at the

county court held at York this 7th of duly, 1663, do her

declare and subscribe in behalf of our said towns and do

acknowledge ourselves subject and engage to remain obedient

to the laws and ordinances of his majesty as now established

nndei- the authority of the Massachusetts until his majesty

otherwise command us, according as by articles we are already

engaged."

The court endeavored to overawe the opposition by vigorous

measures, and the grand jury found hills of indictment against

ial of the obnoxious persons. They presented Champer-

noon, Jocelyn, Jordan, and Shapleigh for renouncing the au-

thority of Massachustets, using means "for the subjecting

thereof, under pretence of a sufficient power from Esq. Gorges

to take off the people, which is manifest to the contrary." They

also presented Francis Neale, Thomas Staniford, Francis Small,

and Roberl Corhin, all of Falmouth, "for breach of the oath

of freedom and fidelity;" Cleeves and Phippen, the commis-

sioners, were witnesses against them, hut they were discharged.

Thomas Staniford was also presented for a common swearer

and a drunkard, and was fined twenty shillings. And Francis

Small for being a common liar and a drunkard; under this

is this entry : "The court find the charges against Small

dubious :" they lined him ten shillings for drunkenness and dis-

charge him with admonition. Lawrence Davis was presented

for railing at the constable and for swearing, fined ten shil-

lings. Roberl Corhin was also presented "for making an

uproar in the meeting on the Lord's Day in Casco, and for
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breach of oath to his government and for saying he would

break the hedge of government ;" he was discharged with an

admonition and the payment of officer's fees. But the hea \ i

measure of vengeance seems to have been meted out to the ill-

fated Jordan; in addition to the above mentioned indictment,

there were live others against him, which will lie briefly stated.

One was for saying that Mr. John Cotton, 1 deceased, "was a

liar, and died with a lie in his mouth, and that he was gone to

hell with a pack of lies ; and the said Jordan said, by the pow-

er they had, they could command the Governor of Boston to

assist them, and if any did rebel against their power, that

they would take them and hang them or burn their houses ;"

and further he said, that John Cotton's books were lies, and that

he had found them so. Another was, for saying that the Gov-

ernor of Boston was a rogue, and that all the rest thereof were

traitors and rebels against the king. A third presentment was

for swearing commonly by the eternal God. A fourth, for

breach of the oath of freedom and fidelity taken unto the gov-

ernment of Massachusetts : the entry here is, "Mr. Jordan his

actions make manifest the truth of his charge.'' A fifth indict-

ment was for being "an usual liar and for raising and fom

ing lies;" "proved.*" The witnesses against him on the

different charges were John Ingersoll, Anthony Brackett,

George Cleeves, and James Boss, all of Falmouth. It is evi-

dent from these proceedings that Jordan's opposition Avas of a

violent character, into which he had probably been driven by

the persecution he had received for his attachment to the

church of England. We are inclined to the belief that, religious

differences were not the least of the causes of. disaffection to

the Bay government which prevailed in the province. The

opinions of men formed by education and deeply rooted in

their habits, are not easily surrendered even to the 'genial in-

i Mr. Cotton had been the minister of the first church of Boston, ,

many years its spiritual guide ; he arrived in 1633, and died in 1652, aged 68

years.
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flue arguraenl and persuasion, much less to physical

tic power may extorl the service of the lip but

art.

opposition which hot s sufficiently powerful

to prodn I consideration on the part of Massachu-

i
more conciliatory inn:' toward it. Inre-

latic ! of authority by the leaders of that party,

the court passed the followi r: "Whereas it appears

eral persons having been appointed officers by the pre-

I sd power un aire Gorges, ha\ in their re-

vive plac ml thai all such persons

whs .
I

• acted peaceably and civilly upon their or-

d warrants received as aforesaid, shall henceforth be

IV; e and fully discharged from question, presentment, or legal

ling in any n 'their damage or disturbance in

any of such their act in.

But this policy was alik • lal ; the spirit of hostility

cxist"d and was cherished by a power near the throne, which

procured in I appointment of four persons by the king,

with power to settle the arity of the country.

This commission was procured by the earnest solicitation of the

proprietors of Maine and New Hampshire, supported by the

exertions of all the enemies of Massachusetts, and was aimed

and influence of that colony.' Two of the com-

mission) 'Hi. hard Nichols and Col. George Cartwright,

arrived at Boston, July 23, 1664, and Sir Rol
'

'
^v and

tuel Maverick aboul the same time at Piscataqua. With

the latter came John Archdale, an agenl of Gorges,' with au-

ity to superintend the affairs of his province. John Joce-

lyn, who was then residing with his hrother Henry at Black

i The co may be found id t] n's Masssachu-

• [Archdale tvolina, and in 1686, a resi-

dent of Perquin He was nearly related to Gorges.]
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Pvint, speaking of the commissioners, adds, "with them came

one Mr. Archdale, as agent for Mr. F. Gorges, who brought to

the colony in the province of Maine, Mr. F. Gorges' order from

Charles 2d. under his manual, and his majesty's letter to Massa-

chusetts, to be restored unto the quiet possession and enjoyment

of the same province in New- England and the government

thereof, the which during the civil wars in England, the Mas-

sachusetts Colony had usurped, and most shamefully encroached

upon Mr. Gorges' rights and privileges." 1

The letter from the king above referred to is dated June 11,

1661 ; it speaks in the first place of the grant to Sir F. Gorges,

the money he had expended upon it, and his disappointment

occasioned by the "breaking out of the wars, in which he per-

sonally engaged, though betwixt three and four score years of

age," the usurpation of Massachusetts, etc., and closes with

the following injunction : "We have taken the whole matter

into our princely consideration, and finding the petitioner's

allegations and report of our said council learned, so consonant,

we have thought fit to signify our pleasure on behalf of the

said F. Gorges, the petitioner, hereby requiring you that you

forthwith make restitution of the said province unto him or

his commissioners, and deliver him or them the quiet and peace-

able possession thereof; otherwise that without delay you show

us reason to the contrary."

The commissioners were occupied several months in Massa-

chusetts and New York, and did not visit Maine until June,

1665. In the meantime, however, Massachusetts endeavored

to support her authority in the province ; she held her court

as usual in July, 1664, at which associates and town commis-

sioners were returned and approved. Munjoy was chosen one

of the associates ; and the commissioners from Scarborough and

1 Jocelyn's voyages.

2 This letter may !>< found on Massachusetts Records, and also in Hutchin-

son's Collection.
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Falmouth were Benry Jocelyn, G-eorge Munjoy, Richard I

well, 1 Francis Neale, and Benry Watts; they were all approved

bill Benry Watts; Anthony Brackett was chosen constable of

Falmouth.

A.rchdale, however, immediately after his arrival, came into

the province, and was not idle in the use of his authority. He

granted commissions to Benry Jocelyn of Black Point, Robert

Jordan of Spurwink, Francis Neale of Casco, and to persons in

every other town in the province, who by virtue thereof under-

to conducl public affairs independently of Massachusetts.

Jocelyn, -Ionian. Archdale, and Edward Rishworth addressed

a, letter to the Governor and Council of Massachusetts in 1064,

requiring them to surrender the government to Mr. Gorges or

his commissioners, according to his majesty's pleasure, signi-

fied in his letter of June 11. To this application the answer

was, "The council assembled do declare that the lands in the

county of York, by them called the province of Maine, were

and are claimed as part of the patent granted to Massachu

setts, which patent precedes the patent granted to Sir F. Gorges,

otherwise the council may not give up the interest of the colony

without the consent of the general court."3

The general court at their session in May following, 1665,

endeavored to encourage their friends in the province by affirm-

ing their title, and declaring their determination "still to

extend their governmenl over them as formerly, and that the

county court at York should be held at the time appointed,

according to law ;" they ••further inform the
\

pie of that

county, that they intend to return to his majesty an account of

the reasons why they have not rendered the government of

that county to the agenl of Mr. Gorges, ami a map of their

1 Foxvrell was an early and very respectable inhabitant of Blue Point, in

Scarborough; tie married a daughter of Richard Bonython of Saco, and left a

numerous posterity. Mr. Folsom in his history of Saco has furnished ample

pan family and of most of the early settlers of that town.

2 Ma cords.
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north bounds or line, which demonstrates the ground of their

government there." In pursuance of this resolution, two
|

sons were employed to prepare a map of the colony, and a de-

tailed statement was drawn up, containing a description of the

boundary line, the report of the surveyors, etc:, which they

entitled "certain reasons tending to manifest that the patent

right of the northerly line of the charter doth belong to the

Massachusetts Colony in New England." 1

They also sent down Thomas Danforth, Eleazar Lusher, and

John Leverett, Esqrs., with full power to call before them "any

and every person or persons that have or shall act in the dis-

turbance or reviling of the government there settled, according

to' his majesty's royal charter to this colony, under the broad

seal of England." But these exertions were fruitless, the com-

missioners had now arrived in Maine, and the spirit of disaffec-

tion was diffused over the whole province.- The commissioners

not only released the people from all obligations to the govern-

ment of Massachusetts, but also by an assumption of power, from

the authority of Gorges himself. In their proclamation issued

from York, June 23, 1665, they say, "In his majesty's name

we require and command all the inhabitants of this province to

yield obedience to the said justices acting according to the laws

of England as near as may be. And in his majesty's name

we forbid as well the commissioners of Mr. Gorges, as the cor-

poration of Massachusetts bay, to molest any of the inhabitants

of this province with their pretences, or to exercise any author-

ity within this province, until his majesty's pleasure be further

known, by virtue of their pretended rights." 2

They state as a reason for this course, that they had "re-

ceived several petitions from the inhabitants,'' in which they

had desired to be "t&ken into his majesty's immediate protection

1 Massachusetts Records.

- York Re
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and governmenl :" : they then make the following declaration

:

"We, by the powers given us by his sacred majesty under his

i seal of England, do by these pre all tiis

majesty's good subjects living within the province of Maine,

i his majesty's more immediate protection and government.

And by the same powers and to the end the province ma;

well . hereby nominate and constitute Mr. F.

Champernoon and Mr. K. Culls of Kittery, Mr. Edward John-

and Mr. Edward Rishworth of York. Mr. Samuel Wli

wright of Wells. Mr. Francis Hooke and Mr. William Phillips

ofSaco, Mr. George Munjoy of Casco, Mr. Henry Jocelyn of

Black Point, Mr. R >bert Jordan of Richmond's Island, and

Mr. John Wincoll of Newichawanock, Justices of the Pe

and we desire and in his majesty's name we require them and

ovrry of them t '

• the office of a Justice of the Pe

within the province of Maine." Any three magis-

trates were authorized to meel at convenient times and plans

"to hear and determine all cases both civil and criminal and to

order all the affairs of the province for the p and

iof" according to tin' laws of England.

It will be perceived thai the magistrates before mentioned,

were those who had no! only
I
i\ si) the oaths of freedom and

fidelity to Massachusetts, but were several of them, (lie very

persons who had just before re omission from Gorj

for the preservation of his authority in the province. They
so 'in to have put off their fealty with the same facility they

did their doublets.- Dm we suppose they justified their con

by the paramount power of tit" com srs, who in this

particular seem to have es I'd the letter of their instruc-

tions and the main ohjeel of their trust, which wa- I i restore

province to G frges.

counl of t 1 1
<

- matl sv "His uow reign-

eth sent over his coram;- their

bcuvncK and to ,„,, ;i

contest about it, the commi in the kinj

should he determined before his males
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That neither this new project of independence nor a separa-

tion from Massachusetts were acceptable to many of the peo-

ple, may be inferred from the following petition addressed to

the king by the inhabitants of Casco ; which, though somewhat

long, commends itself to a place in this history. It was pre-

pared immediately after the declaration of the. commissioners

was published, and before they left the province.

"To the king's most excellent majesty, the humble petition

of the inhabitants of Casco upon the province of Maine, in

New England, wherein, according to his majesty's command,

is rendered their reasons why they could not submit to Mr.

Gorges.

Most dread Sovereign,

Pardon, we humbly beseech, if we presume to address our

most gracious and loving father, whose gracious eye and fa-

therly care is toward us the meanest of your subjects inhabiting

the northerly parts of your dominions in this wilderness, as we

understand your gracious letter to us. For the which fatherly

and gracious care of us therein expressed, we beseech, though

we be but one of ten that presume to return thanks, pardon, we

humbly beseech you, our presumption, who have the royal scep-

tre of your command for so doing, and accept of our bounded

thankfulness, who upon our bended knees do return unto your

sacred majesty most humble and hearty thanks for the same.

And whereas your majesty was pleased to demand our sub-

mission to Mr. Gorges, or else forthwith to render our reasons,

may it please your most sacred majesty, we have no reasons as

of ourselves, having nothing to say against Mr. Gorges or his

government, but if it shall please your majesty so to determine

it, we shall cheerfully and willingly submit to it.

1st Reason. But when we first submitted to the government

of Massachusetts, we did engage, to be under their government,

till such lime as your majesty should determine us as proper

to any other regulation, your majesty bring pleased to send to
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them demanding, as informed, their resignation of us,

or else to show their entire reasons, which they say they have

and )v\ '. m to 'I", a id .

: have commanded us in your

's 11:11111- to continue under their government, li!l it shall

be determined by your majesty : againsl whom we have nothing

y. hui have by good ex] found tli 1 1 of

your majesty verified concerning them, thai whereas they have

! others in piety and sobri rod hath blessed them

having had piety so countenanced, and

justi 11 executed, thai we found God's blessing in our

lawful callings and endeavors, more in on" year than in sever il

before or since our late troubl

2nd Reason. Since which, na [gn, ithath

pi I
your majesty's most lionorable commissioners to forbid

our submission either to Massachusi Mr. Gorges; and

we humbly : your majesty not to impute il to any dis-

loyally in us, if your majesty find not our names inserted in a

petition I to your sacred majesty for the removal of the

governmenl both from tin; Massachusetts and Mr. Gorges, we

having no just cause of complainl against either, we being like-

wise taught out of the word of God, thai ice is better

than sacrifice, especially of thai which is none of our own and

of which for ought w . your majesty hath long since dis-

posed of or if not, we presume your majesty knoweth bet-

ter how 1 . dispose of 3 »ur own than we to direct
; we :

professing to your sacred majesty, it is
' ily heighl of our

desires, without any sinister or b fcs 10 lie wholly and

lely where God by his pro and your command shall

casl us.

Thus having according to your ma :ommands and our

weak abilitii red all our reasons we have or know of, we

humbly beg your majesty's determination by reason of the sad

contentions that hath been and i- now among us. not without

me threatening of us. who did not join with our neighbors

in petitioning againsl .Mr. Gorg< and the Massachusetts, hum-
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«

bly begging your gracious and fatherly eye to be towards us,

we only desiring as much as in us lieth, to act in the upright-

ness of our hearts in the sight of the Almighty, your gracious

majesty, and all men, desiring rather to submit, than to con-

tend or direct what government or governors your majesty

shall please to appoint over us.

Thus with our prayers to the God of heaven to pour upon

your majesty all the blessings heaven and earth can afford, both

spiritual, temporal, and eternal, beseeching him in whose hands

are the hearts of kings, to direct your sacred majesty so to

dispose of us as may make most for the glory and honour of

God, your sacred majesty and the good of your poor subjects,

we prostrate ourselves at your majesty's feet, and subscribe, as

your due and our duty is,

Your majesty's ever faithful and obedient subjects, to be

obedient where your majesty shall please to command us, to

the utmost of our lives and fortunes. August 1, 1665.

Henry Williams, Ambrose Boauen, George Lewis, John

Lewis, Thomas Skilling, Thomas Shilling, John Shilling, John

Cloves, Thomas Wakely, John Rider, Nathaniel Wallis, George

Cleeves, George Munjoy, Francis Neale, Phineas Rider, Rich-

ard Martin, Benjamin Atwell, John Ingersoll, George Inger-

soll, John Wakely, John Phillips, Robert Corbin." 1

i Th snl is preserved by Hutchinson in his collection of paperSj p. 396.

All the above signers were inhabitants of Falmouth but Henry Williams and

Ambrose Boaden, win) both lived in S

borougb in 1669 and 1670. Boaden died in 1676; he lived on the west side of

Spurwink river, near the mouth, mi ,i place which he had occupied thirty years.

Til.- two by the name of Thomas Skilli I
ither aitd sun. Beside the ]>;".•-

.

sons who signed the fo a, the other inhab the town at that

time were James A::
1 Thaddeus Clarke, Lawre

l>i Humphrey Durham, Walter Gendall, John Guy, Robert Jordan, Michael

M id h Phippen, George Phippen, Sampson Penley, Thomas Staniford,

R aniford. Ralph Turner, John Wallis, James Ross, Jehkin Williams,

if tl - live 1 upon the Le of Fore river,

at Purpooduck and Spurwink.
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other ]) i liand petition id, thai ;

vine outinui ion, and

3ir \l >b srl
(

' irr, ap-

This |>

c tmmis iion in
;

;

lv •::: sd .1 governm

they pel urn sd to Ma ( s. Th

: a few e

inning of this chapter, a part

tha Mr. Jordan : in this

tion they add, •• itlcman, 10 i i L to

Mass tts and suffered greal loss by th the

to have

him broughl I id." 1 "This provi

inhabitants and the diffi penc i
Air. < ror

commissioners and the Ma

i his majesty's protection and gw ap-

pointed Justi i them until his majej

pleasure be

tioned his m lit always continue under his

majesty's immed . ind that Sir B pr might

continue their governor under his majesty, which petition was

Losi In this
|

Endian Sachem, who
lives near to the % im whence flows Merrimack ri

h '

p ! his maj ike him into his protection, which

was also lost." "In this province there are bul few towns

those much lerally tl through

pms than towns : bul in thi

vim bsfy called Casco bay, in which there are very

many islands, two outlets to the sea, many good harbors, and

sh and oysters.

was

urn to the province. (
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feeling raged high in the province at this time ; the middle class

of the people were undoubtedly satisfied with the government of

Massachusetts, which secured to them a steady administration

of the laws and a protection of their persons and property

;

the leaders on the contrary were probably stimulated by mo-

tives of ambition, as well as by their hostility to Massachusetts,

to the course they pursued. They' doubtless thought the

chances of success in resisting the persevering claims of their

ever watchful and energetic neighbor were more favorable un-

der the auspices of the king, than under those of an individual

proprietor. The part taken by Munjoy in these difficulties is

not clearly exhibited ; he was appointed to one of the most

honorable places in the province, respectively, by the govern-

ment of Massachusetts, by Gorges, and by the commissioners

;

that he continued friendly to Massachusetts we can have no

doubt ; he expressed it by subscribing the petition we have in-

troduced ; but it is also certain that he accepted the appoint-

ment of the commissioners and discharged its duties. 1 The

1 Sept. 12, 1665, George Munjoy gave a bond in the sum of twenty pounds,

that in retailing of wine, liquor, and strong drink of any sort, lie would not make

any breach of good order, as lie will answer for it according to law to Henry

Jocelynjand Robert Jordan, Justices of the Peace. In 1666, he was appointed

by the new government to erect a prison in Falmouth, by which it would seem

that tie possessed Wu'];- confidence.

land and died the day alter his arrival, June 1, 1667. Cartwright, who kept

memoranda of their proceedings, was captured by the Dutch on his passage home
and lost all his papers. Col. Nichols did not come into this province, hut went

from Massachusetts to New York, of which province he was governor. Mr. Mav-

erick was in Boston in 1666, bul whal became of him we are no! informed; he

was son of the early planter upon Noddle's Island, in Boston -harbor, who died in

1664; his wife wa a daughter of the Rev, John Wheelwright of Boston, Exeter,

Wells, and finally of Salisbury, of whom frequent notices may be found in Sav-

i edition of Winthrop's Journal.

—

Hutchinson's Collection, p. 412. [Maverick

aboul 1666; in that year his brother-in-law. Francis Hooke, of Kittery,

tools administration on his estate. His widow married William Bradbury in

1672.]
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course taken by .1 lyn and Jordan is not to be wo

they yielded reluctantly to the power of Massachusetts in the

first place ; bul all the while they carried a thorn in their

bosoms; and whenever a favorable opportunity offered, they

were the firsl to seize il to break from their allegiance. This

pariy supported by the favor of royalty now enjoyea a brief

triumph, and adminisl sre I the affairs of the provinc : for about

three yeaj .

* [Particulars of the appoin L the proceedings of the corami

> the inhabitants, etc., raaj i Mr. Fol

of original documents i g to Maine ives, p. p. 58-6 i. Tin'

nal documents, ]>. 52, contain a letter from Edward Godfrey, 1660. '

-

I'm i
•

:
.,'. srnor of the consequence of that

ince and the usurpation of the Bostoners." II- ;. ''lever mid you that

Pascatowaie river and thi , f Maine is of more consarmnenl to 1 1 is ma-

jestic for trade present and futuer, with discovery of the country, than all New

IS."]
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'. '

. .'. (ovgrnmsst—courts in casco, persons pre3gn"! lte of morals—

Ci ir—Thomas Shilling's death \.\:> family—Government op Mass.

' 1ED TO

RETAIL— Iastern ments at Capisic, Stroud-

water, ind " Martin, lRtlett, and Mills.

On the arrival of the king's commissioners in the province in

June, 1665, the authority of Massachusetts was entirely sus-

pended, and the persons appointed justices by them immediately

entered upon the discharge of their duties. No notice is subse-

quently taken of Archdale, the agent of Gorges, and from this

time the jurisdiction of that proprietor over the territory forever

c sased. In January, 1665, the province was divided into two

parts for the convenience of the inhabitants, "in regard of the

remote distance of places and peoples." The western division

extended to Kennebunk river, the eastern, from that river to

idahoe ; courts were held in each division, at York and at

Falmouth. A court was held in November, which, to convince

the people that there was no want of zeal in the new government

,

"Straight let them feel the spur." John Jocelyn was presented

for absenting himself from meeting on the Lord's Day, and also

"the towns of Falmouth and Kennebunk for not attending the

king's business at public courts as other towns do." Each

town was lined forty shillings under the following presentment :

"We present the towns of Kittery, York, the Isle of Shoals,

Wells, Cape Porpus, Saco, Black Point, Falmouth, Westcus-



PUNISHMENTS. I
s "'

togo,' and Kennebiink, for not attending the court's order for

no1 making a pair of stocks, cage, and a trucking stool."

Some of the punishments inflicted upon our early settlers

may be gathered from the foregoing record ; the latter instru-

ment \v;is reserved exclusively for scolds and brawling women;

a class of offenders which modern times have permitted to go

unpunished. It was a ehair suspended by a crane over water,

into which the offender was plunged repeatedly, until her im-

patience and irritability were moderated. This species of pun-

Lshmem was quite popular both in England and this country in

early days.

In .Inly, L666, the court was held at Casco for the eastern

division by Henry Jocelyn, Major William Phillips of Saco,

Francis Hooke of Kittery, Edward Rishworth of York, and

Samuel Wheelwright of Wells; they are styled in the record

"Justices of the Peace, appointed by special commission from

the Right Hon. Sir Robert Carr, Lt. Col. George Cartwright,

anil Samuel .Maverick, Esq."

The jury of trials consisted of four persons from Saco, John

Bonython, John Wakefield, John Leighton, and Richard Hitch-

cock; one from Scarborough, William Sheldon; one from Cape

Porpus, Morgan Howell ; two from Weseustogo, Richard Bray

and John .Maine; and four from Falmouth. George Ingersoll,

Anthony Brackett, Nathaniel Wallis, and Walter Gendall.

The grand jury consisted of fourteen, of whom bu1 two, John

Wallis and Robert Corbin were of Falmouth. We propose to

make a brief abstract from the record of this term, to give an

idea of the administration of justice in that day, and to fur-

nish some interesting details relating to the province. Francis

Wale, "attorney for the town of Casco alias Falmouth,"

brought an action against Edward Rishworth for granting an

execution against said town before judgment ; the plaintiff was

1 Westcustogo was the settlement next easl of Falmouth, afterward called

North Yarmouth.

V2
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nonsuited and twenty-one shillings cost allowed defendant be-

cause the plaintiff's power of attorney appeared not to be valid,

when he arrested defendant. "By consent of the defendant

the action goeth forward ;" and the jury find for the plaintiff

five pounds damage and cost. "This verdict not accepted by

the court." The jury went out again and returned a verdict

for plaintiff for three pounds. This was also rejected, and the

court ordered Mr. Rishworth to appeal to his majesty's com-

missioners. This case gives us a favorable example of the

independence of the jury but an humble one of their influence;

Rishworth was a member of the court, and the cause is appa-

rently an attack upon his integrity.

"Several orders made at a Court holden at Casco, the 26th

July, 1660, for the eastern division of this province."

"1. It is ordered that the selectmen, together with the con-

stable of Casco alias Falmouth, hereby have, and shall have

power to take the oversight of children and servants, and find-

ing them disobedient and unruly to their parents, or masters,

or overseers, they shall have power to give them such due cor-

rection as they shall judge mete. 1

"2. It is ordered that Mr George Munjoy shall henceforth

have power to administer oaths in all matters of concernment

unto any persons residing within the limits of the town of

Casco ; he is likewise empowered to marry within the precincts

of the said town, and to take a lawful oversight of all weights

and measures, to see that they be according to the king's stand-

ard, which is Winchester weights and measures, wherein if the

said weights and measures be found false or faulty in the hands

of any person or persons, then the said weights and measures

to be forthwith destroyed.

"3. Persons damaged by unruly horses might complain to

the next justice of the peace, who was required to summons

1 A similar power at the present day in the same sphere might not he without

salutary effects.
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seven of his neighbors to appraise the damage, which was to be

raised to treble the sum, and levied by distress. Any one jus-

tice was also empowered to summon seven honest men for a

jury living within said town, to try any action not exceeding

forty shillings.

"It is concluded by this court that the last Thursday of this

instanl duly, shall be set apart by all the inhabitants residing

within this province, therein to humble and afflict our souls

before the Lord..

••It is ordered that according to the act concluded in other

places in the easternmost parts of this province against the

trading of any liquors to the Indians, that the same act shall

stand in force throughout all the limits of this province."

The order relating to the prison in Falmouth has been be-

fore noticed. "It is hereby ordered and concluded that every

justice of the peace roiding within the limits of this province,

shall have hereby power in the place where he liveth, upon any

just complaint made out unto him or complaints against neg-

lectors of the Sabbath by not attending God's public worship,

or profaners thereof, against drunkards, cursors and swearers,

or such like offences, upon consideration by the testimony of

a grand juryman, or one sufficient witness to call to. account

and punish every such offender, according to the laws here es-

tablished.'"

"Mr. George Cleeves hinds himself in a bond of twenty pounds

unto our sovereign lord the king, to be of good behaviour to-

ward all men, especially toward such who at an\ time shall be

ordered by authority to inflict any punishment upon his ser-

vant Thomas Greensledge, for his disobedience or disorders.

"That whereas dames Robinson, of Black Point, cooper, was

indicted the 26th day of July, 1666, upon suspicion of mur-

dering Christopher Codings, of Black Point, at his majesty's

court holden at Casco, and being then tried by the grand jury of

this court and committed to us the jury of life and death, who

find that the said Collings was slain by misadventure, and cul-
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pable of his own death, and not upon any former malice, and

therefore the said James Robinson not guilty of murder. Fore-

man, Mr. Richard Colicott, 1 2 Mr. Richard Pattishall, 1 3 James

Lane,2 4 James Gibbons,3 5 Edward Stevens, 1 6 John Mayne,2

7 Thomas Stevens, 1 8 John Wakefield,3 9 Alexander Thoits, 1

10 Robert Gutch, 1 11 Anthony Brackett, 1 12 Wm. Cocke, 1 13

Richard Bray,2 14 John Leighton,3 15 Robert Staniford,4 16

Richard Potts, 1 17 Phineas Ryder,4 18 George Felt. 2

The courts under the new government were divided into

four kinds ; the highest was the General Assembly, next Courts

of Pleas, Courts of quarter Sessions, and lastly Courts held by

a single justice for the trial of causes under forty shillings.

We cannot perceive that the General Assembly was held oft-

ener than once a year, which was at Saco in May or June ; the

Court of Pleas was probably held three times, and the quarter

Sessions four times a year, in each division. At the term in

July before noticed, an order was passed that "the next quarter

session" should be held "on the second Tuesday of August

next," and "the next Court of Pleas to be holden at Casco on

the second Tuesday in November next." We perceive next

year that the court was held at Casco on the first day of Octo-

ber, from which circumstance in connection with the time of

sitting the year before, we should infer that the times of hold-

ing these courts were not fixed by law, but were determined

by the court at each session. At the November term there

were ten entries of civil actions. At the October term follow-

ing there were twenty-one entries and thirty-two presentments

by the grand jury. Of the latter, fourteen were against per-

sons "for absenting themselves from meeting upon the Lord's

1 Those persons with this mark lived in the north-easterly part of the bay. on

the islands in that region, and on the Kennebeck river.

2 Of North Yarmouth.

3 Of Saco.

4 Of Falmouth.



PROCEEDINGS ill' THE NEW GOVERN M E NT. L89

day;" againsl two of these, James Michimorc and liis wife, is

this entry, "these persons pretend they go to hear .Mr. Jordan,

by an admonition they are discharged." Three were presented

"for traveling on the Lord's day; " against one of whom, John

Mosier, the following judgment is rendered: "John Mosier

lined for his offence five shillings and officer's lees five shillings;

this ten shillings to be forthwith paid, and if afterwards by two

evidences he can make it out thai upon the Sabbath he traveled

purposely as he pretends to look after Mr. Lane, who thai day

as the said Mosier pretended, was in danger of being drowned,

then the said Mosier is to have his ten shillings returned to

him again." 1 The following extracts have perpetuated the his-

tory of a discord in the family of one of our early inhabitants,

the origin of which cannot be traced. "We present Julian

Cloyes, wife to John Cloves, for a tale-bearer from house to

house, setting difference between neighbors. Julian Cloyes,

upon the court's examination, is found guilty of the offence,

and is bound to her good behaviour unto the next court of

Pleas at Casco, in a bond of live pounds, and John Cloyes and

Peter Housing are her security." Again : ".We indict Nathan-

iel Cloyes and Abigail Williams upon tin- evidences of Thomas

Cloyes and Sarah Housing for their misbehaviour toward their

mother-in-law, Julian Cloyes. In reference to the presentments

of Nathaniel Cloyes and Abigail Williams, touching their of-

fences, it is ordered that they shall make a public acknowledg-

ment of their fault done to their mother by their ill behaviour

1 Mosier was the son of Hugh Mosier, an early settler in Falmouth, but who

afterward moved further up the baj . At the court in .Inly. 1666, James .Mosier,

eld i son of Hugh, was appointed administrator of his fath - and John

Mosie ' 1 Jam ss Lap were his sureties. Jam ss Lane cam ! here with his fam-

ily from Mildenaboul I658,sel ledon the east side of Cousins' river in Ffeeport;

the point and island near it are still called by his nam'. [Savage conjectures

that Hugh came over in the Jane from London and arrived in Boston, June 12,

1632, resided in Newport, II. I., awhile, where he married Rebecca, daughter of

John Harndell of Newport, probably second wife. His sun John moved to

Long Island, N. ">
. where he was living lt;s3.]
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toward her, before the next training at Casco, or to forfeit five

pounds each person to the treasury, and for time to come to

give in sufficient security for their good behaviour, to the next

court of Pleas for this division unto our sovereign lord the

king."

"Nathaniel Cloyes and Richard Potts to give a bond of ten

pounds for the good behavior of Nathaniel and Jenkin Williams,

and Francis Neale, the like bond for Abigail Williams." 1

Some idea of the state of morals in the province may be

formed from the following records : "Elinor Bonython being

examined by Esquire Jocelyn and Major Wm. Phillips, J. Pac,

in reference to bastardy, but not finding on examination her

owning of the reputed father of the child, do therefore order

that the said Elinor Bonython, for her offence, shall either with-

in one month from the '20th day of September, 1667, stand

three Sabbath days in a white sheet in the public meeting or

otherwise pay five pounds into the treasury of this division."

"Which five pounds her father John Bonython engages to

pay."- Bonython himself had been guilty of many excesses
;

and the vices of some of his children are properly attributable

to the evil example of their parent. It may be recollected that

we noticed a similar complaint against him in the former part

1 1 have before given some account of the Cloyes family antecedent, Chapter

4, p. 156, my conjecture is that Abigail was a second wife of Cloyes, that she was

a widow at the time of her marriage, and that Peter and Sarah Housing were

her children by a former marriage. In 1673, Sarah Spurwell, daughter of Julian

Cloyes, was charged with stealing goods from George Pearson of Boston, and

bringing them to her mother, in Casco. Julian was born in 1620. The family I

think came from Watertown, Massachusetts, after the submission to that govern-

ment. Abigail Williams was probably the wife of Jenkin Williams. One of that

name figures in the witch-tragedy at Salem, and is probably the same. A Sarah

Cloyes also appears in the same scenes. [Peter Housing, in a petition to Gov.

Andross for confirmation of title, says, That his father Peter Housing, was pos-

sessed of one hundred and twenty acres west side of Presumpscot river, that he

was killed before the Indian war, and his family forced from there, and since, hi s

widow has sold one-half to Gustian John, a Frenchman.]

2 John Bonython was son of Richard, one of the original patontoos of Saco.
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of this work. The simplicity of the punishment is only equal-

led by the ease with which it was commuted. The fatherly

care of the same court is displayed in their requirement in the

following case. "We present George Garland and Sarah Mills

for living together us man and wife, being never married, con-

trary to the law of England. In reference to the more orderly

living of the said Garland and Sarah Mills, and for putting

off future inconveniences, which will necessarily ensue such

incontinent courses; It is therefore ordered that George Gar-

land and Sarah Mills shall by the order of some justice of the

peace in this province, or some minister, be married within the,

term of one month from the date hereof or otherwise they shall

qo1 fail to give in a sufficient bond of ten pounds for their good

behavior to the next court of Pleas for this division." These

persons lived in Scarborough. One other case of a more ag-

gravated nature, relative to an inhabitant of Falmouth, will

close this part of our subject. "We indict George Lewis upon

the evidences of John Lewis, Elliner Lewis, and Anne Ross,

for a person of wicked behavior as appeareth by oath to us, by

his frequent attempting to commit folly and wickedness with

his daughters. The court having considered the heighnous-

ness of George Lawis his offences, do adjudge him to pay in

live pounds to the treasury; and to prevent his future miscar-

riage, to give in twenty pounds' bond for his good behavior."

.Inlin Mosier and Phillip Lewis gave bond that said Lewis

should be of good behavior, especially toward his two daughters,

Anne Ross and Elliner Lawis, unto the next court of Pleas

holden for the Eastern division." Elliner was the wife of John

L swis, eldest son of George, and Anne was the wife of James

R >ss, who was a shoe-maker and lived at Back Cove on land

adjoining Lewis's. Phillip Lewis was also a son of George.

It cannot be disguised that the tone of morality in the pro-

vince was at this time and had ever been at a low point. Many
individuals and the government itself seem to have displayed

an earnest desire to correct abuses and elevate the standard of



192 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

public morals ; but the state of the province had always been

unpropitious to the success of such endeavors. The popula-

tion was composed of the greatest variety of materials ; a large

part of it was dependent upon fishing and hung loosely on the

community. This class of people, by the account of early

voyagers was excessively dissipated and led a sort of lawless

life. That part of the inhabitants which remained on shore

was scattered along upon the coast communicating freely with

those who lived upon the sea and partaking in a measure of

their irregular habits, which were not counteracted by an uni-

form administration of religious instruction. In addition to

these causes the utmost confusion was produced by repeated

changes of jurisdiction, which not only displaced the heads of

government, but subverted the laws themselves. For the first

fifty years after the settlement of the country we may safely

assert that there existed nothing like permanent institutions

or laws. During this period no party exercised authority with-

out being assailed by the sharp and persevering claims of oth-

ers, who pretended a right to the sovereignty and soil. Amidst

all these confusions and causes of irregularity, a high state of

public morals was not to have been expected in the community;

and although severe laws were occasionally passed and some-

times were severely enforced, they were entirely unable to

produce any permanent good effect upon the general sentiment

and habits of the people. It was not until the government of

Massachusetts was quietly settled under the new charter and

her laws diffused over the whole province that a decidedly fa-

vorable change was produced in the manners and morals of

the inhabitants.

In the records of the court held in November, 1666, George

Cleeves makes his appearance for the last time ; the precise

period of his death we have no means of determining ; but in a

deed from Anthony Brackett of land held in right of his wife,

to whom Cleeves had conveyed it, dated January 2, 1671, he is

mentioned as being dead. This event probably took place soon
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after the first date, November, L6 16, or his name would doubt-

less have appeared in some subsequent transactions. From

the great age oi* his wife, which Clceves himself stated in his

memorial against Jordan in 1662, to have been eighty-seven, 1
it

may he inferred that lie was very old at the time of his death.

He had been in the country over thirty-six years : was the first

who planted in that part of Falmouth which lies north of Fore

river, and was actively engaged in all the eventful scenes of

its history from its settlement to the time of his death. The

principal incidents of his life have been noticed in the progress

of this work, and sufficient may have been said to exhibit a

view of his character, lie was a man undoubtedly of great

activity and enterprise, and although some circumstances ap-

pear in the history of his Life, which throw a doubt upon his

moral principles, yet the medium through which we se s them

should be permitted in a degree to relieve the shadows. Cleeves

lived continually in tin 1 midst of party, and was himself a parti-

zan and a leader. It would be strange if he should not have

been the subject of misrepresentation and calumny. In the

latter part of his life he certainly fell into neglect, and although

occasionally noticed, he did not rise, after his own administra-

tion ended, into the rank of the higher magistrates. This how-

ever may be accounted for partly by his advanced age and partly

by having lost the sinews of power in the disposition of his prop-

erty. At this distance of time and under these circumstances,

it is difficult to form a just estimate of the character of our

first settler: he now lies beneath the soil he first opened to the

cheering influence of cultivation : we oughl not therefore to

deepen the shades that bang over some transactions of his life,

but to dwell on the palliating circumstances— to praise where

we can. and only to blame where we must, lie had to contend

with difficulties inconceivable by those who are enjoying the

rich fruits of the toil and care— the weary days and anxious

nights, of the first settlers of our country.

1 ".My wife l>oiii2 no less than fourscore ami seven vears of a^e.
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Cleeves left but one child, Elizabeth ; it does not appear that

he ever had any other, certainly no son lived to perpetuate his

name. His daughter married Michael Mitton, by whom his

posterity teems upon the land which their ancestor first occu-

pied. She lived until 1682, when she followed her father to

the quiet mansion of the dead. Cleeves's wife was named Joan,

the time of whose death is not known. Elizabeth Clark, a

daughter of Michael Mitton, who lived to a great age, testified

in 1728, "That her grandfather, Mr. George Cleeves, lived on

his own estate at Falmouth, many years after the death of her

father, Michael Mitton.*

Thomas Skillings, another inhabitant, died in 1667 ; by his

will, dated November 14, 1666, and proved October 2, 1667,

he made specific legacies to his sons, Thomas and John ; to the

former "one cow and a young steer and a calf," and "his fowles

to be divided between them both ;" the remainder of his prop-

erty he placed at the disposal of his wife, "during her widow's

estate, and if she marry she shall have but one-third and the

rest to toe divided equally to all my children," From the lat-

ter clause, it would seem probable that he had other children

than those above mentioned, although no others are named in

the will, nor can be traced by us. The inventory of his estate

was taken by Phineas Ryder, George Ingersoll, and Nathaniel

"Wallis, his neighbors, and his property was enumerated and

valued as follows : Housing and land, eighty pounds ; marsh,

ten pounds ; four steers, twenty-two pounds ; five cows, twenty

pounds ; three younger cattle, six pounds ; two calves, one

pound ten shillings ; eleven pigs, three pounds six shillings
;

wheat and peas in the barn, three pounds eight shillings ; eigh-

teen bushels of wheat in the dwelling house, four pounds ten

shillings ; six bushels Indian corn, one pound four shillings
;

sixty pounds cotton wool, three pounds ; household furniture,

* [April 22, 1665, Cleeves conveyed to Munjoy his field lying near his now

dwelling-house about six acres "as it is now fenced in." Cleeves as well as John

Winter came from Plymouth, England.]
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thirty-two pounds sixteen shillings; making a total amount of

one hundred eighty-six pounds fourteen shillings. We have

presented the foregoing inventory, that some estimation may be

formed of the situation of our settlers at that early period.

Mr. Skillings could not lie ranked among the lirsl of our in-

habitants in poinl of property, and yet it will be perceived that

I13 h 1 1 suffi ient to render him indep >nd nit ; il gh es as a favor-

able view of the resources of the people in thai day. Mr. Skil-

lings is the common ancestor of all of that name, who now

live in this town and vicinity. He was here as early as 1651,

as appears by his witnessing a deed of that year from Clccves

;

in 1658, he purchased a farm at Hack Cove, of George Cleeves,

which he occupied till his death, and which continued many

years after, in his family : it adjoins Mr. Deering's farm in

Westbrook, and is about half a mile from Deering's bridge.

His eldest son, Thomas, married Mary, daughter of George

Lewis, who was born in Falmouth in 1654, by whom lie had

two sons, Joseph and Benjamin, and died early. 1 The second

son, John, was an active and useful man many years in town, a

carpenter by occupation. He had a grant of land upon the

neck in 1G80, and a large farm near Long creek, where he

lived, and part of which is now occupied by some of his num-

erous posterity. We shall have occasion to advert to this en-

terprising inhabitant again in a subsequent part of our work,

and shall therefore leave him for the present.

The government established by the king's commissioners in

1665, expired in 1668, its Lasl general court having been held

at Saco, May 29, of the latter year. The officers of it had re-

ceived no support nor encouragemenl from England, and it

possessed within itself no permanent principle nor power to

i The widow afterward married Jotham Lewis, and for her third husband,

Wilkins, and was living in Salem in 1732. [The Salem Records say, Thomas

Skilling ami wife, Deborah, had son Thomas, November, 1643. Against wit.' is a

query! in the copy, General Register, vol. viii. p. 52, showing doubt as to wife's

name, we suppose.]
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give sanction to its authority ; the laws were therefore feebly

administered and the affairs of the province, consequently fell

into confusion. The people again turned their eyes to Massa-

chusetts, as a power willing and able to afford them relief.

Application was made to that government for this purpose, and

at the session of the general court in May, 1668, commissioners

were appointed to repair to York, and hold a court there, on

the first Tuesday of July. They also issued a proclamation,

requiring the inhabitants to yield obedience to the laws of the

colony, and commanded the secretary of state to send war-

rants to the respective towns to choose jurors, constables, and

other officers, for the service of the country, as the law re-

quired.

The commissioners pursuant to their appointment, held a

court at York, in July ; Jocelyn and the officers of his court,

met there at the same time and protested against the authority

of Massachusetts, and the proceedings of the commissioners.

Some conflict took place between the two parties, which, as it

is particularly recorded in the general histories of the day, we

need not stop to notice. The commisioners of Massachusetts,

proceeded firmly in the duties of their appointment, and Joce-

lyn at length yielded tlie point Avith what grace he might. It

was evident he was not supported by the people ; or in other

words, his paper authority was not backed by physical force ; he

therefore made a virtue of necessity. His brother, speaking of

this transaction says : "As soon as the commissioners (the

king's) were returned for England, the Massachusetts enter

the province in a hostile manner, with a troop of horse and

foot, and turned the judge 1 and his assistants off the bench,

imprisoned the Major or commissioner of the Militia, threat-

ened the Judge and some others that were faithful to Mr.

Gorges' interest. I could discover many of the foul proceed-

ings, but for some reasons which might be given, I conceive it

1 Henry Joceh a.
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in>! prudent to make report thereof to vulgar ears, et quce supra

nos nihil ad nos : only this I could wish, that there mighl be

some consideration of the great losses, charge, and Labor which

hath been sustained by the Judge and some others, in uphold-

ing the rights of Mr. Gorges and Ins sacred majesty's dominion

againsl a many stubborn and delusive people."

Jocelyn wrote under the influence of deep feeling both per-

sonal and political, and his accounl is to be received with some

allowance. The historians of Massachusetts, on the other

hand, deny the employmenl of any force in the proceeding,

and attribute the change to the operation of public opinion.

Hubbard says, "In this order and manner did the province of

.Maine return to the government of Massachusetts without any

other force, threatening or violence, whatever hath been to the

contrary judged, reported and published." This accounl was

written some time after Jocelyn's voyages were published, and

was probably aimed at his version of the revolution.

The hostile attitude being withdrawn, the court proceeded

to fulfil its commission; the five associates chosen by the free-

men, viz : Capt. Brian Pendleton of Saco, Capt. Francis Raines

of York, Mr. Francis Neale of Falmouth, Mr. Roger Plaisted

ofKittery, and Mr. Ezekiel Knight of Wells, were approved

by the court. The commissioners in their report say that five

towns made returns for the election of associates, '-the other

two (as they said) being hindered by the justices : yet in one of

them above half of the electors sent in their vote-." George

lngersoll of Falmouth was on the grand jury, and George

Pelt was on the jury of trials. Lt. George tngersoll was com-

missioned as military officer of Falmouth, and Mr. Francis

Neale, Anthony Brackett, Arthur Anger, Mr. Foxwell, and

Robert Oorbin were appointed commissioners of Scarborough

and Falmouth.

The jurisdiction of Massachusetts seems now to have been

again established over the province, and the people to have

generally submitted to it. The only indication of uneasiness
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which we have met with, was the case of Jordan ; the follow-

ing order in relation to him was passed in 1669 : "It appearing

that Mr. Robert Jordan doth refuse to conform to the laws of

this jurisdiction, ordered that he be summoned before Brian

Pendleton and Francis Neale, to answer, and if he refuse, a

warrant be issued «to take him." This probably had refer-

ence to the exercise of some ministerial function. In 1671,

a warrant is ordered to be sent out against him, requiring him

to appear at the nest court "to render an account why he

presumed to marry Richard Palmer and Grace Bush contrary

to the laws of this jurisdiction."

Of Henry Jocelyn, we hear no more, in the civil affairs of the

country; he appears again in the accounts of the Indian war,

of which, notice will hereafter be taken ; he had now reached

an age when the fires of ambition were abated, and a life of

retirement was more suited to his feelings than the discord of

political controversy. We cannot but entertain a good opin-

ion of Jocelyn ; nothing has been discovered in the whole

course of his eventful life, which leaves a stain upon his mem-

ory ; his opposition to Massachusetts was undoubtedly founded

'

in principle, both in a religious point of view and on the ques-

tion of territorial right. He probably became embarrassed in the

latter part of his life; we find that in 1663, being indebted to

Joshua Scottow of Boston, in the sum of three hundred and nine

pounds nineteen shillings ten pence, he mortgaged all his prop-

erty to secure the payment of it, and in 1666 for an additional

sum of about one hundred eighty pounds sterling, he confirm-

ed the former grant and made an absolute conveyance to

Scottow, of the whole of the Cammock patent at Black Point,

except what had been previously conveyed, together with

seven hundred and fifty acres granted by Sir F. Gorges, and

his "dwelling house, out houses, fish houses, and stages, with

other conveniences." He however continued to reside here

a number of years after this, and until he was driven away
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during the Indian war. 1 Scottow afterward occupied the estate.

i Jocelyn's family moved to Plymouth colonj
;
his son Henry married there

in L676j tho daughter of k.bigail Stockbridge, oJ Scituate, aged sixteen by whom

he had thirteen children. [AH this note written above , is a mistake. It was

another Henry thai married a Stockbridge; he was the son of Abraham Joce-

lyn. and was a blacksmith in Scituate. The Henry of our history did no! move

to Plymouth colonyj or if he did, he did nol long remain there, and we have no

evid sne • thai he [efl any childi'en. His wife certainly had none by her first hus-

band, Cammock. Jocelyn, after the surrender of his fori a1 Black Point, went

to Pemaquid, where we find him Augusl 2, li>77. in an official capacity, under

Gov. Andross. For six years he enjoye 1 the confidence of Andross and his suc-

c sssors, was employed in mosl responsible positions in the Duke's province, and

died there, leaving his widow, early in 1683, al quite an adva
I We can-

not withhold the expression of Gov. Andross's interest in this aged and valued

public servant* Writing from New York, September 15, 1680, to Ensign Sharpe,

he says, "I have by Mr. Wells answered your, of the 7th instant, excepl what re-

. Mr Jocelyn, whom I would have you use with all fitting respeel consid-

ering what he hath been and his age. And if he desire and shall build a house

for himself, to let him choose any lot t and pay him ten pounds toward it, as also

sulli -lent provision for himself and wife as he shall desire, out of the ston

In July, 1682, he was employe 1 in laying outa township on the Sh sepscol river,

the remains of the se Lemenl in which are still to be sean This was his

appearance on the records
;

and we learn by a letter from Francis Skinner, com-

mander of the fort,toGov. Brockholl, in New York, dated May 10, 1683, that

he was then dead.

Thus was the eventful life closed, of a man. who, for a longer period than any

other in our early history, was actively engaged in public affairs. Reappears

to have sustained himself in all his offices with integrity and ability, and to have

entirely secured the confidence of the various governments which he served.

II r as senl over in an, off] ;ial capacity in 16 '.I. and from that time to his death,

he occupied one public station or another in the province, a period of near fifty

years. I am able to present a copy of the signature of this distinguished

istrate, II. Jocelyn.]

Per me Henry Jocelyn, Associate.

TiiSl

*Tt
t pUt)
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His brother John is probably correct when he asserts that

Henry sustained "great losses, charge and labor in upholding

the rights of Mr. Gorges and his sacred majesty's dominion."

After the government of Massachusetts was established,

Francis Neale seems to have been the leading man in Fal-

mouth ; he was chosen associate for several years, and also one

of the town commissioners ; and in 1670, he was their repre-

sentative to the general court. But in 1671, we find several

presentments against him at the county court, for defamation

for not attending meeting for defrauding the treasury of

fines due the country, and for instigating a man to tell a lie

;

the witnesses against him were George Munjoy, Walter Gen-

dall, John Cloice, Sen., and Ralph Turner, constable of Fal-

mouth. The record does not furnish us with the result of

these proceedings, nor any clue to their origin.* Ralph Tur-

ner, who seems to have been the constable this year, was also

chosen in 1670; it does not appear who exercised the office in

the several subsequent years.

Robert Oorbin and Phineas Ryder were town commissioners

with Neale in 1670, and this year Walter Gendall was present-

ed "for vilifying and abusing of the commissioners of Falmouth

and Scarborough commission court, by saying they had no

power to try above forty shillings, with other abusive words,

which was sometime in April last ; he was sentenced to be ad-

monished and pay five shillings." Falmouth is also presented

* [Neale moved to Salem after the Indian war commenced, and was admitted

an inhabitant of that town January 11, 1076, with the Ingersolls, Shillings, Jen-

kin Williams, and several other of the inhabitants of Falmouth, and died there,

not as Savage states, in 1696, for in July, 1699, he was still living in Salem, and

in that month united with Jentdn Williams in the conveyance of a large tract of

land in Falmouth, to David Phippen of Salem. That there can be no mistake in

this, he is styled Francis Neale, Senior. AVe do not know the date of his death,

lie hail sons, Francis and Samuel, and two daughters, who were living in 1663,

and arc mentioned in the will of Jonas Bailie of Scarborough, as legatees. He
was repeatedly appointed commisioner for Falmouth, agent for the town, and an

associate under Massachusetts, and was largely engaged in the affairs of the

town and the province for near forty years.]
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"for not sending a man to serve on the jury of trials last year,

and on the grand jury this year."

We find in the records of the general court for 1070, the

following notice of Falmouth, but are not able to ascertain

the precise point to which it relates :

k-Thc court's answer to

Scarborough and Falmouth deputies' motion about freemen.

This court declares that it is the best expedient to obtain the

end desired, that those pans furnish themselves with an able,

pious and orthodox minister, and command that to them ac-

cording to the order of the county court." 1 The next year

the subject is revived, and the following reply is made by the

court: "In answer to the petition of several freemen of Fal-

mouth, the court judgeth it meet to declare that in relation to

the persons to vote, etc., the law directs ; as to the bounds of

the town-hip, it is to be referred to the county court in those

parts, to consider and settle; the other part of it being already

answered." Some question had probably arisen in town in re-

lation to the elective franchise, and whether the severe laws of

Massachusetts excluding all but church members from the

right of voting, were applicable to these remote parts of the

country where no regularly organized church existed. Hence

the recommendation that they should supply themselves with

a minister. In 1669 the county court had ordered Falmouth

and Scarborough both to supply themselves with a preacher

;

and next year Scarborough is presented for not obeying the

order.

In 1 1 ill , Joshua Scottow and George Munjoy were licensed by

the county court to retail wine and liquors; and we have before

seen, that .Minijoy carried on the same trade in 1665. Scottow

lived at Black Point, which was then a resort for fishermen

and traders in lish, beaver, etc. We have no intimation of any

person having been established in trade on this side of Fore

'The same subject was agitated about 1(3(30. See chap. 4. p. 143, for the

petition of the freemen.

13
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river previous to Munjoy ; Winter, as well as Bagnall, many

years before, had carried on a large trade on Richmond's Island,

at an exorbitant profit. Munjoy's place of business was on the

beach at the lower end of the town, not far from where Mr.

Merrill's distillery stands ;* this continued the principal seat

of trade for many years. 1 Munjoy lived there ; his house was

constructed for defense, and used in times of danger for a

garrison.

This year Thomas Clark received a commission from Massa-

chusetts to run and ascertain the eastern boundary line of the

province of Maine ; he appointed Munjoy to attend to the duty,

who in November, 1672, made a return, of which the following

is an extract : "From Clapboard Island, the place of Mr. Sam-

uel Andrews and Mr. Jonas Clark's observation, due east,

takes in about one mile and three-fourths above New Damerill's

cove, and along a little above Capt. Padishall's house in * * *,

some part of Pemaquid and most of St. George's Island, and

so running into the sea, and no more land east until we come

to Capt. Subeles' Island, observed with a large quadrant, with

the approbation of Mr. Wiswall, who is well skilled in the

mathematics ; and is, to my best skill and judgment, our east

line from the above said island. If the honoured court were

pleased to go twenty minutes more northerly in Merrimack

river, it would take in all the inhabitants and places east along,

and they seem much to desire it." Munjoy's bill for this ser-

vice was six pounds ten shillings. This stretching the line over

the Duke of York's grant afforded a pretext for the assumption

* [As all trace of the distillery has long since departed, in the obliteration of

the old land marks by the railway improvements, we may define the place of

Munjoy's trade to have been near the foot of Mountfort street, about where

Bethuel Sweetser's house and store are.]

1 John Jocelyn about the year 1671 says, "Shop keepers they have none, being

supplied by the Massachusetts merchants with all they stand in need of." He

refers to the trade in English goods, with which our retailers were probably not

regularly supplied.
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of jurisdiction winch remained not long unimproved. The in-

habitants were desirous of being- taken into the family of Massa-

chusetts ; and in 1671 and 1673, they petitioned the general

court to extend their care and government over them. The

opportunity was now seized, and in July, 1674, a court was held

there, and the jurisdiction of Massachusetts, by the consent of

the people, was established over the territory, as far cast as

Muscongus Bay.

Of the internal affairs of the town during this period, in the

absence of all the town records, we can say but little, and for

that, we are entirely dependent upon scattered fragments gath-

ered from various sources. John Jocelyn, who returned to

England in 1671, speaking of this place, says, "Nine miles

eastward of Black Point lieth scatteringly the town of Casco

upon a large bay, stored with cattle, sheep, swine, abundance of

marsh and arable land, a corn mill or two, with stages for fish-

ermen." And of the people of the province, he says, "They

feed generally upon as good flesh, beef, pork, mutton, fowl,

and fish as any in the world beside." For further particulars

relating to the province, we refer to a large extract which we

have made from Jocelyn in the appendix. Jocelyn says Black

Point had fifty dwelling-houses in 1671. That town appears in

1675 to have had one hundred militia soldiers, while Casco had

but eighty ; taking this ratio for a calculation, Casco would

then have had forty dwelling-houses ; and by another calcu-

lation 1 which estimates the militia in New England, in 1675,

at one-fifth of the population, we should arrive at four hundred

:i< the number of inhabitants at this time. This probably is

not far out of the way.

Tlic affairs of the town seem to have been administered by

persons selected for that purpose as in other towns, who were

culled selectmen or townsmen. The following notico of an

act of this authority is preserved : "Whereas there was a tract

'Trumbull's History of Connecticut, Davis Morton's Memorial.
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of land granted by the townsmen of Falmouth unto Anthony

Brackett, as by a grant of the townsmen of said town, bear ng

date of September 25, 1669, and the townsmen of said town de-

sired us, the underwritten, to lay out the bounds of said land

as by an order under their hands, bearing date September 24,

1672, we have attended said order, and laid out the land as fol-

loweth, beginning at the point of Long creek and so towards

John Skillings' house two hundred poles, extending to two

apple trees standing on a point of land near John Skillings',

where Joseph Ingersoll hath felled some trees," etc. Signed

"September 25, 1672. George Ingersoll, Thomas Stanford,

Thomas Brackett." 1

This farm of four hundred acres was sold by Brackett to

Munjoy, January 2, 1671, and improved by him many years.

It was conveyed by his heirs to Samuel Waldo.

In 1675, Falmouth was presented "for not sending in their

vote to the shire town for nomination of magistrates and asso-

ciates according to law;" and at the same term the selectmen

of the town were presented "for not taking care that the chil-

dren and youth of that town of Falmouth be taught their

catechise and educated according to law." This presentment

was made under a law passed by the general court, 1642, re-

quiring the selectmen of every town to see that none of "their

brethren and neighbors suffer so much barbarism in any of

their families as not to endeavor to teach their children and

apprentices so much learning as may enable them perfectly

well to read the English tongue."

Previous to this period settlements had begun to extend up

to Capisic, and to spread in that vicinity. It appears by Brack-

ett's deed to Munjoy, before mentioned, that in January, 1671,

George Ingersoll, Jr., had a house at Capisic, and that John

Skillings lived lower down the river toward Long Creek ; the

recitation in the deed is, "Whereas Mr. George Cleeves, de-

'Original Paper in Clerk's office, Cumberland.
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ceased, did some years since grant unto Anna Mitton, now wife

of Anthony Brackctt, a parcel of land and marsh lying at Cap-

isle over the water against the house of George Ingcrsoll, Jr.,"

etc., then in describing the land conveyed, he speaks of it as

lying "a little below the dwelling house of John Skillings at a

place commonly called Long Creek." George Ingersoll, Jr.,

and Skillings were both young men, the former was son of

George, Sen., who was fifty-three years old in 1G71 ; not only

the son but the father and two others of the name, John and

Joseph, settled in the same neighborhood. George Ingcrsoll

and his son George had a saw-mill at the falls, near where

Capt. Seal now lives. [1831. A son of the late Capt. Seal

occupies the homestead, 186-1.]

In 1674, Thomas Cloice, son of John Cloice, and Richard

Powsland, ' settled between Round Marsh and Capisic, and in

1 575, John Ingersoll joined them.* Cloice went first, he pur-

chased of Munjoy, May 20, a tract of land lying on the river

over against the mill of George Ingersoll, and running to a

creek between the meadow and Joseph Ingersoll's house ; this

must have been situated north of where Stroudwater bridge

now is. Cloice immediately erected a house upon the place.

Next year, May 1, Munjoy sold to John Ingersoll a large tract

"at Capisic, bounded at the bounds of Thomas Cloice at the

east, being on the gully running down on the back side of said

Cloice's house, on the south by the gully as it turns, and on

the west by the old path running near Capisic falls that went

down to the Back Cove." Part of this latter tract descended

by mesne conveyances to Rev. Thomas Smith, by whom it was

sold to Jeremiah Biggs in 1735, who occupied it till his death.

'I have adopted here the early mode of spelling this name; his son Samuel,

who lived in Boston in 1720, spelt it Powsly, as did some persons previously. It

was sometimes written Pouselin and Pouseland. ,

* [Capisic has been pretty uniformly spelt from the earliest settlement. Its

formation and meaning it is difficult to determine. Mr. Ballard and father Vet-

romile, both good Indian linguists, give its definition as the "Net-fishing-place ."']
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It is now, 1831, possessed by John Jones, Esq., who married a

granddaughter of Mr. Riggs. [In 1864, it is owned by the

heirs of Jones.)

October 5, 1674, Nathaniel Mitton, with the advice of his

mother, Elizabeth Harvey, and friends, Anthony and Thomas

Brackett, conveyed to "Richard Powsland, now resident in Fal-

mouth," fisherman, fifty acres of upland and marsh, the same

that was granted to him by his grandfather Cleeves in 1658

;

the consideration was ten pounds in money and fish. This was

situated on the point west of Round Marsh ; Powsland occu-

pied it in the first and second settlements, and his son sold it

to Samuel Moody, whose heirs in 1740 conveyed it to John

Thomes for five hundred pounds, under whom it is now held.

From the manner in which Mitton is spoken of in the deed, it

is probable that he was then under age, and deemed it proper

to express that the conveyance was made with the advice and

consent of his friends.

The inhabitants extended on the other side of Fore river,

though at considerable intervals from Capisic, to the point at

the mouth of the harbor. Th e Ingersolls clustered about the

falls ; next to them was John Skillings ; next to him and about

half a mile below Ingersoll's mill, lived, after the Indian war,

Isaac Davis ; he had children born as early as 1660, but whether

he then lived there we are unable to ascertain ; he was here

when President Danforth came in 1680, to resettle the town
;

his land lay between Skillings and Munjoy's four hundred

acres. On the other side of Long Creek lived Ralph Turner

and Lawrence Davis ; further on, were Joseph Phippen, Samp-

son Penley, and Robert and Thomas Stamford. Joel Madiver,

a son of Michael, an old inhabitant, received a grant of

one hundred acres adjoining Stamford's, in 1680 ; we do not

know in what part of the town lie had previously lived. John

Wallis lived upon the point then called Papoodin or Papoo-
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duck point.* Madivcr's one hundred acres adjoined the land

of Wallis ; the Whites lived near Spring Point.

While population was continually receiving accessions in

different quarters of the town, death was occasionally invading

its ranks. In 1673, Richard Martin died.f He had dwelt at

the point on the west side of Prosumpscot river, which still

bears his name, having married the widow Atwell, to whom it

was granted by Cleeves prior to 1610. We are unable to as-

certain the time of his arrival here ; we first meet with his

name in 1657, unless he is the person referred toby Winthrop, 1

as the father of Mary Martin, who was executed in 164G, in

Boston. Of that person, Winthrop says, he was a decayed

merchant of Plymouth, England, that his father had been

Mayor of that city, and that having occasion after coming to

Casco with his two daughters to return to settle some affairs,

he left his daughters in Mitton's care. There is no improba-

bility in supposing these persons to be the same individual ; we

find no other of the name of Martin in the early transactions

of the place. The circumstance that there were two daugh-

ters in this family corroborates the conjecture ; Mary was exe-

cuted at the age of twenty-two, and Lydia married Robert

Corbin. Martin's will bears date January 11, 1673, and was

approved by the court which sat at Wells the April following.

He appointed his wife executrix. He bequeathed to Joseph

Atwell six pounds, to be paid in goods "so far forth as his father

* [The name Purpooduck is still applied to the point and the shore lying west

of it. Dr Chute who resided sometime with the Delawares, procured definitions

from them, among which was Purpooduck, which they said meant a place often

frozen over, (hi the contrary Mr. Ballard susicr^st.s that it may be derived or

changed from the Micmac word Pulpooduck, which means a "Burial Place."

The remains of an old burying-ground may still be seen a little distance from

Fort Preble near which stood a log meetinii house, in which Parson Smith occa-

sion^ preached.]

t[Mary, wife of Richard Martin, died in Boston, November 25, 1659. Boston

JRe.ordi

1 Winthrop, vol. ii. p. 302.
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may not defraud him of it." After his wife's decease his es-

tate was to be divided equally between Benjamin Atwell and

Lydia, wife of Robert Corbin. The property was inventoried

at two hundred and six pounds thirteen shillings ten pence.

Benjamin Atwell, before mentioned, was the son of Mrs.

Martin by her first husband, and Joseph was his son. The

manner in which the above bequest is made to Joseph, corrobo-

rated by other circumstances, leaves an unfavorable impres-

sion of Benjamin Atwell's character. Joseph was then but

two years old; in 1685, the court appointed a guardian fpr

him ; and he is mentioned in the record as being "heir to the

estates of Benjamin Atwell his father, Robert Corbin his uncle,

and Richard Martin his grandfather. December 10, 1673,

Dorothy Martin conveyed to her son-in-law, Robert Corbin,

"all her goods, chattels, leases, debts, money," etc., on condi-

tion of being supported during life.

About this time died Nathaniel Wharff, the husband of Re-

becca, eldest daughter of Arthur Macwortli ; the widow took

letters of administration on the estate in 1678
;
.the amount

of which by the inventory was one hundred and ninety-three

pounds eighteen shillings and six pence. The first notice we

have of Mr. Wharff, is a recognition in a deed from Mrs

Macworth to him of March 28, 1658. It appears that he was

then married, and that he afterward lived upon the land at that

time received from his mother-in-law. In 1666, he conveyed

the same tract to his brother-in-law, Francis Neale, and de-

scribed it as the tract occupied by him. We have no notice of

any children but Nathaniel, who was born in 1662, and was

living in Gloucester, Cape Ann, in 1734. The widow after-

ward married William Rogers, and left two daughters, the

eldest Elece (Alice) married Henry Crown of Boston, and the

second, Rebecca, married first Joseph Trickey of Kittery, and

afterward Downing ; she was again a widow and living in

Kittery in 1732. The family of Wharff in New Gloucester,

the only one that we know of in this vicinity, came from
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Old Gloucester, and is undoubtedly descended from the first

Nathaniel, and continuesto preserve a portion of the Macworth

blood, although the name has long hecn extinct. [The eldest

son of Nathaniel and Rebecca Wharflf was eleven years old

when his father died. In 1684, he married Ann, a daughter

of Thomas R-iggs of Gloucester, by whom he had thirteen

children. Nathaniel, his eldest son, horn 1685, married Han-

nah Stevens in 1715, and. had sons, Thomas and [saac ; Thomas

married Dorcas Lane, L738, and had six sons and two daugh-

ters. 1 His son Thomas, settled, in New Gloucester, and died

therein L835, aged eighty-seven, Leaving issue; among them

was Thomas, who died February L8, L864,a1 the age of ninety-

four.]

George Bartlett, of Spurwink, died about this time; an in-

ventory of his estate, amounting to seventy pounds eight shil-

lings and six pence, was returned byAmbrose Boaden and Henry

William-, February 14, 1674. He had a daughter Elizabeth

married to Nicholas Baker, of Marblehead.

Ahout the same time died John .Mills, of Scarborough ; he

left two sons, John and dames, and other children who claimed

his estate at Black Point, which the father had occupied thirty

years. John subsequently lived in Boston, and James in Sand-

wich. John married Joana, widow of Eiias Oakman, of Black

Point, and daughter of Andrew Alger.

1 Babson's History of Gloucester.



CHAPTER VI I.

The first Indian War—Inhabitants of Falmouth, 1675

—

Destruction of the Town in 1676—Fur-

ther ATTACKS OF THE INDIANS—MILITIA IN 1675—'P EACE—'PRISONERS REJTORED
—
"WALTER GENDAI.L

—Robert Jordan's death—Brackett—Names of Inhabitants in Casco Bay.

In the beginning of the year 1675, the prosperity of the town

stood at a high point
;
population had been steadily increasing

in every part, and its various resources were rapidly developing.

Mills had been established at Capisic and on the lower falls of

Presumpscot river, and the borders of both rivers were occu-

pied by an active and enterprising people. But their opening

prospects were destined soon to be changed, and their hopes

crushed. In June of this year Phillip's war commenced in

Plymouth colony. The English on the Kennebec river re-

ceived the first information of the movements of the Indians

about Mount Hope, the seat of Phillip, their chief Sachem, July

11. They immediately met together to concert measures to

discover the feelings of the Indians in their neighborhood, and

to disarm them if it became necessary. In consequence of ex-

ertions for that purpose, a number were induced to deliver up

their arms and ammunition. In this attempt some collisions

took place ; the fear and the jealousy of the Indians were

aroused, and they began to suspect that it was the object of

the English to deprive them of the means of obtaining subsist-

ence, and by degrees to drive them from the soil. The out-

breaking in the east is to be attributed to such jealousies and
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collisions, rather than to any supposed connection between

them and the Indians of the west.

When mutual suspicion and recrimination were once excited,

it were futile to imagine that the Indians would respect their

engagements, the recollection of former kindness, or the dic-

tates of humanity and justice; and consequently open hostil-

ities became the signal of extermination. They first began by

gratifying their revenge, hut they ended by an indiscriminate

slaughter of those from whom they had received favor as well

as of those who had done them injury.

In the beginning of September, about twenty Indians attacked

the house of Thomas Purchase, an ancient settler in IVgyp-

scot, now Brunswick, and robbed it of liquor, ammunition, etc.,

but did no injury to the females who were, fortunately, the

only occupants at the time. When complained of for this

depredation, they attempted to justify themselves on the ground

that Purchase had injured them in their trading,

Soon after this affair, a party of twenty-five Englishmen went

out to gather corn at the northern end of Casco bay, and at the

same time to reconnoitre the enemy. They discovered three

Indians in the neighborhood of some houses a short distance

from the water, and in attempting to intercept their retreat,

they killed one and wounded another ; the third escaped, and

rallying his friends, attacked the English, wounded several,

and drove them to their vessel, with the loss of two boats laden

with the corn which they had gathered. This was the first

blood shed on either side in this vicinity : it \v;i< however the

opening of a vein, to use a metaphor of Cotton Mather, which

was made to flow freely for many months after.

The English having exposed themselves to censure by this

imprudent attack without a sufficient justification, removed at

once all restraint from the Indians. They had seen the blood

of their companions causelessly spilt, and they now sought

opportunities of revenge. These were not wanting along an

extensive and entirely unprotected frontier. In every planta-



212 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

tion the houses were scattered over a large territory, and the

only defensive preparations were an occasional private garri-

son, which, in cases of sudden emergency, afforded the neigh-

boring inhabitants a temporary refuge. The able-bodied men

in each town formed a train-band ; but they lived so widely

apart, and there were so many points to guard, that they could

offer but little protection against the desultory and rapid attacks

of their subtle enemy.

The first visitation of their vengeance was upon the family

of Thomas Wakely of Falmouth, about a week after the affray

before mentioned. This unsuspecting family was composed of

Thomas "Wakely and his wife, his eldest son, John, his wife,

who was far advanced in pregnancy, and their four children.

They killed the old man and his wife, his son John and wife,

with three of their children, in a cruel manner, and carried

one daughter, Elizabeth, about eleven years old, into captivity.

Next day Lt. George Ingersoll, who had perceived the smoke,

repaired to the place with a file of soldiers to learn the cause.

He found the body of John's wife and the three children with

their brains beaten out lying under some planks, and the half

consumed bodies of the old man and his wife near the smoul-

dering ruins of the house.

Why this family was selected for a sacrifice we have no

means of determining ; the Indians committed no further vio-

lence, but immediately withdrew to a distant place. The

daughter Elizabeth was some months after carried by Squando,

the Saco Sachem, to Major Waldron at Dover, where she sub-

sequently married Richard Scamman, a quaker. The Wake-

lys came from Cape Ann, and had originally settled in 1661,

at Back Cove, on the west side of Fall Brook, where a son-in-

law, Matthew Coo, died. The eldest son, John, had removed

to the east side- of Presumpscot river several years before the

melancholy event which terminated his life; his farm was

about three-quarters of a mile below the falls, and between the

farms of Humphrey Durham and Jenkiri Williams ; his house
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fronted the river "and stood within abont a gnn shol of said

Durham's house." 1 Eis father and mother from their advanced

age had probably taken up their residence with their eldest

son, or had gone there a1 this time in consequence of the gen-

eral alarm. He is spoken of by Mather as a worthy old man,

"who came into New England for the sake of the gospel," and

had long repented moving into this part of the country so far

out of the way of it.

The inhabitants in the immediate vicinity had probably drawn

oil at this time to a more secure place, as it appears that tnger-

soll who lived at Capisic was the first to visit tin.' scene, drawn

there by discovering the smoke.

The enemy next made an attack upon Saco, where they

burnt the house of Capt. Bonython and the mills of Major

Phillips, with the house of one of his tenants. They were pre-

vented doing further mischief at that time, by the resolute

manner in which the Major defended his garrison. His force

consisted of but ten able-bodied men, while the Indians num-

d from sixty to one hundred. They went from Saco to

Blue Point, where they killed several persons, one of whom
was Robert Nichols, and returning to Saco they committed

further depredations. They then moved westward marking

their way by blood and rapine. They afterward, in
1

October,

returned to this neighborhood, killed Arthur and Andrew
Alger, in Scarborough, with several others, and burnt seven

house- there.
2

1 Hallom's deposition.

2The Algers or Augurs early mmi1.n1 in Scarborough, where they purchased of

[udians a tract of one thousand acres aboul 1651. To this the;

name of Dunston, from the town in England where thej I (Boden's

deposition). The town referred to was probably Dunster or Duustorre, in Som-
ersetshire. Arthur, in the division of the estate, took the northern part, which
was the highesl English settlement in this region; it was separated from his

brother's by a creek or brook
;
he died without issue. Andrew had six children;

three sons, John, An lrev\ v
; and thre d mght >rs, Elizabeth ma

to John Palmer Joanna married first EliasOakman, and second John Mills, who



214 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

Falmouth about the same time was again visited, and a son

of George Ingersoll and another man, as they were fowling,

were both killed. The Indians also burnt Lt. Ingersoll's house

and others in that neighborhood, whose owners are not men-

tioned. The number of houses burnt cannot be ascertained
;

the last attack was probably confined to the vicinity of Capisic,

and we have 110 notice of any houses having been burnt but

Wakely's, those at Capisic, and Robert Jordan's at Spurwink.

They were generally spared it may be conjectured this year,

as we find the inhabitants still lingering among them and be-

coming the victims of more severe calamity the ensuing year.

At what time the attack was made on Spurwink, we no where

find an account ; but Mr. Jordan had barely time to escape

from his dwelling house, when it was destroyed with all its

contents ; Ambrose Boaden, Sen., was probably killed at the

same time ; administration was granted on his estate the next

July ; he lived on the west side of the river opposite Jordan's

house. Jordan moved to Great Island, now Newcastle in

Piscataqua river. It is estimated that from the beginning of

August to the end of November, 1675, there were killed in the

province about fifty English and over ninety Indians.

In November the government of Massachusetts made prepa-

rations to carry the war into the enemy's country, and a force

dwelt in Boston, where she died, and the third married John Austin. John, son

of Andrew, had several daughters, one of whom, Elizabeth, married John Milli-

ken, first of Boston, then of Scarborough, housewright. After the two brothers

were killed, and their houses, barns, and crops destroyed, the family moved to

Boston. Andrew, Jr., was master of a vessel and was killed in Falmouth in 1690,

leaving one daughter, wife of Matthew Collins. Matthew was master of one

of the transports in Sir William Phipp's expedition to Canada, and died of the

fleet fever soon after his return ; he was the last surviving male of that race,

and the name in this branch is extinct in this country. The widow of the first

Andrew married Samuel Walker. Several of Andrew's children were married

and settled near him before his death; first John, then Palmer ;
the others fol-

lowed fronting the marsh in the neighborhood of Dr. Southgate's house, whose

farm is part of the Alger estate.
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was organized to attack the remote settlements at Ossipee

and Pequawkett with a view of disabling them from renewing

their depredations in the spring. But the winter closed in so

early and severely, that it was impossible to make any progress

through the forest, and the enterprise was abandoned. By the

10th of December the snow was four feet deep in the woods,

and was accompanied by such extreme cold weather that the

Indians were driven by their sufferings to sue for peace. For

this purpose a body of them repaired to Major Waldron at

Dover, and terms were mutually agreed upon for the suspension

of hostilities and tor a permanent peace. But the encourage-

ment afforded to the people by this treaty was of short duration,

and the next summer the dreadful tragedy was renewed with

more violence and greater loss of property and life than during

the previous season.

The Indians engaged in these expeditions were from the Saco

and Androscoggin tribes, joined with the wandering sons of the

forest who inhabited the intermediate territory, and acknowl-

edged subjection to neither of those more considerable tribes.

The Sacoes were under the command of Squando, one of the

most artful and daring Leaders in the war. The Androscoggin

tribe was under the guidance of Robinhood, a very prominent

Sagamore. The Penobscots were subsequently engaged in the

war, and, under the direction of Madockawando and Mugg,

performed their full share in the work of desolation and death

which were dealt out so freely to this devoted province.

At the commencement of the year 1075, there were rising

forty families in town, which were distributed in the different

sections as follows: On the east side of Prosumpscot river,

James Andrews, Humphrey Durham, George Pelt, Jane Mac-

worth, Francis Neale, Richard Pike, John Wakely, Jenkin

Williams, and we may add Rebecca Wharff, who had recently

lost her husband. On the west side of the river, were Benja-

min Atwell, John Cloice, Sen., Robert Corbin, Peter Housing,

Robert Nicholson, John Nicholson, and John Phillips. Around
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Back Cove, Anthony Brackett, George Lewis, John Lewis, Philip

Lewis, Phineas Ryder, James Ross, Thomas Skillings, Nathan-

iel Wallis, Thomas Wakely, and Matthew Coe's family. At

Capisic, Thomas Cloice, George, George, Jr., John, and Joseph

Ingersoll, and Richard Powsland. On the Neck, Thomas

Brackett, Thaddens Clark, George Munjoy, and John Mnnjoy;

Elizabeth Harvey at this time was a member of Thomas Brack-

et's family. On the south side of Fore river, Lawrence Davis,

probably Isaac Davis, Joel Madiver, Sampson Penley, Joseph

Phippen, John Skillings, Thomas and Robert Staniford, Ralph

Turner, and John Wallis. At Spurwink, Walter Gendall,

Robert Jordan, and probably John Guy, a faithful vassal of

Jordan. We cannot fix with certainty the location of several

persons whose names follow, Nathaniel and John Cloice, Jr.,

Henry Harwood, a shoemaker ; we are not certain that he lived

here in 1675, but circumstances favor the conjecture ; John

Rider probably lived at Back Cove. We have also some doubt

whether Josiah and Nathaniel White, who lived at Purpooduck,

came until after the war. With respect to George Burroughs,

for a number of years minister of this place, we were for a

long time undetermined upon the question, whether he had

settled here before the destruction of the town or not ; but the

discovery of additional evidence has satisfied us that he must

have* preached in town before that event. The following rec-

ord would seem to determine the question : "At a general meet-

ing of the inhabitants of the town of Falmouth held the 20th

of June, 1683. Whereas there was formerly given to Mr.

George Burroughs, minister, a parcel of land, judged to be

about two hundred acres, and we being driven off by the In-

dians for a time, and in time reinhabiting ; therefore for to

gwe people incouragement to come and settle down among us

in a body, we took part of said Burroughs' land formerly given

him by the people of Falmouth for the end before exprest."

This two hundred acres was on the Neck, east of Robinson's

Point, part of which was taken up on the resettlement in 1680



THE FIRST INDIAN WAR. 217

by the inhabitants. It seems evident from the phraseology

of the instrument that the grant was made previous to the

people having been driven olT by the enemy, and unless Bur-

roughs had been a settler before that event, there would have

been no propriety in saying that a part of his two hundred

acres had been taken for the encouragment of new settlers.
1

Burroughs was graduated at Harvard College in 1570, and

probably commenced his ministry here about 1674, and lived

upon the Neck; but no church was then gathered.

After the war broke out in September, and probably not

until after the destruction of the Wakely family and the slaugh-

ter of young Ingersoll, many of the inhabitants sought refuge

in more settled and secure parts of the country. The Jordan

family went to the Piscataqua, James Andrews and his mother

Macworth went to Boston, and John Phillips to Kittery. But

the greatest number fled to Salem, where, January 11, 1676,

by a vote of the town, they were "admitted with their families,"

"inhabitants during the time of the Indian wars, according to

law." These persons were George Ingersoll, George Ingersoll,

Jr., John Skillings, Goodman Standford, John Wallis, Francis

Neale, and Jenkin Williams, besides a number from Saco and

other towns in the province, to the number of twenty-one. The

record in relation to their admission in Salem is as follows :
2

"These persons above named, being driven from their habita-

tions by the barbarous heathen, are admitted as inhabitants

into the town, they most of them informing they have provi-

sion for themselves and families one year."

By this withdrawal from the scene of action of so many in-

habitants, the victims of the tomahawk were considerably

1 Tliis conjecture has boon rendered still more satisfactory and conclusive by a

letter from 15. Pendleton, of Saco, August I3j 1070. which will be found in a note

in a subsequent part of this chapter, 'Phis speaks of a brief letter written from

under the hand of Mr. Burras, the minister," from the island in Casco, to which

the inhabitants of the town tied. See p. 221.

- From Salem town records, by the favor of William Gibbs, Esq

14
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reduced, but still enough were left to keep the knife of the

sacrifice deeply tinged.

In the summer of 1676, the war was renewed, and all the

tribes from the Piscataqua to the Penobscot were engaged in it.

Several causes have been assigned for the outbreaking at this

time ; one was the death of a child of Squando, supposed to

have been occasioned by the folly of some English seamen

;

another was that some Cape Sable Indians were enticed away

by a few Englishmen and sold for slaves. Another still, was

a general complaint among all the tribes, that the English

were prohibited selling ammunition to the natives, without

which they could not live. None of these causes is sufficient

in itself to account for such a universal rising as occurred at

this time. Some of the Narragansett Indians having been

driven from their own retreat, had fled eastward, and probably

brought with them all the feelings of hostile partisans, stimu-

lated by revenge, and smarting under the loss of property,

country, and friends. It is probable that these wanderers had

promoted a spirit of hostility among the Indians here. And
when they looked back upon the successes of the previous year,

the ease, and almost entire freedom from danger, with which

they spread desolation over the country, they were probably

ready to seize slight pretexts to break their engagements and

renew scenes so congenial to their minds.

The bloody tragedy was commenced on the 11th of August,

at the house of Anthony Brackett, in Falmouth. The leader

in this enterprise was Simon, who had not long before escaped

from Dover prison, where he had been confined for his former

murders, and found his way here by a counterfeit pass. He
had made himself familiar with Brackett and insinuated him-

self into his confidence. On the 9th of August, some neigh-

boring Indians had killed one of Brackett's cows, and Simon

promised that he would bring the offenders to him. Very

early on the morning of the 11th, he returned with a party of

his comrades and told him, they were the Indians who had
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killed his cow ; this party immediately went into the house and

took all the guns they could find. When Brackett asked the

meaning of this, Simon replied that "so it must he," and gave

him his choice to servo them or he killed. Brackett of course

preferred the former alternative, and was hound with his wife

and a negro servant and carried away with their five children.

Nathaniel Mitton,' brother of Brackett's wife, who was then

there, offering some resistance, was killed upon the spot.

Brackett lived upon the large farm at Back Cove now (1831)

owned in part hy Mr. Deering, and his house was on the ridge

a short distance from the mansion occupied hy that gentleman,

now, 1864, hy a portion of his children. From Brackett's they

passed round the cove to Presumpscott river, where they killed

Robert Oorbin, Humphrey Durham, and Benjamin Atwell,

who were making hay on Corbin's farm. The women and

children in one of the neighboring houses hearing the alarm

escaped in a canoe. Corbin's wife with the wife of one of the

others, and the children of the third, were taken captive, as

was also James Ross, the constable of the town, with his wife

and children. They proceeded to other houses in the vicinity,

where they killed some of the inhabitants and made prisoners

of others ; their names are not mentioned. Atwell and Corbin

were brothers-in-law, and lived oh adjoining farms ; Dur-

ham lived on the other side of the river. The alarm was

immediately communicated to another part of the town by

"one Pike," 3 who, with another man, was in his boat on the

river a little above Corbin's house. When they heard the re-

port of the guns they suspected some mischief, and immedi-

ately turned back ; they soon saw an English boy running

toward the river in great haste, and a volley of shot was fired

which passed over their heads. Simon presently appeared and

called to them to come ashore, "but they liked not his curtesy,"

1 He was the only son of Michael Mitton, and died without issue.

- Richard Pike lived on the west side of Muscle Cove ; he had a son Samuel-

A Captain Pike commanded a coaster between Boston and Falmouth in 1688.
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and passing down the river with all speed, when they came

near to their own house they "called to the people to make

haste away toward the garrison-house, and bid the rest look

to themselves and fire upon the Indians that were coming

against them."

These Indians, or some of their party, went over upon the

Neck, where they shot John Munjoy, the eldest s on of George,

and Isaac Wakely, probably a son of Thomas. Three men

who were going to reap at Anthony Brackett's, having heard

from Munjoy and Wakely of the transaction there, left them to

return, when hearing the guns, they turned toward Thomas

Brackett's, who lived near Clark's Point, where they had

left their canoe, having probably crossed over from Purpooduck.

Here they saw Thomas Brackett shot down, and his wife and

children taken ; they then made their escape to Munjoy's gar

rison at the lower end of the Neck, which had become a place

of refuge. Megunnaway, "a notorious rogue," who had been

engaged with the Indians in Massachusetts, in 1675, was one

of the murderers of Thomas Brackett, and probably instigated

them to the bloody deeds of that day.

The persons who had found an asylum in Munjoy's garrison,

not willing to trust the security of the place, fled the same day

to "James Andrews' Island," 1 which lies at the mouth of the

harbor. From this place Mr. Burroughs immediately wrote to

Henry Jocelyn, of Black Point, for succor. After they had

secured themselves upon the island, they recollected that a

quantity of powder had been left in one or two places in town,

which they were desirous of obtaining, as well for their own

protection as to keep it from the hands of the enemy. They

resolved therefore to take measures in the night to recover it.

They succeeded in the attempt, and brought away a barrel

from the house of Mr. Wallis,2 and a considerable quantity

1 Now Bangs' Island.

2 It is not said which Wallis ; Nathaniel lived at Back Cove, and John at Pur-

pooduck.
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from a chest in a storc-liousc ; the Indians had ransacked

the chest, hut had overlooked the powder.

Next day George Lewis, who had remained in his house with

his wife, without interruption, got safe to the island, together

with two men who had been sent by the inhabitants some days

previous to Major Waldron of Dover, to complain of Simon,

against whom suspicion had begun to be aroused. George

Felt also, who lived near Muscle Cove, having seen the smoke

which arose from the burning houses and barns here, had sus-

picions of the cause and took his wife and children in a boat

to ascertain the truth ; •but when he came to a point of land,

probably at the mouth of Presumpscot river, he saw a quantity

of his neighbors' goods lying there, which warned him of his

danger, and he sought safety upon the island with the other

inhabitants.

In this attack upon the town, Hubbard says there were thir-

ty-four persons killed and carried into captivity. The names

of those who were killed as far as we can ascertain, were Ben-

jamin Atwell, Thomas Brackett, Robert Corbin, Humphrey

Durham, Nathaniel Mitton, John Munjoy, and Isaac Wakely

;

the prisoners were Anthony Brackett, his wife, five children, and

a negro servant, Thomas Brackett's wife and three children,

Corbin's wife, the wife of Atwell or Durham, and the children of

the other, and James Ross, with his wife and children, making

seventeen prisoners, exclusive of the unknown number of chil-

dren in the families of Ross and of Atwell or Durham. Others

were killed and captured whose names arc not mentioned. All

upon the Neck probably escaped by the timely notice they had

received, except Munjoy, Wakely, and tin 1
, Brackett family. No

mention is made of any lives having been lost at this time on the

south side of Casco river ; they were undoubtedly admonished

of their danger, by the burning dwellings of their neighbors, in

season to save their lives if not their property. 1

'Tin- fol] tettej writteu by Brian Peudletou. of Saco, lw<.> days afier the
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To what extent the buildings were destroyed, we have no

means of ascertaining. It seems that the houses of Lewis and

Wallis were not burned the first day, as one was visited in the

transaction, with which I have been favored through John Farmer, Esq., who has

the original in his possession, will be read with interest in this connection. It is

superscribed "ffor the Honored Governor and Counsell for the Matacusets at Bos-

ton, With all speed." "Honored Governor together with the Counsell."

"I am sorry my pen must bee the messenger of soe greate a tragedye. On the 11

of this instant wee heard of many killed of our naybors in Falmouth or Casco bay,

and on the 12 instant Mr. Joslin sent mee a briefe letter written from under the

hand of Mr. Burras, the minister. Hee gives an account of thirty-two killed and

carried away by the Indians. Himself* escaped'to an island—but I hope Black

Point men have fetched him off by this time—ten men, six women, sixteen clildren.

Anthonyf and Thomas Brackett and Mr. Munjoy his sonne onely are named. I

had not time to coppye the letter, persons beinge to goe post to Major Walden
;

but I hope he hath before this sent the originall to you, How soon it will be

our portion wee know not. The Lord in mercy fit us for death and direckt ye

harts and hands to ackt and doe wt is most needful in such a time of distress as

this. Thus in hast I commit you to'Gidance of our Lord God and desire your

prayers alsoe for us.

Yours in all humility to serve in the Lord

Winter Harbour at night ) Brian Pendleton."
the 13 of August 1676 <!

On the 20th of August, George Munjoy was sent to Falmouth from Boston,

with fifteen hundred pounds of bread, for the relief of persons there. In their in-

structions to Mr. Munjoy the government say, "Considering the distress the

soldiers may be put into for want of their provisions as also the distress of the

people on Mr. Andrews' Island, you are hereby required forthwith to dispatch

said vessel away without delay and deliver the said bread according to the order

from Mr. Rishworth for the ends Aforesaid and for the speedy relief of those

on the island, the charge whereof is to be borne liy that county." by order of

Council.

Munjoy rendered this service, but not receiving compensation from the ex-

pected source, he petitioned the General Court for allowance in October, 1679.

The following letter from] Richard Martyn of Portsmouth, to Gen. Dcnnison,

contains interesting information relative to this period.

"Honored Sir,

This serves to cover a letter from Capt. Hathorn from Casco Bay, in which you

* Burroughs.

t His .information with respect to Anthony Bracket tVas not correct as we have seen ; the letter

was no doubt written before his fate was ascertained.
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night and the other continued to be occupied until the next

day. Hubbard mentions generally that the houses of those

killed and taken prisoners were burned, we therefore conclude

that those of the two Bracketts, Corbin, Atwell, Ross, and Dur-

ham at least, were destroyed. The houses no doubt, like most

of those of the first settlers in every new country, were of

very ordinary description, probably one story with thatched

roofs and wooden chimneys, many of them mere temporary

shelters built of logs filled in with clay.

The Indians proceeded with their captives from Falmouth

to the Kennebec river. On the 14th of August the war begun

will understand their want of bread, which want I hope is well supplied before

this time; for we sent, them more than two thousand waight; which I suppose

they had last Lord's day night : the boat that brought the letters brings also

word yt Saturday night the Indians burnt Mr. Munjoy's house and seven persons

in it, yt is his house at ye fishing Island. The Sagamore of Pegwackuk is taken

and kil'd and one In. Sampson by our army ; but the enemy is doing mischiefe

apace. On Sabbath day a man and his wife namely one Gouge were shot dead

and stript by ye Indians at Wells. Yesterday at 2 of the clocke Cape Nedick was

wholly cut off only two men and a woman with two or three children escaped,

so yt we expect now to hear of farther mischiefe every day. They send to us

for helpe both Wells and Yorke but we had so many men out of our town yt we

know not how to spare any more. Your speciall speedy order for the impress-

ing some from the Shoales will be of good use at present. Sir please to give

notice to ye Councill yt supply lie sent to ye army from ye Bay for they have

eatin us out of bread, and here is little wheat to be gottin and lesse money to pay

for it. Supplysmay as easily be sent ym from Boston as from hence, and should

there be another army come among us as I suppose there must speedily be wee

shall be very hard put to it to find bread tor them, the Lord direct you and us

in ye great concerns that are before us, which dutifull service presented in haste

1 rem ain

Sr your servant,

Portsmouth Sept. 26, 1676. Richard Martin.

Directed,

To ye Honored Maj. Generall Daniel Denison these present

In Ipswich.

Bast Post Hast.

By an Indian yt was taken the army was informed yt at Pegwacket there are

wenty captives. D. Denison.'
1
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in that quarter, in the first scenes of which, our Indians were

probably not concerned ; Richard Hammond's house was at-

tacked on that day, and himself with Samuel Smith and Joshua

Grant were killed. The Indians then divided, eleven went up the

river and captured Francis Card and his family, the remainder

went down to Arrowsic Island, now Georgetown, took the fort

by surprise, killed Capt. Thomas Lake, one of the chief proprie-

tors, with many others, and wounded several, among whom
was Capt. Silvanus Davis, afterward a prominent inhabitant of

Falmouth. Here they were joined by the Indians from Fal-

mouth and those who went up the river, and laid plans of

future depredations.

It was on this occasion that Anthony Brackett and his family

escaped out of their hands by means of an old birch canoe

which his wife repaired with a needle] and thread found in a

deserted house. Their captors were so anxious to press for-

ward and share in the success of their friends on the Kenne-

bec, that they left Brackett and his family to follow after them.

Hubbard says, "In that old canoe they crossed a water eight

or nine miles broad, and when they came on the south side

of the bay, they might have been in as much danger of other

Indians that had lately been about Black Point and had taken

it ; but they were newly gone ; so things on all sides thus con-

curring to help forward their deliverance, they came safely to

Black Point, where also they met with a vessel bound for

Piscataqua, that came into that harbor but a few hours before

they came thither, by which means they arrived safe in Piscata-

qua river soon after."

The Indians who had collected on Arrowsic in the begin-

ning of September were about one hundred, who having laid

waste the country round, one division went to Sheepscott and

Pemaquid, another made an attack on Jewell's Island. Many

of the inhabitants had fled from the main to this remote island,

as a place of safety, and had trusted too securely in its distance,

without taking sufficient precaution against a sudden invasion.
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There was at this time a fortified house upon the island, but it

was almost without occupants and feebly guarded. Many of

the people were absent procuring provisions for their families,

when the enemy suddenly made their appearance. The occu-

pants of the garrison resolutely defended it, until some who

had been abroad returned "and desperately broke in through

the Indians" to the fort, and prevented its being taken. The

Indians soon after drew off and the inhabitants were relieved by

a government vessel, which was called to their assistance by

some who escaped from the island at the time of the attack,. Sev-

eral of the Indians were killed, and three of the English; two

women and two children were taken captives. The wife of

Richard Polls, who was washing by the water side, was taken

with her children in sight of her husband, who was unable to

afford his family any relief.

On the 23d of September, a number of those persons who

had been driven from Casco and the vicinity, whose names are

not given, except George Felt's, being driven by the distress

which their families were suffering for the necessaries of life,

ventured to go upon Munjoy's Island 1 to procure provisions,

there being a number of sheep there. They had scarcely landed

six or seven men, when the Indians fell suddenly upon them
;

and although they defended themselves with desperate courage

from the ruins of- a stone house, to which they had retreated,

yet they were all destroyed. Felt was much lamented; he

was a useful and enterprising man, and had been more active

against the Indians than any other in this vicinity, lie left

a family, who moved to Chelsea, in which neighborhood his

descendants are yet Living. His wife was a daughter of Jane

Macworth, by whom he had three sons, George, Samuel, and
Jonathan.2

1
1 think Lois is what is now called Bouse tsland. This unfortunate event is

referred to in Martyn's letter, ante. p. 222,

2The fatherofGeoi Fel born inl601; he lived in North Yarmouth
[three yours

. He was one of the Maiden settlers, where he died in 1693 sejed
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As soon as news of the commencement of hostilities reached

the government of Massachusetts, measures were taken to

afford protection and assistance to the inhabitants. One hun-

dred and thirty English and forty friendly Indians were dis-

patched under the command of Captains Hawthorn, Sill, and

Hunting, who were to be joined with such forces as could be

raised in the province. They proceeded by the coast to Fal-

mouth, where the head-quarters of the enemy were supposed

to be. They arrived at Oasco Bay, September 20, and although

every plantation west of it had suffered depredations from the

enemy, they met with but two Indians on their march. One

they killed and the other escaped at Falmouth to Back Cove

and gave notice of the approach of the forces to his comrades,

who had been heard a short time before threshing in Anthony

Brackett's barn. They were thus enabled to escape. This

expedition produced no permanent advantage ; wherever the

troops appeared, the enemy fled from their presence, and

nothing could be found of them but the desolation which they

had caused. They left this part of the country in the begin-

ning of October, and about a week afterward, the Indians

rallied their forces, one hundred strong, and, October 12, made

an assault upon Black Point, The inhabitants had collected

in the garrison of Henry Jocelyn, who endeavored to nego-

tiate a treaty with Mugg, for their safe retreat. When he re-

turned from this service to the garrison, he found the inhabi-

tants had fled to their boats and carried their property with

them, leaving Jocelyn alone with his family and servants ; he

was consequently obliged to surrender at discretion.

'

1 Mr. Farmer has favored me with the following document. "A list of the in-

habitants at Black Point Garrison October 12 1676.

In ye Garison Daniel Moore .Living muskett Italphe Heison

John Tenney shott from ye Mathevv Heyson
Henry Brookin Garison Joseph Oliver

ninety- two. His wife died the same year. The Rev. Joseph B. Felt of Salem

the distinguished antiquarian and historian, is of this family.]
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They next proceeded to Richmond's Island ; a vessel was

lying here belonging to Mr. Fryer, of Portsmouth, which had

been sent, by the solicitation of Walter Gendall, to preserve

the property upon the island. While they were engaged in

this duty, they were attacked by a multitude of the enemy.

Owing to the unfavorable state of the wind, they were unable

to get their vessel out of the harbor ; the enemy seized this

advantage and proceeded to cut the cable of the vessel, while

part of them stood ready to shoot down every man who appeared

on her deck to render any assistance. Under these circum-

stances the vessel was driven on shore, and the crew, consisting

of eleven persons, were taken prisoners. Among them was

James Fryer, son of the owner, a respectable young man of

Portsmouth, who afterward died of wounds received in that

engagement ; also Walter Gendall, who became of service to

the enemy as interpreter and messenger.

Nathaniell Willett

Charles Browne
Edward ffairfield

Hampton & Salisbury
soldiers.

In ye hutts wth Aram-is Sholet
out ye Garison Anthony Roe
but joining to it Thomas Bickford

Robert Tydey
Richard Moore
James Lybbey
John Lybbey
Anthony Lybbey
Samuel Lybbey
George Taylor
James < > _; I . l < >-

Dunken •'ln >ssom
William Sheldon
John Vickers

Rrd. Lassen
Ro'rt Elicit.

ffrancis White
Richard Honeywell
John Howell •

A list of ye names of those \ t ware
prest by vert tie of Capt. Hartherne's
order to be for ye service of ye Garison

of ye inhabitants aforesaid.

ffrancis Shealett

Edward Hounslow

Chris'r Edgecome
John Edgecome
Michael Edgecome

Living thre mus- Robert Edgecome
kett shott from Henry Elkins

ye garison John Ashden
John Warrick
Goodman Luscome
Tymothy Collins

Andrew Broune sen.

Andrew Broune
John Broune
Joseph Broune
Ambrose Bouden

Constable
Tho. Cuming
John Herman
Sam 1 < lakman sen.

John Elson

Peter Hinkson
Ricd. Willin

Join, Symsorj
Tho. < lleauelej

John Cooke
R'rd Burroughs

James Ogleby
John Cocke
Daniel Moore
Dunken Chessom
Richard Burrough
William Barrage.''
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The affair at Richmond's Island was the last in Falmouth,

during the war ; and the war here may be said to have ceased

for the want of victims. Mugg, who had led the Indians in the

two last attacks, seemed now to be desirous of peace, and for

that purpose went to Portsmouth on the first of November,

carrying James Fryer, and offered to enter into a treaty. The

commanding officer there, not being authorized to negotiate,

sent him to Boston, where on the 6th of November, articles of

pacification were entered into with the
.
government, by Mugg,

in behalf of Madockawando and Cheberrina, Sachems of Penob-

scot. Mugg, as a pledge of his fidelity, consented to remain a

hostage until the property and captives were restored.

There was a great reluctance on the part of the Indians to

comply with the terms of the treaty, and on one pretext and

another they evaded the principal articles. They had no

reason thus far to be dissatisfied with the war ; they hao
1

taken

at least sixty prisoners and a large amount of property, and

had lived upon the best fruits of English industry, while they

had lost but very few men. Their range over the country was

now unimpeded, and they had nothing but a dread of future

retribution from the English, to induce them to lay down their

arms. That so small a number of Indians should have been

able to have committed so great depredations and outrages up-

on such a long line of settlements, can only be accounted for

by supposing the energy and judgment of the people to have

been overcome by panic. Although their habitations were

scattered and their preparations for defense feeble, still had they

in the first onset made a resolute resistance, they would have

inspired terror into the enemy instead of feeling it themselves.

It appears from an estimate presented to the committee of the

colonies in England, in 1675, that the militia in Maine, includ-

ing Sagadahock, amounted to seven hundred, of which eighty

were in Casco bay, eighty in Sagadahock, one hundred in

Black Point, one hundred in Saco and Winter Harbor, eighty

in Wells and Cape Porpus, eighty in York, and one hundred
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and eighty in Kittery. J The Indians never had fighting men

to be compared with this number, and yet they entirely de-

stroyed most, and for three years narrassed the remainder of

the settlements in the province.

Madockawando and Squando were the most powerful chiefs

during this war; they arc described by Hubbard as "a strange

kind of moralized savages : grave and serious in their speech,

and not without some show of a kind of religion." "It is also

said they pretend to have received sonic visions and revelations,

by which they have been commanded to worship the great God

and not to work on the Lord's day." These notions are attribu-

ted to their intercourse with Catholic priests. These two cele-

brated persons held in their hands for a time the destinies of the

eastern country. Mugg was the prime minister of the Penob-

scot Sachem, an active and shrewd leader, but who by his

intimacy with English families, had worn off some of the fero-

cities of the savage character.

The attempts at peace in the latter part of 1070, proving

unsuccessful, the war was continued through the next year;

spending its force principally in the western part of the State.

Simon who commenced the tragedy at Casco, was not idle in

its closing scenes. On the lGth of May, a party under Mugg,

attacked the garrison at Black Point, which was resolutely

defended for three days ; in the latter part of which, the active

leader of the beseigers having been killed, the scige was precipi-

tately abandoned. This ill success was however revenged on the

same spot in the following month, when a large force having been

sent to that place, withoul experience in the kind of warfare,

were drawn into an ambuscade and nearly all destroyed.

1 The daily pay of the militia who served in this war was for a general, sis

shillings; captain, five shillings; commissary general, four shillings ; surgeon

general, four shillings ; lieutenant, four shilling : ensign, four shillings-; ser-

geant, two shillings six pence; corporal, two shillings
;
private, one shilling six

pence.— Ch diner's Annuls, Indian coin was from two shillings six pence to three

shillings a bushel. A cow. forty-five shilling?.

—

Motion's Memorandum, p. 460.
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In the summer, the enemy were checked near the seat of

their power by the interference of Major Andross, Governor of

New York, who sent a force to protect the interest of the Dake

of York in his province. He established a strong garrison at

Pemaqnid, which overawed the Indians of that neighborhood
;

the next spring they made proposals to the government for

peace, and commissioners were appointed to treat with them.

The commissioners, Messrs. Shapleigh and Champernoon, of

Kittery, and Fryer, of Portsmouth, proceeded to Casco, where

they met the Indians, and mutually signed articles of peace on

the 12th of April, 1678. By this treaty the people were per-

mitted to return to their habitations, and it was agreed that

they should occupy them without molestation, paying annually

to the Indians one peck of corn for each family, except Major

Phillips, of Saco, who having a larger estate, was required to

pay one bushel annually. The captives were all restored, and

an end was put to a relentless war, in which whole families

were sacrificed, human nature exposed to detestable cruelties,

and property wantonly destroyed. The doom of Falmouth was

pronounced at once ; it was not called to transient and often

repeated suffering, but after the unhappy fate of the Wakely

family it was crushed by a single blow, and I do not find one

trace of its having been reoccupied until the peace. Some

of the persons from Falmouth who were taken captives, will be

briefly noticed ; we have already spoken of the escape of

Anthony Brackett and his family ; the wife of Thomas Brack-

ett perished in the first year of her captivity ;* her three chil-

dren survived, and afterward lived in Greenland. James Ross

and his family were restored and afterward lived in Falmouth.

1 She was Mary, a daughter of Michael Mitton ;
her children were Joshua, who

died in Greenland, and was father of our townsmen, Anthony and Joshua, who

owned the large tract of land extending from Clark's Point across the Neck to

Back Cove. Her other children were Sarah, who married John Hill of Ports-

mouth, and Mary, married to Christopher Mitchell, of Kittery. They did not

return to Falmouth. [Anthony and Joshua, Jr., returned on the resettlement Of

Hie town and died here, leaving large families.]
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Walter Gendall was subsequently an inhabitant of Falmouth,

and then of North Yarmouth, where he was killed. He had

exposed himself to suspicion, while a prisoner among the enemy,

of haying betrayed the English, and was tried for the offense at

Boston in September, ld77. The record is as follows: -Walter

Gendall of or near Black Point being presented and indicted by

the grand jury, and left to trial, was brought to the bar and was

indicted by the name of Walter Gendall, for not having the

fear of God before his eyes, and being instigated by the devil,

in the time of the war with the Indians, in a perfidious and

treacherous way, against the inhabitants of this colony's peace

and safety, sought to betray them into the enemy's hands, by

his endeavour and counsel, contrary to the peace of our sover-

eign lord the king, his crown and dignity, and the law of this

commonwealth—To which indictment he pleaded not guilty,

and referred himself for his trial to the bench. The magis.

trates having duly weighed the indictment, and the evidences

in the case produced against him, found him guilty of the

indictment, and do therefore sentence him to run the guante-

lope through the military companies in Boston on the 10th inst.

with a rope about his neck ; that he forfeit all his lands to the

country, and be banished out of this jurisdiction, to be gone

by the 0th day of October next, on penalty of perpetual im-

prisonment if he return again, and discharging the costs and

charges of this prosecution." What was the nature of the

offense for which this severe punishment was inflicted, does not

appear; that there was some misinformation to the court about

it, may be inferred from the fact that he was soon after re-

stored to the possession of his lands and to public confidence.

In July, 1680, we find him acting as one of the commissioners

of Falmouth ; in 1681, he was appointedjjy President Danforth

to regulate the settlement of North Yarmouth ; in 1083, Fort

Loyal, in Casco, was committed to his care, and in 1684 he

was deputy to the General Assembly of this province. Gen-

dall's name occurs first in Falmouth, as a juryman, in 1666;
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in 1GG9, he exchanged farms with Michael Madivcr, of Black

Point, and is then called "Planter, dwelling in the town of Fal-

mouth." June 3, 1680, he bought of George Felt, Sen.,. of

Casco, planter," one hundred acres "on the westward side of

George Felt's ould house in Casco bay ;" this tract adjoined

Falmouth line, and was afterward occupied by Gendall. [He

was killed in the subsequent war, as will be seen hereafter.]

Among the persons who were driven from Falmouth and did

not return, was the Rev. Robert Jordan. This ancestor of the

numerous race of Jordans, ended his active and uneasy life at

Portsmouth, N. EL, in 1679, in the sixty-eighth year of his age.

His will was made at Great Island, in Piscataqua river, Jan-

uary 28, and proved July 1, 1679. He had lost the use of his

hands before his death and was unable to sign his will. He

left a widow, Sarah, the only daughter of John Winter, and

six sons, viz : John, Robert, Dominicus, Jeclediah, Samuel, and

Jeremiah. In his will he confirmed to his sons John and Rob-

ert, the land that he had previously conveyed to them, which

was situated at Capo Elizabeth ; John had Richmond's Island. 1

He bequeathed to his wife "the ould plantation" in Spurwink,

containing one thousand acres, and lying between the lands of

his sons John and Dominicus ; and also the Nonsuch farm in

Scarborough, containing two thousand acres. To Dominicus

he bequeathed one thousand acres at Spurwink, adjoining the

old plantation ; to Jedediah, one thousand acres, and to Samuel

eleven hundred acres, both at Spurwink. The particulars of

the various bequests may be found in the will which we have

reserved for the Appendix.2

Jordan has been so often noticed in the preceding pages, that

it will not be necessary to speak particularly of him now. For

1 Robert Jordan conveyed "Richman's Island" to his son John, January 25,

1G77, in consideration of ten pounds, a legacy from his grandfather Winter; he

made the conveyance as administrator of Winter.

2 See Appendix, No. 6.
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more than thirty years he occupied a large space in the affairs

of the town, and of the province. He was an active, enter-

prising man, and placed by education above the mass of the

people with whom he connected himself. Although he came as

a religious teacher, the affairs of the world and gratification of

ambitious views appear soon to have jftjsorbed the most of his

attention and to have alienated him from his profession.* His

posterity for many years exercised very great influence in the

concerns of the town, and long maintained a high standing in

the province. They are still very numerous and respectable.

John and Robert did not fix their permanent residence here
;

the former married Elizabeth, daughter of »Elias Stileman, of

Portsmouth, in 1G77 or 1GT8 ; and Robert conveyed to Nathaniel

Fryer, of Portsmouth, July 14, 1679, "the land in Cape Eliza-

beth which he received of his father." Part of the "ould

plantation" is now owned and occupied by Dominicus, the

great grandson of Dominicus, the third son of the first Robert,

who from his great age and activity being now (1831) ninety-

one years old, is called by way of distinction "Old Stuff." 1 He

* [I am fortunately able to furnish from an original document in my possession,

a specimen of the hand-writing and signature of this very prominent man.

(Robert Jordan with date, etc.)

1 This family is rather peculiar for distinctive epithets, which have been applied

to its members, probably from the number who have borne similar names.

Jeremiah, a grandson of Robert was called French Jeremy, from his having been

taken a prisoner by the French ; another was called "Cock Robin" Jordan. With-

in a few years there were nine by the name of Nathaniel Jordan, living at the

same time, in Cape Elizabeth, who were distinguished by divers epithets,

15
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points with pride to the scenes around him, dear to his affec-

tions by being associated with the feats and names of his

ancestors. The first Dominicus was killed in 1703, by the In-

dians, with a hatchet, and his wife and children carried to

Canada ; his eldest son Dominicus was thirteen years in Cana-

da, and then ran away f his name frequently occurs in the later

transactions of the town ; he attained the rank of Major and

died in 1749, aged sixty-six ; his son Dominicus, died in 1788,

aged seventy-two ; the fourth Dominicus, eldest son of the

last, is still living, the oldest man in the town, having been

born April 19, 1740, old style. The first Dominicus married

Hannah, a daughter of Ralph Tristram of Saco, and some of

their posterity have for many years filled a respectable place

in the annals of that town.*

* [After a period of a third of a century since the original publication of this

work, we have little to add to what lias been already said of Robert Jordan, one of

the most prominent and influential gentlemen in the early annals of western Maine.

The name is quite common in Great Britain ; it exists in Ireland, AVales, and sev-

eral counties in England, as it is written here; and there are also families who spell

it Jordaine, Jordayne, Jorden, Jordin, and Jordqn. The Jordan who first settled in

Wales was of Anglo Norman origin, one of the companions of Mertine de Tours in

the time of the conquest. It is probable that Rev. Robert Jordan came from Dor-

setshire or Somersetshire, the hive from which so many of our settlers came

;

there the name is quite common. A Robert Jordan married a Cokers in Blandford,

county of Dorset, and had Robert Jordan, who became a merchant in Melcomb,

also of Dorsetshire, and married, it is supposed, into the Fitzpen or Phippen

family ; their coat of arms was nine daggers on a shield, a lion rampant in the

center, etc. The Dorsetshire and Somersetshire families have on their shields

a lion rampant ; the Wiltshire family have a bent arm holding a dagger. The

residence of Jordan here, may have attracted the Phippens to the same place.

Mr. Jordan was born in 1611 ; the precise time of his coming over we do not

know ; he was here in 1610 ; he was then a surety for T. Purchase, at which

time he was twenty-nine years old. In 1611, he was one of the referees between

Winter and Cleeves, from which we infer he was not then married to Winter's

daughter. He probably came in one of Mr. Trelawny's regular traders to Rich-

mond's Island ; the bark Richmond came in 1639, the Herculesin, 1C11, and

the Margery in 1642, and perhaps before. All his sons were born before 1664.

His wife survived him and was living at Newcastle in Portsmouth harbor in 1686.

Edward Godfrey, the first settler of York and sometime governor of the western
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A notice of the second marriage of Anthony Brackctt which

occurred in 1079, carries us back to his first wife, Ann, the

daughter of Michael Mitton. The skillful escape of herself and

family from captivity, which Hubbard ascribes to her penetra-

tion and fortitude, places her in the rank of heroic women.

The language of Shakespeare is not forcible enough to describe

the canoe with which the family crossed Casco bay.

"A rotten carcase of a boat, not rigg'd,

Nor tackle, sails, nor mast ; the very rats

Instinctively had quit it."

The time of her death is not ascertained ;^the escape was in

August, 1G76, and the subsequent marriage was before Septem-

ber 30, 1679. Her children were Anthony, Seth, Mary, Elinor,

and Kezia ; the latter was an infant when they were captured

;

it does not appear that she had any other.

The notice to which we have referred is an agreement be-

tween Brackett and Abraham Drake, to which, from its unusual

character, we have given place. "Articles of agreement made
and concluded on between Anthony Brackett, Jr., of Casco bay,

on the one party, and Abraham] Drake, Sen., of Hampton,

s
part of the state, and who was long associated with Jordan as a magistrate,

speaks of him in a letter to the government at home, March 14, 1660, as having

long experience in the country, "equal with any in Boston," and adds 'an ortho-

dox devine for the church of England, and of great parts and estate."

Of his six sons, John was appointed by Governor Andrews in 1680, a special

justice for Pemaquid, although he was then residing at Richmond's Island, for

Andross addressed a letter to him September 15, 1680, as follows : ^"To Justice

Jordain atl Richmond Island neare Casko Bay." Robert the second son, in a

deed dated December 18, 160-j, to Robert Elliott, styles himself of Great Island

in New Castle. In a deed, November 12, 1685, he and his wife Eliza, join in a

conveyance and call themselves of Cape Elizabeth ; he probably remained here

till the second Indian war, and then left not to return.

The family of Dominicus, third son of Robert, is the only one, so far as I have

been able to ascertain, who remained on the soil of their fathers ; his descen-

dants still continue to cultivate the paternal acres. His great-grandson Domini-

cus, mentioned in the text as "Old Stuff," and living in 1831, died in 1834, at the

age of ninety-four, having had a family of ten children, five sons and five daugh-

ters, all of whom lived to maturity. His wife was Susanna Simonton.]
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in the county of Norfolk, N. E.—Whereas the said Anthony

Brackett, widower, is lately joined in marriage with Susannah

Drake, single woman, and the eldest daughter of the said

Abraham Drake, of Hampton, therefore know ye, that I, the

said Anthony Brackett, have covenanted and agreed, and by

these presents do covenant and agree to and with the said

Abraham Drake, as a feoffee in trust for and in behalf of the

said Susannah, my present wife, that I do by these presents

instate the said Susannah by way of jointure one half of all

my lands and housing, which I have in Casco bay, or shall

have according to the true estimation and value thereof, for her

free jointure during her natural life, and to be and to remain

to her and her male heirs begotten of her body by me, said

Anthony Brackett, her present husband. Having made this

promise before marriage, I do consent to it with my hand and

seal, and what the Lord shall add unto my estate during our

natural lives together ; made at Black Point, September 30,

1679. Witness, Thomas Scottow."*

* [Robert Drake, the ancestor, came to this country from Devonshire, England,

where he was born 1580. He settled in Exeter, 1635, Hampton, 1649, and died

there 1668. His son Abraham, the person above mentioned, was born in Eng-

land, 1620. He lived in Hampton and by his wife Jane had Susannah, Abraham

born 1654, died June 1714, Robert, Sarah, Elizabeth, Mary, Hannah. Susannah

married Anthony Brackett and had Jane, Zipporah, Zachariah, Ann, and

Susannah. The last Susannah married Samuel Proctor.]

Note—The following persons were living in Casco bay, out of the limits of

Falmouth in 1675 ; we do not avouch the catalogue to be complete, but it con-

tains all the names that we have met with. Richard Bray and John his son,

John Cousins, Wm. Cocke, Henry Donnell, Nicholas Cole, George Felt, Moses

Felt, John Holman, Wm. Haynes, Thomas Haynes, Robert Gutch, James Lane,

John Maine, James and John Mosier, Richard Pattishall, Richard Fotts, Thomas

Purchase, 1 James Purrington, Elinor Reading, widow of Thomas Reading, Wm.

Royall and his sons, William and John, John Sears, Thomas Stevens, Alexander

Thwoit,2 Thomas Wise, and Nicholas White.

1 Purchase lived at Brunswick.

2 Thwoit lived on the point formed by Merrymeetingbay and the Kennebec. [Royall and his sons

lived in North Yarmouth on an island belonging to that town. The father was ancestor to the

wealthy refog f the same name in Medford, 1 7 7 r.
.

J
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A dispute arose between the children of the two marriages

respecting this property; one claimed it by virtue of the jointure,

while the other contended that it belonged to their mother,

and consequently that their father had not power to alienate

or entail it. It was finally adjusted by an amicable division.



CHAPTER VIII.

Purchase of Maine by Massachusetts—Government—Resettlement of Falmouth—Danforth's

grants, other titles on the neck—grants by the town—sllvanus davis—munjoy's death

and family—first tavern, seacomb, jones, cloice—death of mrs. harvey and george lewis

—Geo. Burroughs.

While the government of Massachusetts was engaged in

resisting the incursions of their savage foe upon their whole

frontier, they were summoned to defend their civil privileges and

the integrity of their territory. Their enemies in England had

besieged the ear of the king and so far abused it as to create a

prejudice in relation to that colony, which occasioned its friends

no little anxiety. A quo warranto was issued, and they were

required by a letter from the king, dated March 10, 1676, to

send over agents to answer the charges exhibited against them.

This command was complied with, and the agents sailed in

October, 1676. They were so far successful as to procure a

confirmation of the charter with its original bounds, but the

jurisdiction of Massachusetts over Maine and New Hampshire

was annulled, and those provinces respectively restored to the

heirs of Gorges and Mason.

When this decision reached the colony, its government ever

watchful over its interests, immediately took measures to secure

the province of Maine, of which this decision deprived them.

For this purpose they employed John Usher, a merchant of

Boston, to negotiate with Mr. Gorges, a grandson of Sir Ferdi-
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nando, for the purchase of his propriety. This undertaking

was successfully accomplished, and Usher received a deed of

the whole province from Piscataqua to Sagadahoc, in 1G77,

which on the 15th day of March, 1G78, he by indenture con-

veyed to the government and company of Massachusetts for

twelve hundred and fifty pounds sterling. 1 This ended all

controversy between Massachusetts and the Gorges family re-

specting the soil and government of Maine ; but not so with

the English government, to whom the transaction gave great

offense. The latter contended that the jurisdiction over a

colony or province was inalienable, and that by the conveyance,

although Massachusetts might have acquired a right to the

soil, she acquired none to the government, which consequently

reverted to the crown. And they went so far as to require

an assignment of the province from Massachusetts on being

paid the purchase money. But the government of the colony

kept steady to their purpose, justified their purchase as hav-

ing been done by the desire of the inhabitants, and were

wholly silent on the subject of the reconveyance.2 The sub-

ject was continually agitated, until it was finally settled by the

charter of 1691, which not only included the province of

Maine, but the more remote provinces of Sagadahoc and Nova

Scotia.

After the purchase of Maine, many persons in Massachusetts

were desirous of selling the province to defray the expense of

defending it during the late war, which was estimated at eight

thousand pounds. A committee of the General Court was ap-

pointed for this purpose, but the vote was reconsidered, before

any further measures were taken on the subject.

1 Hutchinson says the price was twelve hundred pounds, lmt Usher's deed to

Massachusetts, on York Records, expresses the sum of twelve hundred and fifty

pounds, as the consideration. Richard West's report in "Chalmers' opinions of

Eminent Lawyers."

2 The agents in 168:2 were authorized to give up the deeds of Maine, if it would

he t lie means of saving tho charter, otherwise not.

—

Hutchinson, vol. i. p. 303.

The sacrifice did not become necessary.
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It now became necessary to adopt a new form of government

for the province, since the jurisdiction was no longer claimed

as a matter of right under the patent of Massachusetts, but as

proprietor by right of purchase. She was no longer to be rep-

resented in the General Court as an integral part of her char-

tered territory, but a local proprietary government was to be

established over the province, such as was authorized by the

charter to Gorges.

In pursuance of this plan, Thomas Danforth, then exercising

the office of deputy governor of Massachusetts, was appointed

President of Maine in 1680, and invested with powers for its

government in subordination to its new proprietor. He repaired

to York in March, 1680, proclaimed his authority, exhibited

his commission, and constituted a government composed of a

deputy president, a council, and an assembly consisting of

the representatives of the people. The first General Assembly

was held March 30, 1680, at York.

It cannot be disguised that this state of things was not

agreeable to many persons in the province, and they did not

cordially submit to it. In 1680 a petition was transmitted to

the king signed by one hundred and fifteen persons living in

different parts of the province, remonstrating against the new

government, and praying to be restored to his immediate au-

thority. Sixteen at least of the petitioners lived in Falmouth.

They complain of the imposition of a tax of three thousand

pounds upon the three towns of Wells, Kittery, and York, as

an intolerable burden after the heavy losses sustained during

the late Indian war. 1 [The General Court at their sessions in

May, 1680, addressed a letter "To the inhabitants of Casco,

within the province of Maine," to calm the agitation which was

existing there. They say, "Gentlemen and loving friends. We
are informed that some disturbance hath been given you in

1 This documenl is in the 1st vol. of the collections of the Maine Historical

Societv.
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your resettling by the threatenings of some persons, whose prac-

tises cannot be warranted by his majesty's royal charter, granted

to Sir F. Gorges, Knight, who was the first proprietor of said

province, and the right whereof is now invested in ourselves.

These are to signify unto you, that as we have taken order for

the settling government according to the charter, so our care

will be for the protection, etc. And for the better government

and security, have made a grant of a township upon the north

side of your bay (North Yarmouth) and are consulting the

peopling and improvement of the islands adjacent." They add,

that on being informed they will do whatever "is necessary for

the security of your peaceable settlement," and close their con-

ciliatory epistle by commending them to Almighty God "and

are your loving friends."]

In the first General Assembly all the towns in the province

were represented but Cape Porpus, Scarborough, and Falmouth;

Walter Gendall appeared from the latter town, but having no

certificate of his election was not allowed a seat. Anthony

Brackett was appointed by the court, Lieutenant of Falmouth,

and Thaddeus Clarke, Ensign.

Soon after the peace concluded at Casco, April 12, 1078, the

inhabitants begun to return to their desolate lands. On the

13th of November of that year, Edward Allen, of Dover, N. H.,

conveyed to George Bramhall, of Portsmouth, all that tract of

land, which George Cleeves had sold to his father, Hope Allen,

in 1660, except fifty acres which he had previously disposed

of. The whole tract contained four hundred acres, extending

westerly to Round Marsh at the narrow of the Neck, and in-

cluded the hill which now bears the name of its old proprietor.

Bramhall was a tanner ; he moved here in 1680, and estab-

lished a tannery upon the flat under the hill near the entrance

upon Vaughan's bridge, where the remains of the vats may
still be traced.

Anthony Brackett, as we have seen by the extract relating

to his second marriage, had returned in 1679 ; and it is proba-
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ble that most of the ancient settlers whose property and means

of support were here, came back on the conclusion of peace.

A fort was erected on the point at the foot of King 1

street, called

Fort Loyall. At this fort President Danforth held a court in

September, 1680, for the purpose of settling the inhabitants in

a more compact manner than heretofore, the better to enable

them to resist future attacks of the Indians. The record of his

proceedings at this time, although imperfect, we shall borrow

entire from York Registry ; his grants covered that part of

Portland now of the most value, and the center of trade. He
appropriated the soil under Massachusetts as chief proprietor,

and we have met with but one instance which will be hereafter

noticed, the case of the Munjoy title, in which compensation

was demanded and awarded. The record is as follows ; "At

fort Loyall in Falmouth 23 7br 1680 Granted unto the persons

whose names are hereunder written, houselots upon the neck

of land near the fort viz

:

1. To Mr. Bartholomew Gedney on the westerly side of the

cove one lot in breadth against the cove about six rods more

or less as now marked, reserving for a highway against the

cove four rods in breadth, and the said lot to be in length twenty

rods and on the southerly side of the highway to have the

privelege of the cove for wharfing. 2

"2. To John Ingerson one lot lying next to Mr. Gedney's

westerly, of like breadth, length, and conditions in all respects.

3. To George Ingerson one lot.

4. " John Marston " "

5. " Isaac Davis " "

6. " Francis Nichols " "

1 Now India Street.

2 Gedney never was an inhabitant ; he was a great land speculator here and at

North Yarmouth ; he lived in Salem. He afterward sold his grant to Silvanus

Davis. The lot extended back to what is now called Sumner street, originally

named Fleet si reel, afterward Turkey lime. The cove here mentioned is Clay

cove.
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7. To Thomas Mason one lot.

8. " Samuel Ingcrson " "

All these on the west side of the cove, breadth and length as

the others. Further it is granted to Mr. Gedney, George In-

gerson, and John Ingerson, that instead of sixty acres apiece

accomodation on some of the islands, they shall be allowed

the like quantity in the place where George Ingerson's corne

milne standeth. The like grant is made to Francis Nicholls,

Thomas Mason and Joseph Ingerson, Lt. George Ingerson,

Samuel Ingerson, and John Wheelden.

9. To John Skillin his house lot as now marked.

10. " Joseph Ingerson one house lot.

11. " Lt. George Ingerson his house lot.

Memo. Highways are to be allowed sufficient to the milne

and between each lot, etc.

"Lots granted on the east side of Broad street.2

1. To Daniel Smith, the first lot next to the fort.*

2. " Win. Clemens the second lot.

3. " John Lowell (or Powell) the third lot.

(4th and 5th arc blank.)

6. " Henry Ingalls:i the Gth lot.

"And it is granted liberty of wharfage and building ware-

houses on the east of the fort tinder the rocks, not prejudicing

the benefit of the fort for the security of the water ; Daniel

Smith to begin and the rest in order.

Lots laid out on the west side of Broad street.

To Capt. Edward Tyng the first lot.

1 The mill here noticed was probably al Capisic, and is no doub the same

before noticed as George IngersolTs. [ngersoll afterward had a corn mill on

Barberry Creek in Cape Elizabeth.

- Now India street.

* [The fort was on the point which the Grand Trunk Station-house now occu

pieSj and called Fort Loyal
]

3 Two persons, Henry [ngalls, Sen. and .Tun., were living in Salem in lf>96.
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To Henry Harwood the second lot.

" Michael Farley jr. the third lot.

" Augustine John the fourth lot, with liberty in the cove

drmerit for a brick yard. 1

Lots granted against the -Great Bay.2

To Capt Silvanus Davis the first lot westward.

" Mr John Jacob the second lot.

" Ensign Nathaniel Jacob the third lot,

" Robert Greenhaugh the fourth lot.

" These are to run up as high as the north side of the sixth

lot against Broad street and to divide the land at the north end

between the said lots and Mr. Munjoy's equally as to breadth.

"To Mr. Munjoy the 5th lot, being twenty rods front upon

the water side and to run up the same breadth twenty rods on

north side of his barne, the highway cross excepted.

"It is also ordered that there shall be an highway three rods

wide left against the water side toward the meeting-house,3 and

1 John or Jeau was a Frenchman aud purchased of widow Housing a small lot

west side of Presumpscot river, where he lived. I had some doubt whether John

Gustin and Augustine John were not the same person ; the descendants of John

Gustin are numerous here. The word arment is so in the record ; it was probably

incorrectly copied. As this lot extended down to Clay Cove, the grant was doubt-

less intended to convey a privilege on the cove in the rear of the lot for the pur-

pose of making bricks. [I am informed by the learned antiquary, James Savage

of Boston, that Augustine John or Jean, as it is first written, was not a Frenchman,

but a native of the Isle of Jersey, where his parents died.*5
? He sold his estate in

Jersey in 1677. He came first to Reading, Mass., and was a soldier in the latter

part of Phillip's war. In January, 1678, he married Eliza, a daughter of John

Brown of Watertown. The name was gradually changed from Augustine Jean

to Augustine John first, and then to John Gustin, by which his numerous de-

scendants in Portland and vicinity are now called. He left a widow and seven

children.]

2 The bay between fort point at the foot of King street and Jordan's point ; at

the north-westerly part of this bay was the town landing ; the beach was in later

times called Moody's beach.

3 The meeting-house stood on the point then called meeting-house point, now

Jordan's. [The site is now occupied by the Railroad Co's works.]
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the land between said highway and low-watcr-mark shall

belong to the owners of said lots. Also it is ordered that the

landing place at the head of great cove shall remain in com-

mon to the town as it is now staked out ; and the line on the

south side of the highway between said lots shall run parallel

to the bounds of the cove reserved in common.

To Mr. Saltonstall 1 for Meshac Farley, the next lot eastward

to Mr. Munjoy.

To Mr. Saltonstall one lot more adjoining to Meshac Farley.

These last two lots to be in length northward twenty poles.

"23 September, 1680, by Thomas Danforth, President, Fort

Loyall 23 7h. 1680. These within and above written orders

being read to the selectmen of the town of Falmouth, they mani-

fested jointly their full and free consent thereto. Present Lt.

Anthony Brackett, Mr. John Walley (Wallis), Lt. George

Ingerson, Ensign Thaddeus Clarke.

"Also there is granted to John Skillin one house lot on the

west side of the lot where his house now standeth and is staked

out, and also the lands that were his father's at Back Cove are

confirmed to him ; also a parcel of meadow land about three

aercs more or less situated above a milnc at Capisio river is

confirmed to him, the which land he was to have had by pur-

chase of Nathaniel Wallis."

It was Danforth's object to prepare a settlement here which

should contain within itself the means of defense, and having

accomplished this point, as he supposed, by making grants

around the fort in every direction, he paid no regard to the out-

lands. It was one of the conditions of each grant of a house

lot, that the grantee should make improvements upon it by

building ; we consequently find that a village arose at once,

where before was little else than an unfrequented forest. The

grantees whose names follow, did not reside here, viz : Gedncy,

1 Nathaniel Saltonstall was one of the magistrates of Massachusetts, and was

here at this time with Danforth.
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John Marston, Mason, Smith, Clemens, Lowell, Ingalls, John 1

and Nathaniel Jacob, Robert Greenhaugh, and Farley. Ged-

ney and Mason lived in Salem, the former sold his house lot to

Silvanus Davis, the latter to Peter Morrill, who respectively

improved them ; John Jones improved Farley's on India street.

The eleven lots laid out on the west side of Clay Cove are

supposed to have extended about seventy rods, which would

carry them to about where Union street now is, and back to

Middle street, which was not] then laid out, but was probably

the place reserved for a highway to the mill. We are able

to locate but a part of the eleven lots ; G-edney's is sufficiently

described in the grant as lying next to the cove, and John

Ingersoll's next. George Ingersoll's extended westerly to

where Willow street now is ; his son Daniel occupied it and

sold it to Moses Pearson, whose heirs or assigns now improve

it. The lot of Lt. George Ingersoll, the father of the before

named George, was situated on the east side of Exchange

street ; Samuel Ingersoll's adjoined it, on the east, and Joseph

Ingersoll's on the west. The lots of Marston, Isaac Davis,

Mason, and Nicholls, undoubtedly lay between John Ingersoll's,

the second from Clay Cove, and George Ingersoll's on Willow

street. Marston's heir living in Salem, sold his ancestor's lot

to Samuel Moody in 1719, and described it as adjoining Isaac

and Silvanus Davis's.

On the west side of India street, the first lot was Capt. Ed-

ward Tyng's, nearly opposite the fort, of which for a time he

was commander, and extended from India street to Clay Cove;

the next was Henry Harwood's, who was a Lieut. ; next came

Michael Farley, Jr., who does not appear to have lived here,

John Jones improved the lot , Farley was living in Ipswich in

1730 ; Augustine John's lot came next, which was improved

1 A John Jacob was the first deacon of the church in Cohasset in 1721, an aged

and very worthy man.

—

History of Cohasset. In the war of 1688, a person of the

same name was commissary for the troops in Maine. A family of this name was

implicated in the witchcraft tragedy of Salem, in 1692. Ephraim Marston settled

here; he afterward lived in Salem ; he may have taken John's place.
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by Wm. Pierce. 1 These four Lota bring us to Middle street, on

the opposite side of which was the land of Thomas Cloice, ex-

tending north to Fleet street, [now, lSi'.l, Sunnier street,] he

had a, house on the lot. From Fleet to Queen, now Congress

street, Silvanus Davis had a tract containing two and a half

acres which was surveyed to him in D>87.

We have nol been able to ascertain that the lots on the east

side of India street were occupied by the persons to whom they

were granted. Their names are nor familiar in our history,

and we conjecture that they and some others who received

grunts, were persons who accompanied Danforth in his expe-

dition and received lots as gratuities or under the expectation

that they would settle here. The lots lying on the great bay,

as it was called, east of India street, which at this time and long

afterward were the most, valuable spots in town, were occu-

pied as follows : 1st. Richard Seacomb', who may possibly have

taken the lot granted to Daniel Smith or William Clemens on

India street. Jonathan Orris, blacksmith, and John Brown

adjoined Seacomb, and probably extended up India street ; but

next, and the first cm the bay came Silvanus Davis, whose lot

was one hundred and forty-seven feet front and extended back

six hundred and thirty feet, to the burying-ground, which occu-

pied a small spot in the south-westerly part of the present

eastern cemetery. On this spot Davis had a dwelling house

in which he lived, and a warehouse, the most extensive in this

part of the country in 1687. The Munjoy family occupied that

part of tin; Xeck east of Davis's, and Robert Lawrence who

married Munjoy's widow, built a stone house upon the brow

of the hill near the old breast work, where he lived until the

second overthrow of the town, in which he perished.

In looking at the upper pari of the Neck, within the present

1 Pierce was heir of Launcelol Pierce of Pejepscot; his "mother was daughter

of Thomas Stevens of the same territory ; he boughl the lot above mentioned of

Samuel Webber, November _l. 1683. After the destruction of the town, ho lived

in Milton, Mas-.
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limits of Portland, we find Bramhall's large farm covering

nearly the whole western extremity ; next on the eastern side

were forty-five acres, part of the estate of Nathaniel Mitton,

which his administrator, John Graves, sold to Silvanus Davis,

John Phillips of Charlestown, John Endicott, and James Eng-

lish of Boston, in 1686
;

l
it extended from Fore river across

the neck. It is now occupied under the original title. Next

came the large tract extending down the river to Robison's

point,* occupied by Mrs. Harvey, Michael Mitton's widow, and

her son-in-law Thaddeus Clarke, whose house was on the bank

of the river just above the point which bears his name and

where the cellar may still be found, 1831. Clarke subsequently

conveyed to Edward Tyng, who married his daughter Elizabeth,

forty-four acres of this tract, which extended from the river

north-westerly across where Congress street now is. Tyng had

this lot surveyed in 1687, and then had three houses upon it,

in one of which he lived. Next were three acres which Mrs.

Harvey sold to Richard Powsland in 1681 ; then Anthony

Brackett had five acres, which he sold to Peter Bowdoin in

1687 ; next came a lot belonging to Nicholas Bartlett, the ex-

tent of which we have not succeeded in ascertaining ; then

three acres belonging to Capt. Tyng ; next two acres belonging

to Joseph Hodgdon, sold to James Mariner in 1686. After

these came the thirty acres confirmed by the town to George

Burroughs, the minister, in 1683. Of this thirty acres Bar-

roughs sold twenty-three to Peter Bowdoin in 1688, lying

between Fore river and Back Cove a few rods above Center

street; the remaining seven acres extending about Cotton and

Center streets, he conveyed to John Skillings in 1683, in ex-

1 This was a company which engaged in very large speculations in this town

between the years 1680 and 1690.

* [This point is at the foot of Park street and was known in subsequent con-

veyances as the "Point of rocks," from the ledge which extended there. It was

afterward owned by Capt. Thomas Robison, who built the two-story house now

standing corner of Canal and Park streets.]
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change for the house lot granted by Danforth to the latter. Each

lot had a house upon it. That of Burroughs was erected by

the town and stood on Congress street, near where Preble street

now joins it. The description of the seven acres in this agree-

ment is as follows : "Imprimis it is agreed that the said George

Burroughs doth make over and confirm unto the said John Skil-

ling, carpenter, and his heirs forever, his house built and given

him by the people of Falmouth, with seven acres of land joining

to the said house; laid out and bounded, viz: lying from the

edge of the swamp behind the house, from thence running four-

score poles southerly, fronting upon the river fourteen poles."

The land from Congress street to the river where Cotton street

now is, was formerly a swamp. We arc able to fix upon the lo-

cation of this tract with more certainty by conveyances subse-

quently made by Samuel, son of John Skillings, from whom
the Cotton title on Center and Cotton streets is derived. The

site of the house is determined by an ancient plan. [The rea-

son of the exchange on the part of Burroughs was the distance

of his house from the meeting-house, and Skilling's house was

near the meeting-house, which stood on the point below King

street.]

Joseph Webber, Samuel Webber, Richard Broadridgc, Dennis

Morough, and Francis Jefferds had lots on Queen, now Con-

gress street : Morough's was three acres lying where School,

now Pearl street is ; he sold it to Anthony Brackett. Broad-

ridge's was next above and Jefferd's next below. John

Ingcrsoll and Francis Nichols had a lot on the south end of

Morough's, which extended to Middle street.

It appears by the record of Danforth's proceedings here, that

the town was reorganized under a municipal government pre-

vious to his court in September, 1680. That document presents

us only the names of the inhabitants who had grants around

the fort, other of the former settlers returned to their farms in

L6
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other parts of the town. 1 Some however never returned as

Francis Neale- and Jenkin Williams, the former continued to

live in Salem, the latter is subsequently found in Manchester,

in the county of Essex. Nor do we meet, after the war, with

the names of John Cloice, John Lewis, Phineas Rider, Thomas

Skillings, and John Phillips ; some of them were probably

killed during the war. Other settlers however flowed in rapidly

and the places of those who did not return were soon more

than supplied.

The most enterprising of the new settlers was Silvanus Davis.

In October, 1680, he and James English addressed a petition

to the selectmen of Falmouth, in which they stated that they

were desirous of settling in town, if they could receive certain

grants and privileges which are set forth in their petition as

follows : "Imprimis, that we may have the free privelege of ye

falls of Capissicke to build a sawmill and to make a damm or

damms. (2) That we may have a grant of timber both oak

and pine within three miles of the falls on both sides not in-

fringing upon any lots already granted by the town. (3) That

we may have sufficient land laid out on both sides of the Falls

and river for pasture of oxen and settling some farms near the

mills for employing workmen in time when the mill stands still

for want of water or timber, and that such lands shall remain

free to the mills as free land a mile square. (4) That we may

have the privelege of swamps or fresh marsh within a mile of

the Falls to produce hay for our oxen and that we may have it

as free land. (5) That we may have privelege to cut timber

upon all commons within the township that is not already

1 "Upon the peace the English returned unto their plantations ; their number

increased ; they stocked their farms, and sowed their fields ; they found the air as

healthful as the earth was fruitful ; their lumber and their fishery became a con-

siderable merchandize ; continual accessions were made unto them." Mather's

Mag. vol. u.^;.505.

2 Mrs. Macworth, Neale's mother-in-law, died in Boston, in 1676. Neale sold

his land in Falmouth to Joseph Holmes, who, April 16, 1681, mortgaged it to

Joshua Scottow, and styled himself "late of Cambridge, now resident in Casco."



LAND GRANTED BY FALMOUTH. 251

granted to any persons. (6) That we may have equal divi-

sions of all meadows with others according to our publick

work. (7) That we may have a tract of good land appointed

us for settling our farms.

"Gentlemen according to your encouragement to us we shall

be ready to bear part of town charges with you and subscribe

ourselves your humble servants Oct. 28,1680."

To this petition the following answer was returned : "3. 10.,

L680. The above articles are granted with a mile square free

land unto Capt. Davis and Mr. flnglcs as Test. Anthonie

Brackett Recor. And it is agreed that Capt. Davis shall let

the inhabitants that are now here have boards at live shillings

in a thousand under price currant for provisions for their own

proper use for building houses for themselves."

At the same time the following grants were made by the

selectmen, which with the foregoing is one of the few scraps of

the town records which have escaped destruction and found

its way to the York registry. It was probably rescued by the

avidity of some of the speculators, who at a later day were

purchasing all the old titles to land in this town that they could

procure.

"It is concluded that Mr. Gendall shall have a grant of one

hundred acres of land to begin at our outmost bounds, and so

to come this way till one hundred acres be ended. Thomas

Daevc (or Daebe) it is agreed shall have a lot granted him.

John Ingersoll one hundred acres of land. Goodman Sanfort

and his son granted sixty acres of land about the great marsh.

Joel Madefer twelve acres of land adjoining to Goodman San-

fort's land on the north side upon a square. Fifty acres granted

to John "Wallis on the rocky hill. Joseph Daniel granted fifty

acres of land adjoining to Robert Stanfort, twenty poles in

breadth by the water side. Granted to Robert Haines fifty

acres of land on the plains toward the great marsh. 2 Granted

1 December :'..

^ The Stanifords, Madefer, Wallis. and Haines all lived at Purpooduck, aud the

grants were probably of land there.
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to Capt. Edward Tyng one hundred acres of land. It is agreed

that Capt. Davis shall have a mile square of upland at Capis-

sick Falls, a quarter of a mile on this side of the falls, and

three-quarters of a mile on the other side the falls. Also

Nonsuch point is concluded shall be divided between Capt.

Davis and Mr. Ingles and Joseph Hodsden, one hundred acres

a man, and if the point will not do it, to have it elsewhere. It

is concluded Thomas Cloys shall have sixty acres of land

granted to him at Capessack. Granted to Lt. George Ingersoll

forty acres of land to make up his hundred." 1

We will here introduce the record of another meeting of the

town, which has a connection with the preceding. "At a town

meeting August 10, 1681. There was granted to Samuel

Webber the falls which is above Mr. Munjoy's land in Long

Creek, to erect and set up a saw-mill in, and to finish the said

saw-mill within six months. Also it is granted unto the said

Samuel Webber one hundred acres of upland for his accom-

modation to his mill,2 with ten acres of some swamp to make

meadow of, with the privelege of cutting timber, both oak

and pine, upon the commons from his mill down so far as

Ralph Turner's, as also to cut timber about Presumpscot, both

oak and pine, and the said Webber is to cut Boords for the in-

habitants of this town to the halves for their own proper use,

and what Boords they have occasion for of said Webber for

1 All the persons mentioned in the preceding record, except Daeve, of whom I

know nothing, and Ingles, were inhabitants. There were persons of the name of

Davie of respectable standing about the Kennebec, but I have met with no other

notice of any one in this town. Ingles or as the name is now universally written,

English, resided in Boston, where, or in its vicinity, his posterity continue to live.

He was a mariner, and commanded a vessel which coasted between Boston and

the towns in this bay. He died in 1703, leaving a widow, one son and three

daughters, of whom one, Joanna, married James Grant, Jane, John Smith, and

Elizabeth, Benjamin Bream. The daughters were principal legatees of Silvanus

Davis.

a One half of this lot Webber sold to John Skillings, 1685, with half the mill.

The mill was probably situated near the spot where a grist-mill now stands on

Long Creek, on the road from Stroudwater to Scarborough.
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their building, they are to have them half a crown under price

currant for provisions. Anthonic Brackett, George Ingersoll,

Jno. Wallis, Thaddeus Clarke."

In 1G80, George and John Ingersoll petitioned the General

Court for confirmation of their land on Capisic river, and for

certain privileges. The court confirmed to them "sixty acres

a piece granted them as expressed in their petition, and refer it

to the President of the province" to grant accommodation, etc.

Da'nforth, under the above order, March 3, 1682, granted "to

George Ingersoll, Jr., and John Ingersoll, the privelege of the

stream where the old mill stood, for erecting a new saw and

grist-mill and to cut such timber as may 1)0 conveniently

brought down that stream, paying to the head proprietor five

pounds per ami. in good merchantable timber." In 1084 these

persons conveyed all their interest in the saw-mill on mill river

to Silvanus Davis & Co.

Davis for several years before ,1676, had lived in the neigh-

borhood of the Kennebec. He purchased land at Damariscotta

of the Indians as early as June, 1659. He bought other large

tracts in that country and continued to reside there, having

considerable influence, until the attack upon the fort at Arrow-

sic in August, 1676. He then fled with Capt. Lake, but they

were sharply pursued and he escaped with a severe wound,

while Capt. Lake was killed. Early next year he accompanied

the expedition under Major Waldron, and was left in command

of a garrison on Arrowsic Island ; but the government per-

ceiving little prospect of their rendering service to the country

in this situation, the garrison was soon after recalled.

On the conclusion of peace, Capt. Davis turned his attention

to Falmouth, and finding it possessed great advantages for fish-

ing, lumbering, and trading, he resolved to abandon his former

residence and establish himself here. In September, 1680, he

received from President Danforth, a grant of one of the most

eligible spots for trade in town, being on the bay east of India

street, at the head of the town landing. Following up this
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acquisition, he procured from the town, as we have already-

seen, some of the most valuable mill sites, with greater privi-

leges and accommodations than were ever granted here to any

other individual. The town had been entirely prostrated under

the most calamitous circumstances, and the returning exiles

were undoubtedly desirous of availing themselves of the enter-

prise and capital of Mr. Davis and the company which he

represented. And to these advantages may, in a great measure,

be attributed the rapid prosperity of the town, until the period

of its second destruction. The subsequent events in the biog-

raphy of this enterprising man, will be noticed in the progress

of the work.

In 1681, Mrs. Munjoy, the widow of George, having made

complaints that President Danforth had appropriated her land

without authority, for the settlement of the town, an arrange-

ment was entered into between her and the government on the

10th of June of this year. After reciting that President Dan-

forth, by commission from Massachusetts, had "ordered the

settlement of a town at Casco, erecting fort Loyall thereon,

and disposed of house lots for the furtherance and encourage-

ment of the said settlement," and that said Mary "doth lay

claime to a neck of land lying about said fort," but had "not

entered upon any possession or improvement thereof since the

devastation made by the Indian war;" to end all differences it

was therefore agreed that said Mary "shall have, retain and

enjoy the easterly end of said Neck of land whereupon her

husband's house formerly stood, bounded by a strait line from

the mouth of a Runnet of water on the easterly side where Mr.

Cleeves' house formerly stood, and so to pass by the old barn

on the top of the hill, and from the barn the shortest line to

the salt water, excepting and reserving to the said township

and fort, for the laying out of house lots, the lands all along

the southerly side of said Neck of land as far as the meeting-

house, to extend twenty poles backwards in length, reserving

only twenty poles front of her own house lot, adjoining to said
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runnet. Further that the said Mary Munjoy shall have and

enjoy the island called House Island, which her said late hus-

band formerly purchased of sundry of the inhabitants there.

And more the said President doth yield and grant unto her

two hundred acres of land upon the nearest of the islands that

remain free and undisposed of, by way of exchange and in full

compensation for the land hereinafter mentioned by her re-

leased." The land released was the remainder of the Neck

east of Clay Cove, "to be disposed of according to the present

settlement made by said President."

On the 30th of August the same year, the selectmen of the

town also entered into articles of agreement with Mrs. Munjoy

relative to her outlands, by which she relinquished her claim to

all lands in the town, whether derived from the Indians or

otherwise. In consideration of which the town confirmed to

her two hundred acres at Ammoncongan, the plantation at

Long Creek which Mr. Munjoy bought of Anthony Brackett,

also all her marsh at Capisic, and "that long marsh adjoin-

ing to Thomas Cloice's point of land which he bought of Mr.

Munjoy ;" also five hundred acres of upland, to begin next to

Samuel IngcrsolPs land, to run in breadth on the west side of

Capisic river to the little falls and so into the woods. They

also confirmed to Mary, daughter of George Munjoy, Sen.,

deceased, all that island given her by her grandfather, Mr. J.

Phillips, known by the name of Pond Island or Mr. Munjoy's

Island."

It appears by the foregoing record, that the elder Munjoy

was now dead. He died in 1680, at the age of fifty-four. His

last appearance in our records is as one of the associates of the

county court held at Wells, July 4, 1070. ' During the Indian

troubles he probably lived in Boston, where his wife's family

resided. In 1(380, Panforth names him as a grantee of land

i After the destruction of the town in August of this year, lie was sent with

supplies for the inhabitants and troops from Boston.
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on the Neck. He was an intelligent and enterprising man, and

had enjoyed for many years the confidence of the government

of Massachusetts, and of the people among whom he lived.

He had a sister who came to this country and married John

Saunders, of Braintree. He left five children, Mary, George,

Josiah, Pelatiah, and Hepzibah ; his eldest son, John, was

killed in the attack upon the town, August 11, 1676. John left

a widow and one daughter, named Huldah. He was George

Munjoy's eldest son and was born in Boston, April 17, 1653.

Mary married John Palmer, 1 who lived here after the war ; she

left no issue. George, Jr. was born April 21, 1656, and died

in Braintree in 1698, leaving a son and two daughters ; the son

died without issue, as did also the other sons of the elder George;

his daughter Mary married Philip Thompson, a physician

in Roxbury ; the other, Susanna, a man named Gwynn.

[Josiah was born in Boston, April 4, 1658. His daughter Mar-

tha, born in Charlestown, 1710, married John Pulling of

Boston, 1740. His daughter Mary married Capt. James

Hornby of Boston ; he also had a son John.] The name is

extinct in this country, and no monument remains to perpetu-

ate the name of Munjoy, but the hill in this town, on which he

first fixed his residence.2 An inventory of his estate was re-

turned in 1685 by Anthony Brackett and William Rogers,

described and valued as follows : a tract of land at Capisic,

1 There appear to have been about this time three persons in Maine bearing the

name of John Palmer ; one married Elizabeth, the eldest daughter of Andrew

Alger, and lived in Scarborough in 1676, Another married the eldest daughter of

Munjoy, and was living in Falmouth between 1680 and 1690 ; the third was com-

missioner in 1686 in the Duke of York's province east 'of Kennebec, and was a

counselor of Gov. Andross. Whether these were three distinct persons or not, I

am unable to say. It is very clear that the commissioner was a different person

from either of the others.

2 This hill was formerly called Mount Joy ; the family name was sometimes in

later days written Mountjoy
; but the true mode as invariably used by the head

of the family, who wrote ;i beautiful hand, wns Munjoy, which is (ho proper

name of the hill.
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thirty pounds ; one tract of land bought of Thomas Brackctt, 1

twenty pounds ; a tract of land lying at Long Creek with the

marsh to it, one hundred and ten pounds ; an island called

House Island, thirty pounds ; a tract of land at Piscataqua,

forty pounds ; an island called Bastine's Island, twenty pounds;

a tract of land on the other side of Ammoncongan river, twenty

pounds. There was also an inventory of debts amounting to

seventy pounds.

Munjoy's youngest children, Pelatiah and Ilepzibah, in 1G86

nominated guardians for themselves ; Pelatiah selected his

brother-in-law, John Palmer, and Ilepzibah her father-in-law,

Robert Lawrence ; she afterward married a Mortimore. The

widow married Robert Lawrence, and after his death, in 1690,

Stephen Cross, of Boston ; she died at that place in 1705.

Lawrence improved the farm at Ammoncongan for several

years until the second war. The following extract from an

ancient deposition will explain the manner of conducting the

business. '"The deponent'2 further saith that he also remem-

bers the said George and Mary Munjoy having a house and

some improvements on the south-west side of Ammoncongan,

in the great river Presumpscot, where the said Munjoy and his

servants used to go in planting and reaping times, and often at

other times, where they usually tarried about a week at a time

;

and this deponent further saith that the house last mentioned

was opposite to part of the said Munjoy's planting ground on

the north-east side of the river Ammoncongan, where this de

ponent saith the said Munjoy had a very large tract, which

said Munjoy, to this deponent's certain knowledge, improved

many years, sowing peas and wheat without interruption, and

this deponent heard his right esteemed by all old proprietors,

1 This w;i< fifty acres extending from Deering's bridge up the south side of the

creek toward the alms-house, which was conveyed to Brackctt by his mother-in-

law Mitton in 1tH>7.

'-' Elisha Corney, of Gloucester, 1742. "aged upwards of 7:;.
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a very good one. He has often seen Munjoy's servants at work,

and said Munjoy's oxen ploughing on said tract on the north-

east side of Ammoncongan, and he never heard of any body

else improving on the north-east side until after Munjoy's death;

after which, Mr. Lawrence improved for several years the land

on the north-east side, and lived on the south-west side in the

manner Mr. Munjoy did, and said Lawrence rebuilt the house on

the south-west side after it was burnt by the Indians, and he has

often seen said Lawrence and his servants ploughing and sow-

ing the land on the north-east side of Ammoncongan, and

making more improvements than Mr. Munjoy had done, and

he made considerable improvements before and at the time Pres-

ident Danforth resettled the town and some years after, until

his being drove off by the Indians."*

[George Munjoy was the son of John Munjoy or Mountjoy of

Abbottsham in the county of Devon, and was born in 1626. At

the age of twenty-one, in 16-17, he was admitted freeman in

Massachusetts, and in four or five years after he married Mary

daughter of deacon John Phillips of Boston. He had a sister

Mary who married John Saunders of Braintree. The family

still exists in Devonshire, England, but uniformly spell the

name Mountjoy.]

In September, 1681, Richard Seacomb was licensed to keep

an ordinary in Falmouth. The order of court is as follows

:

"In answer to the desire of the selectmen of Casco in Mr. Sea-

comb's behalf for license to keep an ordinary there, the court

considering the necessity thereto do grant a liberty and license

to be granted unto said Seacomb to keep a public house of en-

tertainment for said town for the year ensuing ; he providing

* [Ammoncongan, Amoncongin, Ammoscoggin, Amoncongon, now universally

called Congin, was applied to a portion of Presumpscot river around the falls

next below Saccarappa. Mr. Ballard and Dr. Potter both agree in its interpreta-

tion as "A fish place,'' or "Fish drying place," or "High fish place," as Dr.

Potter says, from Xamaas, fish, Kees, high, Auke, place, It was probably the re-

sort of alewives and perhaps salmon.]
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for it as the place requires by suitable accommodations for

strangers or others, of drink, victuals, and keeping good order

and rule by his retailing strong drinks, to ye performance

whereof Wm. Rogers with said Seacomb stand equally bound

in a bond of twenty shillings."

This is the earliest notice that we find relating to the estab-

lishment of a public house here, and it is probably the first of

the kind that was opened. Munjoy, nearly twenty years before

had been licensed to retail strong liquors, but that doubtless

was as a trader. The intercourse with the town before this

period was so limited and the habitations so scattered, that a

tavern was neither needed nor could be supported.

Scacomb's house was near the town landing-place, a few

rods east of India street. In May, 1682, he was lined fifty

shillings for selling liquors to the Indians. Seacomb came from

the west of England and settled at Lynn as early as 1660 ; his

children were Noah, Richard, and Susannah. There was also

here at the same time a John Seacomb, who joined Richard,

in 1683, in a conveyance of land near Barberry Creek. Rich-

ard was constable in 1684, and was sometime a selectman : he

purchased of George Lewis's children the land at Back Cove

which had belonged to their father, on which he subsequently

lived; the neck extending down to Back Cove bridge, was

called from him Scacomb's Neck, which name it still retains

;

he died in lii','4.
1 His son Richard lived in Portsmouth, R. I.,

in 1715.

John and Isaac Jones, of Charlestown, probably came here

in 1681; in November of that year, Thomas Cloice and Susan-

nah, his wife, sold to them a tract of land on the Presumpscot

river, formerly conveyed to them by their father, John Cloice,

"with the new dwelling-house and barn.'' This was the home-

stead of John Cloice before the war. John Jones lived on the

Neck west side of India street.

•The name Seacomb's Neck is not in general use, bul it is not obsolete; it is

mentioned in the act incorporating the proprietors of Back Cove bridge in 170).
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We find this year a conveyance in "Wells from Thomas Mills

to his sons-in-law, John and Nathaniel Cloice ; Peter Cloice

was living there before ; these persons were probably the sons

of John Cloice, formerly of this town, and it may be inferred

that after the flight from Falmouth, they established themselves

in that place.

In 1682, died Elizabeth Harvey, the only daughter of George

Cleeves. She came from England with her father probably in

1637, and was either then or soon after married to Michael

Mitton. She was the last survivor of the first settler, and

had been through scenes of great suffering and sorrow. She

had buried two husbands and three adult children, one of

whom, her only son, was killed by the Indians, and the lives of

two of her daughters, the wives of the Bracketts, were proba-

bly shortened by their captivity. Two daughters only survived

her, Elizabeth, the wife of Thaddeus Clark, and Martha, the

wife of John Graves,* neither of whom, that we are aware of,

has posterity now residing here. The descendants of her

daughter Mary, the wife of Thomas Brackett, are numerous

among us. Mrs. Harvey had seen the town which on her first

visit was an entangled forest, inhabited by wild beasts and

savages, become the seat of civilization and prosperity, and

holding forth the promises of future greatness.

About the same time died also George Lewis of Back Cove.

In July, 1683, the following deposition relating to him and his

family was given : "Nathaniel Wallis 1 aged fifty-two or there-

abouts testifies that sometime before the first Indian war began,

I being at George Lewis's house, said Lewis showed me his will

and this deponent heard said Lewis's will read and there was in

the will that his two sons should have twelve pence apiece,

but for his land he had given it to his three youngest daugh-

* [Graves was living in Kittery in 1712, aged about sixty-seven. He moved to

Little Compton, R. I., where he diedj leaving one son and two daughters.]

1 Nathaniel Wallis was tin- nearest neighbor of Lewis; lie bought of John Lewis

the adjoining farm.
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ters and all liis goods, and said Wallis asked said Lewis why he

gave his land to his daughters, said Lewis replied lie had

given his sons enough already—before Auto. Braekett eom'r."

Lewis's sons were John and Philip ; he had four daughters,

Ann married to James Ross, a shoemaker ; Susannah to Thomas

Cloice ; Mary, first, to Thomas Skillings, second, Jotham Lew-

is, and third, to Wilkins; she was horn at Falmouth, 1654,

and was living in Salem, 1732; the fourth daughter Hannah,

married James Darling. John sold one hundred acres in Back

Cove to Nathaniel Wallis, in M74: he continued to live here

until the commencement of the Indian war, but we do not

find him mentioned afterward ; his wife's name was Ellinor.

George, as we have before intimated, was probably the son of

George Lewis, freeman in Scituate, Plymouth colony, 1036.

George Burroughs returned to the ministry here in 1683.

The first notice of his return that we find, is in June of that

year, when at the request of the town he relinquished one hun-

dred and seventy acres of land which had been granted to him

previous to the war. In their application for this purpose they

offered to give him one hundred acres "further off," for the

quantity relinquished, but Burroughs replied "as for the land

already taken away, we were welcome to it, and if twenty acres

of the fifty above expressed would pleasure us, he freely gave

it to us, not desiring any land any where else, nor any thing

else in consideration thereof.*

This disinterestness places the character of Mr. Burroughs

in a very amiable light, which nothing can be found during the

* [I lit nl on a tax list rescued from the destruction of the town in lo'Oft, th»

following items of town charges.

"Richard Powsland formoney lent the town to go for Mr Burroughs /

20 or 30 shillings in good pay ) £1.10.

Anthony Braekett to pay part of Mr Burroughs' passage 5.

Passage and hoards and nails for ye minister's house and workmen 5.05.

To George Ingersoll and John Ingersoll for 1000 boards to floor >

the meeting-house $ 1.10.

This document is dated October 7. 1683.1
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whole course of liis ministry here to impair. The large quan-

tity of land which he relinquished was situated upon the Neck,

which was then daily becoming more valuable by the location

of the town upon it. All this, except thirty acres, he freely

returned without accepting the consideration offered by the

town.

The unhappy catastrophe, which terminated the life and

usefulness of Mr. Burroughs, has cast a shade upon many facts

relating to him, which it would be interesting to us to know.

We have no means of ascertaining whether he was regularly

settled, and had gathered a church here or not ; we have how-

ever sufficient authority for asserting that he preached to our

predecessors a longer period than any other person prior to the

Rev. Mr. Smith. We must be understood to except from this

remark the Rev. Robert Jordan, who lived in town, occasionally

preaching and administering the ordinances under the episco-

pal form, for thirty-six years, except when "silenced" by the

government of Massachusetts.

There has nothing survived Mr. Burroughs, either in his

living or dying, that casts any reproach upon his character,

and although he died the victim of a fanaticism as wicked and

stupid as any which has ever been countenanced in civilized

society, and which for a time prejudiced his memory, yet his

reputation stands redeemed in a more enlightened age from

any blemish.

In November, 1680, he was employed to preach in Salem

village, now Danvers, on a salary of sixty pounds a year, one-

third in money, and two-thirds in provisions at the following

rates, viz : rye, barley, and malt at three shillings a bushel

;

corn, two shillings ; beef, one and a half pence a pound
;
pork,

two pence, and butter six pence. 1 He continued there probably

until 1683, when in May, Mr. Lawson was invited to preach to

them ; from Salem, it may be supposed that he came directly here.

1 Annals of Salem, p. 268.



CHARACTER OF REV. GEORGE BURROUGHS. 2G3

A work entitled "European settlements in America," in speak-

ing of Mr. Burroughs as a victim of the Salem witchcraft says,

"that he was a gentleman who had formerly heen minister of

Salem; but upon some of the religions disputes which divided

the country he differed from his flock and left them." Mather

in his "Wonders of the invisible World," countenances this

idea ; he says, "he had removed from Salem village in ill terms

some years before."

He was tried for witchcraft in Salem, May 8, 1692, and con-

demned upon testimony which nothing but the most highly

wrought infatuation could for a moment have endured. His

great strength and activity for which he had been remarkable

from his youth, were enlisted against him, as having been

derived from the prince of evil ; it was in evidence that he had

lifted a barrel of molasses by putting his fingers in the bung-

hole, and carried it round him, that he had held a gun more

than seven feet long, at arms length with one hand, 1 and per-

formed other surprising feats above the power of humanity.

Some evidence was also exhibited against his moral character,

in relation to his treatment of his wives and children, but the

source from which it proceeded renders it unworthy of credit,

lie was executed on the 10th of August, 1692. The writer

before quoted, on this case says, "Yet by those judges, upon

that evidence, and the verdict founded upon it, this minister, a

man of most unexceptionable character, was sentenced to die,

and accordingly hanged." He had been three times married,

his third wife was the daughter of Thomas Ruck, who survived

him. His children were Charles, George, who lived in Ipswich,

Jeremiah, who was insane, Rebecca married a Tolman of Bos-

ton, Hannah married one Fox and lived near Barton's Point,

in Boston, Elizabeth married Peter Thomas of Boston, and

Mary married to a man in Attleborough. George and Thomas

1 This gun is said now to bo in the museum of Fryeburg Academy, hut upon

what evidence we do not know. For further particulars of this interesting case,

Calef's ''Salem witchcraft" and Sullivan's history may he consulted.
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Burroughs of Newburyport, the former a tanner, conveyed to

N. Winslow in 1774, the right of George Burroughs in proprie-

tary land in Falmouth, 1 These were probably descendants of

our minister." [Savage thinks that Burroughs was son of that

"Mrs. Rebecca Burroughs who came from Virginia that she

might enjoy God in his ordinance in New England." She

united with Eliot's church in Roxbury, July 19, 1657, and

George in 1674. His daughter Rebecca was baptized April 12,

1674, and George, November 21, 1675, both at Roxbury. His

daughter Hannah was born at Salisbury, April 27, 1680, by

wife Hannah; Elizabeth at Danvers, 1682. He was sent to

Boston, May 8, 1692, charged with witchcraft, andk ept nine

weeks in prison, previous to his trial. Our fellow citizen, Elias

Thomas, of Portland, born January 14, 1772, and living 1864,

is a descendant in the fifth degree from George Burroughs

through his daughter Elizabeth, who married Peter Thomas.]

1 Cumberland Registry of Deeds.

2 Bentley in his history of Salem published in the'Collections of the Massachu-

setts" Historical Society, says, that Burroughs was about four score years old at

the time of his death. But strong circumstances oppose this statement ; his great

strength, his going to a new country to preach, the entire want of evidence rela-

tive to him previous to the facts which we have noticed, lead us to the conclusion

that he was the graduate whose name stands in Harvard Catalogue for the year

1670, and consequently a much younger man than Bentley supposed. Upham's

lectures on witchcraft which have just issued from the press, confirms the favor-

able opinion above expressed of Mr. Burroughs

.



CHAPTER IX.

. m.—Saw Mills t\xki> for its Support—Deed of Falmouth to Trustee-!—Government op

a.ndross, v.v, patents for land required

—

french emigrants—roads ind ferries—business

of tub Town and its internal condition—Quarrel between Lawrence and Davis.

As soon as tho inhabitants were quietly settled upon their

possessions, it became an object of deep interest with them, in

which the government also partook, to provide for the security

of the settlement. It was in some degree a frontier post, and

the safety of all the plantations in the province depended

upon its preservation. The General Assembly in 1681, made

application to the General Court of Massachusetts to make

further provision for its security. In answer to this petition

the court granted that in case of a defensive war, the whole

revenue accruing to the chief proprietor should be appropriated

for the safety of the inhabitants. And "that the annual reve-

nue arising by the trade with the Indians shall be allowed

toward the maintenance of Fort Loyal. The appointment of

the captain as well as the other militia being still reserved as

the charter appoints, in the power of the chief proprietor. Fur-

ther it is ordered that the arrears of the Capt. and garrison at

Fort Loyal be forthwith passed by the President to the Treasurer

for payment." This order was laid before the council of the

province, who authorized the treasurer, Capt. Hooke, of Saco,

to pay Capt. Tyng his salary as commander of Fort Loyal, at

17
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the rate of sixty pounds per annum for himself and servant,

till May following, and to furnish necessary supplies for the

garrison. They also ordered six men to be raised for the pres-

ent supply of the garrison, two from Kittery, one from each of

the towns of York, Wells, and Falmouth, and one from Saco,

Scarborough, and Cape Porpus. In pursuance of the grant of

revenue arising from the Indian trade, Walter Gendall, the

Indian agent, was called upon to pay to the treasurer "twenty

pounds or as much as he has." The whole garrison consisted

of thirteen men, part of whom were supported by Massachu-

setts.
1 At the same session it was ordered that "for the better

i From the General Court Files, May 31, 1681.

"Maj. Pinchon, Maj. Savage, and Mr. Nowell are nominated by the magistrates

to be a Com. to joyn with some of our Breth. the Dep. to inquire concerning the

present state of ye Province of Maine and ye settlement of Fort Loyal and to con-

sider what is farther necessary to be done for the maintainance thereof and to

present ye same to ye Court in ye afternoon.

The magistrates have past this order

our brethren the Deputies consenting.

J. Dudley, per order.

The Deputies have chosen Maj. Pike

Capt. Sprague, Capt Waite, and Lt. Johnson to joyne

with our hon. magistrates to be a Committee as in the above bill. May 31. 1681.

Elisha Hutchinson, Speaker.

The returne of the Committee appointed by the Gen. Court to enquire into

the state of the Province of Mayne and what was further needfull to be done for

the settlement of Fort Loyal and the maintaintance thereof

1. For the province itself we cannot as yet by any enquiry satisfy ourselves

so as to give information to the Court what it may produce.

2. For the Fort we apprehend needful that it should be continued or defended

both for the securing of the people in those parts against the Indians and any bad

neighbours and also from the encouragement that people take from it to replant

themselves there.

3. In order to the maintaining or defence of that fort and place we judge there

cannot well be less than thirteen men viz. a Capt. a Serj. a Gunner, and ten pri-

vate soldiers.

4. We are informed that the people of that Province are so sensible of the

benefit to themselves that they are willing to maintain six private soldiers.

5. The remainder of the charge for the captain's salary, Serj., Gunner, and
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settling and preserving of order and peace in our eastern towns

of Saco, Scarborough, Falmouth and North Yarmouth, that

these towns do choose in each place one commissioner for end-

ing- small causes, civil and criminal, who being first sworn by

Capt. Scottow or by some other in authority either Capt. Tyng

or who nearest to them, have liberty and power, with anyone of

the justices of (his Province to hear and determine any action

(without a jury) or case not exceeding ten pounds and punish

with ten stripes at their discretion."

The next year, 1682, a further provision was made for the

support of Fort Loyal and a tax was laid upon the saw-mills in

the province for the purpose. The following document will

exhibit the number of mills and the amount of the tax. "In

answer to an act and order of the council made tho last court

of sessions at Wells, the 12th of April 1682, viz. Major John

Davess Dep. Pres. Capt. John Wincoll, Mr. Samuel Wheel-

wright, Mr. Francis Hooke, Capt. Charles Frost, and Edward

Rishworth, recorder, Justices.

"The Trustees or Representatives,

"Major Nicholas Shapleigh, Left. Abra. Preble, Wm. Ham-

mond, John Puddington, John Harmon, Mr. Benjamin Black-

mail and Left. Anthony Brackett.

"An agreement made with Left. Brackett about keeping fort

four soldiers with a magazine will amount to four hundred pounds per annum

country pay.

6. We hope something to case tins burthen may be raised out of the Beaver

trade and from the saw mills and some other ways, which may in a little time

wholly ease this Colony of the present burthen.

.T no. Pyxchox, in ye name of

ye Committee.

The Deputies have perused this returne of

the Committee and doe approve of it and order that Fort Loyal bee maintained

at ye charge of this Colony provided ye Province maintain six soldiers and the

Hon. President is desired to take care yt it be maintained with as little charge as

may be. Past by the Deputies, our hon. magistrates consenting 1 June 1681.

Elisha Hotchinsoh Speaker."
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Loyal for the term of a year's time, beginning the 24th of May

next ensuing, 1682. Province of Maine. It is hereby mutu-

ally agreed and concluded by the council and the representa-

tives of the several towns now assembled at York, on the one

party and Left. Anthony Brackett, on the other party, of Casco.

That for the present and more easy carrying on and settling of

fort Loyal that said Left. Brackett stands engaged from the

time above mentioned to be the sole officer taking the charge

and care of fort Loyal by continual watch and ward to keep

it as a fort ought to be kept, with all necessary supplies of

men, six efficient men constantly during the summer season

and four men in the winter, with sufficient arms, ammunition

and provisions and whatever else shall be needful for that ser-

vice for the term of one whole year. In consideration of said

Anthony Brackett his performance of the premisses, the coun-

cil and the representatives in the behalf of this province do

promise and stand engaged in the province behalf to pay or

cause to be paid unto said Anthony Brackett or his order, the

just sum of one hundred and sixty pounds in money or pay

equivalent. In order to the performance of this agreement to

Left. Brackett of one hundred and sixty pounds, we have cal-

culated the value of the mills in several towns arising by an

indifferent proportion as follows, boards at thirty shillings per M.

Mills at Kittery.
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Saco Mills Black Point.

Mr. Blackmail's Mill £1Mr. Blackmaifs
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for mills, should now be entirely destitute, and as no others

are mentioned, although^North Yarmouth was then existing as

a town, it may reasonably be inferred that Gendall's mills were

on those falls, more especially as North Yarmouth could not

be considered as within the limits of Massachusetts at that

time. If this conjecture be correct the mill rates in Falmouth

amounted to twelve pounds ten shillings. 1

The next year, 1683, the General Assembly of the province

on the petition of Henry Harwood, discharged him from the

command of the foot company in Falmouth and empowered

"Capt. Anthony Brackett" to take charge of it : "Requiring all

the foot soldiers to obey him as their captain, till further order,

and in case said Anthony Brackett accept not thereof, then Mr.

"Walter Gendall, or whom he shall appoint is hereby empowered

to take the command of the foot company of Casco ; and all

the soldiers therein are required to yield obedience to him or his

order as their commander during the court's pleasure." Gen-

dall is also authorized to take charge of Fort Loyal, if Brackett

declined the appointment; Harwood soon after this moved to

Boston and sold his property here to Bozoun Allen of that place,

a tanner,

In 1684, the General Assembly appointed Capt. Joshua Scot-

tow of Black Point, Capt. Edward Tyng, Mr. Nathaniel Fryer,

who probably then lived at Spurwink, Capt. Silvanus Davis,^and

Mr. Walter Gendall "to take care of the repairing and well

ordering of fort Loyal in Falmouth and settle a chief officer

there." And next year they order that the fort "be appointed

a prison or jail to the four associate towns and that the several

justices in the respective towns shall direct their mittimusses

1 Bartholomew Gedney of Salem, had a mill on Royall's river in North Yar-

month, in 1680, which he afterward sold to Gendall. A petition was made to the

Gen. Court in 1680, for liberty to cut timber on three thousand acres in the vicin-

ity to feed the mill.—Massachusetts Files. See also Gedney's petition, 1687, to

Andross for confirmation of his title. The mill rents were annually granted for

the support of Fort Loyal until the arrival of Andross.
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to the keeper of his majesty's jail at fort Loyal, and that there

sliull l)e a committee appointed for ye settling of said jail and

the keeper thereof," the charges to be paid by the common

treasury. The associate towns referred to were Saco, Searbor-

rough, Falmouth, and North Yarmouth.

After Massachusetts acquired a righl to the soil of Maine by

purchase, some fears seem to have been entertained by the land-

holders in regard to the security of their titles. That govern-

ment early took measures to quiet these apprehensions, and

in 1681, the General Court empowered "the President of said

province to make legal confirmation to the inhabitants respect-

ively of their just proprieties^ the lands there under his hand

and seal according to the directions of their charter ; and do

further grant that they, making their annual acknowledge-

ment of the right of the chief proprietor to the soil and gov-

ernment, shall then be acquitted and discharged from any

further subsidies to the chief proprietor, further than shall be

necessary and orderly levied, for their own protection and gov-

ernment."

In pursuance of this authority, Danforth on the 26th of July,

1684, executed an indenture of two parts, interchangeably to

"Capt. Edward Tyng, Capt. Silvanus Davis, Mr. Walter Gen-

dall, Mr.Thaddeus Clark, Capt Anthony Brackett, Mr. Domin-

icus Jordan, Mr. George BrimhaU and Mr. Robert Lawrence,

trustees on the behalf and for the sole use and benefit of the

inhabitants of the town of Falmouth within the above named

province of Maine," in which he granted and confirmed to

them in trust "all that tract or parcel of land within the town-

ship of Falmouth."

This is recited in the deed to have been the result of a

mutual agreement between Massachusetts and the General

Assembly of the province, concluded at York in June, 1681,

and it is covenanted on the part of said trustees that the in-

habitants shall pay to that government a quit rent, as an

acknowledgment of proprietorship of "twelve pence for every
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family, whose single country rate is not above two shillings,"

and three shillings for every family whose single rate exceeds

two shillings, annually, in money to the treasurer of the pro-

vince for the use of the proprietor. 1 A similar conveyance was

made of North Yarmouth, September 6, 1684, and of Scarbor-

ough. Under this deed the trustees or committee of Falmouth,

proceeded to lay out many lots of land, and "granted them to

sundry persons, who builded thereon, and made improvement." 2

This policy produced a state of repose among the people in

regard to their titles, after the long and numerous conflicts,

which had taken place for the proprietorship.3 These con-

tests had occasioned great inconvenience to the tenants of

the soil, who had been continually harrassed by contested

claims.

The trustees named in the deeds were probably appointed by

each town ; those of North Yarmouth were Jeremiah Dummer
Walter Gendall, John Royall, and John York.

The quit rents reserved in the conveyances by Masschusetts

were soon found to produce dissatisfaction, although they were

apparently light ; and .they became the subject of complaint

to Sir Edmund Andross immediately on his arrival about two

years afterward. Edward Tyng, who had been appointed one

of the counselors of that governor on the 10th of January,

1087, twenty days after his arrival in Boston, presented the

1 For this deed in extenso, see Appendix vn. A single rate was twelve pence

on each poll, and one penny upon twenty shillings estate, and six years' income

of real and personal estate and faculty, as it was then styled, were considered as

principal in the tax.

2 Petition of old proprietors to the General Court, 1728. In this they state,

that in consequence of the loss of the town book they "cannot find out the whole

number that were admitted settlers by the Trustees."

3 That the possession of Maine had been attended with no pecuniary advantage

to its successive proprietors, was fully evinced by experience. Sir F. Gorges had

expended twenty thousand pounds in his various enterprises here, from which he

reaped no benefit, and it had cost Massachusetts eight thousand pounds for its

defense in the war of 1675.
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following petition to him in behalf of the whole province, in

relation to this subject : "May it please your Excellency. The

late Govr. of the Massachusetts colony having purchased the

land and title of Sir V. Gorges in the province of Mayne and

upon such purchase intending and designing to give all encour-

agement to all persons inclined to goe and set down and settle

themselves and famalyes in and upon the said province of

Mayne. The said late Government did by commission under

tin' seale of the late Government empower Thomas Danforth,

Esq., to lay and appoint places lor such townships in the said

province and also to grant power unto such townships to give

and grant lands to any persons whatsoever, that would settle

themselves and famalyes in the said province under such Quitt

rent as did then seemc good unto the said Tho. Danforth. In

pursuance whereof several persons and their famalyes have

salt down in several townshipps, in and upon the said province

with great charge, trouble and expence and many more in

probability would, had not the burden of Quitt Rents discour-

aged.

"It is therefore humbly prayed of your Excellency that such

townshipps and settlements so made as above may have your

Excellency's confirmation of their titles obtained as above, and

tin; Quitt rents appointed to be paid as above for such lands

being experimentally found to lye heavy upon the inhabitants

there residing, may receive some abatement." 1

The repose which the people of Maine had hoped to enjoy

under the dominion of Massachusetts, was again interrupted

by the dissolution of the charter of that colony in 1684. The

death of Charles II. soon after ( Feb. 6. L685) delayed the for-

mation of a new government until 1686, and in the meantime

the authorities in the colony continued to conduct affairs, hut

with great sluggishness and indifference until May, 1*380,

when a commission arrived to Joseph Dudley as President o\'

New England. This was followed in December by the arrival

Massachusetl - Files.
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of Sir Edmund Andross as Governor of New England and

New York. On this occasison the local government in Maine

ceased and was not again introduced until the final separation

from Massachusetts, in 1820. J Sir Edmund exercised his office

by the advice of a council without the intervention of an as-

sembly of the representatives of the people. The people were

made to feel the effects of this change in affairs in a variety of

shapes, not the least of which was through the purse. One of

the most grievous expedients resorted to, a gross act of rapacity

and tyranny, was that of requiring the owners of land to pro-

cure new patents for their possessions, it having been assumed

that on the dissolution of the charter, their former titles had

become invalid. The fees for these patents were exorbitant,

in some cases amounting to fifty pounds. To avoid vexatious

collision with the ruling powers, landholders generally complied

with this requisition. To give plausibility to this scheme of

extortion certain forms were adopted ; a petition was required

to be filed describing the land and praying for confirmation
;

this was referred to a committee to ascertain facts and then

a warrant was granted for a survey ; for each step in the pro-

cess fees were exacted. Numerous tracts were surveyed in

Falmouth under this system in 1687 and 1688. Edward Tyng,

of the council, was one of the first from this quarter, to com-

ply with the arbitrary edict ; his petition is dated August 30,

1687 ; others immediately followed the example until most of

the large proprietors here had procured surveys. Tyng and

Sylvanus Davis made themselves active in persuading the peo-

ple to comply with this severe requisition of the government,

by which they drew upon themselves the odium of the inhabi-

tants. And although the people generally complied with the

decree, they took the earliest opportunity to express their re-

sentment against those whom they considered as having had

1 The Deputies from Falmouth in the assembly of the province had been Antho.

Brackett for 1681 and 1082. Lieut. George Ingcrsoll for 1683 and 1685, and

Thaddeus Clarke for 1684.
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any influence in procuring the measure. They even made

some opposition to the proceedings of the surveyor when he

Jirst commenced his duties. Davis, in a letter to John West,

the secretary of Massachusetts, as early as November !•>, 1687,

thus notices the state of feeling here : "Mr Clements is follow-

ing his warrant luit meets with continual disturbance from Mr.

Lawrence who will not be satisfied till he makes all the town

his tenants ;"* he adds that "ho thinks all the settlers will pe-

tition." It appears from a memorial of the inhabitants two

years afterward that his conjecture was right ; they say "Capt.

Davis did persuade the inhabitants of our town to patent their

lands and he drew petitions for them near fifty, and now he

chargeth them six shillings for every petition." 1

From the time peace was proclaimed, in 1078, until the re-

commencement of hostilities by the Indians, the town had been

continually increasing in population and the development of

\\< resources. Fishermen settled upon Cape Elizabeth and the

islands which were convenient stations for successfully pursuing

*[It may be gratifying lo the curious reader to see the signatures of the noted

Governor of Massachusetts, and his Secretary, West, which I annex.]

(Andross and West.

)

i This petition is recited at length in a subsequent pari of tins chapter. It

was occasioned by difficulties which existed between Davis and Tyng on the

one hand, and Lawrence ami the principal part of the inhabitants on the other

originating chiefly in a spirit of jealousj against Uh>s.> two prominent men.
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that branch of business. The mill sites were constantly demand-

ing attention from their peculiar advantages, and the forests

were resounding to the stroke of the woodman's axe, and were

falling before the march of improvement. In addition to the

immigration from neighboring colonies, which was considerable,

the town received an accession in 1686, by the arrival of a

small company of French protestants, who sought refuge on our

shore, from the persecutions which followed the revocation of

the edict of Nantes on the 8th of October, 1685. The number of

persons who came to this town on that occasion we are unable

to ascertain, we have succeeded in tracing but four, viz : Peter

Bowdoin, Stephen Boutineau, Philip le Bretton, and Philip

Barger.

Peter Bowdoin, or according to French orthography, Pierre

Baudouin, 1 was a physician of Rochelie, in France, from which

place he fled to Ireland on the revocation of the edict, with his

wife Eliza and several children ; from Ireland he came to Fal-

mouth, and we have found his name for the first time in the

records April 7, 1687, when he purchased five acres of land on

the Neck near Robison's Point, of Anthony Brackett. Le

Bretton, who was undoubtedly one of the company, is found pur-

chasing land as early as September, 1686. [October 8, 1687,

government issued a warrant to Bowdoin for one hundred

acres of land on Casco bay. This was probably in answer to a

petition from him without date, in the French language, stating

that he brought to this country his family, consisting of six

persons, of whom four were young children, and wishing land

surveyed and confirmed.] April 1, 1688, Bowdoin bought of

George Burroughs twenty-three acres extending across the Neck

about where South street now is ; he had also another tract at

Barberry Creek.

1 He however adopted the English mode of spelling, immediately, as appears

by an original signature in my possession, as a witness, dated March fi. 1688. [A

fac-simile of this signature may be seen on a future page .]
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It appears by an original letter from him, August 2, 1G87,

now in possession of tin' Winthrop family of Boston, descend-

ants in the female line, that his family at that time consisted

of six persons. 1 He had two sons, James and John, ami two

daughters; Mary married to Stephen Boutineau, 1708, and

Elizabeth married fco Robins. Ee escaped to Boston just pre-

vious to the destruction of the town in 1690, where he became

an active and enterprising merchant. lie died September,

170(1 ; his will was dated .June 16, 1704, but was not proved

until 171D, although his widow Elizabeth's will was proved in

1717.2 The family became distinguished in Massachusetts, and

one of his descendants was a munificent patron of the college in

this State, which bears his name. The nude branch is now ex-

tinct, but the name is revived by a descendant in the female

line. [This gentleman, James Bowdoin, son of the late Hon.

Thomas L. Winthrop, of Boston, died without issue, in 1883;

so that the name in Massachusetts is now passed away. John,

the son of Peter, was a mariner and settled in Virginia, where

his posterity remain.]

Lc Bretton, who subsequently dropped the French article

from his name, was born in 1660; he was a rigger by trade,

and moved to Boston during the Indian troubles, where he died

in 1737, leaving eight children, viz : Peter, David, Mary, Eliza-

beth, Rachel, Sarah, Jane, and Ann; his daughter Elizabeth

married John Young of Boston, joiner, another married Ed-

ward Dumaresque, and a third Henry Venncr.'2 [Philip

Barger died in 1703, leaving a widow, .Margaret, and probably

a son Philip, who died 1720. Boutineau had six sons and four

daughters. He was living in 1748 in Boston.]

1 Massachusetts Historical Collections, vol. ii. 3d series, p. 49. Dr. Holmes'

account of the French protestants. In a petition to Gov. Andross for confirma-

tion of his title in Falmouth, he says, -'his family consisted of six persons, of

whom were four children not of an age to procure their living."

—

Massachusetts

J Hi <.

• Suffolk Probate Records. The ship John ari 8 ilem, September 9, 1G87,

with French protestants.

—

Massachusetts Files, 1087;;^.
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As the population and business increased, it became necessary

to increase the facilities of traveling. A water communica-

tion had always been kept up with neighboring towns, and also

with those more remote ; the coasting trade between Falmouth

and the towns in Massachusetts was successfully carried on,

and our fish and lumber, as well as agricultural products,

at that early period found a market there, for which returns

were made in English goods and groceries. It is believed that

two sloops commanded by Captains English and Phillips, plied

regularly between this bay and Boston. The communications

were not however as they had formerly been, wholly confined to

the water ; a road, several years previous to the time of which

we are speaking, had been laid out from the ferry-way in Cape

Elizabeth, near where it is now established, which passed round

Purpooduck Point by the water and joined the present road

near Simonton's Cove ; then passing by the light-house and

the head of Pond Cove as the road is now traveled, it bent

westerly and crossed the cape directly to Spurwink river, which

travelers crossed by a ferry, about a mile from its mouth. It

then kept by the shore the whole distance to Piscataqua, cross-

ing the several rivers by ferries, near their mouths. This road

passed through all the settlements, as they then clustered upon

the coast, but was circuitous and long. It was soon found

expedient to strike out shorter paths at the expense of going

greater distances through the woods. In 1686, the Court of

Sessions at York granted a ferry at Nonsuch Point to Silvanus

Davis "for passage of man and horse over Casco river for the

benefit of travelers." This point was on the south side of

Long Creek and between that and Nonsuch Creek ; the landing

on this side must have been a little above Vaughn's bridge.

A road was laid out from Scarborough to the ferry, which

shortened the distance between the Neck and that place sev-

eral miles.

In addition to this route, there was a road to Stroudwater

and Capisic which passed along on the bank of the river to
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Round Marsh, and thence probably as the road is now traveled

to those places. Another road 'or path was laid out by the set-

tlements on Back Cove to the Presumpscot, crossing Weir

Creek at the foot of the hill near the almshouse. As carriages

were not then in use here, these roads may properly he con-

sidered merely foot-paths through the woods, which then cov-

ered the whole territory and overshadowed the settlements.

In April, I1J88, Richards Clements, a surveyor, was required

by the government of Massachusetts to make a survey of land

from Kennebec, "so as to head the several rivers of Casco hay,

and see where they may be best passed in order for settling a

county road as far westward as Capisic, or any other remarkable

place thereabouts toward Saco, and also observe what places

were proper for cross-roads to each town or settlement." A like

warrant was given by Nicholas Manning, chief magistrate of

the Duke of York's province, for a survey from Pemaquid and

New Dartmouth to the Kennebec. 1

The only place of business in town at this time was on the

bay below India, then called Broad street ; here Silvanus Davis

had a warehouse, large for those times. In 1087, he was

licensed by the court, "to retail liquors out of doors in the town

of Falmouth," paying duties and imposts. It does not appear

that there was any other store in town ; Seacomb, who had been

licensed to keep an ordinary, several years before, had moved

to Back Cove and occupied the farm which he bought of the

heirs of George Lewis, situated on the point where Back Cove

bridge now lands ; this point was for many years called Sea-

connYs Neck. The business which had been conducted on a

large scale at Richmond's Island, in the early days of our his-

tory, had wholly ceased, and a proportion of it, we may suppose

to have been transferred to the Neck ; it consisted probably in

furnishing supplies to fishermen and other similar dealing. It

1 July 11, 1688 Nicholas Manning was appointed by Andross, Judge of the

Inferior court in Cornwall; this was a county in the Duke's province.

—

Massachu-

setts Files.
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does not appear that at this time any foreign trade was carried

on, as there formerly had been at Richmond's Island ; when

the interest of the proprietors in England ceased in lands here,

their foreign intercourse was wholly suspended.

The town at this period was agitated by a violent internal

commotion. A dispute had arisen among the principal men

respecting titles to land, in which the other inhabitants took

sides. The assumption of title by the government and their

distribution of the lands in town, although submitted to, was.

never quietly acquiesced in. The ancient inhabitants who had

been driven from their possessions by the war, felt themselves

injured, when the government undertook to bestow upon stran-

gers the soil which they had labored to subdue, and from the

fruits of which they had been driven by an irresistible violence.

This spirit of opposition was most loudly expressed by the

large landholders against those who had received the largest

share of favor under the new order of things. We find there-

fore that Davis and Tyng became the objects of popular odium

while Robert Lawrence led the crusade against them. Law-

rence complained to government that a grant had been made

to Davis of a mile square at Capisic, which embraced his land

;

in his memorial he represented that Davis had erected a saw-

mill on a small brook that was dry most part of the year, for no

other purpose than to deprive the petitioner of his marsh, and if

Davis's claim should be allowed, the petitioner would have "to

starve his cattle for such a person who seeks nothing but the

ruin and destruction of all his neighbors, as is well known to

all ye inhabitants, for whom it would have been happy had he

not come amongst them, seeking to enjoy that for which other

men have honestly paid and ^spent their time and labor and

estates and lives upon, when he run away from his own at

Kennebeck, where he pretendeth he hath land and marsh

enough." Lawrence, for the purpose of a decision on the title,

undertook to take grass from this marsh which Davis had cut

;

upon which Davis procured a warrant from Tyng to arrest him
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for stealing his thatch ; this, Lawrence refused to ohcy, and in

the course of the controversy he called Tyng "a hypocritical

rogue." The case now assumed an unexpected shape, and he

was carried before the court for scandal upon a counselor

of the governor. The people became enlisted in the quarrel,

and the town was kept in a ferment by it, until the more ab-

sorbing interest of personal danger from Indian hostilities ended

the unhappy controversy.

The question however of title to the land was discussed be-

fore the Governor ; Lawrence claimed under Munjoy from an

.
Indian title, which we have before noticed; Davis resisted this

title, and offered the following considerations "to prove that

Indian grants are not sufficient to eject a present possessor."

"1. Because of the king's patent to Sir P. Gorges in the

year 1622 or 1G29.

2. The former government made several publications after

the land was conquered from the Indians, that all should bring

in their claims in such a time as was therein expressed and

limited, or that otherwise the land should be disposed of to any

of his majesty's good subjects that would present for the set-

tling of the country.

3. If Indian titles be of force, that Mr. Lawrence's title can-

not be good, being not obtained from the right Sagamore, as

several of the Indian Sagamores did declare before Capt. Tyng,

Capt. Joshua Scottow, Capt. Gendall, and others, that Cheber-

rina 1 was the the right Indian Sagamore of all these lands.

4. If the Massachusetts government have confirmed the title

to the said lands to the said Lawrence or his ancestors, yet not

legal, because they did not confirm the said lands in a legal

and requisite way,

5. Mrs Mary Munjoy did make an agreement with Mr.

Thomas Danforth, late President of said province of Maine, to

divest herself of all claims to lands within the town of Fal-

1 A Peuobscot chief.

18
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mouth, excepting what was reserved in that instrument." 1

The latter seems to be the better ground of defense and

probably the one on which Mr. Davis succeeded. The tract

was confirmed to him and surveyed by Clements in 1687 or

1688.*

Davis and Tyng were in favor at court during the adminis-

tration of Andross, and consequently carried all their points.

After his downfall the inhabitants hoped to have prevailed

against them, and on the 24th of May, 1689, addressed the fol-

lowing petition : "To the right Hon. President, Simon Brad-

street and Hon. Council," "The petition of ye inhabitants,

of ye town of Falmouth, in Casco bay, whereas our town hath

been under the command of Lt. Col. Tyng and Capt. Sil-

vanus Davis and Lt. Thaddeus Clarke, an Irishman, who had

their commissions from Sir Edmund Andross, who have done

our town a great deal of damage to the loss of many of our

men, as far as we know the abovesaid Col. Tyng and Capt.

Davis did inform Sir Edmund Andross that the people of our

town were an unsubdued people, for they would obey no orders,

and that he would take some course with them ; then Sir E.

Andross said that he would set up a court of guard and that

1 Massachusetts Files.

* [The following is a copy of the" original notice from Andross to Lawrence, in

my possession.

"By his Excellency,

Whereas Capt Silvanus Davis hath by his petition among other things desired

his majesty's grant and confirmation for a parcel or tract of land att Kippiseck

containing about one mile square, to which I am informed you make some clayme

or pretence
;
these are therefore to require you forthwith, after receipt hereof to

make known unto Edward Tyng Esq. one of his majesty's councill what clayme

or pretence you make," &c. "On default whereof the said land will be granted

to said Silvanus Davis as desired. Dated att Boston the 30th day of August,

1687.

E. Andross

To Mr. Robert Lawrence

att Casco Bay By his Excellency's command

John West Dy Secy"]
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they should be upon the watch every third night and day,

which hath been the loss of many of our men, being thin

clothed and lying upon the hard floor this long winter nights,

and also a great loss of our * * * * both of wheat and peas,

watching the third part of our time and then being in our

arms as often as they please to call us, sometimes every other

day that it hath so disabled us about our employment in provid-

ing for our families that it hath very much impoverished our

town. We suppose that Col. Tyng can turn his coat when he

pleases, when he was with the army he could D with the

worst, but now we hear he can comply and profess like the best

and all for profit like Jehew. Capt. Davis did persuade the in-

habitants of our town to patent their lands and he drew peti-

tions for them near fifty and now he chargeth them six shillings

for every petition and said he would make the inhabitants poor,

he will not subscribe to pay our minister, since Sir Edmund

came ; we have a great many things that we can speak that

be of high concern but we shall forbear at present. The

humble request of your petitioners is that you would be

pleased to grant commissions to such men as we shall name

for captain and commissioned officers and your petitioners shall

ever pray." 1 To this was added, "The commissioned officers

i To this petition were subscribed the following names :—Samuel Pike, John

Palmer, Andrew Alger, George C , Jona. Orris, Anthony Brackett, Francis

Nicolle,' Joshua Brackett. Benry Crosby, Benry Bailey, Wm. Pearce, Robert

Oliver, Joseph Ingersoll, Robert Morrell, Thomas Enow, Eben'r Davenport,

Richard Seacomb, John Brown, sen. Ephraim Marston, Joshua Lane, Lewis Tuck-

er. John Wallis, Francis Baynes, George Felt, Nath'l Webber, .lames AVebber,

Matthew Paulling, Joel Madefor, sen. Josiali Wallis. Joseph Wallis, John Lane,

Joel Madefor, Nathl. White, James Wallis, Benry Barwood, Job Runnells, Philip

Eeds, Philip Gammon, John Randall, John Jordan, Reuben Haines, (IRobert)

Wm. German, (?Jameson,) John Frizell, Samuel Skilling, Richard Thomling,

George Adams. John Marshall, John Branford, Benry Langmaid, John Ham,

Wm. Mansfield, Thomas Roby, John Flea, Andrew ('reach. Robert Shores, James

Randall. Thomas Baker, John Brown, jr. Thomas Brown, Gustan John, Robert

Greason, John Nicholson, Wm. Rogers, Andrew Shaw, Peter Shaw, Thomas

Paine. Although these persons in the petition, style themselves inhabitants of
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chosen by the consent of the town are these, Anthony Brackett

Capt. Mr. Robert Lawrence Left, and Samuel Pike Ensign."*

This memorial produced a letter from President Danforth,

exhorting the people to live in peace, to bury their quarrels, and

unite in the common defense of the country. To this commu-

nication both Davis and his adversaries replied. Davis repelled

the charges made against him, said he was absent on public

duty when the petition was got up, regretted the divisions in

the town, and was willing to leave the service, but did not wish

to be driven out. 1

* [I annex copies of the signatures of Anthony Brackett and Silvanus Davis.]

#/^£cj ^ ocU^ f*i of ^^ j f f8r

^VLQtJ^- / Oft!

^Jt'tt rfcJit Au^

1 Davis states in his letter that he had but four men in the fort, with one Ser-

jeant and one gunner, and that he had supplied it ever since Capt. Lockhart had

left.

Falmouth, I have met with the names of many of them on no other occasion
;
I

have therefore thought that the names of persons who were on service here for a

temporary period may have been enlisted in the cause to give a show of strength.

It is very evident that we do not find among the subscribers, the names of many

persons of known respectability and property in town.
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Lawrence, on behalf of the town, replied the same day,'Jnne

12, 1689, as follows : "Hon'd Sir I am by the whole town de-

sired to acquaint you that they received your letter and being

met together unanimously resolved to agree to be commanded

by all their old officers here present, until further orders from

ye hon'd court excepting Capt. Davis, whom they are utterly

set against and will by no means be commanded by him for

divers reasons, which, if called to, are as they say ready to

give, Sufficient to exclude him from any publick office and earn-

estly desiring ye hon'd court that they may be commanded by

such persons as they shall approve of:" "by request of ye peo-

ple."

That Davis had a strong party we may infer from the absence

of the names of many respectable persons of the town from

the petition of his opponents, and also from the fact that he

retained the confidence of the government unto the last. 1 Davis

certainly settled here with the approbation of the town, from

which he received large grants of land and extensive privileges
;

these undoubtedly excited the envy and jealousy of some who

took advantage of the political changes to ruin him in public

favor. Lawrence was undoubtedly stimulated in his pursuit

of him by motives of private interest and revenge, and was

able by his standing and property to rally a party in his service.

There is, we think, no good reason to pronounce an unqualified

condemnation against such men as Davis and Tyng, whose

capital and enterprise for several years promoted the prosperity

of the place. It must not however be denied that in the time

dt' Andross, their ambition prompted them to support the cause

of arbitrary power against the rights and interests of the peo-

ple.

1 He was appointed a counselor by the charter of 1691.



CHAPTER X.

Population in 16S9

—

Commencement of tiie second Indian War—Andross visits Maine—His

AUTHORITY SUBVERTED—RENEWAL OF HOSTILITIES—ATTACK ON FALMOUTH RESISTED—SECOND ATTACK

AND DESTRUCTION OF THE TOWN.

We have now arrived at a period in our history, when all the

fair prospects which the prosperity of our town afforded, were

suddenly overcast by the hostility of the Indians.

The population had been gradually increasing since 1679,

and amounted at this time to at least sis or seven hundred. 1

We have no means of ascertaining the precise nnmber of

inhabitants, but have been able to trace with some degree

of certainty over eighty families ; and it may be presumed that

there were others, which have eluded our research. Of this

number about twenty-five families lived upon the Neck; nearly

forty at Purpooduck, Stroudwater, and Spurwink ; the remain-

der at Capisic, Back Cove, on the Presumpscot, and the bay

east of that river. Several persons who lived on the Neck,

had farms in more remote parts of the town, which they made

their occasional residence during the seasons of planting and

harvesting.

1 The whole population of New England was estimated in 1689, to have been

200,000. Massachusetts Historical Collections vol. i. 3d ser. p. 94. .The same

year the number of Indians from Massachusetts to Canso was estimated at four

thousand three hundred and ten souls. Massachusetts Historical Collections, vol. ix.

p. 334.
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Several causes have been assigned for the second Indian

war; those which the Indians themselves offered, were rather

the ostensible than the real foundation of the general rising.

They complained that the English refused to pay the yearly

tribute of corn as stipulated in the last treaty ; that they stop-

pod the iisli from ascending the Saco river, by seines and weirs

;

that their lands were taken by surveys under patents from the

government, 1
<

v tc But we must look beyond these motives for

the destructive events which ensued. The French missiona-

ries and other active men of that nation residing among the

Indians in the eastern part of the State, had acquired an abso-

lute influence over their minds by addressing them through

the terrors and hopes of religion, as well as by appealing to

their temporal interests. The French were more bitterly hos-

tile to the English, than were the savages themselves, and

though they could not impart to their allies the same jealousies

and the same motives of action, yet they could stimulate them

by the hope of plunder, the love of revenge, and religous

prejudices, to stain their tomahawks in the blood of an inof-

fensive population. 9

Among these active and cruel agents at this period, were the

Baron de St. Castin and the missionary Thury, both residing

on the Penobscot. Castin who had connected himself by mar-

riage with the chief Sachem of the country, was roused to

vengeance by a personal injury committed upon him in the

plunder of his property, and a claim of jurisdiction over his

estate, by the English. And Thury in his missionary zeal for

the Catholic faith, labored to persuade his flock that by exter-

minating the whole race from the soil, they would recover their

former importance as sole masters of the land and be doing

1 Mather's Magnalia, vol. ii. p. 505, Hutchinson, vol i. p,
'<-'>.

2 Bomazeen, a noted chief, told one of the Boston ministers that the French

had taught the Indians "that the Lord Jesus Chrisi was of the French nation;

that his mother, the Virgin Mary, was a French lady; and flmt it was the English

who had murdered him."

—

Mather's Magndix.



288 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

God service. It is not to be supposed that the Indians them-

selves were unwilling hearers of this preaching, or reluctant

doers of the work which was recommended ; and they entered

upon the task alike ignorant and careless of the consequences.

[Biard, the French missionary, in the "Relation of the

Jesuits," 1611, states the number of Indians at that time, from

the account of the savages, to have been as follows, viz : "From

the great river of the New Lands (St. Lawrence) to Chouacoet

(Saco) from nine to ten thousand souls :" thus the Souriquois

three thousand to thirty-five hundred ; the Eteminquois to the

Penobscot twenty-five hundred ; the Penobscots to Kennebec,

and from Kennebec to Chouacoet, three thousand ; La Montag-

rets, one thousand.]

They commenced their operations in August, 1688, by kill-

ing cattle in the eastern plantations, and threatening the lives

of the people ; the promise of assistance from the French in

Canada, made them menacing and forward in their deport-

ment, and they entered the houses of the inhabitants in an in-

solent and offensive manner. "They gave out reports that they

would make war upon the English, and that they were animated

to do so by the French." 1 These hostile indications created

alarm through the whole line of eastern settlements, and led

to some precautionary measures. In September, 1688, Captain

Tyng wrote from Falmouth that he was in treaty with the In-

dians, but feared that Casco would be the center of trouble.

The magistrates in Saco seized between sixteen and twenty of

those who had been principal actors in that quarter during the

last war, with a view of bringing their followers to a treaty,

and preventing the dreaded catastrophe. Among these were

Hopehood, the Higuers, and the Doney's, "all being cruel and

1 For many facts relating to the commencement of the war and the destruction

of the town, we rely upon the account of our townsman, Silvanus Davis, who was

a prominent actor in the scenes, which he relates. It is preserved in Hutchinson's

papers, published by the Massachusetts Historical Society, and is on file in the

office of State, Massachusetts.
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murderous rogues," who were sent under guard to Falmouth.

This step, which was perhaps incautious, led to reprisals on the

part of the Indians, who robbed the English and took some pris-

oners. Gov. Andross was at this time in New York, and those

who had charge of the government sent some troops to Falmouth

accompanied by Mr. Stoughton, one of the council, with a hope

of compromising the existing differences without the effusion

of blood. He was unsuccessful in his pacific purpose and re-

turned to Boston, having left orders that the prisoners should

be sent thither, and that the people should secure themselves

in garrisons. To accomplish this last order, Captain Gendall

proceeded to North Yarmouth with a company of soldiers in

September, to construct stockades on each side of Iloyall's river

for the defense of that place ; while there, he was attacked by

seventy or eighty Indians, whom after a severe conflict he suc-

ceeded in chasing away, with the loss of several lives on both

sides. This was the first blood spilt in the war. In the eve-

ning after the skirmish, Capt. Gendall and his servant crossed

over the river and were both killed in an ambuscade
;

l the same

evening, John Royall and another person were taken prisoners,

the latter of wThom was barbarously killed, but Mr. Royall'2 was

ransomed by Castin.

1 The previous incidents in Capt. Gendall's life have been already adverted to.

He appears not to have left any male issue, at leasl we do not meet the name

again, and it is believed t" have died with him.

-Win. Royall, tin 1 lirst of this family in this country, was settled in Casco bay

as earls as 1636, and is probably the same person who is mentioned in a letter from

tin- Governor of tin* New England Company to Endicott (Hazard, vol i. p. ii»;:,)

as having been sent over to him in 1 *
>
12 '.

» . Ee was "a cooper and cleaver." In

1644, In' purchased of Thomas Gorges tin' poinl of land on the easl side of the

river, which bears his name, and <>n which he then lived. Ee was one of the

General Associates of the province in 1648. in L673, he conveyed to his two

sons, William and John, his land and buildings on Westcustogo river (Royall's)

in consideration of supporl for himself and his wife Phebe. His son .John mar-

ried Eli/a Dodd, granddaughter of Nicholas I 'avis of York, and was living

there in June, 1680. Bis son William was born in 1640, and died November 7,

1724. in his eighty-fifth year. The Hon. Isaac Royall, son <>t' the second William,
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Gov. Andross on his return from New York, hoping by mild

measures to avert the pending calamity, released the Indians

who had been arrested and restored to them their arms, with-

out any condition as to the prisoners and property which had

been taken in retaliation. On the 20th of October, he issued

a proclamation requiring them to deliver up their captives, and

surrender for trial those persons who had been concerned in

the murder of Englishmen. The measures of conciliation and

the proclamation were alike ineffectual, and early in November

the governor raised a force of about seven hundred men and

marched through the country as far east as Pemaquid. In the

latter place he established a garrison of thirty-six men of the

standing forces under command of Capt. Anthony Brockholst

and Lieut. Weems, and left two new companies of sixty men

each, under the command of Captains Tyng and Minot, for its

defense. He also stationed garrisons at each of the settlements

on the coast ; that for Falmouth consisted of sixty men under

command of Capt. George Lockhart. The whole number of

troops disposed of in this manner in Maine and the province

east of the Kennebec, was five hundred and sixty-eight ; a

force sufficient to have protected the frontier had it been per-

mitted to occupy the stations into which it had been distributed.

Tbe expedition was fruitless of any other good consequences

;

not a single individual of the enemy was met with, and the

troops suffered severely on their march by fatigue and expo-

sure.

was born 1672, resided in Antiqua, nearly forty years, returned 1737, and died

June 7, 1739. The Royall who was taken prisoner, was John, son of the first

William; his house was used as a garrison by order of Col. Tyng and Judge

Stoughton. [A daughter of the second William, married Amos Stevens of North

Yarmouth. Isaac, son of Isaac, was chosen a councilor of Massachusetts, and

was long a representative from Medford, where he lived in lordly style. On the

breaking out of the revolution, he adhered to the loyal side and went to England'

where he died in October, 1781. He endowed the ''Royal Professorship of Law,"

in Harvard College by a gift of more than two thousand acres of land in Wor-

cester County, Massachusetts.]
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In April, 1089, the authority of Andross was subverted by

a popular excitement, and was succeeded by an irresolute and

inefficient government. The revolution, although it destroyed

an oppressive exercise of power, undoubtedly had a prejudicial

effect upon the existing war. As soon as information of the

movement in Boston reached the garrisons, they revolted from

their officers, many of them abandoned their posts, and they

all were more or less weakened. Andross in a report upon the

disposition of the forces, at the time of the subversion of his gov-

ernment, and the influence of it on his defensive [(reparations,

subjoins a note in relation to each garrison. Of Pemaquid he

says, "Upon the insurrection, the forces being Withdrawn,

and only eighteen of the standing company left in garrison,

the fort is since taken by the French and Indians and the

country destroyed." Of the fort at New castle he says, "Most

of the men drawn off, and others debauched, they seized their

officer and carried him prisoner to Boston, and thereupon the

fort was deserted." Of Falmouth he remarks, "The com-

mander seized and forces withdrawn." 1

In April, 1689, the Indians renewed their hostilities at Saco,

but without doing much injury. In June, Dover was surprised

and Major Waldron was cruelly slaughtered, with several other

inhabitants. In the course of the summer the Indians on the

Penobscot were joined by the French, and systematic opera-

tions were commenced on the settlements east of Casco bay
;

Pemaquid was taken, and all the inhabitants in that region

were driven from their homes and sought protection under the

fort at Falmouth.9

Notwithstanding the importance of Casco fort to the lives

1 Hutchinson Papers, t Massachusetts Historical Collections, 3d Ber. p. 85.

Some suspicions had been entertained by government that Capt. Lockhart

had communicated with the enemy, but this was repelled by a letter from Fal-

mouth, signed by A. Bracket! and several others, April 26, 1689, in which they

bay that he conducted with skill and fidelity while at Falmouth.

'-Mather's Magnalia, vol. ii. p. 512.
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and property of a large number of people, the government

seem thus far to have left its defense almost wholly to the care

and resources of private individuals. In June, 1689, Brackett,

Lawrence, and Ingersoll wrote to government urging immedi-

ate assistance ; they represented that there were but few men

in the fort and those almost worn out with watching, that they

had on hand but three and a half pounds of powder, twenty-

four hand grenades, and two and a half pounds of musket shot,

about twenty balls for the great guns, a small quantity of

match, about thirty cartridge boxes for small arms ; not one

musket belonging to the fort, and no provision. Silvanus Da-

vis wrote on the same day that he had supplied the fort from

his store ever since Capt Lockhart had left.

The government was roused from its lethargy by>ihcse rep-

resentations and alarming movements, and in August they

sent Major Swain by land with seven or eight companies to

protect the eastern towns. In September they procured the

services of Major Benjamin Church, of Plymouth colony, who

had been a skillful officer in Philip's war ; he raised from among

his old soldiers, volunteer troops of English and friendly In-

dians, and proceeded by water to the headquarters in Fal-

mouth. His instructions were signed by President Danforth,

who had been restored to his government June 28th, and the

commissioners of the United Colonies, September 18, 1689

;

in which were the following directions: "You are with all pos-

sible speed to take care that the Plymouth forces both English

and Indians be fixed and ready, and the first opportunity of

wind and weather, to go on board such vessels as are provided

to transport you and them to Casco, where if it shall please God

you arrive, you are to take under your care and command the

companies of Capt. N". Hall and Capt. S. Willard ;'" and again,

"we have ordered two men-of-war sloops, and other small ves-

1 These companies were part of the forces sent under Swain, but it does not

appear that Willard's company was here at the time.
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sels for transportation to attend you." It was agreed that his

soldiers should "have the benefit of the captives, and all lawful

plunder and the reward of eight pounds per head for every

fighting Indian man slain by them, over and above their stated

wages." He was further instructed to consult with Captain

Davis, of Falmouth, who they say, "is a prudent man and well

acquainted with the affairs of those parts, and is writt unto to

advise and inform you all he can." On his arrival at Falmouth,

it appeared that the enemy, the day before, had landed in large

force upon Peak's Island, at the mouth of the harbor. 1 He

found here Mrs. Lee, a daughter of Major Waldron, of Dover,

on board of a Dutch vessel, who had just been ransomed from

the enemy ; she informed him that the company she came with

had fourscore canoes, and that there were more of them whom

she had not seen, which came from other places, and that they

told her that when they came altogether, should make up seven

hundred men."- The preparations of the place were miserably

insufficient to protect the people from such a number of inva-

ders ; but Church with his [accustomed zeal immediately con-

certed with the chief men a plan of operations. From the

time he had arrived in sight of the harbor, he had caused his

troops to keep concealed, in order to take the enemy by sur-

prise ; at nightfall, he ordered them to be landed with as little

noise as possible, and to dispose of themselves in the fort and

adjacent houses, and be in constant readiness.

Early next morning, an hour before day, he put the troops in

motion, and with several of the inhabitants he proceeded "to a

thick place of brush, about half a mile from the town."

In the mean time, the enemy had not been idle ; in the night

they had moved to the upper part of the Neck, either by Fore

1 Joseph Prout wrote from Falmouth, September 17, 1689, that two hundred

Indians were then on "Palmer's Island."

2 Church's Expeditions. The number here is overrated probably. Davis in a

letter to government of September 23, 108U, states the number to have been be-

tween three and four hundred,



294 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

river or Back Cove, and by dawn of day, September 21, made

their appearance upon the farm of Anthony Brackett, whose

house stood upon the ground now occupied by the mansion of

James Deering, where they were discovered "by virtue of twelve

firings." TI13 alarm was immediately given by Brackett's

sons ; and Capt. Hall's company who were in advance, hastened

to the spot. The enemy were in Brackett's orchard, and here

the action commenced. Church, on hearing the alarm, pro-

ceeded with a reinforcement, and a supply of ammunition,

which was transported across Back Cove by one of the friendly

Indians. Capt Hall was sustained by the remainder of the

English forces stationed on this side of the creek, who galled

the enemy by firing over the heads of Hall's soldiers. After

maintaining the fight some time in this manner, Church deter-

mined to attack the enemy in the rear, and having communi-

cated his plan to Capt. Hall, he proceeded up the creek to the

bridge which crossed it, in the same place probably where one

now stands, on Grove street. The enemy perceiving his object,

immediately retreated, and he, supposing that they had made for

the bridge or sought some other passage into the town, returned

to the bridge and finding no trace of them there, hastened across

the Neck to the south side, by Clarke's point, where finding

"the cattle feeding quietly in Lt. Clarke's field," and per-

ceiving no trace of the enemy, he hastily retraced his steps,

and passing over the burnt land and through the brush, formed

a junction with Capt. Hall's company, which had borne the

brunt of the battle. He now gave orders for his whole army

to pursue the enemy, but learning that most of the ammunition

which was suitable for the guns was spent, he gave over his

design and returned with the dead and wounded to the fort.

Church closes his interesting account of this affair as follows :
l

"Capt. Hall and his men being first ingaged, did great service

1 "A Narrative of the several expeditions of Col. Benjamin Church against the

Indians from 1676 to 1704. Prepared for the press by his son." Col. Church

was born A. D. 1639, and died at Little Compton A. D. 1717.
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and suffered the greatest loss in his men. But Capt. South-

worth with his company, and Capt. Numposh with the Seconit

Indians, and the most of the men belonging to the town all

coming suddenly to his relief, prevented him and his whole

company from being cutoff. By this time the day was far

spent, and marching into Town about sunset, carrying in all

their wounded and dead men; being all sensible of God's good-

ness to them, in giving them the Victory, and causing the

enemy to fly with shame, who never gave one shout at drawing

off."

The field of this rencounter, as has heen intimated, was on

Brackett's farm, now owned by Mr. Peering, at Back Cove;

the orchard extended down toward the point. Capt. Hall

must have forded the creek or cove, in order to have attacked

their front. Church gives as a reason that he did not inter-

cept their flight, that "the thick 1 (rushy ground" impeded his

march. The enemy were judged to be three or four hundred

strong and the engagement continued about six hours before

they retreated.

The timely arrival of this succor saved the whole population

of the town from the merciless hands of their savage enemy

;

had Church arrived a day later, he probably would have been

called to bury the bodies of his slaughtered countrymen and

to mourn over the ruins of their settlement.

The loss on the part of the English in this action was eleven

killed and ten wounded
;

l of the enemy's loss not much is

known, as according to their custom, they carried their slain

' We have fortunately found the original list of the kill. -.1 and wounded on file

in Massachusetts State office, enclosed in a letter from Col. Church and dated on

the day of the action, "Sept. 21 1689 a liste of the men that was slain in a lite at

Falmouth, and also how many was wounded in said lite; of Capt. Hall's soldiers

six slain—Thomas Burton, Edward Ebens, Thomas Thaxter, Thomas Berry, John

Mason, David Homes.—OfCap^Davis' company two. Giles How. Andrew Alger,

belonging to the fort of the town. An Indian, a negro of Col. Tyng's, Capt.

Bracket* carried away or slain eleven in all—Wounded six friend Indians—of
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with them on their retreat ; Davis thought many of them must

have been killed. 1

The enemy met so warm a reception at Falmouth, and found

the country so well protected, that they retreated into their

forests and committed no further depredations during the year.

Church visited the garrisons at Spurwink and in Scarborough,

and went up the Kennebec river before he returned. On the

13h of November, 1G89, he held a councUof war at Falmouth,

at which were "present Capt. Davis, Capt. Win. Bassett, Capt.

Simon Willard, Capt. Nathl. Hall, Lt. Thaddeus Clarke, Lt.

Elisha Andrews, Mr. Elihu Gullison, Lt. George Ingersoll, Lt.

Ambrose Davis, Mr. Robert Lawrence, Mr. John Palmer, and

others." "Ordered that sixty soldiers be quartered in Fal-

mouth, beside the inhabitants and the soldiers that shall belong

to the fort, which shall be fifteen soldiers beside the commander

and gunner." It was also ordered that a sufficient garrison

be erected about Mr Gullison's house for a main court of guard,

and that and "Mr. Lawrence's garrison are to be supplied from

the sixty soldiers left to guard the said town." The chief

command was assigned to Capt. Hall.

1 In relation to the loss by the enemy, Church wrote from Falmouth to the

Governor, September 27, 1689, as follows : "We know not yet what damage we

did to the enemy in our last engagement, but several things that they left behind

them on their flight we found yesterday, which was gun cases and stockings and

other things of some value, together with other signs that make us think that we

did them considerable damage."

—

Hutchinson Papers.

Capt. Davis' company James Freeze, Mr. Bramhall, Thomas Browne, Mr.

Palmer inhabitants, total twenty-one slain and wounded."*

* Freeze and Bramhall died of their wounds and one friendly Indian. The following cxtrac
t

from 15. York's deposition in 1759, furnishes some additional particulars : "1 well remember that

said George Bramhall was shot by the Indians about ye same time in ye fight over on Capt. Brack-

en's farm, and said Brackett was also killed at the same time at his house on Back Cove, and said

Bramhall was brought over after ye fight to ye Neck near fort Loyal and put into Capt. Tyng's

house to best of my remembrance, and died the next day of his wounds; and his son and other

help they got, brought a number of hides from ye house and tan pitta to ye said Neck; and I re-

member saidJGeorge Bramhall left three sons, Joseph, George, and Joshua, and I think one daugh-

ter, who all moved away with their mother to the westward soon after."
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The inhabitants of Falmouth were fearful that vengeance

would be visited upon them in the spring by the enemy in re-

taliation for the late defeat, and were therefore anxious to

abandon the settlement on the return of Major Church. He
however persuaded them to remain, assuring them that if gov-

ernment would provide the means in the spring, "he would

certainly come with his volunteers and Indians to their relief."

This worthy officer labored hard to accomplish his promise

;

he represented fco the government their exposed situation, and

"at every opportunity entreating those gentlemen in behalf of

the poor people of Casco, informing them the necessity of taking

care of them, either by sending them relief early in the spring,

or suffer them to draw off, otherwise they would certainly be

destroyed. Their answer was, "they could do nothing till Sir

Edmund was gone !'n

This criminal indifference to the fate of so many people,

cannot be too severely reprobated ; and it was not until the

awful calamity which overwhelmed our settlement burst upon

them that they were sensible of their fatal error.

Early in the following year (1690) the enemy renewed their

depredations. They consisted of French and Indians ; in the

language of Mather, "being half one and half t'other, half In-

dianized French and half Frenchified Indians." In February,

they mado a descent from Canada upon Schenectady in New
York, in which they killed about sixty persons. On the 18th

of March another party commanded by xVrtel, a Frenchman,

and Hopchood, "that memorable tygre," destroyed the settle-

ment at Salmon Falls, "with fire and sword."

Capt. Willard, an experienced officer from Salem, who had

been stationed in Falmouth,2 wras ordered in February to pursue

i The government was preparingto send Sir Edmund Andross and some of

his council prisoners to England. Andross died in London, 1714.

»Capt. Willard wrote from Salem in November to the Governor that his men

at Casco needed supplies, that the parents of his soldiers were much displeased

19
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the enemy to their headquarters ; on his departure the com-

mand of the fort devolved upon Capt. Davis. It does not

appear that there were any regular troops left here, and the

defense of the place depended upon the courage and exertions

of the inhabitants. While they were in this situation, a party

of the French, some of whom Jiad assisted in the affair at

Schenectady, formed a junction with the eastern Indians un-

der Madockawando, and were discovered in the beginning of

May passing in a large fleet of canoes across Casco bay. From

the direction of their course the people of Falmouth enter-

tained hopes that their destination was to a more remote part

of the country ; but in this they were disappointed. In a few

days they were discovered lurking in this vicinity, and Robert

Greason, a Scotchman, one of our inhabitants who lived upon

the Presumpscot river, fell into their hands. As soon as it

was known that they were in the neighborhood, strict orders

were given for the people to confine themselves to their garri-

sons, and to keep constant watch to prevent surprise. There

were then in addition to Fort Loyal, four garrison houses in

this part of the town, whose local situation we have not the

means ,of accurately determining ; one was on Munjoy's hill,

near the burying ground, at the stone house of Capt. Lawrence.

Sullivan says another stood "where Dearing's house now

stands ;" this was at the foot of Exchange street, and was

probably the house of Lt. George Ingersoll, which occupied

that spot : he says another stood on the rocky ground south

of where the first meeting-house stands. He cites no author-

ity for determining these localities, and probably derived them

from tradition, which we have found a most unsafe guide

in inquiries of this nature. It would seem entirely unneces-

sary to have so many garrisons in the immediate vicinity of

because they had not returned as promised. He proposed that Dr. Haraden be

encouraged to visit the soldiers in Casco and take care of them.

—

Annah of Sa-

lem, p. 295.



THE SECOND INDIAN WAR. 299

the fort, and we have thought 'some of these defenses may

have been in the more remote parts of the town for the protec-

tion of the inhabitants there. Elihu Gullison's house was

established by the council of war in November proceeding, as

a principal garrison house, but we cannot determine its situa-

tion.

Thaddeus Clark, lieut. of a company of town soldiers, im-

prudently neglected the precaution which had been given to

keep his men within the garrison ; being desirous to discover

something of the movements of the enemy, he went out with

about thirty "of the stoutest young men," to the top of what

we suppose was Munjoy's hill, which was then covered with

woods. We give the sequel of this unhappy adventure in the

language of Mather: 1 "The outlet from the town to the wood

was through a lane that had a fence on each side, whioh had a

certain block house 2 at one end of it ; and the English were

suspicious, when they came to enter the lane, that the Indians

were lying behind the fence, because the cattle stood staring

that way, and would not pass into the wood as they used to do.

This mettlesome company then run up to the fence with an

huzza! thinking thereby to discourage the enemy, if they

should be lurking there ; but the enemy were so well prepared

for them, that they answered them with a horrible vengeance,

which killed the Lieut, and thirteen more on the spot, and the

rest escaped with much ado unto one of the garrisons."

After this disheartening and ominous event, the enemy im-

mediately attacked the garrisons ; these were resolutely de-

fended ; but at night, their ammunition being nearly exhausted,

the beseiged abandoned their posts and drew off to Fort Loyal.

Next morning, being the 16th of May, the enemy set fire to

the houses, and laid siege to the fort with their whole force.

The local situation of the fort was highly favorable to their

design : it was situated on a rocky bluff fronting the harbor, at

1 Magnalia, vol. ii. p. 524.

s Probably Lawrence's house.
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the base of which the enemy could work securely beyond the

reach of its guns. 1 The number of the assailants was so much

more numerous than that of the English, that the latter deemed

it not prudent to leave their defenses. The siege was carried

on five days and four nights, when at last, many of the English

having been killed and wounded, the remainder capitulated on

the 20th of May. The following account of the attack and

surrender, by Capt. Davis, the commander of the fort, will not

be uninteresting. "Myself having command of a garrison in

Falmouth for the defence of the same, a party of French from

Canada, joined with a company of Indians, to the number of

betwixt four and five hundred French and Indians set upon

our fort. The 16th of May, 1690, about dawning, began our

fight: the 20th, about 3 o'clock, afternoon, we were taken.

They fought us five days and four nights, in which time they

killed and wounded the greatest part of our men, burned all

the houses, and at last we were forced to have a parley with

them in order for a surrender. We not knowing that there

was any French among them, we set up a flag of truce in order

for a parley. We demanded if there were any French among

them and if they would give us quarter. They answered, that

they were Frenchmen, and that they would give us good quar-

ter. Upon this answer, we sent out to them again, to know

from whence they came, and if they would give us good quar-

ter, both for our men, women, and children, both wounded and

sound, and that we should have liberty to march to the next

English town and have a guard for our defence, and safety unto

the next English town—then we would surrender ; and also that

1 This bluff probably retains the same general features it had then ;
the fort

stood in the rear of the three-story house now situated at the foot of India street.

[Since this was written, 1831, the whole aspect of this locality has been changed.

The house has been removed, the rocky bluff leveled, and a large tract of flats

has been filled with earth, on which has been erected the spacious station-house

and the large engine house, of the Grand Trunk Railway Co., and it has become

the scene of a busy international traffic]
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the Governor of the French should hold up his hand and swear

by the great and ever living God, that the several articles

should be performed. All which he did solemnly swear to

perform ; but as soon as they had us in their custody, they

broke their articles, suffered our women and children and our

men to be made captives in the hands of the heathen, to be

cruelly murdered and destroyed many of them, and especially

our wounded men ; only the French kept myself and three or

four more, and carried us over land for Canada * * *. About

twenty-four days we were marching through the country for

Quebeck in Canada, by land and water, carrying our canoes

with us. The chief of the Indians that came against us was

those Indians that we had in hold, that Sir Edmund Andross

ordered to be cleared, and Sieur Castine and Madockawando,

with their eastern forces. The French that took us came from

Canada, in February last past, designed for the destruction of

Falmouth, by order of the Governor there, the earl of Front-

enac. The commander's name was Moiis. Burnifife : his Lieut's,

name was Mons. Corte de March, who wa"s at the taking of

Schenectadc. They brought several Indians with them from

Canada, and made up the rest of their forces as they^marched

through the woods from Canada. But 1 must say, they were

kind to me in my travels through the country. Our provisions

was very short—Indian corn and acorns—hunger made it very

good and God gave it strength to nourish. I arrived at Que-

beck the 14th of June, 1690. * * *. I was at Quebeck four

months and was exchanged for a Frenchman Sir Wm. Phipps

had taken, the 15th of October, 1690." 1

The names of but few of the persons who perished in the

unhappy fall of Falmouth arc preserved, and those incidentally.

Among the killed were Lieut. Clarke and the thirteen young

men of his company, who were left dead upon the spot as be-

fore noticed. [John Parker and his son James were also killed.

1 The original paper is on file in the Massachusetts office of State.
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The father was born in 1634. They had sought refuge in Fort

Loyal from the attack on his settlement at Parker's Island in

Kennebec, a short time before. John, the father of John, came

from Biddeford in England to Biddeford in Maine. In 1650,

he purchased the island in Kennebec river which bears his

name, and died there In 1661. His son John, above men-

tioned, was a large purchaser of land on the Kennebec, and

was carrying on an extensive business there when his property

and life were suddenly taken away. He was the ancestor of

Isaac Parker, the late honored and distinguished Chief Justice

of Massachusetts, who commenced the practice of law in Maine

and was a resident in Portland, when in 1806 he was placed

upon the bench of the Supreme Court. The descent from

John, who was killed, was through his son Daniel, who moved

to Charlestown, Massachusetts, and died in 1694, aged twenty-

seven, leaving a son Isaac, who was the grandfather of the

Chief Justice.]

Thomas Cloice and Seth Brackett, son of Anthony, were

killed, but it is not known whether they were among the slain of

Clarke's company or not. It appears by the Danvers records,

that Alsop, Edward Crocker, and Geo. Bogwell were killed at

Casco, in 1690. Jos. Ramsdell, a soldier from Lynn, was also

killecj- Capt. Robert Lawrence was mortally wounded, and

Anthony Brackett, Jr., James Ross, and Peter Morrell were

among the prisoners. [John Gyles in the narrative of his cap-

tivity, speaks of meeting on the St. John river a captive,

named James Alexander, a Jerseyman, who was taken from

Falmouth. There were also taken prisoners James Ross,

Joshua Swanton (a boy), Samuel York, Samuel Souter, Sarah

Davis (a girl), Thomas Baker (a boy), and George Gray.

Ross, Alexander, and Swanton, were returned to Boston in Octo-

ber, 1695.] It is to be regretted that a more perfect record of

the sufferers in this catastrophe has not been preserved ; we

have been indebted to ancient depositions taken to perpetuate

evidence, for the few names we have been able to present. In
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this disaster the town records were destroyed, 1 together with

all other combustible or destructible property in town, and the

once flourishing settlement exhibited an entire and melancholy

ruin.- It was visited by Sir Wm. Phipps and Major Church

in August, 1G92, on an expedition east, when they buried the

bones of the slain, as they were bleaching (upon the soil, and

removed the cannon of the fort, which had been too large for

Indian transportation.

After the capture of Fort Loyal the garrisons atPurpooduck,

Spurwink, and in Scarborough, were so disheartened that they

abandoned their posts and retreated upon Saco. In a few days

after, the people in the latter place drew off to Wells, and left

the country east of that settlement wholly depopulated and

unprotected.

Major Church was sent to this bay again in September to

harass the enemy. The expedition on its return anchored

for a night off Purpooduck Point : and the accommodations

1 It has been intimated that the town records were carried to Canada ; but it

is not probable that the enemy would take pains to preserve and transport so

great a distance, documents which to them had no sort of value. Judge Free-

man mentioned the report to me, but he had no authority for it ,but tradition.

Had there been a reasonable ground for the idea, the subsequent settlers would

have obtained them, at a time when their loss was severely felt and produced

great confusion in titles.

2 William Vaughan, Charles Frost, and Richard Martyn wrote to Boston from

Portsmouth, May 19, 1690, that they had just heard of the attack on Casco—that

two men from Spurwiuk garrison on hearing the firing at Casco, went to see about

it ; when they came near, "they saw but two houses standing, the fort on (ire

ami the enemy very numerous thereabout." On the 22d of May they wrote again

that the vessels they had sent, discovered that the enemy three or four hundred

strong had possession of Casco, and as they approached the fort, they were fired

upon, and while they staid the remainder of the fort and houses were burnt;

that three or four hundred people, mostly women and children, had arrived at

Portsmouth from the eastward, and that the vessels reported that Black Point,

Richmond's Island, and Spurwiuk were burning as they passed. The General

Court, in October following, ordered a payment for wages to be made to the

wives and relations of the soldiers who were slain or taken at Casco.

—

General

Court Files.



304 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

on board the vessels being limited, three companies of friendly

Indians encamped in a deserted house on shore. At the dawn

of day the Indians attacked the camp and an obstinate engage-

ment ensued, during which the troops from the vessels were

landed ; the enemy were driven off with the loss of thirteen

canoes. Several were killed and wounded on both sides ; one

Indian prisoner was taken, "a lusty man who had Joseph

Ramsdell's scalp by his side." 1

Falmouth became the scene of no more engagements during

the war ; a single anecdote relating to the place, told by Mather

with high relish, may close the subject. As the Indians were

passing through "deserted Casco," in 1694, the squaws de-

sired the young men to shoot some horses that were straying

about Capt. Brackett's orchard, as they were suffering from

hunger ; but the young men, wishing to have some sport first,

caught one of the horses, and making a halter from the mane

and tail, a son of the famous Higon mounted the steed for a

ride, and to secure him from falling he had his legs tied under

the horse's belly. But no sooner was the horse at liberty, than

he set out at full speed "through briar and brake," without

regard to the feelings or the wailings of his rider. Nothing

more was seen of poor Higon but a leg which was buried with

great lamentation in Capt. Brackett's cellar.

The war continued until 1698, when a treaty of peace con-

cluded at Ryswick, in 1697, between the English and French,

having been announced, and Madockawondo being dead, all

obstructions to an accommodation were removed. Articles of

agreement were entered into in October, and a treaty was finally

executed at Mare's Point in Casco bay, January 7th, 1699.

At which time the whole territory of Falmouth, which before

the war was covered with an active and enterprising popula-

tion, was a perfect blank, a thoroughfare for the savage and a

resort for beasts of prey.

1 Church. [Of our forces nine were killed and twenty wounded ; the loss fell

principally upon Capt. Southworth's company of friendly Indians from Plymouth

Colony, of whom fifteen were killed and wounded.]



CHAPTER XI.

A BRIEF NOTICE OF SOME OF THE INHABITANTS OF FALMOUTH DURING THE SECOND SETTLEMENT—NAMES

OF THE SETTLEUS.

Iii the foregoing pages we have introduced occasional notices

of some of the prominent men of the town. We propose now

to conclude this part of our history by adding some additional

particulars relative to the lives and characters of several of

the inhabitants, and furnishing as full a catalogue as we have

been able to collect of all who resided here between 1680 and

1G90.

James Andrews, son of Samuel Andrews, who came from

London, was born in 1635, probably in Saco ; but soon after

his father's death, which took place about 1638, he removed to

Falmouth with his mother on her marriage with Arthur Mac-

worth. He is supposed to have married for his first wife,

Sarah, a daughter of Michael Mitton ; the christian name of

his second was Margaret, we cannot supply the surname. He
lived on a farm east of Presumpscot river, which passed by

mesne conveyances to the Jones family, and is now, 1831, owned

by Capt. Samuel Moody. During the Indian war he removed

to Boston, where he died in 1704, leaving a widow, one son Eli-

sha, and three daughters, Rebecca, -wife of Jonathan Adams,

Dorcas, wife of Ebenezer Davenport* and Jane, wife of Robert

* [Davenport was son of Thomas Davenport of Dorchester, Massachusetts, ad-

mitted freeman, 1042, died 1085. Ebenezer Davenport was born 1001, his wife
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Davis ; he is believed also to have had a son James and another,

Josiah or Joshua. The last two not being mentioned in his

will, probably died before him.

Anthony Brackett, who was killed in 1689, has been so fre-

quently noticed, that but few remarks will now be necessary.

He filled a large space in the affairs of the town, and his death

at the commencement of the troubles must have been seriously

felt by his townsmen. Of his children by his first wife, Anthony

was taken prisoner at the capture of the fort, and escaped in

September following ; he rendered the country very acceptable

services during the war and finally settled in Boston : his son

Anthony was a rope-maker ; his posterity sold their right in

lands here and did not return. Seth, the second son, was killed

in the attack on the town in 1690. His daughter Mary was

unmarried in 1717. [She afterward married Nathaniel Whit-

tier of Salisbury.] Kezia married Joseph Maylem, and Elinor,

Richard Pullin, both of Boston. By the second marriage,

Brackett had Jane, Zipporah, Zachariah, Ann, and Susannah.

The latter married Samuel Proctor. He returned to Falmouth

before 1720, when another daughter was born here. He had

nine children born between 1709 and 1727, from whom a num-

erous posterity has spread over the state.

Thomas Brackett, brother of Anthony, married Mary Mitton,

and had by her, Joshua, born 1674, Sarah, married to John

Hill of Portsmouth, and Mary, married to Christopher Mitchell

of Kittery, 1708. He was killed by the Indians in 1676, and

his family carried into captivity, where his widow died the

same year.

George Bramhall came from Dover, N. H., where he lived in

1670 ; he was actively employed during the time he lived in

town ; he carried on the tanning business in addition to his

1663, He died 1736, she 1723 ; they had nine children, of whom three daugh-

ters, Tahitha married John Cox, Jr., Hepzibah, Thomas Cox, and Thankful,

Cox.]



NOTICES OF INHABITANTS. 307

large farm ; some remains of the tannery may still be traced

at the foot of the hill near Vanghan's bridge. His family, con-

sisting of his widow, Martha, and children, Joseph, George,

Hannah, and Joshua, after his death, which has before been

noticed, moved to Plymouth colony. 1 George was living in
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Hingham in 1733 ; Joseph was a wine-cooper in Boston, where

he died without issue in 1716. Hannah married Jonathan

Hall of Harwich ; Joshua returned to Falmouth in 1729, and

settled upon his father's farm, where he remained until 1758,

when he returned to Plymouth.

Thaddeus Clarke came from Ireland. He married Eliza-

beth, the second daughter of Michael Mitton, about 1662, which

is the earliest notice we have of him. Although a man of

standing and enterprise, he had not much education, his signa-

ture to instruments was made by a mark. He lived on the

bank a little above the point on the Neck, to which he has left

his name, where t*ace of the cellar of his house is still visible,

[1831, but now obliterated by modern improvements.] His

eldest daughter, Elizabeth, married Capt. Edward Tyng, anoth-

er married a Harvey, and was a widow in Boston, 1719 ; his son

Isaac was living in Pramingham, Massachusetts, in 1718 ; his

widow died in Boston in 1736, aged 92 years.

Thomas Cloice was the son of John and Julian Cloice. He
married Susannah, a daughter of George Lewis, by whom he

had three children, Thomas, who died in Boston before 1735,

without issue ; George, who lived in Salem in 1735, and Han-

nah. He had a house on the north side of Middle street, a few

rods west of India street. A Sarah Cloice who was' a conspic-

uous object in the Salem witchcraft in 1692, was probably con-

nected with this family. None of them returned to Falmouth.

John Corney was a laborer ; he lived one year in John In-

gersoll's house and one year in Samuel Ingersoll's house, both

on the Neck ; he had a sixty acre lot on Nonsuch Point ; he

had a son Elisha, born 1668 ; they both subsequently lived in

Gloucester, where the name is written Curney. He married

Abigail Skillings, 1670, and had several children. He died

1725, aged 80. His wife died 1722, aged 70.

Ebenezer Davenport came to Falmouth about 1685, when

he was about twenty-four years old, and lived on a farm east

of Presumpscot river, near James Andrews, whose daughter he
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married. On the destruction of the town he settled in Dor-

chester, where he was living in 1735, aged seventy-four years.

(See ante, page.)

Isaac Davis lived on a large farm at Stroudwater, north of

Long Creek, hut he had a house upon his lot in the village on

the Neck. He had several children, of whom John was the

eldest, born in 1G60, who, with his brother Samuel, was living

in Gloucester in 1733 ; James, another son, and the children

of a daughter who married Pitts, were living in Ipswich the

same year ; another daughter married Smith, whose son Rich-

ard lived in Biddeford in 1720.

Lawrence Davis was a settler before the first war ; during

this war he remained in Ipswich, from which he returned about

1681, and settled upon his farm at Purpooduck. His daugh-

ter Rachel, born 1663, married Robert Haines for her first

husband, and Wedgewood for her second, and lived with him

in Hampton, N. H. Davis's son, Jacob, also settled at Purpoo-

duck, where he had a family.

Silvanus Davis. Of the early part of the life of Mr. Davis

and his connection with Falmouth, as much has been already

exhibited as is consistent with our limits. On his return from

captivity in 16"90, he probably fixed his residence in Boston,

where he died in 1703. He was appointed by the king a coun-

selor for Sagadahoc under the charter of 1601. He left a

widow but no issue ; by his will he gave to his wife the use of

the "house he lately built at Nantaskct," with the furniture,

during her life, and to the three daughters of James English,

"in consideration of his intimacy and kindness" all his interest

in lands in Casco bay, they giving to his wife five pounds each.

Henry Donnell, came from York and occupied Jewell's Island

as a fishing stage about thirty years. He married a daughter

of Thomas Reading, an early settler in Saco, but who after-

ward moved into Casco bay, by whom he had sons, Henry and

Samuel. They were subsequently inhabitants of York. Sam-

uel became a counselor under the new charter, [a magistrate
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and judge of the court of Common Pleas. He died March 9,

1718, aged seventy-two. His son Nathaniel, born November

18, 1689, died February 9, 1780, aged 91.]

James Freeze was killed by the Indians in 1689
;
probably

a son of James of Salisbury, by wife Eliza, 1667 ; he left a

son Jacob, who afterward lived in Hampton. Jonathan,

George, and Joseph Freeze are stated to have been his heirs.

[He had a three acre lot on the Neck "on the path that goes

to Mr. Clark's."]

Philip Gammon was a fisherman and lived at Pnrpooduck.

He married a daughter of John Parrott, also a settler in the

same place. He was living in Portsmouth in 1734. There are

persons of this name now in Cape Elizabeth, who probably de-

scended from him.

John Gustin 1 bought land on Presumpscot river just above

the falls, of Thomas Cloice, in 1686, and lived upon it. Aftei

the destruction of the town he lived at Lynn. He returned to

Falmouth, where he died in 1719, leaving a widow, Elizabeth,

and children, Samuel, John, Ebenezer, Thomas, David, Sarah,

and Abigail.

Robert Haines lived at Purpooduck ; he married Rachel,

daughter of Lawrence Davis, by whom he had one son, Thomas,

who was his only heir, and was living in Hampton in 1733.

His widow married a Wedgewood after the death of Haines,

and was living at Hampton in 1747, aged eighty-four.

1 1 have before intimated an opinion that this person is the same who received

a grant from Danforth under the name of Augustine John, who was a Jerseyman.

I am confirmed in that opinion by a fact stated by Peter Housing in a petition

1687, that his mother sold one-half of his father's farm on the west side of Pre-

sumpscot river to "Gustian John, a Frenchman." Now Housing was connected

by marriage with John Cloice, from whom he received land on the Presumpscot;

and Thomas Cloice, son of John, who received the principal part of his father's

land on the river conveyed to John Gustin sixty acres of it December 14, 1686.

John Gustin subsequently claimed and his family occupied it, and his descend-

ants live in that neighborhood to this day. We hear nothingefterward of Augus-

tine John, except as a subscriber to a petition in 1689, in which his name is

written "Gustan John." See a previous notice of this settler.
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George Ingersoll. The Ingersolls having been repeatedly

mentioned in the foregoing pages, and their origin noticed, we

shall now add but few particulars relating to them. We have

no doubt that all of the name, who settled here descended from

Richard, who arrived at Salem in 1629. The first George, the

limit., born 1618, survived the second desolation of the town,

and was living in Salem in 1694, aged seventy-six. Beside the

three children, George, Samuel, and one killed in the first war,

he had in Gloucester, by his wife Elizabeth, Joseph, 164G, Eliza-

beth, 1648, died 1649, Elizabeth 1651, Mary, 1657. In 1694 he

sold to Timothy Lindall, of Salem, his house lot on the Neck,

lying cast of Exchange street and extending to the channel of

Fore river. His son Samuel's house lot joined this on the east,

and he sold it to Mary Sargent in 1721 ; Samuel lived at Stroud-

water between the river and "Davis's Mills." We do not

know the time of George's death nor that of his son Samuel.

George, Jr., was a shipwright ; he moved to Boston after the

fall of the town, but returned on its revival. He did not how-

ever long remain here at that time, but returned to Boston,

where he died before 1730. In 1687, he was living on one

hundred acres at Stroudwatcr, possessed by him about twenty-

six years. His son Daniel occupied his Danforth grant lying

east of Willow street, which was confirmed to him by the town

in 1721. Daniel was also a shipwright, and moved to Boston

after a residence here of a few years. He sold his house lot to

Moses Pearson in 1730, describing it as "his father's former

possession." Part of this continues in the family of Pearson

to this day [1831. It has long since passed into other hands

and is now occupied as the Commercial Hotel.]

John Ingersoll, as we have seen, lived at Capisic, was son of

George. On the breaking out of the war he moved to Kittery,

where he died in 1716, leaving a widow Deborah, then aged

seventy-one, and children Elisha, Nathaniel, John, Ephraim,

Deborah, born 1668, and married to Benjamin Larrabee, Mary,

married to Low, Rachel, wife of John Chapman, Abigail,
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married to Blacey, another daughter who died before him,

who had been married to Brown. His son Elisha, and

son-in-law Chapman, came to Falmouth on the resettlement,

and took possession of the farm.

Joseph Ingersoll was a joiner, son of George, and lived at

Capisic ; he married a daughter of Mathew Coe. Danforth

granted him a lot on the west side of Exchange street, on

which he built a house. On the resettlement of the town

his son Benjamin returned from Gloucester, where his father

then resided, took possession of his father's grants, and became

an active and useful inhabitant. In 1738, Benjamin sold four

acres lying west of Exchange street, including his homestead

to Phineas Jones, and moved to North Yarmouth. [Joseph died

in Gloucester, March 12, 1718, aged seventy-two.

Samuel Ingersoll was a soldier in Philip's war. He was a

shipwright and established himself in his trade in Gloucester.

He had two sons by his wife Judith, in Gloucester, Nehemiah,

1705, Joel, 1709 ; his son Samuel married in Gloucester in

1708.]

Dominicus Jordan, third son of Robert Jordan, married Han-

nah, a daughter of Ralph Tristram of Saco, as early as 1683,

and lived at Spurwink. By her he had Dominicus, born in

1683, Mary Ann, Samuel, Nathaniel, Hannah, married to

Joseph Calef of Boston, and Elizabeth married to Humphrey

Scammon of Saco. Capt. Jordan was killed in the war of

1703 by the Indians, and his wife and family were carried to

Canada. They were all restored but Mary Ann, to whom the

name of Arabella was given by her French masters. She mar-

ried in Canada, where she was living in 1760, and never re-

turned. The eldest son, Dominicus, escaped after a residence

of several years at Trois Rivieres, and was an active and useful

man in the subsequent affairs of our town, as will be hereafter

more particularly mentioned ; he was the progenitor of a num-

erous race, part of whom now occupy the paternal estate.

Nathaniel also established himself on his hereditary estate,
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which was finally divided among the heirs in 1754. Samuel

and Elizabeth lived in Saco, where their posterity still maintain

a respectable rank.

Robert Lawrence, who was killed in the attack upon the fort

in 1690, sustained the rank of captain. [He built a stone

house on Munjoy's hill, near the cemetery, in which he lived,

and which was used as a garrison in times of peril.] His

wife was the widow of George Munjoy, by whom he entered

into the possession of a large property here. It docs not ap-

pear that he left any offspring, and we have not been able to

ascertain his origin. A long quarrel growing out of a disputed

title, subsisted for many years between him and Silvanus Davis,

which was terminated only by his death. His widow married

Stephen Cross of Boston, for her third husband, and died in

Boston in 1705.

Peter Morrell lived in India street ; the date of the first

deed to him of land here was in 1681 ; it was of a house lot

from Thomas Mason ; he probably came here about that time.

After his capture in 1690, his wife and children moved to Bev-

erly, where they subsequently lived. His wife's name was

Mary. Their daughter Mary, who married George Tuck, and

was residing in Falmouth in 1734, in a deed of that year styles

herself the only surviving child and heir of said Peter.

James Mariner probably came hero from Dover : or James

Marinell, whom I have supposed to be the same, as that name

does not afterward occur in our records, came from that place

and purchasod land on the Neck, of Joseph Hodgsdon, in 1686.

He was born in 1651, and was living in Boston in 1731. Some

of the same name, and probably his children, were inhabitants

of the last settlement.

Dennis Morough lived at Purpooduck, where he married

Jane, the eldest daughter of Sampson Penley, an ancient set-

tler. We find trace of but one son, who bore the name of his

father and was living with him in Norwich, Connecticut, after

20
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the war. In 1734, the son was an inhabitant of Coventry.

None of the family returned here.

Jonathan Orris was a blacksmith, and lived east of India

street. He does not appear to have left any children. His

three brothers, Nathaniel of Barnstable, Experience of Brain-

tree, and John of Boston, inherited his property. [He was

living in Gloucester in 1691 and 1693.]

John Parrott, a fisherman, was a settler under Danforth,

No male issue survived. His eldest daughter, Mary, married

Philip Gammon ; another daughter, Sarah, married John

Green, who lived in Newport, R. I., in 1738. There was a

John Parrott in Rowley, 1643.

Sampson Penley was a settler before the first war, as early

as 1658, and returned on the restoration of peace. We have

been unable to ascertain when and where he died. He left

a widow, Rachel, and three daughters : Jane, married to Den-

nis Morough, Dorcas, to Hugh Willcott, and Mary, to Edward

Bailey ; the latter was living in Stoughton, Massachusetts, in

1734, a widow. [Dorcas Willcott had a daughter Elizabeth,

who married a Pringle, and who inherited her estate.]

James Ross was born in Falmouth, 1662, son of James ; he

was taken prisoner with his father's family in 1676, and again

in 1690. He was a shoemaker by trade and occupied his

father's farm or part of it at Back Cove ; his mother was Ann,

the eldest daughter of George Lewis. On his return from his

second captivity he resided in Salem. His father was here

about 1657. He was living in Salem, 1724.

John Skillings was the son of Thomas Skillings of Back

Cove, the ancestor of all of the name in this neighborhood,

who came here as early as 1651, and died 1667, leaving two

sons, Thomas, born 1643, and John. During the first war he

continued in Salem ; at its close he returned and entered with

zeal and activity upon the improvement of his former as well

as later possessions. He was a carpenter. His principal farm

was at Stroudwater where he lived, about a mile north-west of



NOTICES OF INHABITANTS. 315

Long Creek. He also ha'd seven, acres on the Neck, where

Center streel now is, which lie obtained, by exchange with Rev.

George Burroughs in 1G83, on which he had a house. [The

lot which he conveyed to Burroughs in exchange, was the ninth

west of Clay Cove, adjoining Samuel Ingersoll's lot.] His son

Samuel, born in 1677, conveyed the Center street tract, about

1732, in parcels, to William Cotton and others, under whom it

is now held. We have it from tradition that John Skillings

died before he was forty years old, and that his widow and four

children removed to Piscataqua. This would be about thetime

of the second Indian war, of which he may have been a victim
;

he was living in 1G88. Samuel returned and established him-

self at Long Creek.

Lewis and John Tucker were brothers, and lived on adjoin-

ing farms cast of Presumpscot river. The children of Lewis

were Hugh of Battery, fisherman, Lewis of Newcastle, N. H.,

Elizabeth, married to Bragdon of Kittery, and Grace, mar-

ried to Isaac Pierce of Boston, tailor. The first Lewis was

was born 1643,

Ralph Turner was an ancient settler in Purpooduck ; he

was here in 1659, and witnessed by his mark, a deed from

Cleevcs to Phillips in that year ; he lived on a farm of two hun-

dred acres between Long and Barberry Creeks, on which in

1687, he had "a faire dwelling house and other improvements."

His daughter Hannah, who married Thomas Holman, a shoe-

maker, was living with her husband at Rehoboth in 1729, and

styled herself "daughter and heir of Ralph Turner." He
was chosen constable in 1070.

Edward Tyng came here as early as 1680, and soon after

married Elizabeth a daughter of Thaddeus Clarke, and great-

granddaughter George Cleeves. He was the second son of Ed-

ward Tyng, who came to this country with his brother William,

about 1636. The time of his birth is not known, probably

1649 ; his . elder brothor Jonathan was born in 1642. He

owned a number of pieces of valuable land on the Neck, and
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several houses ; on a tract of forty-four acres, extending from

Robison's Point to north of Main, now Congress street, and

about seventy rods fronting the harbor, he had three dwelling

houses in 1687, when it was surveyed under a patent from An-

dross, in one of which he lived. The cellar of this house could

be seen on York street, a little west of State street, 1840, but

now, 1864, is obliterated. -In 1680 and 1681, he commanded

Fort Loyal, was one of the counselors or magistrates of Maine

during the presidency of Mr. Danforth, and in 1686 was appoint-

ed by the king one of the counselors of President Joseph Dud-

ley, who married his sister, and of Gov. Andross. He was

appointed Lt. Colonel by Andross, and had a command in the

province of Sagadahoc, in 1688 or 1689. He was afterward com-

missioned as Governor of Annapolis in N. S., and on his passage

there, was captured by the French and carried to France, where

he died. He had four children, Edward, born 1683, Jonathan,

who died young, Mary, married to the Rev. John Fox of Wo-

burn,1 and Elizabeth, married to a brother of Dr. Franklin.

Wm. Tyng, late of Gorham, who was grandson of Edward, by

his eldest son Edward, was the last survivor of the male poster-

ity of the Tyng family in this country. William's father died

in Boston, Sept 8, 1755, and his brother Edward died a bach-

elor in England.

Wallis. Persons bearing this name in Falmouth were num-

erous during the second settlement. The first of the name

were Nathaniel and John, who were probably the ancestors of

all the rest ; they were both here before the first war. Nathan-

iel lived at Back Cove, and John on Purpooduck Point ; John

was one of the selectmen in 1681. In addition to these in the

subsequent settlement, were Josiah, who was born in 1662, and

was living in Gloucester, 1734, Benjamin, Joseph, and James,

who was born 1670, were brothers, and lived at Purpooduck

;

1 Lineal descendants of this connection are now among our enterprising citi-

zens, who may trace their origin in the male line to John Fox the martyr, and in

the female to Cleeves, the first settler of Falmouth.
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these were all sons of John ; they went to Gloucester after the

destruction of the town, but returned again. Josiah's son John

was an inhabitant of Cape Elizabeth in 1768, aged about sev-

enty years ; a few of his descendants remain. Matthew Paul-

ling and John Lane married daughters of John Wallis, and

lived near him at Purpooduck Point in 1687. The first

Nathaniel was born in 1632, and was living in Beverly, 1701 ;

he had a son John, whose son John was a resident in Sher-

burn, Massachusetts, in 1720.*

Thomas Walter, with his wife Hannah, moved here from

Salem, about 1682, and settled at Purpooduck. His wife was

then twenty-five years old, having been born in 1657. In

1732, his son William, then living in Boston, in a deed of his

father's property in Falmouth, styled himself "his son and only

heir."

Samuel Webber. There were several of the name of Web-

ber inhabiting here during the second period of our history,

among whom were Samuel, Thomas, and Joseph. Of the

latter, we only know that he had grants of land from the town

as a settler. Thomas married Mary, a sister of John Parker,

a large landed proprietor on the Kennebec, where Thomas had

lived before the first war. His family moved to Charlestown

during the second war ; he left a widow and several children,

one of whom was named Joseph. Mary Webber was a peti-

tioner to Andross for a patent in 1687, of land granted her by

the town six years before. Samuel was here as early as August,

1681, when he received a grant of the mill privilege on Long

Creek, on which he erected the first mill which was built on

that stream, and which he sold in 1685 to Silvanus Davis and

John Skillings. He was a witness on the trial of George Bur-

roughs in 1692 at Salem, and testified to his great strength.

*[John and Nathaniel Wallis were born in Cornwall, England. Nathaniel, 1632;

he died in Beverly, Massachusetts, October 18, 1709. Margaet, his widow, died

May 14, 1711, aged about eighty-one. Their children were Caleb, Joshua, John,

and Mary. Mary married Pike.]
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He died in York, 1716, leaving a, widow, Deborah, and nine

children, viz : Samuel, John, Thomas, Benjamin, Waitstil,

Joseph, Mary, wife of Joseph Sayward, Deborah, and Dorcas.

[Deborah was born in Gloucester, 1695. Two others, twins,

Waitstil and Patience, were born in Gloucester in 1698. After

this he moved to York.]

There was also a family of Yorks here ; Samuel, born 1678,

and Benjamin, born 1680, were children and living here on

the destruction of the town, as appears by depositions given by

them in 1759 ; but we do not know who their father was.

John York was one of the trustees of North Yarmouth in 1584,

and it is not improbable that he was their ancestor. He was

living in 1685, "on land which lieth in Casco bay in North

Yarmouth, which was once possesesed by John Atwell, who

bought the same of Richard Bray, Sen., and there he inhabited

till drove off by the Heathen." On the breaking up of North

Yarmouth, in 1688, he probably took refuge in Falmouth.

[The* Yorks who came to Portland were probably descended

from Richard York who lived in Dover in 1648. He died in

1674, leaving a widow, Elizabeth ; and Savage thinks was the

the father of Benjamin, Edward, and John. Benjamin was

first taxed in Dover in 1677. July 22, 1670, James, Thomas,

and Samuel York purchased of the Indians a large tract of

land on the east side of the Androscoggin river, and styled

themselves planters. A James York lived in Braintree, Mas-

sachusetts, where his son James was born, June 14, 1648, but

moved to Connecticut, where he was made freeman, 1666.

The son James living in Stonington, 1670, sold his estate in

Boston, 1672, and died, 1678. Samuel who lived in Falmouth,

in his deposition given in 1759, when he was eighty-one years

old, says he lived in Falmouth seventy years ago. There was

another Samuel in Gloucester, who died March 18, 1718, aged

seventy-three, giving for his birth, 1645. He had by his wife

Hannah, John, born 1695, and Thomas ; in his will, other

children are named, as Samuel and Benjamin. This son Sam-
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uel was probably the settler in Falmouth, who was born in

1678, as was the Benjamin, born 1680. Samuel is supposed

to have moved to Ipswich in 1689 or 1690, and "being arrived

at old age," in 1767, made his will. Benjamin married Mary

Giddings, 1704, and had six children born in Gloucester before

1728, in which year he was admitted an inhabitant of Falmouth.

He had previously lived in Falmouth, before the Indian war of

1690, and was living there in 1759, when he was seventy-

nine years old. We find on the Falmouth records the birth of

Sarah, daughter of Benjamin and Mary York, April 6, 1724,

and Joseph, son of same, August 6, 1728.]

We have not space to give a detailed account of all the set-

tlers in Falmouth between the first and second wars, but we

will now subjoin a catalogue of their names as far as we have

been able to collect them. In the second war some families

were probably entirely destroyed, others lost their male branch-

es : in this way we may account for the fact that so few of the

ancient names are found in our subsequent history.

NAMES.
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John Browu, Sen., Purpooduck.

George Burroughs, Neck.

Joshua Brackett.

Thomas Brown.

Philip Carpenter, Spurwink.

Thaddeus Clarke, Neck,

Thomas Cloice, Neck.

John Corney, Neck,

John Culliver.

Abraham Collings.

*Henry Crosby.

Andrew Cranch.

Ebenezer Davenport, New Casco.

Isaac Davis, Stroudwater.

Lawrence Davis, Purpooduck.

Jacob Davis, Purpooduck.

Silvanus Davis, Neck.

John Davis, Purpooduck.

Joseph Daniel.

Henry Donnell, Jewell's Island.

John Durham.

Moses Durant.

Philip Edes.

John Edwards, Purpooduck.

Thomas Enow.

• George Felt, New Casco.

James Freeze, Neck.

Jacob Freeze, Purpooduck.

Nicholas Freeby.

Moses Felt.

John Frizefl.

John Flea.

Elihu Gullison,

Edmund Gale, Back Cove.

Robert Greason Presumpscot,

Philip Gammon. Purpooduck.

John Gustin or Augustine John, Presumpscot.

John Graves.

Robert Haines, Purpooduck.

Peter Housing, Presumpscot.

Henry Harwood, Neck.

Philip Horruan.
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John Holman,

Joseph Holmes,

Joseph Hodgedon,

Francis Haines.

John Harris,

George Ingersoll,

George Ingersoll, Jr.,

John Ingersoll,

Joseph Ingersoll,

Samuel Ingersoll,

Dominicus Jordan,

William James,

Francis Jefferies,

John Jones,

John Jordan,

Robert Jordan,

Samuel Jordan,

Jedediah Jordan,

Jeremiah Jordan,

John Lane,

Isaac Larrabee.

Joshua Lane,

Robert Lawrence,

George Lewis,

Philip Lewis,

Anthony Libbee,

Purpooduck, lived in North Yamouth be-

fore first war.

New Casco

.

Neck, moved to York about 1686.

Purpooduck.

Capisic.

Capisic.

Capisic

Capisic.

Capisic,

Spurwink.

Purpooduck.

Neck.

Neck.

son of Rev. Robert, of Spurwink,

Purpooduck.

Back Cove.

Neck.

Back Cove.

Back Cove.

Moved to Portsmouth about 1685 ; he was

a carpenter and brother-in-law of A.

Brackett.

Thomas Loveitt,
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John Nicholson,

Jonathan Orris,

*Robert Oliver.

Thomas Paine.

John Palmer,

Thomas Page,

John Parrott,

Matthew Patten or Paullin,

Wm. Pearce.

John Peadrick.

Thomas Peck,

Sampson Penley,

Joseph Phippen,

David Phippen,

Richard Pope,

Richard Powsland or Powsley,

Samuel Pike,

John Randall.

John Rider,

James Randall.

Wm. Rogers,

James Ross,

Thomas Roby.

Job Runnells.

Richard Seacomb,

Andrew Shaw.

John Seacomb.

Peter Shaw.

John Smith,

Leonard Slew,

John Skillings.

Thomas Sparke,

Robert Staniford,

Thomas Staniford,

John Staniford,

Clement Swett,

Robert Shares.

Samuel Skillings.

Lewis Tucker,

John Tucker,

Ralph Turner,

Edward Tyng,

Richard Thomlin.

Neck, brother-in-law of Geo. Ingersoll, Jr.

Neck.

Neck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Neck.

,

Back Cove.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Spurwink.

Capisic.

New Casco.

Back Cove.

New Casco.

Back Cove.

Neck and Back Cove.

Back Cove.

Purpooduck.

Stroudwater.

Spurwink.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

New Casco.

New Casco.

Purpooduck.

Neck.
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Nathaniel Wallis,

John Wallis,

Josiah Wallis,

James Wallis,

Benjamin Wallis,

Joseph Wallis.

Thomas Wallis,

Samuel Webber,

Thomas Webber.

Joseph Webber.

Miehael Webber,

Zachariah White,

Nathaniel White,

Josiah White.

Back Cove.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Stroudwater.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck.

Purpooduck. He left only two children,

Mary and Dorcas, who married

Nathaniel and John Danford

of Newbury.

Purpooduck. Josiah had a daughter Meri-

am, married Richard Suntay.

New Casco.

Stroudwater.

Nathaniel Wharff,

.John Wheelden,

Nathaniel Webber.

James Webber.

Samuel York.

Benjamin York.

[The following tax list, discovered since the first edition of this work was pub-

lished, furnishes me with some additional names. The tax for town charges in

1683, was twelve pounds sixteen shillings four pence. The province charges were

seventeen pounds seventeen shillings ten pence. In the tax for 1683j were the

following items, viz:

'Richard Powsland for money lent the town to go for Mr. Burroughs ) „. -,.

twenty or thirty shillings in good pay. )
'

'

Anthony Bracket! to pay part of Mr. Burroughs' passage, 5.

Passage, and boards and nails for ye ministers house and workmen, 5.5.

To John tngersoll and George Ingersoll for one thousand boards to > . .„

floor the meeting-house )

"A rate made by the selectmen of the town of Falmouth, the 21th of Novem-

ber, 1684, on the real estate, and all vacant lands of the inhabitants of said town.

Mr. Nathaniel Frier, £0.19.5

Mrs. Jordan. Jeremiah's mother, 1.09.10

Robert Elliott, 9,

Wm. Lucas, 2.6

Samuel Sweat. 2.6

Mr. John Clark. 2.6
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The warrant is directed to the constable of Spurwink, Richmond's Island,

and Cape Elizabeth : and is signed,

ANTHONY BRACKETT,-)
WALTER GENDALL, I «, , „tman ,

GEORGE INGERSOLL,
f

oeiecimen
-J

THADDEUS CLARKE, J



II. AN ACCOUNT OF LIMERICK,

BY CHARLES FREEMAN.*

Limerick contains about fourteen thousand acres, or twenty-

three square miles ; being small in territory. Its surface is hilly,

for the most part, and the hills are abrupt. Their summits are

ledgy, but are covered mostly with a thin layer of earth. The

ledges are composed of granite of a very coarse grain ; too

coarse to allow the stone to be used for buildings. The granite

employed for underpinning and door-steps, conies almost wholly

from Limington; some has been brought from Newfield; but

the grain is coarser than that which is found near Portland and

in Hallowell. In the ledges in Limerick, there are large irregu-

lar veins, where quartz and feld spar exist in small masses ; and

in these veins schorl is found in great plenty running in a vein of

[
* The following biographical .sketch of Mr. Freeman, the writer of the

" Account of Limerick," is from an article in the Christian Mirror of May 12,

1857, prepared 1>y his nephew, Mr. Charles Duren of Bangor:

FAMILIAR RECOLLECTIONS OF REV. CHARLES FREEMAN.

' ; The memory of the just is blessed." Though more than three years

have elapsed since the death of this excellent minister, yet his memory is

cherished by many, and his example is useful to all. A very appropriate

and truthful, but brief notice of him was given at the time; but I know not

why some recollections of him, may not be as appropriate now as then. At

the time of his death, he was one of the longest settled minister of the State.

May one who, though he did not reside in the immediate sphere of his influence,

yet when a youth had opportunity of familiar acquaintance with him, be

permitted to offer this tribute to his memory.

Rev. Charles Freeman, late of Limerick. Maine, was the son of Hon. Sam-

uel Freeman of Portland; where he was born June 3, 1794. His useful

traits of character very much resembled those of his estimable father. He
graduated at Bowdoin College in 1812. That same fall he entered the law
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its own intermixed with quartz and feld spar. The quartz and

feld spar are clear and white, except where long exposed to wind

and rain. In the ledges are fissures of various directions and of

small width, from one-fourth of an inch to one and one-half inches,

which are filled with quartz of a reddish brown color ; and there are

also a few- fissures of a dull blue granite of fine grain ; these are

between six inches and twelve feet in width, and are crossed by

no other veins. A substance, thought to be magnesia, has been

dug up in the meadow of Mr. Simeon Adams; but the account

of it which I have received, does not correspond with the de-

scription of native magnesia in Cleaveland's Mineralogy. It has,

however, been used medicinally with good effect as an absorb-

ent, instead of magnesia.

Limerick has numerous mill-privileges considering its small

extent. Two streams run through the town, one on the east side,

and one on the west, and empty into Little Ossipee river. This

river skirts the south of the town with a rapid shallow stream

on a rocky bed. In the town are six saw-mills, three grist-mills,

one carding-machine, and one mill for fulling and dressing cloth,

but this last is not at present in operation.

office of Nicholas Emery. In 1814, January 16, he united with the church '

with which his parents were connected, and of which Dr. Deane and Rev. I.

Nichols were pastors. His mind was at this time much exercised with

religious sentiments and experience, and he speaks of much intercourse with

christian persons in Portland. So that in a year, January 20, 1815, his rela-

tion was transferred to Dr. Payson's church. August 8, 1816, he writes,

—

" Dr. Payson preached from John xvii. 15. This discourse almost or quite

determined me to give myself to God in the ministry of the gospel." In the

fall of this year he began the study of theology with Dr. Payson ; and in

September, 1817, was licensed by the Cumberland Association to preach at

Gorham. In the year 1820, January 19, he was ordained pastor of the

Congregational church in Limerick, and continued its pastor for thirty-three

years and eight months, till his death. The services of ordination were per-

formed by Rev. Edward Payson, D. D., of Portland, Rev. Jonathan Greenleaf

of Wells, and Rev. Nathan Douglass of Alfred. He died September 19, 1853,

of bronchial consumption. He was able to officiate more or less in the

duties of the sanctuary till within one Sabbath of his death.

His wife was Nancy, a daughter of the Hon. Josiah Pierce of Baldwin,

who died before him, leaving a family of children. A son, bearing his name,

is in the practice of law in Boston. ]
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The prevalent forest trees arc beech, maple, birch, ash, and

white pine.

The soil has very little of clay or sand. In the lower part of the

valley of the east stream Blowing through the town, tin' ground is

composed of round stones, from pebbles to stones six or m ire

inches in diameter, which form a very hard solid mass as you go

below the surface. The soil on such land is poor. The best

land in the town is on the declivity of the hills.

2. Settlement, etc. Limerick was settled about (he year

1775. James Sullivan, Esq., afterward governor of Massachu-

setts, was one of the first settlers ; and established their title to

their lands. He labored for a while in the town, but did not

fix his residence in it. The first settlers came with him from

Saco and Biddeford. Some of the early inhabitants were from

Ireland, and on this account it was called, in pleasantry, Lim-

erick, after a city of this name in that island, and this name pre-

vailed, and was adopted in the incorporation of the town. Ber-

wick, in the next place, supplied settlers, and a few came from

Kittery, York, Kennebunkport, and Scarborough, and at a later

period several came from Newbury, in ^Massachusetts. The

town was incorporated in 17>7.
'

*
f
This was the fiftieth town incorporated in Maine, ami then contained a

population <>f about four hundred. Three years after, by the United States

Census of 1790, the number of inhabitants was four hundred ami eleven.

The population gradually increased until 1850, advancing in each decade as

follows
: 1800, eighl hundred and twenty-nine

; 1810, one thousand one hund-

red and seventeen ; 1820, one thousand three hundred and seventy-seven;

1850, one thousand four hundred and seventy-three; in I860, it fell to one

thousand four hundred and forty-one. The town took the name which the

plantation had previously home, and this was given to it by James Sullivan,

then a resilient of Biddeford, and who afterward was attorney general, judge
of the supreme court, and governor Of .Massachusetts, in which latter office

he died in 1
si is ||,. was one of the proprietors of the plantation, and when

the settlement commenced in 1 7 7 1!
.
and the plantation was afterward organ-

ized, his grandson, Thomas Amory, in his interesting biography of this dis-

guished man, says :
" The proprietors honored him with the selection of its

name. His tather having 1 n horn in the city of Limerick. Ireland, this

circumstance decided his choice." [n 1774, all business being suspended
Mr. Amory remarks that Mr. Sullivan. " took his axe. week's provision, and
in his blanket, frock, and trowsers, went to Limerick with the other settlers,

most of whom were from Saco, and commenced felling trees to reduce his
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3. History of Churches, etc. Rev. John Adams of New-
field, once of Durham, New Hampshire, a graduate of Harvard

University, preached in the town at an early period. July 5,

1795, the Congregational church was organized; and in Novem-
ber, 1795, the Rev. Edmund Eastman, a graduate of Dartmouth

College was ordained. He died December 9, 1812. During his

ministry, forty were added to the church. From this time to

the close of 1819, there was occasional preaching, but no settled

minister. During this period eleven were added to the church.

January 19, 1820, Charles Freeman, a graduate of Bovvdoin

College, was ordained. From that time to the close of 1830,

sixty-nine have been received into the church, and it now em-

braces seventy-nine members.

In the year 1790, a Calvinist Baptist church was formed, and

the Rev. Ebenezer Kinsman was ordained over it. He retained

his connection for eleven years, and in 1807 was dismissed; but

after some interval he recommenced preaching to them ; and has

continued in the ministry here to this time, without however be-

ing the pastor of the church. The number of professors of this

denomination now in town is forty.

The Freewill Baptist denomination commenced about 1780 in

New Durham, New Hampshire, and it early began to prevail in

the vicinity of Limerick. In 1814, a general excitement existed

among them in the parts of Limerick and Newfield, near Dam's

Mills. In 1821, they commenced a meeting in the center of

Limerick, the first prominent speaker being a woman from New
Hampshire. Elias Libby, a citizen of the town, soon took the

lead of the meetings. In 1822, a church was organized of thirty

members, and Mr. Libby was afterward ordained a preacher,

and took the pastoral charge of the church. Various preachers

have labored in the society, and in 1830, chiefly under the im-

provement of Elder Bridges, about seventy from Limerick, were

added to the church by immersion, and numbers were added

also from other towns, and now they reckon about one hundred

in the church from Limerick, and fifty from other towns.

lands to a state of cultivation, for the support of himself and his family.

On Saturday he returned the distance of thirty miles, as black and cheerful

as the natives, when they return from a successful hunt."— Editor.]
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Thoro are in the town a few families of the society of Friends.

4. Nujhbeb ok educated men. There are four persons in tow,n

who have had a collegiate education. These are two lawyers and

two physicians, one of whom only practices at present. The

academy is now in a flourishing state, and sixty students attend

it this fall.
1 The number of scholars is larger at this time of the

year than at any other, as many young men attend for the pur-

pose of being qualified to keep school in the winter. Of the

seventy-two scholars on the catalogue for the present term, twen-

ty are pursuing classical studies.*

5. Occupations of the inhabitants, etc. Nine-tenths of the

inhabitants are employed in agriculture. Their money they ob-

tain chiefly by the sale of live stock of neat cattle and horses.

The cattle have been sold to butchers near Portland ; but more

recently they have been sold to drovers who have carried them

to Brighton ; and several traders have purchased them, and had

them driven there for sale. Hay is the most valuable growth of

the soil, and for this the land is very suitable. Some cattle are

driven in the spring from Scarborough and other lower towns to

be pastured in Limerick and other adjacent country for growth or

to be fatted. Much of the land cannot be ploughed to advan-

tage from its being very moist, and falling or settling down heavy

after being turned up. The higher and better land needs to be

broken up or ploughed after bearing grass for several years in

succession. Next to grass, corn and potatoes are the principal

articles of produce. Oats and rye are raised, but in small quan-

tities. By far the greatest part of the wheat used in the town,

is raised in it, but the climate is not so favorable to it as to corn,

the summers being too hot for summer wheat, and the winters

too cold for winter wheat; but the seasons, when corn fails from

the moisture and cold, are usually very favorable to wheat. But-

ter is made in large quantities, and sold at the country stores, or

1 Autumn, 1830. [The lawyers were Joseph Howard and John McDonald.

The practicing physician, William Swazey.]

* [The academy was incorporated in 1808. It was one of the last acts of

Governor Sullivan's life and administration to sign the act of incorporation,

which he took great pleasure in doing, for the early interest he had in the

town as proprietor and pioneer, and to which he had given its name. A new
academy building was erected in 1851.

—

Ed.]

21
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else is kept till winter by the wealthier farmers, and then carried

to a seaport to market. A quantity of cheese is also sold. Or-

chards do well, and more cider is made than is for the interest of

the town.

Fencing is chiefly stone wall for which there is about a suffi-

ciency of stone on the ground. There is no cedar or other durable

wood in sufficient plenty in this town or the neighboring towns

for fencing. For temporary fences, and for lands occupied by

tenants and those who do not choose or are not able to incur

much present labor, board fences are generally used. There is

still some log fence, but stone walls are prevailing.

Lumber. Considerable quantities of boards are sawed in

town, from timber growing on the land, which are hauled by oxen

to Portland. Some square timber is also carried down. Saco

and Kennebunk and Kennebunkport are markets to which there

is some resort. Shingles also are made, and are sold in small

quantities to traders in the town, who afterward send them to

market. Some clapboards are made also ; but the quantity of

shingles made is small, and of clapboards much less.

Manufactures. A flock of sheep is owned in every farmer's

family. Some of the wool is sold in fleeces ; but it is chiefly

made into cloth ; and this supplies the wants of the family, as-

sists in paying laborers, and is bartered at the stores; but these two

last items are small. Not more than one-eighth of the woolen

worn in the town by the men, is from factories foreign or domes-

tic; but a larger proportion is wTorn by women. Woolen cloth

is the most important domestic manufacture ; and the work for

which young women are hired is principally to spin and weave.

Few put out their wool to be manufactured from home.

The next manufacture is of cotton. Though cotton factory

cloth is now so cheap, yet some cotton cloth is still made in fami-

lies; the warp being spun from cotton, and the filling, or woof,

being usually factory cotton thread. This cloth is stouter than

factory cotton, and wears longer ; and therefore is thought by

some to be cheaper to them on the whole, though the first cost

is greater. For laboring men, or any men who take much ex-

ercise, domestic woolens will last nearly twice as long as factory

woolens, and will only cost about half the amount per yard
;
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but the difference is much smaller, and is not perhaps more than

one-thinl in favor of domestic cottons.

Flax is another article manufactured in the family. Most

farmers have a patch of flax. This is pulled, and spread on the

ground in the fall, to rot the stalk, and then it is bound up in

small bundles, and laid by itself in the barn; and in the clear,

dry days at the close of winter, when the stalk will break most

readily, it is broken and then beaten, or swingled; and it is

wrought into cloth, either all linen, or linen and cotton. Only

coarse fabrics are made of it. Since shoes and hoots are pegged

instead of being sewed less attention is paid to the growing of

tlax. Chaises have been made in the town for six or seven years,

and have met with a ready sale. Wagons for a single horse

have been made some years longer, and are made in greater

numbers. About fifty-four wagons are owned in the town ;
and

about thirty-one chaises, whereas ten years ago there were but

about six; and there are, besides, some chaises and wagons owned

for sale. Some gigs are also made.

Bureaus, chairs, and other articles of cabinet work are made;

and shoes and hats also are made in such quantities, as to be sent

abroad into other parts of the country for sale. Leather is made

here in a considerable quantity, in part from foreign hides, and a

quantity of leather is carried away to market.

Course of Trade. Portland is the principal market, though

there is some resort to Saco, Kennebunk, and Ivennebunkport.

They who saw boards send them to market generally by their

own teams, and they bring back cash, West India produce, or

manufactured goods. Cash is obtained principally by boards.

In winter sleigh loads of butter and pork are carried by single

horses to market. In the spring, summer, and fall, butter is

taken to the neighboring stores, and is bartered there ; and is

then sent to market by the traders in kegs, firkins, or barrels,

and sold for money, or given in payment for foreign goods. Dif-

ferent kinds of grain, Indian corn being by far the principal ar-

ticle, are carried to the stores in the same manner, and by the

traders are sent to market. Carter is almost the only method of

trading. The several mechanics, blacksmiths, shoemakers, and

others, are paid chiefly in produce or mechanical articles; and
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farmers exchange their productions chiefly for what they con-

sume in their families.

6. Meeting-houses, etc. There are three meeting-houses,

the Congregational, the Calvinist Baptist, and the Free-will

Baptist. There is an Academy, which stands on a hill near the

village, and visible from the Portland observatory, though proba-

bly more than twenty-five miles distant on an air line. There

are eight district school-houses. Saw-mills, six
;

grist-mills,

three; carding-machine, one; tanneries, five; taverns, three;

stores, five.

7. Public Institutions, Associations, etc.

Limerick Female Cent. Society organized
" Female Tract Society "

" Congregational Sab. School Society
" Temperance Society organized

" Branch Bible Society "

" Academy Temperance Society
" Free-will Bap. Sab. School Society

8. Observations on the weather— deaths. The air is pure

and salubrious. The inhabitants are not very liable to fevers.

Consumption is the most prevalent disease.

TABLE OF DEATHS IN LIMERICK.

1815.
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In 1709, an unusual mortality prevailed ; and the throat dis-

temper carried off many children in a sudden manner. Rev.

Ebenezer Kinsman lust four in a few weeks; and four of Mr.

John Perry's also died. In 1810, the town contained one thou-

sand one hundred and seventy-seven inhabitants, and in 18^0,

one thousand three hundred and seventy-seven, so that between

these dates, the deaths on an average, will be about one to one

hundred and twenty-four of the population yearly. In 1830, the

population was one thousand four hundred and twenty.

DEATHS OF AGED PERSONS.

1802.
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in New Hampshire, the source of the Great Ossipee, and there

is a mountain near it, both of which have the name uf Ossipee.

10. Description of the face of the country, etc. As you

travel from Portland west toward Limerick, a new description

of country commences when you cross the Little Ossipee into

Limerick. ' Yon leave a country generally level, and clayey or

sandy, and you enter upon a hard soil, and meet with more rug-

ged hills; and as you travel west from Limerick, you find the

hills swelling to mountains, but amidst these mountains are level

tracts affording an opportunity for making easy roads. From
Limerick the White Mountains are visible in part, distant about

forty-five miles in a straight line; and Mt. Washington may be

seen with the tracks of its slips, like the avalanches of the Alps,

very distinctly marked, when not covered with snow.

11. State of Morals, Religion, and Learning. Within

fifteen }
rears there has been a very obvious improvement in morals.

The number of professors of religion of all denominations has

doubled in this time. The use of ardent spirits has declined so

that perhaps not more than one-third the former quantity is

drank ;
and criminal prosecutions have much diminished. The

number of people who attend worship in the center of the town,

is four times greater than it was fifteen years ago. The Calvinist

Baptist church has increased some, and there are now forty pro-

fessors of this denomination in town. The Congregational church

has more than tripled, and now contains seventy-nine members;

and the Free Will Baptist professors in town have increased

from about forty to about one hundred and forty in the whole

town. There is a general desire for learning, and the Academy
is well frequented, and numbers of young men and young women

from Limerick are employed as school teachers in neighboring

towns. There are five young men from the town now in several

colleges. Seven young men of the town are practicing physi-

cians in different places. One only has yet entered into the pro-

fession of the law. A newspaper is printed in the town, for the

Free Will Baptist denomination, which circulates in most States

of the Union.

Limerick Corner is a compact village. It contains thirty-

seven dwelling-houses and thirty- eight families. In 1824, it con-
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tained thirty-two families and twenty-nine dwelling-houses,

has five stores.

Blacksmiths' shops,

Cabinetmakers', chaise, and wagon shops,

Shoemakers' shops,

Tanneries, ....
I la (makers,

Lawyers' offices,

Mantuamaker,

Tailor, ....
Harnessmakera and chaise trimmers,

Housecarpenter,

Printing office,

Academy, ....
Meeting-houses, .

School-house, with two apartments, .

Congregational vestry and old school-house,

It



III. AN ACCOUNT OF WELLS.

BY JEREMIAH HUBBARD AND JONATHAN GREENLEAF.

Prepared, July, 1825.

Situation and Boundaries. This town is situated in north

latitude forty-three degrees and twenty minutes, and west longi-

tude seventy degrees and thirty-five minutes. It is bounded on

the south-west by a line which divides it from the town of York,

beginning at the west corner of Wells bay, and running north-

west nearly eight miles to a noted spring, called " Baker's

spring," 1 at the east corner of Berwick; thence by Berwick line

about north by west to the south corner of Sanford, thence

north-east by Sanford about four miles to a small river, com-

monly called the Branch river ; thence by said river, which

divides it from Kennebunk in nearly a south-east direction to the

sea, and thence by Wells bay, in a direction nearly south-west,

eight miles and a half, to the bounds first mentioned ; con-

taining about thirty-five thousand acres. The original grant

included the town of Kennebunk, and was nearly double to

what is above stated.

Rivers and Harbors. The town of Wells is well watered.

There are nine small rivers or brooks running through the town

in various directions, which have water sufficient to carry mills

a part of the year. On these streams there are now in opera-

tion, sixteen saw-mills, ten grist-mills, and one fulling-mill. One

'The name of this spring is said to have arisen from the following circum-

stance. A man named Baker, who was active in bringing King Charles the

First to the block, fled from England on the accession of Charles the Second,

and concealed himself for some time in the wilderness near the spring.

—

See

Mass. Hist. Col., vol. 3, p. 8.
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of these streams runs in a south-west direction into Berwick;

the others run south-easterly, and after they fall into the marsh

form three rivers which run iuto the sea. The principal of these

rivers is near the center of the town. The Indians called it

Webhannet river, but it is now generally called "the town river."

At the place where it discharges itself into the sea, a considera-

ble harbor is formed, but a bar of sand renders the entrance

into it somewhat difficult. In common tides the depth on the

bar at high water is about nine feet, and at low water not

more than two feet. Anciently, all the traveling from York

to Saeo was on the beach, and the river was forded on the

bar. In the southerly part of the town, the Ogunquit river

forms another harbor which can be entered by small vessels

only; the depth of water there being but about eight feet.

There is one remarkable fact respecting this river. Within

the memory of men now living, its outlet into the sea has

shifted nearly a mile. It formerly ran out about where it

now does ; but in a great storm the outlet became somewhat

obstructed, and the main river broke through the beach nearly a

mile to the eastward. The river having thus found vent, its

former channel was wholly filled. However, the river gradually

wore away the beach, and with it a small island which lay very

near to it, and in a few years regained its former channel, where

it has ever since remained.

At the session of Congress in January, 1824, a grant was

made to Wells of tin; sum of five thousand dollars, for the pur-

pose of improving the main harbor in the town. With this aid

a pier of eight hundred feet in length was erected in the summer

of 1825.

Sou, and PiioiH'rnnxs, Wells contains a great variety of soil,

though its general character is sandy. Without being at the

trouble of actual survey, it may he presumed that the following

estimate of the quantities of the different kinds of soil in the

town may be relied on as tolerably correct :

ACRES.

Salt marsh, 1,800

Natural meadows, 300

Verj good land, under improvement 5,000

Clay and loam, under improvement, ...... 1,200
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Low and heathy land, mostly covered with bushes, but capable

of improvement, 800

Barren heath 600

Ledges and beaches, generally unimprovable, .... 900

Pitch-pine plains', scarce worth improving, .... 5,000

Sandy and gravelly land, rather poor, 9,400

Land capable of improvement, but covered at present with wood

and timber, • 10,000

Total, 35,000

It will be perceived by the above estimate that about six

thousand five hundred acres of land in Wells, being almost a

fifth part of the whole town, may be considered waste land,

being barren heaths, ledges, beaches, and pitch-pine plains. The

plains, however, are 'still valuable for what wood and timber may
remain on them. It will also be seen that nearly one-fourth part

of the town is considered as poor land, viz : the sandy and

gravelly soils. They are improved, but require much manure,

or they will scarce pay for the labor of cultivation. The salt

marsh is generally considered poor, some parts of it having failed

very much within the memory of the present inhabitants. The

average crop of hay on the marsh does not exceed half a ton

from the acre, but the hay is considered of a very good quality.

The time of cutting the marshes is during the neap tides in Au-

gust and September. They were formerly cut a month or two

later, and it has been thought by some that early cutting has

injured them.

The heathy land is capable, of being made very productive. •

Some experiments have been made upon it, enough to show that

when subdued, it will become some of the most valuable land in

the town. Experiments have also been made on what is termed

the fresh marsh, which is a strip of heathy land lying between

the salt marsh and the high land. In some places it is ten or

twelve rods in width, and is generally covered with alder-bushes.

It is seldom, if ever, flowed by the sea. This ground may be

ploughed in the dry part of the season, and with considerable

labor and expense may be subdued. It will then afford a heavy

burden of the best grass, and is not liable to bind out like the

higher lands. Had the inhabitants heretofore depended less on

their salt marshes, and paid more attention to the cultivation of
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their grasslands, their farms would have been far more valuable

than they now arc. They are beginning to perceive this, and a

spiril of improvement is visible.

The prod ad ions of Wells are such as are common on the

same soils through the country. The sea dressing, of which vast

quantities are hauled on to the ground, enables the people to

raise Indian corn, and in some cases grain, to good advantage.

It is doubtful, however, whether a Bupply of corn and grain is

raised in the town for the use of the inhabitants. The average

crop of corn does nut exceed twenty bushels from the acre; of

wheat, six bushels from the sowing of one; of potatoes, one

hundred and sixty bushels from the acre; and of other produc-

tions about in the same proportion. Clams in great abundance

are dug from the tlats.

Trade. The difficulty attending the entrance into the principal

harbor in the town has prevented the increase of trade at this

place, although there have not been wanting those who have

overcome all these ditliculties, and rendered merchandising more

or less profitable. The principal article of export from the town

is wood, which has been sent to Boston, Salem, and Xewbury-
port. It is estimated that not less than fifteen hundred cords of

hard wood and fifteen hundred cords of pine are annually ex-

ported from Wells; one half of which is supposed to be cut in

the town, and the remainder in the towns adjoining. Several of

the largest vessels owned here are constantly employed in the

West India trade. The total amount of shipping owned in the

town is about six hundred tons. Considerable ship timber is cut

in the town, and vessels of various sizes are built here from year

to year.

Trade has increased considerably in Wells within ten years

past. There are now in the town eleven stores, in several of

which business is transacted to a very considerable amount.

There are also in the town eight houses of public entertainment.*

*[The Portland, Saeo, and Portsmouth Railroad, which crosses the north-

western part of tin- town, lias made a serious diversion in the trade and
hotels. Wood and lumber, now. instead of going to the shipping, arc trans-

ported by rail, and the few travelers on the common roads, render tavern-

keeping a profitless occupation. There is a large hotel on the beach, which
is much patronized in summer by persons who are in search of sea air and
bathing.—I'd]
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State of Learning. Wells is divided into fourteen School

Districts, in which schools are kept from two to six months in

the winter season, and as much longer in the summer. The

general character of the common schools is low.

There is not a person living in the town who has received a

public education at any college, and it is not known that more

than seven native inhabitants have ever been thus educated.

Hon. Nathaniel Wells and Mr. Josiah Clark were educated at

Harvard College,- and were both of the class of 1760. Rev.

Nathaniel Wells, now the minister of Deerfield in New Hamp-
shire, was educated at Dartmouth College, and was of the class

of 1795.

Samuel Morrill, M. D., of Boston, was graduated at Bowdoin

College in 1821, and Mr. James Furbish completed his collegiate

course at Cambridge in 1825.

Of the six ministers who have been settled in the town, five

of them were graduates. Rev. Samuel Emery, Rev. Samuel

Jefferds, Rev. Gideon Richardson, and Rev. Moses Hemmenway,

D. D., were all educated at Harvard College, and were of the

classes of 1691, 1722, 1749, and 1755. The Rev. Benjamin

White was from Dartmouth College, and of the class of 1807.

In 1792, Dr. Hemmenway received the degree of S. T. D., both

from Harvard and Dartmouth Colleges.

History. The first settlers of Wells came from Exeter, in

New Hampshire, but the precise date of their settlement is un-

known. It is conjectured to have taken place about the year

1640. There is no evidence that the land was ever purchased

of the Indians. One Wawwaw, a noted Indian Chief, lived in

the town something more than eighty years, and pretended to

claim this and some adjoining towns.

The original charter of the town is preserved in the town

record, and is in the following words :
" Whereas, Mr. Hutchin-

son, Mr. Needham, and some others of the plantation of Exeter,

have been with me, Thomas Gorges, superintendent of the affairs

of Sir Ferdinando Gorges, knight, lord proprietor of the province

of Mayne, and have desired in behalf of themselves and others

to take a certain tract of land lying between Ogunquitt river and

Kennebunk, and for eight miles up in the country ; but whereas
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a part of the said land (as I heard) is claimed by Mr. Stratton

and others, I cannot lor the presenl give any farther answer than

this: That all the right and interest Sir Perdinando Gorges hath

in the said land shall he freely granted unto them. Reserving

to Sir Ferdinando Gorges five shillings for every hundred acres

of land, as well as marsh and uplands that they shall maneiir, and

to me, Thomas Gorges, the priety of Ogunquitt river, of which

I have desired a patent, which when I have received, I do

promise to surrender upon reasonable demands any thing that

may be beneficial to them, not doing myself any notable damage,

in the mean while they have free liberty to build and take up any

lands that are therein Sir Ferdinando Gorges' power to grant,

to have and to hold them, and their heirs and assigns forever.

Given under my band Sept. 27th, 1043. Tuo : Gokges."

Among the original settlers at Wells, was the Rev. John

Wheelwright, who had been banished from Boston for holding

Antinomian sentiments. lie assisted in founding Exeter, but a

dispute soon arose there between him and Capt. Underbill, as

they said, respecting religion, but as others said, respecting which

of them should be governor. Be this as it may, the contention

was so sharp between them that they went asunder, and .Mr.

Wheelwright came to Wells. The Mr. Hutchinson, mentioned

in the charter, was probably Mr. Edward Hutchinson, the hus-

band or the son of the celebrated Ann Hutchinson, the sister

of John Wheelwright, whose name stands conspicuously in the

religious dissensions of that day. 1

•Gov. Sullivan says this was the husband of Ann Hutchinson, but he states

also that this same Mr. Hutchinson died in Rhode [stand, in 1642. But the

aforesaid charter is dated September, 1643, and if Sullivan's date of his death

is correct, the person who came to Wells musl have been his son, or perhaps

Borne other relative. But it may have been tin' husband of Ann, and the

date of his death as stated by Sullivan, may be correct. [The husband of

the celebrated Ann Hutchinson was William, the eldest son of Susannah

Hutchinson, who came over with her family to Boston in 1634, accompanied

by Rev. John Wheelwright, who married her daughter Mary. The maiden

name of Ann, the wife of William, was Marberry. The other sons

were Richard, Edward, and Samuel. In the previous persecution of the

Government against this family for their antinomian sentiments, these enter-

prising and valuable people were driven from the field which they would have

cultivated and adorned. William and his wife went to Rhode Island in 1638,
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,

About two months prior to the date of the charter, the fol-

lowing instrument was issued by Thomas Gorges for surveying

the town :

" Witnesseth these presents that I Thomas Gorges, Deputy

Governor of the province of Mayne, according unto the power

unto me given from Sir Ferdinando Gorges, knight, lord pro-

prietor of the said province, have for divers good causes and

considerations in and thereunto moving, given and granted unto

Mr. John Wheelwright, minister of God's word, Mr. Henry

Boads, and Mr. Edward Rishworth of Wells, full and absolute

power to alot bounds and sett forth any lott or bounds unto any

man that shall come to inhabit in the plantation, themselves

paying for any land they hold from Sir Ferdinando Gorges five

shillings for every hundred acres they make use of, the rest five

shillings for every hundred acres that shall be alotted unto them

by the said Mr. John Wheelwright, Henry Boads, and Edward
Rishworth. The bounds of the plantation to begin from" the

north-east side of Ogunquitt river to the south-west side of

Iiennebunk river, and to run eight miles up into the country, and

in case differences arise between the said Mr. John Wheelwright,

Henry Boads. and Edward Rishworth, concerning the admission

of any man into the plantation, or of bounding any land, the said

difference shall be determined by the agent or agents or Sir

Ferdinando Gorges, to whom full power is reserved of admitting

any one into the aforesaid limitt. Given under my hand and

seal at Armes this 14th July, 1643. Tuo : Gorges."

and were the founders of that colony ; he was chosen one of the first magis-

trates, and resided there until his death in 1612. Richard returned to Eng-

land, and became a wealthy merchant in London. Edward also went back to

England, and did not return. Samuel became a retired scholar in Boston,

and died, unmarried, in 1667. The mother, Mrs. Susannah Hutchinson, died

in Wells in 1642. The "Mr. Hutchinson" mentioned in Gorges' grant above

quoted, was no doubt Edward, the son of William and Ann. He was born in

England about 1608, came over in 1633, and was the nephew of Mr. Wheel-

wright's wife. He became a very prominent man in the civil and military

affairs of the Colony of Massachusetts, firmly resisted the persecution of the

Quakers, and was otherwise distinguished for manly qualities. He died of

wounds received from the Indians in 1675, in a treacherous assault by them.

II is not probable that he ever resided in Wells, but was desirous of specu-

lating in land there, as he did in several places in the neighborhood of Bos-

ton— Ed.\
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The following instrument relating to the plantation of Wells

has also been preserved, at the bottom of the above grant

:

« Sam— .Memo, at a court holden here the 1 it h day of August,

1644, this grant was here exhibited, and is by us allowed; for

further confirmation we have hereunto sett our hands in eourt

the day and year above written.

Run. Vines, Dep. Gov. Nicholas Shapleigh.

1 1 i:nry Joceline. Francis Robinson.

Rich. Boniqhton. Roger Gard."

The Mr. Rishworth, mentioned in the foregoing instrument, is

well known in the ancient annals of Maine. It is, however,

doubtful whether he was an inhabitant of Wells for any consider-

able time. Mr. Wheelwright resided in Wells for a few years,

and was useful and active in promoting the settlement. 1 Ho

received a grant of land in the town, known for many years by

the name of "the Wheelwright farm." It extended from the neek

of land south of the meeting-house to the Ogunquit river, and

from the road then traveled to the sea. He had two deeds

which covered the property. They are as follows :

" Know all men by these presents, that I, Thomas Gorges,

deputy govr. of the Province of Mayne, according unto the

power unto me granted from Sir Ferdinando Gorges, knight,

proprietor of the said Province, being hereunto especially moved,

for divers good reasons and considerations, have given, granted,

bargained, sayled, enfeoffed and continued, and by these presents

do give, grant, bargain, sell, enfeoff and confirm unto Mr. John

Wheelwright, pastor of the church of Exeter, his heirs and

assigns, a tract of land lying at Wells, in the county of Summer-
sett, to be bounded as followeth, \i/. : all that neck of land next

adjacent to the marsh on the north-east of Ogunquitt river, with

sixscore acres of the said marsh, next adjacent to the said neck

of land, being bounded toward the sea with a crick of Ogunkigg
river, also two hundred and fourscore acres of upland, being next

adjacent on the north-west of the said marsh, the said neck being

1 Rishworth married Wheelwright's daughter ; In- lived in York many years,

and probably died there. [Farmer says he was living in Ids:!: lie repre-

sented '* eik in tin- Genera] Court in 1679, the last year in which Maine had a

representation in the Colonial Legislature.—.£&]
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included within the said number of two hundred and eighty-

acres, the said premises to have and to hold unto him the said

John Wheelwright his heirs and assigns forever, yelding there-

for and paying unto the said Sir F'erdinando Gorges, his heirs

and assigns, on the 29th of September yearly, and forever here-

after, the sum of five shillings for every hundred acres that shall

hereafter be made use of, either by inclosure or otherwise, for

meadow or tillage, by the said John Wheelwright, his heirs or

as'signs. In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and

seal at Armes this 17th April 1643. Thomas Gorges dept. Gov.

Gorgeana. Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of us

Joseph Hull, Will. Coole.

" Vera copia taken out of the original. Edw. Eishworth, Eec."

The second deed was from Boad & Eishworth, who, with

himself, were commissioned by Thomas Gorges to " lot out" the

town. It here follows :

" Know all men by these presents, that we Henry Boad and

Edward Eishworth, do, according to power given unto us,

grant and alott unto John Wheelwright, pastor of the church in

Hampton, all that tract of land lying betwixt Ogunquett river and

his farme, except that which is already allotted unto John Crosse,

which tract of upland is bounded on the south-east side with the

marshes, and on the north-west side is to be bounded with a

streight line from his, the said John Wheelwright's fence, set up

on the northwest side of his farme to the said river of Ogunquett,

to have and to hold the said land to him and his heirs forever.

In witness whereof we have hereunto sett our hands, Nov. 25th,

1651

;

Henry Boad.

Edward Eishworth.
" This deed recorded March 26, 1653."

Mr. Wheelwright remained at Wells but a few years. He
then removed to Hampton,* and afterward to Salisbury, on

Merrimac river, where he died suddenly Nov. 15th, 1679. Sev-

*[Mr. Wheelwright went to Hampton in 1G47, as colleague of the Rev. Mr.

Dalton. In a few years after, he went to England, where he was in favor with

Cromwell. On the accession of Charles II. to the throne, 1660, he returned

to New England. He is supposed to have been eighty-five years old at his

death.—Ed.]
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cral families of Air. Wheelwright's descendants of the fifth and

sixth generations are still living in the town. His son, Samuel

Wheelwright, Esq., was a man of much respectability in tho

town, and died here in tho year 1700. His grandson was Hon.

John Wheelwright, a man much distinguished in the public

annals of that day. lie died in 17 15.

Among the early inhabitants of Wells, was Francis Littlefield,

who came from England, and settled here. lie was the eldest son

of a respectable family, and having been absent several years, his

parents supposing him to be dead, named another son Francis.

In process of time he also pushed his fortune in what was then

called " the New World," and coming to Wells, ho here found

his long lost brother. Francis the elder had settled on a farm

near the present meeting-house, and Francis the younger took a

farm a little to the southward of it. Another brother subse-

quently came to Wells, and from these three all of this name in

the country are supposed to be descended. The families are

numerous in Wells. No less than sixty-eight legal voters of this

name are at present on the town list.

On the 20th of March, 1716, the inhabitants formed themselves

into a regular proprietary. Thirty-five proprietors were then

numbered. The town suffered much during tho Indian wars

near tho close of the seventeenth and commencement of the

eighteenth century, but was not finally broken up. A particular

account of these troubles being preserved in Mather's Magnalia,

is here omitted.

Ecclesiastical Affairs. There is good reason to believe that

many of the first inhabitants of Wells were religious persons, and

there is some evidence of the existence of a church here soon

after the settlement of the town. Authentic accounts have been

transmitted to this time of difficulties which arose on account of

religion when the people submitted to Massachusetts in 1653,

particularly as some claimed to bo a church. Bellingham, the

Deputy Governor, and the other commissioners, took a summary
way to end tho dispute by pronouncing them no church.

Whether the persons referred to'had been organized as a church

or not, is uncertain, but we hear of nothing more of the kind for

nearly fifty years. But the people were not destitute of stated

99
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religious worship. In July, 1661. the county court ordered that

Mr. Ezekiel Knight and Mr. William Hammond should take the

lead of a religious meeting at Wells on the Sabbath, when they

were unprovided with a minister, 1 so careful were those in au-

thority, that the public worship of God should be maintained.

But a minister was soon provided. The practice of the people

was to agree with a person to preach, and give him a stipulated

sum as an annual salary as long as he saw fit to remain. As
there was no church in the town, no ecclesiastical forms were

observed in the induction of any minister, nor any at his dis-

mission. The natural consequence of this practice was the em-

ployment of many ministers, and frequent changes. Six ministers

were employed in this way in the space of about thirty-seven

years. The first was Mr. Joseph Emerson, of York. He was

hired in 1664, and remained the minister of Wells between two

and three years. In April, 1667, the town made an agreement

with Mr. Jeremiah Hubbard, he agreeing to remain seven years.

His salary was to be fifty pounds a year, with a settlement of

thirty-three pounds. The town agreed to give him also one-half

of the parish lands, and to assist him in building a house, and in

case he found it more convenient to build his house on the parish

land, the town agreed to buy the house of him when he removed.

But for some reasons, now unknown, Mr. Hubbard staid in

Wells but about four months, and in September of the same

year, Mr. Robert Payne was engaged as the minister of the

town, and remained with the people five years. A house was

built for him on the town lot, and he was allowed a salary of

forty-five pounds annually. On September 2d, 1672, an agree-

ment was made with Mr. John Buss, who officiated as the minis-

ter of Wells at least ten years. His salary was sixty pounds,

with the use of the parsonage house and land, and a contri-

bution in labor annually. His salary was to be paid thus : five

pounds in money, and the remainder in specific articles at the

following prices, viz., wheat at five shillings per bushel, corn

at four shillings per bushel, beef at four pence per pound, and

boards at four shillings per hundred. Mr. Buss preached

afterward at Oyster river, now Durham, in New Hampshire.

1 Common Pleas Records for the county of York—pamphlet B, page 43.
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He was there called Doctor Buss, had tho reputation of a very

pious and worthy man, and died there at the advanced age of

one hundred and eight years. After he left Wells, in 1683, tho

town agreed with Mr. Pereival Greene as their minister, who
appears to have remained with them between five and six years.

His salary was fifty pounds and tho parsonage. On June 21st,

1689, the town agreed with Richard Marten, who was then living

in Wells, in the capacity of a school-master, to become their

minister. They voted him the use of the parsonage, and a yearly

salary of fifty pounds, to be paid in specific articles, thus : wheat

at four shillings per bushels, rye at two shillings and six pence,

peas at four shillings, pork at two and a half pence per pound,

boards at nineteen shillings per thousand, and staves at seven-

teen shillings per thousand. How long he remained with them,

is unknown. Mr. Greene and Mr. Marten wero both graduates

from Harvard College, and both of the class of 1680, but are not

marked as ministers in the catalogue. It is a tradition among

the people that the celebrated George Burroughs, who was exe-

cuted for witchcraft in 1692, was preaching in AVells at that time,

and was apprehended in tho meeting-house on tho Sabbath, but

there is no record of any such proceeding.

In the month of October, 1701, the present church was formed.

Mr. Samuel Emery had been preaching in Wells several years.

In 1698, the ancient record speaks of him as " the minister of tho

town." Ho had iaarried in Wells before this, and in August of

the'same year, thooirth of a child of his is recorded. The town

had suffered considerably during the Indian wars, and the meet-

ingdiouses had been burnt, but it would seem the settlement was

advancing. In November, 1699, the town voted to build a now

meoting-house on the site of tho old one, and at the annual town

mooting in March, 1701, an agreement was entered into by tho

town with Mr. Emery for his subsequent support. His salary

was forty-five pounds, one-half to be paid in money and the other

in " merchantable provisions" at tho following prices : wheat at

five shillings per bushel, corn at three shillings per bushel, rye at

three shillings and six pence per bushel, pork at three pence per

pound, beef at two pence per pound, and to cut and bring to his

house twenty-five cords of wood. The use of the town land and
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marsh was also allowed him, and an outright gift made to him

of one hundred acres of land in the town, and ten acres of salt

marsh. Mr. Emery lived in his own house, but the town agreed

to repair it at their expense, and to build him a study. In Octo-

ber of that year, the churches of Newbury, Portsmouth, Dover,

and York, were invited and met in council, a church of twelve

persons was duly organized, and Mr. Emery was ordained. He
remained the minister of Wells until his death, which took place

suddenly in December, 1724, while he was absent from home, on

a visit at Winter Harbor, in Biddeford. His body was brought

to Wells and buried. Rev. Joseph Moody, of the second parish

in York, has the following note in a mauuscript journal of his :

October 21st, 1724, " Mr. Wise (i. e. Eev. Jeremiah Wise, of

Berwick) returned here from the council at Wells. The diffi-

culties are happily settled there. A sermon was preached there

this morning from these words :
' If there be any comfort of

love.' " What these difficulties were is wholly unknown, and

this is the only fragment of record ever yet discovered concern-

ing them.

After the death of Mr. Emery, Mr. Samuel Jefferds was em-

ployed as a preacher, and ordained pastor of the church, Decem-

ber 15th, 1725. In the beginning of his ministry, the parsonage

house, now standing, was built. Mr. Jefferds died February 1st,

1752.

The church was vacant about two years afljr the death of Mr.

Jefferds. In the interim, Mr. Samuel Fayrweather was invited

to settle in Wells, and had given an affirmative answer, but much

opposition was made, and the council when assembled declined

proceeding to ordination, advising Mr. Fayrweather to withdraw

peaceably, and the people to seek another candidate. This ad-

vice was followed, and Rev. Gideon Richardson was ordained

pastor of the church, February 27th, 1754. The ministry of

Mr. Richardson was short. He died March 17th, 1758. In a

little more than a year after, Rev. Moses Hemmenway, D. D.,

was ordained at Wells, and remained pastor of the church until

his death, April 20th, 1811, a period of more than fifty-one years.

A little previous to the death of Dr. Hemmenway, arrangements

were made for the settlement of a colleague, and Mr. Benjamin
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White was invited to settle in that capacity. lie returned an

affirmative answer, and was ordained about two months after the

death of Dr. Hemmenway. The health of Mr. White, naturally

feeble, soon declined, and after repeated relaxations from labor,

he died at the house of his father in Thetford, Vermont, March

23d, 1814, having had the pastoral charge of the church two

years and nine months. In autumn of the same year, Mr. David

Oliphant was invited to become the minister of Wells, but de-

clined. The present pastor of the church came to Wells as a

candidate in November, 1814, received a call in January, and

was ordained March 8th, 1815. l It is difficult to ascertain the

preciso number of members in the church at any time from its

organization to the death of Dr. Hemmenway. It began with

twelve. At the death of Mr. Jeffords, it would seem from a cer-

tain mark that appears in the record, that it consisted of about

ninety. When the objections were made to the settlement of

Mr. Fayrweather, in May, 1753, forty-eight male members ap-

peared, and others were spoken of as absent. At the death of

Dr. Hemmenway, the whole number of members was but forty-

nine. At the death of Mr. White, it consisted of seventy-two.

Since that time many changes have taken place. The present

number of names on the record is ninety-one ; eighteen of that

number were admitted by Dr. Hemmenway, eighteen by Mr.

White, and the remainder by the present minister. From the

settlement of the town until the year 1750, the whole town made
but one religious society. In 1743, some brethren of the church

living at Kennebunk, finding it inconvenient to attend worship

with the church, petitioned for leave to hold a separate meeting

in the winter season. This was the commencement of the second

parish. In 1750, a church was organized at Kennebunk, and

Rev. Daniel Little ordained there, March 21st, 1751. In August,

1800, Rev. Nathaniel II. Fletcher2 was ordained as colleague with

Rev. Jonathan Greenleaf, whose pastoral connection has been dissolved

since this account was prepared. [Rev. Win. Clark succeeded Mr. Greenleaf;

he is now Secretary of the X. H. Missionary Society. Rev. Giles Leach, the

present pastor, was installed in 1854.]

8 Mr. Fletcher has since been dismissed, and Mr. Wells of Boston been

settled in the same place. [Rev. George \V. Wells died after a successful

ministry, in 1843. Rev. Joshua A. Swan is the present minister (1864).

They were both graduates of Harvard College, 1823 and 1846.]
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Rev. Mr. Little, and remains to this time. In 1821, the second

parish in Wells became a town by the name of Kennebunk.

About the year 1780, a society of Calvinistic Baptists was

gathered in the north-westerly part of Wells, and Rev. Nathaniel

Lord was ordained its pastor. He afterward removed to Ber-

wick, and Rev. Joseph Eaton was ordained in his stead.

Since the year 1812, two societies of Free-will Baptists have

been formed in the town.

The whole number of families in the town is probably between

four and five hundred, about one-half of which belong to the

Congregational parish.

The Congregational church in Wells, formed as before noted

in 1701, was the second in the State, that of York only pre-

ceding it. Since its formation, it has assisted in organizing

eleven others, and assisted on councils for other purposes fifty-

eight times since the days of Mr. Emery, who kept no record of

such things.

The population of Wells by the census of 1820, was 2,6G0

" " " 1830, " 2,977

Increase 317, or 12 per cent, in ten years.*

Diseases. Wells is perhaps as healthy a place as any other

town in the county containing the same number of inhabitants.

Consumption appears to prevail more than any other disease.

The cause of this cannot, perhaps, be satisfactorily accounted

for. The following summary statement, made from a correct

record of deaths in the Congregational parish in Wells for ten

years past, will best exhibit what diseases are prevalent :

1815. Total, 27. Of consumption, 6 ; fever, 6 ; dropsy, 4 ; various other

diseases, jio two being alike, 11.

1816. Total, 52. Consumption, 12 ; fever, 18 ; cancer, 4 ; hooping-cough,

4 ; dropsy, 2 ; old age, 3 ; other diseases, 9.

1817. Total, 32. Consumption, 6 ; fever, 2
;

palsy, 2 ; fits, 3 ; other dis-

eases, 19.

1818. Total, 14. Consumption, 5 ; fever, 3 ; other diseases, 6.

*[Kennebunk was connected with Wells until 1820, when it was incorporated

as a distinct town. The population of the united towns by the United States

census was, in 1790, 3,070 ; 1800, 3,692 ; 1810, 4,489. In 1820, the population

of Kennebunk was 2,415, and Wells, 2,660 ; in 1850, Wells had 2,945, but fell

off, in 1860, to 2,878.—Ed.]
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1810. Total, 22. Consumption, 4 ; fever, 3 ; dropsy, 4 ; old age, 2 ; other

diseases. 9.

1820. Total, 24. Consumption, 8 ; old age, 3; other diseases, 13.

1821. Total, 19. Consumption, 4 ; old age, 2 ; fever, 3 ; dysentery, 3 ; other

diseases, 8.

1822. Total, 18. Consumption, 6 ; fever, 2 dysentery, 3 ; fits, 2 ; other dis-

eases, 5.

1823. Total, 28. Consumption, 9 ; fever, 3 ; fits, 4 ; dropsy, 2 ; old age, 2
;

other diseases, 8.

1824. Total, 19. Consumption, 5 ; fever, 2; old age, 2 ; other diseases, 10.

]vj:>. (Eight months thereof.) Total, 27. Consumption, 4 ; fever, 2 ; dysen-

tery, 4; old age, 4
; dropsy, 2 ; other diseases, 11.

In the foregoing summary, the fevers named were of all kinds,

and in the diseases undefined are included all the diseases of in-

fants, and the deaths which happened from home, of which there

are several every year among the seamen. Taking the ten years

and eight months together, the following exhibits a summary

view

:

Consumption, ....... 69

Various kinds of fever,
,

44

Lost at sea, or died in foreign ports, . . . .22
Old age, ....... 19

Dropsy, ........ 16

Dysentery, ....... 10

Cancer, . ....... 6

Various other diseases, including those of children which could not

well he defined, ...... 76

Total, . . . .262
TIIE AGES WERE AS FOLLOWS."

Children under one year, ..... 37

Between one year and twenty years, . . . .68
Over twenty and under seventy, .... 103

Between seventy and eighty, . . . . .32
Between eighty and ninety, . .

,
. .18

Over ninety, ....... 3

Over one hundred, ...... 1

Total, . . . .262
Of two hundred and nine adult persons who have died, ono

hundred and sixteen were females, and ninety-tliree were males.

[Mr. Greenleaf was the youngest child of Moses Greenleaf, and was horn

in Newburyport, Septemher lib. 17*">. lie is a hrother of Hon. Simon

Greenleaf, the late distinguished professor of law in Harvard College, who



352 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

[[I have been favored by the Hon. Edward E. Bourne, of Kennebunk,

with some interesting particulars relating to the history of this ancient town,

which I add, to give more completeness to the original article.

—

Ed.]

Probably the records of the town of "Wells have been as well

preserved, as those of most of the ancient towns of New Eng-

land. But these are imperfect, from the neglect of the proper

officer to make the appropriate entries, and from a want of care

in the preservation of such as were made. The first entries in

the existing records are the deeds referred to in the foregoing

narrative from Thomas Gorges to " Mr. Hutchinson, Mr. Need-

ham, and some others," dated September 27th, 1641, which is

thus certified :
" Transcribed out of the town book, 1st of re-

cords for the town of Wells, and compared February 26th, 1714.

Attest, John Wheelwright, town clerk." And to John Wheel-

wright, Henry Boad, and Edward Rishworth, in 1643. So as

to records in some subsequent years. No record, purporting to

be original, certified by the town clerk, appears until 1658,

though there are instruments recorded of an anterior date.

There are also certificates of this character :
" This is a true

died in 1853. His father moved to New Gloucester in Maine, when he was

quite young, and he was brought up on his father's farm. He studied divinity

with Rev. Francis Brown, in North Yarmouth, and was licensed to preach

in 1814. While there he prepared this history of Wells, in conjunction with

Mr. Hubbard, and " Sketches of the Ecclesiastical History of the State of

Maine," which was published in 1821, and is an accurate and most useful

work. He took a dismission from Wells, and was settled as pastor of the

Mariner's Church in Boston, in 1828. In December, 1833, he was appointed

Corresponding Secretary of the American Seaman's Friend Society, and

moved to New York. In November, 1811, he resigned that office, and was

installed pastor of the Wallabout Presbyterian Church, in Brooklyn, N. Y.,

March 8th, 1843, which position he now holds, and is the last survivor of his

family. In 1814, he was married to Sarah Johnson, of New Gloucester, by

whom he has had six children.

The common ancestor of this quite distinguished extensive family was

Edmund Greenleaf, who was born in England, in 1600, in the Parish of

Brixham, Devonshire ; came to Newbury, Massachusetts, in 1635, and died

in 1671—Ed.]
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copy of the Robert Booth records, as attest Nov. 2, 1G62. In

the presence of Joshua Barsham. Simon Booth." Again :

" This is a true copy from Robert Booth, per me, Joseph Bolles,

town clerk."

We cannot, therefore, by any examination of these records,

with confidence, settle the question, who were the pioneer inhabi-

tants, or when they first attempted here to plant English civi-

lization. It is said in the foregoing article of Mr. Greenleaf,

that the first settlers of Wells came from Exeter. I do not

think that there is sufficient authority for this affirmation. I can-

not believe that there were not inhabitants here prior to 1612,

when John Wheelwright is said to have removed hither, with a

part of his church, from Exeter. At that time, there were many
inhabitants scattered along the coast.

Strong inducements for a settlement of this territory presented

themselves. There were no less than five rivers within the plan-

tation, on all which, near the sea, were eligible sites for the

manufacture of lumber. The extensive marshes, spreading

nearly the entire length of the town, yielding without culturo

annually, would afford food for cattle, sufficient at least for tho

preservation of life, though the settlers, at first, might be un-

successful in bringing the earth to yield the necessary increase.

The sea, also, so easily accessible from these rivers, was always

at hand with its bountiful supplies for the laborer, while sub-

duing tho wilderness for the purposes of habitation.

Levett, in his interesting account of his voyage to New Eng-

land in 1023, says of the Cape Porpoise, now called the Mousam
river, that it is " indifferent good for six ships, and it is generally

thought to be an excellent place for fish, but as yet there lias

been no trial made, but there may be a good plantation seated,

for there is good timber and good ground.'' It is highly probable

that its capabilities for the general purposes of humanity, began

to be tested before Mr. Wheelwright went there. In 1631, as

appears by the Colonial State papers, a grant was made of two

thousand acres, on the south side of Cape Porpoise river, to

John Btratton, of Spolly County, and his associates. What
occupancy followed this grant, we have no record. Stratton

came over to this country, and was one of the committee ap-
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pointed to run and ascertain the eastern boundary of Massa-

chusetts. His action here might have had something to do with

that matter. Thomas G-orges was in doubt, at any rate, whether

the title of Ferdinando would over-ride that of Stratton. Very

probably he provided for some kind of a possession. At this

time there was a communication between Agamenticus and Saco,

and settlers must have been scattered along the road. In 1640,

all the inhabitants from Piscataqua to Kennebunk were required,

as soon as they had a minister, to bring their children to be bap-

tized. From thence it may well be inferred that there were in-

habitants at the eastward of Agamenticus ; otherwise, the order

would naturally have been limited to York. Oleeves also says

that he made grants there in 1641 ; and as his grants, which ap-

pear on the record, are subject to the payment of an annual rent,

the grantees probably availed themselves of some use of the

land, to fulfil the condition. In Gorges 1 deed to Wheelwright,

he describes the tract conveyed as lying at Wells, in the county

of Summerset. I am not aware that plantations, previous to in.

habitancy, have ever been designated by name, as usual after

occupancy has commenced. It would be an interesting inquiry,

When was this name first applied to this territory ? and for what

reason was it so applied ? No grant was made to any one of

that name until 1657, when, Thomas Wells, of Ipswich, became

a proprietor. But previous to 1613, it had the name of Preston.

Who gave it this designation ? and by what authority was the

name changed ? There was one Edward Preston at Plymouth

in 1641. He was " a lewd fellow of the baser sort ;" and could

not have had the honor of giving a name to the town. I know

of no other person of that name, then in the country. But the

fact that the town had these two names before Mr. Wheelwright

came here, indicates that there were settlers then occupying the

territory.*

* I can have no doubt that the name of the town, Wells, was given by-

Thomas Gorges, in conformity with the usage of the first settlers to apply the

familiar names of the old country to their new places of residence here.

Wells is an ancient city in Sommersetshire, the native county of Sir F.

Gorges, and where his principal estates were situated. In conjunction with

Bath, it is a bishop's See, and from that city it is nineteen miles distant.

Ashton Phillips, the manor and birth-place of Gorges, five miles from Bristol,
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Mr. Wheelwright, who was banished from Massachusetts in

consequence of exercising the liberty which is the natural in-

heritance of every child of God, of funning his own opinions,

and freely expressing them, was, of course, a man of much
weight of character and influence ; and his removal to Wells

probably did much to expedite a settlement. It is said that a

part of his church came with him from Exeter, where they had

fixed their habitation, supposing that place to be beyond the

jurisdiction of Massachusetts. Among the long list of his

friends, I find but two or three who came with Mr. Wheelwright

to Wells. The number of his church who came with him must

have been small. I do not find any grants to Hutchinson or

Needham, who laid applied to Gorges for them. At any rate,

their names have not come down to us as inhabitants. Still some

of Wheelwright's adherents were with him ; and we may well

infer that they were men of resolution, independent in their

opinions, and fully conversant of the natural right of freedom of

speech. Wells, then, so far as this accession to its population is

regarded as initiating the settlement, had an honorable be-

ginning.

At this time, and for several years subsequent, it must have

required a good share of fortitude and enterprise, to have at-

tempted a permanent settlement in this vicinity. To whom the

territory then belonged of right, or to whom it might be awarded

on any final adjudication, neither civilians nor planters could, by
the logic of preceding grants or acts of the home government, or

by any possession, argument, or assumptions of various alleged

proprietors, possibly determine.

Wheelwright, Boad, and Rishworth acceded to the title of

Gorges, and were authorized by him to make allotments under

it to such persons as they judged suitable to be admitted as in-

habitants. Ezekiel Knight and John Baker adopted the Rigby

is about twenty miles from Wells. A glance at the names of our towns will

readily satisfy as of their derivation; Bath, Bridgewater, Taunton, Wells, in

Sommersetshire, Newbury, Boston, Falmouth, Biddeford, Limerick, York,
Berwick, etc., in other counties showtheir connection with the mother country.
Preston, which never prevailed as the designation of the town to any extent,

is a city in Lancaster County, England. Perhaps some early settler came
from there.

—

Ed.
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interest, and were authorized by Cleeves to carry out his wishes,

in disposing of the territory. The agents of Gorges were promi-

nent men of the times. Knight, one of Rigby's agents, was also

a man of note, and was appointed to various local offices. But
Baker was a very different personage, and one who would not

be very likely to prepossess inquirers favorably, as to his lord's

title. I suppose him to be the same person to whom Win-

throp refers, as a member of the church of Boston, grown
wealthy from nothing, and becoming disordered, drunken, lying,

and reckless, was obliged to flee, and went to Agamenticus ; the

judgment of the church being, <c that he had excommunicated

himself, and that Christ had ratified it by giving him up to Sa-

tan." He claimed afterward to repent of his iniquities, and the

church in Boston forgave him, " but he soon after went back into

his old habits." He came afterward to Wells, and " by his

speeches abusive of the ministry, and upholding private meet-

ings, to the disturbance of public assemblies, rendered himself

so obnoxious, that he was required to give bonds for his good

behavior, and to abstain from public preaching in this juris-

diction." The agency of such a man would not bring much
popularity to the patent. Though Knight was of a different

character, and authorized to conduct the religious services of the

sanctuary on the Sabbath, his association with Baker would very

much lessen his influence in advancing the interests of his em-

ployer.

How large a portion of the settlers at Wells received, and

relied on, grants from either of these alleged proprietors, cannot

now be ascertained. The agencies do not seem to have been

inclined to interfere with each other in their locations. I find no

instance in which a grantee satisfied his grant by laying it on

land previously taken up by any one else, under Gorges or

Cleeves. But the number of grants by either of them was very

small. Wheelwright, Boad, and Rishworth do not seem to

have been very anxious to carry forward the supposed rights of

Gorges. The former left the town in four or five years. I do

not see how this grant of the power of allotment is to be re-

garded as the charter of the town. Certainly the town never

acted under it. Neither can I regard the Rigby patent as the
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foundation of its subsequent action. No reference is made to

either of them, as an authority for proceedings afterward. Some

of the settlers had taken grants from each of these claimants.

Thus John Sanders, who seems to have been somewhat of a

solid man, received grants of adjoining lots from Gorges in lii |:i,

Cleeves in 1651, and the town in 1659. So fur as any judgment

of the matter is deducible from their aetion, they regarded a

grant from one person as good as from any other; and they

went on under a formal title, and their possession afterward was

not disturbed, till so long continued as to work out an inde-

feasible right.

But there is manifest error in the statement, that " there is no

evidence that the land was ever purchased of the Indians." It

is somewhat remarkable, that, with the records near at hand,

such an error should have found its way into the foregoing

sketch. It does not appear that the town acquired any title

directly from the natives. But I understand the remark to affirm

that their rights were never released. Even though so many
generations have intervened since the territory was entered upon

by the white man, it is some satisfaction to the present holders

of these lands, to be assured that their title did not begin in

wrong; that the original owners had voluntarily parted with it.

I cannot ascertain that the town ever had any legal title,

although they may have acquired it, in some way, from the deed

to Wadleigh. In their memorial to Charles II., they allege that

it came to them from the natives. That deed is in the following

words :

" "Whereas Sagamore Thomas Chabinocke, of Nampscoscoke,

by virtue of his last will and testament, had given and be-

queathed, and for certain good reasons and considerations, him

hereunto moving, hath, and by virtue hereof, doth freely and for-

ever bequeath, give, and grant, unto John "Wadleigh of Wells, to

him, his heirs and successors, and that forever, of his own accord,

and with the consent of his mother, Ramanascho, to whom the

said Wadleigh has given a consideration, the premises, considered

after the manner of a purchase, bargain and sale, the said Saga-

more, and his adherents and survivors, have, for themselves and

successors, confirmed and made sure unto the said John Wadleigh
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and his successors, to be inherited presently after the death of

the said Sagamore, all that the said Sagamore, with his whole

right, title, and interest, called by the name of Nampscoscoke

bounding between Nogimcoth and Kennebunk, and up as high

as Cape Porpoise Falls, and the same with all the profits, com-

modities, and appurtenances, against all men to warrant and

defend.

" "Witness our hands and seals this 18th day of October, 1649.

PHILEMON POCHMAET.

y%r&The Sagamore's mark with his

own hand.

\
Sealed, signed and delivered in presence of us.

Kamanascho, her mark. VV^ \/t/1
Will. Wardell, his mark. VV\V"
Stephen Batson, his mark.1^ fO
ROBERT WADLEIGH.

Sasagahaway, his mark. ^ **N? 3TVJ

And they all affirm. Ceasar consents to this.

William WardelPs testimony that this is the act and deed of

Thomas Chabinocke, the Sagamore of Wells. Taken
before me the 28th of March, '57. Joseph Bowles,

Commission."

In 1650, Eamanascho, the mother of the Sagamore, Thomas
Chabinocke, quit-claims to Wadleigh, to confirm and establish

the foregoing, for ten pounds sterling, which she and the Saga-

more received in his life-time.

March 31, 1650. John Wadleigh took quiet and peaceable

posseesion of the premises contained in his Indian right, " laying

the whole continent from Cape Porpoise Falls, and so by a

straight lino to Negunquit, and so down to the sea-side, and
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further assigns the same as it shall bo inhabited to be liable to

all common charges and rates for the town of Preston, alias

Wells, and to this, as in the same, or like case required, we the

witnesses have hereunto subscribed our names," etc.

Some other sanctions to this transfer give the same utterances

of a very cautious civil policy, or of a still more extensive regard

to the claims of life's various relationships. The Sagamore's

Bister signifies her approbation of the act ; and the parties and

witnesses also affirm that Ceasar gave his consent. "Who Ceasar

was, the record does not show. Neither can I ascertain who
this John Wadleigh was, He must have been familiar with the

natives, and the necessities of an effectual Indian conveyance, to

have had all these provisions ingrafted in his deed. His son

was with him and witnessed the instrument. Ho may have had

a dwelling-place here, and been an inhabitant for years. He was

conusant of a fact, that the town was also called Preston, which

is not elsewhere mentioned.

It is possible, that from this deed to Wadleigh, tho town

acquired, or assumed, tho right of making grants. As there

was at that time no existing corporation capable of taking a

deed, it may have been obtained purposely for the benefit of the

plantation. By the terms of the record of possession, the land

is assigned to bo liable to all charges and rates for the town of

Preston, alias Wells. The town assumed, soon after, to dispose

of the lands at their pleasure, claiming, in a memorial to King
Charles, that they honestly purchased them of the natives. In

subsequent years, they were not very particular or cautious as

to their mode of action, but obviated all difficulties in a very

summary manner. Thus in the year 1716, being assembled to-

gether, they voted " that this be a legal meeting to do town busi-

ness," and afterward, that all the lands within the limits of tho

town should be tho exclusive property of those who were then

inhabitants; and formed themselves into a proprietary, shutting

out all who might thereafter come to reside with them. It may
have been by some brief procedure of this kind, that they con-

verted to their own use tho title of Wadleigh.

Gorges authorized Wheelwright and others to allot and grant

to settlers all the lands between Kennebunk and Ogunquit
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rivers, extending from the sea, up into the country, eight miles.

Here is something definite. But the Ogunquit river is not the

boundary of Wells, and never has been, since its incorporation.

As the charters of these ancient towns are not readily ac-

cessible to the public, I here insert that of the town of Wells, as

granted by commissioners appointed by the General Court of

Massachusetts, on the fourth of July, 1653 :

" Whereas the town of Wells have acknowledged themselves

subject to the Government of the Massachusetts, in New Eng-

land, as by their subscriptions may appear, we, the Common-
wealth of the General Court of the Massachusetts, for the

settling of government amongst them, and the rest, within the

bounds of their charter, northerly to the full and just extent of

their line, have thought meete and doe actually graunt

—

That Wells shall be a townshipp of it selfe, and alwayes shall

be a pt of Yorkshire, and shall enjoy ptection, aequal acts of

favour and justice with the rest of the people inhabitinge on the

south side of the river of Piscatag, within the limits of our juris-

diction, and enjoy the privileges of a town, as others of the juris-

diction do have and doe enjoy, with all other libties and privi-

ledges to other inhabitants in o r jurisdiction.

2. That every inhabitant shall have and enjoy all their just

properties, titles and intrests in the howses and land they doe

possess, whether by graunt of the towne, possession, or of the

former Generall Courts. 3d. That all the present inhabi-

tants of Wells shall be ffreemen of the county, and having taken

the oath of ffreemen, shall have libtie to give their votes for

Govnr
, Assistants, and other general officers of the country.

4. That the said town of Wells shall have three men, approved

by the County Court from year to year, to end small causes, as

other of the townshipps in the jurisdiction hath, where no magis-

trate is, according to law ; and for this present year, Mr. Henry

Boade, Mr. Thomas Wheelwright, and Mr. Ezekiel Knight are

appointed and authorized comissio" to end all small causes under

forty shillings, according to law ; and ffurther, these com-

mission", or any two of them, are, and shall be empouered and

invested w th
full power and authoritie as a magistrate, to keep

the peace, and in all civil cases to graunt atatchment and execu-
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tions, if neede require. Any of the said Co-mission" have

power to examine olfendo", to committ to prison, unles bayle be

given, according to law, and when these or any of these shall

judge needful, they shall have power to bind oft'endo™ to the

peace or good behavio r

; also any of these have power to ad-

minister oathes according to law; also marriage shall be solem-

nized by any of these according to law.''

" It is further ordered and granted that for this present year,

Mr. Henry Boade, Mr. Thomas Wheelwright, Mr. Ezekiel

Knight, John Wadley and John Gooch shall be the Selectmen to

order the prudential affairs of the town of Wells.

Lastly, it is graunted that the inhabitants of Wells shall be,

from time to time, exempted from all public rates, and that they

shall always bear their own charges of the Courts, etc., arising

from amongst themselves."

Mr. Joseph Bolls was appointed Clerk of the Writs. The
General Court appointed, in 1658, Nicholas Shapley, Brian

Pendleton, and Nicholas Frost, to "pitch and lay out the di-

viding line between York and Wells ;" and they established it,

as they thought proper. Afterward, Kittery appointed a com-

mittee, which was joined by Wells, to fix and settle the line be-

tween them. How the north-western boundary was settled

does not appear by any record. On the north-east, Wells claimed

that Kennebunk river was the boundary. But Cape Porpoise

insisted that that town extended to Cape Porpoise river. By
what arguments these several claims were sustained, I do nqt

know. Gorges had made the Kennebunk river tho boundary

of the territory grauted to Wheelwright and others for allotment.

But the name, Cape Porpoise, would seem to imply that that

town bordered on the river of that name. To adjust this con-

troversy, in 16G0, commissioners were appointed by each of the

townf, viz., Edmund Littlefield and William Harmon by Wells,

and William Scadlock and Morgan Howell by Cape Porpoise.

They met at Harding's, at tho mouth of Kennebunk river. But
in consequence of a violent storm, lasting several days, they were

detained there, at some considerable expense. When the storm

was over, the Cape Porpoise commissioners proposed to those of

Wells, that if they would pay the tavern bill, they would agree

23
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on Kennebunk river as the dividing line. This proposition was

accepted, and the boundary thus established. The disputed

territory embraced nearly all the present town of Kennebunk.

My own impression is, that it honestly belonged to Cape Por-

poise, now called Kennebunkport.

Sullivan's History of the District of Maine has become a

scarce book,—and the fact that the names of the first settlers of

Wells are there given, is not a sufficient reason for omitting them

in this article. Their names are as follows]: Henry Boade, John

Wadley, Edmund Littlefield, John Sanders, John White, John

Bush, Robert Wadleigh, Francis Littlefield, Sen., William

Wardall, Samuel Austin, William Harman, John Wakefield,

Thomas Littlefield, Thomas Mills, Anthony Littlefield, John

Barrett, Jr., Francis Littlefield, Jun., Nicholas Cole, William

Cole, Joseph Emerson, Ezekiel Knight, John Gooch, Joseph

Boles, Jonathan Thing, John Barret, Sen. These all took the

oath of freemen. Thomas Wheelwright, being appointed a

commissioner " to end small causes," must also have been an

inhabitant.

Of these persons, the names of nearly all have disappeared

from among those of the present population of Wells. The
Wheelwrights, Littlefields, Harmons, G-ooches, Coles, and

Wakefields, remain.



IV. EXTRACTS FROM RECORDS

COUNTY OF YORK.

" The early records of the Province of Maine were made

upon unbound pamphlets or books of one or more quires of

paper stitched together, and generally without any covering of

parchment or strong cartridge paper, to secure them from

injury; and prior to 1774 had no particular marks to distin-

guish them. When upon examining them from mere curiosity,

they were by D. S. marked with the letters A, B, 0, and so on

as far as Gr.

They are a mixture of legislative and judicial orders and

decisions of a criminal and civil nature, interspersed with inven-

tories of estates of intestates, wills, accounts of administrators,

and the like, made by the clerk of the Court of Common Pleas,

who was usually the recorder of deeds.

These papers, before the American revolution, were in the

office of the clerk of the Inferior Court of Common Pleas, in an

old chest, with some other papers belonging to that office, and

are now in the office of the clerk of the Judicial Courts in the

county of York, at Alfred.

The extracts hereunto annexed were made in the year 1774.

Some few of which were communicated to the Historical Society

of Massachusetts, and have been published in the first series of

collections."

The foregoing remarks, together with the extracts which

follow, are taken from a manuscript presented to the Society in

1822, by the Hon. David Sewall, late of York, deceased.
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Book A.

Sir Ferdinando Gorge by Commission appoints

Sr Thomas Josselin, Knight
Richard Vynes, Steward General

Sepr 2d Francis Champernoon ~1

1639 ' Henry Josselin > Esq'rs.

Richard Bonighton )

Willm. Hooke ) r .

Edward Godfrey 5
uent '

Thomas Gorges
Richard Vines, Steward General

March 10 Henry Josselin

1639—40] Francis Champernoon ^ Councellors.

Richard Bonithon
William Hook
Edward Godfrey, Esq'rs.

Thomas Gorges appointed Secretary.

I do Swear and protest before God Allmighty and by the holy

contents of this Book to be a faithfnll Servant and Councellor

unto Sir Ferdinando Gorges Knight ray Lord of the Province

of Mayne, and to his heirs and assigns, to do and perform to the

utmost of my power all dutifull respects to him or them belong-

ing, concealing their Councells, and without respect of persons

to do, perform and give my opinion in all causes according to my
conscience, and best understanding both as I am a Councellor

for hearing of causes, and otherwise freely to give him or them

my opinion as I am a Councellor for matters of State or Com-

monwealths, and that I will not conceal from him or them and

their Councell any matter of conspiracy or mutinous practice

against my said Lord and his heirs but will instantly after my
knowledge thereof discover the same, and prosecute the authors

thereof with all diligence and severity according to Justice, and

thereupon do humbly kiss the Book.

25th March 1636 the Comis'rs met at Saco at the house of

Cap. Richard Bonithon, present

Capt. Richard Bonithon, Mr. Thomas Purchase, }

Capt. Willm. Gorges, Mr. Ed'd Godfrey, > Gent.

Capt. Thos. Camock, Mr. Thos. Luis, )

Mr. Henry Josline, Gent.

8th Sep., 1640, General Court at Sacd. Before Thos. Gorges,

Leaf 28. Richard Vines, Richard Bonighton, Henry Josselin, and Edmund

Godfrey.

Mary, the wife of George Puddington, of Agamenticus, is

here Indicted by the whole Bench for often frequenting the
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House and company of Mr. George Burdett, minister of Aga-

menticus aforesaid, privately in his bed chamber, and elsewhere

in a very suspicious manner, notwithstanding the said Mary was

often forewarned thereof, by her said Husband, and the Con-

stable of the said Plantation with divers others
;
and for abusing

her said Husband, to the great disturbance and scandall of the

8aid plantation, contrary to the peace of our Sovereign Lord the

King. This Enquest find Billa vera.

Whereupon the Court enjoyneth the said Mary to make this

publick confession, here in this Court, and likewise at Aga-

menticus aforesaid, when she shall bo thereto called by the

Worship'l Thomas . Gorges and Edmund Godfrey, two of the

Councillors of this Province. Her confessions followeth :

I, Mary Puddington, do hereby acknowledge that I have dis-

honoured God, the place where I live, and wronged my Husband
by my disobedience and light carriage, for which I am heartily

sorry, and desire forgiveness of this Court, and of my Husband,

and do promise amendment of life and manners henceforth ; and

having made this confession, to ask her husband forgiveness on

her knees.

A 28.

Mr. George Burdett, minister of Agamenticus, is Indicted by

the whole Bench for a man of ill name and fame, Infamous for

incontinency, a Publisher and Broacher of divers dangerous

speeches, the better to seduce that weak sex of women to his

Incontinent practices contrary to the peace of our Sovereign

Lord tho King, as by Depositions and Evidences. This En-
quest find Billa vera.

"Whereupon the said George Burdett is fined by tho Bench

for this his offence ten pounds sterling to our Sovereign Lord

ye King.

Mr. George Burdett is also Indicted by the whole Bench for

Deflowering Ruth, the wife of John Gouch, of Agamenticus

aforesaid, as by depositions and evidence appeareth, contrary to

the peace of our Sovereign Lord the King. This Enquest find

Billa vera.

Whereupon tho said George Burdett is fined by the bench for

this his offence Twenty Pounds Sterling to our Sovereign Lord

the Kins:.
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Mr. George Burdett, being found guilty by the grand Enquest

for entertaining Mary, the wife of G-eorge Puddington, in his

House, as by the first Indictment against the said George

Burdett appeareth, is therefore fined by this Bench Ten Pounds

Sterling to the said George Puddington for those his wrongs

and Damage sustained by the said George Burdett. Page 29.

Ruth, the wife of John Gouch, being found guilty by the grand

Inquest of Adultery with Mr. George Burdett, is therefore cen-

sured by this Court, that six weeks after she is delivered of

child, she shall stand in a white sheet publickly in the Congre-

gation at Agamenticus two several Sabbath Days, and likewise

one day at this General- Court when she shall be thereunto called

by the Councellors of this Province, according to his majesty's

laws in that case provided.

At a General Court held at Saco, September, 17th, 1640. It

is ordered by this Court, that in regard of the great Damage the

Inhabitants of this Province do sustain thro' the loss of their

cattle by the devouring Wolves, that from henceforth if any one

shall kill any wolf between Pascattaqua and Kenebunk, the

partie so killing them shall have Twelve pence for every wolf so

killed from every Family between Kennebunk and Sagadahock,

for every Wolf so killed within those limits, and that the partie

killing any Wolves (repairing to the next Councellor of this

Province within said Limits,) shall have order for the taking up

of the said money.

It is ordered by this Court that the Worshipfull Thos. Gorges

and Edward Godfrey, Councellors of this Province, shall order all

the Inhabitants from Piscatiqua to Kennebunk, which have any

children unbaptized, that as soon as a minister is settled in any

of their plantations, they bring their said children to Baptism,

and if any shall refuse to submit to the said order, that then the

partie so refusing shall be summoned to answer this their con-

tempt at the next General Court to be holden in this province.

At ye first General Court held at Sa«o June 25th 1640. Be-

fore Richard Vines, Richard Bouighton, Henry Josselin, Esq'rs.,

and Edward Godfrey, Gent, Councellors to Sr. Ferdinando

Gorges.

Roger Garde, Eegister. Robert Sankey, provost Marshall.
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Memorandum. That here is a matter depending in this

Leaf 1G. Court between Mr. Edward Godfrey and Mr. George

Cleaves, coneerning twenty pounds, which the said

Edward Godfrey doth demand of the said George Cleaves by

virtue of an Order out of the high Court of Starrchamber, for

costs in that Court by a Special "Writ.

Leaf 19. Whereas divers priveledges have heretofore bin

granted to the Patentees and Inhabitants of Agamenticus as by

several pattents doth and may appear, we whose names are here

subscribed being deputed for and in behalf of the said Inhabi-

tants, do in the behalf of ourselves, and those we are deputed

for, protest as followeth. That our appearance at this Court,

shall be no prejudice to any Grants or priveledges which we now

enjoy or ought to enjoy by Virtue of the said Pattents or other-

wise, and that whatsoever we shall do or transact in this Court

shall be, saving this Protestation. Notwithstanding we do

humbly acknowledge his Majesty's Grant of the Provincial Pat-

tent to Sir Ferdinando Gorges, and humbly submit ourselves

thereunto so far as by law we are bound. We also desire that

a copy of this Protestation may be taken by some Notary or

other officer of this Court, here to be recorded.

Edw. Johnson, Geo. Puddington, ) Deputies for the Inhabi-

John Baker, Bartho'w Barnes, $ tants of Agamenticus.

It was ordered at this Court by Richard Vines, Richard

Bonithon, Henry Joslin, and Edward Godfrey, Esq'rs., Coun-

cellors for this Province, that the Government now established in

Agamenticus shall so remain, untill such time as the said Coun-

cellors have eertifyed the Lord of the Province thereof, and

heard again from him concerning his further pleasure therein.

At a General Court holden at Saco October 21, 1645. Before

Richard Vinos, Deputy, Francis Robinson, ")

Richard Bonithon, ) -p ,
Arthur Mackworth, .f Magis-

Benry Joselin, $
^ scl "• Edward Small. | trates.

Abraham Prebble, J

Ordered by the General Court, that whereas we have

Leaf 33. not heard of late from the Hon. Sir Ferdinando Gorges,

knight, lord proprietor for this province of Mayne, for

a full establishment of Government within the said Province for

our peace and safety, this 21st of October, 1615, have chosen for
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our Deputy Governour, Richard Vines, Esq., for one whole

year, and also order yearly to choose a Deputy G-overnor, and

further order that in case the said Richard Vines, Esq., should

depart the 'country before the year be expired, Then we nomi-

nate and choose Henry Joselin, Esq., Deputy Governour in his

place and stea I.

William Waldern, Recorder of the province of Mayne, chosen

and sworn for one year.

At a General Court held at Wells, July 6th, 1646.

Henry .Joselin. Esq., Deputy |Gov., Henry Bode, 1 . .

Richard Bonithon, Esq., > c> Bazil Parker,
J

. ^"
Edward Godfrey, Esq., J Abraham Preble, )

21st October, 1645, at Saco. Ordered that whereas John

Bonithon, of Saco, in the Province of Mayne, hath been sum-

moned divers times m his Majesty's name to appear at our

Courts, and hath refused, threatening to kill and slay any person

that should lay hands on him, whereupon the law hath had its

due proceedings to an outlawry; and divers Judgments, execu-

tions and warrants of the good behaviour against him. We
therefore, at a General Court assembled, adjudge the said John

Bonighton outlawed and incapable of any of his majesty's laws,

and proclaim him a Rebell.

Ordered by concent of the Court, that if Mr. John Bonithon

be taken, that he be sent forthwith to Boston to answer such

things as there shall be brought against him. p. 33.

Ordered for the charges of the General Court at Saco

Leaf 34. for the Province of Maine, 21st of October, 1645. Saco

to pay 10s. Casco 10s. Georgiana £1. Piscataqua

£2 10s. Total £4 10s.

June 30, 1647. The Indictment of Charles Frost.

Whereas there was slain Warwick Heard of Sturgeon Creek,

by Charles Frost doth stand here presented and Indicted, that

he Feloniously contrary to the peace of our Sovereign Lord the

King, his Crown and Dignity, did the 23d day of March last,

with a fowling piece, murder the said Warwick Heard ;
having

not the fear of God before his eyes, You are therefore to in-

quire whether it was wilfully done with malice pretence, quarrel],

or by accident or unawares or misadventure.
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The Jury find that Charles Frost did kill Warwick Heard by

misadventure. And Charles Frost quit by proclirnation.

Book B.

The Court holden this 30th of June, 1053, at York, in the

county of York, by the Bight Worshipful! Richard Bellingham,

Esq., Capt. Thomas Wiggin, Magistrates ; Edinun Godfrey,

Capt. Nicholas Shapleigh, Edward Rishworth, Recorder Asso-

ciates for this present year for the said county.

Nicholas Shapleigh, plant,, in an action of the case

Leaf 1. for unjust molestation, agt. Mr. Robert Knight, de-

fendant. The Jury find for the plant, forty shillings

Damage and costs of Court: This verdict disaccepted by the

Court, the thing not being legall for the Jury to bring in a v-er-

dict into this Court which exceeded not the sum of forty shillings.

We present Christopher Fursone for living from his wife. One
twelve month's time given him by the Court to procure his wife

to come over, or else he is to returne to her again, p. 2.

Military officers elected by the Town of Kittery and con-

firmed by the Court held for this county 4th June, 1053. Nicho-

las Shapleigh, Capt., John Wilcoln, Lieut., Richard Nason,

Ensign, Humphrey Chadborn, Clerk of the Band. p. 4.

A Court held at York for the County of Yorkshire, 25th Oc-

tober, 1053. Before Capt. Thomas Wiggin, Magistrate; Ed.
Godfrey, Ni. Shapleigh, Edw. Rishworth. Assoc. Record, p. 5.

Robert Collens is this day by the Grand Inquest Indicted,

That he by the suggestion of Satan did violently, not having the

fear of God before his eyes, assault the House of Nicholas Bond
on the 29th of May last, about twelve o'clock in the night, did

then and there force the wife of the said Nicholas Bond, Jane
Bond, to commit the act of incontinency contrary to the laws of

God, our native Country, and this Province. Whereto he

pleadeth not guilty, and hath put himself on God and the Coun-
try, which Country you are for, you have heard the examination,

proof and evidence; the Jury doth find Robert Collens guilty of

the act of Incontinency, not guilty of the foreement.

Upon this verdict the Court ordereth that the delipq't Robert
Collens shall have corporal punishment, to receive forty stripes

save one, and fined ten pounds, the one half to the country, the
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other half to Richard Bond, to be paid presently in goods or

work, also give in surety to pay it att or before the next Court,

Dated the 2 of July, 1650.

Whereas William Norman did acknowledge that he hath done

Margery Randall much wrong in taking of her to his wife,

whereas he himself confesses that he never had any legal devorce

from his wife that he has in England, as appears by the evidence

of Mrs. Mendum and Samuel Staple,

It is therefore ordered by this present Court that the said

Margery Randall shall from henceforth have her divorce, and is

now by order thereof clearly freed from the said Norman.

Oct. 15, 1651.
v And whereas it appears that William Nore-

man hath married two wives which were both alive, for any thing

that can appear otherwise, at one time,

It is therefore ordered by this Court that the said Noreman

shall henceforth be Banished out of this Countrie, and is to de-

part thence within seven days after the date hereof, and in case

the said Noreman be found after that time in this Jurisdiction,

he shall forthwith according to law be put to death.

We do present George Rogers and Mary Batchellor, the wife

of Mr. Stephen Bachellor, min'r, for Adultery.

It is ordered by the Court that G-eorge Rogers, for his Adul-

tery with Mrs. Bachellor, shall forthwith have forty stripes save

one upon the bare skin given him.

It is ordered that Mrs. Bachellor, for her Adultery, shall

receive forty stripes save one at the first town meeting held at

Kittery six weeks after her delivery, and be branded with the

letter A.

We present Jane, the wife of John Andrews, for selling of a

Firkin of Butter unto, Mr. Nic. Davis that had two stones in it,

which contained fourteen Pounds, wanting two ounces in Weight.

This presentment owned by Jane Andrews and John Andrews

her husband, in five pound Bond, is bound thus : Jane his wife

shall stand at a town meeting at York, and at a town meeting at

Kittery, till two hours time be expired, with her offence written

in Capital Letters pinned upon her forehead.

This Injunction fulfilled at a Commiss'n Court according to

Order Jan'y 18, 1653. p. 6.

It is ordered that Alexander Maxwell, for his grosse offence in
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his exorbitant and abusive carriages towards his master Mr.

George Leader and Mrs., as by evidence doth appear; shall be

publickly brought forth to the Whipping Post, where lie shall

be fastned till 30 lashes be given bim upon the bare skin. The

said Maxwell is likewise hereby enjoyned to give satisfaction to

his aforesaid master for his expence of liveing and dyet, during

the time of his imprisonment, with other charges, amounting to

the value of seven pounds ten shillings, and in case the said

Maxwell do at anytime for the future misbehave himself towards

his master Mr. Leader, that then he hath full liberty, forthwith,

to make sale of the said Maxwell, to Virginia, Barbadus, or any

other of the English Plantations.

The coporal punishment executed 2 5tha at the Court, 1654.

p. 9.

June 29th, 1654. Francis Raynes chosen Lieut, by the com-

pany at York, whom the court doth confirm in his place, and

gives liberty to the company for the choice of an Ensign.

Mr. Abraham Prebble chosen Treasurer for the county this

year and sworn.

The names of the Grand Jury, June 29th, 1*;> 1.

Mr. Thomas Wheelwright, Mr. Francis Raynes,

Mr. William Hilton, Mr. iv/.ck. Knight,

Peter Weare, Arthur Bragdon,

Morgane Howell, John Bush,

Mr. George Leader, Antipas Mavaracke,

Roheri Mendum, Abraham Conley,

James Gibbens, Willm. Scadlock. p. 10.

We present William Wardell, who being demanded whether

he would give any thing towards the Colledge, answered it was

no ordinance of God, and that it was contrary to his judgment.

p. 11.

At a Court holden at York, for the county of Yorkshire,

upon Thursday the 28th day of June, 1655, by the Worshipfull

Samuel Symonds and ('apt. Thomas Wiggins, Magistrates, Mr.

Ed. JohnSOD and Ed. Rishworth, Recorder A - for the

said county.

We present Jonathan Thing for speaking discornfully of the

Court of York, saying no question but you may cast any cause
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at the Court of York, so long as Harry the Coatchman sits

Judge.

Furthermore it is witnessed the said Thing sleighted the

Government in saying he cared not what the Gov. sayd nor

never a Governor in the Country.

Jonathan Thing censured to have 20 lashes or to redeem it

with twelve pounds.

We present Robert Hethersaw for attempting the wife of

Samuel Austin to Incontinency, both by words and actions.

Robert Hethersaw fined by the Court, either to have twenty

lashes given him by the officer upon the bare skin, or to pay

seven pounds ten shillings into the Treasury. For payment

whereof Tho : Weelwright ingageth satisfaction.

We present Silvester Stover and his wife for complaining one

of another on the Lord's Day, in the morning, in saying his

wife did abuse him, and bid him go to Thomas Crockett's and

carry some bread and cheese to his bastard, and the said wife of

Stover sayd, that her Husband did call her commonly Hoare.

Silvester Stover for breach of yeSabbath fined 10s. and fees

5s. admonished. •

We present Mary Clay, the wife of Jonas Clay, for keeping

company with John Davis, of Winter Harbour, in a suspicious

manner, causing the neighbours to suspect them of Incontinency.

An act of seperation betwixt Mary and Davis upon forfeiture of

ten pounds to the Treasurer.

We present Frances Hilton, the wife of William Hilton, for

rayling at her husband, and saying he was gone with John his

Bastard unto his 3 half peny Hoare, and that he carryed a

cloake of profession for his Knavery.

Mrs. Hilton for her ofience toward her husband, and for

several of her miscarriages toward others is censured to have

20 stripes upon the bare skin, only the execution thereof is re-

spited till the next county Court, except any injurious complaint

come in against her by her husband or any other person, then it

is to be executed by order ye Commis'rs. p. 16.

To the Constable of Saco or his Deputy. Whereas informa-

tion is given to this Court that Geo. Garland hath lately pub-

lished an intent of marriage with the widow Hitchcock of Sacoe,

notwithstanding he hath lately owned himself to be the husband
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of another woman called Sarah Mills. These are therefore in

his majesty's name to will and require you to forbid the Publi-

cation, and to give notice unto the said Garland, and to the

widow Hitchcock, that they do henceforth forbear any further

proceeding therin, and that they do not frequent the company of

each other, untill authority take further order, wherein if the

said persons shall be found defective upon complaynt to author-

ity, they shall be forthwith sent or bound over unto the next

Court of Assistants at Boston, there to answer their delinquency

therein, p. 65.

July, 1059. Allowed and confirmed by the Court, military

officers for ye town of Kittery, Charles Frost Lieut., James

Heard Ensign, Miles Tompson, Daniel Gooding, Jos. Alcock and

John Shapleigh Sargeants.

For the town of York, Francis Raynes Capt., John Davis,

Lieut., John Alcock Esq., John Twisden and Mathew Austine,

Sargeants. Entered but not allowed, p. 30.

At the Court at York, July 1, 1661. The town of Wells at

present being destitute of any fit person to carry on the Worship

of God amongst them on the Lord's day,

It is therefore Ordered by this Court, that till they can better

provide for themselves, whieh we Hope they will not neglect any

opportunity to do, that Mr. Ezekiel Knight and William Ham-
mond shall duly attend the place of publick meeting on the

Lord's day and they improve their best abilities in Speaking out

of the Word of God, Praying, Singing of Psalms and reading

some good Orthodox Sermons as may most tend to the Edifica-

tion of those that Hear and the Sanctification of the Sabbath,

as the Laws of God and this Jurisdiction require.

It is ordered by the Court that every Juriman either for the

grand Inquest or Jury of Tryals shall have allowed him by the

County 3s. pr day for their Service, He bearing all his own

charges, while thereon, He continually being allowed for his

Time of comeing to Court and returning Back as followeth, viz.

5 days from home and back to Falmouth,

4 days do do Scarborough,

3 do do Sacoe,

2 1-2 days do do Cape Porpoise,

From Wells 2 days and from Kittery 2 days,
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July, 1663. Capt. Francis Raynes tendereth to this Court

the laying down of his Captains place, which by the Court was

accepted, and hence forth the said Francis Raynes is not to be

reputed any such officer, p. 58.

July, 1663. We Present Mr. Nic. Shapleigh, for the neglect

of his Office, in not commanding the military officers to Train in

the Town of Kittery according to Law.

We present Mr. Thomas Booth for vain Swearing, and slan-

dering the country, by saying they were a company of Hypo-

critical Rogues, they feared neither God nor the King, with

other uncivil Speeches.

This Court considering '.Mr. Booth's offence fineth him five

Pounds, and further the said Booth Ingageth himself in a Bond
of Ten pounds to be of good behaviour towards all persons,

specially those that are in authority.

1669. Christopher Lawson who came into this Cort caring

himself unseveley towards som partickilar memburs, saying that

He or they should not be his Judges, with a Turbulent behaviour

towards the said Cort ; was comited to sitt on ower in the

Stickes. p. 79.

July 5, 1670. We present Thomas Taylor for being Drunk

on the Sabbath Day and comeing in that condition to the place

of God's public worship.

We present Thomas Taylor for abusing Capt. Francis Rayns
being in authority, by Theing and thouing of him, and many
other abusive speeches, p. 94.

July, 1671. Mr. Thomas Withers complained of, and before

this Court convicted for Seruptitiously indeavoring to pervert

the providence of God, and priviledges of others, by putting in

several Votes for himself to be an officer at a Town Meeting

when He was Intrusted by divers Freemen to Vote for other

men, and for now writing and forging of a Summons and sub-

scribing the clerks of the Writ's Hand to itt without his order.

For his delinquincy herein the aforesaid Thomas Withers is fined

Five pounds to be paid in money or other pay equivalent there-

unto to the Treasurer of the County or to stand in the Pillory

at York the next Training Day Two Hours ; officers fees 5s.

And further, the said Thomas Withers is disfrancised and
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henceforth disenabled to Elect or be chosen to any place of

Public Trust as a freeman have and ought to have either in

T^wn or more publick affairs untill under the Sense of his mis-

carryage opportunity gives him leave to give suitable Satisfac-

tion to Court and country, p. 103.

We preseut Mrs. Sarah Morgan for striking of her Husband.

(Testes Capt. Davis Jno. Ameredith, constable.) The delinquent

to stand with a gagg in her mouth half an hour at Kittery at a

publick Town meeting, and the cause of her offence writ and

put upon her Forehead, or pay 50s. to the Treasurer, p. 106.

B. 13.

Court at Saco, 1665, Nov'r. Edward Rishworth is Plant.

In an action of the case for not paiment of a Debt due to him

out of Mr. Green his Estate deceased, contra Jere. Sheers, ad-

minisr. of the said Green.

The Court finds a non suit against the plant, and gives the

defendant his charge, 18s. Because He is not capable to be sued

within one year, and one day after Letters of admn. taken.

We present Joane Forde, the wife of Stephen Ford, for calling

the constable Hornheaded Rogue and Cowhead Rogue. Joane

Ford punished for this offence, by nine Stripes given her at tho

post at a Court holden at York, Decemr., 1665.

Wo present Joseph Winnock of Black Point for abusing Mr.

Francis Hooke, Just. Peace, by saying that he was no more

Drunk than Mr. Hookc, and called the said Hooke Mowne Calfe.

Joseph Winnock fined for offence Forty shillings, p. 13.

Wo present Joane Forde, the wife of Stephen Ford of tho

Isle of Shoales, for reviling and abusing the Neighbours by very

evil speeches. Jane Ford, for abusing the Constable and other

Her Neighbours, is appointed to have Ten lashes at the post,

which was by John Parker in presence of the Court accordingly

executed, p. 14.

In his majestys behalf we Indite Rich'd White of York for

swearing and calling his wife whore.

Richard White fined for swearing 2s. 6d. and for nbusing his

wife 20s. The fine of 20s. for abusing his wife, upon her request

and his promise of amendment, is remitted, and he paying 5s. for

the officers fees is discharged.
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In his majestys Behalf We Indite Richard White of York for

Abusing Thomas Bragdon one of the grand Jury, by saying

that the said Bragdon was not fitt to be a grand Juryman aod

that he would complain upon him tomorrow and have him put

out of his place for he was a Knave.

Kichard White fined for his offence 20s., and paying five

shillings for the officers fees is acquitted, p. 15.

Book 0.

At a Court holden at Casco by Henry Jocylen, Esq'r., William

Philips, Major Edward Bishworth, Francis Hook and Samuel

Wheelwright, jr. appointed by special commission from the

Bight Hon'ble Sir Bobert Carr, Knight, Col. George Cartwright

and Samuel Maverick Esq. for the eastern division of the

Province of Mayne, this 26th day of July, 1666. In the 18th

year of our Sovereign Lord the King.

It is ordered that Mr. George Munjoy shall henceforth have

power to administer Oaths in all matters of concernment unto

any person residing within the limits of the town of Casco. He
is likewise Impowered to marry within the precincts of the said

town, and to take a carefull oversight of all weights and meas-

ures, to see that they be according to the King's standard, which

is Winchester Weights and Measures, wherein if the said

Weights and Measures be found faulse or faulty, in the hands of

any person or persons, then the said weights and measures to be

forthwith destroyed, and the person or persons to be bound over

to the next Court holden for this division.

It is likewise ordered that any one Jus. Peace in the place

where he resides hath power to summon in seven honest men for

a Jury living within the said town, and to try any Action not

exceeding 40s., and after judgment to grant Execution for the

same to the constable of the town when the Marshall is not

present.

Court at Casco 13th Nov., 1666, the same Judges as before,

S. Wheelwright—excepted.

A Court of Pleas holden at Casco the 1st day of Oct. 1667 for

the Eastern Division of this Province by Henry Jocelyn Esq.

Major William Philips, Edward Bishworth Bee. Mr. Francis

Hook and George Munjoy ; Thomas Hayns chose clerk of the

Band for Westgostogua . 13.
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Elner Bonytbon examined by Esq. Jocelyn and Major Wil-

liam Pbilips, jr., Jus. Peace, in reference to Bastardy, but not find-

ing upon examination, her owning of the reputed Father of her

child, do therefore order that Elner Bonython for her offence,

shall either within one month from the 20th day of September,

1607, stand three Sabbath Days in a White Sheet in the pub-

lick meeting or otherways to pay five pounds ink) the Treasury

of this Division, which five pounds her father Mr. John Bony-

thon doth ingage himself to pay into this Court between this

and the last of May next ensuing, viz. to the Treasury.

We present Geo. Garland and Sarah Mills for living together

as man and wife being never marryed, contrary to the laws of

England.

In reference to more orderly liveing of the said Garland and

Sarah Mills and for preventing of future Inconveniencys which

will necessarily ensue such Incontinent courses
;

It is ordered that George Garland and Sarah Mills shall by

the order of some Jus. Peace in this Province or some minister,

be married within the term of one month from the date hereof,

or otherwise they shall not fail to give in sufficient Bond of ten

pounds for their good behaviour, to our Sovereign Lord the King
to the next Court of pleas for this Division.

At a Court at Wells, Sept. 29, 1663. Capt. William Philips

is legally chosen by the major part of the freemen and fidelity

men of this county, to exercise the place of a Sargeant Major

for the year ensuing, and his oath given him at this Court by tho

order of tho county court last, as attest.

Edw. Eishworth, Associate.

Book E.

1609. In reference to James Hermans beating and abusing

his wife. This Court doth adjudgo that the said Hermans shall

have ten stripes on the naked back, and to stand bound in a sum
of twenty pounds for his good behaviour until the next county

court, p. 36.

Joane Andrews thero appearing was admonished by tho

Court and required not to entertain her daughter the wife of

John Billing, so as to draw her from her husband, and she the

said Ann Billing was required to repair homo and live lovoingly

24
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with him, upon penalty of what further paine upon her neglect

thereof may further insew. 42.

1671, March 8. James Smith complaynes to Capt. Wincol of

Thorns. Nubery, for attempting to abuse his wife and Elizabeth

Alline, by proferring and wayteing opportunitys to ly with them,

and for swearing several oaths in their hearing.

Thomas NubMy, for his light and uncivil carriages about the

wimen, is concluded either to pay five pounds to the Treasurer

or to receive ten lashes upon the bare skin at the post. Nubery

stands to the fine. p. 48.

Thomas Nubery fined for his profane swearing, twenty

shillings.

1671. Mr. Thomas Withers complained of by a common re-

port for an irregular way of contribution, by putting in money

to lead on others to do the like, and taking of his own money if

not more out again, whereby there lyes some suspicion of fraud.

Thos. Withers stands bound in a Bond of £10 to the Treas-

urer of this county, to answer to the premises at the next Court

holden at' York for this county, p. 51.

Thomas Cloyse comeing as a testimony into Court, upon

occasion did own in Court that he played at cards ; for which

offence he is fined five shillings, p. 54.

Book F.

We indite Jonathan Hamons for charging John Baratt for

slighting and abusing of his wife, saying to Mr. Samuel

Wheelwright, what hath any man to do with it, have not I power

to correct my own wife ?

Book G.

We present George Gray and Sarah his wife for living in

fornication before they came into the bonds of Wedlock ; the

Court fined the delinquents three pounds, or to receive ten stripes.

1674. Richard Gibson complained of for his dangerous and

churtonous carriage towards his commander Capt. Charles

Frost, which misbehaviour appearing in Court, the Court orders

as followeth :

1. That the said Gibson, for striking Capt. Frost at the head

of his company, is appointed to receive by John Parker, senior,
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twenty-five stripes on the bare skin, which were this day given

him in presence of this Court.

And further considering the insolency of the said Gibson's

behaviour in the premises, it is further ordered that Capt. Frost

shall have and is hereby impowerod by warrant to call before

him the said Richard Gibson the next training day at Kittery,

and wither he is to order him to bo laid neck and heels together

at the head of his company, for the time of two hours, or to ride

the wooden horse at the head of the company, which of these

punishments Capt. Frost shall see meet to appoint. And for the

said Gibson's mallplying of oaths ho is fined twenty shillings,

and for being drunk is fined ten shillings, and to pay all charges

of Court, and stand committed until the sentence be performed

;

and further, Gibson is required to give in bonds for his good

behaviour, of twenty pounds, that the said Gibson shall be of the

good behaviour towards all persons and more especially towards

Capt. Charles Frost, until the next County Court, and that the

said Gibson shall appear at Kittery when required by Capt.

Frost, there to perform tbe order of Court, and further, that ho

do discharge that £4. 2s. 6d. unto the County Treasurer.

James Warren, appearing in Court an Abettor unto the said

Gibson, in his Insolency for his delinquincy therein, is adjudged

by the Court, To give Bond of twenty pounds for his good Be-

haviour to the next County Court, as also to appear personally

the next training Day at Kittery, at the Head of the Company,
there to be tyed Neck and Heels for one Hour, or ride the

Wooden Horse, at the discretion of Capt. Frost, and to pay

charges of Court, and Ho to stand Committed till this bo done.

We present Francis Littlefield, Jun., for want of Scales and
Weights in his mill as the Law requires. The Court order him
to provide Scales and Weights between this and the next Court

of Associates.

We present Charles Potura for living an Idle lazy life, follow-

ing no settled employment. Major Bryant Pendleton joined

with the Selectmen of Capo Porpus, to dispose of Potum ac-

cording to Law, and to put him under family Government.

p. 25.

We present J ere. Gutteridge for an Idle person and not pro-

viding for his family, and giving reproachfull language to Mr.
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Nathan Fryer, when He reproved him for his Idleness. The

Court for his offence adjudgeth the delinquent to have twenty

lashes at the post, or to bring in forthwith security to the Court

to be of better behav'r in providing for his family by using more

diligence in his calling for the future.

We present Adam Gudding for deneying the morality of the

fourth Commandment. Teste Capt. "VVincoll, Charles Frost.

p. 35.

1675, July 6. "We present the Selectmen of the town of

Kittery, for not taking care that their children and youth be

taught their catachism and education according to Law.

"We present Capt. Francis Rayns, for presuming to act the

part of a midwife ; the delinquent, examined by the Court, fined

fifty shillings for his offence, and paying the fees, five shillings, is

discharged.

We present the Selectmen of Cape-Porpus, for not taking care

that their children and youth of the town be taught their cata-

chism and educated according to law.

We present the Selectmen of Scarborough, for not taking care

that the children and youth of that town be taught their cata-

chism and educated according to Law. p. 36.

We present the Selectmen of the town of Falmouth, for not

taking care that the children and youth of that town of Fal-

mouth be taught their catachism and educated according to

Law. p. 37.

At a Court at York, July 1, 1679. James Adams, the Court

having considered your Inhuman and Barbarous offence, against

the life of the children before the Court, and great disturbance

to the country; and do Sentence you to have Thirty Stripes

well laid on, to pay to the father of the said children, Henry

Simpson, Five Pounds money, to the Treasurer of the County

Ten Pounds ; out of which the charge of Postage and Search

of the Town is to be discharged, and to pay the charges and

fees of the Prison, and to remain close prisoner during the

Court's pleasure and furthur order. These thirty Stripes were

given by Jno. Smith, Sen'r, The Executioner.

N. B. The Judges were The Right Worshipfull Jos. Dudley,

Esq., Major Richard Waldron, Esq. Commissioners, Mr.
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Edward Rishworth, Capt. Jno. Wincol, Mr. Sam'l Wheelwright

and Capt. Jos : Scottow, associates, p. 64.

July 19th, 70. Philip Addams, In the behalf of his Son

James Addams, appeared before us at the House of Capt. Davis,

and did then acknowledge himself to stand Bound in the sum of

one hundred Pounds in current pay of New England unto the

Treasurer of this County, with one fortnight's or twenty-one

days' time, to send away his Son James Addams out of this Juris-

diction, and in the to take, such effectual care and charge

about him to continue his absence from the Town till
,
so as

to prevent future lnconveniencys to any of his Neighbors.

Fran. Hooki:, Edwd. Rishworh.

Philip Addams likewise ingaged before us to pay or cause to

be paid the worth and full quantity of Two thousand of good

merchantable Red Oak Pipe staves to Mr. Francis Johnson, here

at York, between this and Michalmas next, which being done, the

said Simpson accepts a full satisfaction for that five pounds the

said Court gave him relating to his Son James Addams. p. 65.

July 15th, 1690. In the Court of Sessions of the Peace for

the Province of Mayne held at York.

Before Major John Davis, Deputy President ; Capt. Francis

Hook, Maj. Charles Frost, John Wincol, Justices.

Whereas there is great complaint made of several abuses

taken notice of in Ordinarys by excessive drinking of Rum, Flyp,

&c. The 111 consequence whereof is publickly seen in the mis-

behaviour of several Persons in the presence of authority for the

preventing the like for the future, it is therefore

Ordered, That from henceforth there shall not be any Rum or

other strong Liquor or Flip be sold unto any Inhabitant of the

town by any Ordinary keeper therein, directly or indirectly, ex-

cept in case of great necessity, as in case of sickness, &c. Nor
shall any Ordinary keeper sell unto any stranger more than one

gill for a person at one time. And all civil officers especially

Selectmen and Constables, in the respective towns in this Prov-

ince, are required to take especial care by inspecting any Suspi-

cious House or Houses where any such abuses or profaneness

may be acted, and in case any Ordinary keeper shall presume

to Transgress this order, he shall immediately forfeit his License.



V. DEPOSITIONS

Of George Cleeves, George Lewis, and Michael Mitton, of Casco,

and Henry Watts, George Dearing, and John Smith, of Black
Point, relating to the doings of Capt. Eobert Nash on the coast

of Maine in 1645.

1645, May 1. I George Cleeves do affirme that about the

25th of the third month last, 1645, that three of Andrew Algar's

men of Stratton's island came to my house in a botte to borrow

scales and waits to way their fish, and I questioned them about all

that shuting which trubled all the people in severall plantations,

and they tould me that Mr. Nash shot them, and give them pou-

der to answer him againe, and I also demanded of them if they

were not all drunk, and they said that they were all merrie, and

farther, I affirme that I went, and Mr. Tucker with mee, to the

house of John Cussin's and Thomas Smyth, in Cascoe bay and

about three leagues from my house, to have taken there testi-

mony consarning Nash's slandering your General Court, but

could not prevail with them to take the oath, they being refrec-

torrte and saith that Nash is in their dept, but confessed verbalie

to us, as they had formaylie tould Mr. Holland of Dorchester

that Nash said that the Court had done great wrong to a pore

woman about a sowe, and that none could have justice from you

but such as were membars of the Church, and tould them that

they had as .good live in turkie as live under suchfa government,

and told them that there were nineteen witnesses sworne against

Mr. Cane, 1 yet he being a member carried the mattar against

the poore woman, and other witnesses to this effect, and this is

in the mouths of all our malignants, it being reported, say they,

by thouse that live amongst them, and therefore is undoubtedlie

trew.

1 This affair of the sow, which produced great excitement at the time, may

be found at large in Winthrop's Journal.
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That this is their reports, and as they affirme from Nash, Mr.

Holland can speak to the lick purpose, and I shall be readdie to

affirme upon oath, who am your humble sarvant.

Georg Cleeves.

George Lewis of Casco, sworne and examined, saith that

Eobert Nash of Boston sayd in his hearing to Tho. Wyte, who

reproved the said Nash for shutting so many peces at Stratten's

island, that he would have shott so manic more in Casco bay at

his coming in there if he had had so much pudder left, and this

deponent heard Nash say at his returne from the Easte, the

same voyage which was the first of June last.

These words were heard from him upon the Sabbath day at

his return from meeting. Tackn before me Julio 2, 1(345.

Geouo Cleeves,

Richard Tucker.

Severall depossisions taken before us Georg Cleeves and

Richard Tucker, both of Cascoe in the province of Ligonia,

consarning Rob't Nash his miscarriage in our parts in the third

month last 1045.

Henrie Wattes of Black Poient, sworn and examined, saith

about the 20th May last, being the last voyaidg that Eobert

Nash of Boston made into our parts, this deponent being about

his house and about 2 tailes from Stratton's island, this depo-

nent heard several peces shott of in manar of a fight, he sup-

poses about an hundred peces, and terrified therewith as well as

his neighbors, with what convenience he might be desired to

know the mattar, and being informed from Stratton's Island that

Nash and his company and the fishermen of the said Hand had

shot them there to whome Nash had given powdar fur that pur-

pose to answer him and his company out of his vessel, and that

they were shot of at the drinking of their healths, and that they

did take powdar out of Nash his barrel by handfull without

othar measure and vowed to have the last shot of the Danders

to whome he had also given powdar without wait, insomuch

that they shot so long that there peces were so hott that they

could hould them no longer in there hands, farthar deposeth that

John Parkar of Dammarill's cove affirmeth that Robart Nash

being with him gave and sould so much sack to his men that
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Nash hiraselfe and Parkar's men weare all so drunke for sever all

daies together that his men could not goe to sea in the prime

tyme of fishing, whereby the said Parkar and his company lost

40 or 50 pounds by the misdemeanor of said Nash. Taken the

last of June 1645.

G-eorg Dearing of Black Point, sworne and examined, saith

that at the same time he heard many peces shott about

Stratton's island, and upon farthar inquirie he understoode that

it was a drunken bout between Nash and the Ilanders, which put

him and his wife and neighbours into such a fright that they all

thought that the French or othar enimyes had ben at hand.

Taken the day abovesaid.

John Smith of Sacoe, sworne and examined, saith that the

same tyme he hard the peces shot off so thick that he and the

rest of the people there judged yt to be a fight between the

French or that Mr. Winter had been taken at Richmond Hand,

and this deponent saith that hee counted 70 peces shot and ther

left counting, and that upon repairing to enquire the cause he

found that Nash and his company had shot them at Stratton's

Hand and that he also gave the Ilanders powder to answer him

from the Hand and that Nash vowed to have the last shott, and

saith that he heard that they were all drunk. Taken the day

abovesaid.

Michell Mitton of Casco, sworne and examined, saith that

about the 20 of May last he heard severall peces shot of wh^ch

he supposed had ben a fight between the French, or that Rich-

man's Hand, Mr. Winter's plantation, had ben taken, and being

terrified therewith could not rest till he went to Richman's Hand

to know the mattar, and there understanding that Robert Nash

of Boston shott them and gave powder for that purpose to shoot

at the drinkings of healths, and farther saith that he heard 40

peces at least, Cascoe being no less than 3 leags of Stratton's

Island.

All these several depositions were taken before us the last day

of June and the first of Julie 1645. Before us

Georg Cleeves,

Richard Tucker.

[The foregoing were taken from the original documents on file in tho

Secretary of State's office of Massachusetts.]



VI.

The following document contains the submission op Scarborough

and Falmouth, then the eastern towns in the Province of Maine,

to the jurisdiction of Massachusetts, in 1G58. It is taken from

York Records, and has never before been published. The sub-

mission op the towns of Kittery, York, Wells, and Saco, in 1652,

may be found in sullivan's hlstory of maine.

The return of the Commissioners of the General Court of the

Massachusetts being authorized and appointed to settle civil

government in the eastern parts to the utmost extent of their

line, as appears by a commission granted them bearing date

May 20th, 1658.

In reference whereunto the commissioners aforesaid whoso

names are here subscribed according to order and trust therein

to them committed, did repair unto the eastern parts and at

York did adjourn the court unto the house of Mr. Robert Jordan

at Spurwink, sending out summonses to all inhabitants residing

within the line proposed, there to appear personally before them,

which by the major part thereof was attended, and after some

serious debate of matters betwixt us, removal of some doubts,

and our tendering of some acts of favour and privilege to them,

the good hand of God guiding therein by a joint consent, we
mutually accorded in a free and comfortable close, as doth more

fully appear by these following acts.

July 13, 1658. We the Inhabitants of Black Point, Blue

Point, Spurwinke, and Casco Bay, with all the Islands thereunto

belonging, do own and acknowledge ourselves to be subject to

the government of the Massachusetts Bay in New-England, as

appears by our particular subscriptions in reference of those

articles formerly granted to Dover, Kittery, and York, which
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are now granted and confirmed unto us, together with some

additions, as upon record doth appear.

Francis Small, Jon. Phillips, [mark.]

Nicho. White, [mark.] George Taylor, [mark]

Tho. Stanford, [mark.] Nicho. Edgcom, [mark.]

Robert Corbine, Hene. Joclein,

Natlrl Wallis, Geo. Cleeves,

Jon. Wallis, Robt. Jordan,

Arthur Augur, Jun., [mark.] Jon. Bonighton,

Ambros Boden, Jun., Rich'd Foxwell,

Samuel Oakeman, [mark.] Hene. Watts,

Jonas Balie, [mark.] Fran. Neale,

Andrew Browne, [mark.] Abra. Follen,

Michael Madiver, [mark.] Ambros Boden, Sen.,

Tho. Hamott, [mark.] Michael Mitton,

John Tynny, Richard Martine. [mark.]

George Lewis, [mark.]

Every one of those persons as abovementioned which have

subscribed to this writing have further by oath taken in court

engaged themselves to this authority of the Massachusetts at

the date hereof, July ye 13, '58.

Whereas the towns Black Point and Blue Point, Spurwinke

and Casco Bay have acknowledged themselves subject to the

Government of the Massachusetts, as by the several subscrip-

tions under their hands doth appear.

"We the commissioners of the General Court of Massachusetts

do actually grant as followeth :

1. In case by an immediate power from the Supremacy of

England, we are commanded and after address to the same

Supremacy by the Massachusetts Authority, it be defined as

proper to any other regulations than ours, this obligation to be

nulled, we protecting them till the determination thereof.

2. That an act of indemnity or oblivion is freely granted them.

3. That all such acts and privileges as have been granted to

Dover, Strawbury Bank, Kittery, York, Wells, and Saco, are

granted unto them.

4. That in case of appeals to Boston, the appellant recovering

shall have ordinary costs, but shall put in sufficient security not

recovering to make good treble costs to the defendant.

5. That they shall have true transcrips of such privileges as
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liavo been granted to the forementioncd towns sent unto them to

be recorded with all convenience.

6. That the civil privileges now granted them we do not in-

tend shall bo forfeited upon differences in matters of religion,

but their regulations therein must be according to penal laws.

7. That those places which wore formerly called Black Point,

Blue Point, and Stratton's Island thereto adjacent shall hence-

forth be called by the name of Scarborough. The bounds of

which town on the western side beginneth where the town of

Saco endeth, and so runs along on the western side of the river

of Spurwink eight miles back into the country.

8. That those places formerly called Spurwinke and Casco

Bay, from the East side of Spurwinke river to the Clapboard

Islands in Casco Bay, shall run back eight miles into the country

and henceforth shall be called by the name of Falmouth.

9. That the towns of Scarborough and Falmouth shall by a

s urvey take an effectual course to bound themselves betwixt this

time and the next court holden for this county, whereunto they

are to make their return, or upon their neglect thereof the county

court shall appoint commissioners for bounding of them.

10. That tho towns of Scarborough and Falmouth shall have

commission courts to try causes as high as hvety pounds.

11. That those two towns of Scarborough and Falmouth are

to send one deputy yearly to the court of election, and have

liberty to send two deputies if they seo cause. In court given

under our hands July 14th, 1G58. Saji'l Symonds,

Tiio. Wiggin,

Nic. Suapleigii,

Edw, Rishworth.

Whereas tho county (if Yorkshire is large and very remote

from Boston, where the General Courts and Councils of this

Common AVeal of the Massachusetts do usually assemble,

Avhereby it is more difficult to obtain the presence and help of

any of tho assistants of the Government as occasion from time

to time doth require. We therefore the Commissioners of the

General Court, considering their necessity of a constant supply

till the General Court take further order therein, do grant and

order as followeth.
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1. That with the consent of the inhabitants of the aforesaid

towns of Scarborough and Falmouth, we do constitute and ap-

point the right trusty Henry Jocelein, Esq., Mr. Robert Jordan,

Mr. G-eo. Cleeve, Mr. Henry Watts, and Mr., Francis Neale,

Commissioners for the year ensuing, invested with full power or

any three of them for the trial of all causes without a jury

within the liberties of Scarborough and Falmouth, not ex-

ceeding the value of fifty pounds, and every one of the

said commissioners have granted them magistratical power to

hear and determine small causes as other magistrates and as-

sistants have, whether they be of a civil or of a criminal nature.

Any of the said commissioners may grant warrants, summonses,

and executions if need require, and have power to examine of-

fenders and commit to prison except bail be tendered according

to law, also any of the said commissioners have power to admin-

ister oaths according to law, and if they judge needful, to bind

offenders to the peace and good behaviour. Also to solemnize

marriages according to law, and any three of the said com-

missioners have power to impower military officers under the

degree of a captain.

The said commissioners are required to enjoyne each towne to

procure the Book of laws. They have also power to receive .in

all such persons living within our line as between this present

time and the last of September shall come in by their voluntary

subscriptions. The meaning is that they should not be barred

from having the privileges that their neighbors enjoy by occasion

of their necessary absence at the court.

2. That when county courts are called and through Provi-

dence hindering that there are none of the assistants present at

York or elsewhere, that the said county court shall still proceed

and the acts thereof shall be valid notwithstanding ye associates

of the county or any three of them at least being then present.

3. We do likewise order that the associates chosen for this

county or any three of them shall have full power without a jury

to try any such civil actions as shall not exceed the value of

sixty pounds, the party cast |having liberty of appeal to the

county court.

4. It is ordered hereby for the easing of charges and trouble

in this county being so remote from the exercise of authority in
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some considerable cases, that the three commissioners or more

in this county in each town shall have full power to grant letters

of administration, receive probates of wills and to order such

estates as county courts have power to do in the like cases.

Provided when any such acts are put forth by the commissioners

of the towns of Scarborough or Falmouth, Mr. Henry Jocelein

or .Mr. Robert Jordan to bo one of the three; for Saco and

Cape Porpus, Capt. Nicholas Shapleigh to be one ; for Wells,

Mr. Abraham Pivble to be one.

"We do likewise grant the town commissioners of York and

Kittery to have the same power therein, and that those par-

ticular gentlemen, Mr. Henry Jocelein, Mr. Robert Jordan, Capt.

Nicholas Shapleigh, and Mr. Edward Rishworth and Mr.

Abraham Preble, or either of them, shall have magistratical

power throughout the whole county of Yorkshire for this year

ensuing until others are chosen and sworn in their places, and

the county courts from time to time have power to grant and

renew licenses for ordinaries for selling of wine and strong wa-

ter, and for keeping of houses of entertainment according to law.

5. And whereas henceforth there will be need of more asso-

ciates for county courts than formerly. We do give power and

order that there shall be five associates chosen yearly, whereas

there was but three before, and that they may keep a county

court at Saco or Scarborough (as at York) in the month of Sep-

tember yearly, provided the day and place be agreed on under

the hands of three of the associates at least signified to the

Recor. of the county, so that ho may give duo notico thereof

unto tho several towns six weeks before the said court at the

least. Samuel Symonds,

Tho : Wigsiw,

Nic. Shapleigh,

Edw. Rishworth.

A true copy of those articles above mentioned granted unto

Scarborough and Falmouth by the commissioners of the General
Court unto them; Transcribed out of tho original and examined

word for word and truly recorded this 9th day of March
1G5S—59. Per Edw. Rishworth, Recor.



VII. A PETITION
Of Edward Godfrey to the General Court of Massachusetts in 1654.

This and the four following articles are copied from the original docu-

ments in the Secretary of State's office, Massachusetts. They have never

hefore been published.

30 Oct. '54. To the Hon. Gov., Deputy Gov., the magistrates

and deputies of the Court now assembled, the humble petition

of Edvv. Godfrey of the town of York.

Sheweth that he hath been a well wilier, incourager and fur-

derer of this Col. of N. E. for forty-five years past and above

thirty-two years an adventurer on that design, twenty-four years

an inhabitant of this place, the first that ever bylt or settled

ther ; some eighteen years passed by oppression of Sir Ferdi-

nando Gorges, was forced to goe to Eng. to Provide a Patten

from the Councell of N. E. for himself and partners, the south

side to Sir Ferdinando Gorges, and onely the North side to him-

self and divers others his associates. Certain years after some

settlement, the inhabitants petitioned to have their lands laid out

and deeds for the same, which was granted and by that occasion

the whole Bounds of the Pattent were divided as upon Record

appeareth, but since that time the inhabitants have been so Bould

as amongst themselves to share and divide those lotts and pro-

portions of land as were so long time since allotted being not

proportionable and considerable to our great charge, as by a

draft of the river and division of the same will appear to this

Hon. Court this division was made by order of Court and by all

freely allowed in Anno '40 and '41 and since, when wee came

under this government confirmed as will appear. And the pro-

portions to be less than many that came servants, all the marshes

almost disposed of by the inhabitants and their petitioners, rentes

and acknowledgements detayned having not marsh left him to
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keepe five head of Cattle, in this cause it pleased the Council to

send a Summons to the inhabitants and some of York by name

which I heere was faithfully and safe delivered unto them in time

which I presume they will obey.

Humbly desireth his cause may be heard and judicated by this

hon. Court.

The magistrates desire the case in the petition shall bo heard

by the whole Court on the fourth day next, desiring their

brethren the deputys consent hereto. E. Rawson, Secretary.

The dep. consent hereto. Wm, Torrey, Clerk.



VIII.

A Petition from the Inhabitants of Maine to Oliver Cromwell, 1656.

To his Highnes Oliver Cromwell, Lord Protector of England,

Scotland and Ireland. The petition of several of the inhabi-

tants of the townes of York, Kittery, Sacoe, "Welles, and

Cape Porpus, sometime under the provincial government of

Maine and Ligonia, now under the Jurisdiction of the Mass.

in New-England.

Humbly sheweth, "Whereas information doth report unto us of

several addresses lately made unto your Highnesse by some

gentlemen of worth for restitution of their right of jurisdiction

over us claymed, by their pattents, the determination whereof

we humbly conceive, after a Legall hearing, rests upon your

pleasure, wherein ourselves being not so properly concerned as

others at present, doe purposely wave, craving leave only to pre-

sent your highnesse with a true narrative, though implictly of

our first and last estate, before and since we had this Gov't,

which through God's mercy we are to enjoy to our good satis-

faction, and for our continual settlednesse under it we daily

pray, for these reasons.

1st. Because of ourselves, we have small power to carry on

government, being a people but few in number, and those not

competent persons to manage weighty affairs, our weakness

occasioning distraction, our paucity, division, our meannesse,

contempt, as our own former experience, hath fully evinced to

the total subverting of all civill order amongst us.

2dly. Because changes cannot reduce things from Impossi-

bilities to make things of such as are not, to be. The case is

ours, the places of our residence admit of but small inlargement,
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the generality of the country from us Eastward is so confusedly

taken up, being of sterile lands, swamps and rocky mountaynes,

as not more than a few shreads are left by the sea shore fitt for

Cohabitation, and these already populated by an inconsiderate

number of people ; How ye wisest of such, who desire superin-

tendency over us can settle a well governed Commonweale upon

such basis, we leave to your wisdom to j udge.

3dly. Because changes in these times may prove dangerous,

where discontented spirits wait for such opportunities, which

have Dot been the least part of that small number amongst us,

who were professed Royalists whose breathings that way since

our subjecting to theire authoritie have been so farre stifled as

that ye activitie of such spirits cannot find any or the least

opportunity of motion.

4th. Because we feare the hurtfulnesse of our changes as our

government now is, our persons and estates stand under ye

securitie of wholesome laws, watchful Governors, the fathers of

our nourishment and peace, whose joyous care not only tollerates

but maintaynes us but ye purest institutions, for the encourage-

ment of godly persons both ministers and others, to reside

amongst us, but changing, it may throw us back into our former

estate to live under negligent masters, ye danger of a confused

A twirchy, and such other inconveniences as may make us a fitt

shelter for ye worst of men, delinquents and ill affected persons,

to make theire resort unto, thereby to exempt themselves from

justly deserved punishments.

5thly. Changes are apt to Inihilate, unlesse they prove much
for the better, especially in weak bodyes, where heads are fan-

remote touching such events our former experience hath taught

us something else we crave of those gentlemen, who are now so

solicitous for government over us, what meant the deepnesse of

their silence several years, both in their tongues and penns, as

not after our frequency of writing to them they not so much as

return us one syllable of answer or afford us the least assistance

in government, the want thereof let us sink into great dis-

tractions, for our recovery thence several among us petitioners

for government unto ye Colony of ye Mass , who after"* some

debate with us and confirmation of some articles of agreement
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to us, took us under their authoritie, unto which we subscribed

and subjected ourselves, under whose protection to continue we
account it not the least part of our securitie and happinesse.

6thly. Because we conceive the confirming of the Mass. Pat-

ent in its due extent, in respect of its antiquity, nulls all patents

whatsoever, as fully in titles of lands as of government, from

both which we expect equall freedom, by their justice and our

own subjection.

Our humble request therefore is that your goodnesse would

favor our reasonable entreaties, whose weaknesse calls for sup-

port, our manners for some strictness of rule, whose distractions

for some present settlement ; wherein our voate is that it may be

as it is under the government of ye Mass. against which if

changes should interpose our inevitable troubles would follow

our condition as it was in part, and as it now stands, lyes really

before your gracious eye, although not so methodically pre-

sented, for which we hope our ignorance will excuse us, touching

which if your Highnesse expect any further information, we be-

seech your Commands herein for a pyous and Reverend friend

of ours, Mr. John Wheelwright sometimes of us, now in Eng-

land, unto whom our estate is well knowne, and is fully able to

satisfy any material inquiries therein, Craving pardon for our

over much boldnesse and prolixity as our duties are, so pray

wee for the Almighty's protection to secure your person, his

spirit to guide, his blessing to croun your high and memorable

endeavours with continued successe for the advancement of his

own glory and kingdom and your happinesse here and eternally.

Aug. 12, 1656.

Tho. Williams, Rob. Wadley,

Robert Booth, John Allcocke,

Richard Hitchcox, Charles Frost,

John Leighton, Humph. Chadborn,

Ralph Trustrurn, Edw. Johnson,

Walter Newell, [mark.

J

Henry Norton,

Rich. Coman, Silvester Stover, [mark.

J

Rob't Weymouth, [mark.] Sampson Anger, [mark.]

Jno. IMamont, Jno. Parker,

Wm. Scadlock, Jno. Barret, sen.,

Wm. Renolds, Sam. Austine,
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Morgan Howell,

Edw. Clark,

Gregory Jeflrys,

Nich. Bully, sen., [mark.

Roger Hill,

Henry Waddock,

Wm, Horkett,

Nich. Bully, [mark]

Hen. Boad,

Jno. West,

James Heard,

Abra. Preble,

Nich. Frost, [mark.]

Edw. Rishworth,

Peter Wyre,

Robt. Knight, [mark.]

Nich. Davis,

Rich. Bankes,

George Parker,

Fletcher,

Ezek. Knight,

Wm. Hammon,

Nich. Coole,

Jno. Gouch, sen.,

Jno. Gouch, jun.,

Griffin Montague, [mark.

Miles Thompson,

Ban. Goodwin,

Hen. Symons,

Hugh Gullison,

Roger Plaisted,

Tho. Spencer, [mark.]

Win. Dixon, [mark.]

John Smith, [mark.
J

Tho. Courtous,

Sam. Twisden,

Abra. Cowley, [mark]

Nath. Lord, [mark.]

Tho. Jones, [mark.]

Win. Symons,

Rob. Mendum, [mark.]

Wm. Spencer,

Francis Raynes,

Hen. Donnell,

Jos. Emerson,

Tho. Wheelwright,

John Davis,

John Twisden,

Philip Hatch, [mark.]

This is a true copie compared with its original.

Attest, Edm. Rawson, Secretary.



IX.

Letter from Edward Rishworth to Gov. Exdicott, 1656.

To the Right Worshipful John Endicott, Gov., &c.

Aug. 14, 1656.

Right Worshipful, I have not been wanting, although with

some difficulty, (and ye more in respect of my own weaknesse

and other opposition,) according to the best of my skill and

knowledge of the state of things amongst us, to draw together

the counsels of the best part, I hope, if not the greatest part of

our inhabitants for the effecting of which being effected will

conduce, as we trust, to our future good ; In the accomplishment

whereof among many who have subscribed, I meet such an un-

expected readinesse of rationall complyance as gives me some

encouraging persuasions that these scattered intimations of our

honest desires to his highnesse may introduce some for the con-

firmation of our continued settlement under your authority,

being unfeignedly the end of our requests, as this inclosed peti-

tion of ours more at large doth and may demonstrate.

Sir, being at Sacoe not many days since, I could not but take

notice of some discontent and trouble of spirit in several of them

about the apprehending Jno. Bonighton, whom I really believe

want rather of corage than cowardize doth only retract their

resolutions from the faithful discharge of their dutys therein,

which occasionally kindleth his impudence soe much the more

to the exorbitant abuse both of our authority and themselves
;

And might I presume to utter my own weaknesses under cor-

rection, if the Gen. Court should thinke meete to commissionate

Mr. Francis Raynes our Lieut., or some else in our County with

sufficient power or assistance, the matter I conceive prudently
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attended would be easily affected without any great damage

or difficulty and the men of Sacoe removed out of their inextri-

cable feares, with which by their own conceate they are soe

strangely affected. The truth is they dare not take him. I

formerly moved a businesse to your worship and Reverend Mr.

Norton, (of whose ****** I rejoice to hear,) about procuring a

minister for the people of Newgeawanacke, which hitherto hath

lyne dormant, by reason of Mr. Broughton's absence thence, on

whom it hath some chief dependence, but we hope shortly to

have an opportunity effectually to revive it again.

Sacoe and Cape Porpus are in a greate strayte for some godly

minister ; for his maintenance they propound fifty pounds per

annum, besides a house and some other conveniences, touching

which I was moved to write to your worship, which I cannot

well bo so forward in till the people of Newgewanacke be sup-

plied, altho' I cannot but be sensible of the deepe necessity

thereof. Some of Wells and Sacoe I perceive are very desirous

of having the Gen. Court moved that they might have one Magis-

trate allowed and settled, who lives in the County, or otherwise

to have some fitt person or persons joyned in Commission with

the Commission of each towne, that upon occasion might have

power for more speedy punishment of offenders who by these

protractions of **** punishments doth multiply their offences, and

at length find a way by escape to avoyd all punishments. Had
we persons meetly qualified for such place, the thing were more

than needful to be done. This with my service to yourself, the

Dep, Gov., and my due respects to Mr. Norton and all the rest

of our Christian friends, I leave yourself, yours and all your

weighty occasions with the Lord, remaining

Your worship to be commanded
in the Lord, Edward Risuworth.

[The first part of this letter undoubtedly relates to the petition to Crom-

well, which precedes it in this volume; and we are thus let into the secret

that the petition was procured by the exertions of that government to secure

its power in this province.]



A Letter on the Affairs of New England, 1663 or 1664.

Sir— I have been divers times with Col. Temple at his

lodging,* whom I find to be a reall cordial gentleman for poor

N. E., who hath not wanted for foes, for I will tell you, sir,

what not only I but a ten or a dozen besides myself can testify,

which I doubt not but is writt by other hands to N. E.

Sir, the first day that Col. Temple came to the Exchange after

he had been at Court, he went off to the Sunne to Dummer/and
I think most of N. E. men was there, amongst the rest was Mr.

Mavericke ; Col. Temple was then pleased to tell us what he had

said to the King in behalf of N. E., which was very much and

speeke merrylie as you know his manner is, and said for all those

affidavies or oaths that are given in against the Country, yett I

will hold six to four N. E. hath their liberty contrary to expecta-

tion. Mr. Mavericke thought to have found him far otherwise

and of his judgment: Mr. Mavericke said before all the Com-
pany that N. E. were all rebels and he would prove them so,

and that he had given in to the council so, but I think he will be

shamed of it.

To morrow evening N. E. business is to be heard at the

Council table, and we intend to be there.

Sir, you need not fear but N. E. will enjoy their libertys as

ever, and conserning the Quakers, I tell you what Col. Temple

[*This Col. Temple was Thomas, afterward Sir Thomas, who was Gov-

ernor of Acadia by Cromwell's appointment He contrived to be on good

terms with Charles II., and thus to render aid to New England. He was a

large speculator in lands here. He died in London, in 1674.]

1 Jeremiah Pummer, agent for Massachusetts, and Samuel Maverick, after-

war done of the Commissioners to New England.
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saith, that in the letters that he delivered of the Country to the

Council in presence of the King, they writt they should observe

his Majesty's Commands in all things and that they had given

the Quakers liberty, the King hearing this clapt his hand on his

breast said that he intended not soe, but] that they should not

hang them, while further order. J. Curwine.

There is no date to this letter, but as it relates to affairs just pending the

sending of commissioners to New England, it must have been written in

1663 or '64.



XI.

A Petition from the Inhabitants of Maine to Charles II., about
1680. It is without date, but it must have been prepared in

1680, or the beginning of 1681,

—

one at least of the Petitioners

died in 1681, and the Indian war, to which reference is made,

ended in 1679.

To the King's most excellent Majesty, the humble petition

of your Majesty's freeborn subjects, the inhabitants of the

province of Maine in N. E.

Humbly sheweth That your Majesty's father of ever blessed

memory by his letters patent bearing date at Westminster in the

fifty-first year of his reigne, did grant unto Sir Ferdinando

Gorges his heires and assigns that tract of land called the

Province of Maine, making the same equal with the Palatinate

of Durham and to enjoy the like privileges to lay out and grant

townships, to dispose of lands not disposed of before, and that

noe law be exercised in the Province but such as were made and

consented to by your Majesties freeholders inhabiting the said

Province. And that your petitioners upon these invitations and

incouragements did settle in the said province in greate num-

bers and in short time incre ased unto several towneships having

amongst us several Courts of Judicature and Records and for

divers years were governed according to their laws (agreeable to

the laws of England) made by the Commissioners of Sir Ferdi-

nando G-orges and the freeholders therein. That the Bostoners

under pretence of an imaginary patent line did invade our rights

and priviledges erecting their owne authority by causing the

inhabitants to sweare fidelity to their government. That about

the yeare 1661 upon our humble representation of these matters

your Maj. was graciously pleased by your royal authority by
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your royal letters of 1G64 to that government to require them

not further to disturb nor meddle in the province, which they

then refused to obey.

Whereupon your petitioners representing their grievances to

your Majesties Commissioners in 1GG5, they solemnly restored

and re-established your Majesties authority amongst us by

which we administered the oaths of allegiance and proceeded to

govern and y to our former laws and so continued till about

the year 1GG8 when Maj. Leveret, Walderne and others entered

upon the province and with force of arms disturbed the inhabi-

tants, then at a Court holden for your Majesty at Yorke in your

Majesties province of Maine commanding all proceedings for the

future to be managed by their own authority and laws; Since

which time notwithstanding the greate loss sustained by tho late

Indian war we are still oppressed with heavy rates and taxes

imposing the sum of three thousand pounds and upward to be

collected and paid by the inhabitants of three towns (viz.) York,

Wells and Kittery. Your petitioners humbly pray your Majesty

to take the premises into your royal consideration and by your

gracious letters to re-establish and confirm us under your royal

authority granting liberty to tender consciences to impower such

whose names we here humbly represent to govern according to

the lawes and constitutions of this your Majesties province until

your Majesties pleasure be further known therein, to which we
shall in all readiness and duty submit. And your petitioners

shall ever pray.

John Hole, Clemenl Short,

Peter Lixon, Jno. Taylor,

Elihu Gunison, Win. Furbish,

Joshua Downing, Josiah Wite,

Rich. Jewell, Richard Calle,

Kich. Whiet, Jno. Granger,

Tim. Rice, Benj, Nason,

Rich. Nason, Nath Lord, jr.,

Richard King, Aura. Lord,

Gabriel Tethcrly, .lames Stackpole,

Christian Remuck, John Nason,

Enoch Howchins, Christo. Batt,

Tho. Furnell, And. Sari, sen.,

Tho. Hunscom. Jno. Sari,
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Richard Miller,

Richard Green,

Edmund Hammond,

Nic. Shapleigh,

Roger Davis,

Jos. Twisden,

James Wiggin, sen.,

Diggerie Jaffrie,

Stephen Jenkings,

John Morrill,

Adrian Frie,

John Miller,

Tho. Mussey,

Tho. Drafton,

Jasper Putnam,

Alexand. Cooper,

John Card,

Thorn. Curtis,

Tho. Littlefield,

Tho. Bragdon,

James AViggin, jun.,

John Moggerage,

John Ameradeath, sen.,

William Tetherly,

John Trickee,

Jabis Jenkins,

Rich. Bankes,

John Batson,

Jeremiah Shores,

Nath. Raines,

Nath. Donnel,

Jona. Nason,

Rich. Bray,

John Whiet,

John Ken,

John Green,

Jno. Pudington,

George Buren,

Rowland Young, sen.,

Samson Angier,

Joseph Daniel,

Jno. Bray,

Arthur Daniel,

Wm. More,

Francis Trickee,

Jno. Neale,

Peter Grant,

Nathan Beadford,

Geo. Inggerston,

Anth. Brackett,

Thad. Clarke,

John Davies,

Lawr. Davies,

Wm. Pearce,

Wm. Rogers,

Jno. Welding,

Jno. Skilling,

Jos. Ingerson,.

Geo. Ingerson,

Philip Hues,

Steph. Leatherbee,

Rob. Hains,

Wm. Hains,

Tho. Bickford,

Henry Libbe,

Chris. Edgcom,

Jno. Jordan,

Sam. Jordan,

Domin. Jordan,

Jeremiah Jordan,

Wm. Mansfield,

Jno. Flee,

Andrew Bodon,

Peter Shaw,

Christo. Spurrell,

John Tinny,

James Randal,

Jno. Mackworth,

Jno. Simson,

Antho. Row,

Phillip Foxwell,

Waymouth Bickton,

Henry Elkings,

Tho. Mosse,

Jno. Barrett,

Robert Eadge (comb),

John Hill,

Wm. Scriven,

Richard Rogers.



XII.

LATE GOV. LINCOLN'S MSS. PAPERS.

PREFATORY NOTICE.

A most, the memorials of the late Governor Lincoln, to which value is

attached by those acquainted with his favorite occupations, are a consider-

able numher of rich and interesting manuscripts, relating to the Indian

antiquities and historical annals connected with the territory, which is now

chiefly contained within the limits of this State.

It may be observed, that the field of these researches, to an intelligent

investigator, is not strictly confined to the original, or even the existing,

geography of Maine ; but that it may be considered as extended in some

measure over the whole surface which once formed the scene of contest

between the French and English titles in this quarter—to the verge of the

St. Lawrence on one side, and the banks of the various streams that bore at

one time or another the customary appellation of St. Croix, which the French

were apt to bestow upon any spot to which they set up the European right

of discovery and conquest. The view, therefore, spreads over all the

country claimed by them under the rather poetical description of Acadid,

and the space included also in the charter of William and Mary, to the north

and east of the Piscataqua. The large tract of territory embraced by this

bold, and vague, and somewhat irregular outline^—altered as it was from

time to time by political treaties, negotiated it maybe noticed in different

places in Holland—forming the subject of fierce conflict, upon the debatable

ground, between the national .inns of France and England—and exhibiting

moreover a spectacle of border or feudal warfare between the opposite

occupants and combatants for possession—may be termed the Flanders, or

in more modern phraseology, the Belgium, of America.

No antiquarian or historical survey, therefore, of those subjects,

which engaged the attention of the distinguished author of these M.MS.,

could be sufficiently comprised within any more certain or determinate

boundary. No scope less ample would in fad afford a distinct and proper

perspective, either to the general topics or particular events about which the

chronicles and records of that long period are concerned
; and a definite limi-

tation of regard to such a portion of the Country as lay within the mere
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acknowledged and undisputed allegiance of the English Sovereign until the

termination of the war of 1756, would exclude from the horizon no incon-

siderable part of what is proper to the province of inquiry. Further ; from

the early visits of the French to this projection of the continent, where it was

their policy to make a permanent establishment, whether as a counterpoise

to the English or for the simple purpose of extended empire and commercial

consequence, from the conciliatory and successful intercourse which they

cultivated with the natives, the superior facility with which they entered into

the modes of Indian life, and the tact with which they discovered the shades

of Indian character, from the familiarity with which they accommodated

themselves to the habits and identified themselves with the interests of these

ignorant and yet not intractable sons of the forest—from all these combined

means of influence and knowledge in their affairs, as well as from the direct

share which the French sustained in the work of colonization, and from the

natural relations and perpetual effects springing out of their juxtaposition to

the Anglo-American settlements on the Atlantic, there is a fund of valuable

information to be found among the narratives of the French adventurers and

historians, such as Lescarbot, Charlevoix, etc. ; and this class of authorities,

contained in a foreign language, is to be consulted with no less care, nor, it

may be added, with less advantage, than the accounts of Smith, and Gorges,

and Josselyn.

The papers bequeathed by Governor Lincoln bear evidence that he omitted

no means, and neglected no opportunities that could avail him for acquiring

all the appropriate knowledge which belongs to the treatment of the above

mentioned topics ; and that he had access to sources which do not lie within

the familiar range nor come within the ordinary r^ach of those, who, whether

as readers or writers, possess a competent general acquaintance with the

early affairs and local antiquities of New England. If, as may be the case,

there are others whose longer devotion to Indian researches has been

rewarded by the most extensive acquirements, and who upon particular

branches of the subject may possess a more profound and universal learning,

those enlightened minds would not be prone to undervalue the contributions

capable of being furnished by these papers to the stock of general informa-

tion ; and it may at least be said, that an abundant collection of materials in

relation to the interesting subjects referred to, exhibit the proofs of a patient,

partial, and persevering labor on the part of the historian, in the cherished

employment of his mind at hours disengaged from public service or reserved

from professional duty, for several years of his life
;
and that he has em-

bodied a large quantity and rare variety of important information concerning

the characteristics and circumstances, the dialect, religion, and fate of the

aboriginal inhabitants of this broad promontory of the North American

Continent.

These productions of his pen are obviously impressed with the tastes,

opinions, and feelings of their benevolent and accomplished author. To

those who regard these natives of the land as leaves scattered by the winds
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of autumn, while these papers may shed ;i Lingering and pensive light upon

the relics of that unfortunate and vanishing race once among us— which

may be grouped under the general denomination of Abenaquis—not without

a humane and friendly leaning in their favor, they are nevertheless marked

with the reflective traits of a sensible and philanthropic philosophy, keeping

in view as a point of paramount importance the advance of the best principles

of progressive moral ami social improvement.

It was apparently the design of Mr. Lincoln to have prepared these ma-

terials, which he had taken so much pains to collect, for publication ; and it

is probable that this intention was on the eve of being performed at the

period when the execution of any literary purpose was necessarily inter-

rupted and for a season postponed by the very general call of his fellow

citizens to the cares of chief magistracy. From that point of time it does

not appear that he was able to resume any regular portion of the attention

he had been fond of bestowing upon this favorite occupation; and dying

before his term of office was completed, ii became scarcely possible to

present the whole of his productions to the public with the advantage which

they could have properly received only from his own revision. It is to be

trusted that the main body of these valuable materials will not be quite lost;

ami the public. may be warranted perhaps to place a reliance on those who

were nearest to the deceased Governor Lincoln in the affinities of affection

or the congenial and elevating associations of the mind, that they shall be

presented in such a shape as maybe suitable for their preservation. If we

are not disappointed in the hope, which we permit ourselves to entertain,

that his friends will not allow the work to be frustrated, the historical com-

position to which we have deferred may 1>" anticipated to constitute a promi-

nent artich> in the ensuing volume.

Two portions have in the mean time been selected for publication in the

present volume, in the state in which they were left, one of which relates to

the language spoken by the Indians, and the other to the missions established

by fche Catholics among the Indians in this section of the country. It ap-

peared that these were capable of being extracted without disadvantage, and

may perhaps afford a taste of the remainder. It may be remarked as an

opinion of him to whom we owe the benefit of these researches, that fche

French evinced an integrity and purity in relation to the interests of fche

Indian population, particularly in regard to their religious concerns, beyond

any credit that could be assumed to the English for any political or prose

lyting services in their behalf. Such, it is plain enough, was the impression

upon fche minds of the natives themselves.

We arc indebted to the pen of a friend well acquainted with fche subject of

his remarks for the following characteristic notice in regard to fche gifted and
lamented individual, who has accomplished so much to illustrate and adorn
the objects of this Historical institution.

Hit mihi—quantum

Presidium, ArrgONiA ,i quantum tu perdia .'
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The papers here presented to the puhlic are selected from a work which

occupied much of the time and attention of the late Governor Lincoln, during

many of the later years of his life. The subject is one in which he took a

deep interest, and he spared no pains or labor in collecting the materials and

endeavoring to make the work as perfect as the circumstances would permit.

He searched every document to which he could obtain access ; he explored

every page of history, which might afford a hint or an illustration of the task

he had undertaken ; he visited all those spots in this State, rendered in any

way remarkable for events connected with the early history of the primitive

race, who once inhabited the places where civilization has now usurped the

wildness of uncultivated nature. His very study bore testimony to the zeal

he felt and the interest which he took in this subject, not merely by its books,

but by the ornaments with which it was decorated. It was hung around with

the branching antlers of the Moose, the Caribou, and the Deer ; and its walls

ornamented by a map of the Umbagog lakes, delineated on birch bark by

one of the natives ; over which hung a full length portrait of one of these

ancient lords of the soil. Nothing was neglected that might serve to throw

light upon the manners, character, habits, and disposition of our Indians.

For this purpose he sought to obtain, both at home and abroad, all those

documents that might be supposed to contain information upon this subject.

He visited the neighboring Provinces, exploring their records for facts that

might elucidate the task he had undertaken ; and that he might add to all

this the benefit of observation and experience, he visited the Indian settle-

ments, and sought information by intimacy and intercourse with them. In

this way he had collected something of a dictionary of their language, and

was fond of comparing its structure with that of ancient and modern lan-

guages, and tracing the analogies and discrepancies between them. His

enthusiasm for whatever related to Indian character and manners, I believe

to have been inspired by his own peculiar feelings and principles. The

strong and pervading character of his mind was a love of nature, and conse-

quent upon this, the love of liberty and hatred of oppression. This made

him fly with such alacrity from the busy walks of life and the hum of men
to the retirement of the country, and even to the solitude of the wilderness.

Some weeks or months in each year he was fond of devoting to rambling in

the woods, and holding converse with nature and her simple children. Our

rugged but sublime scenery he dwelt upon with enthusiasm, and loved to

draw comparisons between the eternal hills, the lakes, rivers, and forests of

our State, and the splendid dwellings and cities of human art, but little to

the advantage of the latter. It was this love of nature, combined with his

hatred of oppression and sympathy for the suffering, that first inspired him

with a fondness for Indian history. For the Indian in his pride of power

and savage independence he would have felt simple emotions of admiration,

somewhat allayed by those traits and tendencies in their nature which detract
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from the kindlier sensibilities their condition would otherwise excite. But

when he looked upon them as strangers in the land of their forefathers ;

—

when he saw how they were wasted in numbers and degraded in character

before the deadly warfare and inure deadly intercourse of the white man;

—

when he looked hack to all that they were as lords of the forest, and then

turned to their present condition, humbled and calumniated as they have

been,—made the victims of ambition, cupidity, and cruelty, he felt for them

as he always did for the injured and oppressed, and their very vices seemed

to him to serve only as memorials of their wrongs.

If there w;is anything that could arouse to indignation his naturally mild

and gentle disposition, it was oppression. No matter how it was protected by

law or usage— no matter under what form it presented itself— hi" was its

constant and unceasing foe. He was the advocate of as entire freedom of

thought and action as human society can endure. This was not theory and

sentiment alone, but a living principle by which he was actuated, and which

led him to extend to others the same liberty which he claimed for himself.

There were few men who could bear difference of opinion or even contra-

diction with n\ore patience. Always ready to listen calmly, and prompt to

acknowledge error when exposed, his mind was peculiarly fitted for that

most important of all intellectual operations, the search after truth.

Benevolent himself, he highly estimated this quality in others, and loved

to dwell upon the praise due to those who sacrificed their own ease or com-

fort for the benefit or pleasure of others. It was these amiable qualities as

exhibited in the French missionaries, that led him to regard them with per-

haps more of favor and warmth of feeling than their character might, when

viewed impartially, seem to deserve. For the catholic in his pride of place—

-

thundering from the Vatican, or treading on the necks of prostrate kings,

he had no sympathy. But for the humble and pious missionary, leaving

home and all its comforts, civilization and all its allurements, for the purpose

of spreading these advantages and diffusing the blessings of Christianity

among the inhabitants of the forest, and with this view taking up their abode

among them, and foregoing all those enjoyments and social connections that

render life pleasant or even desirable—for such, whatever might be his views

of their peculiar tenets ami modes of belief, he had the sincerest veneration.

It is not necessary to justify or condemn the conduct of our forefathers

toward the natives of this country, but after all allowances are made that

their peculiar situation might seem to require—after admitting all the pallia-

tions that the manners of the age or the law of retaliation can furnish, still

there is left much room for the sympathies of the humane and the regrets of

the philanthropic, at the miseries that the latter have been called on to en-

dure at the hands of the former— miseries that wero not confined to the

warrior on the battle-field, nor even to their old men, their wives and help-

less children, but were extended to all those who were found among them,

no matter with what intentions or how employed. Even the ministers of

the gospel of peace were cut down with the savage whom they were en-
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deavoring to reclaim from blood and cruelty. To men thus engaged and

thus sacrificed, we cannot but accord a merited approbation. The strongest

emotions of sensibility are excited for their unhappy fate, and we forget the

accidental differences of religious faith, of language, and of country. Such,

at least, were the feelings with which the subject of these remarks was wont

to regard the characters and lament the fate of those who thus by their life

and death gave better evidence of the purity of their faith, than creeds or

professions can afford. To contribute in any degree to rescue the memory

of such from oblivion, or to assist in dispelling the mists and clouds that

prejudice or fanaticism had endeavored to throw around them, was a task in

which he delighted and for which he gladly toiled.

GOVERNOR ENOCH LINCOLN.

The two articles which introduce the " Papers" of Gov. Lincoln, which

form an interesting portion of this volume, were prepared by two intimate

friends of that distinguished gentleman. The "Prefatory Notice" was from

the pen of the Hon. Charles S. Daveis, of Portland, and the additional re-

marks were written by the late Judge Cole, of the District Court of Maine,

who had been a student at law in the office of Gov. Lincoln. They were

written near the period of his death, and express a grateful sense of his

memory and his merits. To these affectionate memorials, we will add a few

biographical facts. Gov. Lincoln was a son of the Hon. Levi Lincoln, of

Worcester, a lineal descendant of Samuel Lincoln, of Hingham, who came

to this country from Hingham, Eng., in 1637. Mr. Lincoln, the father, was a

distinguished lawyer in Worcester, was Attorney General of the United

States, by appointment of Mr. Jefferson, in 1801, and Lieutenant-Governor

of Massachusetts in 1807 and 1808. In the latter year he became Governor

of the State, on the death of Gov. Sullivan. Lieutenant-Governor Lincoln

was an ardent politician of the Democratic school, in which he was followed

by all his brilliaut and accomplished sons. Only one of these sons now sur-

vives, the Hon. Levi Lincoln, of Worcester, who, having filled with dis-

tinguished honor the offices of Speaker of the House of Representatives of

Massachusetts, Member of Congress, Judge of the Supreme Court of Massa-

chusetts, and Governor of the State, lives in dignified retirement in his

native town, at nearly the age of eighty years, honorably discharging the

duties of a good and faithful citizen. He left the Democratic party and

became a National Republican and Clay AVliig, after the feverish excitements

of his early life were over.

Enoch, a younger son of the elder Levi, was born in Worcester, December

28, 1788. Having prepared himself for college, he entered sophomore, in

1806. at Harvard, where his grandfather and his two brothers, Levi and Daniel



GOVERNOR LINCOLN'S PAPERS. 409

Waldo, had preceded him. But troubles occurring the next year in the col-

lege, he, with several others, left the halls of the university
;
and lie never

took a degree. Bowdoin College, however, not unmindful of his merits,

bestowed upon him, in 1821, the honorary degree of A. M. On leaving

college, he entered the office of his brother Levi, at Worcester, and was ad-

mitted to the bar of that county in 181 1. He tried his fortunes as a practi-

tioner first al Salem, hut the nexl year In- moved to Fryeburg, in this State.

His brother, Daniel Waldo, a man of brilliant genius and attainments, had

previously established himself al Portland. While at Fryeburg, he mingled

with the duties of his profession the more graceful pursuits of literature, and

engaged in the studies of nature, visiting the retired haunts of the aborigines

and making acquaintance with the lingering remnants of the large and

powerful tribe that once occupied that beautiful region of country. His

romantic genius was enamored with the history of that wild, brave, and en-

during race; and lie pursued his researches into their habits, their language,

their receding and perishing record, with the ardor which stirred all his con-

duet. Although this seducing subject was subsidiary to his profession, he gave

to it much of the leisure which always remains on the hands of a country at-

torney. But he did not sacrifice his professional engagements even to a

theme so attractive. The charms of the varied scenery in which his resi-

dence was cast, aroused his poetic talents, and in 1816 he published a poem

entitled " The Village," descriptive of the beautiful scenery of Fryeburg and

its vicinity, and of the social condition of that community. At a later

period, at the centennial celebration in Fryeburg of the battle of Lovewell's

Pond, he delivered a poem commemorative of the event; his friend Charles

S. Daveis delivering the oration. All these attractions did not hinder him

from engaging in the name of politics; and he enlisted with zeal in support

of the principles and advancement of the Democratic party, which was then

largely in the ascendant both in Oxford County and the State; and he had

become so prominent in this and his many-sided pursuits, that on the resig-

nation of Judge Parris of his seat in Congress, in 1818, to accept the appoint-

ment of District Judge of the United States Court, Mr. Lincoln was chosen

his successor. Soon after, in 1819, he changed his residence to Paris, and

became the successor of Judge Parris in that town, in the practice of law,

who, after his appointment as Judge, established himself in Portland. He

was re-elected to Congress the two succeeding terms, in the latter of which,

1826, he was chosen with great unanimity Governor of Maine, and this, be-

fore he had arrived at the age of thirty-eight years.

He was the third Governor of the State chosen by the people; William

King, the firsl Governor, was succeeded by Mr. Parris, who in his turn was

followed by Mr. Lincoln. In the las: two cases, the coincidence is striking
;

Mr. Lincoln succeeded Mr. Parris as member of Congress from Oxford,

took his place in the town of Paris when he left it. and was his successor in

the Gubernatorial chair— shadow never followed closer, and both were of

the same age. having been born in 17> x

26
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He was re-elected Governor the two succeeding years, 1827 and 1828,

and died while filling his third term, October 8, 1829. During his adminis-

tration, which was quite popular, the subject of most interest which engaged

public attention was that relating to the north-eastern boundary, which was

acquiring serious and alarming dimensions. He earnestly defended the

rights of the State to the whole territory, boldly and decidedly denying the

right of the National Government to cede any portion of it without consent

of the State. His correspondence with the governments at Washington and

New Brunswick was copious and energetic, standing firmly on the ground

of State sovereignty in regard to its soil. He appointed Mr. Daveis a com-

missioner to New Brunswick, on the subject of encroachments by the pro-

vincials on the territory of Maine, and on the arrest and imprisonment of

John Baker, a citizen of the State. This mission resulted in an able report

by Mr. Daveis, in January, 1828, and a change in the practice of the Pro-

vincial government. At the same session of the Legislature, the whole sub-

ject of the rights of Maine, the pretensions of Great Britain, and the entire

history of the case, was exhaustively exhibited in a report of a large com-

mittee drawn up by John G. Deane, accompanied by documents to sub-

stantiate his statements and arguments. This session of the Legislature,

1828, under the guiding influences of Governor Lincoln, placed Maine upon

an impregnable ground of justice and right, upon this vexed and exciting

question.

The subjects of internal improvements and of education, were also par-

ticularly pressed by him upon the attention of the Legislature, and valuable

reports relating to them were made in 1827 and 1828. Those by the Hon.

George Evans on a road to Canada and other intercommunications, and by

Judge Goodenow on internal improvements generally, are particularly wor-

thy of notice. It was also in the administration of Governor Lincoln, that

Capitol Hill, in Augusta, was determined on as the future site of the Capitol,

at a session of the Governor and Council held at Augusta in June, 1827.

Governor Lincoln was a popular as well as an upright and honest chief-

magistrate ; he had a high sense of honor, and would not stoop for party pur-

poses, or any purpose, to lower the dignity of his high station as a public officer,

or his self-respect as a man. His heart glowed with generous impulses,

and his conduct was guided by upright intentions. His communications to the

Legislature were filled with appropriate suggestions and recommendations,

without declamation or popular appeals ; and his proclamations were peculiar

for their point and brevity ; one of them, for Thanksgiving, was so brief and

comprehensive, and was so popular, as to be printed by his admirers on satin

for general circulation.

Governor Lincoln died at Augusta, whither he had gone to deliver an

oration, on occasion of laying the corner stone of the Capitol, and an address

at the establishment of a female seminary in that place, on the 8th of October,

1829. He had previously been ill. and this exertion was too great for his

physical strength. He died at the age of forty years, having never been
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married, and without having completed the chosen lahor of his leisure

hours, a history of Maine, its resources and policy, and on the language and

history of the aboriginal inhabitants of the State, for which he had gathered

many materials, and a specimen only of which is contained in this volume.

He was lmricd with public honors on the grounds fronting the Capitol, where

still repose his remains. He is the only one of our Governors who has died

in office. Of the twenty persons who have held that office, twelve survive.

T had hoped to have a memoir of this distinguished man from a source

better qualified than myself to prepare it. I wrote to his brother Levi, more

renowned than himself, for this purpose
;
and I cannot better close this brief

and imperfect memoir than by presenting an extract of his reply. He says,

January 30, 1864 :
" It is with inexpressible regret that I find myself unable

to engage in the grateful task of preparing a memoir of my late brother,

Governor Enoch Lincoln. It should be no party portraiture of his noble

character, but should present in distinct relief the features of his gifted and

well endowed mind, and the genial qualities of a universally benevolent and

fervently affectionate heart. Unfortunately, for the purpose of your request

,

I had not those opportunities for personal intercourse with him, which fur-

nish the materials for historic notice. By many years his senior, I was in

college when he was a school-boy, and when he was in college, I was occu-

pied by the pressure of professional business, having a family of my own,

and seeing him only occasionally at the home of our father. Immediately on

his admission to practice, he opened an office in Salem. Soon afterward he

removed to Fryeburg, and subsequently to Paris. His public and private

engagements became so multiplied, that only at long intervals and in brief

visits did his friends see him in Worcester. I knew him and tenderly loved

him indeed, as a brother, remembering the beautiful promise of his child-

hood, and cherishing the fraternal relation by occasional correspondence and

never ceasing regard."



REMARKS ON THE INDIAN LANGUAGES.

[The learned and valuable corrections and annotations in the following

papers of Governor Lincoln, were prepared by the Rev. Edward Ballard, of

Brunswick, whose knowledge of the dialects and the history of the aboriginal

inhabitants of our State, gives authority to his statements and opinions.]

—

Ed.

OF THE ABENAQUIS. 1

The materials necessary for the illustration of the Abenaquis

tongue are principally in the manuscripts of the Jesuit and

Catholic missionaries. On the suppression of Jesuitism, which

had been in some respects a valuable variety of enthusiasm, the

manuscripts were carried from Quebec to France, and the efforts

I have made have not enabled me, through favor or reward, to

obtain copies. It will not, however, meet my view of my obliga-

tions to omit exhibiting the little share of information I have

gathered concerning a language, once the oral currency of what

is now our State, and undoubtedly drawn from a rich and

copious source.

The Abenaquis language is a dialect of that general one

called by the French writers the Algonquin, by Carver the

Chippeway, and by Heckewelder and others the Lenni-Lenape.

1 [In the title of these "Papers," and through the first part, Governor

Lincoln writes Abenaquis (p. 412). In the second part he writes Abenaki's

(pp. 433, 434). Rale wrote it Abnaki (Pickering's Preface, p. 372).

I prefer Rale's mode.

And how shall the name of Rale be printed 1 There are six modes, and

Governor Lincoln uses two (p. 331), and two ways of accenting. Mr.

Vetromile and Mr. Shea say that in the only instances where his sign manual

is preserved, it is Rale, pronounced Raid. In the Jaques family, by whose

ancestor he was killed, it is preserved as RdL]
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The analogy is very obvious to the philological critie who can

discover resemblances as easily on this subject as I'olonius could

the likeness between the whale and cloud in Hamlet. Probably

there is a remote affinity and possibly a common root.*

As language is necessarily the production of numerous assem-

blages of men, of many circumstances and of long time, and as

the nomenclature of tribes shows what qualities, substances, and

aits have engaged their attention, it demands a research as

serious as any part of their history.

La Hontan said of the Algonquin :
" It is of as much esteem

in New- France as the Greek and Latin are in Europe. It is

the finest and most universal language on the continent."

M. Munach, a French priest, once resident among the Mic-

macs, the ancient friends and allies of the Abenaquis, declares

that if the beauties of their language were known in Europe,

seminaries would be erected to teach it.

At. Duponceau exclaims: 'Alas, if the beauties of the Lenni-

Lcnape language were found in the ancient Coptic, or an ancient

Babylonish dialect, how would the learned of Europe be at work

to display them in a variety of shapes, and raise a thousand

fanciful theories on that foundation. What superior wisdom,

talents, ami knowledge would they not ascribe to nations, whoso

idioms were formed with so much skill and method."

These expressions of admiration may at first excite a smile

from their singularity and the apparent want of importance in

the subject, yet they were certainly uttered in sincerity from the

most respectable authority.

*[The structural similarity of the various Indian dialects, and of numerous

words in the tribes of the British Provinces, and the North American Si

excepting the Six Nations, known as the Iroquois, and the Hurons, show

that one wide spread language extended over them all. By separation,

hostilities, and lapse <>f time, changes were introduced ;
not sufficient to

destroy the proof of a common origin, butt'> increase dialectic differences to

such an extent as to make the several tribes appear to speak a ditl'erent

tongue, The entire diversity of the language of the Six Nations, the

Esquimaux, and the tribes of the southern part of our country, as well as in

Mexico and South America, may be accouuted for in part on the theory of

distinct emigrations from the eastern continent, where a diversity of lan-

guages bad already prevailed, to undergo the mutations incident to all

human speech, and especially the unwritten.]
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Of the dialects of the Abenaquis, two now remain in this

State, retained with all that tenacity and perseverance with

which the Indian grasp has always been distinguished. The one

dialect is the Penobscot, and the other the Passamaquoddy.

Of others no record has been preserved ;* yet, although the con-

trary has been affirmed by a respectable writer, it is evident that

all the natives of Maine could understand each other without an

interpreter. The fact is so now, although the words used, to

express the same idea are very variant in the tongues of the

Passamaquoddies and the Penobscots. There is, undoubtedly,

a common root to both.

The Penobscot language is the same as that of the ancient

Norridgewock, of which Father Rale is the only person entitled

to the honor of having preserved written specimens. These

consist of a collection of phrases, of which, taking his own

orthography and French sounds of letters, some use may be

made.

To the confederacy of the Abenaquis also belonged the

Micmacs or Souriquois, who were the natives of Nova Scotia.

Residing, as they do, beyond the limits of Maine, it will not be

proper to use the comparatively ample materials for their his-

tory, which might be obtained. Like the rest of the Abenaquis,

they were of the most daring courage, and so adventurous, that

they passed the stormy gulf of the St. Lawrence in their bark

canoes to meet their enemies, the Esquimaux, in their caves and

on their rocks in battle. There is also evidence that they

trafficked along our shores and fought many battles, at different

times, with the tribes spread over our territory.

It is evident that the great object of studying a language, so

constructed as the Abenaquis must have appeared to be, would

consist in obtaining a knowledge of its terms and the rules by

which they are compounded. The analysis of the student will

show distinctly those elements, from which the art of speech

proceeded, from a simple material to a vast fabric, and will give

him possession, not only of the plan of the vast edifice, but will

make him acquainted with the harmony of its parts and the

beauty of the whole. In the instance under consideration, he

* [Rale's Dictionary preserves a large portion of the Norridgewock dialect.]
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would find a language, which, if it varied from its primitive

model, yet adopted no incongruous piece work, and is free from

the jargon of accidental and interpolated terms of foreign growth

and a forced introduction, making a secondary and anomalous

formation. He would find a language, probably essentially

original, but at least of the synthetic east, and that so exten-

sively as not to require the borrowing of shreds of other tongues

for mending its defects, but containing in itself the elements of

new combinations, without the occasion for any furtive measures

for increasing its stores.

THE NORRIDG EWOCK.

The most remarkable; property of theNorridgewock tongue is

its unbounded susceptibility of composition, which rendered it

copious ami expressive. That this tribe had some rule of forma-

tion or composition of words, not in use with us, appears from

the fact that in their long intercourse with the French aud Eng-

lish, they very rarely adopted words from either, and even when

they had no personal knowledge of the objects to be represented

by vocal sounds, they preserved themselves as a distinct people,

with all that pertinacity with which they have clung to their

other habits of life, and retained their own dress for thought as

faithfully as they did their peculiar garb. They formed words

from domestic materials having no analogy in sound or structure

with those by which the stranger presented his ideas and images

to the car and the mind. The Penobscots, in like manner to

this day, have preserved the spirit of their language, and have

not suffered it to be corrupted or changed, although they have

for centuries, nearly, been familiar with English and French.

Thus they have their Indian names for elephant, lion, and a

greal diversity of objects, unknown to them, except through the

medium of verbal or pictured representation.

It is an ail vantage of a language, thus susceptible of compo-

sition, that it exhibits complex ideas by the least possible

machinery, or rather, by the shortest mode. This is the most

forcible. When ideas are thus presented, the imagination is ex-

cited by the full, bold, and sudden introduction of the object or
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action, advanced at once in its beauty, or thrust forward in its

terrors, instead of being gradually exhibited, so that the dis-

covery of what it is, shall be as painful as the tedious tale of a

verbose and circumlocutory storyteller. Selecting a mere com-

mon-place from the Norridgewock language, I will offer an ex-

ample, not the case of an object with adjuncts, of which many
might be produced, but of action as expressed by the verb,

I break

:

I break it—nepeskessamen.

1 break it with the hand—napooskoonamen.

/ break it with the teeth—napooskooadahmen.

I break it with the feet—napooskookahmen.

Entire English sentences are, in like manner, represented by a

single word. It is apparent that a language of such a structure

varies essentially from our own. We take the parts—the per-

son, the verb, and the substance, with its qualities, and producing

one only at a time, make out at last a proposition. The
Norridgewock embodied all, and showed you the finished object

at a glance.

Even their vocabulary, therefore, as was that of other Indians,

as also of the Hebrew and all primitive tongues, was that of

poetry. Thus, when we find the Indian word God signifying

" the great father of life," the name alone elevates the thought

and kindles the fancy, while the flat and arbitrary term escapes

the lips, and of itself, produces no excitement and no association

of ideas. But this is the result of the descriptive character of a"

language combining in a word the sonorous and expressive

power of composition.

Without a susceptibility of inflection and composition, without

the capacity to take the materials which would have been

necessary to exhibit each component part of a complex object

and reduce them into a single mass to describe the united whole,

a language would be, like that of hieroglyphics or Chinese

characters, exceedingly barren ; but when variation and syn-

thesis can be adapted to it, energy, copiousness, and beauty are

the results.

Such advantages the Norridgewock tongue clearly possessed.

By what process the operation of forming words and the modifi-
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cation as to tense, number, and gender was conducted, it has

been impossible for me to discover, so far as to be able to infer

more than a very few general rules. [n other tongues it is easy

to do so ; as, for instance, in the English, the uniform use of the

auxiliary verbs marks time with precision ;
and the inflections

of the verb in the Greek and Latin have the same effect. The

Norridgewocks had no auxiliaries, and even seem not to have

regulated mode and tense by any determined and regular forma-

tions upon an indicative or primitive word. These qualities,

however, of acting and being, belong to them so universally,

thai DO intelligible communication can be held without means of

describing them, and hence the language, the rudest ever

formed, has contained methods of discriminating the present

from the past, and the past from the future. For this purpose

the Norridgewocks used, to a considerable extent, certain

particles in combination with the verb, both so moditied that

they fitted together in a manner consistent with brevity and

euphony. Thus the particle amptsee signified now, yet, tvhile

;

and hence, in combination with action, determined the period of

progress. Thus amptsepoo signified, he is now eating, and the

terminating letter a was also used to express existing action.

There were notes of the future, of a similar character, and

these were either used as prefixes or suffixes of the capita] word.

This mode of inflexion is however supposed to be the origin of

those in other languages, in which the primitive particle is

now lost.

The singularity of this language, in regard to the verb, was

not confined to the circumstances mentioned. That part of

speech, with indeed all the others, were continually subjected to

the process of being melted and amalgamated with each other,

producing sometimes a very close compound, in which the

original element- were BCarcely discernible, and sometimes one

in which they were perfectly obvious. Thus ooakooomee, snow,

is easily seen in the word nooisanooanre-altgonbahdam, I am
dazzled hy the Sfioto.

So perfect and multifarious was the power of compounding,

that it was varied even in reference to the person speaking, at

least in some instances; so that the same affirmation when made
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by the man and the woman was stated by a different term, and

by still different ones by different persons, according to office,

&c. Thus, when a man said, "/ am married" he made the

assertion by the word nakitooda, a woman, by noossee, &c.

It must be admitted that there is not generally any connection

between sounds and ideas or external objects ; but an artificial

connection having been formed by use, as to those ideas and

external objects of primary consideration, the formation of other

sounds by which to represent other ideas and objects, being

made upon the basis which had been established, the mind more

naturally and readily forms its associations, than when arbi-

trary words are accidentally and capriciously adopted. Hence

a striking beauty of the Greek tongue, and hence an excellence

in the Abenaquis language worthy of observation. Arbitrary

and foreign words are not significant until, by the continued

application of them, they have been rendered so by practice, and

the memory is heavily taxed to retain them ; but by composition

significant terms are at once produced which strike the imagina-

tion agreeably and do not burden the memory. I revert to this

point for the purpose of excusing the brevity of the vocabulary

I shall offer, by impressing the primary importance of an

acquaintance with the nature and character of the capacity of

combination in such a language. This power of composition so

extensive is undoubtedly as necessarily regulated and not

capricious, and thus effect in a double sense is given to every

letter. In this respect the Abenaquis has one of those striking

beauties belonging to the Sanscrit language, as illustrated by
Sir William Jones, and which is also a characteristic of some of

the most admired languages of the world.

To show, in reference to the particulars above named, the

genius of the Norridgewock language, I will cite a few phrases

containing the combinations of the English word to sing, with

various parts of speech :
*

/ sing—nakeeooahhahdoo.

i" Hng quick—nanahbahronmootahmen.

I sing sloivly—namonnahronmootahmen.

*[ In this vocabulary, Gov. Lincoln has given the vowel sounds as they

struck his ear, though in form to the eyo somewhat different from the forms

given by Rale, in whose Dictionary they may be found.] Ed.
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I sing to cause dancing— nanahooahdwa.

/ sing well—noorinto.

/ sing badly—aematsintoo.

I .ting the death song—nametsitsintoo.

I sing too high—Doossonmondwa.

I sing too low—noossonmepeooandwa.

I sing the first—naneetahmintoo.

I sing treble—napeewandwa.

I sing bass—namessondwa.

I take the notes, I give the air—nadarahronmootahmen,

I sing to lull the child to sleep—nadattoomonsee.

J sing in sleeping—naneepanto.

Let u.s sing together—manoointoodah.

Let u.t sing together throughout—ahasooinl lah.

Sing loud—pessongoointookoo.

I sing in Iroquois—namagooahantoo.

I sing in Algonquin—ooosonghenahantoo.

I sing in response to the song—natasookanatoobena.

These remarks may have become very tedious, although by

far insufficient to the purpose. Having exhibited some particu-

lars in regard to the verb in the Norridgewock language, I will

omit to prolong the investigation further by notices of other

particulars, which could only be entertaining to those who take

pleasure in studying the philosophy of grammar and the con-

struction of languages. Knowing, however, how very important

this subject is by many considered to be, I shall annex a short

vocabulary.

It may be proper here to observe that the medium of com-

munication with the Abeuaquis was not exclusively oral, as

perhaps it never has been with any savages. The natural pro-

pensity to imitate is not confined to oral sounds, but as strongly

applies to pictured representation, and the language of visible

signs is, although more limited, as much the language of nature

as that by those addressed only to the ear. Hence every

savage, in situations in which he cannot use the latter, applies to

his means to communicate by the former. Having little com-

merce, and of course but rarely occasion for the transmission of

intelligence by signs to the eye, tlio.se means have always

remained exceedingly rude. They were only used to a very

restricted extent.

At a particular time Father Hale, a well known Catholic
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missionary among the Norridgewocks, was absent from the post

which he usually occupied so long that one of the savages was

persuaded he was dead. Believing that he had fallen into the

hands of his enemies, the same savage determined to com-

municate the intelligence to his tribe, and taking a piece of bark

from what is usually called paper birch, (betula papyracea,) he

painted with a coal Father Rale upon it, surrounded by the

English, with his head cut off by one of them. This letter he

attached to a stake on the bank of the river to inform the

traveler of the event supposed to have happened. The Amalin-

gans were a tribe who settled in the vicinity of the Norridge-

wocks during the period of Father Rale's mission among them.

We learn, from the " Lettres Edifiantes," that the former of the

tribes mentioned, practiced in their communications with other

tribes, the sending of belts on which were placed various figures

made with small pieces of shell of different colors, by which to

instruct their messengers and preserve in their recollection the

objects of the embassy.

Lescarbot also informs us that the Armouchiquois, before

mentioned as Indians who lived within the present territory of

Maine, practiced painting and sculpture, and made images

of beasts, birds, and men on stone and wood as handsomely as

good workmen in France.

A Vocabulary of Words of the Norridgeioock Tongue.

SUBSTANTIVES.

A bow, tonbee. Song, keooahdwangan.

Its string, non-paton. Horse, abhassoo.

Arrow, icithout a head, abroos. Chase, pepamangon.

Arrow, which has plumes on it, konk- A way, almoodee.

skahres. A chief, pakootabgahbegon.

Beast, Ahooabasoo. Crow, mkahzes.

Any fierce wild beast, abooabannhdo- Horn, ahooeooer.

dooak. Head, matep.

Indian corn, skabmoon. Forehead, raeskatagwa./

White com, ooanbigbanoor skah- Eye, tsesekoo.

raoonar, or ooanbamanar. Cheek, mahnwa.

Red com, meskoobessooeminar. Tongue, merabroo.

Black com, seghemeuar. Ear, ratahooahkoo.'
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Yellow corn, ooisoomenar.

Little corn, abann, nar.

Great com, skagoometiar.

Strong drink, ahkonbee.

./ branch, paskabbabkoon.

Arm, padan.

Cabin, wigwam.

Canoe, agooiden.

Captain, soDgmon.

Image, ahooekegon.

Flower, pepskooabsabooek.

"River, seepoo.

Wave, tasoo.

Ditch, pooskanegan.

Thunder, padangheeahkoo.

Musket, peskooandee,

Boy, ooskinoos.

Hook, mkekan.

Winter, paboon.

Man, alirananba.

Garden, keekan.

Juggler, mataooranoo.

Day, keesookoo.

Lake, pagwasabem.

Bed, kaboodee.

Morning, tsakwa.

Medicine, nabezoon.

Mountain, pamahdana.

Bird, sipis.

Portage, ooneegan.

Prayer, panbahtalmiooangan.

Cat, paswis.

Bart, metabooabkoo.

Devil, matseeneeooeskoo.

Water, nabee.

Child, aooansis.

Orphan boy, keeabpes.

Orphan girl, OOSakoOlS.

Star, ooabtabooessoo.

Fire, skootai.

Leaf, meebee.

Tempest, kesontgwee.

Deer, norka.

Male Deer, aianba-norka.

Female Deer, berar-norka.

[So of the Moose, &C.J

Bear, aooasoos.

Male Bear, nanooaskoo.

Female Bear, atseskoo.

Yesterday, oorongooa.

Continually, kangkagah.

Soon, tebne. tebnetse.

Never, mandabbatsee.

Slowly, nasanmab.

Eight or correct, sassagbeooe.

Different, peerooeea.

High, spamek.

Black, mkahzaooegben.

All, messeewee.

Transparent, asonbabmagooek.

I play, nadanmka.

L die, nametsena.

I weep, nax.askadamee.

/ am silent, netseekapee.

Mortified, as I am, at the poverty of means of communicating

information, notwithstanding many inquiries, I shall make no

further remarks, as to the language of the Penobscots or

Passamaquoddies. Tho literary men of the State, who have

had the opportunity, ought to be depended upon for further

developments, which it would bo injustico to them to supposo

they arc unable to make.
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THE MICMACS.

It is said by Charlevoix that the Micmaos were closely con-

nected with the Abenaquis by language, as well as by interest

and religion. It is evident that such remarks upon language

are often very carelessly dropped ; and although we may be

willing to yield to philologists who would have us believe that

tongues, apparently as variant as the most incongruous objects,

are radically the same, we must be permitted to exercise our

common sense in determining the analogies and repugnances

between visible signs. In the vocabularies of the Abenaquis

and Micmacs few words are similar, and in the grammar of those

different languages there is also considerable diversity. Without

pretending to analyze as to the euphony, powers, and general

structure of each, so as to present a full comparative view, a

few illustrations as to this curious subject of inquiry may be

amusing.

I begin with an example of the inflexions in the conjugation

of the verb :—For example,

KELOOGIMK—etre box. *

POSITIVE. NEGATIVE.

Sing. Nil-keloogi—Je suis bon. Sing. Nil mookeloogioo—Je ne suis

Kil-kelougin—Tu es bon. pas bon.

Negueum keloogit—II est bon. Kil mookeloogioon— Je ne

Flu. Kenookeloogikoo—Noussoin- pas, &c.

mes bons. Negueum moo-keloogiook— II

Kelau keloogiok—Vous etes ne pas, &c.

bons. Flu. Ninem moo-keloogiooek-Nous

Negmau keloogigik—lis sont ne sommes pas.

bons. Kilau mookeloogioook—Nous

n'etes pas.

Negmau mookeloogiook—lis

ne sont pas.

PASSE. PASSE NEGATIF.

Sing. Keloogiep—J'ai ut6 bon. Sing. Mookeloogiooep J'n'ai pas

Keloochichep—Tu as 6te\ cte bon.

*[In this example of a Micniac verb of the first conjugation, as given with

some variations in the manuscripts of the Abbe Maillard, the diphthong

oo represents the French ou. The horizontal line over the second o [-]

denotes that the diphthong receives the accent. Where o single follows the

diphthong, it is to be sounded long and separately. Ed.]
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Keloogichp—II a 6te\ Mookeloogi hep, tu n'as.

1'lu. Kelodgiekchep—Nous avons Mookelodgiookchep.

6te\ P/m. Mookelo&giooekchep.

Keloogiokchep-Vous avez 6t6. Mookelofigioookcbep.

Kelodgichonik— lis ont 6t6. MookeloOgitiookchep.

FUTURE.

SINGULAR. PLURAL.

Keloogidech—Je serai 1 >• >n. Kelooltedau—nous serous. &c.

Celoogidex

—

Keloolgideknoo.

Keloogidau

—

KeloSltedal.

;

pour g*nre ignoble

keloogidecbnen )

keloogidechne )

SUBJUNCTIVE.

SINGULAR. PLURAL.

1 N'keloogin—que je soisbon. 1 E'kelooginenoo.

2 K'keloogin— - K'kelooginau.

3 Oofkeloogin. 3 Oofkelooginau.

The subjunctive negative is formed by prefixing moo, without changing

the termination.

CONDITIONAL.
SINGULAR. PLURAL.

1 Eeloogik, Jo serais bon. 1 Keloogiguekp—Nous, &c.

J [£elodgikp. 2 Keloogigokp.

3 Keloogich. 3 -Eeloogitich.

CONDITIONAL PASSE.

BINGULAR. PLURAL.

1 Keloogigaben—J'aurois ete bon. 1 Keloogiguckpen.

2 Celodgikpen. 2 Kelo»gigokpen.

3 Keloogichok. 3 Keloogitichok.

AUTRE.
SINGULAR. PLURAL.

1 Keloogiachen, Si J'avois 616 bon. 1 Keloogikoochen >

2 Keloogicheben. Keloogicheben. S

3 Keloogichen. - Keloogiockcheben.

3 Keloogiticben.

Infinitive—Kelooginik—etre bon.

Perfect—Keloogimkchep—avoir etc bon.

Future—KeloOgiden—on sera bon.

Conditional— KeloOgimkechen— si t'on avoit 6t6 bon.

KeloOginecb—on seroit bon.

Kelooginechok—on auroit etc bon.



424 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

The accent on oo being made short, the meaning of the verb is changed to

the word speak.

Adjectives make the plural in guick, as tranquille, Ooantakeg—pi., Ooanta-

kvguick.

Their Adjectives are words noble or ignoble, and distinguished by a

termination accordingly, both in the singular and plural.

Pcgili—prefixed expresses the comparative and superlative.

I'agigioo—expresses the highest degree.

The personal pronouns are Nil, I; Kil, Thou; Negueum, lie, Him; Kinoo and

Ninen, We; Kilau, You; Negmau, They.

The possessives are formed by the initials of the personals and of aye, as

Naye, mine, &c.

The plurals are regularly formed by changing the terminations of the

singular in the same manner, as in the following example:

—

SINGULAR. PLURAL.

N' Nixkam—my God. K' Nixkaminal—our Gods.

K' Nixkam—thy God. K' Nixkamooal—your Gods.

Oo' Nixkam'l—his God. Oo' Nixkamooal—their Gods.

It should have been remarked in regard to the Micmacs, as

well as to the Norridgewock tongue, that the French orthogra-

phy and pronunciation are preserved, as the French are the only-

written or printed authorities, and the pronunciation is generally

understood. The substantive, being only the name of a thing,

and undergoing no changes but those of number, and gender,

and case, is less interesting, except in those languages where it

is modified by synthesis, than some of the other parts of speech,

simply as such. As affected by syntax and in other respects, it

may be more engaging. Of the syntax, by the way, of the

Abenaquis, no writer seems to have taken any notice.

In the Micmac language, the plural of the names of inanimate

things is formed by adding al, el, il, oul.

Diminutives of all nouns are formed by adding chich, and the

word is amplified by prefixiug To, or JCchi, as Oolakan, Plat,

Oolakanel, Plats. Petit plat, Oolakanchich, pi., Oolakanelchich.

Grand plat, Kchioolakan,—pi., Kchioolakanel.

Iktook, being added signifies in, as oolakaniktook, dans ])lat,

i. e. in the dish.

This language, as well as the Penobscot has the Dual number

of nouns.

The Plural of names of animate things is formed by adding k

or yik, according to the termination of the singular.
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HIEROGLYPHICS.

The use of hieroglyphics is a natural expedient whenever it

becomes necessary to speak to the eye, which is done by manual

signs, motions of the body, and expression of the countenance,

as in the instruction of the deaf and dumb; or by pictures, which,

to those who understand not that wonderful contrivance, the

alphabet, may be substituted. The Indians generally, in their

earliest intercourse with the whites, ere interpreters could be

found, or arbitrary signs agreed upon, resorted much more than

they now do, to those methods of communication both among

themselves and the white men. Hence we find that in the

ancient treaties, instead of using, as at present, the unmeaning

subscription of a cross, attested by a witness, they applied a

designating sign manual, less rude than that of kings and noble-

men in civilized countries at a distant period in history. Thus,

in the treaty made at Falmouth in the year 16-49—with the

Penobscot, Norridgewock, and other Indians, Wawawnunka
signed by the figure of the body and leg of a man, Nattoonos

by the image of a fish, Seboowouset by that of a fly, and others

by various strange and uncouth drawings. For the same

reason their speeches in early times were more figurative and

poetical than at present, because they wTere obliged to be

descriptive, and resort to natural rather than agreed signs of

thought; and made draughts on nature rather than on the self-

chartered corporation of the lettered men, who made their own

currency for ideas.

The belts of tribes were a species of hieroglyphic representa-

tion. " The Penobscots," said Loron, their speaker, in a confer-

ence with the Lieut. Governor of Massachusetts Bay in 1725,

" sent belts to those tribes, and they sent their belts to the

Penobscot tribe, for a confirmation of their agreeing to what

shall be concluded, which belts are lodged with our chiefs, which

is equivalent to a writing, or articles under their hands." The
sacred character of a legal indenture was stamped only by a

belt. Without the interchange of that symbol, " a talk'' could

only create honorary obligations, and the form and impress of

law was not considered to be upon it. Among the tribes of

•27
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Maine, no messenger was accredited without his wampum belt,

and from this single circumstance it is evident that the hiero-

glyphic marks identified it as genuine, and secured the nations

against the arts to which confidence in a blank fabric would have

subjected them. Ruin or safety depended on the reading of a

belt, and in all history we have no account of that record

having been counterfeited or falsified. We have been fed to

repletion with stories of Indian faithlessness ; but where is the

authentication of the profaning of a faith pledged by this

hieroglyphic belt, in which excuse ought not to have followed

accusation, and explanation satisfied inquiry ? Reiterated wrong

has exploded precedent compacts, and the instances of war

succeeding pacification are not few; but as to faith, if the

English faith was English, the Indian was not Punic.

The diversities in the Indian tongues, especially of those

radically the same, are the more astonishing when we consider

how rare has been the process in other countries by which the

effect has been produced. Indeed, we do not know from history

of a language being formed since the confusion of tongues at

the tower of Babel. The English language has undoubtedly

been essentially changed, but it has been more in orthography

than sound, and in the introduction than in the creation of new

words. For more than two hundred years the Roman legions

were quartered in Britain and disseminated there the knowledge

and use of the Latin tongue. The Saxon conquerors succeeded

to the Roman, and the Danes and the Normans followed in

turn, each employing the customary means to imbue the ver-

nacular language of the English with foreign idioms and terms

;

but who were the conquerors who imposed upon the tribes of

Maine their dialects, and without the instrumentality of writing

and printing, without schools, and without the consolidation of

compact society, taught the vagrant hunters to forget the most

fixed of the records of memory, and to place in their stead a

new and strange vocabulary. It has seldom been the practice

with Indians to sit down under the dominion of conquerors,

or to amalgamate with triumphant invaders. They defend

themselves with their lives, or they fly to occupy other grounds

than those which are claimed bv a successful foe.
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The French language was formed not only by the instrumen-

tality of conquest, but by various other means; yet it was the

work of thirteen hundred years to give it its form and finishing.

This progress was indeed slow ; but it was from a cause which

has always operated with savages, the warlike habits of the

people; habits which produce a stationary condition m the arts

of peace. In the instance of the French, as with other mixed

languages of Europe, we trace the existing compound to the

ancient original languages, as the Latin, Celtic, &c, and it is not

strange that compositions of the elements here existing should

have resulted in various forms of Spanish, Italian, French, and

English character. But what primitive tongues, or what deriva-

tive ones are united to form the vast varieties of dialects of the

Algonquin or the Leni Lenape ? what migrations, conquests,

alliances, or other causes, have wrought such mutations, while

convenience, habit, and nature are opposed to all change ?

Without the means of solving these inquiries, the time for doing

which lias long since elapsed, we are left only to the painful

resource of conjecture. We can only conclude that, in distant

antiquity, the native inhabitants of this land, of the various races

which belonged to it, have intermingled intimately and exten-

sively in peace, and been often compelled into political amalga-

mation by war; that different tribes have occupied long together

the same cabins, united in marriage, and as they mingled their

blood, compromised also their pride and obstinacy of habit, by

melting their languages together, and forming a currency for oral

communication, of a new stamp and heterogeneous character.



SOME ACCOUNT OF THE CATHOLIC MISSIONS

IN MAINE.

About the year sixteen hundred and ten, the condition of the

settlement which Poutrincourt had made at Port Royal in

Acadia, required him to send his son Biencourt to France for

aid from that country. The Queen Regent, mother of the

infant Louis XIII, was satisfied with directing her attention to

the spiritual concerns of the New World, and her policy was

confined to imposing upon Poutrincourt two Jesuits, the fathers

Biart and Masse. The persons concerned in fitting out the

expedition destined for the young colony, refused to receive

those holy men, unless they would contribute to reimburse the

expense' they should occasion. A charitable donation of two

thousand crowns enabled the pious fathers not only to remove

the difficulty, but to make some provision of temporal good, by

the purchase of a share in the adventure. This measure has

been satirically remarked upon; but it should be recollected that

the duty of benevolence to their order was considered as of

primary obligation ; and if it was not discharged, it was but a

substitute for it in them to appropriate the misdirected charity

intended for other purposes, to the comfort of the missionary.

Besides, the society were in the habit of offering some hundred

thousand masses and rosaries per annum for the benefit of

souls, and notwithstanding their vow of poverty, it had long

been found by them entirely proper to extend their salutary

influence, by gathering all the riches they could, and converting

their missions to factories which secured much of the trade of

the world.
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They found in Poutrincourt an obstinate man, who would not

allow them to manage the purse and sword with the breviary

too, so that they were much impeded in the execution of their

designs ; nor did they agree better with the sayages, for they

preached against plurality of wives ; and their husbands, un-

willing to renounce the sin, attacked with all the adroitness of

civilized men those who forbade it, and expressed a very un-

friendly opinion Of such scrupulous teachers. In the meantime

the Father Biart proceeded alongthe coast to the Cannibas on

the Kennebec, where he exchanged the light and knowledge of

his doctrines for provisions for the inhabitants of Port Royal, the

place of his residence. The Cannibas received the reverend

father with a respect and cordiality strikingly in contrast with

the disposition they had a short time before exhibited toward

those from England, who intended to form an establishment on

their river, but who had not considered it prudent to execute

their design.

Father Masse also engaged in a journey to explore the field

of his apostolic labors, but was taken dangerously ill on the

way. His guide and only companion was the son of Membertou,

a distinguished chief, who prayed him to write to the Governor

of Acadia to notify him that death would probably overtake

him there in the wilderness, so that the Indian might be safe

from the suspicion of murder. " That," said the wily Jesuit, " I

shall specially avoid, for you, perhaps, will be the man to kill me
and use my letter to conceal your crime." The conscienci

stricken guide acknowledged that the sick man saw his heart

and that it repented and drove away the bad thought which had

harbored there.

The two missionaries were under the patronage of the Mar
chioness de Guercheville, who had taken a cession of the right

of De Monts in New France, and became an associate wit:

Poutrincourt. She prevailed on the Queen mother to aid in th

fitting out a vessel to be pjaced under the command of the Sieu

de la Saussaye for the purpose of forming another establishmec

independent of that at Port Royal. In 1613 the vessel proceedec

with two other Jesuits, Quantin and Gilbert du Thet, as coadju-

tors of Biart and Masse
;
and, takiug these latter persons on the
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passage, they disembarked, with twenty-five others, on the

northerly bank of the Penobscot.* Father Biart made an

excursion from this place to visit the neighboring people, and

arriving near a village of the Etchemins, he heard frightful cries,

like those of lamentation for the dead. He hastened forward

with the prompt anxiety which generally impels the ecclesiastics

of certain orders to be present at that scene, where pleasure,

interest, or duty are generally satisfied by the offering of peni-

tence, bequests, and homage. He ascertained that the occasion of

the clamor was the illness of a child, and found the inhabitants

of the village ranged in two rows on each side of it ; the father

holding it in his arms and uttering loud cries, to which the whole

assembly responded with one accord. The missionary took the

child, and having administered the sacred mystery of baptism,

prayed with a loud voice that God would vouchsafe some token

of his power. He forgot not, however, to use the means which

might contribute, humanly speaking, to the miracle he petitioned

for, and presented the child to the warmth and cherishing virtue

of the maternal bosom. It soon became well. Whatever else

may be said, it must be admitted that the administration of the

baptism was judiciously and admirably seasonable ;
for the

Indians were persuaded that its divine efficacy drove away the

disease which had so much distressed them ; and they looked

upon the missionary as one who could call down from the master

of life the health of his children.

The auspicious dawn, which promised so bright a day for the

harvest of souls to God, was soon overcast, and a storm suc-

ceeded, which swept away every vestige of the new establish-

* [It had been the purpose of the Jesuits to found a mission on the Penob-

scot at Kadesquil, (Kenduskeag), now Bangor, just below the well ascer-

tained location of the ancient Norumbega. On their way thither they

"disembarked" on Pemetiq, now called from their naming, Mount Desert.

Finding here the most interesting circumstances of encouragement from the

Indians, and particularly from their sagamore, Asticou, they were led to relin-

quish the Penobscot, and to form their settlement on an attractive plat of

land, gently sloping to the water, and designated by two fountains, still

well known. This place is near the mouth of Soames' sound, and is at pres-

ent a rich and productive farm. (See Biart's Relation, ch. xxiv.)] Ed.
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ment of St. Sauveur on the Penobscot.* A party of Anglo-

Virginians under the command of one Samuel Argal, who had

been to Mt. Desert on a fishing voyage, attacked the place, killed

Du Thet and some others, compelled La Saussaye to surrender,

stole his commission, then charged him with piracy, plundered

everything of value, reduced the rest of the property to ashes,

and carried away the surviving persons as captives. The

robbers Jhen went to Port Royal, under the guidance of Father

Biart, as Biencourt affirmed, and committed similar ravages

there.

I shall not pursue the chain of incidents which belong to the

lives of these Jesuits, but will revert only to a single incident

connected with them, which will probably be deemed of some

importance.

When the settlements were first made on the coast of this conti-

nent, the natives hud it in their power to exercise any violence to-

ward them with impunity; and the breath of a hostile chief had

been enough to have blown them into the sea. Had the Indians

been permitted to have had but one glance into futurity, they

would have fought against them until the soil had drank all the

blood that flowed in the veins of every white man who stood upon

it. It was important, however, in order to gain a foothold, to

seize even upon the twigs of the shore. The Jesuits failed not to

do so. They courted the chieftain Membertou, who had great

influence over the surrounding tribes, and by his conversion first

planted Christianity on the region of which we are taking the

survey. Membertou, as we are assured by Lescarbot, was more

than a hundred years of age
;
yet active and vigorous, he bore

the number of his years without bowing beneath them. He
was the prophet of his tribe, and performed, with high authority,

the functions of the mysterious and revered character of an

Autmoin or Powaw.
Being taken dangerously ill, the fathers Biart and Mass6

caused the removal of this valuable proselyte to Port Royal, and

attended upon him with the most sedulous care ; but the old

man sunk under the malignity of his disease, and they could not

*[Tlie word Penobscot seems to have been used in an extended sense, to

denote the region-]
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save him either by prayers or medicine. He desired that after

his death his body might be removed and buried among the

bones of his ancestors, to which the governor consented without

hesitation; but the missionaries warmly remonstrated against

placing the sacred carcase of a convert in a land profaned by the

ashes of pagans, as a scandal to religion and a violence to their

rules ; and when they were urged to consecrate the place of

sepulture, they declared that their benediction could never be

bestowed upon it, before the remains of the heathen had ceased

to sully it. The dying chieftain, who in his health would have

risked all the penalties which the Jesuits denounced against him,

in case of his non-compliance with their wishes, finally saved

some moments of peace for the close of his life, by telling his

importunate instructors that when his spirit should have departed

for the other world, they might do as they thought proper with

his body; a concession which secured him much solemn mum-
mery at his funeral, and christian ground to rot in.

DREUILLETTES.

The seed which had been sown by Father Biart during his

transient visit among the Cannibas, had not fallen upon barren

ground. They were so much pleased with the specimen he had

furnished them of the excellence of religion, that they sent to

the civil governor and religious superior of Canada for a teacher

of the faith. It did not escape the sagacity of a Jesuit that the

temporal policy of opposing a brave and unconquerable people,

as a barrier against English aggression, happily coincided with

the purposes of ecclesiastical piety and ambition ; and Father

Gabriel Dreuillettes was accorded to the request. He was the

first evangelical laborer regularly settled in the wilderness of the

Kennebec, where he found himself in the year 1646. His

success was wonderful, for he succeeded in the fabrication of

christians out of even the interested priests of the heathen, and

wrought a marvelous number of conversions, or at least of

baptisms. His catholic majesty was in the habit of exercising a

parental liberality in the presents distributed among the Indians

who at the same time acknowledged fealty to him and submis-
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sion to the cross; and they seem never to have been less willing

to become the recipients of the grace of royal munificence, than

of Catholic dogmas. However that might have been, the double

recommendation of diligence and success, which the report of

the labors of Father Drcuillettes bore, produced the establish-

ment of a regular mission..

He remained a faithful and efficient shepherd of the flock which

he had gathered into the gospel fold. In the character of an

envoy he twice journeyed to Boston to form, among other

objects, an alliance for the protection of the Cannibas and others

of the Abenakis against the invasion of their enemies the Iro-

quois. The Abenakis were, in fact, in 1G52, the only nations

within the limits of French America, where the Iroquois had

not pushed their victories; but the enmity of tin' latter was a

subject of most serious alarm to the former; and the apprehen-

sion they sutlered not only furnished them a strong inducement

to unite with the French, but also undoubtedly aided the

missionary in gathering the harvest of his apostolical zeal.

The duties of Father Drcuillettes called him from the Cannibas,

but he still sounded the " silver trumpet of the gospel" in remote

regions of the North. By his eloquence, and the wonders which

he wrought, he extended far and wide, to use the language of

Catholicism, the glory and the kingdom of God. Charlevoix has

preserved a specimen of his miracles, which either proves the

influence he had acquired over the imaginations even of the

French, or the instrumentality which he had, as an agent of an

overruling providence. The historian informs us that a lady,

Madame de Connoyer, had fallen into a languor which the

physicians could not cure; yet when the missionary did but

make the sign of the cross upon his forehead, the disease was

instantaneously dispelled. There is no doubt of the fact, as the

author who has recorded it, received it from Madame de Lientot.

Aware of the credit of this priest among the Abenakis, the

English flattered ami caressed him with a view of securing the

benefit of his influence. Meanwhile the adroit ecclesiastic

received the incense with an accommodating condescension, but

went on, at the same time, in the power of his words ami works

to advance his faith and diffuse that religion which bound his
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proselytes to an unforgiving hatred of their protestant neighbors.

Thus did the French acquire the possession of that lever which

they could always use to impel the Abenakis to war, from the

time when civilization first cursed them with its-presence, until it

triumphed by their extinction.

FATHERS VINCENT AM) JAQUES BIGOT.

Of the mission of the Fathers Bigot, but little is recorded.

By a letter of Mons. Denonville it appears that Vincent Bigot,

in 1688, was at Penobscot for the purpose of gathering the

savages into a new village on the lands of the king of France,

and to guard against the efforts of Governor Andros to draw

them to the English. And the same gentleman, in a memoir

addressed to the Minister of Marine, says that he owed to the

missionaries, particularly to the two Fathers Bigot, the good

intelligence he had preserved with the Abenakis, and the success

they had met with in their expeditions against the English.

Jaques Bigot, or Bigot the younger, was probably the mis-

sionary at Kennebec, for when the Governor of New England

in 1699, proposed to treat with the savages there, Bigot repaired

to Montreal to inform Monsieur de Callieres of the fact and to

state to him the dispositions of the parties in regard to it.- On
his representation de Callieres determined not to interpose. The
English made their proposition to the Cannibas, who in reply

avowed their attachment to the French, and declared that no

English habitation should stand upon their soil, and expressed

their determination not to change their missionaries, but to

support with their lives the religion they had taught them.

Charlevoix alleges that Vincent Bigot once accompanied the

Abenakis in an expedition against New England, and knowing

that on their return a large party was in pursuit, he endeavored

to urge their flight. They replied that they did not fear the

English and refused to hasten their march. At last they were

overtaken by a force twenty times as numerous as their own;

and, having placed the missionary in safety, they, with cool

intrepidity, engaged in battle, strewed the field with dead bodies,

and maintaining the fight during the whole day without the loss

of a man, compelled the enemy to retire.
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These missionaries were of the family of the Barons. Bigots

;

and when we consider that circumstance, and compare it with

the life of more than patriarchal simplicity which Vincent led at

the established seat of his mission, we shall know how to

appreciate the apostolic zeal with which he was inspired. Al-

though often among the Abenakis of Maine, the place of his

residence was at the village of St. Francois, to which the

Governor of Canada had attracted many of the alert and

intrepid warriors of our tribes, to guard the important and

central settlement of Three Rivers from the incursions of the

Iroquois. The Father dwelt among them and devoted his life

to their conversion and guidance. His domicil was a rude cabin

of bark, his bed a bear skin spread upon the earth, his dishes

were taken from the birch tree, and his food was the sagamite

and the £ame which the savages furnished hi in.

THURY.

In 1687 the conquest of Acadia had carried the boundary of

New England as far as the river St. Croix, and the condition of

the French prevented their resorting to force to recover a terri-

tory which had been yielded from weakness; but the savages

were too much exasperated by the intrusion of a conqueror, to

be able to resist an incitement to his destruction. There lived

among them at Penobscot a man who suffered not the torch of

discord to be extinguished, and knew as well how to inflame their

martial fury as to kindle their spiritual fervor. He was the Jesuit,

Father Tuury. In the year 1689, being sensible of the danger that

might result to the cause either of religion or his own ministry and

influence, he summoned the Indians to his chapel, and assuming

an air of the greatest affliction, made to them an address, in

which he portrayed an image of British ambition which fully

prepared them for his purpose. "My children," said he, "when
shall the rapacity of the; unsparing New Englanders cease to

afflict you? and how long will you suffer your lands to be

violated by the encroaching heretics'.-' By the religion I have

taught, by the liberty you love, I exhort you to resist them. It

is time for you to open your eyes which have long been shut ;

—
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to rise from your mats and look to your arms and make them

once more bright. This land belonged to your fathers, long

before these wicked men came over the great water, and are you

ready to leave the bones of your ancestors, that the cattle of

. heretics may eat grass on your graves ? The Englishmen think

and say to themselves, ' We have many cannon ; we have grown

strong while the red man has slept. While they are lying in

their cabins and do not see, we will knock them on the head

;

we will destroy their women and children, and then shall we

possess their land without fear, for there shall be none left to

revenge them.' My children ! God commands you to shake the

sleep from your eyes. The hatchet must be cleaned of its rust

to avenge him of his enemies and secure to you your rights.

Night and day a continual prayer shall ascend to him for your

success ; an unceasing rosary shall be observed till you return

covered with the glory of triumph."

The savages were transported with all that fury of which they

are so susceptible; and a hundred warriors made a vow at the

altar to march to Pemaquid, and never to return until they had

driven the English from the fort. They executed the resolution

with a sort of pious mania of courage, and twenty pieces of

cannon and a powerful garrison were surrendered to address and

valor, as will be found more accurately traced in the history of

this tragic event.

FATHER SEBASTIAN RALE.

A great and memorable portion of the life of Father Sebastian

Rale was identified with the relations between the natives of

our State and the English, and with incidents which must always

be conspicuous on the pages of our early history. The faithful

attachment of the Indians to his person and his doctrines,

presented an insuperable barrier to the plans of occupancy and

domination which our forefathers prosecuted with regard to the

country and its inhabitants, where his influence extended ; and

the English have charged upon his head the christian blood

which flowed in the wars in which these parties were engaged.

However groundless or well founded such a charge may be,

the character of the man is too remarkable, and the scenes in
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which he was engaged too important, that he should he passed

by without especial notice, in regard to so much of his life as

was spent with the Abcnakis.

The Indian village where Father Rale established his abode

was then called Xanrantsouak, and is now known by the name of

Norridgewock ; and it certainly had, even then, some advantages

in its situation to compensate for his immense sacrifice, in the

abandonment of civilized society. It is seated near the conflu-

ence of the Sandy river with the Kennebec, on one of those

beautiful prairies or spots of alluvial ground, to which nature

seems to have invited the residence of man, as if to free him

from toil and to lavish upon him all the goods which spring from

fertility, and all the pleasure which conversation with the finest

scenes of a romantic solitude can afford. Above, the rapids of

the Kennebec gave the unceasing music of a water-fall ; little

islands below studded the expanse at the confluence of the

streams, and the horizon around rested on a gently waving line

of hills. To Quebec was a distance of more than five days of

painful travel, and it was a journey of two days to the dwell-

ings of the English. The country around in every direction was

a wilderness inhabited only by savages. In this situation the

missionary determined to consecrate his life to the political and

spiritual services which he had been appointed to render; and

began by building a church, supplied with all the decorations

and implements calculated to engage the imagination in the

pompous ceremonies and imposing worship of the catholic faith.

Above the village, at the head of the rapids of the Kennebec,

was a chapel dedicated to the most holy virgin, in which her

image in relief demanded the prayers of the savages as they

passed upward to the chase; and below, where the waters

rested on their quiet level, another chapel stood, dedicated to

the guardian angel of the tribe. The women contended with a

holy emulation in the embellishment of their sanctuary by all the

finery they possessed, ami the chapels and the church were

illumined by brilliant lights from the wax of the bayberries

gathered upon the islands of the sea. Forty youths in cassocks

and surplices officiated in performing the solemn functions around
the altar. Such was the machinery of the holy office amono- the
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rude people of Nanrantsouak; and multitudinons processions,

symbolical images, paintings, and mysterious rites were com-

bined to arrest the eye and catch the fancy of the savage neo-

phytes. Every day was introduced by tne performance of mass,

and the evening was ushered in by prayer in their native tongue,

in which their zeal was excited by the chanting and recitation in

which they took part, while the frequent exhortations of the father

allowed no distraction of their attention, no suspension of their

piety, and no backslidings ia their faith. Dictator of the con-

sciences of his flock, where no envious rival, no jealous competi-

tor, no heretical teacher, could break into the fold, the temporal

concerns of their mortal welfare could not be kept from his hands;

and they looked to him for advice at the council fire on the policy

and arrangements for war, not less than for edification in the

principles of the religion of peace. Dependence and devote .1-

ness were never more perfect, and never was a system adopted

better calculated to obtain and preserve them. The christianiz-

ing of these savages, the regularity of their observances, their

unreservedness of belief, was perfect; yet, what was the state of

their civilization? They were hunters and warriors still.

While the Father Rale was enjoying the triumph of his zeal,

he received the intelligence in the year 1697, that the Amalingans,

an unconverted people, were coming to settle within" a day's

journey of his Nanrantsouaks; and he- feared that his followers,

like those of Moses, might fall into the idolatry of the heathen.

The address with which he warded off the impending evil is well

worthy of admiration and the imitation of the missionary. A
deputation of the Amalingans having visited his tribe, he exhib-

ited some of the most imposing spectacles of the pomp and

magnificence of his pious exercises; and, perceiving the agreeable

impression which was made, he thus addressed them.

" For a long me, my children, I have desired to see you;

—

now that I have that happiness my heart cannot contain its joy.

Think of the pleasure that a father experiences, who tenderly

loves his children, when he revisits them after a long absence,

during which they have incurred the greatest dangers, and you

will conceive a part of mine ;
for although you do not yet pray,

I still regard you as my children, and entertain for you the
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affection of a father, inasmuch as you are children of the Great

Spirit, who is the author of being as well to you as to those who

pray; who has created the heaven for you as well as for them;

and who thinks of you as he thinks of them and of me, that

they may enjoy an eternal happiness. That which pains me and

diminishes the joy of this meeting is the reflection that one day

I shall be separated from a part of my children, of whom their

lot will be eternal misery, because they do not pray;—while the

others who pray, will possess the joy which endures forever.

When T reflect on this fatal separation, can I have a heart at

ease? The joy I feel for the happiness of the one, does not

balance the affliction I suffer for the misery of the other. If

prevented from prayer by insurmountable obstacles, and remain-

ing in the state in which you are, I could procure your admission

into heaven, T would spare nothing to obtain you that blessing.

I would aid you, I would cause you all to enter there, so much
do I love you, so much do I desire your happiness; but that is

impossible. It is necessary to pray,. and it is necessary to be

baptized, to be enabled to enter into that abode of pleasure.''

He then explained the articles of his faitlj and thus proceeded.

" The words which I have spoken are not of men ; they are the

words of the Great Spirit; they are not written as your mes-

sages, figured on a wampum which you make to speak whatever

you will ; but they are written in the book of the Great Spirit,

which cannot lie." After an address to their sympathies on their

mission and some other remarks he concluded as follows : "Pray,

my children, as I do, and you shall live forever. Take courage,

let us not separate, that some may go in one way, and some in

another. Let us all go into heaven :—It is our country, it is the

place to which we are invited by the sole master of life, of whom
I am but the interpreter." The Amalingans conversed together

fur some time, when their orator made the follov sr renlv.

" My father,— I am rejoiced to hear you. Your words have

penetrated even into my heart, but my heart is yet shut and I

cannot now open it, to show you what is there, nor to which side

it will turn. I must delay until the chiefs and considerable persons

of our tribe shall arrive in the autumn ; then I shall open to

you my heart. This, father, is all I have to say at present."
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In the autumn one of the
t

Nanrantsouaks, going to the

Amalingans to obtain corn for planting, Father Rale charged

him to inform them that they were always present in his mind,

and to urge them to remember the promise which had been given.

They replied—" We are obliged to our father for thinking of

us without ceasing. On ©ur part we have reflected much on

what he has said to us. We cannot forget his words while we

have a heart, for they have been so deeply engraved that nothing

can efface them. We are persuaded that he loves us ; we wish

to listen to him and to comply with his wishes. We consent to

his proposition, and we see nothing but what is good and praise-

worthy ; we are determined to embrace it, and should before this

time have gone to visit our father in his village, if he had been

furnished with provisions sufficient for our subsistence during

the time consecrated to our instruction. But in what condition

shall we find him there? We know that famine is in the cabin

of our father, and we are doubly afflicted that he is suffering,

and that we cannot go to receive instruction. If our father will

come to pass some time with us, we will furnish him with provis-

ions and he shall instruct us."

The next day he embarked in a canoe to avail himself of the

invitation, and for a French league before he landed, the contin-

ued salute of musketry assured him of their friendly disposition.

Immediately on his arrival he planted the cross, caused a chapel

to be erected of bark, placed in it an altar, and after due prepa-

ration, he accomplished the regeneration of the whole nation in

the waters of holy baptism. He was prepared to depart, when

they requested his attendance in their meeting, where one, in the

name of all present, offered him the tribute of their gratitude

and respect. " Our father," said the speaker, " We have not

language to testify to you the joy we feel in having received

baptism. It seems to us now that we have a new heart. All that

gave us pain is dissipated : our thoughts are no longer wavering;

baptism has fortified us inwardly, and we are resolved to honor

it all our lives."

Peace under the treaty of Utrecht having been concluded, the

Nanrantsouaks sent a deputation of some of their principal men

to Boston to procure workmen to rebuild their church, which
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had been destroyed by an irruption when they were absent.

The Governor received them with the most seductive demonstra-

tion* of friendship. "I wish," said he, " to restore your church]

and I will treal you better than the French Governor has done,

whom you call your father. It belongs to him to rebuild it,

since he caused its destruction by inducing you to strike me.

For me, I defend myself as I can, but he makes use of you to

protect him, and then abandons you. I will deal better with

you, for I will not only furnish you workmen, I am willing also

to pay them and to be at the expense of building the edificoyou

are desirous to have constructed ; but as it is not reasonable that

I, who am an Englishman, should build you a church without

providing a minister to take care of it, and to teach you prayer,

I will give you one with whom you shall be satisfied, and you

must send to Quebec the French minister who is in your village."

" Your words astonish me," replied the savage deputy, " and

1 admire you in the proposition you make. When you came

here you saw me a long time before the French governors knew

me. Neither your predecessors, nor their servants, ever spoke

to me of prayer, or of tho Great Spirit. They have seen my
peltries, my skins of the beaver and the deer, and of those only

have they taken thought : those they have sought with eagerness.

I could not furnish them enough, and when I brought them

many I was their great friend; that was all. On the contrary,

my canoe being one day lost, I mistook my course and wandered

a long time by chance, until I stopped near to Quebec, at a great

Milage of the Algonkins, where the black coats lived. Scarcely

had I arrived when a black coat came to see me. I was loaded

with peltries. The French black coat did not even deign to

look at them. He spoke to me at once of the Great Spirit, of

paradise, of hell, and of prayer, by which is the only path to

heaven. 1 listened to him with pleasure, and relished so well his

conversation that I stayed a long time in that village to hear him.

Finally prayer was agreeable to me ; I engaged him to teach me

;

I demanded baptism and received it. Afterwards I returned

into my country and related what had happened to me. My
people, emulous of my happiness, sought to partake it, and they

also went to find the black coat and demand baptism. Thus

28
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have the French conducted towards me. If when you saw me
you had spoken to me of prayer, I should have had the misfor-

tune of praying as you do ; for I was not capable of distinguish-

ing whether your prayer was good. Thus, I tell you that I

hold fast the prayer of the French. I like it and will preserve

it till the earth shall burn up and perish. Keep, then, your

workmen, your money, and your minister. I will mention them

to you no more. I will tell the French governor, my father, to

send them to me." 1

In the manuscript dictionary of the Norridgevvock language,

compiled by Rale, I found a small loose scrap of paper, from

which I present a short extract, strikingly descriptive of his

habits and temper. "Here I am," says he, "in a cabin in the

woods on the borders of the sea, where I find both crosses and

religious observances among the Indians. At the dawn of

morning I say the mass in a chapel made of the branches of the

fir tree. The residue of the day I spend in visiting and consoling

the savages :—a severe affliction to see so many famished persons,

without being able to relieve their hunger.''

Father Rale never abandoned the Indians. He attended

them in all their expeditions and kept them in regular observance

of their religious exercises. In a letter to his brother written in

1723, in which he describes most particularly his own habits of

life, and relates many interesting particulars in regard to his

tribe, he seems to entertain a mournful anticipation of the fate

which, through the hatred of the English, was soon to befall him.

During the next year a party of those enemies, with some allied

Indians, marched to attack the village of Nanrantsouak. It was

surrounded by a thicket of brush, and the first intelligence of

the incursion was conveyed to the unsuspecting inhabitants by

the report of musketry and the balls of an enemy whizzing

through their cabins. Fifty only of the warriors were at home

;

but they seized their arms to withstand their enemies, while the

women and children should make their escape. Father Rale,

alarmed by the tumult, also departed from his cabin ; but as soon

as he appeared a great cry was raised, and a volley of musketry

laid him dead at the foot of the cross he had planted in the

'Tim English, however, rebuilt the church.
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village. Seven of the savages had surrounded him to protect his

life; but they were all killed by his side. The others tied ; but

thirty of their number were slain and fourteen wounded, and the

church and the cabins were given to the flames. The Nanrant-

souaks, on the next day, returned to the desolated place of their

ancient abode, to lament over the remains of their deceased and

much loved missionary, and to pay them the last offices of their

affection and respect. They buried him on the spot where the

altar had stood, at which he had so often celebrated the rites of

his faith. Thus terminated the painful mission of this remarkable

man, which had lasted thirty-seven years amidst hunger, fatigue,

privation, and danger in the wilderness. Never had a man more

eminently united the talent, the apostolic zeal, the strength of

constitution, and the courage necessary for such a life. He was

master of the languages which prevailed over a large extent of

country, and when lie preached to the savages, his fervor of

manner and pathos of expression left the profoundest impressions

on the hearts of those who heard him. His conversation, too,

had a charm and weight that compelled the savages to listen to

him as children to the parent who amuses, instructs, and directs

them. He spent his life, from choice, in the poverty and absti-

nence of a most vigorous penitent, suffering mortification for sin;

but distributed his goods with the charity of an almoner of

heaven. The savages mourned for him as for their dearest rela-

tives, and so much was he esteemed by the French, that the

religious superior at Montreal, when applied to in relation to the

communication of prayers on his account, replied in the language

of St. Augustin, that it was wronging a martyr to pray for him.

Our own historians have spoken with the greatest disrespect,

and even bitterness of reproach, against Sebastian Rale, and if

their accounts be true and their execrations could have been

effectual, instead of having been the saint who made his calling

and election so sure that he needed not the prayers of the

righteous, he deserved the hatred of men and the pity of angels.

Certain it is that the strong bond of religious #iion by which he

held the savages in amity and alliance with the French was an

insuperable obstacle to the success of those claims which our

forefathers made upon the Abenakis country, and that they
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regarded him as a constant and most formidable enemy. In the

winter of 1722, while the warriors were out on the chase they

sent a detachment of two hundred men to arrest him in his

village. He received timely notice to enable him to fly a short

distance into the woods, but as he had suffered the misfortune of

having had both his legs broken by a fall and could not travel

far, his only resource was to conceal himself behind a tree, which

his enemies approached almost to touch ; but, says the father, as

if they had been repelled by an invisible hand, they turned away

and retired. His faithful and affectionate savages often urged

to him the peril of his situation, and pressed him to retire for

safety to Quebec; but he answered them in true devotion of

spirit of the zealous apostle, " none of these things move me,

neither count I my life dear unto myself, so that I might finish

my course with joy, and the ministry I have received from the

Lord Jesus."

Unfriendly historians have not, however, confined themselves

to the general charges which would have been made against any

Catholic missionary whose influence was so pernicious. They

have followed him from the altar to his cabin, and endeavored to

fix on him the imputation that he sometimes departed from his

monastic discipline, to anticipate the rewards of the Mohammedan
paradise, whose black-eyed houries were gathered around him

in the sylvan shades of his retreat. He was not married, as

indeed by the rules of his order he could not have been.

It is much to be regretted that Father Rale did not follow

the example of his illustrious brethren in Paraguay, who intro-

duced civilization as the handmaid of Christianity, and directed

conversion to the improvement of life. As the apostle of

humanity as well as of the faith, what good might he not have

accomplished ? What a train of blessings might he not have

established ? But when the old man expired by the side of the

altar he had reared, the barbarism he had only in a measure

controlled, broke loose with a ferocity not softened by the

dogmas he had tf^ght. The religion he had introduced led his

warriors to battle, and the obligations of mercy were dissolved

in the fury of war. Yet it is generally true that his followers

were not only the bravest, but the most sparing of that fierce
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race to which they belonged, and that though spoil and havoc

were their element, they could sometimes be generous and

forbearing; and as to the unfortunate Jesuit, that to obey the

Pope and the King might naturally enough be considered by

him as rendering his duty to religion and his country. At the

present day the justice of history cannot do less than to pay

some homage to his virtues and his talents.

The catholics have, since the period last particularly noted,

been perfectly unswerving in their attention to the sacred

concern of religious instruction among the Indians of Maine

;

and the wall they erected against the inroads of protestantism

has been preserved without a breach. At least once in every year,

when the attendance of some anointed servant of the church has

not been constantly devoted to the spiritual guidance of the sav-

ages, some reverend teacher has paid his visit to each of the

tribes to relieve the sinner of his burdens, through the means of

confession and pennace, to offer his intercession for the benefit of

the suffering souls of those who have died in his absence, to

solemnize the marriages of those who wish to pass under the con-

jugal yoke, to recall the backsliding and confirm the faithful. On
his periodical visits the wandering hunters and fishermen, the men,

women, and children, collect together to attend his ministration

of holy things, and apply themselves to the work with devout

reverence for his doctrines, the highest respect for his person and

office, and the most implicit obedience to his commands. In this

case, as in all others, the submissiveness of the Indian to

acknowledged authority is truly wonderful, and the pride of the

priest is gratified by a power which is at the same time exercised

with parental kindness and absolute sway, even beyond the

utmost limits of ecclesiastical jurisdiction. The ambition of the

human heart thus gratified, some solace is undoubtedly found to

cheer the instructor of the sons of the forest, amidst the priva-

tions of his lot.

ROMAGNE.

For about twenty years, and until a few years past, M.
Romagne was the person by whom the functions of the clerical

character have been performed among the Penobscots and
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Passamaquoddies. He became acquainted with their language

so as to be able to converse in it, and the affectionate remem-

brance in which he is held by them is proof of the discreet

manner in which he conducted toward them. He is spoken of

as having been a faithful missionary and a man of unspotted

life. , He has been succeeded by various occasional instructors,

each of whom has discharged his duty in a manner to command
respect even from those wtio have, perhaps, some prejudices

against his doctrines, and to be very useful to the savages.

During the term of his visit among the Penobscots he lives in

their village, in a small tenement prepared and kept for the

purpose, and devotes himself to adjusting the balance of sin and

repentance, to dealing out salutary admonitions, and to perform-

ing the rites of his church and the functions of his office among
his pupils.

Such is the history of the missions and missionaries of the

catholic faith, who undertook to convert to Christianity the

natives of Maine. As far as the personal interests of the priest,

and the political one of the government, were concerned, the

consequences were equal to the means ; but the religious and

moral improvement does not seem to have been worthy to be

taken into account.

The Protestant missions among the neighboring tribes do not

appear to have terminated in a manner much more successful.

While the laborers in the vineyard of the church were prosecut-

ing their work in this unfruitful field, the immortal Eliot, the

first of Indian evangelists, was using: the most faithful exertions

to gather into the gospel fold the natives of Massachusetts. In

1649, the parliament of England, desirous of promoting the

objects of that illustrious reformer of the heathen, created a

company which acquired considerable funds, so as to be able

from its revenues to support fifteen or sixteen missionaries,

partly English and partly converted savages
;
yet all the aid of

this powerful association, with the zeal and industry of the pious

and charitable, did not save the savages from perishing by the

effects of their own vices.



XIII. ARNOLD'S LETTERS.

ON HIS EXPEDITION TO CANADA IN 1775.

The following article contains the original letters of Benedict

Arnold, while on his celebrated expedition to Quebec in the

year 1775.

It will be recollected that this officer, then a colonel in the

service of the American Colonies, was designated by Washing-

ton, to the command of a select corps, detached from the army

at Cambridge, which, by penetrating the wilds of the Kennebec,

was destined to co-operate with other forces ordered to enter

Upper Canada by the lakes, and by the capture of Quebec to

finish the campaign.

It is from a manuscript, in which the letters are preceded by

the Journal of Col. Moutresor, an officer of engineers in the

British service, containing a narrative of an exploring expedition

conducted by him from Quebec into the interior of Maine. It

was from this Journal, which fell into the hands of Arnold, that

the expedition by the Kennebec and Chaudiere rivers was first

suggested. Arnold proposed it, and to him the command was

given.

The first leaf of the manuscript is wanting; and the narrative,

as will be perceived, begins without indicating the precise point

of departure, or the year. The blanks are left as we found them

in the manuscript.

To the kindness of Col. Burr of New York, himself a volun-

teer in the expedition, we are indebted for obtaining the manu-

script. It was found originally among the papers of Arnold,

whose effects were confiscated uuder an act of the State of
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Connecticut, in the possession of the late Pierpont Edwards,
Esq., who was commissioner appointed by virtue of that act, and

on his decease it passed into the hands of Hon. Ogden Edwards
of New York, by whom it was obligingly furnished.

It will be followed by a journal of tie expedition, compiled

by a member of this society from authentic documents, containing

a full and very interesting narrative of events from the beginning

to the termination of this most adventurous and hazardous

enterprise.

MONTRESOR'S JOURNAL.

It was intended at first to embark on the river Chaudiere,

which falls into the St. Lawrence on the south side about four

miles above Quebec ; but as the rapids and falls prevent it from

being navigable for some leagues from its mouth, we were obliged

to cross the country to St. Egan or Nouvelle, eight leagues from

Quebec.

From Pt. de Peres is five miles to St. Henri, a settled village

on the banks of the river Etschemin. The river is rapid and

too shallow even for canoes. It comes from the eastward and

takes its rise not far from some of the western branches of St.

John. Leaving the Etschemin the morning of the 13th, we
struck into the woods. The country between St. Egan and St.

Henriis almost a continued swamp or savanna, and the road is

not practicable for carriages. The heat of the season, the bad-

ness of the roads, and the accidental fire in the woods altogether

came to make this a very disagreeable day. Notwithstanding

the care of the Indians, four of our canoes took fire and were

soon reduced to ashes. These accidents happen frequently from

fires left in the woods by workmen or passengers, the sparks

remaining till the wind blows them up into a flame, which, in a

dry season, rages with great fury. In coming out of the woods

we crossed the Chaudiere.

14th June. Embarked on the Chaudiere in wooden canoes,

being determined to make use of them as long as we could, and

then to make canoes of the bark of the beech or spruce till we

could find birch proper for the purpose. There are settlements
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on the banks'of the Chaudiere as far as eight leagues above St.

Egan. The river in general is deep, with ;i moderate current; it

has a few rifts, but they arc riol difficult, where there are no

islands; its breadth is from one hundred to one hundred and

fifty yards. This river, as well as all others in this frozen coun-

try, overflows its banks in the spring, on the melting of the snow,

rising to the height of twenty or twenty four feet. Except in

very dry seasons, it is practicable for light batteaux as far as ten

leagues above St. Egan. A violent storm of thunder and rain

prevented us from going farther than two leagues on tin- llth.

loth. We went near six leagues, and lay that nighl near the

last habitations; course nearly southeast. A little below, the

Chaudiere receives a pretty large river called the Bross, which

comes from the south-west. Et rises near the lake Megantic, to

which it leads in a very straight line, and the Indians BOmeti 8

prefer this way to that of the Chaudiere, which takes its rise from

the same lake, though its Btream is so shallow that they can make

but little use of canoes. As the banks of the Chaudiere hitherto

are rich and fertile, so are the woods full of the tallest and most

beautiful trees, much superior to what are usually met. with in

Canada. From the banks of the river the land rises into small

mountains, running in short chains and ridges; some of these

are to be seen from Quebec.

Eappening luckily to meet here; with some of the Abenaquis,

the natural proprietors of this country, though of late they have

forsaken it for the banks of the St. Lawrence, we bought some
birch canoes from them, by which we were enabled to pursue

our journey without stopping.

The 16th having been spent in fitting up these canoes, &c, on

the 17th we continued our course up the river and soon passed

the last settlement. After having gone about two leagues, we

came to a long and difficult rapid, which the Canadians have

distinguished by the name oi' Rapid dea Diables.

Hitherto the season has been gentle and moderate; the ascent

has nut hem considerable. Tins may be considered as the end

of the lower plain; and the second Btage of land is begun by a

long chain of rock mountains of no very great height. They
cross the river in an easterly and westerly direction, and the

Rapid des Diables lies immediately under them.
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Having passed this rapid with a great deal of difficulty, we
advanced about two leagues beyond it. The river continues

moderately rapid, but extending itself and forming many islands,

it becomes very shallow. Here we made our first encampment

in the woods on the eastern banks of the river. We had the

misfortune to see that by the dryness of the season, the waters

were very low, which must make our voyage much longer than

we had expected.

18th. Continued our voyage. As we advanced, the river

became more rocky, shallow, and rapid. It receives

or the river de Famine, which comes from the eastward, and, as

well as the river Etschemin, rises near the sources of the St.

John; above it we met with the Long Rapids, so called by the

Canadians, which we passed with much difficulty, often dragging

our canoes over rocks. Having surmounted them we came to

Principal, where the river Des Loups falls into the Chaudiere.

The route prescribed us was the river Des Loups. The appear-

ance of both was much the same, rapid, rocky, and shallow ; but

the river Des Loups was much the least considerable. The trees

most common here are the cedar and spruce, and some low

birches.

Having encamped the , the Indians went up the

banks of the river Des Loups on the 19th, that they might see

whether our canoes were likely to be of any service. After

having gone about three leagues they returned, and by their

report we found ourselves obliged to carry our canoes and

provisions along the banks of the river. In this manner we

passed the 20th, 21st, 22d, and 23d—advancing those four days

not above five leagues. The river was one continued bed of

rocks. At last, on the li4th in the morning, I arrived at the real

carrying place from the banks of this river to the Lakes of the

Highlands. There is so little water in this river, that whoever

passes this way in the summer season, except befriended by

sudden heavy showers, must expect the same fate ; but on the

melting of the snow it is no uncommon thing to go from the

Fork or crotch of the Chaudiere to the carrying place, in two

days, though the stream must then be so rapid, and the channel

is so full of rocks, that it cannot but be very difficult and

dangerous.
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On our first day's journey from the Fork, the country was as

barbarous as can be imagined. The banks were rocky and steep,

ami two leagues above the Fork it lias two falls, a small distance

from one another, where it is necessary to make a short passage.

A little higher T found here and there little intervals of land

tolerably good, especially about a league below the great carry-

ing place. The river has plenty of fish. I saw no game in the

woods, except hares and pheasants. Where the carrying place

begins, the river receive- a large brook, which rises from the

lake to which we were to bend our course. Here I left the river

Des Loups, which turns toward the south-south-westerly and

derives its source from the height of land.

The course across the carrying place was about south-easterly;

the ascent is considerable. After walking about seven miles we

crossed the brook, which having formed a kind of semi-circle

from whence we left it, meets , after which it takes a sweep

round and then returns to its first course, dividing the carrying

place into two nearly equal parts. Though the path was better

than many we met with afterward, yet we were often in danger of

losing it.

The Abenaquis, jealous of the knowledge of their country,

took care to leave but few vestiges of their route. Even here

we found but few notches on the trees, commonly called blazes,

thesavages' constant guide in the woods. We encamped the

night of the 24th nigh the Brook.

25th. Continued our route over the carrying place. The
second part of it has more ascent than the first. The woods
blocked up with fallen trees, some of them fresh, others just

crumbling to dust. The soil is loose, as is usual on a height of

land. At the end of the carrying place I discerned a steep hill,

and encamped near the source of the Brook, one of the arm- or

branches of the lake.

26th. I continued my encampment, the Indians having need

of refreshment, after a continued carrying place of four leagues.

I had my canoes repaired, which were much damaged.

:27th. I embarked, and after having passed through two
small basins divided by a narrow channel, where the current was
pretty swift, I entered the Lake and enjoyed a noble prospect,
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after having been so long confined in the woods. The lake is

about three miles in length north-east and south-west, and a little

less than one, or one and a half miles in breadth. My course

over it was easterly near the north shore. The range of mount-

ains of the height of land and

from the S. S. east shore they run from the north-east

to the south-west. As the land round the lake is high, it is

probable it has a great depth of water. We sounded to twelve

fathoms without finding any bottom. It has no known discharge

but by the route I came. Having kept along the eastern shore

the whole breadth of the lake, I entered into an arm between

the south and eastern shores, and steering to the north-east, I

soon ran our canoes ashore, and after a short search found the

carrying place. This portage, which is over a low gap or breach

of the mountains of the height of land, is not above half a mile

in length. The course of the springs is now to the southward

;

keeping my course easterly, I soon arrived on the banks of

another lake. The first of the opposite streams

that empty themselves into five

This differs much in figure from the former. It is nowhere

above half a mile in breadth, but is about four miles in length.

I paddled its whole length keeping my course south-westerly to

the south-west at the distance of sixteen miles. I had a view of

Onegnla, 1 one of the highest mountains in this part of North

America, named after who always hunted there.

From the southern extremity of this lake rises a brook which is

one of the sources of the river Penobscot, but it is too inconsid-

erable to be of any service for canoes. The portage is a little

eastward of it. This portage is a mile in length; the course

over it south-easterly ; it leads to a third lake. This lake is

divided into two large basins, separated by a narrow passage.

It is about three-quarters of a mile in length and two or three

hundred yards wide. Course over it, south 30° east. The

brook above mentioned empties itself into this lake and rises at

the extremity of it. The portage is, as before, a little

to the eastward on the left hand, and leads to the principal

branch of the river Penobscot. The descent here is very per-

ceptible. It is also to be observed that the climate and soil arc

iJ3ald Mt.
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much altered. The trees are a better sort and larger growth
;

the woods free from entangling shrubs and undergrowth. The

soil is richer and the woods more full of game. After marching

near five miles, I came to the brook and encamped on the

branches of it, near an old camp of the Abenaquis. My course

thus far was southeasterly.

28th. Continued our progress on the carrying place. The

brook formerly on our right was now become on my left. After

marching about three miles 1 arrived on the Penobscot at the

discharge of the brook. It is to be observed that all the carrying

places from the lake to this river are very difficult, the path often

being imperceptible except to the Indians: the compass, there-

fore, is absolutely necessary. I now launched my canoes into

the Penobscot, or a western branch of it, which is said to

rise from the bottom of the mountain. The river was so small

that my navigation was often interrupted, and I was obliged to

drag my canoes, although I had it supplied by opening the

Beaver dams. This is often practised and is of great use in

small rivers. The course of the Penobscot is south-easterly; it

is full of windings and rapids—has a gravelly bottom. Here I

had a second view of the mountain Onegnla, bearing westerly

about fourteen miles. After sailing thus for two leagues we
came into a tine country; the Penobscot expands itself: its waters

are deep and silent, the current very gentle; the banks are

covered with the finest trees and the country opens into most-

beautiful meadows; some of these are marshy and give large

supplies of water to the river. The country is very level, and

the woods full of bears, moose, deer, &c., as appeared by the

prints of their feet on the beach. We went down the river this

day about live leagues in all ; towards evening it underwent

another change, and now much resembles the Ohaudiere below

the Fork, rapid, rocky, and shallow. This, with a violent shower

of rain, obliged us to encamp sooner than we intended.

29th. Having gone in the morning a league further down the

river with much difficulty, we came to a carrying place. Here

the Penobscot is too rapid for canoe>, sometimes precipitating

itself eight or ten feet perpendicularly. The portage is about

two miles in length, the patli on the left hand bank, and always
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pretty near the river. After passing the portage we launched

our canoes again into the stream, but the river was still rapid,

and often so shallow that we were obliged to drag them. This

continued till we came to where the Penobscot receives a river

equal, if not superior to, itself. This branch comes from

The country here is very beautiful, and has always been a

favorite residence of the Abenaquis. When we had gone about

a league further, the Indians stopped all at once. We found

this was owing to one of them, on whose knowledge of this part

of the country we much depended. He was at a loss to know
whether we had not passed the place where we ought to leave

the Penobscot, and by the description he gave of it, such a

mistake seemed very pardonable. This obliged us to halt about

five leagues from where we set out. We sent out some Indians

to view the river, that we might be assured of our route. They

returned in the evening without having seen anything particular;

but after comparing circumstances, the Indians agreed among
themselves that the place looked for must be further down the

river; so that we determined to continue our course as before.

30th. Went into our canoes very early; for about half a

league we found the stream rapid and shallow ; we then came

into smooth and deep water. The river is extremely gentle ; its

breadth from one hundred and fifty to two hundred yards. The

country is extremely beautiful where it is cleared. The windings

of the Penobscot, with the many islands that it forms, would

afford a noble prospect. After having sailed about three leagues

we found the river divided itself into two almost equal parts to

form a large woody island. We kept close to the south shore,

and began to see the end of the island, when we came to a large,

but deep brook, which empties itself into the river. This was

the place so much sought for. We entered the brook and bade

adieu to the Penobscot. We advanced about very slowly,

clearing away the bushes which choaked up the brook, and at

length came to a beaver dam, at least ten feet high. We lifted

our canoes into the upper stream, and after having gone further,

we came to a small lake. This lake the Indians call

because it is shallow and full of and slime. At this

time, thanks to the beavers, it was pretty full. Our course over
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it was . We had no sooner landed than our guides found

out the carrying place. This lake, it is seen, has a discharge by

this brook into the Penobscot'. We were now to cross over a

small mountain, on the other side of which the streams run a

contrary way, and empty themselves into the great lake Orignal. 1

The carrying place is in length the course

over it , at the end of it we found ourselves on the banks

of a small river, into which we put the canoes. It was deep, but

so narrow that the passage was often barred up by trees fallen

across. After sailing half a mile, we entered the Orignal. and

put on shore at a small rocky island near the mouth of the river.

We were now close to the shore and near the

extremity of a large bay or arm of the lake, from to

shore was not more than

view to the east and north, was as yet bounded on the

rose into small woody hills, but to the appeared a high and

rocky mountain, which seemed about two leagues from the lake.

Behind was a ridge of high mountains, at a considerable distance,

which run from . The lake extended southerly, but we
were as yet kept from a full view of it by the points of land

which intervened. Leaving the rocky

island, we embarked, and keeping close to the shore, steered

southerly. Having gone about two miles we found ourselves

opposite to two islands. As we advanced we perceived that a

large arm of the lake had been concealed from us by the shore.

Eere it joined with that we were upon, and the breadth from

increased to about four miles. How far this arm
runs we could not know, points of land soon depriving us of the

sight of it. We went three miles further, and leaving a small

island a mile from the shore on our left hand, we landed and

encamped on a point of land covered with very tine birch ami

trees. For the birch, of the sort most valued, the banks

of this lake are particularly famous.

July 1st. Continued our voyage, and having sailed about a

league, we found ourselves opposite to the IJocky mountain.

-

We left several islands betwixt us and the shore. We had now

•Moosehead Lake. (French for elk or moose.)

-Spencer Mt.. the same as the tlsgha.
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a view of the mountain from which the lake takes its name. 1 It

resembles a moose deer in a stooping posture. As we advanced

the lake changed its figure, extending so far toward the east

that the distance from to the south shore could not be less

than eleven miles. We now stood out to sea, steering for the

point of the mountain Usgha, which we gained in an hour. The
distance was about four miles. A range of large stones which

runs out into the lake, forms here a natural harbor. 2 As we
passed along we had the pleasure of beholding at the same time

the most considerable mountains in this part of the world. The
Onegnla, which I formerly mentioned, the Panavansothill, 3 higher,

at the foot of which runs the Penobscot; the which I

shall often have occasion to mention hereafter ; the Onguea-

chonta, 4 on the banks of the Kennebec. We saw many others,

but these were most remarkable. We left the Usgha and having

passed the large island, 5 we altered our course to the

We saw the extremity of the lake toward the east ; what yet

remained lay to the south. We steered across westerly, endeav-

oring to gain the right hand shore . Here the river

Moose empties itself into the Orignal. It rises near lake Megan-

tic, and running almost parallel to the mountains of the height

of land, traverses a long tract of country, and passes

through several considerable lakes, till at last it loses itself in

lake Orignal. The Indians do not allow this, but call it the

beginning of the Arransoak, 6 tracing the Arransoak through this

and the other lakes, in the same manner as they do the St.

Lawrence through the great lakes of Canada. We passed

several islands, and after having sailed about seven miles,

stopped at a spot well deserving notice. A very narrow point

of land runs out about four hundred yards into the lake, after

which it expands itself with the most graceful regularity. It

forms a peninsula7 equally remarkable and beautiful. We had

^ineo.
2Kineo Bay.
:,Katahdin.

4On the upper part of the Kennebec.

5Fame Is.and.

6 The upper Kennebec, probably the same word as Xanrantsouac.

?Sand bar I.
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already passed one discharge of the lake. 1 This stream, after a

winding course through the woods, joins the Arransoak, and is

navigable in the spring only. Where we now were, the shores

incline to each other so much that the lake is not half a mile

over ; but they soon fall off, and the lake is ever afjter of a great

breadth. Leaving this very remarkable spot, we sailed two

miles, keeping close to the western shore. The opposite shore

m-. ailing to retire from us till, islands intervening, we lost it

altogether. We saw three large points of land, almost parallel,

running out a great way into the lako, but which of these were

islands, and which the main land, if any, was not in our power

to know. Leaving a large bay on our right, we stood over the

lake, steering south-easterly, and keeping betwixt the nearest of

these great points of land and a cluster of islands on the outside

of the bay. After having sailed about two miles we perceived

a motion or gentle descent in the waters of the lake, which

informed us of our approach to the Arransoak. This river is

considerable from its first source. Its breadth is about one hun-

dred and fifty yards; its depth more than is required for canoes.

Being used to suffer from the shallowness of the river, we re-

joiced to sec it so full of water, little expecting other difficulties

we were to meet with. Having gone a little way with great

velocity, all at once we found ourselves engaged in rapids. The
river was narrow, deep, and full of rocks. To go back or gain

the shore was equally impossible. One of the canoes was over-

set
; all the rest filled with water, but with much difficulty we

gained the shore. Our provisions being all wet and in danger of

being lost, we were obliged to encamp. We had not the conso-

lation of a better prospect before us, for along the bank, as well

as in the river, there was nothing to be seen but rocks ; the woods

filled with spruce, cedars, &c, certain marks of a country good

I'm- nothing. The descent everywhere so great, that the river

runs with vast rapidity.

July 2d. Having repaired our canoes we pursued our voyage.

After going some miles with great swiftness, without meeting

with any disaster, by the great dexterity of the Indians, we en-

tered the lakes of the Arransoak under the mountain Onguea-

'West Outlet.

•2! I
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chonta. The course of the river which had hitherto been nearly

changed to . We had here a short respite from

the rapidity of the current. The first lake is about a mile in

length and from four hundred to six hundred yards in breadth.

The second is aot so broad, but is almost two miles in length.

The Ongueachonta is a short ridge of mountains of a considerable

height. These two lakes are separated by a fall, where the river

contracts itself to fifteen yards in breadth. "We were obliged here

to make a short carrying place. "We halted about an hour on a

small island nigh thfc end of the two lakes. The island and

country all around make a most desolate appearance, and a great

part of the woods bear the marks of having been burnt. Those

who enter this lake from the river Arransoak will see two high

mountains close together and much resembling one another in

figure and shape. We were no sooner out of the second lake

than we found ourselves again in rapids. The banks of the river

are rocky and very high. We quitted the river and struck into

the woods, steering . This night encamped in the woods

at some distance from the river, after a very laborious march, for

there were hardly any marks to be found of a carrying place.

3d July. Continued the portage through the woods. After

walking about we launched the canoes into a muddy
creek in the middle of a marshy savanna. Upon this creek we
advanced miles, and opened a vast number of beaver dams,

which were of some use to us. It seems the G-overnor of Canada

had been formerly acquainted with this, and all hunters were by

his edict forbid to molest the beavers in this part of the country.

These marshes are of great extent, and are often cut by deep

gullies or pools of water. We had all along been much annoyed

by the musquitoes, but never suffered from them so much as

here. Though much fatigued we made but small progress this

day. Toward night we reached the end of the marsh, where

our muddy creek changed to a small and took its course

down the of the hill to the Arransoak. Here we encamped.

4th July. Began another portage, steering

. After having walked about two miles we descended a

steep hill and came to the river, into which we launched our

canoes. Though less confined and rapid than before, the Arran-
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soak still continued dangerous, till after having gone about three

leagues, we came to the north branch, called the river.

Here the country began to wear a better face, and the current to

be more moderate ; so that it may be looked upon as tho end of

the steep and rocky stage which prevails from this to the height

of land. The Indians told us that in the spring this river is less

difficult ; for, being then full of water, they were able to keep

close to the shore without being in the rapidity of the current.

After passing tho Fourche, 1 we went at a great rate. At sunset

encamped on the south shore. Went this day, in all, not less

than leagues.

5th July. Tho current still inclining to be rapid ; the land

mountainous, running in short ridges, like that on the Chaudiere;

the course of tho river is southerly. The country is now open

and very beautiful. The woods full of large and noble trees*

The river abounds in salmon, trout, &c. "We saw a great many

bears, moose, deer, wolves, &c, several of which we killed. Tho

river hereabouts forms many islands and receives the 2

which comes from the west. The Arransoak afterward takes a

long circuit to the east before it returns to its proper course. We
saw this day the falls of Carrartoank or Devil's Falls, 3 where it

contracts itself to a few yards in breadth and shoots about

twelve or fifteen feet perpendicular.

July 6th. After having gone about we came to a

deep fall, where begins a carrying place of about two miles in

length, the river being too rapid for canoes. This bears tho

name of tho Falls of Arransoak, from a village 4 of the Abcna-

quis so called by them in the beginning of the war. It is on the

left hand shore half a mile below tho rapids. Opposite to this

village the Arransoak receives a large river. 5 It now makes a

noble appearance, very broad and deeper than any we havo yet

met with. Its current is very gentlo to the Nino Mile Falls; 6

' The Fork-.

2 Seven^Iile Brook, or Carrabasset river.

3 In Enibden.

4 Norridgewoek.

5 Sandy river.

c Skowhegan,
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here it precipitates itself with great fury over high rocks, and

being confined by high rocky banks, runs a quarter of a mile

with vast rapidity, below which it forms a large basin, and then

directs its course to the south. We encamped on an island half

a league below the falls.

July 7th. Continued our voyage, and after sailing about three

leagues with much difficulty, the river being often very shallow

and rapid, we came to Ticonic Falls, which are immediately

above Fort Halifax. 1 We left our canoes above the falls and

went into the fort. Fort Halifax was built by Mr. Shirley in

1754, to awe the Indians and to cover the. frontiers of New Eng-

land. It stands on the east branch of the river at the

of the into the Arransoak. It is square ; its defence-

a bad palisade by two block houses, in which there are

some guns mounted, but as the fort is entirely commanded by a

rising ground behind it, they have been obliged to erect two other

block houses and to clear the woods for some distance around.

They are capable of making a better defence, and it must be

confessed that either of them are more than sufficient against

an enemy who has no other offensive weapons than small arms-

The fort is garrisoned by a company of New-Englanders and

supplied from the settlement below. The tide brings sloops as

far as Fort Western, six leagues below Fort Halifax. From this

fort to where the Kennebec empties itself into the sea, a little

eastward of Casco Bay, is about forty-one miles. We continued

here at Fort Halifax two days to refresh ourselves and renew

our provisions. That done, on the evening of the 9th, we

remounted the river about two leagues. 10th, 11th, 12th, con-

tinued to go up the river. Through the excessive heat and

dryness of the season, the waters are visibly decreased.

13th. We had now remounted the river about twenty-three

leagues and drew very nigh the great Fourche. We came this

day to where we were to begin our portage across the country

westerly to the western branch of Kennebec river, called the

Dead river, which western branch

. The before it joins the

eastern branch of the Kennebec, has a great many windings, is

1 At Waterville.
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full of islands, shallow, and rapid. To avoid these inconveniences

it is usual to carry the canoes through the woods till you

meet the river, where it is of great depth and its current

hardly perceivable. This portage is divided by three different

lakes, each of which is to be passed before you can arrive at the

Dead river, so called, being the western branch of the Kennebec.

It has been formerly mentioned that, although the French made
use of the eastern road to go into New England, yet this was

always looked upon, both by them and the English, as the most

eligible road to enter Canada. In order, therefore, to make

these portages more remarkable, wo took care to blais all the

portages from the Kennebec to Lake Megantic in such a

manner as to make the way much less difficult for whoever may
follow us. A little above the portage a remarkable brook falls

into the river, which forms the first or nearest lake.

July 14th. Wo took leave of the Arransoak or Kennebec

river, and early in the morning entered tho woods, advancing

but slowly, the way being difficult to find, the ascent very great,

and the weather sultry. Our course was

. After walking about eight miles, we came to the first

lake it is the least considerable of the three, not

being above sis hundred yards in length and four hundred in

breadth. Our course over it was . "We entered on

the second portage, steering and in an hour came

to another lako . This extends itself about

three-fourths of a mile from but of no great

breadth. Our course over it was . When we

came to the other side we paddled through the rushes to the

mouth of a largo creek, into which we went. After carrying us

about five hundred yards it took a second sweep to the right,

inclining backward toward the lake. Here we landed and after

a long search found the portage. No nation having been more

jealous of their country than the Abcnaquis, they have made it a

constant rule to leave the fewest vestiges of their route. The

course over this portage is . As it is not long,

we soon came to the Third Lake. We had made a long and

fatiguing march; the night came on, the weather threatening, so

that we made no attempt to pass over, but encamped.
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15th. Next morning set out early. The lake seemed to be in

breadth and in length extending from the

opposite bank. The land rose to a ridge of hills, over which

appeared the mountain rising to a great height. As
we passed the lake we were overtaken by a heavy shower; what

was more disagreeable, we could find on shore no marks of

a portage. In vain we coasted along the lake and examined

every opening ; we were obliged to send Indians into the woods,

and it was not till after a long search that they found any way.

Our course over the lake was . Our course now over

the portage was . We ascended the hill,

the portage conducting through the gap or breach. Its whole

length cannot be less than . After descending we

winded a long time along the foot of the hill, till we came at last

to a low savanna, where we halted. The brooks were all dry

from the excessive heat of the season. After crossing this

savanna, we continued our course through the woods till we
arrived at a second, more swampy than the first. This gave rise

to a large brook into which we put our canoes. We followed

the stream, which in a few minutes brought us to the river.

This noble river 1 more than answered our expectation. We
found it about sixty yards in breadth, uniformly deep and gentle

in its current. The land on both shores is rich and beautiful,

and by the prints on the sand, must be full of game. We were

now very near the mountains from which this river takes its

name, but we had not gone far, when a violent shower obliged

us to encamp.

July 16th, Continued our voyage; course for two leagues

nearly . We had now passed the mountain, but the

river, by its extraordinary windings, seemed unwilling to leave it.

Two hours passed away and we had gained nothing in our course,

but at last by slow degrees it became more regular and returned

to its proper course. When we had gone about four leagues

we found the river parted into two branches, the chief of which

we left on the left hand. 2 It comes from . The

other which we followed has a few rifts a little above the Fork,

^ead river.

2South Branch.
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but the river soon became deep and gentle as before, though ita

breadth is greatly diminished.

July 17th. We gained this day four leagues further up the

river. We had more difficulty than before, as we met with two

falls and some rapids, though not considerable.

18th. The river being extremely diminished, we divided;

some striking into the woods, the others leading the canoes up

the shallow rapids. After having gone about two leagues with

much fatigue, we launched the canoes into a largo beaver dam,

which leads into the first lake of . These lakes 1

are of a great depth and entirely surrounded with mountains.

The first is about half a mile in length, but of a very small

breadth. In one place, where it contracts itself, the current is

easily percivable. The further end is marshy. Here we again

found the brook, and after haviug gone on it about a quarter of

a mile, we came to the second lake. This is larger than the first,

though little different in appearance from it. Wo had a view of

the mountains of the height of land. After passing these lakes

the is no more than a small brook. We continued to lead

our canoes in it, till at length we arrived at the long looked for

portage. Here the river turns off to the although

a rivulet which falls into it here, springs from lakes I have yet to

mention. The appearance of the country here, though inferior

to what it was below, is still very beautiful. We were now

four leagues from lake Megantic, and divided from it by the

height of land ; but though we could have no further assistance

from rivers, we had still a chain of lakes to conduct us the great

part of the way.

July 10th. Set out very early. Just by us we found a small

lake bearing from the portage . Having passed

it, we agaiir entered on the carrying place. Our course was

. After walking about we came to a very

beautiful lake about seven hundred yards in length and two

hundred and seventy in breadth. The brook which falls into

passes through it. Leaving the brook, which has a

cascade, on our right hand, a portage of five hundred yards

brought us to another lake. This is much smaller, its form very

l Cliain Lakes.
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regular, the shore rocky. We passed over and landed at the

mouth of the same brook, to the source of which we now drew

nigh. A short portage brought us to the last and most consid-

erable lake. 1 "We entered on it nigh the source of the brook
;

it is about three-fourths of a mile in length and almost five

hundred yards wide. Our course over it carried us its full

length. Bidding adieu to the southern waters, we entered on

the portage to the height of land. Our course was nearly

the ascent very considerable. After walking two miles we
gained the greatest height and begun to descend. Three miles

further brought us to a low, swampy ground, where the river

Megantic 2 takes its rise. We were here a long time at a loss for

the path but at last happily found it. Having crossed a large

brook we came into a most beautiful meadow, much excelling

any we had yet seen, and still more beautiful from the disagree-

able tract we had just left. Keeping a course we soon

arrived on the banks of the river Megantic. It is only a large

brook, but the descent being very gentle, the canoes made good

progress. The New Englanders who measured this carrying

place, call it a little more than four and a half miles. This must

be understood only from the last lake to the river Megantic

;

though even that did not seem less to us than six miles. The

Megantic, about two miles from where we entered on it, receives

a large brook coming from the . It soon becomes

a considerable river, and though not so large, yet in depth

resembling the . The meadow still continues,

and it and the river are mutual ornaments to each other, but

cannot surpass the beauties which nature has here been lavish of.

The Megantic, deep, gentle, full of beautiful meadows, though

without the wildness of those of the river;

the soil, fertile to the greatest degree, no trees to be seen but

oak, the ash, but most frequently knots of beautiful elms. This

beautiful prospect continued with little variation for some miles,

but we lost it by degrees as we approached the lake. We
had gone down the river about four miles, when night overtook

us; but being resolved to reach the lake, wo still pushed on.

•Moose Horn Lake.

'Arnold's river.
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Two miles more and wo entered the hike Megantic. Our guides

kept still rowing and passed over to the opposite shore, where

we encamped.

July 20th. We now found ourselves on the lake, second in

greatness to the Orignal. Before we embarked we examined, as

Well as wo could, what appeared most remarkable. The Megantic

extends from to . We were now

near the extremity of it, over which a

small mountain, round at the top, is very easy to be distinguished.

The mouth of the river Megantic bore from as

The land near it is very low. The breach of land where we
passed the night bore . The chain of

mountains which compose the height of land appeared irregular,

none of them of great height. The land rises by a very gentle

ascent from the shore on all sides of the lake ; no steep, rocky

mountains to be seen as on the Orignal. We embarked on the

i
lake, keeping nigh the left hand shore. It is here upwards of a

mile in breadth. After we had gone five miles we found the

lake increased much in breadth. Soon after it takes a sweep to

the left, and we lost sight of the height of land. Finding the

lake run out on the left into a large bay, we passed over to the

opposite shore. As we approached this shore we observed this

lake from another bay to the
, over

which appeared a mountain, remarkable because it is single.

We were now near the disehargo of the lake,

and kept close to the right hand shore. After a little time we
arrived at the source of the Ghaudiere. As near as we could

judge we had sailed on the lake about thirteen miles. We
halted some time at the source of the Ghaudiere and caught a

number of fish, which this river is famous for. Over the

bay we had a view of a chain of high and rugged

mountains running from . Behind

these are the lakes from whence the Sagadahoc, the St. Francis,

and other remarkable rivers take their rise. From the source of

the Chaudiere they bore .*

' The Rev. Mr. Ballard, having carefully traced the route of Col. Men
tresor in Maine, lias furnished the following explanation of the terms and

places mentioned in the Journal:

'•I have carefully traced Col. Montresor*s route, and think that he
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entered Maine from the Chaudiere and its branch Des Loups or Du Loup,

by Portage Lake in Canada, and across the dividing ridge into Lake
Penobscot, and the connected lakes, by portages into the S. W. Branch of

the Penobscot, to the falls (29th day) in the new township of Pittston,

and soon after to the junction of the S. W. and N. W. branches of the

Penobscot. The next day they came to the Seboomook, in the township of

the same name, a short stream rising in a lake, and by means of both, across

to what is now called the "N. W. Carry," and so to the " N. W. arm of the

lake" (Moosehead).

Thus far it is quite plain, and I could delineate it more accurately on the

large map of Somerset Co.

July 1. Opposite Spencer Mt., pointed, rocky, and barren, and saw the

Moose Mountain, Kineo. For Usgha see further on.

The " very narrow point of land running out about four hundred yards,

and making a peninsula," must be " Land Bar I," which is now a peninsula

at a low stage of water, and was so before the dams were built. The west

outlet is easily recognized. The three large points of land (p. 457.) were

the northern parts of Deer and Sugar Islands, and the western point of

township A. He could not distinguish whether they were islands or main

land. Thence to the S. W. outlet,—the upper Kennebec,—and the rapids,

where now is a dam.

The mountains:— Oncgnla was seen when he was going southerly from the

head lakes of the Penobscot—probably before him. (p. 452 ) Again it

was seen in a westerly direction, after he had descended the river several

miles, and these views indicate that he saw "Bald Mountain."

The Panavansot Hill is Katahdin, "at the foot of which runs the Penob-

scot." Panaransot should be Panawanscot, as the Abenaki did not use v,

and this is the present name given by the Oldtown Indians to their place, in

this form, " Panawamskik," and Rale* much the same. This "hill" there-

fore is the hill on the river that runs by Oldtown. It can be seen in the

upper part of the lake.

The Usgha is on the easterly side of the lake, because after leaving it and

the bay on the north and west part of Day's Academy Grant, he proceeded

" westerly" toward Moose R. I therefore take the Usgha to be one of the

same group as the Rocky Mt. (p. 455.) which must be Spencer Mt., to which

the description will well apply.

Ongueaehonta denotes the mountains on the east side of the upper Kenne-

bec, near the dams, of which Squaw Mt. appears to be a part, as seen from

the lake. Perhaps he took the name Usgha from the name of this Mt.

Esquato, a girl, or the settlers may have changed the application in an oppo-

site way.

* Pahnagahbskek.
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Fort Western, 27th September, 1775.

To his Excellency General Washington,

May it j)lease your Excellency :

I have ordered James McCormick, the criminal condemned

for the murder of Reuben Bishop, on board the schooner Broad

Bay, Capt. Olarkson, with directions for him to be delivered to

Capt. Moses Nowell, at Newburyport, who has orders to send

him to your Excellency. The criminal appears to be very simple

and ignorant; and in the company ho belonged to, had the

character of being a peaceable fellow. His place of residence is

North Yarmouth, was drafted out of Col. Seamman's regiment,

Capt. Hill's company, where his character may bo fully known.

I wish he may be found a proper object of mercy; and am
With the greatest respect,

Your excellency's most obed't humble servt.

B. Arnold.

Fort Western, 27th Sept. 1775.

To Capt. Moses Nowell:

Sir—You are hereby ordered to receive from Capt. .Tames

Clarkson, one James McCormick, a criminal condemned for the

murder of Reuben Bishop, and him safely convey under a proper

guard, to his excellency Gen. Washington at Head Quarters.

I am your humble servt.

B. Arnold.
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Fort Western, 28th Sept., 1775.

Mr. Nathaniel Tracy :

• Dear Sir—This will be handed you by Capt. Clarkson, who
will acquaint you with the particulars of our voyage, which has

been very troublesome indeed. To Capt, Clarkson I am under

many obligations for his activity, vigilance, and care of the

whole fleet, both on our passage and since our arrival here ; for

which he may very possibly be blamed by some of the other

captains ; but he has really merited much, and it will always

give me sensible pleasure to hear of his welfare and success, as

I think him very deserving.

I must embrace this opportunity to acknowledge the many
favors' received from you at Newbury—and am with my best

respects to Mrs. Tracy, your brother, and Mr. Jackson, &c.

Dear Sir, yours &c.

B. Arnold.

Fort Western, 29th Sept. 1775.

Lt. Col. Enos :

Sir—You will forward on Capts. Williams and Scott's com-

panies, with the remainder of Capt. McCobb's and any others

left behind, as fast as possible. Order them to follow the route

of the army and join at Chaudiere pond. You will bring up

the rear and order on all stragglers, except those sick, which you

will send on boai*d the Broad Bay, Capt. Clarkson. Leave two

or three men with the Commissary to assist him, and hurry on

as fast as possible without fatiguing the men too much. Bring

on with you all the carpenters of Capt. Colburn's company, and

as much provision as the batteaux will carry. When the

Indians arrive, hurry them on as fast as possible.

I am Sir, your humble servt.

B. Arnold.

Fort Western, 29th Sept. 1775.

Capt. Farnsworth

:

S IR—You will forward on all the provisions here as fast as

possible to Fort Halifax, and such as the batteaux carry on,

order stored there. You will have two or three people left to
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assist you. The sick you will order on board the Broad Bay,

Capt. Clarkson, to bo returned to Newbury. The at

Colburn's secure, and leave until, the event of this expedition is

known. Forward on all the new batteaux, poles, oars, pitch,

nails, &c, that are or shall be procured, and as soon as you can,

join the detachment. Leave particular directions with Mr.

Howard to take care of the goods left.

1 am Sir, your huniblo servt.

B. Arnold.

Dead River, about 1G0 miles from Quebec, Oct. 13, 177.").

Dear Sir—T am now on my march for Quebec with about

2000 men, where I expect to have the pleasure of Beeing you

soon. This detachment is designed to co-operate with General

Schuylerto frustrate the unjust and arbitrary measures of tho

ministry, and restore liberty to our brethren of Canada, to whom
we make no doubt our exertions in their favor will be accepta-

ble; and that we shall have their assistance, or at least their

friendly wishes, as the expedition is undertaken at the request

of many of their principal inhabitants. I beg the favor of you on

receipt of this, which will be delivered you by one Eneas, a

faithful Indian, that you would immediately write me by him of

the disposition of the Canadians, the number of troops in Quebec,

by whom commanded, and every advice you have received from

Gen. Schuyler, and the situation of matters in general, what ships

are at Quebec, and, in short, what we have to expect from the

Canadians and merchants in the city. Whether any advice has

been received of the march of this detachment. If any gentle-

man of my acquaintance will undertake to meet mo on the road,

he will be received with pleasure and handsomely rewarded.

The enclosed letter to Gen. Schuyler, I beg the favor of you

to forward by express, which charge shall be reimbursed you

with thankfulness.

I am, with much esteem, dear Sir,

Your friend and very humble servt.

B. Arnold.

John Manir, Esq., or in his absence to

Captain Wm. Gregory, or

Mr. John Maynard.
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Dead Eiver, 160 miles from Quebec, Oct. 13, 1775.

Dear Sir—I make no doubt his excellency Gen. "Washington

has advised you of his ordering me, with a detachment of the ar-

my at Cambridge, to march against Quebec; in consequence of

which I left Cambridge on the 13th of September, and after a very

fatiguing and hazardous march over a rough country up the

Kennebec river, against a very rapid stream, through an unin-

habited country, and meeting with many other difficulties which

we have happily surmounted, we have at last arrived at the

Dead River, which we have examined to Chaudiere pond ; and

hope in a fortnight of having the pleasure of meeting you in

Quebec. Any intelligence or advice you can communicate will

be gratefully received, as this detachment was intended to co-

operate with your army.

I am, with much esteem, dear Sir,

Your most obed't humble servt.

B. Arnold.

To the hVble Major General and
Commander in Chief of the Northern Army.

October 13, 1775.

Lieut. Steel:

Sir—I have sent the bearer and another Indian to Quebec

with letters, and must have John Hall, as he speaks French, to

go to Sartigan with them, and get all the intelligence he possibly

can in regard to the number of troops there, the disposition of

the Canadians, and advice from Gen. Schuyler. When he

arrives at Sartigan, he must employ some Frenchmen, that can

be depended on, to go to Quebec with the Indians, to deliver

their letter and to get an answer; for which purpose I have sent

twenty dollars for him to take. Desire him to caution the

Indians not to let any one know of our march, but to sound the

inhabitants and find out how they stand affected, and whether our

coming would be agreeable to them. If he does not choose to

go alone, you must send a man with him, and both must return

to us at Chaudiere pond as soon as possible; taking particular

notice of the river, whether our batteaux can pass down.

I am Sir, your humble servant,

B. Arnold.
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the Dea
Oct. 13,

Second Portage from Kennebec to the Dead River, )

5, 1775. $

May it please your Excellency,

A person going down the river presents the first opportunity I

have had of writing your excellency since I left Fori Western;

since which we have had a very fatiguing time. The men in

general, not understanding batteaux, have been obliged to wade

and haul them for more than half way up the river. The last

division is just arrived except a few batteaux. Three divisions

are over the first carrying place, and as the men are in high

spirits, I make no doubt of reaching the Chaudiere river in eight

or ten days; the greatest difficulty being, I hope, already past.

We have now with US about twenty-live days' provisions for the

whole detachment, consisting of about nine hundred and fifty

effective men. I intended making an exact return, but must

<\rl\'\- it until I come to Chaudiere. I have ordered the commis-

sary to hire people acquainted with the river, and forward on

the provisions left behind (about 100 barrels) to the Great Carry-

ing place to secure our retreat. The expense will be considerable,

but when set in competition with the lives or liberty of so many

brave men, I think it trifling, and if we succeed, the provisions

will not be lost.

I have had no intelligence from Gen. Schuyler or Canada, and

expect none until I reach Chaudiere pond, where I expect a

return of my express, and to determine my plan of operation
;

which, as it is to be governed by circumstances, I can say no

more than if we are obliged to return, I believe we shall have a

sufficiency of provisions to reach this place, where the supply

ordered the commissary to send forward, will enable us to

return on our way home so far that your excellency will be able

to relieve us. If we proceed on we shall have sufficient stock to

reach the French inhabitants, when we can be supplied, if not

Quebec.

I am with the greatest respect,

Your excellency's most obed't h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

P. S. Your excellency may possibly think we have boon

tardy in our march, as we have gained so little; but when you
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consider the badness and weight of the hatteaux, and the large

quantity of provisions, &c, we have
v
been obliged to force up

against a very rapid stream, where you would have taken the

men for amphibious animals, as they were great part of the time

under water ; add to this the great fatigue in portage, you will

think I have pushed the men as fast as could possibly have been.

The officers, volunteers, and privates, have in general acted with

the greatest spirit and industry.

Inclosed is a copy of my journal, which T fancied your excel-

lency might be glad to see.

Second Carrying-place, Oct. 14, 1775.

Col. Farnsworth :

Sir—I wrote you on the road here to send forward to the

great carrying-place all the provisions, and for that purpose to

hire men on the river well acquainted with setting up. I havo

thought proper to write you again for fear my former letter

should have miscarried. You will hurry on the provisions as

fast as possible. We have now about twenty-five days' allow-

ance. Hope before that is gone to be in Quebec. However, I

think it necessary to have the provisions forwarded on, that our

retreat may be secured in case of any accident.

I am Sir, your h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

i

Third Carrying-place, Oct. 15, 1775.

Dear Sir—I forgot to desire you to send on the yoke of oxen

to Dead River, as soon as can be, for I intend killing them there

for the whole detachment. Your proposal in regard to Mr.

North will be agreeable to me, if it is so to the detachment; but

I am at a loss whether they will be fond of having an officer

introduced not belonging to the detachment. "When wo arrive

at the Dead River, will determine that matter, where you will

hurry as fast as possible. There I design holding a council of

war, and expect particular advice from Canada.

I am Sir, your most h'ble serv't.

Lt. Col. Enos. B. Arnold.
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Third Carrying-place, Oct. 15, 1775.

Dear Sir—Yours of yesterday was this moment delivered

to me. I had just wrote you in regard to Mr. North, and to

forward on the oxen, &c. When I loft the Carrying Place, I

expected to have found some subaltern unwell, who might have

been detained with fifteen or twenty men who were feeble and

not so well able to proceed, yet capable of taking care of the

sick, provisions, &c. If none such is sent back before you leavo

the carrying-place, you must order some subaltern to remain

there, and have a batteaux at each lake. Give him orders to

send the sick down, and take particular care of tho batteaux left

behind. The three first divisions have twenty-five days' provision,

which will carry them to Chaudiore pond and back, where wo
shall doubtless have intelligence, and shall be ablo to proceed or

return as shall be thought best. Give tho officer who stays

behind orders to send down the river and secure the batteaux a

drift. I am dear Sir, your h'ble serv't.

Col. Roger Enos. B. Arnold.

On tho Dead River, 20 miles above tho Portage, )

Oct. 17, 1775. ]

Dear Sir—I arrived here last night late, and find Col. Green's

division very short of provisions; tho whole having only four

barrels flour and ton barrels of pork. I have therefore ordered

Major Bigelow, a Lieut., and thirty-one men out of each com-

pany, to return and meet your division, and bring up as much
provisions as you can spare, which is to bo divided equally

among tho three ; in particular of flour. This will lighten tho

rear, and they will be able to make greater dispatch and will bo

no hindrance, as I shall keep the men here making up cartridges.

I make no doubt you will hurry on as fast as possible.

I am with esteem dear Sir,

Your h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

. N. B. If you find your men much fatigued and this party

can bring on more of your provision than their share, let them

have it ;—you shall have it again when you come up, and it will

30
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forward the whole. The carpenters of Colburn's company have

more than they can bring up.

Oct. 17, 1775.

Major Bigelow :

Sir—you are as soon as possible to go back until you meet

Col. Enos's division, and take from him as much provision as he

can spare, which you will return with as soon as you can. Leave

your batteaux this side of the carrying place, and one man to

take care of the whole. I am Sir, your h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

Dead Eiver, 30 miles from Chaudiere Pond, Oct. 24, 1775.

Dear Sir—The extreme rains and freshets in the river have

hindered our proceeding any farther. When I wrote you last,

I expected before this to have been at Chaudiere. I then wrote

you that we had about twenty-five days' provisions for the whole.

"We are now reduced to twelve or fifteen days, and don't expect

to reach the pond under four days. We have had a council of

war last night, when it was thought best, and ordered, to send

back all the sick and feeble with three days' provisions, and

directions for you to furnish them until they can reach the

commissary or Norridgewock ; and that on receipt of this you

should proceed with as many of the best men Of your division

as you can furnish with fifteen days' provision ; and that the

remainder, whether sick or well, should be immediately sent back

to the commissary, to whom I wrote to take all possible care of

them. I make no doubt you will join with me in this matter, as

it may be the means of preserving the whole detachment, and of

executing our plan without running any great hazard, as fifteen

days will doubtless bring us to Canada. I make no doubt you

will make all possible expedition.

I am dear Sir, your's

Col. Enos. D. Arnold.

Dead Eiver, 24th Oct. 1775.

Dear Sir—The heavy rains which have lately fallen and

rendered the river almost impassable, with many accidents, have
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so far retarded our proceeding, that I find it necessary for the

safety of the detachment, to send back the sick, and to reduce

the detachment so as to leave fifteen days' provisions for the

whole, which I make no doubt will enable us to reach Canada.

Those who are sent back you will take all possible care of, and

supply with provisions, &c. and send back to Cambridge as soon

as possible.

I wrote to you the 11th instant to send forward to the Great

Carrying-place all the provisions you had. This I make no

doubt you have done, to secure our retreat.

I am dear Sir, your obed't serv't.

B. Arnold.

Dead River, 30 milos from Chaudiore, Oct. 24, 1775.

Dear Sir—Enclosed is a letter from Col. Enos, and also one

from the commissary, by which you will see our present situa-

tion and the necessity of sending back all the sick and feeble of

your division, and proceeding on with the best men, and fifteen

days' provisions for each. You will, after perusing the letter,

(if Col. Enos has not joined you,) send them down the river, with

all your sick, &c. Pray hurry on as fast as possible.

I am with esteem dear Sir,

Your h'ble serv't.

Col. Green. B. Arnold.

Oct. '27, 1775, 2 1-2 miles on the Great Carrying-place.

Gentlemen—I arrived here late last night. Capt. Hanchet

informs me the roads through the woods are well spotted, and

not so bad but men will make greater despatch than by water.

The carrying-places from lake to lake are so many and difficult,

that I think the whole will get forward much sooner by leaving

all the battcaux. If there are any people sick, you will perhaps

be under a necessity of bringing on some battcaux. We are

new near by the stream which is about six miles to the lake. I

believe the walking hero is pretty, good, if you go a little back

from the stream. When you arrive at the lake the walking is

very good; the. land rises gently with a good road, I am told

good all the way down.
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I have heard nothing from Jackson. Lieut. Steele has gone

over the pond. His party are here and most of them going

forward. I shall proceed with what men I have as fast as

possible, to the inhabitants, to send back provisions. Pray make

all possible despatch, I am Gent, your h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

To CoVs Green, Enos, and the

Captains in the rear of the detachment.

Chaudiere Pond, 27th Oct., 1775.

May it %>leasc your Excellency,

My last, of the 13th inst. from the Portage to the Dead River,

advising your excellency of our proceedings, I make no doubt

you have received. I then expected to have reached this place

by the 24th, but the excessive heavy rains and bad weather

have much retarded our march. I have this minute arrived here

with seventy men, and met a person on his return, whom I sent

down some time since to the French inhabitants. He informs

me they appear very friendly, and by the best information he

could get, will very gladly join us. He says they informed him

Gen. Schuyler had had a battle with the regular troops at or

near St. Johns, in which the latter lost in killed and wounded,

near 500
;

(this account appears very imperfect) and that there

wero few or none of the king's troops at Quebec, and no advice

of our coming.

Three days since, I left the principal part of the detachment

about three leagues below the Great Carrying-place ; and as our

provisions were short, by l'eason of losing a number of loaded

batteaux at the falls and rapid waters, I ordered all the sick and

feeble to return, and wrote Col's Enos and Green to bring on in

their divisions no more men than they could furnish with fifteen

days' provisions, and to send back the remainder to the commis-

sary. As the roads prove much worse than I expected, and the

season may possibly be severe in a few days, I am determined to

set out immediately with five batteaux and about fifteen men, for

Sartigan, which I expect to reach in three or four days, in order

to procure a supply of provisions and forward back to tho
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detachment : the whole of which I don't expect will reach them

in less than eight or ten clays. If I find the enemy are not

apprised of our coming, and there is any prospect of surprising

the city, I shall attempt it as soon as I have a proper number of

men up. If I should be disappointed in my prospect that way,

I shall wait the arrival of the whole and endeavor to cut off

their communication with Gov. Carleton, who," I am told, is at

Montreal.

Our march has been attended with an amazing deal of fatigue,

which the officers and men have borne with cheerfulness. I have

been much deceived in every account of our route, which is

longer, and has been attended with a thousand difficulties I

never apprehended; but if crowned with success and conducive

to the public good, I shall think it but trifling.

I am with the greatest respect,

Your excellency's most obed't h'ble serv't.

13. Arnold.

P. S. As soon as I can get time, shall send your excellency

a continuation of my journal. b. a.

Chaudiere Rpver, 27th Oct. 1775.

To the field officers and captains in the detachment

:

N. D. To be sent on, that the whole may see it.

Gentlemen7—I have this minute arrived here and met my
express from the French inhabitants, who, he tells me, are

rejoiced to hear we are coming, and that they will gladly supply

us with provisions. He says there are few or no regulars at

Quebec, which may be easily taken. 1 have just met Lt's.

Steele and Church, and are determined to proceed as fast as

possible with four batteaux and fifteen men to the inhabitants,

and send back provisions as soon as possible. I hope to be

there in three days, as my express tells me wo can go most of

the way by water. You must all of you keep the oast side of

the Lake. You will find only one small river until you i-each

the crotch, which is just above the inhabitants. 1 hope in six

days from this time to havo provisions half way up the river.

Pray make all possible despatch.
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If any companies on their arrival at the river have more than

four or five days' provisions, let it be despatched to others, or

left for their coming on. I am Gent, your h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

P. S. The bearer, Isaac Hull, I have sent back in order to

direct the people in coming from the Great Carrying-place to

Chaudiere Pond. From the west side of the Great Carrying-

place, before they come to the Meadows, strike off to the right

hand and keep about a north and by east course, which will

escape the low swampy land and save a very great distance ,•

and about six miles will bring you to the pond. By no means

keep the brook, which will carry you into a swamp, out of which

it will be impossible for you to get.

Chaudiere Pond, 27th Oct., 1775.

To Col Enos :

Dear Sir—Forward on the enclosed letter to his excellency

Gen. Washington by express. If you have any officer who is

not hearty and well, send him ; and give orders to take particular

care of the sick and those who are returning, as well as of any

other matters that are necessary. I hope soon to see you in

Quebec, and am, Dear Sir, your humble servant.

B. Arnold.

Sartigan, Oct. 31, 1775.

Gentlemen.—I have now sent forward for the use of the

detachment., five bbls. and two tierces aud five hundred lbs. of

flour by Lieut. Church, Mr. Barrin, and eight Frenchmen, and

shall immediately forward on more, as far as the falls. Those

who have provisions to reach the falls will let this pass on for

the rear; and those who want will take sparingly as possible,

that the whole may meet with relief. The inhabitants received

us kindly, and appear friendly in offering us provisions, &c.

Pray make all possible despatch.

I am Gent, yours &c.

Officers of the Detachment. B. Arnold.
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Sartigan, 1st Nov., 1775.

Dear Sir—As I make no doubt of your being hearty in the

cause of liberty and your country, I have taken the liberty to

inform you that I have just arrived here with a large detach-

ment of the American army. I have several times on my march

wrote you by the Indians, some of whom have returned and

brought no answer. I am apprehensive they have betrayed me
This will be delivered you by on whose

secrecy you may depend. I beg the favor of you, on receipt of

this, to write me by the bearer the number of troops in Quebec

and Montreal ; how the French inhabitants stand affected ; if

any ships of war are at Quebec, and any other intelligence you

may judge necessary for me to know. I find the inhabitants

very friendly this way, and make no doubt they are the same

with you. I hope to see you in Quebec in a few days. In the

meantime I should take it as a particular favor if some one or

two of my friends would meet me on the road, and that you

would let me know if the enemy are apprised of our coming.

Also the situation that General Schuyler is in.

Your compliance will much oblige, dear Sir,

Your friend and humble serv't,

B. Arnold.

Sartigan, 1st Nov., 1775.

To Major Meigs :

Dear Sir—You may let each captain have about twenty or

thirty dollars out of the money I gave you, as I suppose they

will want a little pocket money for present use, and to supply

their men. Keep a particular account of what you deliver and

to whom.

Pray hurry on as fast as possible. I am just preparing to go
down the river to make further provision for the army.

I am dear Sir, your h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

St. Mart's, 4 leagues from Point Levi, Nov. 7, 1775.

Dear Sir—I wrote you the 13th of October, from the Dead
River, advising you of my being there, with a large detachment
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of the American army ; and that I expected to reach Quebec in

about a fortnight. The badness of the roads and weather

prevented making the despatch I expected, and I am but just

arrived here. Near one third of the detachment returned from

the Dead River short of provisions. The remainder are here or

within two days' march, and in good spirits. My letter of the

13th I sent by an Indian, who I believe has betrayed me, and

given it up to some of the king's officers, as I find they have

been some time apprised of our coming, and prepared to receive

us, and I have received no answer. The canoes belonging to

the French people on this side the river, are all taken away or

destroyed to prevent our passing. This inconvenience is obvi-

ated, as we have those of our own. I am informed there are

two frigates lying before Quebec. "We have been very kindly

received by the inhabitants, who appear very friendly, and

willing to supply us with provisions. I intend crossing the St.

Lawrence if possible, in two or three days, and if practicable to

attack the city; though I am fearful of their being reinforced

from Montreal, which may possibly put it out of my power :

in which case I intend to march for Montreal, where I hope, if

you have not already taken possession, I shall have the pleasure

of seeing you. I make no doubt of every advice and assistance

in your power.

I am dear Sir, very respectfully,

Your most humble servant,

B. Arnold.

St. Marie, 2 1-2 leagues from Point Levi, Nov. 8, 1775.

Dear Sir—Your favor of the 29th ult. I received at 1 o'clock

this morning, which gave me much pleasure. I heartily con-

gratulate you on your success thus far. I think you had great

reason to be apprehensive for me, the time I mentioned to Gen.

Washington being so long since elapsed. I was not then

apprised or even apprehensive of one half of the difficulties we

had to encounter; of which I cannot at present give you

a particular detail : can only say we have hauled our batteaux

over falls, up rapid streams, over carrying-places ; and marched

through morasses, thick woods, and over mountains, about three
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hundred and twenty miles; many of which wo had to pasa

several times to bring our baggage. These difficulties the

soldiers have, with the greatest fortitude, surmounted. About

two thirds of the detachment are, happily, arrived here and

within two days' inarch; most of them in good health and

spirits. The other part with Col. Enoa returned from the Dead

River, contrary to my expectation, he having orders to send back

only the sick, and those that could not be furnished with provis-

ions. I wrote to Gen. Schuyler, the loth of October, by an

Indian, I thought trusty, enclosed to my friend in Quebec; and

as I have had no answer from either, and he pretends being

taken at Quebec, I make no doubt he has betrayed his trust,

which I am confirmed in, as I find they have, been some time

apprised of our coming in Quebec, and have destroyed all the

canoes at Point Levi, to prevent our passing. This difficulty

will be obviated by birch canoes, as we have about twenty of

them with forty savages who have joined us, and profess great

friendship, as well as the Canadians, by whom we have been

very friendly received, and who will be able to furnish us with a

number of canoes.

I am informed by the French that there are two frigates and

several small armed vessels lying before Quebec, and a large ship

or two lately arrived from Boston. However, I propose crossing

the St. Lawrence as soon as possible; and, if any opportunity

offers of attacking Quebec with success, shall improve it, other-

wise shall endeavor to join your army at Montreal. I shall, as

often as in my power, advise you of my proceedings, and beg

the favor of hearing from you by every opportunity. The en-

closed letter to his excellency Gen. Washington, beg the favor

of your forwarding by express.

I am, dear Sir, very respectfully,

Your most obdt. humble servant,

Brig. Gen. Montgomery. B. Arnold.

P. S. Since writing the above, I have seen a friend from

Quebec, who informs me a frigate of twenty-six guns, and two

transports with one hundred and fifty recruits arrived from St.

Johns, Newfoundland, lasl Sunday, which, with the inhabitants

who have been compelled to take up arms, amount to about three



482 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

hundred men; that the French and English inhabitants in gen-

eral, are on our side, and that the city is short of provisions. I

shall endeavor to cut off their communication with the country,

and make no doubt, if no more recruits arrive, to bring them to

terms soon, or at least keep them in close quarters, until your

arrival here, which I shall wait with impatience ; but if St.

Johns should not have surrendered, and you can possibly spare

a regiment this way, I think the city must of course fall into our

hands. b. a.

Point Levi, Nov. 8, 1775.

May it please your Excellency :

My last letter was of the 27th of October, from Chaudiere

pond, advising your excellency that as the detachment was short

of provisions, (by reason of losing many of our battcaux,) I had

ordered Col. Enos to send back the sick and feeble, and those

of his division who could not be supplied with fifteen days' pro-

visions, and that I intended proceeding the next day with fifteen

men to Sartigan, to send back provisions to the detachment. I

accordingly set out on the 28th, early in the morning, descended

the river, amazingly rapid and rocky, for about twenty miles,

when we had the misfortune to stave three of the batteaux, and

lose their provisions, &c, but happily, no lives. I then divided

the little provisions left, and proceeded on with the two remain-

ing batteaux and six men, and very fortunately reached the

French inhabitants the 30th at night, who received us in the

most hospitable manner, and sent off early the next morning a

supply of fresh provisions, flour, &c, to the detachment, who are

all happily arrived (except one man drowned and one or two

sick—and Col. Enos's division, who, I am surprised to hear, are

all gone back) and are here and within two or three days' march.

I have this minute received a letter from Brig. Gen. Montgomery,

advising of the reduction of Chamble, &c. I have had about

forty savages join me, and intend as soon as possible crossing

the St. Lawrence.

I am just informed by a friend from Quebec that a frigate of

twenty-six guns, and two transports with one hundred and fifty

recruits arrived there last Sunday, which, with another small
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frigate, and four other small armed vessels at the river, is all the

force they have, except the inhabitants, very few of whom have

taken up arms, and those by compulsion, who declare (except a

few English) that they will lay them down when attacked. The

town is very short of provisions, but well fortified. I shall en-

deavour to cut off their communication with the country, which

I hope to be able to effect and bring them to terms, or at least

keep them in close quarters until the arrivrl of Gen. Montgom-

ery, which I wait with impatience. I hope at any rate to effect

a junction with him at Montreal.

I am, with the greatest respect,

Your excellency's most ob'd. scrvt,

B. Arnold.

Point Levi, 14th Nov., 1775.

Dear Sir—The foregoing is a copy of my last by the two In-

dians you sent express the 29th nit., who, I hear this moment,

are taken five leagues above this. Since which I have waited

two or three days for the rear to come up, and in preparing lad-

ders, &c. The wind has been so high these three nights past,

that I have not been able to cross the river. I have nearly forty

canoes ready, and as the wind has moderated, I design crossing

this evening. The Hunter, sloop, and Lizard, frigate, lie opposite

to prevent us
; but make no doubt I shall be able to evade them.

I have this moment received the agreeable intelligence, via Sor-

rell, that you are in possession of St. Johns and have invested

Montreal. I can give you no intelligence save that the merchant

ships are busy day and night in loading, and four have already

sailed. I am Sir, your most humble servant,

Brig. Gen. Moyitgomery. B. Arnold.

Point Levi, 14th Nov., 1775.

May it please your Excellency :

The foregoing is a copy of my last of the 8th inst, hy an ex-

press sent me by Gen. Montgomery, who I am this instant in-

formed was taken, fifteen leagues above this, on his return. I have

waited three days for the rear to come up, and in preparingscal

ing-ladders. The wind has been so high these three nights, I
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have not been able to cros9 the river, but it is now moderated,

and I intend crossing this evening with about forty canoes. To
prevent which, the Hunter, sloop, and Lizard, frigate, lie oppo-

site—however expect to be able to evade them.

I have received the agreeable intelligence that St. Johns is in

our hands and Montreal invested. The merchant shipping in

the harbor, about fifteen, are loading day and night, and four

have already sailed.

I am very respectfully, your excellency's

Most obed't and very humble servant,

B. Arnold.

Point Levi, 14th Nov., 1775.

Sir—I have this moment received a letter from the command-

ing officer at Sorrell, advising that Gen. Montgomery was anx-

ious to hear from me. I wrote him the 8th instant by an Indian

he sent express, who, I am informed, was taken on his return.

The enclosed you will please to forward him by express.

I am, Sir, your h'ble serv't,

B. Arnold, Commander of the forces before Quebec.

To the Commanding )

Officer at Sorrell. )

Colvil Place, 1£ miles from Quebec, 14th Nov., 1775.

Dear Sir—I wrote you yesterday from Point Levi, by an

express sent from Sorrell by Col. Easton, of my intention of

crossing the St. Lawrence, which I happily effected between

nine and four in the morning without being discovered, until my
party of five hundred men were nearly all over, when a frigate's

barge coming up, discovered our landing and prevented our

surprising the town. "We fired into her and killed three men.

I am this minute informed by a gentleman from town, that Col.

McClean had determined to pay us a visit this morning with six

hundred men and some field pieces. We are prepared and

anxious to see him. Others from town inform me that the

inhabitants in general had laid down their arms. By the best

information they are in the greatest confusion; very short of

wood and provisions, much divided, and refused provisions from
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the inhabitants; and, if blocked up by a superior force, must, as

soon as the frost sets in, surrender. I have thought proper to

despatch the bearer to inform you of my situation, as also with a

request I have to make. I must refer you to him for particulars,

as I have been so unfortunate in my former letters, I don't choose

to commit every intelligence to writing; It is the current report

here, that you have invested Montreal, and cut off their retreat.

This I hope is true, and that I shall soon have tho pleasure of

seeing you here. I am, dear Sir, with great respect,

Your obed't, humble servant,

B. Gen. Montgomery. B. Arnold.

P. 9. Since writing tho foregoing, tho enemy found means

to make prisoner of one of our sentinels. I immediately invested

the town as near as possible with my troops, which has occa-

sioned them to sot fire to the suburbs of St. John, and several of

tho houses without tho wal! are now in flames. b. a.

Capt. Ilanchet :

Sir—The night we left you we had the good luck to get well

over, undiscovered ; but many of the men I expected are left

behind. I should have sent the boats over again had tho weather

been suitable. I shall send them as soon as possible, and would

havo you send over all tho men you havo, as soon as possible,

except sixty, with all tho flour and pork you can spare, and as

many ladders as you can send. Let tho whole be colloctod at

tho mill if they cannot bo sent over directly, so that we can take

them off a3 soon as the weather serves. Tho people in town aro

in great confusion. Yesterday they took ono of our sentinels,

through his carelessness. We paraded and marched up within

half a mile of the walls, and gave them three cheers, and were in

hopes of their coming out, but we were disappointed. They

fired about fifteen, twelve, and twenty-four pound shot at us,

some of which wo picked up, but did us no harm. They aro

much divided and short of provisions, and I believe, will not

venture to come out or cross the river. I have not heard from

Gen. Montgomery since we came over, but expect it every min-

ute. Let the people know I shall be over and settle with them
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very soon. Whenever the weather permits, send your boats

over and let them land at Seillery, which may be done any time

of day when the tide serves, as the frigate is down.

I am, Sir, your h'ble serv't, B. Arnold.

P. S. I forgot to tell you we fired on the frigate's barge and

killed three men the night we came over.

Sir—I yesterday sent the enclosed with a flag and officer, who
approaching near the walls of the town, was, contrary to human-

ity and the laws of nations, fired on, and narrowly escaped being

killed. This I imputed to the ignorance of your guards, and

ordered him to return this morning, and to my great surprise he

was received in the same manner as yesterday. This is an in-

sult I eould not have expected from a private soldier ; much
more from an officer of your rank ; and through me, offered to

the United Colonies, will be deeply resented ; but at any rato

cannot redound to your honor or valor. I am informed you

have put a prisoner taken from me, into irons. I desire to know

the truth of this, and the manner in which he is treated. As I

have several prisoners taken from you, who now feed at my own

table, you may expect that they will be treated iu the same man-

ner in future as you treat mine.

I am, Sir, your ob't serv't,

To the H'ble H. T. Cramake. B. Arnold.

Camp before Quebec, Nov. 14, 1775.

Sir—The unjust, cruel, and tyrannical acts of a venal British

parliament,tending to enslave the American Colonies, have obliged

them to appeal to G-od and the sword for redress. That Being

in whose hands are all human events, has hitherto smiled on their

virtuous efforts. And as every artifice has been used to mako

the innocent Canadians instruments of their cruelty, by instigat-

ing them against the Colonies, and oppressing them on their

refusing to enforce every oppressive mandate ; the American

Congress, induced by motives of humanity, have at their request

sent Gen. Schuyler into Canada for their relief. To cooperate

with him, I am ordered by his excellency Gen. Washington to

take possession of the town of Quebec. I do therefore in the
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name of tho United Colonics, demand immediate surrender of

the town, fortifications, &c., of Quebec to the forces of the United

Colonies under my command; forbidding you to injure any of

the inhabitants of the town in their persons or property, as you

will answer tho same at your peril/ On surrendering the town,

tho property of every individual shall be secured to him; but if

I am obliged to carry tho town by storm, you may expect every

severity practiced on such occasions; and the merchants who

may now save their property will probably be involved in tho

general ruin. I am Sir. your most ob't lrble serv't,

Hon. Hect. T. Cramake, ) B. Ahnold.
Lt. Gov. of Quebec. )

Camp before Quebec, Nov. 1G, 1775.

Dear Sir—My last was of tho 13th inst. advising you of my
crossing the St. Lawrence, and being before Quebec; sinco

which I have not had the pleasure of hearing from you. I then

informed you of my situation and prospects. Fearing that

may have miscarried I have thought proper to despatch tho

bearer, a merchant of Quebec, and particular friend of mine, who
has been kind enough to offer his service, and will inform you
more fully than in my power to write. I am very anxious to

hear from you, and much more so to see you here.

I am dear Sir, with great esteem

Your obod't h'ble servant,

Brig. Gen. Montgomery. B. Arnold.

Point Aux Trembles, Nov. 20, 1775.

Dear Sir—I wrote you the 14th and lGth inst. from beforo

Quebec, which I make no doubt you have received. I have

this minute tho pleasure of yours of the 17th inst., and I heartily

congratulate you on your success and hope, (as fortune has been

ho far favorable, and is generally so to the brave,) it may in future

be equal to your warmest wishes. It was not in my power be-

fore the 18th to make an exact scrutiny into tho arms and am-

munition of my detachment ; when, upon examination, great part

of our cartridges proved unfit for service, and to my great sur-

prise we had no more than five rounds for each man, and near
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one hundred guns unfit for service. Add to this many of tho

men invalids, and almost naked, and wanting everything to make
them comfortable. The same day I received advice from my
friends in town, that Col. McClean was making preparations, and

had determined in a day or two to come out and attack us ; and

as his numbers were greatly superior to ours, with a number of

field pieces, and the limits of Quebec were so extensive, I found

it impossible entirely to cut off their communication with the

country, without dividing the small number of men (about five

hundred and fifty effective) so as to render them an easy sacrifice

to the besieged. I therefore concluded it most prudent to retire

to this place ; and ordered the main body to march at three

o'clock yesterday morning, and waited with a small detachment

to watch the motions of the enemy until the main body was out

of danger. They all arrived here last night. I have procured

leather (and sufficient to shoe them all in a day or two) the only

article of clothing to be had in this part of the country. Enclosed

is a memorandum of clothing absolutely necessary for a win-

ter's campaign,, which I beg the favor of your forwarding as soon

as possible. Should it be troublesome, I have desired the bear-

er, Capt. Ogden, to procure them, and some other articles the

officers are in want of, and by the favor of your order to forward

them on.

Capt. Napier, in the snow, and a small schooner passed us

yesterday, and are now at Quebec. The two frigates were laid

up the 18th, their guns and men all taken on shore. They are

getting all the provisions they possibly can out of the country,

and are doubtless determined to make the best defence.

From the best account I can get their force is about nineteen

hundred men, viz :

Landed from the frigates and two transports

from St. John, 150 recruits.

Col. McClean's Eegiment, 170 regulars.

From the Lizard, marines and seamen 200

From the Hunter, sloop, 100

On board Capt. Napier, 150

Inhabitants, French and English, on their side, 130

900
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Do. obliged to bear arms againsl their incli-

nation, and who would join us if an oppor-

tunity presented, GOO

Neutrals ia town, 400

1900

You will from the above account bo better able to judge of

the fo sary to carry the (own. If my opinion ia of any

service I should think two thousand neceasary, as they must be

divided at the distance of three or four miles to Becure the paaaea

effectually. And as there ia no probability of cannon making a

breach in the walls, I should think mortara of the most service,

the situation for throwing shells being extremely good, and I

think of course would soon bring them to compliance. If not,

time and perseverance must effect it before they can possibly bo

relievi 1.

Col. Allen and his party have been sometime since sent to

England in irons.—Mr. Walker I have not yet heard of. E have

ordered Capt. Ogden to send down all the powder and ball on

the road. If he should not be able to procure sufficient, I make

no doubt of your forwarding it as soon as possible. The inhabi-

tants are very friendly, and give all the assistance they dare to

do at present. Had we a sufficient force to blockade the garri-

son I make no doubt of their coming to our assistance in great

numbers. As it will doubtless take some time in bringing down

your artillery, would it not be better, if you can spare them, to

send down live or six hundred men, who, joined to my little corps,

will be able to cut off their communication with the country.

I am clear Gen'l, with great esteem.

Your most obedient and very humble serv't,

t B. Arnold.

I'. S. My hard cash is nearly exhausted. It will not be suf-

ficient for more than ten days or a fortnight ; and as the French

have been such sufferers by paper, I don't think it prudent to

offer it them at pres ,!
-
A -

:ll
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Memorandum—600 pr. coarse yarn stockings,

500 yds. coarse woollen for breeches,

1000 yds. flannel or baize for shirts,

300 milled caps,

300 do. mittens or gloves,

300 blankets,

Powder and ball,

1 bbl. West India rum,

1 do. sugar.

Point Aux Trembles, Nov. 20, 1775.

May it please your Excellency

:

My last of the 14th inst. from Point Levi, the same evening I

passed the St. Lawrence without obstruction, except from a

barge, into which we fired, and killed three men ; but as the

enemy were apprised of our coming and the garrison augmented

to near seven hundred men besides the inhabitants, it was not

thought proper to storm the place, but cut off their communica-

tion with the country, until the arrival of G-en. Montgomery.

We accordingly invested the town with about five hundred and

fifty effective men, took possession of a nunnery, and Col. C's.

house, about half a league from town. We marched up several

times near the walls, in hopes of drawing them out, but to no

effect, though they kept a constant cannonading and killed us one

man. On the 18th, having intelligence that Capt. Napier in an

armed snow with near two hundred men, having made his escape

from Montreal, was very near, and that the garrison, furnished with

a number of good field pieces, intended attacking us the next day.

I ordered a strict examination to be made into the state of our

arms and ammunition, when to my great surprise, I found many

of our cartridges unfit for use, (which to appearance were very

good,) and that we had no more than five rounds to each man.

It was judged prudent in our situation not to hazard a battle,

but retire to this place, eight leagues from Quebec ; which we

did yesterday, and are waiting here with impatience the arrival

of Gen. Montgomeiy, which we expect in a few days. I have

been obliged to send to Montreal for clothing for my people,

about six hundred and fifty in the whole, who are almost naked,
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and in want of every necessary. T have been as careful of cash

as possible, but shall soon have occasion for hard money. As

the French have been such Buflferers from paper heretofore, and

mine so large, I thought it not prudent to 'offer it them at present.

I have written to Gen. Montgomery my situation and wants,

which I expect will be supplied by him. Had I been ten days

sooner, Quebec must inevitably have fallen into our hands, as

there was not a man then to oppose us. However, I make no

doubt Gen. Montgomery will reduce it this winter, if properly

supported with men, which in my opinion cannot in the whole be

less than two thousand five hundred, though it may possibly bo

effected with a less number. The fatigue will be severe at this

season and iu this inclement climate.

I have the honor to be, with the greatest respect,

Your excellency's most obed't and very humble servt.

B. Arnold.

Mem. sent in the foregoing—six hundred blankets, six hund-

red thick clothes, six hundred shirts, woolen, six hundred milled

caps, six hundred do. gloves, six hundred do. hose, six hundred

thick woolen breeches lined with wool or leather. B. a.

Point Aux Trembles, 20th Nov., 1775.

Gentlemen—The bearer, Capt. Ogden, is a young gentleman

of good and opulent family from Jersey, ,and a volunteer in the

army. I have sent him to Montreal to procure some clothing,

&c., for the army. If he has not cash sufficient for his purpose,

any articles you are kind enough to furnish him with, you will

please to place to my account, which I will see duly paid. If he

has occasion for any goods out of your way, if you will be kind

enough to recommend him, I will be accountable ; or the persons

who supply him may, by virtue of this letter, charge the same

tome. I hope this will find you and family well; and am with

much esteem,

Gentlemen, your most obed't h'ble serv't.

Messrs. Prince Sf Ilayivood, ) B. Arnold.
Merchants, Montreal. )
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Dear Sir—The .bearer, Capt. Ogden, is a particular friend of

mine and on business of mine. Any assistance or favor shown

him, will be gratefully acknowledged by

Sir, your obed't serv't.

Pt. Aux Trembles, Nov. 20, 1775. B. Arnold.

Mr. Jos. Terry.

Point Aux Trembles, Nov. 24, 1775.

Gentlemen—I was informed a few days since that all the ships

at Quebec were laid up, and their guns taken out; of which I

advised Gen. Montgomery; since which T find my information

was premature. I am now informed by some of my officers,

who have seen, that a large snow, supposed to be Napier, the

Hunter frigate, and two small schooners, came up from Quebee

this morning and now lie at Cape Rouge; I suppose with a

design to interrupt our vessels or batteaux expected from

Montreal. It is probable they will proceed higher up next tide

;

of which I have thought proper to give you notice by express,

and advise your sending three or four boats ahead, at a proper

distance, to give you timely notice of their approach.

I am Gent, your h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

To the officers of the Continental Army,
On their wcitj from Montreal to Quebec.

Point Aux Trembles, Nov 25, 1775.

Gentlemen— I wrote you last night (and sent a canoe up tho

river) of two large and two small vessels being anchored off

Capo Rouge. This morning they have weighed and are now

opposite this place, and will be able to proceed about one league

higher up this tide. Their design is, doubtless, to proceed as

high up as tho foot of the Rissallien, or rapids above Cape Sante,

four leagues above this place. I think it will be impossible for

them to go higher up, without a strong easterly wind, or to stay

there long, as the ice must certainly drive them away the first
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cold weather. T make no doubt of your necessary precaution to

avoid them ;
and am,

Gentlemen, your h'ble .servant,

li. Arnold.

To the officers of the Continental Ann//,

Oa the way from Montreal to (.Quebec.

Dear Sir—My last waa the 20th instant, by Oapt. Ogden,

advising you that the two frigates were laid up and Oapt.

Napier's passed us for Quebec; since which I find the largo

frigate only laid up. Yesterday the Hunter sloop and Captain

Napier in the snow, with a topsail schooner, came up us high as

and this morning to this place. Their intention is,

doubtless, to go up as high as the Rissallien, or rapids at Cape

Sante, to interrupt your vessels and batteaux. 1 think it will be

impossible J'or them to proceed higher without a strong easterly

wind. I last night sent off an express by the river. Fearing

that should miscarry, I have despatched my friend Halstead

post, that your advance may have timely notice to take every

precaution. My detachment are as ready :is naked men can be,

to march wherever they maybe required; but are yet in want of

powder, ball, &c, and some arms. The enemy are very busy in

collecting provisions, fixing cannon on the walls, and putting

themselves in the best posture of defence; but seem to be still

wavering in their plan, as I am told this morning several ships

are hauled into the stream for sailing.

With great esteem, dear Sir,

Your obed't and very humble servt.

Brig. Gen. Montgomery, B. An sold.

Pt. Arx Trembles, )

Nov. 25. 177").
\

Point Ai \ Trembles, Nov. 25, 1775.

Dear Sir—I am now to acknowledge the receipt of your

favor of the 18th instant and return you my thanks for the same.

I congratulate you on your post, but am sorry to hear that Gen.

Wooster and you i 3tay al Montreal. [ am waiting

with great anxietv the arrival of Gea. Montgomery, when i
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expect we shall knock up a dust with the garrison at Quebec,

who are already panic struck. Had we been fortunate enough

to have arrived ten days sooner, we should have met no opposi-

tion, and should, I make no doubt, have carried it as it was, if

we had had ammunition. My brave men were in want of every-

thing but stout hearts, and would have gladly met the enemy,

whom we endeavored in vain to draw out of the city, though we
had not ten rounds of ammunition a man, and they double our

numbers.

I have gone through a variety of scenes since I saw you^an

amazing deal of fatigue, trouble, and anxiety, but, thank God,

am very hearty and well. Capt. Oswald begs you'd accept his

compliments. Please make my compliments to Gen. Wooster

and all enquiring friends ; and accept the same from,

Dear Sir, your friend and very humble serv't.

B. Arnold.

Point Aux Trembles, 27th Nov., 1775.

"Lieut. Buell

:

Sir—You will proceed with the miller, who will direct you

where you will find some cattle, which you will bring to head-

quarters. I am Sir, &c.

Your obed't servant,

B. Arnold.

Point Aux Trembles, Nov. 27, 1775.

Dear Sir—An incessant hurry of business since my arrival in

Canada, has deprived me of the pleasure of writing you before

this, to give you a short sketch of our tour, the fatigue and

hazard of which are beyond description. A future day may

possibly present you with the particulars.

The 15th September, left Cambridge: same night arrived at

Newburyport. 18th, embarked and sailed. 19th, thick weather

and gale of wind, which divided the fleet. 20th, arrived in

Kennebec river. 21st, reached Fort Western. 25th to 29th,

sent off* one division each day with forty-five days' provisions.

From 29th to Oct. 8th, the whole detachment were daily up to
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their waists in water, hauling up the batteaux against the rapid

streams to Norridgewock, fifty miles from Fort Western. From

the 9th to the 16th, not a minute was lost in gaining the Dead

River, about fifty miles. From the i6th to 27th we ascended the

Dead River to Lake Megantic or Ohaudiere pond, distance

eighty-three miles. 28th, I embarked with seventeen men in five

batteaux, being resolved to proceed to the French inhabitants

and send back provisions to the detachment, who were nearly

out, and must inevitably suffer without a supply. At ten we

had passed on the lake thirteen miles long, and entered the

Ohaudiere, which we descended about twenty miles in two hours;

amazing rocky, rapid, and dangerous, when we had the misfor-

tune of oversetting and staving three batteaux, and lost all the

baggage, provisions, &c. and with great difficulty saved the men.

This disaster, though unfortunate at first view, we must think a

very happy circumstance on the whole, and a kind interposition

of Providence; for had we proceeded half a mile farther, wo

must have gouo over a prodigious fall which we were not

apprised of, and all inevitably perished. Here I divided the

little provisions left, and proceeded on with two batteaux and

five men with all possible expedition ; and on the 30th at night,

arrived at the first inhabitants, upward of eighty miles from the

Lake, where I was kindly received. The next morning early

sent off a supply of fresh provisions to the detachment by the

Canadians and savages, about forty of the latter having joined

me. By the 8th the whole arrived except two or three sick left

behind. The 10th, I reached Point Levi, seventy-five miles from

Sartigan, the first inhabitants ;
waited until the 13th for the rear

to come up, and employed the carpenters in making ladders and

collecting canoes ; those on Point Levi being all destroyed to

prevent our crossing. Having collet-ted about thirty, we em-

barked at 1'. M.., and at 1 A. M. had carried over at several

times five hundred men without being discovered.

Thus in about eight weeks we completed a inarch of near six

hundred miles, not to be paralleled in history ; the men having,

with the greatest fortitude and perseverance, hauled their bat-

teaux up rapid streams, being obliged to wade almost the whole

way near one hundred and eighty miles, carried them on their
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shoulders near forty miles, over hills, swamps, and bogs almost

impenetrable, and to their knees in mire
; being often obliged to

cross three or four times with their baggage. Short of provis-

ions, part of the detachment disheartened and gone back

;

famine staring us in the face; an enemy's country and uncertainty

ahead. Notwithstanding all these obstacles, the officers and men
inspired and fired with a love of liberty and their country,

pushed on with a fortitude superior to every obstacle, and most

of them had not one day's provision for a week.

I have thus given you a short but imperfect sketch of our

march. The night we crossed the St. Lawrence, found it impos-

sible to get our ladders over, and the enemy being apprised of

our coming, we found it impracticable to attack them without

too great a risk, we therefore invested the town and cut off their

communication with the country. We continued in this situation

until the 20th, having often attempted to draw out the garrison

in vain. On a strict scrutiny into our ammunition, found many

of our cartridges (which to appearance were good) inserviceable

and not ten rounds each for the men, who were almost naked,

barefooted, and much fatigued ; and as the garrison was daily

increasing and nearly double our numbers, we thought it prudent

to retire to this place and wait the arrival of Gen. Montgomery,

with artillery, clothing, &c. who to our great joy has this morn-

ing joined us with about three hundred men. We propose

immediately investing the town, and make no doubt in a few

days to bring Gov. Carlton to terms. You will excuse the

incorrectness of my letter, and believe me with the greatest

esteem, Dear Sir, your friend and very h'ble scrv't.

B. Arnold.

Point Aux Trembles, 27th Nov., 1775.

Sir—Yours of the 26th from Champlain, I received this minute,

and have ordered a party of forty men to Grand Isle to escort

the ammunition down. By no means venture by water, but on

the receipt of this procure carts to bring down the whole. Pray

make all possible despatch.

I am Sir, Your humble servant.

Capt. J. Dugan, B. Arnold.
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Point Atjx Trembles, 30th Nov., 1775.

Dear Sir—My last was of the 25th inst. advising you of the

Hunter sloop, Capt. Napier in the snow, and a schooner's, going

up to Gape Sante. They have been there until this morning,

when they came down and are now off this place under full sail

down. It will be impossible for them to ascend the river again

this season; so that your vessels, if you think proper to send

them down, will run no risk, except of ice, and may be laid up

in safety at Cape Rouge.

I have not had the pleasure of hearing from yon these ten

: and am very anxious for your safe arrival. The ammuni-

tion you ordered us has been strangely delayed, and is no

i to hand, but hourly expected. On receipt of it I intend

returning to my old quarters near Queb

Nothing has lately occurred worth notice, exce the burning

of Maj >r ( 'aldwell's house, supposed to be <{<>][<' by order of < rov.

Carlton to deprive us of winter quarters. The inhabitant

Quebec are much disunite! and short of provisions. We have

many friends there, and if the place is attacked with spirit, I

believe will hold out but a short time.

I am very respectfully,

Dear Sir, your most obed't humble servt.

Brig. Gen. Montgomery. ]). Arnold.

Point Arx Trembles, 30th Nov., 177.1.

Gentlemen—This serves t you that the armed -

in the river, which have been som i f Cape Sant£ are now

returned to Quebec ; so that there will be no danger of your

coming down in boat-, or an}* kind of water craft, except that of

ice. 1 am Gentlemen, your humble servt,

B. Ark
To the officers of the Coat. Army on their }

way from Montreal to Quebec. $

Point Aux T ! i Nov., 177.">.

Dear Sir—This will be hand' 1

1 you by Mr. Burr, a voluiu

in the army, and son to the former president of New Jersey

college, lie i.- a young gentleman of much life and activity, and
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has acted with much spirit and resolution on our fatiguing

march. His conduct, I make no doubt, will be a sufficient

recommendation to your favor.

I am dear Sir, your most obed't humble serv't.

Brig. Gen. Montgomery. B. Arnold.

Before Quebec, Dec. 5, 1775.

May it please your Excellency,

My last of the 20th ult. from Point Aux Trembles advising

of my retreating from before Quebec, I make no doubt your

excellency has received. I continued at Pt. Aux Trembles

until the third instant, when, to my great joy, Gen. Montgomery

joined us with artillery and about three hundred men. Yesterday

we arrived here and are making all possible preparations to

attack the city, which has a wretched, motley garrison of disaf-

fected seamen, marines, and inhabitants, the walls in a ruinous

situation, and cannot hold out long. Enclosed is a return of my
detachment amounting to six hundred and seventy-five men, for

whom I have received clothing of Gen. Montgomery. I hope

there will soon be provision made for paying the soldiers, as

many of them have families who are in want. A continual

hurry has prevented my sending a continuation of my journal.

I am with very great respect,

Your excellency's most obed't h'ble serv't.

B. Arnold.

[The history of this expedition, so far as it can be gathered from the

foregoing letters, terminates abruptly on the 5th of Dec, 1775, the date of

the last of the series. A full account of the subsequent events will, how-

ever, be found in the journal prepared by President Allen, to which wo

have already alluded, and which immediately follows.]



XIV. ACCOUNT OF ARNOLD'S EXPEDITION.

COMPILED BY WILLIAM ALLEN.

1NTRODVCTI N

Gen. Washington, in Ins letter to Congress, dated Sept. 21,

1775, says, "I am now to inform the honourable Congress, that,

encouraged by the repeated declarations of the Canadians and

Indians, and urged by their requests, I have detached Colonel

Arnold with a thousand men to penetrate into Canada by way of

Kennebec river, and, if possible, to make himself master of

Quebec. By this manoeuvre I proposed either to divert Carleton

from St. Johns, which would leave a free passage to Gen.

Schuyler; or, if this did not take effect, Quebec in its present

defenceless state, must fall into his hands an easy prey." At the

same time he furnished Arnold with copies of a Manifesto,

printed at Cambridge, that he might distribute them among the

Canadians. This address to the " Inhabitants of Canada" was

in Washington's name, and concludes with these words : "Let

no man desert his habitation—let no one rlee as before an

enemy. The cause of America and of Liberty is the cause of

every virtuous American citizen; whatever maybe his religion

or his descent, the United Colonies know no distinction, but such

as slavery, corruption, and arbitrary dominion may create.

Come, then, ye generous citizens, range yourselves under the

standard of general Liberty—against which all the force and

artifice of tyranny will never be able to prevail."

In his instructions to Arnold, Gen. Washington charged him,

and the army, to consider themselves not as inarching through
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an enemy's country, but through that of friends and brethren.

" Should any American soldier be so base and infamous, as to

injure any Canadian in his person or property, I do most ear-

nestly enjoin you to bring him to such severe and exemplary

punishment as the enormity of the crime may require." All

disrespect also to the religion of the country was prohibited, and

the strictest order enjoined.

THE EXPEDITION AGAINST QUEBEC, ACROSS THE WILDERNESS.

Soon after the commencement of the revolutionary war, Gen.

Washington resolved to send a detachment of his army into

Canada, through the wilderness of Maine, in order to co-operate

with the troops which were to penetrate into Canada from the

State of New York by lake Cliamplain. The detachment con-

sisted of ten companies of musket men, belonging to New
England, and three companies of riflemen, from Virginia and

Pennsylvania, amounting to about eleven hundred men, each

company consisting of eighty-four men, rank and file. The

commander was Col. Benedict Arnold of Connecticut. The

field officers were, Col. Christopher Green of Rhode Island, Col.

Roger Enos, Maj. Return J. Meigs, and Maj. Timothy Bigelow.

The staff consisted of Adjutant Frebecer of Denmark, Quarter-

master Hyde of Massachusetts, Dr. Senter of Rhode Island,

and another surgeon, and Mr. Spring, Chaplain. Matthew

Ogden and Aaron Burr of New Jersey, John McGuyer and

Charles Porterfield of Virginia, volunteers. Mr. Oswald was

private secretary to Arnold. The captains of the companies

were, Henry Dearborn of New Hampshire, McCobb of George-

town, Williams, Goodrich, Hubbard, and Scott of Massachusetts,

Hanchett of Connecticut, Topham, Thayer, and Ward from

Rhode Island; and the captains of the riflemen were Daniel

Morgan of Virginia, the commander, William Hendricks of

Cumberland county, Pennsylvania, and Matthew Smith of Lan-

caster county, Pennsylvania. There was only one chaplain, Mr.

Samuel Spring, a young preacher who had graduated at Prince-

Ion College in 1771. Some of the other officers were, Licuts.,

Archibald Steele, Michael Simpson, F. Nichols, Humphreys,
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Heath, Tisdale, Cooper; Sergeanl Major, Joseph Aston, and

Sergeant, Thos. Gibson, John Joseph Henry was a private

soldier. 1

Of these names several are distinguished in American Eistory.

Colonel Arnold is sufficiently notorious for his attempt as a

traitor to deliver the post of West Point into the hands of the

enemy. Major Meigs, afterwards colonel, received a vote of

thanks from Congress for the skill and valor with which ho

conducted the expedition against Long [sland, in 1777. J To

was with Wayne at the capture of Stony Point, in 177!). Ho
was afterwards one of the first settlers of Ohio, and agenl for

the Cherokee Indian all'airs. lie died at the Cherokee A ency,

Jan. 28, 1823. lie was the father of the late Postm

General of the United, States. Gen. Morgan's name is inter-

woven in the whole history of the war. (Jen. Dearborn has held

various high offices in our country, and in the war of I s 1
'2 made

a successful descent upon Upper Canada. Col. Burr has Been

Vice President of the United States. Mr. Henry was president

of the second judicial district in Pennsylvania, and died in ! i".

Lieutenants Nichols and Simpson became, thirty or forty years

afterward, generals in the militia of Pennsylvania. Chaplain

Spring was the late Rev. Dr. Spring of Newburyport, an

eminent minister, who died March 1, 1>1!», aged seventy-two

years.

.Major Meigs kept a short journal of occurrences from Sept.

0, 177."), to Jan. 1, 1770. There was also published in 1812, an

account of this expedition, compiled from memory a few years

before his death, by Judge Henry. From these accounts the

l\ir\s in the following narrative are chiefly derived.

Sept, •'., 1775, orders were given to draft the men, collect

provisions, and build two hundred batteaux.

Sept. 13th, in the evening, the troops of this detachment

1 Additional officers mentioned by Gen, Dearborn, -May, 1826, Lieut.

Hutchins, afterward a captain, now living in Fryeburg. Lieut. Andrews,

now living in New Hillsboro', Eampshire, aged ninety-one. Lieut. Thomas,

afterward killed in battle. Lients. Webb, Humphreys, (or Sumptsnys,)

Slocum, Shaw, ofRhode fsland; Brown, Cumstock, of Massachusetts ; Sav-

age of Connecticut ; Brewer of Virginia. There were two Lts. Humphreys,

one of Rhode Island, and one of Virginia.
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marched from Cambridge, a few miles, to Mystic or Medford
;

the next day through Salem to Danvers ; on the 16th, in the

forenoon, they arrived at Newburyport and encamped. Major

Meigs sa}7s that on Sunday, the 17th, he attended divine service

at Rev. Mr. Parsons' meeting, and dined at Mr. N. Tracy's.

Tuesday, 19th. The whole detachment was embarked on

board ten transports, one of them called the sloop Britannia, in

the morning, and sailed out of the harbor. At 1 o'clock P. M.

orders were received to sail to the Kennebec, fifty leagues

distant. The wind was fair and very fresh, so that in the morn-

ing of the 20th they made the mouth of the Kennebec right

ahead, and soon entered it. Being hailed by armed men from

the shore, they answered that they were continental troops, and

requested a pilot, who was immediately put on board. With

favorable wind and tide they proceeded up the river. Five

miles from the mouth was a large island called Pousack, (Arrou-

seag, or Arrousick,) where were several good dwelling-houses

and a handsome meeting-house. 1

Twenty miles from the mouth of the river the detachment

passed a large bay on the left, called Merry Meeting Bay,

formed by the Androscoggin river in its junction from the west

with the Kennebec; and five miles higher up they passed Swan
Island, just above which they came to anchor opposite to

Powntilborough, (now Dresden,) where was a block-house called

Fort Pownal. It was but fourteen days since the first orders

for the expedition had been given. During the 21st the troops

were at Gardiner's town. At Major Colburn's ship-yard at

Pittston, on the east side of the river, the vessels were aban-

doned, and the troops obtained batteaux, built for the purpose,

in which they proceeded up the river. On the evening of the 22d,

Major Meigs lodged at the house of Mr. North. Saturday, the

23d, the troops ascended the river six miles to Fort Western,

—

a fort at Augusta, on the east bank of the Kennebec, which

1 At this place, in Georgetown, opposite Phipsbnrg, it is believed the late

Gov. Sullivan of Massachusetts then lived, for it was here that he com-

menced the practice of the law. When once asked by Gen. Knox, why he

selected such an obscure spot, he replied, that he knew he must break into

the world, and he thought it prudent to make the attempt in a weak place.
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wns buill in the year 1754. ' On the evening of their arrival,

some of the soldiers being at a private bouse, one of them, by

the name of McCormick, being turned out of the house in a

quarrel, discharged his gun into it and killed a man. He was

tried by a court-martial, and received sentence of death, but was

reprieved till the pleasure of Gen. Washington could be known.

Most of the troops remained several days at Fort Western,

in order to complete the necessary preparations lor their ardu-

ous undertaking. Here it was resolved to send forward a small

party of eight or ten men, to explore and mark the Indian paths

at the carrying-places in the wilderness, and to proceed to the

Chaudiere river in Canada, and ascertain its course; and then to

send forward Capt. Morgan with the three companies of riflemen-

to the Great Carrying-place as pioneers, to clear the road for

other divisions of the army.

THE EXPLORING TARTY.

To the command of the small party Arnold appointed Lieut.

Steele, who was active, hardy, and courageous. He selected

seven men, namely, Jesse Wheeler, George Merchant, and .lames

Clifton of Morgan's company; Robert Cunningham, Thomas

Boyd, John Tidd, and John McKonkey of Smith's. Steele also

selected John Joseph Henry, a youth of sixteen years, the

author of the account already referred to, because he was his

mess mate and friend, and was acquainted with the hardships of

a wilderness. Henry was the son of W. Henry, Esij., of Lan-

caster, Pennsylvania, born Nov. 4, 1758. On his return from

Detroit, whither he accompanied an uncle, he had become

acquainted with difficulties of the same kind with those which

1 This fort was formed by two block-houses and a large house, one band-

red feet long, the property of James Howard, Esq., the whole inclosed with

pickets. One of the block-houses is now standing, a venerable memorial of

Indian wars, near the covered bridge, which now stretches across the river.

Judge Howard, at whose house the officers were well entertained, died in

May, 1787, aged eighty-six years. He was the first commandant of the fort,

and although lie reached a remarkably old age, yet one of his soldiers at

this fort lived to be much older; it was John GUley, a native of Ireland, who

enlisted about the year 1756, and died at Augusta, July 9, 1813, aged about

one hundred and twenty-lour years.
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he was now about to encounter, subsisting several days between

Sandusky and the Ohio river on acorns. He had joined the

Pennsylvania troops without the knowledge of his father.

Besides these men, two guides were employed, Nehemiah

Getchel, a respectable man, and John Home, an aged and

grey-he ad ed Irishman

.

This party of eleven men left Fort Western, Sept 23d or 24th,

in two birch-bark canoes, each of which carried five or six men,

a barrel of pork, a bag of meal, and two or three hundred pounds

of biscuit. They arrived in the evening at Fort Halifax, about

twenty miles from Fort Western, situated on the point of land

in the town of Winslow, opposite to Waterville, which is formed

by the junction of the Sabasticook river on the east, with

Kennebec on the west. The fort consisted of old block-houses

and a stockade in a ruinous condition. Here a barrel of pork

was exchanged for a barrel of smoke-dried salmon, with the

the commander of the fort ; near the fort resided a Capt. Harri-

son of Huddlestone, a whig, who treated the company with

much hospitality. Probably the next day the party arrived at

Skowhegan Falls, five miles east of the village of Xorridgewock,

at a point where the river separates the present town of Bloom-

field on the south, from Milburne on the north. These falls are

about seventeen miles from Fort Halifax. This was the country

of beavers. With two men, met with not far from the falls, two

fresh beaver tails were obtained in exchange for pork.

Just below the falls there was a rock of bluish flint in a conical

form, five feet in height, and ten or twelve feet in diameter at the

base, which was scalloped out down to the water's edge. Getchel

had been informed, that the Indians of former times had ob-

tained from it their spear and arrow-heads or points. 1

The carrying-place round the falls was ascertained, and the

trees to designate it were carefully marked or blazed with the

hatchet, as they were also at other portages. The canoes at

such places were carried on the back in the following manner :

A broad straight stave was bound to the central cross bar of

' Of this fact I have no doubt, as I obtained myself an Indian arrow-head,

apparently answering to this description, at the old Indian village in Nor-

ridgewock.
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the canoe by a stout leather thong passing through two perfora-

tion-, an inch or more apart a1 the middle of the stave. This rested

upon the backside of the head and on the shoulders, when the

canoe was thrown upon the shoulders to be carried.

Above the falls there were few impediments to navigation for

a considerable distance. The last white inhabitants lived at

Norridgewock. After entering the uninhabited wilderness, it

was thought prudent, lest Indians should be lurking near, not to

lire a gun, although the temptation presented by fine ducks and

moose, was almost irresistible. About the 29th of Sept., having

I the Cariotunk Falls, they arrived at the Great Carrying-

place, distant between forty and fifty miles from Skowhegan.

This twelve-mile carrying-place is in the northern range of town-

ships of what is now called the Bingham purchase, or the

Million of Acres. The distance from the Kennebec to Dead

River on the west is but twelve miles, and the communication is

facilitated by three or four considerable ponds ; but to ascend

the Kennebec nearly twenty miles to the mouth of Dead River,

and then to proceed up this river in its circuitous course would

make the whole distance fifty or sixty miles. It is, however,

impossible to ascend in this manner, for Dead River, for fifteen

or twenty miles from its mouth, is a broad shallow and rapid

river, and has one considerable fall. It receives its name from

its sluggishness in that portion of it which is below and above

the twelve mile carrying-place.

On leaving the Kennebec the path was found tolerably distinct;

but it was made more so by marking the trees and cutting the

bushes with the hatchet or tomahawk. In the evening the party

encamped on the margin of the first pond or lake, where there

was plenty of trout, which old Clifton caught in abundance.

Here it was determined the next day, to leave Clifton and

M'Konkey, with half the provisions; the other part was divided

equally by a kind of lot in the following manner. Steele made
a division into as many parts as there were men, in the presence

of all concerned. He then directed some one to turn his back,

and asked him, laying his hand on a particular portion, "Whose
shall be this ? " To the one whose name he happened to mention

it was given. The two men left here were directed to retire to

32
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the south end of the pond, and there remain concealed, and

await the return of the others, who expected to be absent about

eight or ten days.

It required two days for the party to pass the two other ponds,

to explore and mark the Indian path, and to reach Dead River.

This was found to be deep, with an imperceptible current-,

about two hundred and fifty yards wide. The trees observed

were chiefly evergreens. The Balsam Fir (Pinus Fraseri

overlooked by Michaux, but differing from the Silver Fir) was

found to be very abundant. It has many protuberances or

blisters on the bark, which yield a balsamic liquid, useful in

medicine. Getchel taught Henry to place the edge of a broad

knife at the under side of the blister in the morning, and to

receive the balsam by placing his mouth at the back part of

the knife. The liquid was found to be heating and cordial, and

was thought to contribute to the preservation of health.

Leaving the encampment at Dead River about the 2d of Octo-

ber, they ascended the river rapidly to the foot of a rapid, where,

as usQal, they made their bed of the branches of fir or spruce.

It was resolved to eat their pork raw, and to eat but twice a day.

Half a biscuit and half an inch square of pork constituted their

supper ; for, ignorant of the distance to the Chaudiere, it was

necessary to be economical in expending their stock of provisions.

Oct. 3. Surmounting the rapids in the boats in about an hour,

there was good water during the rest of the day ; at night they

encamped at the foot of a fall of four feet. During the next

day there was good water. They caught trout and a delicious

chub, which they call fall fish. The common trout of the river

were pale with pink spots ; but some larger trout, caught in a

deep spring-head, were of a dark hue, with beautiful crimson

spots.

The party were now approaching the wigwam of Natanis, the

only remaining Norriclgewock Indian, whom they were instructed

by Arnold to seize or kill, in the persuasion that he was employed

by the Canadian government as a spy. His abode was at a

middle point between the American and Canadian settlements;

it was chosen probably with reference to the convenience of

hunting. The cabin of Natanis was surrounded, but he was not
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found; it stood on a bank about twenty yards from the river,

and a grass plat extended around a little more than shooting

distance with the rifle. Near this place a considerable stream

from the west fell into Dead River, and seven miles up that

stream it was said there lived a number of Indians. Natanis

afterwards joined the invading army on the Chaudiere, with

about forty of the St. Francois band, who lived nearly opposite

the mouth of the De Loup. 1

At the junction of the west stream with Dead River, a stake

was found driven down to the water's edge, with a piece of

birch bark, neatly folded up, inserted into a split at the top.

On openingthe bark, it was found to be a map of the streams above

them. It was probably placed there with friendly intentions by

Natanis, who had discovered the party at their first encampment

on Dead River, and was now hovering around them, although

afraid to show himself lest he should be killed.

The first pond at the head of Dead River appeared to bo a

mile in diameter. Here, on a small island of a quarter of an

acre, the party discovered a delicious cranberry, growing on a

bush ten feet high, and the fruit as large as a cherry. 2 A
second pond was found in one or two miles, and a third

pond not far distant. The country was mountainous. One
mountain was a beautiful cone; and perpendicular cliffs formed

the bord< r of one of the ponds.

The weather began now to be cold. Mr. Henry describes his

dress as follows : a roundabout woolen jacket, a pair of half

worn buckskin breeches, a hat with a feather, a hunting shirt,

leggins, a pair of moccasins, and woollen stockings and shoes in

1 Judge Henry remembered an Indian by the name of Sabattis. I am
happy to have it in ray power, after the lapse of fifty years from the time of

this expedition, to confirm the correctness of his memory, and the fidelity of

his narrative. In August, 1824, an Indian woman from IVnobscot presented

herself at my house with baskets to sell, and soliciting charity. She exhib-

ited a certificate, signed by Major General Uhner, now living at Penobscot,

stating that she was the daughter of Sa Hates, a Penobscot Indian, who
piloted Arnold's army to Quebec in 1775. I asked her to pronounce the

name of her father, and she gave the sound

—

Sah-Bah-tis.

- This was doubtless the acid fruit of Fiburnum oxycoccus, which I found on

the river De Loup, a branch of the Chaudiere, in Sept. 1824.
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reserve. At tbe end of the fifth pond or lake they saw " the

height of hind." Covering their canoes with leaves, they now
crossed over about five miles, by an Indian path, to the bank of

the Chaudiere. Here Cunningham climbed a hio-h tree and

descried, ten or fifteen miles distant, the great Chaudiere lake,

the intermediate country being fiat.

Thus, about the 7th of October, the great object of this

exploring party was accomplished. The stream in Canada which

they reached was probably a stream which lies north of the last

pond, and which, rising in the seventh range of surveyed town-

ships, runs westerly and empties into Nepess lake,—the lake

that was mistaken for the Great Chaudiere, or Ammeguntick
lake, with which it communicates by a river five or six miles in

length. 1

As the sun was setting they set out to return to their canoes,

pi'oceeding in Indian file, one after the other, all treading in the

steps of their leader, and Getchel bringing up the rear and

covering the track with leaves with his feet. This was to

prevent discovery by the Indians. After being thoroughly wet

in a heavy shower, they arrived in the dark at their place of

encampment; and here during the night they were protected

from a heavy rain only by the branches of fir, forming a kind of

wigwam. It was extremely laborious to cross this ridge of land.

Mr. Henry had fallen down a precipice, and did not arrive until

an hour after his friends. The next morning they crossed the

pond, the water of which, and of the streams, was found to be

raised about four feet, so that the return was easy and rapid.

During the clay a small cluck, called a diver, was shot. At

night, after deliberation, it was concluded to boil the duck in the

camp kettle, together with each man's inch of pork, which was

designated by a skewer of wood having a distinctive mark on it.

The broth thus made was to be the supper; and the duck in the

morning was to be the breakfast, divided into nine or ten parts

by the method—"Whose shall be this ?" in addition to each man's

1 If this stream should not prove to be the principal branch of the Chau-

diere, the name of Steele's river might with propriety be given to it, espe-

cially as the name of Arnold river has been given to a more westerly branch,

emptying into Ammeguntick, in the erroneous belief, I presume, that it was

the river which was passed by the detachment under his command.
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bil of pork. Air. Hetiry received one of the thighs; Cunning-

ham the head aud feet. After this 1', they pursued their

way with speed till night, when they devoured their last pork

and biscuit. About the Kith of October, they saw at theeasl a

great smoke, which inspired them with joy, as they thought it

marked the encampment of the army, though it proved to bo a

fire at one of their camps. They were delayed several hours in

consequence of injuries to one of their canoes by running upon

the limb of a tree in the river. Birch bark was procured, and

the roots of cedar for twine, and the canoe was covered with

pitch made from the turpentine of the pine and scrapings of the

pork bag. Just at night, these hungry and starving men beheld

an object which gave them more pleasure than they could have

experienced had they seen a mountain of gold; it was a moose,

which was shot, by Steele on the north hank, and the fall of which

was proclaimed by a huzza. In a moment the second guide cut

oft' the uose and upper lip and put it on the fire. Now indeed

was the time of feasting ; the night was spent in selecting the

titbits and in boiling, roasting, and broiling, though but little

was eaten at a time. The next day another moose was killed,

and they arrived at their encampment at Dead River. Steele

and two others weresent immediately forward to meet the army,

and to their great joy they met it the same day. Major Meigs

says that he discovered " Steele and party" at the third pond,

Oct. 11th; but it appears from Henry that only three of the

party could have been met at this time. The others remained

in order to "Jerk" their venison to provide against emergencies,

lot the army should have abandoned the expedition. 1

Several days were thus employed, during which there was

much suffering in the midst of. plenty ; for the meat was eaten

without bread, or salt, or oil ; the appetite was not satisfied, and
a diarrhea reduced them to still greater weakness. On the 16th

of October, taking their knapsacks of food they crossed the

river, and abandoning their canoes from inability to carry them,

1 The jerking was performed by cutting the meat into thin strips, and
laying it on a square rack of poles laid across each other n> the height of

four feet from the ground. A smoke-fire was i, :

;, in en], a- to dry

the meat, thus preserving it for future use, aud rendering it lighter to carry.
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proceeded along the Carrying-place. At the bog near the third

pond they met some pioneers of the army, making a causeway,

and soon made a feast on boiled pork and dumplings. They

were kindly received by Major Febiger, and by Morgan,

whose person was large and commanding, and who wore leggins

and cloth in the Indian style. His thighs uncovered seemed to

have been roughly'handled by the bushes. Thus the whole

exploring party rejoined the army after an absence of more than

three weeks in the wilderness. Steele had not returned to his

party, having dislocated his shoulder ; and Clifton and M'Kon-

key had deserted their post soon after they were left at the first

pond.

THE PROGRESS OF THE ARMY.

The army was left by the exploring party at Fort Western.

Morgan with three companies of riflemen embarked in batteaux,

Sept. 25th, with orders to proceed rapidly to the Great Carry-

ing-place and clear the road. Sept. 26th. Colonel Green, with

Major Bigelow, and three companies of musket-men also em-

barked with the second division. • Sept. 27th, Major Meigs

embarked with the third division, consisting of four companies

and forty-five days' provision. His progress was slow. At
Fort Halifax, where he arrived the 29th, was a carrying-place of

ninety-seven rods around Toconock falls. He encamped five

miles above them. The next day he proceeded seven miles, and

at night was joined by Arnold. Sabattis, a Penobscot Indian,

and a St. Francois Indian, well recommended, accompanied the

army from Fort Western. A guide of the name of Jakins was

obtained, living above Toconock Falls. Oct. 1. The army

ascended the river nine miles. Among the trees observed were

butternuts and red cedars. Oct. 2. At Scohegin Falls there

was a carrying-place of two hundred and fifty paces across a

small island. Oct. 3. Major Meigs proceeded to Norridgewock.

On his way he called at a house and saw a child fourteen months

old, the first white child born in Norridgewock. This was Abel

Farrington, son of Capt. Thomas F., formerly of Groton. Near

the site of the Indian village, in going up the falls, his batteaux

filled with water, and he lost his kettle, butter, and sugar.
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Father Ivule's grave was still to be seen. There appeared to

have been an intrenchment, and a covered way through the

bank of the river for the convenience of getting water. Oct. 4.

He proceeded one mile to a carrying-place of a mile ami a

quarter; and here he was detained two days, [n the afternoon

of the 6th he proceeded five miles. Oct. 7th, at noon, arrived

at the Carratuncas carrying-pla f four hundred and thirty-

three paces, where the river is confined between two rocks, not

more than forty rods apart. Here he remained one day. Oct.

9th, in the afternoon, he proceeded four miles and encamped

;

the river very rapid, and in some places very shoal, being divided

by a number of islands. Oct. 10, he reached the Great Carry-

ing place of twelve miles. Oct. 11, he wAt as far as the' third

pond where he discovered Lieut. .Steele and party. Oct. 12, ho

returned, to give orders to build a block house, to the Kennebec,

where Ooi. Enos arrived with the fourth division of the army,

3ting of three companies of musket-men.

Oct. I'd. This day Arnold wrote a letter to Gen. Schuyler

and enclosed it to a friend in Quebec, and sent it by the St.

Francois Indian. The wind was so high, that the boats could

not cross the third pond, One man was severely injured by the

fall of a tree in the night. Four moose had been killed. Oct.

15. Major Meigs crossed the third pond, which was much
i' than the other two, and appeared to be nine miles in

circun lie encamped in a cedar swamp. Orders were

given that the allowance should be three-quarters of a pound of

pork and the same of flour to each man a day. Oct. 18. Two
oxen were killed and divided. Major M. proceeded up the river

about twenty miles, the water being smooth, and encamped on

the south nide. The laud this day appeared tine and mostly

red with grass as high as a man's waist. The ritie corps

alwaj I'd the other troops; the boats loaded usually had

three men in them
;
the remainder of the army marched by

"land. Oct. 19. On account of rain Major M. remained in camp
till two o'clock, then proceeded five miles and encamped on the

north Bide of the river; passing three small falls, but finding the

current otherwise gentle. Ho was ordered to proceed with his
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division with the greatest expedition to the Chaudiere, and furnish

pioneers under Capt. Ayres, to clear the carrying-place. Oct. 20.

He passed several small falls and one portage of thirteen rods.

It was a rainy day. Oct. 21. Proceeding three miles there was

a portage of thirty-five rods, and two miles further a portage of

thirty rods. The whole distance was only five miles. Oct. 22.

Major M. proceeded only three miles, passing two portages, each

of seventy-four rods. Last night the water of the river rose

eight feet, overflowing the country, so that the men on shore

proceeded with difficulty. Oct. 23. The progress was very slow,

as the stream was rapid. A number of the men marched up

the river which comes in from the west, mistaking it for Dead

River. Some boats vpre dispatched after them. At the encamp-

ment was a portage of fifteen rods, the river being extremely rapid.

Here five or six batteaux filled, by which were lost several barrels

of provisions, -and some cash, clothes; and guns. By the upsetting

of a boat, Mr. Henry was thrown into the river and narrowly

escaped drowning. A council was held and it was resolved that

the sick should return to Cambridge, and that fifty men should

proceed with dispatch to the Chaudiere pond. The next day

a progress of only four miles was made. Oct. 25. A progress

of six miles, passing three portages, two of them of four rods,

and one of ninety rods. Oct. 26. The ponds at the head of the

river were crossed; first a pond two miles across; then was

passed its outlet, two and one-half rods wide and four rods long,

communicating with the second small pond a mile in length ;
the

next strait was a mile and a half long leading to a pond three miles

wide ; after a narrow strait the fourth pond was found a quarter

of a mile wide ; then there was a narrow, crooked river of three

miles. A carrying-place of fifteen rods led to the fifth pond of

one hundred rods. The encampment was on a high hill, which

was a carrying-place at the north-west; the ponds were sur-

rounded with high mountains. Oct. 27. After a portage of one

mile a pond of fifty rods was crossed ; a second portage of

forty-four rods led to a pond two miles wide. From this pond

was the portage of four miles and sixty rods, to the right,

across the height of land to the Chaudiere. From the pond to

the height of land is about two miles. Oct. 28. The army pro-
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ceeded to the Chaudiere. Sonic of the captains, on account

of the difficult navigation of that river, carried over but one boat

for each of their companies; but Morgan, with excessive labor,

transported all his boats. Near this point are the heads not

only of the Kennebec, but of the Connecticut, Androscoggin,

Penobscot, and Chaudiere r;

The army had now entered Canada, but its situation was

perilous and discouraging. From Dead River Col. Enos bad

returned to Cambridge with the sick, and with his whole rear

division, consisting of William's, McCobb's, and Scottjs compa-

nies. This measure was the result of a council of war of his own

officers in order to avoid the horrors of famine; but without

order or permission from Arnold. He was tried by a court-

martial in December, and acquitted with honor. lie had but

three days
1

provisions, when we set out to return, and was

mt one hundred miles from the nearest settlement. The

army now consisted of not more than six or seven hundred men;

the provisions and ammunition were divided; Mr. Eenry says,

that in his corps there was no meat of any kind; of the flonr

five pints constituted the portion of each rifleman. This was

baked into five cakes under the ashes. The distance was now

eighty or ninety miles to the settlements in Canada, and the way
must difficult and dreary.

Oct. 20. The army arrived at one o'clock, at Nepess lake,

which lies south of Ammeguntic, and encamped at night on its

bank, where there had been an Indian camp. Oct. 30. They

marched through the woods aboul fifteen miles along the eastern

side of lake Ammeguntic, ami encamped near its north end, or

where the Chaudiere issues from it. The travelling this day and

the day following was extremely bad. over mountains, and

through morasses, in which the men would sink deep in the mud.

Attached to the Pennsylvania troops were two heroic women,

one the wife of Bergeanl Grier, the other the wife of a private

named Warner. Mr. Henry says that he passed two streams,

wide and deep, flowing into the lake from the east, the northern

one being the largest. They were crossed in batteaux or rafts

stationed for the purpose by Arnold; the batteaux at the lai

river being under the superintendence of C ipt. Dearborn.
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Nov. 1. The army continued its march through the woods
along the Chandiere. This French word means a boiler or

cauldron; and the name is well given, for the river is rapid and

furious in its course for sixty or seventy miles. Every boat put

into the river was split upon the rocks or abandoned. There

was a fall of ten or fifteen feet. It was with difficulty that

Morgan escaped destruction. One of his soldiers was drowned.

Major Meigs this day passed a number of men that had no

provisions, and it was not in his power to supply them. Several

were sick, and they must have perished in the wilderness. While

the flour lasted, what was called a bleary was made by boiling it

with water without salt. 1 Nov. 2. The marching along the

east bank of the Chaudiere was to-day less difficult than yester-

day. The river grew wider and became rapid and in some

places shallow.

The weather was fine, clear, and wrarm, as in Connecticut at

this season. In passing a low sandy shore or beach, some of

the men darted from the ranks and with fingers dug up the roots

of plants and ate them raw. Mr. Henry obtained to-day a little

broth, given him by some of his friends; it was greenish; they

called it bear's broth, but it was made from a dog. Some of the

men washed their moccasins of moose skin, and boiled them in

a kettle in order to obtain a little nutrimen .

Frida}r
, Nov. 3, was a memorable da}^ to this little army ; for

weary, disconsolate, and starving, as they were proceeding down

the river, their eyes were gladdened with the sight of cattle,

1 (: My dog," says Gen. Dearborn in a letter to me, "was very large and a

great favorite. I gave him up to several men of Capt. Goodrich's company

on their earnest solicitation. They carried him to their company and killed

and divided him among those who were suffering most severely with hunger.

They ate every part of him, not excepting his entrails
;
and after finishing

their meal, they collected the bones and carried them to be pounded up, and

to make broth for another meal. There was but one other dog with the

detachment. It was small, and had been privately killed and eaten. Old

moose-hide breeches were boiled and then broiled on the coals and eaten.

A barber's powder bag made a soup in the course of the last three or four

days before we reached the first settlements in Canada. Many men died

with hunger and fatigue, frequently four or five minutes after making their

last effort and sitting down."
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which an advance party with Arnold had procured for their

relief, and which they were now driving up the shore. A f

huzza proclaimed the joy of these wretched adventurers; and it

is hoped, that many a grateful acknowledgment went up to that

beneficent Being, who " heareth the ravens when they cry." At
this moment Oapt. Smith gave Henry, who was the youngesl in

the army, a paper containing a slice of bacon fat. It was

instantly devoured. Hen' it was that Henry firsl nut Aaron

Burr, an amiable youth of twenty years. Tie' cattle were

devoured even to the very entrails, and some received only a

little coarse oaten meal. Nov. 4th was another remarkable day

in the history of this expedition, for about noon, after fording a

wide stream coming in from the east, (the river De Loup,) and

within a few hundred yards of the mouth of this branch of the

Chaudiere, they reached "the firs' //<>use' in Canada. They ap-

proached it with the rapture of men now assured that they should

not. perish with famine.

'

Here the army was supplied with beef, fowls, pheasants, butter,

and vegetables. Several men lost their lives by the imprudent

indulgence of their appetites. Here were found Natanis, Sa-

batis, and seventeen other Indians of their family. They were

Abonnekee, or Abenaqui Indians; they inarched with the army,

1 It was at this point that, in a journey across the wilderness to Quebec, in

Sept. 1824, ] first struck the river Chaudiere, having traveled down t lie

north-eastern bank of this same river De Loup. There were then two

houses at this fork of the river, one of them inhabited by Mr. Annah or

Hanna, who is called the Seigneur, having a venerable appearance, and the

other, which is neater the De Loup, by Mr. Owen. 1; was probably Mr.

Banna's which was "the first /<o>tsr." ami inhabited by a Frenchman,

situation accords with a description of il given me bj Gen. Dearborn. The

settlement was called Sertigran; the distance was twenty-five leagues from

Quebec.

I can form some little conception of the joy of this little army ; for after

myself fire days in the wilderness, I know not thai [ ever beheld any

natural scenery with greater delight, than 1 gazed upon this very spot. It

remarkable that, after the l ipse of half a century, this may still be

considered as the first house in Canada, for there were in 1824, only two <>r

three small houses to the east, "a th • IK) Loup, and they were within half a

mile or a mile of its mouth. Prom this place t" Qi

interestinir and gladdening to the i
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and fought against the British, being employed, as Mr. Henry

says, by Arnold. From this place two Indians were sent back

to the fall of the Chaudiere in order to bring down Lieut M'Cle-

land, of Hendrick's company, who had been left there sick. In

three days they returned with him, but he died the day after his

arrival at the first house and was decently buried by the inhabi-

tants. He was much beloved, and his fate was deeply lamented.

Nov. 5. The army, in part, marched about thirty miles to the

parish of St. Mary, going down the right bank of the river.

Mr Henry gives a correct account of the country as it appears

at the present time :

" We marched in straggling parties through a fiat and rich

country, sprinkled, it might be said decorated, by many low

houses, all white-washed, which appeared to be the warm abodes

of a contented people. Every now and then a chapel came in

sight; but more frequently the rude but pious imitations of the

sufferings of our Savior and the image of the Virgin. These

things created surprise, at least in my mind, for where I thought

there could be little other than barbarity, we found civilized

men, in a comfortable state, enjoying all the benefits arising

from the institutions of society." Mr. Henry also describes a

breakfast in one of these white-washed houses, as consisting of

"a bowl of milk with excellent bread," for himself, while the

family had " bread, garlic, and salt." In one of these cottages

a similar breakfast was presented to me, with the addition of

boiled potatoes. The milk was in a small tin pan with a nose

or spout for the convenience of turning out the milk. Of the

bread, however, I can only say, that it was coarse and sour, like

most of the bread used in Lower Canada. Mr. Henry's host

refused to receive any compensation. I found the like cheerful

and courteous hospitality.

It has been represented by several American historians, that

the appearance of Arnold's army at Point Levi, was the first

notice to the British of the approach of an enemy, and that

could he have crossed the river without delay, the city of Que-

bec would have fallen without opposition. But this is a very

erroneous representation. Arnold's own imprudence had com-
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municated the intelligence to the British in Quebec, nearly

twenty days before his arrival at Poinl Levi, and it is not im-

probable, that his own fully defeated the enterprise, as may
appear from a letter, which he wrote to Gen. Montgomery. It

is dated, "St. Maria, two leagues and a half from Point Levi,

Nov. 8, 1775." '

Arnold had been extremely imprudent in forwarding a letter

to Mr. -Merrier a month before by an Indian, who had betrayed

him, and delivered the letter to the Lieut. Governor; but still,

it i- wry probable he would have taken Quebec, had he pushed

on from St. Mary's, thirty miles from Quebec, where he arrived

on the 5th. Allowing live days to bring up the rear of the

army, to march thirty miles, and to procure canoes (and on the

8th he had twenty canoes) he might have crossed the river, one

would think without difficulty by the 10th ; and had this been

done, the gates of the city would have been opened to him.

But the arrival of Col. Maclean on the 12th with one hundred

and seventy nam of his regiment produced a new state"of things.

On the arrival of the vessel from Newfoundland, Sunday, Nov.

5th, bringing one hundred men, chiefly carpenters, there was not

a single soldier in Quebec. These men, by the delay, had time

to repair the defenses, and to make platforms for the cannon;

and being joined by Col. Maclean, the crisis of danger had pass-

ed. Had Quebec fallen, it would have seemed a most important

and glorious event
; yel it might have been the ruin of America

;

for in order to defend it, a considerable force would have been

requisite, thus dividing our strength, while the British, in desp lir

of recovering so strong 'a place, might have concentrated their

forces at New York, and the capture of Burgoyne would not

have electrified the friends of liberty through America.

Nov. 0. Midshipman M'Kenzie of the Hunter sloop of war,

on landing from a boat near a mill above Point Levi, was taken

prisoner in the water. Mr. Henry relates, that Sabattis rushed

forward, after he had indicated his intention to surrender, in order

1 I suppose he should have dated it at St. Henry, which is at that distance

from Point Levi ; and St. Mary is more than twice that distance. The let-

ter above referred to, may be found among Arnold's correspondence, in

preceding pages of this volume.
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to kill him ; but that Morgan or other officers interposed and

saved his life.

Nov. 13th, at nine o'clock in the evening, the embarkation com-

menced near the mill above Point Levi in thirty-five canoes, and

at four o'clock five hundred men, with their ladders, were landed

undiscovered at Wolfe's Cove. As one hundred and fifty men

were left behind from the state of the tide, and did not cross

under three or four days, the whole number of the troops appears

to have been six hundred and fifty. The canoes were obliged to

pass the river three times. One of these birch bark vessels broke

down in the middle of the river, and the men were picked up,

excepting poor Steele. Unluckily the canoe to which he swam,

was full of men, so that he could not be received without sinking

it. In this dilemma he hung by the stern, and, was dragged

through the chilling water to "Wolfe's cove.

Nov. 14. The little army found no difficulty in ascending the

precipice by an oblique path ; they then sent a reconnoitering

party toward the city and marched across the plains of Abra-

ham, and found good quarters in a large house, formerly owned

by General Murray, and in other houses adjacent. Had they

marched immediately to the city, they probably would have

captured it with ease, for it was afterward ascertained, that

St. John's gate, opening toward the plains of Abraham, was

then unfastened and open. Soon after the landing, a barque

from the Lizard frigate, rowing by, was hailed and fired upon,

It was supposed that the men of this barge would have immedi-

ately apprised the commanding officer of the discovery, but they

did not. The critical moment was lost. In the morning guards

were placed on the different roads. About noon Merchant, one

of Morgan's men, who had been placed as an advance sentry in

a thicket, was made prisoner by the enemy. The guard pursued

in vain, and Arnold marched the main body upon the heights

near the city ; but after receiving a few shot and giving three

huzzas, he marched back a mile or more to his quarters. This

was a very unnecessary and useless movement. In the after-

noon the enemy set fire to the suburbs and burned several

houses. At evening, Arnold sent a flag, demanding the surren-
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der of the city; but Maclean fired upon bim, thinking it prudent

in have no communication with the American commander. The

ii, ,i day another flag was senl and treated in the same manner.

On the 16th, a company was sent to take; possession of the gen-

eral hospital, a nunnery on the low grounds near the river St.

Charles. At the ferry across this river, Sergeant Dixon of the

rifle corps was wounded by a cannon ball from a gun near Pal-

arc gate, three-quarters of a mile distant; so that amputation

was necessary, and he died the next day. lie was a respectable

man of good education, and of a good estate in West Hanover,

Lancaster county, now Dauphin county, Penns. lie was the

first man who fell at Quebec.

News having been received of the surrender o'f Montreal to

Montgomery, and a junction with him being necessary before

Quebec could be assaulted with the hope of success, on the 10th

November the army marched up the river about seven leagues,

to Point Anx Trembles. While the army was lying here. Gov-

ernor Oarleton passed down the river and safely reached

Quebec,— a circumstance extremely interesting and important

to the enemy. Montgomery arrived December 1, with three

armed schooners, with men, artillery, ammunition, provisions,

and clothing to the great joy of Arnold's troops, to whom, as

they were paraded in two battalions before the Catholic chapel,

lie made an energetic speech, praising them for their hardihood

and appearance, lie immediately marched down to the neigh-

borhood of Quebec, and encamped at the suburbs, called

St. Foy.

In a few days the town was bombarded by throwing into it at

different times about two hundred shells; a battery was erected

before St. John's gate ; and a few lives were lost on both sides.

December 2 t, .Mr. Spring preached a sermon in the chapel of

the general hospital, an elegant room, richly decorated with

carvings and gilt work. The troops were assembled in the

ning of the 27th, in order to make an attack on the works of

Quebec, the ladders being ready; but it was found prudent to

postpone the assault until the weather should be stormy. As it

snowed December oOth, it was determined to make the attack,
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and the troops were ordered to parade at two o'clock the next

morning. '

December 31, 1775, being the last day of the year, was mem-

orable for the attempt to take the city of Quebec by assault,

and the fall of Montgomery. The number of his army, as

stated in his letter of December 18th, was upwards of eight

hundred men. Gordon says, that the whole, including the sick,

did not exceed eight hundred men, and that only seven hundred

and thirty were fit for duty. But this is probably a mistake

;

for were this the whole army, as four hundred men were lost in

the attack, the remainder would not have been able to continue

the siege. I should judge, that this might be the amount of the

troops actually engaged in the attack of the lower town. In-

deed Gen. Dearborn states, that Arnold's troops were five hun-

dred strong, and Montgomery'^ six or seven hundred, including

Livingston's and Brown's. The garrison consisted of two

hundred and thirty soldiers, forty marines, eight hundred militia,

and four hundred and fifty seamen,— in all one thousand five

hundred and twenty.

The plan determined upon, was to make two false attacks

upon the upper town, and at the same time, two real attacks

upon the lower town, which stretched at the foot of the preci-

pice along the St. Lawrence in a northerly and southerly direc-

tion, about three-quarters of a mile. On the south, the lower

town was to be attacked by Montgomery, who was to descend

from the plains or heights of Abraham to the bank of the river,

and who would meet the first barrier or battery at the foot of

Cape Diamond. At the same time Arnold was to assault the

barriers at the northern and western extremities of the lower

town, which he would approach from the suburbs of St. Roch
on the west, by passing by Palace gate at the foot of the preci-

1 A few days before the attack, Capt. Dearborn rejoined the army, so as

to participate in it. He had been left in a hut on the Chaudiere, sixty

miles from Quebec, sick with a nervous fever, the violence of which was so

great that during ten days his life was despaired of. Although without

medicine, he gradually recovered, after being sick a month, and proceeding

to Point Levi in a sleigh, crossed over to Wolfe's cove, and took the command
of his company.
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pice, and proceeding easterly along the bay formed by St.

Charles river, as it joins the St. Lawrence, in a narrow way

between the precipice and the water or ice of the bay. After

overcoming one barrier he would turn the angle at the north-oast

corner of the city, and turning to his right was to meet Mont-

gomery, if he succeeded, in the center of the lower town. Some

houses were to be passed before he could reach tho corner, but

the lower town was chiefly to the east on the St. Lawrence, and

not to the north on the St. Charles. In order to favor this

attack, tho upper town was to bo threatened by Col. Livingston,

with his regiment of one hundred and sixty Canadians, who was

to set fire if possible, to St. John's gate, and by Major Brown,

with a small detachment of Massachusetts' troops, who was to

assault the wall further to the south at Cape Diamond. Had

this project succeeded, it would have been difficult to storm tho

upper town, for it must have been approached either by ascend-

ing Mountain street, and overcoming the great obstacle, pre-

sented by Prescott gate ; or by an equally hopeless attack on

Palace gate on the opposite side ; or by St. John's gate, and the

high wall on the south and west. There could have been little

chance of success by force ; but after taking the lower town,

containing most of the houses and property, it was believed, with

the greatest reason, that the garrison, chiefly of citizens, would

immediately propose to capitulate.

The troops, headed by Montgomery, assembled at his quarters

on the plains of Abraham at two o'clock, consisting of four bat-

talions of New York troops, and part of Col. Easton's regiment.

Arnold's troops assembled at the same hour at the guard house

at St. Eoch, consisting of two battalions. At five o'clock they

moved to tho attack in a violent storm of snow from tho north-

east. Maj. Meigs says, that various obstacles prevented the exe-

cution of Col. Livingston's command; but as Carleton wrote to

Gen. How, that, "the alarm was general, from the side of tho

river St. Lawrence, along the fortified front, every part seemed

equally threatened," it is probable, that Livingston and Brown

appeared before the fortified front, although the depth of tho

snow and the violence of the storm on the heights may have oc-

casioned some delay in their progress.

33
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At the appointed moment Montgomery descended from the

heights of Abraham, by an easy descent, to the river south of

Cape Diamond, and proceeded to attack the defences at what

was called Anse cles Meres, or the Bay of Mothers, a small bay

or harbor at the foot of Cape Diamond.

Mr, Henry represents, that there were two rows of pickets,

(other accounts speak of but one,) or two stockades of strong

posts, fifteen or twenty feet high, connected by a stout railing;

and that the first palisade was one hundred yards south of the

point or angle of Cape Diamond, extending from the declivity of

the hill to the river. Three or four of these posts were sawed

by the carpenters and an opening made, and the troops passed

without being discovered. On reaching the second palisade close

under Cape Diamond, the saw was employed with the same suc-

cess, and the general with his own hands assisted in pulling down

two or three pickets. About fifty yards in front of the advanc-

ing troops or within the stockade, was a block-house in the mid-

dle of the small space, between the cliff and the river, leaving

only a narrow passage each side of it. This was a square log-

building, with loop-holes for musketry in the lower story, and

several port-holes in the upper story for cannon, charged with

grape or canister shot, and pointed towards the avenue, by which

the troops must approach. The second row of pickets being

passed, the only obstacle remaining was the block-house. The

general at the head of his troops was now pressing on, saying to

them, "Push on, brave boys, Quebec is ours ;
"—when a discharge

of the cannon and small arms at the guard-house, killed him and

his aid, Capt. McPherson, Capt.jCheeseman, an orderly sergeant,

and a private. This was a most disastrous event ; but had the

troops pressed on they would instantly have taken the block-

house, for the lights were out, and it is said, the guard immedi-

ately fled; or they might have passed it and entered the town,

and co-operated effectually with Arnold's troops, fighting at the

other extremity of the street. Mr. Henry says, he was credibly

informed on the spot, that it was a drunken sailor, who dis-

charged the cannon, resolving, that he would have one fire be-

fore he took to his heels.

Colonel Campbell, the deputy quarter-master general, who sue-
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ceeddl to the command, was destitute of the heroism and cuter-

prise, necessary for such a crisis; instead of pushing on, he or-

dered a retreat, taking the wounded with him to his camp, but

leaving his general and the dead on the ground, where they fell.

In the morning the enemy found their bodies covered with snow,

that of the general two paces from the brink of the river,

McPherson on the right, and Cheeseman on the left.

Arnold made his attack from the suburbs of St. Roch; march-

ing at the head, Capt. Oswald and thirty men followed him as the

advanced guard, then Oapt. Lamb with his company of artillery,

having a field piece mounted on a sled, followed by the main

body, of which Morgan's company was the first. It was neces-

sary to pass by Palace gate, which is about half a mile from tho

angle of the town, formed by the St. Charles and the St. Law-

rence, and the whole distance was at the foot of the hill and be-

neath the ramparts. On approaching Palace gate the cannon

began to play, and all the bells of the city were ringing. The

troops ran in single file, holding down their heads on account of

the storm, and covering their guns with their coats; and for

several hundred feet there were; insulated buildings, in the inter-

stices of which they received a tire of musketry from the ram-

parts above them, and some brave men fell. The snow being-

deep, it was soon found necessary to abandon the field piece.

There being no path, and the way dark and intricate among

.-tores, houses, boats, and wharves, the main body was led wrong.

But the advanced party with Morgan's company, soon reached

the first barrier or battery, and commenced the attack. Here

Arnold was wounded in the leg by a musket ball, which shat-

tered the bone, and supported by Mr. Spring and Mr. Ogden

returned to the general hospital, the distanco of upwards of a

mile, urging the troops forward as he met them. The battery

was west of the angle of the town, in'a street called Satdt an

Matelot, or Sailor's Leap, and not Saint des Matelots, as Marshall

has it, so called from a high, overhanging rock; and consisted

of two twelve-pounders. Morgan's men rushed up to the port-

holes or embrasures, and tiring into them, and mounting the

barricade by ladders, soon carried the battery and made prison-

ers of the captain and most of the guard of thirty men. The
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enemy had discharged only one of their cannon ; and only one

or two men were lost on each side. After a delay at this point

of half an hour, waiting for the troops to come up, Col. Green

now in command, marched about daylight to the second barrier,

which was just around the angle of the town. An heroic attack

was made upon it, but in vain, for within there was a double row

of bayonets ready to destroy every one, who should»throw him-

self by means of a ladder over the barrier, and the fire was warm

and fatal, not only from the port-holes, but also from the high

stone houses on each side of the street. There was also a can-

non on a height or platform twenty yards within the barrier and

overtopping it, which poured grape shot upon the assailants.

Under these circumstances, and the whole force of the enemy,

since the fall of Montgomery, being now brought to this point,

it was found necessary for the troops to enter the nearest houses,

from which the attack was continued.

In the mean while Capt. Dearborn and his company, who had

been quartered on the north side of the river St. Charles, in en-

deavoring to join the main body, were captured by a party of

two hundred men, under Capt. Law, who made a sortie with

cannon from Palace gate. Some valuable officers had now fallen,

and it was very obvious, that the barrier could not be carried.

Lieut. Humphreys was killed in the street, as was- also Lieut.

Cooper of Connecticut. Captain Hendricks, in a stone house, as

he was aiming his rifle, was shot through the heart. Capt. Lamb
had a part of his face shot away. Steele lost three of his fin-

gers. Despairing of success Morgan with Lieut. Heth returned

to the first barrier, and on consultation with Majors Bigelow and

Meigs an immediate retreat was determined on. But Heth, who

was sent to draw the troops from the houses, could induce only

a part of them to venture into the street, exposed as they must

be, until they turned the angle of the street, to the dreadful fire

of the battery. All the Indians and Canadians, excepting

Natanis and another, had made their escape across the ice of the

bay two miles. The retreat from the first barrier would have

been chiefly under the walls of the town, exposed to the fire of

the enemy for a quarter of a mile
;
busides the obstacle presented

by Capt. Law and his party in front. In these circumstances,
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afterfiring from half-after five o'clock, until ten o'clock, the troops

surrendered as prisoners of war, at about ten.

Arnold in one of his letters says, that about three hundred

were taken prisoners, and as near as he could judge about sixty

killed and wounded. Marshall says the loss was about four hun-

dred, of which three hundred and forty were prisoners. Carleton

says the rebels lost six or seven hundred men and forty or fifty

officers, while his loss was only one lieutenant and seventeen men.

Notwithstanding this loss of about four hundred men, it appears

from a letter of Arnold, written a few days afterward, that there

remained under him an army of seven hundred men, which en-

abledjrim to continue the blockade until he was reinforced.

Besides those already mentioned, ('apt. Hubbard, Lieut. Tis-

dale, and Brigade Major Ogden, were also wounded. Of the

prisoners, the officers were confined in the Seminary, and the

soldiers in the Jesuit's college or Recollets, and were treated by

Carleton with a humanity, very honorable to his character. In

one of his letters he says, that March 31st, 177G, he discovered

a plot of the prisoners to escape after seizing the guard at St.

John's gate, and let in Arnold. Of this plot, Mr. Henry, who

was engaged in it, gives a minute account. The prisoners had

been removed to the Dauphin jail, an old French building about

three hundred yards from St. John's gate. Their ingenuity soon

supplied them with arms ; for peeping through the key-hole of

the door of a small room at the stair-head, they perceived large

iron hoops. Of these, by forcing the door, a large number was

obtained, as well as a quantity of iron of different shapes.

Rough, stout swords, with wooden handles, were made, and

spear-heads were fashioned and affixed to splits of fir plank,

about ten feet in length, which had formed the bottoms of the

lowest berths. Tin; proposed method of escape was by remov-

ing the bars of their windows and by the cellar door, which

opened, inwards, and the hinges and padlock of which were in-

side, and within their reach. Joseph Aston, of Lamb's com-

pany, afterwards a major, was chosen commander-in-chief of the

prisoners, Mclvoy and others were colonels, Boyd, Eenry, and

others were majors, captains, &c. Getting into the street, one

party was to attack the guard-house near the jail, and another
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party of one hundred and fifty men were to attack the guard of

thirty or forty men at St. John's gate; the jail and buildings

near, were to be set on fire the same time by way of signal to

Arnold, who had been made acquainted with the project by

Martin, a prisoner, who in a storm of snow, had clambered over

the wall of the prison and escaped the sentries, and threw him-

self from the wall of the city southerly of St. John's gate. If

the guard should be overcome at St. John's gate, the cannon

were to be turned upon the city. As some matches might be

necessary in that event, and there would be occasion for powder,

it was procured in the following ingenious way. Some small

gun carriages were made, mounted with paper cannon, a few

inches in length. Embrasures were cut with a knife in the front

board of the berths on opposite sides of the room
;
and two

parties were formed for the pigmy contest. The blaze and re-

port, as loud as small pistols, created much merriment. For this

sport many cartridges were obtained, most of which were care-

fully laid aside for other purposes. Some money was also ob-

tained, from charitable nuns, who visited the prison ; but obtained

in a method remarkable rather for ingenuity than fairness or

propriety, but it was thought, that all artifices were allowable,

especially, as life was to be hazarded for liberty. Once a nun

was seen approaching ; when Doctor Gibson, who had studied

physic at Cornish, and who afterwards died a- Valley Forge,

in the winter of 1778, a young man of ruddy cheeks and with a

beautiful head of hair, was hurried into a bed, to play the part

of a man sick with a high fever. The nun being introduced,

crossed herself, whispered an Ave Maria or Pater Noster, and

poured the contents of her purse, twenty-four coppers, into the

ha 'd of the patient. The money procured powder, and the

manner of obtaining it occasioned some merriment to cheer the

gloom of a prison.

Every thing being prepared and arranged by the council of

war, the moment of executing the long meditated plan was fixed.

A spring of water in the cellar, which furnished the supply of

water to the prisoners, had accumulated a considerable quantity

of ice at the foot of the door, which was to be the sally-port.

Immediately after the locking up, sixteen men with long knives
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were to descend into the cellar, and pare away the ice in a silent

manner. But it was not the will of Providence, that the perilous

attempt should be made. The scheme was exploded, as greater

schemes have been by thoughtlessness and imprudence. Two
young men without authority from the council, descended into

the cellar, and began to pick the ice, not with knives, but with

hatchets. They were overheard by the sentry; the guard was

immediately doubled ; and the well digested plan was defeated

in a moment. This happened, as appears by Carleton's letter,

March 31. The next morning an inquiry was made into the af-

fair, and nothing would have been discovered but the attempt in

the cellar, when as Major Murray was leaving the room, a pris-

oner, an Englishman who had deserted from the British at Bos-

ton and joined Arnold, rushed by him to escape the vengeance of

his companions, saying to him, that " he had something to dis-

close." The traitor revealed the whole plan ;
in consequence of

which, there soon arrived several cart-loads of irons, such as

bilboes, foot-hobbles, and hand-cuffs, and instead of finding them-

selves in the enjoyment of the sweets of liberty, the poor wretches

found themselves in chains. The bilboes were long bars of iron,

to which ten men were fastened by the feet. In a few days

many were able to extricate themselves from their irons by saws

made from knives, and in other ways. They suffered miserably

from the scurvey, and from a diarrhoea, occasioned by the water.

It was not before the month of May, after the arrival of reinforce-

ments to the British and the retreat of the American army, that

the irons were struck off.

As Oarleton was about to proceed up the St. Lawrence to

drive the Americans from Canada, his prisoners were sent home

on parole in August, and were afterwards exchanged. The pa-

role, signed by Henry, was as follows :
" We whose names are

hereunder written do solemnly promise and engage to his excel-

lency, General Carleton, not to say or do any thing against his

Majesty's person or government; and to repair wherever re-

quired so to do by his excellency, or any of his Majesty's com-

manders in chief in America doth please to direct; in testimony

of which we have hereunto set our hands this day at Quebec,

August 7th, 177*1." The prisoners were embarked on board of
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five transports, convoyed by the Pearl frigate ; in the number of

them was Gen. William Thompson, who had been taken at Three

Rivers. On the 11th of September they anchored near Govern-

ors island, New York. After being detained some time, they

were landed in boats at Elizabethtown point ; it was ten or

eleven o'clock at night, the moon shining beautifully, when Mor-

gan, standing in the bow of the boat as it approached the land,

sprang upon the shore, and throwing himself upon the ground

as if to embrace it, cried out, " Oh, my Country !
" Indeed they

were all delirious with gladness, for the night was passed in sing-

ing, dancing, the Indian halloo, and every wild expression of

joy. Henry, with the late Col. Frebecer, or Febiger, and Gen.

Nichols, soon reached Philadelphia, and was restored to the

arms of his parents.

Major Meigs and Captain Dearborn had been permitted to

return on parole in the month of May. They were sent to Hali-

fax in the frigate Niger, and there were put on board .another

ship, in which they cruised thirty da}7s experiencing the gross-

est insults, before they were landed in Penobscot bay. Thence

they proceeded to Portland by land, and were exchanged in

March, 1777.

Of some of the men, engaged in this attack upon Quebec, a

short account may be interesting to the reader.

Richard Montgomery was born in the north of Ireland in

1737, and possessed a fine genius, which was matured by a good

education. He fought under Wolfe at Quebec, in 1759. In

1772, after his return to England, he left his regiment, and from

his attachment to America, emigrated to the Hudson river, a

hundred miles above the city of New York. At the commence-

ment of the revolutionary war he offered his services to our

country. The sickness of Gen. Schuyler gave him the chief

command of the northern army in October, 1775. He captured

St. Johns, November 3d, and took Montreal on the 12th. Of

his subsequent operations an account has been given. He was

shot through both his thighs and his head. Carleton, who had

been his fellow soldier in the war with the French, buried him

honorably. The coffin was covered with a pall, surmounted by

transverse swords, and was followed by British troops, particu-

•
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larly the 7th Regiment, with reversed arms and scarfs on the left

elbow. The other officers were buried in a very proper manner.

Ee was tall and slender, of an easy, graceful, and manly ad-

dress, with a handsome countenance, although it was much

marked by the small pox. lie had the confidence, esteem, and

love of the whole army. When he addressed his troops, he

spoke with elegance and energy and transfused his own heroic

spirit into the hearts of his men.

In consequence of an act of the legislature of New York,

his remains were taken up by his nephew, Col. L. Livingston, in

June, 1818, and conveyed to New York, where they were again

entombed with the highest honors. His widow was then alive.

The following inscription was on his coffin : "The State of New
York, in honor of Gen. Richard Montgomery, who fell glori-

ously fighting for the Independence and Liberty of the United

States before the walls of Quebec, the 31st day of December,

1775, caused these; remains of this distinguished hero to be con-

veyed from Quebec and deposited, on the Sth of July, in St.

Paul's church, in the city of New York, near the monument

erected to his memory by the United States."

By the direction of Congress, a monument of white marble of

the most beautiful simplicity, with emblematical devices, was ex-

ecuted by Mr. Cassiers at Paris, and it is erected to his memory
in front of St. Paul's church, New York.

Of Arnold, who was next in command to Montgomery, every

one knows, that he proved a traitor to his country, and fled from

"West Point to the enemy at New York in September, 1780.

Although a brave man, yet he was destitute of some of the

qualifications of a good commander, and was lost to the influence

of moral principle. In Canada he was accused of plundering

the inhabitants. In Philadelphia he was accused of peculation

and various acts of extortion, and was reprimanded in 1779 by

the decision of a court martial. He died in London, June 14th,

1801. Mr. Henry describes him as a short, handsome man, of

a florid complexion, stoutly made, as complaisant, and possessed

of great powers of persuasion, but sordidly avaricious.

Col. Gkeex was advanced in years, yet he had the ardor of

youth, and afterwards did service to his country at Redbank, on
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the Delaware, in the autumn of 1777, in repelling the attack of

Count Donop, who was killed. Col. Green was cut to pieces by

horseman's sabers at an outpost, called Pine's Bridge, near the

Hudson river, in the spring of 1780.

Morgan, who was eminent during the whole revolutionary war,

was of a large person, strong, of rough and severe manners. At
the beginning of the expedition he claimed for the rifle officers

to be independent of all the superior officers except Arnold
;
but

"Washington corrected the evil. Morgan was of an impetuous

temper; his passions were easily excited, but they were also

soon cooled, and he was prudent in war, while totally fearless of

danger. The severity of his discipline was sometimes great, al-

though perhaps necessary. On entering the wilderness he pro-

hibited tiring-. Soon afterwards a gun was discharged in the

woods. Having reason to suspect a man, who returned to camp,

he accused him of the offence, and on his denial, seized a billet

of wood and threatened to knock him down, unless he confessed.

The man escaped by the interference of another officer.

Of Captain Henry Dearborn, afterwards Major General Dear-

born, deceased within a few years past, a detailed account, it is

understood, has been prepared by his son, Gen. Dearborn of

Eoxbury.

John Joseph Henry was 17 years old the day he crossed the

river De Loup, and reached the first house in Canada. He was

the son of Wm. Henry, Esq., of Lancaster, Pa. At the age of

fourteen he was an apprentice to his uncle, a gun-smith, and

probably acquired some skill, which was useful to him in prison.

He accompanied his uncle to Detroit, and on his return on foot

through the wilderness, his guide perished, and he himself was

obliged to subsist on acorns before he reached the Ohio. After

his expedition to Quebec, Morgan procured for him the appoint-

ment of captain in the Virginia line ; but a slight cold, occasion-

ing the return of the scurvy, put an end to his military career.

A contusion on his knee, occasioned by a fall on the ice in the

battle of Quebec, as he was running towards the first barrier,

became a dangerous wound. He had run against a cable fasten-

ing a vessel to the shore, and was thrown down a declivity ten

feet. He was confined to his bed, and a lameness ever remained



Arnold's expedition. 531

with him. Having studied law under Stephen Chambers, Esq.

whose youngest Bister he married, lie practiced law from the

year 1785, until December, 1793, when he was appointed by Gov.

Mifflin, to the office of Presidenl of the second judicial district

of Pennsylvania. Ee held this office seventeen years, although

the gout and other disorders often interrupted his duties during

the last seven years. Under the long years of his bodily suffer-

ings his mind reverted with delight to the adventurous scenes of

his youth, and he drew up for his children an account of the ex-

pedition against Quebec. His infirmities at last induced him to

resign his office, and in four months afterwards, about the year

1810, at his residence in Paxton, Dauphin county, died at the

age of 52 years. At the close of his account he expresses a

wish which it is afflicting to read, that his sufferings in his sick-

ness, immediately after his return from Quebec, had ended a life,

which afterwards was a tissue of labor, pain, and misery. Calam-

ity is indeed the lot of man; and Judge Henry had an unusual

share of suffering. It might have gladdened the hearts of other

sufferers, if his narrative had rather closed with the expression

of his hope, founded upon the religion of Jesus Christ, which he

believed and vindicated, that he should soon be translated to a

world, in which pain and misery are unknown.

Thomas Boyd, Henry's companion in the exploring party, and

in imprisonment, and the largest and strongest man in his com-

pany, was in ITS'.), the captain of a company of riflemen of the

first Pennsylvania regiment. Under Gen. Sullivan he penetrated

into the western part of the State of New York in the expedi-

tion against the Indians of the Six Nations in the Seneca coun-

try, or country south of Seneca lake. lie was sent in the night

of September l*Jth from the cam]), near a lake called Conesus

with twenty soldiers, five volunteers, and an Oneida Indian chief,

named Han-Jost, directed by Sullivan to reconnoiter an Endian

town, supposed to be six miles distant. This party fi 11 into an

ambuscade the next day. and were all killed but three or four,

who escaped. Boyd and Han-Jost and Michael Parker were

taken and carried to the Indian (own, or Genesee castle, and

there tortured and put to death. On the 1 Itli, the army arrived

at the town or castle. Boyd's head was found separated from the
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body and scalped, right eye taken out, and also his tongue. His

right foot from the ball of the heel to the toes was cut open.

His bowels had been taken out, and a long knife was sticking in

deep between his shoulders. General Simpson, his companion

in the wilderness of Maine, with Captain Thomas Campbell, de-

cently buried him on the 14th of September. His scalp, hooped

and painted, found in one of the wigwams, was recognized by
General Simpson by its long, brown, silky hair; and the dread-

ful relic was still preserved when Henry wrote his narrative.
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Prom Uu Record of a Court held m Saco in lG/,0.

The plaintiffs dcclareth that for ten years I thereaboute he was lawfully

and in peaceable possession of a certain tract of land lyeing within this province, km

the name of Spurwink the wch. lott of land of two thousand acres the plaint, held as bis owne

inheritance by virtue of a pmise made unto nimby you Sr. Ferdinando Gorges, being then

one of the Pattentees unto whom wth the rest of the Pattentees was assigni d all the land in

New Ei i tj and forrj of north latitude, wth the government

thereof— wch.pm'isel was made unto me for my encouragement before mj coming into this

country in any place unp< you well knowne.

The plaint, further declaretb that aboute the time aforesaid he joyneing himself in p'tener-

shippS wth. Richard Tucker then of Spurwink. who hod also ace there, the

wch. he bought and purchased for a valueable consideration of Richard Bradshaw, who was

formerlie setled there b;j Capt. Walter Neal by virtue of a c< nission to him given i >.% some

of tin' lords Pattentees, and sue us appeareth tip' >ai<l Richard Tucker was lawfully posessed of

a right of inheritance at and in the said Spurwink.*

the plaint, farther declareth that he joyneing bis right bypm'ise and posession wth.

his pt'ner's righi of pt i, and soo I ing accountable to his Baid pt'ner, they

both agreed to joyne their rights together, and there to build, plante and continue: wch.

when tin' plaint, had done and was there settled for two'years or thereabouts, this defendt.

Jno. Winter came and pretended an interest there by virtt I a ju ce< lin patl Ql hi i u| it i.--

iousUe obtained, and soe by force ofarmes expi Ued and thrust away the plaint, from his house,

lands ai defendt. to this day unjustly and unlawfully detainetb ami

keepeth controrie to equitie and justice for wch. wrongs ami injuries the plaint, in iiiis

Cmt'' commencetb his action of trespass upon the case for the trover, ami demandetb tor his

i pounds st. rling— for all wch. the plaint, of this Conrte humbly desireth,

and in his Ma'ties 3 na i tl proceeding according to hi- Ma'ties lawes.

The defendt. John Winter cometh into this Courte and saitb that be defendeth all the

wrongs, injuries ami damage « here and » hen he ought—first ho answeareth and saith th.it the

plaint, was never lawfully seised and posessed of two thousand acres of land knowne l.\ the

name of spurwink. nor any pte or pcell4 thereof as his ownc inheritance by any lawful! grant

from Sr. Ferdinando Gorges in manner ami form as the plaint, declareth) for the plaint, de-

claring a pmise to him mad aether showeth herein the year, day

L Promise. 2 Partnership. 3 Majesties. 4 Port nor parcell.

tdshaVs patent was dated November, 1631, tho same day with Thomas Commi
Black Point.]
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nor place when? and when this prnise was made, nor any consideration, wch. the plaint, ought

here to haw declared, for by the law no man can have action lye against another upon a bare

pmise, wch. said praise the said Sr. Ferdinando Gorges doth utterly deny. And whereas the

plaint, declareth that Richard Tucker had also a right of inheritance at Spurwink aforesaid by

purchase from Richard Bradshaw, who was formerly settled there by Capt. Walter Neale by

virtue of a commission to him given by some of the lords pattentees. and that the plaint.

joyned his right wth. the right of the said Rich. Tucker his ptener there to build, plant and

continue. To this the defendt. answeareth that Capt. Walter Neale had then no power from

anie of the Lords pattentees to dispose of any land within this province but only in Pascattaqua.

And the defendt. in answeare to the plaint, further saith that the President and Councell of

New-England by their deed indented bearing date the First day of December, 1631, for the con-

siderations therein expressed, did give, grant, allott, assigne, and confirmo unto Robert Tre-

lawny and Moses Goodyeare of Plimouth, marchants, their heires, associates and assignes for

ever, all those lands and hereditaments with appurtnances, situate, lyeinge and being alongo

the sea coast eastward betweene the land formerly granted to Capt. Tho. Cammock his

heires, associatts and assignes and the bay and river of Cascoe, extending and to be extended

northwards into the Mayne land soe farre as the limitts and bounds of the land granted to tho

said Capt. Tho. Cammock as aforesaid—doe or ought- to extend towards the north, wth all

and singular tho pmisses 1 with appurtnances as by the said deede indented more at large it

dnth and may appeare—the said deede writinge being under the hands of the Right honorable

Robert Earle of Warwick, Edward Lord Gorges, and Sr. Ferdinando Gorges, knight, in the bo-

halfe of the whole Councell : now this defendt being an assoeiatt to the aforesaid Robert Tre-

lawney and Principal] agent for him in those partes, upon receiveing a coppie of the aforesaid

deed indented wth orders for the takeing and receiveing livery and posession of the said land

and pmisses, did forthwith repaire to Capt. Walter Neale, Henry Joselin, Leiftenant, and

Richard Vines, gent. win. were authorised and appointed by the said President and Councell

to be their lawful] atturneyes or atturney, they or anjr of them to deliver full and peaceable

posession of the pmisses, or some pte in the name of the whole, to the said Robte Trelawney

and Moses Goodyeare, or to their certaine attorney or atturneyes. Whereupon tho aforesaid

Richard Vines on the 21th day of July, 1632, and likewise agaiue on the 30th day of the same

month, ilid give livery and posession of pte of the pmisses in the name of the whole unto tho

defendt for the use of the aforesaid Robert Trelawney and Moses Goodyeare according to law

and the true intent and meaning of the aforesaid deed. After this that tin' defendt was law-

fully seised of all the land mentioned in the aforesaid deed, and finding the plaint unlawfully

setled at Spurwink aforesaid upon pte of the aforesaid land granted to the said Robert Tre-

lawney and Moses Gooryeare their heires, associatts, and assignes by the aforesaid president

and Councell for New-England and Sr Ferdinando Gorges, knight, did in a friendly manner

(without force) warne the said plaint, to leave the posession of the said land at Spurwink

showing him withallthe contents of the aforesaid deed (and withall by order from the said

Robt Trelawney did proffer the plaint, that if he pleased to become a tenant to the said Robt

Trelawny on such conditions as the defendt ppouuded that he might still remayne there in

some other pte of his land and enjoy the same accordingly, wch the plaint then refused to ac-

cept of but still continued his unlawfull clayme by virtue of a prmise from Sr Ferdinando

Gorges. And hereupon the defendt repaired to Capt. Walter Neale then Governor of those

ptes, and required justice of him for the removeinge of the plaint out of tho aforesaid poses-

sion, and to give the defendt liverie and posession thereof according to the aforesaid deed,

whereupon the said Capt. Walter Neale required the plaint, to yeeld up the said posession,

affirming that be had no right to that land. Hut soone after tin 1 plaintiff left his said posses-

sion to the defendt. And this the defendt is ready to atfirme, and for the residue of the differ-

ence he humbly accepteth the power of the Courte to heare and determine their pleas of this

matter, and so putteth himselfe upon the couutrey.

1 Premises.
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The pi. tint, and defendt. hereupon joyne issue and pul themselves upon the trial] of u Jury,

viz.

1. Richard Foxill, gent. T. Jno. Smith

2. Mi lb -

s
- •I""- Baker

3. Mr. Francis Robii 9. Arnold Allin

I. \ir. \\ Ulm. Colo 10. Willm Scadlock

5. Mr. Tho. Williams 11. Henry "Warwick

C. Jno. West 12. Jno. W

The Jury find for the plainl the house and land enclosed containing fours acres or there-

ahoutejoyning wth the said house, and givo him eight; pounds for damage, and twelve shillings

pi ii ce i" the cost i if the Courto.

.lu.i emeni It jiven upon this verdicl by tho worsp'll Tho. Qorgi B nry Joselin, Richard

Bonython and Edward Godfrey, and execution by them awarded. Mr. Rich. Vines refused to

give judgment on this verdict.

No. [I.

PETITION OF ROBERT JORDAN I\ 1648, AND THE PROCEEDINGS

THEREON.

To the n- hi honoured Alexander Rigby, President, Mr. George Cleave, Deputy President, to-

gether with the whole body of the general Assembly of the Province of Lygonia assembled

this 12th dayof September, 1648.—Your Petitioner, sheweth.

Whereas he hath by the order of the authority hare estated, endeavoured to the utmost t'>

accomplish the last Testament of Mr. John Winter, deceasi d, for 1 1 1
«

- satisfying of whose lega-

cies he hath < -i 1

1

1 .1 i. -el himself of his proper estate, the mostnesa oi which the said Mr. John

Winter hi- estate lieth in the hands of the executors of Mr. Robert Trelawny, and hath

been by them detained for these manj years, notwithstanding the deceased John Winter did

in his lit'.' time press them for an accompt,'as likewise hath your Petitioner by divers swosive

letters and the m idi ition of friends addressed unto them, for the pass of accompts and rectify-

ing of former proceeds the d I tee allowing him no other means to that end : yel -till

hei left without hope of any timous recovery of the said estate; neither can he bo much as

receives letter from them, bul is made to know that their Intentions in appearance are t" de-

prive your Petitioner of what he hath in his hands, in common employment with them, and

bo to forbear all satisfaction of dues, until the heir of the said Trelawny (being now about

or eight \ .-.ii - old) shall rum.' to full age, which will tend to the destruction of y ' Petitioner

and his whole family, as also to 1 1 1
|
n hi !i > of this growing Commonwealth : your Petitioner

being desirous, if he could obtain his rights, to employ his estate to the furtherance of public

g I, from which he is now disenabled. Sour Petitioner, therefore, humbly craveth your

s irious consideration of this his desperate condition and that in your wisdoms you would either

by yourselves or a committee by you appointed, take on examination of the accompts betwixt

them and upon the invent thereof that you would in your core provide, that your Pi I

in iv b i\" secured and Bequest) red unto himself and for hin singular us.-, what he hath of tho

sai.l Trelawny in hi.- hands, or atleast so much as you shall And due from him to your Petitioner,

it being but a case c [uity, that whereas you by law having en titioner

in satistie debts and bequeathments, yon should likewise see to the safegui are the

dutys that should make the Bame satisfaction for which legal favour your blessedne 3 shall

be prayed for by your ivtiti

September 14th, 1648. This Petition is granted by this assembly and referred to a committee

of this house, viz. Mr. George Cleave, Mr.Wm. Royall, Mr. Richard Foxwell, Mr. Bene : \\ atts.
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to be satt on ye tenth day of October next, at Richman's Island, to make Report of the state

of the thing petitioned for, to this Court, at the next Sessions, under the hand of the clerk of

this Assembly, Peyton Cooke.

Taken out of the original—examined and recorded this 14th August, '58. Pr. Edw : Rish-

worth, Re : Cor.

A true copy from the Records of Deeds for York County, Maine, the first book, pages 57 and

58.

The Report of us Commissrs. for the business of the Plantation at Richmond's Island, as it

was taken by order, the tenth day of October, and is delivered to the General Assembly, this

16th December, 1648.

1. We find by an instrument bearing date the 26th of March, 1636, under Mr. Robert Tre-

lawny 's hand, that the full government of the plantation was by him wholly committed to Mr.

John Winter.

2. We find Mr. John Winter then had one tenth part of the patent Mr. Trelawny then had

or thereafter should have and that Mr. John Winter then had the tenth part of all things on

the plantation and ought to have the tenth part of all the profits that should thence arise.

3. We find that Mr. John Winter had then paid his part for what had been disbursed, and

was to pay from time to time, his tenth part of what should be disbursed.

4. We find that Mr. John Winter was to have out of the general forty pounds pr. annum in

money and a share for his personal care and charge.

5. We find that the whole disposing of all things was committed to Mr John Winter, which

Mr. Robert Trelawny promiseth to approve of.

6. AVe find that Mr. Robert Trelawny acknowledged to have remaining in his hands ono

hundred and twenty pounds of Mr. John Winter's toward the payment of his ono tenth part

of his disbursments, on the ship Agnis and one other ship to be sent on Michaelmas following.

7. We find that Mr..Robert Trelawny promiseth to manage the business in England for the

advantage of Mr. John Winter, as for his own advantage in all things.

8. We find by an accompt under the hand of Mr. Robert Trelawny, bearing date the 17th

of March, 1039, that Mr. John Winter left in Mr. Robert Trelawny his hand 120 pounds as

abovesaid, the profit of which said sum from the 26th day of March, to that time, being threo

years, did arise to the sum of one hundred twenty and five pounds 17s. 9d. so the total due to

Mr. John Winter at that time was £245. 17s. 9d. out of which sum Mr. Robert Trelawny

doth deduct sixty-seven pounds seven shillings and eleven pence for such sums he had in

the said interim disbursed for Mr. Winter his particular accompt, so Mr. Robert Trelawny doth

acknowledge there was due then unto Mr. Winter for balance of accompts for all things

in return £178. 9s. lOd. £178. 9s. lOd.

9. We find by a book of accompts left by Mr. John Winter under his hand, from the year

1636, to the last of June, 1639, due unto him for wages and shares for himself and servants

£178. 9s. 9 14d. of which his tenth is £17. 16s. lid. so his due is £160. 12s. 10 l-4d.

10. Wo find from the 24th of May, '36 to the 5th of June '39, Mr. Winter did disburse

for tho plantation servants £4. 9s. lOd. his tenth part is nine shillings, so his due rest-

ing is, ......... . £4. 0s. lOd.

so tho total due to Mr. John Winter in March, 1639, is £343. 3s. 6 l-4d. which said sum,

according to the improvement formerly allowed by Mr. Robert Trelawny, doth and will

amount from the 17th of March, 1639, to the 17th of March, 1648, to above the sum of

£1393. 12s. Od. £1393. 12s. Od.

A Report of further proceeds to be added to the former

—

1. We find by letters, under the hand of Mr. Robert Trelawny, on the 20th of July, 1639,

the barke Richmond about thirty tons, improved likewise in the years aforesaid, was sent by

Mr. John Winter for England loaden with six thousand of pipe staves, which cost here

£08. 08s Od.per thousand, of which staves Mr. John Winter's one tenth part is £6. 14s 3 l-2d.

and according to former improvement, doth amount unto above £26. 17s. Od.

2. We find that the 1-10 part of the sd bark and the profit by her employment doth apper-

tain to Mr. John Winter over since her arrival in England, September, 1639, having been ever
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since solely employed by Mr. R. Trelawny, which 1-10 we estimate fur her Hull, rigging, and

provisional £20, and according to improvement allowed l>y Mr. Trelawny informer years is

above 680.

3. We find by a 1 k of acps from 1640 to the 10th of June '11 due to Mr. John Winter

.CUT. L2s. 2d. whereof bis 1-10 part is fill. 15s. 4.1. go his principal is £105. 16s. 10 l-2d. and

according to allowance June 10th, ltils. ariseth to above £320.

4. We Bnd by al k of acps from 1641 to the last of May 1642 duo to Mr. John Winter the

sum of fi96. 1 Is. Id. whereof his 1-10 part is £9. 13s. Od. so his duo is £87. Is. which May last

1618 doth arise to above £176.

5. We find by the Bame book due to Mr. J. Winter for the supply of the ship Hercules

£47. 12s. 9d. which according to former allowance in May 1648 doth arise to above £142. 16.

6. We find a certain quantity of goods delivered by John Winter from the plantation

amounting to £63. 10s. 2d. whereof his 1-10 is CO. 13s. and according to allowance is £19. 19s.

7. We find by a book of acptstothe lasi of May 1643 Mr. J. Winter Dr. £31. 6s. 2d. of which

1-10 is £3. 2s. 8d. so is due to the plantation £28. 3s. 6d. toward the payt. whereof wo find dis-

bursed by Mr. J. Winter £5. 15s. lOd. of which his 1-10 is lis. 7d. so he hath paid £5. 4s. 4d.

also we find certain goods delivered from the plantati >f which Mr. Winter's 1-10 is £2. 3s.

Id. so having paid £7. 7s. 5d, lie is still Dr. for that year £20. 16s. Id.

8. Wo find by a book of acps. to the last of May 1644 Mr. Winter Cr. tho sum of £230. 19s.

6d. also for disbursements on the servants £2. 19s. 3d. so the whole is £233. 18s. 9d —(9.) We
find Mr. Winter Dr. the same year 676. 17s. of which his l-lo is £7. 13s. 8d. so is due to the

plantation £69. 3s. (10.) We find that Mr. Winter is Dr. for the years 1644 and 45 the sum of

£4SS. 16s. 7d. for which his 1-10 is £is. 17s. 8d. so there resteth £139. 18s lid. (11.) We find

Mr. Winter is Cr. in the same book 6409. lis. 8. of which his 1-10 is £40. 19s. 1 l-2d. so there

is due to Mr. Winter £360, l'Js. 6 1-2. so on the balance of these years thoro is due to Mr.

Winter the sum of £64 13s. 31-2d which according to former allowance from the last of May
1644 to the last of May 1648 did arise to above £150 17s. 8d. (12.) Wo find by a letter from

Mr. John Trelawny one of the Ex'rs, that Mr. Robert Trelawny gave to Mr. J. Winter the

sum of £12. in legacy, bo the total since L639 is £1393. 12s. Od.

A report of what we find by letters that Mr. R. Trelawny bath disbursed for Mr. J. Winter

on' his own particular a p. 1. Wo find by an invoice Mr. Trelawny disbursed £25. 5s. Od. in

the year 1642 and is according to allowance £72. 5s. Od. (2.) We find by letters £3. paid to

Mary Hooper by his order 1643 and is £8. (3) We find £15. pd by letters to Mary Hooper

1644 and is £35. (4.) We find by Invoice s.-nt by Mr. Trelawny his Ex'r In tho year 1644 £16.

()--. (ill. Portugal money worse by £17. in the hundred than our English and according to al-

lowance may be about £34. (5.) A bill of Exch. pd. by Mr. John Holland £10. and is by al-

lowance about £20.

According to this Report Mr. John Winter is Cr. £2322. Is. 8d.

and " " " " Dr. 168. 5s.

£2153. 16b. Od. remaining.

A Report of what we tin. 1 Mr. Trelawny hath had sent unto him by Mr. J. Winter since tho

year 1639. (I.) We find Mr. J. Winter hath sent unto him in several ships in fish mer-

chantable and refuse 8066 1-2 quint. 2nd of Core fish 38 1-2 quint Train Oil 11 hhds. tish

peas 28 1-2 which tish peas and train according to price hero cannot amount to leas than

£2292.— Also we find he hath bad Mr. Winter's 1-10 of the bark Richmond ever since

her departure in 1689, also he hath reed the whole voyage made by t h // ••.<'. m loll. u-.>

he hath ml the whole VOVOge made by the Mi/yuy in 1642, also he bath reed the wholo voy-

age made by the ship Hercules in 1643. Also he hath had the whole Imployment of the ship
/'. n <nd and reed to himself all her several voyages in all which Mr. J. Winter ought to have
his part according to his interest, but hath not renl. Besides his other adventures which his

stock of money in Mr. Trelawny'.- hand, would and haply did carry on to profit, at least wise
Me. Trelawny did engage to turn all to advantage as lor himself; also we find there is due to

Mr. John Winter the 1-10 part of the ship Richmond, which in the former acp. is not valued

because not belonging to the petitioner only her employment from 1641 to 1645 belongeth to

34
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the petitioner and is to be added to the above acp. as in discretion it may bo valued. We
also find that by letters Mr. Winter desired a pass of acps. but it doth not appear that any

hath been sent only a promise from Mr. John Trelawny that they shall be sent when the

peace of England is settled.

The acp. of Hubert Jordan since his attorneyship deputed by J. Winter May 20 1615.

The plantation Cr. from 1645 to June 1, 1040 £241. ISs. lOd. whereof the 1-10 is £24. 3s. lid.

so there resteth £217. 14s. lid. The plantation Cr. from 1645, to Oct. 1, 1648, £924. 3s. Sd. 1-10.

whereof is 92. S. 4 1-2. so there rests £832. 15. 3 1-2. The plantation Cr. for goods sent on par-

ticular acp. £102. 4. ."]. The plantation Cr. for goods in general £80. 3. whereof 1-10 is .Cti. 3.

1-2. The plantation Cr. for pd. by bill of Exch. £30. £1278. 17. 8.

Contra Debitor. From 1645 to June 1646, £24S. 18. 8. 1-10 is £24. 18. so there is resting £224

0. 0. 1040 to Oct. 10, 1648 plantation Dr. £1152. 9. 3. of which l-10th is £115. 4. 11 1-4. so there

rests 1037 4. 3 3-4. In 104") I sent to Bilboa on the plantation acp. 140 quint, merchantable

fish, my l-10th being 14 quint. £14.—total Dr. 1275. 4. 3 1-2. so it appears I remain Dr. to the

Plantation £3.13.4. 1-1. which you shall find added to the inventory.—This writing was at-

tested to by the oaths of George Cleeve and Henry Watts, July 16, 165S, before us Saml. Sy-

mond-i, Thos. Wiggins, Nich. Shapleigh, Ed. Rishworth.

Inventory of the property belonging to Tretaiony'splantation,

A true inventory of all the goods cattle and chattels that now are on the plantation at Rich-

mond island and Spurwink in joint ownership between Mr. Robert Trelawny mereht. deed

and Mr. John Winter deed, taken by com'n this 10th Oct. A. D. 164S and by us approved

according to our knowledge and conscience.

Imp. The laud is left in suspense for want of appearance of any right Mr. Trelawny hath in

it, only the court to adjudge how long the petitioner shall retain the possession.

To the housing and several buildings on the island and at Spurwink we value to be worth

£80. "3 boats ill use with their moorings and appurt. £2S. " 2 old boats out of use at £2.

"3 pieces of ordnance with a small number of shot, their sponges worm and ladles £50. "4

musk its, 3 halberts, 5 long pikes, 3 old fowling pieces out of all order and l- 4 old swords £3. 10.

1 murderre and two chambers £1. 10. ;< The ministers bedding, the communion vessels, one

cushion, one table cloth, 1 1-2 pint pot £4. 1 old skiff, 1 old canoe £1. The stage with a quan-

tity of old cask £10. 6. 1 old adze with 3 old axes 5s. 6 old hoes 1 old drawing knife 2s. 6

doz hooks at 16s. 5 doz lines at £7 3 lbs. twine 4s. 6cL 1 doz and 4 Newfoundland lines £1. 6 lb.

match £1. 0. 6. 2 whip saws 1 thwart saw, 1 old thwart saw lis.

1 old drum, . . . . . . . .5s.

4 beetle rings, 5 iron wedges, 1 old Fins hook, ... 8

2 bill hooks, 7 reap hooks whole and broken, . . . .10

3 balls 2 iron bars, 1 of them broken, . . . .10
2 grinding stones, 1 trowell, . . . . . .5 6d.

1 old pick ax, 1 tiuing lanthorn, 3 pieces of lanthorn, . .36
2 pitch forks for hay, . . . . . . .16
2 shovels and 1 spade, . ... 10

1 old mill out of all use, ...... £1

1 old bozier, at ...... . 1

1 brewing kettle, 1 old kettle, 1 French kettle, 1 iron

kettle, and two iron pots, 1 pitch pot, . . £6 £201. Is.

2 trifoots, 2 iron pothangers, 1 pair of pot hooks,

1 old chamber pot, 2 tin platters, 1 tin basin, and 1 qt. pot,

1 water bucket and a cowle, ......
1 pair of tongs, 5 milk pails, 1 water bucket, 2 bowls, 3 .

wooden platters, 1 churn and 12 milk pans, .

5 chests, 25 lbs. Lead, 1 pr steelyards, 1 pr scales, 3 coulters and 4

shares out of use ......

£.
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2 old wheelbarrows, 16 white hats moth eaten, 1 old flagg, some

email earthern ware and 40 lbs hoops

4 cows, ........
12 calves whereof one Is since, dead, ....

j oung and old, ......
about 20 bushels of meal, .....
4 hundred of 2s nails ......
a .small quantity of musty peas ....
1-4 of cwt of bread . .....
4 cwt of beef .......
21 cheeses ........
160 lbs of butter ......
1 seine and 2 old nets ......
7 pickaxes and 1 trows .....
6 old hags ........
22 lis eoap . . .....
24 pigs on the Island young and old ....
about ;»0 hds salt ......
j bushels malt .......
about 30 lbs cannon powder .....
10 fishing loads .......
L lock and key, 2 splitters and 6 gutters

Goods at Spurwink to be addod.

13 cows ........
u yearlings ........
5 oxen for the yoke ......
1 bull

5 bullocks, ..... . .

4 steers £20, 3 heifers 9 ..... .

G steers ........
16 pigs of two years and vantage .....
7 pigs of 1 year old ......
3 boars cut this spring, .....
2 -in king pigs .......
to be further added 1 kettle .....
2 tubs, 5 milk pans, 2 cheese fats, 1 post and hanger, 1 hand saw,

1 pickax, 2 old bo/.iers, old scythes . . . .

1 bargubus, 1 fowling piece, a quantity of old iron, pr. of wheels

harrow tines, 2 plow chains, 1 dung pot, 6 yokes, 1 pot hanger,

1 old hoe, 2 wooden platters and 1 old lanthorne

. 14
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An act added by Robt. Jordan since tbis inventy. was taken the 10th

Oct. 1648. Plantation is Cr.

due to the plantation 133 quint, of fish sold to Mr. Hill, but not yet

paid ........
whereof the 1-10 is

80 there rests due to Mr. Trelawny .....
2-3 of 2 hhds of train oil .

2 1-2 hhds of mackerel .....
An account added by Robt Jordan.

The plantation is Dr. for his charge 1-2 a year . . . .

for bis ministry as by composition 1-2 a year

for his 1-10 part of train and mackerel ....
his share of mackerel and train .

For his share of fish .......
For his wages to Roger Satterly ......
For his wages to Jerh Humphrey .....
277 lbs of beef spent since the account in attending on the fish be-

fore it was delivered ......
16 bushels of meal .......
3 goats .........
for 1-3 part of this year's portage, .

whereof his 1-10 is £2

for extraonlinaries in shipping of men and entertaining the march

t

the 1-10 £6 19 G 1-4 resting for Mr. Trelawny G2 15 8 3-5

Mr. Trelawny is Cr. . . 82 6 1-2

Dr. . . 62 4 8 1-2

S 9
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retain, occupy to his and their proper use and profit, t invert Ml the g Is, lands, cattle and

chattels belonging to Robl Trelawny, deed, within this province, from this day forwardand

forever, against any claim or demand whatsoever, by what party or parties soever, unless tip.

execrs.of thesd. Robert Trelawny shall redeem and release tln-m I >y t Ii«- consent and allow-

ance of the Bd. Robert Jordan, his heirs, execrs. adminrs. and assigns— « inch sd. order is en-

acted for and towards the party's satisfaction of a debt due p. the Baid Robert Jordan, and is in

lieu an! valuation of 809 10 1-2—six hundred and nine pounds M l-2d.—only ye remainder of

this debt being left by as recoverable by any just course of law, according to conveniency.

Subscribed by I I beves, deputj president,

William ROYALL, HENRY Watts,

John Cossons X his mark,

Peter Hill, X his mark Robt. Booth.

Vera copia—pr. me, Peyton Cooke.

July lt'>, Anno Domini 1658—attested Before us Commissi-*, of ye General Court of the Mas-

sachusetts Governmt. in New-England, since the change of the government by G oi e CI

aforesaid, then deputy president, and Henry Watts, being taken upon their several oaths ye

day and year last above written.

Iho: Wiqoin, Edwd. RisttwoRTn,

Samuel Symonds, Nicholas Shapleigh.

Vera copia taken out of the original, and examined this 20th day of August, 1658.

Pr. Enw. Rishworth, Re. Cor.

No. III.

COPY OF A JUDGMENT— CLEEVES vs. WINTER.

Saco in (he Province of Dlayne At a Court holden hero the Eighth day of September 1640,

before the Worshipfull Thomas Gorges, Iii< hard Vines, Kiidiard Bonython, Hen: Joselinand

Edward Godfrey Esquires, Councellors of this Province.

The Declaration of Geo : Cleeves (lent. Plant, against Mr. Jim. Winter Dcfendt.

The Pit. Declareth that he now is and hath been for these seven years and upwards Pos-

sessed of a Tract of Land in Casco Baj known first by the nai if Machigonney, being a neck

of Land which was in no man'- Possession or occupation and therefore the Pit. seis. d on it for

his own inheritance by virtt fa Royal Proclamation of our late sovereign lord Ring James
of Blessed Memory bj which he freely gave unto every subject of his which should Transport

himself over into this Country upon his own charge for himself and for every Person that ho

should soe Transport one Hundred and fifty acres of hand which Proclamation standeth still

in force to this Day by which right the Pit held and enjoyed it for the space of four years to-

gether without Molestation, [nternption or Demand of any and at the end of the said first four

years the Plaintiff Deeireous to inlarge his Umittsina lawfullway addressed himself to Sr

fferdinando Gorges the Proprietor of this Province and obtained for a sum of money and other

considerations a Warrantable Lease of Enlargement bounded as by relation thereunto had

doth and may appear. The Pit. Further Declareth that the Deft John Winter after all this

and four years Peaceable Possession without any Demand or title Pretended being moved with

envie and for some other sinister cause hath now for these three years Past and still doth um
justly pretend an inter.st and thereupon hath and Doth still interrupt me to my great hin-

drance thereby seeking my ruin and utter overthrow for all which the Pit. in this Court com-
mencetfa his action of Interruption and requireth a Virdict from a Jury of Twelve honest and

Indefferent men for the continuance of his P :eabli P on fortune to come and also

three Hundred Pounds Sterling for his Damage to be paid him by the Deft for his wrongful!

Interruption, and for all this the Pit. humbly Desireth of this Court and in his Majesty's Name
requireth a legal proceeding according to the Law.
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THE ANSWER OF JOHN WINTER DEFENDANT.

The Deft. John Winter conieth into this Court and saith that he Defendeth all the wrongs

Interruptions and Damage where and when he ought; first he saith that the Pit. was never

lawfully Possessed of that Tract of Land in CascoBay which he calleth by the name of Machi-

gonny but hath unjustly and contrary to the Law of our sovereign lord the Kingheld the same

as the Deft, hereafter shall make it appear and whereas the Plf. claimes the Inheritance of the

said land mentioned in his Declaration by Virtue of a proclamation of our late sovereign Lord

King James of blessed memory which Proclamation he saith standeth still in force and further

he Declares that being Desireous to inlarge his limits in a lawfull way addressed himself to Sr

fferdinando Gorges the Proprietor of this Province ami obtained for a sum of money and other

Considerations a warrantable lease of enlargement, this the Deft, answereth that he denyeth

that then there was or is any such Proclamation now in force, neither hath the Pit. any

Warrantable lease from Sr fferdinando Gorges for it will evidently appear that the aforesaid

Land was formerly Granted by some of the Lords Pattentees and Sr fferdinando Gorges unto

Robert Trelawny and Moses Goodyeare of Plymouth and livery and Beisen thereof given to the

Deft, to the use of the aforesaid Robert Trelawny and Moses Goodyeare, and that the Plf. cun-

ningly and Fraudulently by false Information obtained the aforesaid lease from the said Sr

fferdinando Gorges who did not know that any parte or portion of the said Robert Trelawny

and Moses Goodyear's Grant was called by the Name of Machigonny neither hath the Plf. given

any Consideration for the same. But the said fferdinando Gorges finding himself much abused

by the Pits, wrong information hath Given Express order by his Letter Directed to Richard

Vines his Steward General for this Province to put this Deft, iu Possession of the said Land

which the said Richard Vines hath done accordingly as the Deft, is ready to prove, and the Deft

saith further in answer to the Plf. that the President and Councill of New England, and Sr

fferdinando Gorges Knight by their Deed Indented bearing Date the first day of December 1631,

for the Consideration therein expressed did Give, Grant, Allot, Assign, and confirm unto Robert

Trelawny and Moses Goodyeare of Plymouth Merchants their heirs Associates and Assigns for

ever all those Lands and heriditaments with appurtenances situate Lying and being along the

eea coast eastward between the land formerly Granted to Capt. Thomas Cammock and the Bay

and River of Casco extending and to be extended Northwards into the Main lands so far as the

Limitts and*bounds of the Lands Granted to the said Capt. Thomas Cammock as aforesaid doe

and ought to extend towards the north with all and singular the Premises with appurtenances

as by the said Deed more at Large it doth and may appear Now this Deft being an associate to

the aforesaid Robert Trelawny and haveing receeved order from him for the Dispossessing of the

Plf of that parte of his Land did often Treate with the Plf in a friendly manner to have him

yeald up the Possession of the said Lands Proffering him that he should be a tenant there if

he Pleased on such Conditions as the Deft propounded otherwise if he would depart Quietly ho

would give him some Consideration for what he had done upon the said lands otherwise he

would give him nothing, but the Plf accepting none of these Proffers unjustly continues his

clame and Possession to the Great Damage of the Deft, and all this the Deft is ready to affirm

and for the residue of the Defference he humbly accepteth the Power of the Court to here and

Determine their please of this matter and so putteth himself upon the Country.

The Pit. and Deft, hereupon Joyne Issue and put themselves upon the Trial of this Jury,

viz.

1. Henry Bode, Gent. 5. Mr. Richard ffoxill 9. Capt Tho: Cammock
2. Arthur Mackworth Gent. 6. Mr. ffrancis Robinson 10. Jno. Baker

3. Willm Cole Gent. 7. Jno. Smith 11. Arnole Allin

4. Mr. Tho : Page 8. Jno. West 12. Thomas Withers

The Jury find for the Pits, the title of Land according to his Deede, and give him twelve

pence for his Damage and twelve shillings and 6ix pence for the cost of the Court.

Judgment is given upon this Verdict by the whole bench and Execution by them awarded.
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No. IV.

This Indenture made the twenty-seventh daj of January in the twelfth year of the reign of our

reign Lord Charles by the Grace of God Sing of Gn Ian I S sotland France and Ireland,

Di [i nder of the Faith, 4c.

Between Sir Ferdins il \ hton Phillipes in the C ity ol Somersett, Knight, of

,
, in> and (,. of Casco in th Province of New Somerset) in V

landin America Esquire and Richard Tuckei of ( ' thi said Provinee of New

tt in New England in America gent, of the other party witnesseth that the said Sir

Ferdinando Gorges for and in coi : the sum of one hundred pounds of g land

lawful monej of England to him in hand paid before the ensealing and delivery ol th v pres-

entsasalso fordivers other g I causes and considerations him the( id Ferdinando Gorges

hereunto especially moving hath given granted bargained sold and confirmed unto the said

George Cleeve and Richard Tucker their hi irs and assigns -all thai pi rl purport and
|

of lands in Am irics p urcell of New En ;land In America hereafter in these presents di

and to be described by the limits and bounds thereof that is to saj all that part purpart and

portion of lands beginning at the furthermost point of a neck of land called bj the Indiana

Machegonne and now and forever from henceforth to be called or known by thi

gummor and so along the - as it teudeth to the first fall of a little river issuing

out of a very small pond and from thence over land to the fails of Pesumsca being the first

falls in that river upon a strait lin.' containing by estimation from fall to fall as a fori iid near

about an English mile which together with the said neck of land that the said George Cleeve

an 1 the said Richard Tucker have planted for divers j ears already expired, is estimated in tho

whole to la' fifteen hundred acres or thereabouts, as also one island adjacent to the said prmises

and now in th" t inor or occupation of the said George Cleeve and Richard Tucket commonly

called or known by the name "f Hogg Island, which said premises n ith their appui :• nam es

are not already possessed or passed to any oth< r person or pi
i n er but now

f

bj me and this my special order for confirmation thereof under my hand and seal, all which

• now- are and hereafter shall be d lemed reputi d and taken to be parts parcels and mem-

bers of the Provini f New Somersettshire in New England aforesaid, and als.i the said Sir

Ferdinando Gorges for the considerations aforesaid hath given granted bargained Bold and

confirmed and by these presents doth give grant bargain sell and confirm unto the said

I lleevi and the said Richard Tucker their heirs and assigns, together with the said por-

tion of lauds and premises all tie- soils grounds w 1- and underwoods havens ports rivers

waters lakes fishings, fowlings mines and minerals as well royal] mines ol gold and silvei as

other mines and minerals precious stones quarries and all and singular other commodities ju-

risdiction - privileges franchises and pheminences whatsoever within the said tract of

lands and premises or within an] partoi parcel thei lof. Saving excepting and reserving only

out of this present grant the first part of all th 'e of gold and rilvi r found and to be found

In or upon th<> premises or anj p i due unto his majesty bis heirs and suc-

cessors and now or at any ..tier line- hereaftei reserved or to be reserved. To have and to

hold alland singular the said part purpart, and portion if lands and all other the premises herein

mentioned to be bargained Bold or granted with their and every of their appurtenances unto

re and Richard Tucker their heit is to the only and proper use

and behoof of them the said George Cleeve and Richard To :ker their heirs and assigns n> the

end and full term of two thousand years fully to be complete and ended, to be holden of the

said Sir Perdinando Gorges and his heirs Lord i
I P of New £

shire as of his or their mannor of Willitton and free manners in free and comm
feality only for all manner of services, and the yearly rent of two shillings tie- hundred for

every hundred acres thereofbe it in w Imeadowingpastur * tills

by distress oi ording to the laws and customs of the realm of 1 landap-

proved within the same for truants of like nature; and the said Ferdinando Gorges for him-

self his heirs and assigns doth covenant promise and grant to and with the said George

I Richard Tucker their hi u i ots that he the said Sir

Ferdinando Gorges his heirs and assigns shall and will from time to time and at all times
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hereafter do make acknowledge execute and suffer, or cause to bo done made acknowledged

executed and suffered all and every such further and other reasonable act and acts thing and
things devise and devises in the law for the further and better assurance and sure making of

all and singular the said lands and other the said premises with their and every of their ap-

purtenances unto the said George Cleeve and the said Richard Tucker their heirs and assigns

as by his and their councell learned in the laws shall be reasonabley devised advised or re-

quired and lastly the said Sir Ferdinando Gorges hath constituted ordained and appointed, and

by these presents cloth constitute ordain and appoint his trusty and well-beloved Isaache Aller-

ton and Arthur Mackworth gentlemen his true and lawful attorney and attornies jointly or

severally for him and in his name to enter into the said lands and other the said bargained pre-

mises or into any part or parcel thereof in the name of the whole and thereof to take full and

peaceable possession and seizen, and after such possession and seizen so had and taken then for

him and in his name to deliver full and peaceable possession and seizen of the same lands and

premises unto the said George Cleeve and Richard Tucker their heirs and assigns according to

the tenour effect and true meaning of these presents. In witness whereof the said parties to

these present indentures interchangeably have set their hands and seals. Dated the day and

year first herein above written Annoque Domini 1636. Ferd. Gorges.

Sealed signed and delivered 1 William Withington
in the presence of

J*
John Winnington

Memorandum that I Arthur Mackworth gent, have taken and delivered possession and seizen

unto George Cleeve Esq. and Richard Tucker gent, according to the order within prescribed.

In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand this eight day of June 1637.

Arthur Mackworth.

In the presence of Thomas Lewis,

John Lukeford, Geo. Frost.

This is a true copy of the original deed examined and recorded the 24th day of May—by me.

Roger Gard, Recorder.

LETTERS OF GORGES, VINES, JENNER, AND CLEEVES.

Aftor considerable progress had been made in the publication of this volume, I had the privi-

lege, by the kindness of Charles Deane, Esq., of Cambridge, of examining several very interest-

ing letters from the early settlers of Maine written to Gov. John Winthrop of Massachusetts.

The Winthrop papors are in process of publication by the Mass. Historical Society, Vol. VII.

of their 4th series, under editorship of Mr. Deane, and will throw much light upon the early,

and hitherto somewhat obscure transactions of that distracted period of our history. I am
permitted to make extracts from those letters, and to furnish facsimiles of the signatures. I

feel gratified that they confirm my conjectures on the causes that seriously disturbed the first

colonists upon these shores. Jealousy among the principal men, ambition to rule, disputes as

to titles and jurisdiction, and religious differences, were the prominent causes of most of the

troubles which produced the agitations and conflicts of that day, and opened the door for Massa-

chusetts to come in and assume the government. I have room for only a few extracts, and I

take those which have the most direct application to our local history. The letters of Gorges

cast a dark shadow upon the character of Cleeves which is however relieved by the favorable

opinion of Gov. Winthrop, and we may reasonably suppose that the expressions freely bestowed

upon each party by its opponents, are to be attributed rather to partizan zeal than as true ex-

ponents of character.

SIR FERDINANDO GORGES TO SIR HENRY VANE, JOHN WINTHROP, AND OTHERS.

Tomy much respected freindes, Henry Vane, John Winthropp, John Haines, John Humfrey and

John Dudley, E$quiers,give theis with speed.

Maie it please you,—Having receaved several leres from my servant Vines, & others, of

the generall dislike conceaved against Mr. Cleeves, for having to doe with anie my affaires, by
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reason (as it is affirmed) df the miscarriage of him,aa well towardes myselfe in particular, as the

wronpes bee offered them by his mlsreports to n ftheii e mlscai riage Id theireplaces, w hereby

hee hath intruded blmselfe into my g I opinion soe far forth as to bee joyned with yon in mat-

ters of soe greate trust, being soe vnworthey. * * * As for Vines, I know Ins hon-

esty to bee such as I could not abandon him out of my affeccion, as formerlj I bane written, yet

I conceived itt not amlsse toranckehim «ith the i-.st iu the general! discharge, thai it might

appearo there was t partiallity vsed, nor respect of persons, fortliereiu 1 spared not my neph-

ewe, uhome I esteenie next my owno children. As lor Vines, I intend hee shall still continue

Deputie Govexnour, and b loe pray you to settle him as before hee was, and to joyne with him

my nepbewe fjhampnowne, 4 such others ae you Bhall receave notice to bee fittest lor such ser-

vice; that thereby you male avoid the troubles you may otherwise bee put vnto, bj the maney

trobbles thai male arise soe Gut distant from you. What restefb more to.beedone in this, I refer

to your best resolucions, as tyme &. occasion serves, wherein [ feare I haue too much trenched

vppon your favours. Your true friend, to serve you

Ferde : Gorges.

Aishton Phillippes, 23°. Augustij, 1637.

SIR FERDIXANDO GORGES TO JOHN WIXTHROP.

To the Worshipfull dc my much respected /rend, John Wintrupp, Esqr, at Boston in the Bay,

these present.

Worthy Sir,—The sodduin approach of our loupe wished for Parlament inuites me to attend

the happy issue therof, that otherwise had a resolution to haue visited you this springe, bul I

haue sent a ueer kinsman of mine own name, with other necessary Beruants, for the better or-

deringe of my affaires, >t makinge of my profusion agaynst the time it shall please God I como

my seife. In the mean while 1 am bonld to intreat of you to second this my cosen Gorges in

any just and reasonable occasion he shall haue cause to vse your fauour in. 1 hauinge giuen

him command to be carefull to doe his best that all fayr correspondency be maintayned be-

tween those two eeuerall Plantations, as a speciall means, by Gods fauour, to giue furtherance

to the happinesse therof. Your very louinge frend

Ferde. Gorges.

AsnioN, March 26th, 1640.

RICHARD \ 1M.S TO JOHN WIXTHROP.

To the right Worshipfull his honoredJfreind, John Wenthrop : Esqr. at Boston, thes in Massa-

chusetts.

Right Worshipfull,—I received your letter concerning Mr. Jenner; acknowledging your

former courtesies to myselfe. and for your furtherance of a minister lor vs. our whole Plantation

ar greatly behoulding vnto yon. We haue foj ned both sides of our river together for his mayn-

tenance, and haue willingly contributed for his stipend, 47K per annum : hoping the Lord will

blesse and sanctifie his word vnto vs, thatwe maj be both hearers and doers ol the word and will

of God. I like Mr. Jenner his life and COnversaci and alsoehifi intaidiinp.il' he would lett

the Church of England alone ; that doth much trouble me, to heare our mother Church ques-

tioned for her impurity vpon every occasion, as if tfen (ministers I meane) had no other marke

toaime at, but the paps that gaue them suck, and from whence tln'.v first received the bread of

life.

Itseemes the govemourf makes a quest ion that Sir Fferdinando Gorges was not in the Kfrench

wars in his tyme. Capt. Bonyphon Intreata me to write a word or two thereof. I belieue it was

before Mr. Dudley his tyme, sir fterd: being now aere 80 yesxes ould, and he wenttothoso

wanes very young, and ther he received his honour. 1 haue often heard him discourse of those

warlike accions, and that the kinp of Ffrance himselfe fetched him of from a breach, being

wounded, either at the seige of Amiens,} or before Paris, I know not whether.

Sour assured h eind and servant,
Rich : \ ana

BAOO, 26th of January, 1640.

*[Wm. Gorges.] ffDudlej ]
}[Tnl597.]
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RICHARD VINES TO JOHN WINTHROP.

Sir,—Three or 4 yeares since Mr Cleiues (Cleeves) being in England, procured a writ out of the

Starr chamber office to command Mr. Edward Godfrey, Mr. John Winter, Mr. Purches, and my
Belfe, to apeare at the Counsell table ; to answear some supposed wrongs. Mr. Godfrey -went over

to answeare for himselfe Mr. Winter, and my selfe, and out of the same Court brings awrittto

command Cleiues to pay vnto him 207£ : for his charges, which he refuses to doe. Now SirFfer-

dinando Gorges gaue me order to see Mr. Godfrey haue right in this case. Cleiues says we hauo

nothing to due, neither haue wee any power to levy money here vpon any writts that come out

of England, for he will answeare it from whence it came. I shall humbly intreate your advise

herein, what course is to be taken, that I may free my selfe from blame and the malice of Cleiues,

who is a ffire brand of dissention, and hath sett the whole Province together by the yeares.

I make bould to trouble you herin, as a case of greate difficultie, desireing your answeare by

the first convenience.

I vnderstood by Mr. Shurt that you desired some gray pease for seed. Out of my small

store I haue sent you a bushell, desiring your acceptance thereof, ffrom

Your ffreind and servant,

Rick : Vines.

Saco. 25th Ja-nu : 1640.

RICHARD VINES TO JOHN WINTHROP.

To the right worshipfull his much honoredfreind John Winthorpe, Esqr. governor of the Massa-

chusetts Colony, these, Boston.

Right Worshipfull,—I am forced to complayne vnto you of diverse insufferable wrongs don

vnto Sir fferdinando Gorges, his Commissioners and Province, by Mr. Cleiues and his agent,

Mr. Tucker, who report that you protect and countenance there exorbitant practices, which I

canot beleave, for I never yet knew you giue the least encouragement to any sinister practice.

Mr. Cleiues having perswaded Mr. Rigby, (a worthy gent, by report) to buy the Plough Patent

which I esteeme no better then a broken tytle, by Mr. Rigby his authority, (and as he sayes by

your approbacon) he hath nominated Commissioners, a Coronell general], Provost marshall, and

other officers, extending his government from Sackadehock to Cape Porpus, being aboue 13

leagues in lenght, haveing likewise appoynted a Court to be kept in Cascoe bay the 25th of March

next, and hath sent his agent Tucker with a paper, perswading all such as he findes any way

inclyning to innovation, to set there handes to it, for the better approving of what they haue

begun, and allsoe to intreate your Worship and the rest of your magistrates to defend them

from Ffrench, Indians, and other enemyes, which wee construe to be Sir Fferd : Gorges Com-

missioners. Neither hath Cleiues (as he ought) presented any his authority at our last gen-

erall Court ; but, 2 dayes before our Court tooke a vioage into the bay, and all the way as he

went from rascataquack to Boston, he reported he was goeing lor ayde against mee, for that I

had threatened him and his authority, to beate him out of this Province. By this false re-

port and many other the like, I am held an enemy to iustice and piety. * * * I am

troubled at these seditious proceedings ; and much more at his most notorius scandalls of Sir ffer-

dinando Gorges,a man for his age and in integrity worthy of much honor; him he brandes with the

foule name of traytor by curcumstance, in reporting that he hath counterfeited the King's broade

Scale, (if he haue any patent for the Proviuco of Mayne) ffor, sayes he, I haue serched all the

Court es of Record, and can finde noe such grant. How could he haue giueu that graue Knight

a deeper wound in his reputation, the which I know is more deare to him then all the wealth

in America ; ho likewise maynetaynes his false report of his death, might into Walles, not

with standing a letter dated the 25th of 9ber last, from a marchant in London, of very good

credit, and brought in Mr. Payne his ship, which letter imports Sir fferd : Gorges his good

health with the restauracion of his possesions agayne. * * * Now for the Patent that Mr.

Rigby hath bought, it is not from our kings majestic, as Cleiues reportes, but from the President

and Counsell ofNew-England, as myne and others are.wherein Mr. Rigby hath from there LLord-

ships jura regalia, but his majestie takes that away by his royall grant to Sir fferd : Gorges,
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bearing date thir[teen]th of Ai>rill, in the fifteenth yeare of his highnes rolgne. Now I con-

ceine Mr. Rigby his agent is but to recover bob much land as the grant s\ [flee, and to relin-

quish there Jura regalia, as you may perceiue in the last clawse ofoui grant here with sen! you.

* * * Vi-t I did ever, and doe Intend, whensoever Mr. Rigby shall send over ] pie, to lett

them -i-t t ir- peaceably, to ayde and assist them to the best of my power, withoul questioning of

meumettuum; Bbr this I know, if Sir Fferdinando Gorges and Mr. Etigby meete, all matters

wil be quietly ended, if there be no incendiaries here. * * *

7our faythfull freind and servant,

Rich : VlNEB.

Saco, the Oth of January, 1643.

•THOMAS JBNNEB TO JOHN WINTHROP.

To the Right Worship kit very Umeing <6 kindfriend Mr. Wintrop, <it his howse in Boston in

W. E.giut theise I ;>ray.

Worthy Sir:—My due respect being remembered to you, I heartily salute you in the Lord ;

giueingyou humble thanks, for your favourable aspect which hath alwaiesbin towards me,

(though of me most undeserued,) and especially for your late kind letter on my behalfe; for

which Bake 1 was kindly unbraced, aboue the expectation of my selfe, & others, and am still il

thank ( !<i(l )loni'i n glv respected amongst them: but not with out some hot die ;ourses,(especially

about the ceremonies ;) yet they all haue ended (through mercy) in peace ; and for aught I can

perceiue, doe prize the word, & relish it,dayrj better then other, and Borne promise faire; euen

in Mr. Vines his family. But generally they were very ignorant, superstitious, & ritious: and

scarce any religious. Efreleaue they giue me to doe whal Boever 1 please; unposeing nothing

on me, either publikly or privately, which my seiiv dislike, onely this, Mr. Vines & the captainef

both, haue timely expressed themselues t.. be utterly against church-way, Baying, their Patent

doth prohibit the same
; 3 et C, for my part oeueronce 1 :hed upon it, except when they them-

selues haue in private discourse put me upon it bj questions of their owne, ffor I count it no

season asyet to go build, before God sends va materials to build with all. Thus being in somo

hast, I end humbly craueing your prayers:

Your worships to command

Tllo: JENNXB.

Saco, 4th of the last. 1640.

THOMAS JENNER TO JOHN WINTHROP.

To the Right Worship/UU his very worthy friend Jf. Winbrop Esqr. d- Deputy Gouernor of

if. E. at his. howst in Boston give theise.

Right Worshipfull,—My due respects remembred to you. This is to infbrme you (according

td request made vnto me, both by Mr. Jocelyne & Mr. CleeveJ that in CascocBay on the last

of March the major pari of the Province of Lygoniameet together, at an intended Court ofMl

Cleeve. Mr. Jocelyne 4 his company came armed with gunes & swords, or both; Mr. CleeveA

•[Thomas Jenner was at Saco as early a> the winter of 1640-1, and was probably the first min-

ister of the Puritan faith thai evei preached in Maine; unless thai wretched man. Burditt,

preached at York as early. Jenner w.i*. without doubt, the tir.-t minister settled at Saco. Rich-

ard Gibson, an Episcopal clergyman, living in the vicinity, at Spnrwink, ;i» early as 10.35, may
sometimes have preached here. Jenner remained here till 1646, as appears by a letter of his in

this volume, dated April 6, 1646; in whirl 1 he says, "lam, as, it were, on the wing of removal

;

but whither, asyet I know not"

Jenner was of Roxbury in 1634 or 1635, but nol long after wenl to Weymouth, which town

he represented in the General Court of 1640. He is said to have returned to England before

1050, and to have resided in Norfolk. He was compelled t v itraitened circumstances, bo sell his

library before his death.]

ftBonython.]
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his company vnarmed. After sermon was ended, Mr. Joselyno & his company separated them-

selues about a furlong from Mr. Cleeve & his company. They sent vnto Mr. Cleeve a demand in

writing (with all their hands subscribed,) to haue a sight of his originals, promising a safe re-

turne. After some hesitation & demur, Mr. Cleeve, vpon condition they would come together

into one place, promised to gratifie them. The which being publikely read & scanned, the next

morneing Mr. Jocel3-ne & his company deliuered vnto Mr. Cleeve in writinge, with all their

hands subscribed, a Protest against Mr. Righbies authority of gouerment, that is to say, in any

part of that bound or tract of land which Mr. Cleeve doth challeng by vertue of his Patent, viz.

'rom Sacadehock River to Cape Porpus. They furthermore required & injoined Mr. Cleave &
his company to submit themselues vnto the authority & gouerment derived from Sir Fferdinando

Gorges, & that for the future they addresse themselues vnto their Courts.

Lastly they demanded of Mr. Cleeve a friendly triall concerneing the bounds afore sayd, (for

Mr. Jocelyne would that Mr. Cleeve his terminus a quo should begin 60 miles vp Chenebec River,

because the Patent saith, it must lie nere two Hands which are about 60 miles from the sea.

Ffor answer to it the Patent also saith, the tract of land of -10 miles square, must lie on the south

Bide of Sacadehock-River.

Now Sacadehock riuer reacheth but to Merry Meeting, & then its branched into Begipscot, &
Chenebeck, & is no further cald by the name of Sacadehock. Now Sacadehock River is a certaine

and sure place for one terme of its bounds, but the Hands are doubtfull, which they are, or wher

thej' are ; more ouer ther possession was first taken. Mr. Cleeue in his answere readily accepted

their offer of a triall at Boston ; whervpon they both bound themselues each to other in a bond of

500/t. personally to appeare at Boston the next Court after May, then &, ther to impleade each

other. * * *

Furthermore Mr. Cleeue demanded a sight of their originals for gouerment, none being pro-

duced, he disclaimed obedience, and told ther was no equality betweene his something & their

nothing. It was also agreed, that none of each company or party should, at any time or vpon

any occasion, be troubled or molested by an y of the other party or company, vntill the suit afore-

sayd be ended.

Mr. Cleeue layd his injunction in particular on Mr. Jordane, neuer more to administer the

Beales of the Covenant promiscuously, & without duo order & ordination, within the province of

Lygonia.

I must needs acknowledge, to their high commendation , that both Mr. Jocelyne* & Mr. Cleeve

carried on the interaction very friendly, like men of wisdome & prudence, not giueing one mis-

beholding word each together, such was the power of Gods Holy Word, aweing their hearts.

Your letters were also very valide, & gratefully accepted on both parties. Thus after two or

three daies agitation, each man departed very peaceably to his owne home.

Thus, right worthy Sir, according to the trust committed to me, I haue faithfully (though

rudly) composed the chiefe matters in that their transaction, & haue here sent them vnto you.

So I comit you to God & rest. Yours to comand

Tho: Jenner.

Saco, 6, 2 m. 46.*******
Sir, I haue lately ben earnestly solicited by one Mrs. Tucker, an intimate friend of mine, &

an approved godly woman, that I would writ vnto your worship ; that in case Mr. Cleaue &
her husband (Mr. Tucker) shall happen shortly to haue recourse to your selfe, to end some mat-

ters of difference betweene them, now at their departure each from other, that you would be

pleased, as much as in you lye, not to suffer Mr. Cleaue to wrong her husband, for though her
husband hath ben as it were a servant hitherto for Mr. Cleaue, yet now at their making vp of
accounts, Mr. Cleaue by his subtill head, brings in Mr. Tucker lOOU. debter to him.

*[Vines had now left the country, and Jocelyne had taken his place as the representative of

Gorges in the colony.]
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GEORGE CLEEVE TO JOHN \\ INTHROP.

To the homered John Winthrop Esquire Qonemour tlies pri

o Hvy, this 27th of the 11 moneth, 1643.

Bonerbd Si k ,—With my most hvmble service I salute you, accnolid imr my duty of thank-

fulTnis i i you for all formar favors shewed nice: and whereas you were plesed at my request

tn writ to -Mr. Vines .t others in behalfe of Mr. Rigbies athority, of which 1 informed him in

my last lettars, assuring myselfe that hee will not !>• vnmyndfull to requil your love therein.

\\ hat Mr. \ Ines answered you 1 know aot, but thus can afferme & proue, thai by his practis he

doth slitly regard your advice therein (as may appears by the supplication of the inhabitants of

Ligoniaand other passeges, the truth whereof this bearar can informs you, as allso of there.

c[onJ saltations with Mr. Gurdin (Jordan) a minister of antichrist, there chefe counsellor) who
doth not only calumniate and slander the parliament of England with vile reproachful] termes,

as rebellions, factias, trayteros parssons against the king) but allso belteth out bis hlasfemise

against the Churches of Christ in this land, charging them with seisms and faction for fasting

& praying for the affliction of there brethren in England, denying it to be the hand of God

vpon the land for sinn nor the occation of papist or evell counsellars, but for the rebellion of

the parliament and the puritant faction there, with many othar passeges of that vnworthy

Ballitte, of which this bearar Mr. Tuckar can informe you : as allso of Vines his dealings with

him, and of his thretning to Bend mee pressonar to England in Mr. Trelanies ship, which in-

forketh nice once more to joyne with the inhabitants of Ligonia and humbly todosire your as-

sistance against there \ alawfull practisses, and so mveh the rathar for there wicked oposition of

the ways id' Christ. They seeing vs aboui to eettle ourselues vndar the ministry, and that wee

ar in hope that the Lord will gathar a Church amovngst vs,* this causeth them >v there prelat-

ticall counsellar to raidge the more, which will insite you to assist vs so mveh the rather. *

w hilsl I am
George Ci.eeve.

GEORGE CLEEVE AND OTHER.'! TO THE GOVERNOR, DEPUTY GOVERNOR, AND

ASSISTANTS OF MASSACHUSETTS.

Tn the hono ured (innernour <£ Deputie Oovernour, </
: Court of Assistants in the Massetu ;

Bay, On se pi

Honoured Sirs.—With our must humble service wo salute vow in the Lord Jesus Christ

Shewing vnto yow that we are in great distresse by a company of factious nun. who haue

leagued thi m seluee together to murther vs. together with all the well affected in Mr Rigbyes

Province oi Ligonia, vnder pretence of a protest against vs, whoe have Beverall Commis-
sions from Mr. Rigby for the present government of his Province. The heads of this league

are Mr. Henry Jocelyn, Mr. Arthur Mackworth, & Ffrancis Robinson, whirl. Mr. Mack-

worth did willingly Bubmit to Mr. Rigbyes authority formerly, and did subscribe to hisconstitu-

cions, & received aC mission from him to be an Assistant, .*. acted by it till hewasdrawne
away by the perswasion of Mr. Vines & Mr. Jorden, (one vnworthily called a minister ofChrist.)

From these two men all this evil] doth principally Howe, for though Mr. Vines ho now gone,

yet le* hath presumi d to depute Mr. Jocelj n in hi- -t. ad, although he never had any Commis-

sion soe to doc: yet he, by the councell of Mr. Jorden, hath taken \i>i>n him, as a lawful] Mag-

istrate to come intoCascoe Bay & hath gone from house to house, being accompaned with

Efrancis Robinson & Arthur Mackworth, & hai e discourraged the i pie of Ligonia, A drawne
them offe, someby frauds &Bome by force, from theiresubiectiontoMr. Rigbys lawfull authority:

contrary to theirs oatbes freely and willingly taken, a true coppy whereof is herewith sent.

And banc also,- presumed to take deposit I] people, to accuse some of vs falsely and
slanderously with treason & other crime, whereof we arc innocent; intending vpon tboso

grounds to dcale with vs at theire pleasure, and thus we are all destined by them vnto destruc-

cion, if the Lord prevent not theirwicked plottB against vs. And this is to be put in execu-

*[Stephen Bachillor appears to have bad a call from Casco about this time to settle.—Eds.]
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cion vpon the last day of March next, vpon which day we haue appoynted to keepe a Court in

Cascoe Bay, which Court is already summond, & severall actions entred, which are at issue, &

someof theirt party bound over for misdemeanor, & seueral actions against many of them, &

therefore cannot be reiourned; at which time, they having made a party of neare an hundred

(as we are informed) to set vpon vs, & violently to resist Mr. Rigbyes authority, & so take vs &

our partie, &. slay vs, or deale with vs at their pleasures. And further, we are truly informed

that they intend to make this the begining of a sivill wane, which they intend to blowe

abroade into all parts of this land, & giue it out there be many amongst yow, & elsewhere, that

doe but looke for an opportunity to declare themselues Cavileers, & for the King, as if yow or

wee were the Kings enimies, & they onely his friends. Commending you all to the grace of

God & resting your humble seruants.

William Kyall. George Cleeve.

Richard Tucker. Thomas Perches.

Casco Bat, thi3 18th ff'ebr : 1645.

[The following draught of an answer to the foregoing letter, in the handwriting of Gov. Wiu-

throp, is written upon the reverse of the leaf.]

To our worthy friends Mr. George Cleves, Deputy President of Ligonia, d: his Assistants, at

Casco, dd.

Sir,—We haue received & considered your lettres by this bearer, Mr. Purchas, together with

the Testimony and other writings sent therwith : we received also lettres & other writings from

Mr. Jocelin & others; by all which we perceiue that the differences between you are growne to

a great height of contention, which we are very sorrye for, & would not be wantinge to doe

what lyes in vs for composinge the same. But whereas the differences grewe vpon extent of

some Patents & right of Jurisdiction wherein Mr. Rigby & others in E : are interested, & lettres

have been sent to them from both partyes, & answer is expected by the first return, therevpon

we have thought it expedient to perswade you bothe to forbeare any further contention in the

meane tyme, &. have written to Mr. Jocelin, &c, to that ende, who having desired our advice, we

may presume they will observe the same, &. will not attempt any acts of hostility against you

;

and we doubt not but you wilbe perswaded to the same ; which we judge will conduce most to

Mr. Rigbys right, and your owne &, your neighbours peace. Your loving friends.

Boston, 5.(1), 1645.

No. V.

FROM JOHN JOCELYN'S VOYAGES, i

Towns there are not many in this province. Kittery situated notfar from Pascataway is the

most populous.

Next to that eastward is seated by a river near the sea Gorgiana, a majoraltie and the metro-

politan of the province. Further to the eastward is the town of Wells. Cape Porpus eastward

of that, where there is a town of the same name, the houses scatteringly built, all these towns

have store of salt and fresh marsh with arable land, and all well stocked with cattle. About

8 or nine miles to tho Eastward of Cape Porpus is Winter harbour, a noted place for fishers,

here they have many stages. Kaco adjoins to this, and both make one scattering town of large

extent, well stored with cattle, arable land and marshes and a saw mill. Six miles to the east-

ward of Saco and 40 miles from Georgiana is seated the town of black point, consisting of about

60 dwelling houses, and a magazine or doganne scatteringly built, they have store of neat and

horses, of sheep near upon 7 or 800, much arable and marsh salt and fresh and a corn-mill. To

the southward of the point (upon which are stages for fishermen) he two small islands ; be-

yond the point,|North eastward runs the river of Spurwink. p. 200.

IThe period to which this narrative relates is 1670 : Jocelyn returned to England in 1671

.
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p. 201. Four miles from black point, one mile from Spnrwink river eastward lyeth Rich-

mond's island, whose long, is ".17 30" and lat,43° '-'A', it i~ :! miles in circumference and hath a

passable and gravi lly ford on the North Bide, between the main and the sea al low water, here

are fonnd excellent whetstones and bare likewise are stages for fishermen. Nine miles east-

ward of Black point lioth scatteringly the town of Casco upon a large bay, stored with cattle,

Bheep, swine, abundance of marsh and arable land, a corn-mill or two, with stages for fishermen.

Further eastward is the town of Kennebec seated upon the river. Further yet eastward is

Sagadehock, where there are many houses scattering and all along Btages for fishermen,

tored with cattle and corn lands.

p. 202. 12 miles from Casco bay, and passable for men and horses, Is a lake called by the

Indians Sebug on the brink thereof a< one end is the famous rock Bhaped like a moote deer or

helk, diaphanous, and called the moose rock, II ire are found stones like crystals and lapis

Bpecularis or muscovia glass both \\ lute and purple.

p. 205. From Sagadehock to Nova Scotia is called the Duke of fork's pi'"\ ince, here Pema-

quid, Montinicus, Mohegan, Capeanawh igen, where Capt. Smith fisht for whales; Muscataquid

all filled with dwelling houses and stages for fishermen and have plenty of cattle, arable land

and m u

p. 207. The people in the Proyinco if Maine may be divided into magistrates, hushandmen

or planters, and fishermen ; of the magistrates some be royalists, the rest perverse spirits, the

the plant ra and fishers, of which Borne be planters and fishers both, others meer fish-

ers.

Handicraftsmen there are but few, the tumelor or cooper, smiths or carpenters are beet wel-

rmongst them, shopkeepers there are none, being supplied by the Massachusetts mer-

chants with all things they stand in i d of. English shoes are sold for 8 or 9 shils, a pair,

worsted stockings of 3s. 6d. for 7 and Ss.a pair, Douglass thai is sold in BngUnd for 1 or 2 and

20 pence an ell, for 4s. a yard, serges of 2 or 3s. a yard for 6and7shill

Thej have a custom of taking tobacco, Bleeping at noon Bitting long at meals some-

times four times a day, and now and then drinking a dram of the bottle extraordinarily * *.

They feed generally upon as g l il ssh, I i. pork, mutton, fowl, and fish as any in the world be-

sides. Their servants win, hair for the mosf part English, will not work under a half a crown

aday, when they are out of their time, although it be for to make hay, and for less I do not

see how they can hy reason of the dearness of clothing. It' they hire them by the year they

pay them L4or 615 at the years end in corn, cattle andin fish: some of these prove excellent

fowlers, bringing in as many as will maintain their master's house; besides the profit thatac"

crues by their feathers.

p. 210. The fishermen take yearly upon the coast many hundred kentals of end. hake, had-

dock, polluck, 4c. &c which they split, salt and dry at their Btages, making three voyages In a

year. When thej ahare their ti>h. which is at the end of everj voyage, thej b parate the hest

from the worst, which is known when it is clear like a lanthorn horn and without spots : the

second sort they call refuse fish, that is such as is salt burnt, spotted, rotten and carelessly or-

dered; these they put off to the Massachus tts merchants; the merchantable for 30 and 32

reals a kontal ill2 pounds) the refuse for.9 audio,, the quintal. The merchants send the

merchantable fish to Lisbon, Bilbo, Burdeaux, Mai siles, Talloon, Rochel, Roan, and other cities

of France, to the Canaries with claw board and pipe staves, which is there and at the Charibs a

prime commodity ; the refuse fish they put off at the Charib islands, Barbadoes, Jamai

who feed their NegTOS with it.

p. 211. To every shallop belong four fishermen, a master or steersman, a Midshipman, and a

foremast man and a shore man, who washes it out of the salt and dries it upon bundles and

tends their cookery.

These often _ tin 3 or £9 a man, but it doth some of them little good, for the

merchant to increase his gain bj putting oft his commodity in tl fddest of their voyages, and
at the end thereof i ies in with a walking tavern, a hark laden with the legitimate bloud of

the rich grape which they bring from Phial, Madera, Canaries, with brandy, rum, the Barbadoes
strong water and tobacco, coming a shore he gives them a taster or two, which so charms them
that for no persuasions will they go to sea, although fair and seasonable weather for 2 or 3 days,
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nay sometimes a whole week, till they are wearied with drinking, taking a shore 2 or 3 hhds. of

wine and rum to drink when the merchant is gone.

They often have to run in debt for their necessaries on account of the lavish expense for drink

and are constrained to mortgage their plantations if they have any, and the merchant when
the time is expired is sure to turn them out of house and home, seizing their plantations and
cattle, poor creatures, to look out for a new habitation in some remote place, where they begin

the world again, p. 212.

e
Of the same nature are the people in the Duke's province, who not long before I left the

country petitioned Mass. to take them into their government, p. 212.

No. VI.

ROBERT JORDAN'S WILL.

In the name op God, amex.

I Robert Jordan, senior gentlem : formerly of Spurwink, and now resident on the Great Is-

land in the township of Portsmouth, in New-England, being weak of body, but of sound and

perfect memory, praysed be God,,—Do make, ordayne, and declare this present writing to be

and remayne my last, undoubted Will and Testament, in manner and forme following

:

Imps. I bequeath my soule to God, hopeing by the meritts of Christ my Saviour, to enjoy

eternal life, and my body to ye earth to bee decently buried—And what temporall things I am
blessed with, all by ye Providence of Almighty God, I give and bequeath as followeth :

Item—I do hereby ratify, allow and continue two deeds or writings, which I formerly made

and gave under my hand and seale, one to my elldest sonn John Jordan, and another to my sec-

ond sonn Robert Jordan, according to the contents y'rin exprest.

Item—I give and grant to my wife Saraih Jordan, now living, the ould plantation at Spur-

winke, containing one thousand acres, bee it more or less, begining wt the grant belonging to

my sonn John Jordan doth one and euding where the lott bequeathed by this my will to my 3d

sonn Dominicus Jordan doth begine, and soe along the highway untill you come to the Greate

Pond ; for and during the terme of her natural life ; the reversion and inheretance y'rof to bee

and remaine unto my youngest sonn Jeremiah Jordan, his heyers and successors forever, as his

part and portion.

Item—I give and bequeath unto my sayd wife Saraih Jordan, one other farme, called Nonn-

such, containing two thousand acres, be it more or less, for and during her naturall life ; and

for ye more strict obleighing my children's duty to her, my will is that shee wholly and ab-

solutely dispose the succession and inheritance thereof, to either or any of my sonns, they or

their or any of their heyres, or issue, lawfully by them or any of them begotten, forever.

Item—I give and bequeath unto my sonn Dominicus Jordan, one thousand acres of land, at

Spurwinke, to begin where the abovesd ould plantation endeth, as hee shall make cho3rce of,

to be layd out by the onereferees hereafter nominated.

Item—I give and bequeath unto my sonn Jedediah Jordan, one thousand acres of my land,

at Spurwinke aforesaid, to bee chosen by him out of my land not disposed before, to bee to the

use of him and his heyres, forever.

Item—I give and bequeath unto my sonn Samuel Jordan, by reason of his posterity's choyce

of eleaven hundred acres of land of my said land at Spurwinke, to bee to the use of him and

his heyres forever ; and what part or prcell of land remaynes not bequeathed nor given of my
sayd lands, at Spurwinke, by any or all of the above rescited and expressed articles, I do hereby

give and bequeath the same, being uplands, unto my sonns above named, to be divided and

equally alloted amongst them.

Item—My will is that my meddow, bordering along by the river Spurwinke, bee equally di-

vided to each portion of the above given lauds, nearest and most conveniently adjoyning to each

prcell or portion as is above disposed.
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Item—Igivo and bequeath unto my foure youngest Bonns, namely, Dominicus, Jedediah, Sam-

uel and Jeremi ih Jordan, to e tch of them one feath ir bedd and bowlsters.

: ,i iny a iyd wife s iraili, and my iwt sonns J'.>liti and Robert Jordan

to be m

j

utors.

I make and h rebyordiy M Ni bo Shapl igh of Kittery, Mr. Nath'1 Fryer, and Mr.

Bickham, raerchan ! and to end all differences in any matters arising,

:i this my last will and testament,"botween my
. il and to sel loall things according to their be3t judgments,

an 1 nearest intent of tin-- my will that noe furtherorfuture differences may arise.

L wtly—My will and int ml is, th it each an 1 every of my afbre-m intion d sonns, th iii
:

an 1 su :c sa >rs, sh ill b ive an 1 injoy all and singular the af iresay 1 prescril - -. and

i
. or either of them want naturall issue, that then that legacy shall n lown

.
• rest.

: Island, 28th of January 1678 : Mr. Robert Jordan senior, acknowledged this within

s his last Will and Testament, and was at the sam I me mnd mind and pr-

mory.bnl haveing lost the use of his hands could not signs and seale tho same ; and

Mr. X . 1 1 1 1 1 Fryer to bee one of his onerferees, who is interline 1 above. This ow nsd
'

Elyas Styxen iv. Commissioner.

rill was exhibit d in Court, Julj l,'79,bj Mr. Nathl Fryer under the attestation an-

nexed ndisallowi rded. Jos. Dudley, assistant.

Very cop tot this Will and Testament ib vo written, transcribed and compared with origin-

rthilay of July, one thousand six hundred and seaventy-nine, andpr. ye County Court

I, as attestes. Edw. Rishworth, R.C.

No. VII.

COPY" OF A DEED FROM INDIAN SAGAMORES TO GEORGE MUNJOY.

June .',, 1CGS.

Bo it known unto all men by these presents that Wee Nunatecon9tt and Warabitta alias

Jhone of Casco Bay do acknowledge to have received of Ge irge Mjnjoy on Great Rogg to the

- which we acknowledge ourselv a fully satisfyed for in consideration of

which we do by tli ae pros ints assigns sell and make over unto <ie >rg Munjoy of the s ime Bay

parcel of Land by the Bounds hereafter mentioned, which is to begin onthe other

i Imancongan River it the gre it falls th • upp irmost pirt of them calle 1
.-' tcarabigg and

so down the river side unto tho low irm ist planting ground, the lowermost part th r sof, anJ so

from each aforesaid bounds to go directly into the woods so far as s;iiil Munjoy will, not exceed-

mile, with all the w Is and privileges thereunto belongin nd to hold to

him the said Munjoy his heirs, executors, administrators and assigns from us our heirs, execu-

tors and administrators irmly by these presents, and also from anj other person or persons

whatever claiming any riu'lu title or interest thereunto shall warrant and defend the same and

do further hereby enga ourselves and our heirs unto tho said Munjoy his heirs ami assigns

that he and thej shall q uetly and peaceably enjoy the premises and for the performance hereof

Wee have hereunto set our hands and seals this 4th June 1666.

Signed, sealed an i delivered mark

in presence of us. Warrabitta f) Seal

Mark NUNANICUT .V Seal.

John I lSromo

Jane I Cloys

Philip L Lewis

35



554 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

No. VIII.

DEED FROM PRES. DANFORTH TO THE TRUSTEES OF FALMOUTH.

168U.

This Indenture made the twenty-sixth day of July Anno Domini one thousand six hundred

eighty and four and in the thirty-sixth year of the reign of our Sovereign Lord Charles the

second by the grace of God of England Scotland France and Ireland, King, defender of the

Faith &c.

Between Thomas Danforth Esq. president of his majesty's Province of Maine in New Eng-

land on the one party, and Capt. Edward Tyng, Capt. Sylvanus Davis, Mr. Walter Gendall, Mr.

Thaddeus Clark, Capt. Anthony Brackett, Mr. Dominicus Jordan, Mr. George Bramhall and Mr.

Robert Lawrence, trustees on the behalf and for the sole use and benefit of the Inhabitants of

the town of Falmouth within the abovenamed Province of Maine on the other party, Witness-

eth That whereas the abovenamed Thomas Danforth by the Governor and Company of the Mas-

sachusetts Colony in New England the now Lord Proprietors of the abovenamed Province of

Maine at a general assembly held at Boston on the eleventh day of M n 1681 is fully authorized

and empowered to make legal confirmation unto the Inhabitants of the abovesaid Province of

Maine of all their lands or proprieties to them justly appertaining or belonging within the

limits or bounds of said Province.

Now, know all men by these presents that the said Thomas Danforth pursuant to the trust

in him reposed and power to him given as abovi said by and on the behalf of the Governor and

Company of the Massachusetts Colony aforesaid, hath given granted and confirmed and by

these presents doth fully clearly and absolutely give giant and confirm unto the abovenamed

Capt. Edward Tyng, Capt. Sylvanus Davis, Mr. Walter Gendall, Mr. Thaddeus Clarke, Capt.

Anthony Brackett, Mr. Dominicus Jordan, Mr. George Bramhall and Mr. Robert Lawrence

trustees as above expressed—all that tract or parcel of land within the township of Falmouth

in said Province according to the bounds and limits of said township to them formerly granted

by Sir Ferdinando Gorges knight or by any of his agents or by the General Assembly of the

Massachusetts with all privileges and appurtenances to the same appertaining or in any wise

belonging—all royalties reserved to his Majesty by the Charter granted to Sir Ferdinando

Gorges knight as also those by said charter given to the said Ferdinando Gorges knight, his

heirs and assigns—Together with the rivers streams and coves contained within the limits or

botuads of said township always to be excepted and reserved.

To have and to hold all the abovesaid tract of burl by these Presents granted and confirmed

be the same mere or less with all the privileges and apurtenances to the same appertaining or

in any wise belonging (excepting as is above excepted and reserved) to them the said Capt.

Edward Tyng, Capt. Sylvanus Davis, Mr. Walter Gendall, Mr. Thaddeus Clarke, Capt. Anthony

Brackett, Mr. Dominicus Jordan, Mr. George Bramhall and Mr. Robert Lawrence as trustees

abovesaid forever to the only proper use and behoof of the inhabitants of the said town that

now are and I" them that shall there survive and succeed from time to time and forever more

b ireafter. And the abovenamed Thomas Danforth for and on the behalf of the Governor and

Company of the Massachusetts Colony and for their bucci -,- irs and assigns doth further cove-

promise at I grant to and with the abovenamed Edward Tyng, "ylvanus Davis, Walter

Gendall, Thaddeus Clarke, Anthony Bracket), Dominicus Jordan, George Bramhall and Rob-

ert Lawrence their heirs and assigns tru above expressed, that they the said Edward

[ •

. Sylvanus Davis, Walter Gendall, Thaddeus Clarke, Anthony Brackett, Dominicus Jordan,

George Bramhall and Robert Lawrence shall and may at all times and from time to time for-

ever hereafter peaceably and quietly have hold occupy and enjoy all the above given and

granted premises without the lei denial or contradiction of the Governor and Company of the

Massachusetts Colony or of any other person or persons whatsoever claiming and having any

lawful right, title or interest therein or in any part or parcel thereof by from or under them

the said Governor and Company or by any of their assigns. They the abovenamed Inhabi-

tants of the said town of Falmouth for the time being and in like manner that shall there be
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from tiise to time foi yielding and paying in consideration th
i

; line by

them autbori ered for the ti Dr to other their agent and lawful a

u quil rent to the 1 Con

the proposal made and mutually a I Assembly held in the abovesoid

1 1681 Dhat th led Inhabitants

Falmouth fori og and in like manner that shall fhere be from time to time

r as : • 1 1 acknowledgment of Sir Fordiuando Gorges 1 is

, . elve pence for every family win

shillings, and for all I I the sum of two shillings in a singli

pei
I

Provin

or neglect i aid In-

mako full payment annnally in manner a i mutual-

md agreed unto, it shall then be lawful for the said President ol the I

Governor and

J .ii-, i i levj and make
| of the

1 bounds of the said township as \

Baid quit rent as also for all costs and ch th ime. And the

bear drive or carry away with so much as it shall cost to con-

to the treasurer of the Pn i r to such
]

order and appoint. In witness whereol

bands and seals the day and year Srsl ai >• .\ .• written.

SYLT \m -: [l\\ [S. (Si tl)

ball, (Seal)

TllHi, I s Clark.
I

-
I

Dominicds Jordan. (Seal)

1 by

Sylvanus Davis, Walter Gendall,

Thaddeus CI irk, Dominicus Jor-

dan, in pi i

John 1

1

)

Josh. Scottow, /

A true copj i d. Jan. 1, 1731.

.A. 1 1 • -
1

,

A true copy from I I for Ui.- County of York, Book 14, page -'-'".

\\ m. Frost,

a
•

i

No. IX.

PAPERS RELATING TO GEORGE BRAMIIALL.

[No. l.)

Mr. Georg Bramhall

Sir; Yours I have reed, and according to your order have sent to you pr. Mr. Phillips' Slope
as under and hop it will be to

what la n Ifull from your friend.

ft ; n 2] Oi t. 1687.

on bbl

3 bush salt

2 Hi whale bon

5001argbord oayla

5 ibsd

6 lbs hob oayls

i thread at;

4 doz guisp bottons

if thar be any thing omitted order for itt ye next bring

Tdeodosius Moore. 1

£0 2 06

7 06

3 00

ii H 00

01 06

2 06

5 00

1 06

10 yds blew linnij;3d.

10 yds fin whit cloth

2 lbs powd
ii lbs shot

2 oz .silk

llord callyon at

20d. p"T yd

1 1-2 yd cloth to pack

£0 10 10

15 00

02 08

02 00

05 00

06 03

01 08

£i 00 2

1 Moore after this tim» married the widow cf Walter Genlill and lived in Marshfield.



556 MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

If you have any bottar or pork be pleased to send me what you can. Yr glass is nott redy

yett.

(Superscribed) For Mr. Georg Brarnhall at Caskow with a barll solt and small chest.

Per Joseph Pike Caskow Bay.

(Another from the same.)

(No. 2.)

Mr. Bramhall,

I have sent a parsell of Butter potts to Mr. Bragett * if you have occasion for any can send

3
-ou som or ferkins for-butter wh. you pleas inyeintrem. I sopose Capt. Bragett will sparyou

one or two. If I shall send you any send word by ye next slop and I will send them by Mr.

Inglish being all in hast I rest yrs to serve you. Theodosius Moobe.

Boston ye 10th July 1688.

(No. 3.)

I underwritten doe Ingage myself my Heyres or Assigns to pay unto Sylvanus Pavis or

his assigns for the acco'pt of Anthony Libbee the soom of twenty shillings and Three ptneeaud

other charges about the attachment, eight shillings and sixpence to be paid him in wite oke

Bariall stafs or Red oke hh stafs upon demand at hie water mark by the river side in Casco

river at fifteen shillings per Thousand as witness my hand this sixth day of March Annoque

Domini H'ST-S

Witness Georg Bramiiaii .

Peter Bowdoin

John Hollman. Charges

Warrant 10 Sarving warrant and Constable 2

a man * * itt 1 day 10 Waighting 3 days and forrig 3 6

(No k.)

Receeved of Georg Bremhall upon the accomptof Anthony Lebbe the soom of thirty shil-

lings and three pence being the full Ball, of all accompts betwixt me and said Lebbee, I say

received by nie in August 16S9. Silvams Davis.

Falmouth Province of Maine August 16S9 Receved of Georg Bremhall for the supply of

forte Loyal one quarter of Booll Beef waight seventy tow pouns I say receved pr me Eilvanus

Davis Capt.

(No. 5.)

Daniel Chambeling acknowledgth that he hath set an apprentice unto Georg Bramhall

of Portsmouth in Piscataway for the term of 9 years for ye consideration of eyght pounds and

10 shillings in hand paid before the acknowledging hereof, witness my hand this third day of

July 1GS0 before me Roger Kelley Commissioner Daniel Chammerin sone of

the mark of

Arone X tavaighe.

*[Brackett.]
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70,128

47, 80,94, 119,3

Abilie, Henry,

Abnaquis or Abnnki Indi ins,

Acadi its na ne an ! meaning,

Acadie, its extent,

Act of Incorporation,

Adams, Abraham,

Adams, James,

Adams, Jonathan

Agamentfcus,

A .in s, ship, 56

Aldsworth, Alderman Robert, 36,80

,Su W'm.,

Alger, Arthur. 91, 171, 197, 209, 213, 295, 382

Algonquin lang 413

: izoun, 270

Allen. Edward, 127, 241

Allen, Hope, 126, 154.241

Allen, Wm.'s,acc't of Arnold's Kv

,

Allisct, John's di position,

Ammoncongan, 1 1 -. 119, 129, 153

Andrews, Capt. Samuel, 101

\ i i ews, Klisha, 305

Ainl; 1,112,128,144,157,217,305

Andrews, Jane, 69,7

An brews, John, 370

Andrews, Rebecca, 128

Andrews, Samuel, 69, 112

Andrews' island, 11 I, 22 i

Audrosc.i_-^in river, 4 »

Andross, - E I uund, 199, 230, 274, 2 '7

Annapolis,

Appendix, 533

Aqua Vitee, 71

Archdale, J»hn, 173

Argall, Capt., 27

Arnold's army movements, 510

Arnold's army sufferings, 514

Arnold, Col. Benedict's, letters, (1775 !17. t 7

Arnold'! Expeditiou, by Wni. Allen, 199

Arnold's Journal, 494

Arrausoak Opper Kennebec), !"
I

i:l. 224

i - 103,164,174,197

Benjamin, 144,2 . - I

207

Atwell or Elatwell, Widow, 75, 114. 12]

30, 118

Winter, 74

ive, 75, 11 !. 117. 120, 121,122, 205,

B

1
i ' ill, W liter, 41, 51, bl

Bailey, Jonas,

tin,

John,

R v. Edward, 59, 412,

B

Bangs' isla 149,

Barl ith,

•. Nicholas, 116, 127,

Barger, Philip,

51 iphen, 74

Falmouth,

h ui ihamp, John, 45

B trade, 55
lii.ird ,v

' oq

missionary, 283
ird,

Biencourt,

Biglow, Major,

Bigot, Vincent, an 1 Jacques, missionaries,

B,aclc point
i 47, 70, 77,80,97,

Black Point gai

Black Point, lhabitants, submission,

. John,

Bliss, Potter,

216

39

,80

99

355

209

466

71

165

146

1

209

2 IS

•J77

370

291-

,79

.71

428

428

41

26

47.1

434

305

226

3S5

40

60
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Blue Point, 97

Boaden, Ambrose, 209. 211

Bode, Henry, 91, 312, 311, 352, 355

Bomazeen (Indian), 287

Bond, Nicholas, 363

Bonighton, Elinor, 377

Bonighton, John, 59, 81,105,113,185,190,213,377

Bonighton, Richard, 44, 54, 73,79, 81, S3, 91, 312

Bontineau, Stephen, 27 3

Booth. Robert, 93

Bound try line run, 2 )
.'

Bourne, E Iward E., 352

nBowdoin, :> l >r, 21«, 27 \ 231

Brackett, Anthony, 117, 122, 127, 151, 157, 172

[175, 185, 1S3, 132, 137

Bracket, Anthony, farm laid oat, 214, 218, 221

[233,235,211,257,234, 236,336

Brackett, Anthony, marriage contract, 2 '5

Brackett. Joshua, 143, 233

Bracket, Seth, 332,3)5

Brackett, Thomas, 127, 154, 157

Bra k d, Thomas, children of, 23 J, 3 )6

Brackett, Thomas, killed, 22 I

Bradford an 1 associates, grant to, 79

Bradshaw, Richard, 48, 52, 80

Bramhall, George, 127, 241, 236

Bramhall, George, family, 303

Bramhall, Joseph, 30S

Bramhall, Joshua, 305

Bray, Richard, 111, 1S5, 1S8

Bivnie, John, 151

Bretton, Le, 276, 277

Broad street, 243

Brown, Arthur, 73,71,84

Brown, John, 33

Bulgar, Richard, 120

Bush, John, 97

Burdet, George, 89, 335

Burr, Col. Aaron, 417,437,515

Burroughs, Rev. Geo., 216, 220, 222,2 13,273,32 J

Buss, John, 310

Button, Wavaad (Indian), 129

By-Laws, 13

Cad, Mr., 127

Callicot, Richard, 163, 1S8

Cammock, Thomas, 47, 48, 80, 81

Canada expedition, 1775, 417, 467

Cape Porpus, 10 >, 380, 397

Capisic, 65, 112, 117, 118, 201, 214, 216

Card, Francis, killed, 224

Carr, Sir Robert, 173, 1S1

Cartwright, George, 173, 182

Casco, 30, 48, 112

Casco bay, 68

Casco, inhabitants, petition to the king, 178

Casco river, 46, 48, 117, 130, 132

Casco tribe, 118

Casko mill, 120

Castin, Baron de, 33, 237

Catholic missions in Maine, 42S

Chadbourn, Humphrey, 170

Champernoon, Francis, 73, 83, 170, 177, 230

Charter of 1323, 32, 7 S

Charter of Massachusetts annulled, 273

Charter of the Society, 11

Chart T to Du Mont, •-'">

Ch trter to Gorges, 1639, its powers, &c, 86

Charter to South and North Virginia, 1003, 23

Ch mdiere pond, 435

Ch in here river, 413, 476, 5 >8

Chebeag islands, 145

Children and servants, unruly, 18 i

Child, Dr. Robert, 91, 95

Church, Col. Benjamin, 292, 303

Clapboard islands, 111, 232

Clarke, Elizabeth, 150, 194

Clark s, Th 1 1 bus, 124, 155, 157, 243, 293, 308

Clark, Jon is, 101, 2 12

Clark, Rev. William, 349

Clark's point, » 115, 154

Clark, Thomas, 202

Clay cove, 116

Clements, Richard, surveyor, 275, 27. 1

Cleeves' controversy with Winter, 5^, 58, 60

[67, 70,73, 125, 541

Cleeves's courts. 93

Cleeves, Elizabeth, 63

Cleeves, George, 40, 52, 59, 61, 72, 84, 89, 105

[123, 121, 124, 140, 142, 159, 162, 187

Cleeve3, George, and wife's signatures, 125

Cleeves,George,bill of complain t vs. Jordan,l 3

1

Cleeves, George, death, 192

Cleeves, George, petition to Gen'l Court, 133

Cleeves, George, signature, 12">. 123, 450

Cleeves, George, to Hope Allen, 123

Cleeves, George, to Walter Merry, 146

Cleeves, Joan, 116

Cleeves' letter to Massachusetts, 167

Cleeves' Neck, 59

Cleeves & Tucker, commission and deed from

[Gorges, 65, 63

Cleeves & Tucker's dwelling house, 63

Cleeves & Tucker, first location in Portland, 62

Cleeves & Tucker, partnership andoccupa'n, 64

Cleeves vs. Winter, record of cost, 533

Cloyes, John, 144, 155

Cloves, John, his family, 156, 1S9

Cloyes, Nathaniel, 1S9

Cloyes, Thomas, 139, 205, 302, 303
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Cocke, William,

tthew, 3, 122

note, 13

Collins, R

Combing 85,98

Commissii a irs from t'i king,

.HI

Commissioners from the king, their report, 181

tandS

i .1. 1 17,2 10,

Commi L76, 196

I ii -
1

;
-. T t

Conflict b 91

Controversy .
I

'

. illiam,

D

lit. 121, 131, 144, li

[197, 200, 20S, 219

Corney, John,

John, 172

Council ofPlymoutl 15,78

. month, sun m ir, 81

COWltj

Court at
' 185

' iates, 162, L70

1,94, 184, 195, 364

Court ofM issachusettain !"ork,li

if S issions, - >7, 381

Courtp 1,159 L67,184,185,365

lings un I ir ".

Courts in Maine, L88,

tn ler king's i 195

Cousins' island, 95, I iO

John, ' 85,99,114,382

river, 114

229

Cramake, II. T., 486

i in,

Crow n. Henry,

Cuckin 185

Ciimi ii I _' '

Curwine, J., lett< t ad, 16 (4, 39S

Cushing, Ezekiel,

Cutte, Richard, 177

Damaria

Danforth, X i

' Maine, 240

b to E Imund White, deed, 146

Davis, Silvanus, 37, 147, 224,242, 217, '274, 279

[280,282,284,30

I

harles,

Dearborn, Gen. Henry, 514,520

157, U

ii ;. isitions i

'.'7 J

:

ham, 235

i inah,

1 . French m 452

p river,

Dam iresque, Edward, 2*7

Duram •:-. Jeremiah,

Du M mt, flrsti il >nj in M

Du M mt. his charter an 1

M.,

Dnr •!. i

Durham, Humphrey,

Durham, Humphrey, killed,

French Mis

3 an,
i

1 it ml to,

398

2S

25

413

141

219

129,4 II

45,80

121

Davenport, Ebenezer,

Davenj >rt, I

Davis, Isaac,

D.i\is. Jacob,

Davis, Lawrence,

305, 308

305

200, 309

309

155, 171, 206. 309

Eastern cl lims, 147

Elbridg Giles and Thomas, 3G, 37, 80, 135

Elkins, Th imas, 88

Elliott, K ibert, 155

Ellicott. i 95

Emerson, B 346

347

t,John, 41,113,126
:

; 473

;. ind the church in Falmouth, 52

58, 1 1. 162

Exports From Falmouth, l 41

aile, Abraham S 37

oile, Anthony Brai '.. 2S4

&c., 125, 126

Fac- Bramhall, 307

12". 126

ilyn, 199

die, Henry Watts, 159

i le, John Hollman, 307

Fac-simile, John Winter, Fj~

!'
; r Bowdoin S07

ft. Jordan, 1 ;.'. •_::;

lie, Silvanus I 284

Fac-aiiniles, Sir E.Androesand John West, 275
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Fac-similo, Thomas Elbridgo, 37

Facsimile, Walter Neal, 53

Fac-similes of Sir F. Gorges, Thomas Gorges,

[Edward Godfrey, George Cleeves, Thomas

[Jenner, 4i0

Fall brook, 120

Falmouth, 42, 51, 200

Falmouth, boundaries and name, 111

Falmouth, deed of, to trustees, 271

Falmouth described, 203

Falmouth destroyed by the Indians in 1675

[and 1676, 212-226, 300, 303

Falmouth first occupied, 60

Falmouth named, 3S7

Falmouth presented, 200, 204

Falmouth resettled, 1673, 241

Falmouth Selectmen, 16S0, 215, 3S0

Falmouth, submission to Massachusetts, 385

Famine river, 450

Farmer, John, 220

Fayrweather, Samuel, 348

Felt, George, 70, 119,129, 144,155,188, 197, 225

[232

Felt, Joseph B., 226

Felt, Moses,

First settlers,

Fisheries on the coast,

Fishing business,

Fitzpen or I'hippen,

Fletcher, Rev. Nathaniel,

Fleet street,

Forks of Kennebec river,

Fort Halifax,

Fort island,

Fort Loyall,

Fort St. George,

Fort Western,

Fox, Rev. John,

Foxwell, Richard,

Freeman, Charles,

Freemen of Falmouth,

156

62, 63

30, 31, 32, 35

54, 55

113

349

247

459

460, 504

150

242, 265, 270, 239

29

460, 502

316

63, 143, 175, 197

325

201, 3S6

Freeze, Jacob, Jonathan, George, Joseph, 310

Freeze, James,
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Hill, John, 336

Hull, Joseph, 314

Hill, Peter, 09

Hilton, Edward and William, 35

Hilton, William and Francis, 372

d works relating to Maine, 5

tland, 25

ick, Richard, 185

Hodge, Michael, 64, 128

i I .

I

64

II island, 66, 1 J

Hollman, John, 307

Booh Fra i 177, :

II ike, William, 40. 7

Hopegood, Higuer, (Indians,) 288

II n- island, 42, 1

Housing, ivtcr, 156, 1S9

Howard, Robert, signature, 126

Howell, Morgan, 99, 185

Hubbard, Rev. Jeremiah, 316

Hunnewell's point, 29

Hutchins mi, Wm., Ann, Edward,Susannah,341

Immigration, 275

Indian corn, price, 223

Indian deed to P. Small, 118

Indian hierogl]
;

425

Indian languages,Got. Lincoln's remarks, 41_!

Indians, sale of liquors prohibited, 1S7

Indian tribe at Casco, 118

Indian war of L675, 210

Indian war of 16S9, 2S7

Ingersoll, Daniel, 311

Inger- I -',121,197,214, 217, 212, 'ill

i
1 1, George, Jr.,

Ingersoll, John, 155, 172, 242, 311

Ingersoll, Joseph, 155, 204, 242, 311, 312

Ingersoll, Samuel, 311,312

Ingersoll's mills, 243

Inhabitants of Casco, 1632, 55

Inhabitants of Casco, 1658, 105, 130, 141, 141

i5, 180

Inhabitants of Casco, 1675, 215, 236, 283, 319

Inhabitants of Casco, names of, 76, 236, 319

Inhabitants of Casco, petition to the king, 178

Inhabitants of Maine, pet'n t# Charl ^ 1

1

Inhabitants' p Iross, 272

Inhabitants' pet'n to Cromwell, 103, 892

Inhabitants' petition to Qen'l Court, 140, 143

Iniial lit ants' pet'n to Governor and Council,282

Introductory remarks, 7

Islands in Portland harbor, 42, 145, 152

Jefferds, Rev. Samuel,

Jennings, Abraham,

Jerked meats,

Jen ilea-. Rev, I

348

36

609

II

Jacob, John,

Jail at Casco,

36

;244, 216

163, 270

Jenn ir, Rev. Thomas's letters and autograph,

[547, 550

iii ird and Masse, 26

Jewell, George, 14S

Jewell's island, lis, 224

.1 lyn, Henry, 47, 52, 51,61,73,81,88,102

[132 I
I 169, 175,177, 185, 196,198

i. John. 60,76,158,173,177,196

Jocelyn, John's voyages, 550

Jocelyn, Sir Thomas, 73,88

John, 206

Jones, I'iiin 64

John, Augustine, 244, 310

i: I a ird, 177

Jo I in, li iminicus, 142, 147. 234

and family, 312

Jordan, Jeremiah, 147

Jordan & Mi 142

Jordan, Robert, 58, 70, 74, 102, 105,108,130

Hi. 159,162,163,170, 17-', 175, 1,7, 214

[217

Jordan, Robert, death and family, 232

Jordan, R ibert, p itition to Rigby,

fc's will, 552

Jord hi. R., to Manjoy, 1 41

Jordan, Samuel, 147

Jordan, R., signature, 142

. 1079, 380

Jurisdiction of Massachusetts, 152

Jury, 185, 188

Jury, Gran 1, return vs. Winter, 71

n's pay, 165, 373

if the Peace, 177, 1S5

Katahdin, 456, 468

Kenduskeag, 430

, patent of, 40,79

K n< " i river, 456

Kennebec trade, 55

Kennebunk, 349,350

Killed and wounded in Casco battles, 295, 301

Kimball, Thomas, 124, 150

Kineo, 456, 466

nrle3' letter, 1664, 174

King's Commissioners, 173, 181

King's Commissioners, last court, 195

B • Commissioners, proceedings, 184

Kittery, 102, 103, 380

Knight, Ezekial, 170, 19", 355
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Laco7.ii, 46, 77

Lake, Capt. Thomas, killed, 221

Land titles confirmed, 271,251

I ne,Jame3, 111,158,13)

Lane, John, 317

Large landholders, petition to Gen. Court, 113

Lawrence, Robert, 217, 275, 230, 231,296,302,313

Leach, Ee'v. Giles, 349

L i ler, Richard, 101

Lease, Gorges to^Cleeves & Tucker, 01, 543

Leighton, John, 185,183

Letter from E. Kishvvorth toGov. Endicott, 396

Letter from Gen'l Court to inhab's ofCasco, 210

Letters of Sir F. Gorges, Richard Vines, Thom-

[as Jenner, and George Cleeves to Gov. Win-

[throp and others, 544-550

Leverett, Thomas, 45

Levitt, Christopher, 34, 42, 353

Lewis, Elinor, 191

Lewis, George, 72, 75, 105, 117, 122, 12S, 141

[159,191,221

Lewis, John, 75, 112, 117

Lewis, Jotham, 195

Lewis, Philip, If 0, 155, 191

Lewis. Thomas, 44, 79, 84, 85

Limerick, account of, 325

Limerick, churches in, 32S

Limerick, educated men and occupations, 329

Limerick, Indian history, 331

Limerick, origin of name, 327

Limerick, statistics, 332

Limerick, trade and manufactures, 330

Lincoln, Gov. Enoch, biographical notices, 408

Lincoln, Gov. Enoch's introductory remarks,

[403-40S

Lincoln, Gov. Enoch's papers, 403

Lincoln, Gov. Enoch's remarks on Indian

[languages, 412

Lincoln, Grant,
.

45

Lindall, Timothy, 311

Liquor, price of, 71, 72

Liquor, sale of prohibited, 3S1

Littlefield, Francis, and descendants, 345

Little, Rev. Daniel, 349

Location of early settlers, 203

Lockhart, Capt. George, 290

Long creek, 204, 206

Long island, 145, 148

Lots and locations, 1680, 242-250

Lusher, Edward, 170

Luxton, George, 71

Lygonia, 45, 59, 80, 90, 93, 97, 102

Lygonia, Court and decree, 540

Machcgonnc, 69, 02, C5, C8

Mackey's point and island, 69

M icworth, Arthur and John, son3, C6

Mac worth, Arthur, 66, 68, 74, 76, 85, 91, 91, 99

[102, 128, 133

Macworth, Jane, 70, 103,112,111,131,133, 111

[208, 217

Madivor, Michael, 155

Madiver, Joel, 206

M idockawando, 215, 2 13. 301

Magistrates for province and town3, 159. 1C3

Maine, division of territory, 81, S9

Maine, John, 111, 1S5, 1SS

Maine, province of, 16S1, 266

Map of New England, 31

Margery, ship, 56

Mariner, James, 313

Marten, Rev. Richard, 347

Martin, Dorothy, 203

Martin, Richard, 75, 105, 114,119, 121, 122, 125

[131, 141, 15S

Martin, Richard, death, 207

M irtin, Richard, family, 208

Martin's point, 75, 114

Martyn, Richard, of Portsmouth, letter of, 222

Marqouit, 113

Massachusetts claims juris'n, 100, 102,104,105

Massachusetts, opposition to, 167, 176, 196

Mason, Robert, 47

Mason, Capt. John, grant to him and Gorges,

[1622, 35, 65, 83

Masonia, 81

Massachusetts purchases Maine, 238

Masse, French missionary, 428

Maylem, Joseph, 306

M u erick, Samuel, 46, 173, 182, 39S

Meeting-house, 244

Megantic lake, 456, 464, 495

Megunnaway (Indian), 220

Meigs, Major, 479, 501, 514

Members of the Soc'y, living and dead, 5, 11, 16

Menickoe, C 9

Merry, Walter, 146

Michimore, James, If 9

Micmac tribe, their language, 422

Militia of Maine, 218

Militia of Maine, their pay, 229

Mills, 119, 267

Mill privilege, 119

Mills, Sarah, 191, 377

Mills, John, death and family, 2C9

Ministry, 161

Mitchell, Christopher, 306

Mitton. Ann, 117,205

Mitton, Elizabeth, 149, 155

Mitton, Joan, 124
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Mitton, Michael, G6, 72, 7(5, SS, 105, 114, 115

[117,123,124,131

Mitton, Michai 1, d atb and '. 1 '1

Mitton,
'

tildren,

Mitton, Natlianiel, 68, 121,122,124,157,2

Mogi tier's 76

32, 30, 57

Montgomerj I 4S4, 4S7, 490, 519

M intressor, Col., 117

Montn journal, 1H

Moody, Sj ii 1.

M io] e, R hard, '.'7

Morals of th i people, 15S, 1

M >] in, , mcis, 1
*">7

Morgan, Robert, 107

Moroagh, Dennis, 3i;>

I'eter, 313

Morris, Thomas, 114,131

M • isehead hike,

mountain, 460

M -. John, 115

75,111,1.

. John and Jamej,

Mounl Mahsell, 20

Mugg*, 215,228

Munjoy's 59

Mnnjoy's island, 60, 1

1

. Mary, 61, 121

Munjoy, Ge »rge, 121, 125

i nature, 126, 129,1

Munj< unily, 153, 166, 170, 174, 177

L82 L86 2 11, 202, 204, 222

Munjoy, John, father of '• 152

Munjoy, John.killed, 220

M iscle 221

> apt..



564- MAINE HISTORICAL SOCIETY.

Pike, Samuel,

Piii.- staves,

!. Roger,

I
i. patent,

284

57

170, 197

45, 67, SO

Plymouth, Col. Charter on the Kennebec, 41

Plymouth colon}', 33, 39

Point aux Trembles, 487

Point Levi, 482

Point of Rocks (Robins >n's wharf), 124, 24S

Pond island, 66,145,148

Popham colony. 1607, 29

Popham, Sir Francis, 30

Population, 286

Portland island, 150

Portland first occupied, 46, 60

Port Royal, 26

Potts, Richard, 188, 'J::,

Poutrincourt, 26, 428

Powsland or Powsly, Richard,122, 205, 206, 248

Preble, Abraham, 94, 107, 111. I

Preble, Abraham, death of, 164, 16 "i. ;; I

Preble, Jedediah, 150

Preston, 354

Presumpscot river, 42, 4S, 68, 120, 123, 130, 153

Prices of liquor, beaver, &c, 71

Pullin, Richard, 306

Purchase of Maine by Massachusetts, 23 s
!

Purchas, Thomas, 40, 80, 84, 211

Purpooduck, . 112, 151, 206

oduck, inhabitants of, 1675, 21
,

Quack or York, 42

Quack, Quahaug, 151

Quakers, 39S

Quarrel between Lawrence and Davis, 2S0

Quebec, 487, 488

Rale, Father Sebastian, 412. 436

. Francis, 197

Rawson, Edward, 101

Reading, Thomas, 148, 309

Recompense island, 147

:; Is oi York County, 363

Religious condition, 161

Ri 1 1] esentatives in Maine, 267

ntatives from Falmouth, 27

!

Retailers, 201,279

Richardson, Rev. Gideon, 348

Richmond, John, 41, 72

Richmond, bark, 41, 54, 56

Richmond's island, 41, 42, 43, 51, D 1

Richmond's island, its trade, 57, 72, 77, 151

Phineas, 121, 123,141,188,200

• Alexander, 46,67,90,97,115

Rigby, Alexander's government, 90,99

Rigby, Edward, 97, 99, 103

. Jeremiah, 205

worth, Edward, 107, 111, 127,159, 163, 170

R tads, 165

and traveling, 278

Roberts, Gyles, 95, 131

Robin Hood, 215

Robinson, Francis, 91, 94, 343

Ro linson, James, 1S7

Rocroft, Capt. Edward, 32

i: is. William, 70

Rogers, William, 203

Romagne, M., Catholic priest, 445

Ro . Anne, 191

Ross, James, 155, 172, 191, 219, 230, 314

Round Marsh, 205,206,241

Royall, Isaac. 2S9

Royall.John, 272,289

Royall, William, 99, 114, 236, 289

Royall's river, -s:>, 114

]175, 177, 185. 342-344, 355, 396

11, Richard and James, 148

Sabattis (Indian), 507

29

S ico, Sawguatock, 32, 103

Saco, 44, 83, 396

Saccarappa, 129

Salem, 217

Sanders, John, 127, 153

. John, 357

S inky, Robert, 69, 88

Sartigan, 479

Sares or Sears, 131

Saus3aye, La, French Missionary, 429,431

Scammon, Richard, 212

i] .ugh, 47, 333, 380, 3S5

Schenectady, 297

S litterygusset creek, 12S

Scottow, Joshua, 48, 198, 201

Scottow, Thomas, , 236

Seacomb, Richard, 247, 279

Sea Serpent, 77

Selectmen of Falmouth, 16S0, 245, 324

S l rl. •ments in Maine before 1632, 25-50

Settlements in 1620, 33

Shapleigb,Nicholas,107,Ul,15S,167,170.230,343

Sheldon, AVilliam, 185

Shurt, Abraham, 36

Skillings, John, 155, 191, 204, 217, 245, 248, 314

SMllings, Thomas, 122, 141

Skillings, Thomas, death, 194, 314

Skillings, Samuel, 315

Skowhegan, 459

Simon (Indian), 218,229
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Small, Edward,

ancis,

Smith, Capt. J

Smith, John,

Smith, Samu I, lulled,

Smith. Thomas,

Smith, K \ . 1 b

Smith, William,

Smyth, Richard,

Smyth, Thomas,

; . Sachem,

94

144,171

2 1 1

120

120

120

882

36

Stamford, Thomas, 105, 112, 118

M I. 130, 131, 1 14, 170, 217

Stamford, B

Sterling, Earl of,

Stevens, Amos,

mas,

i r,

Stratton, John,

! mils,

: mountain,

i: \ . Mr.,

Spurwink,

Spurwi II. Sarah,

Sqnando
i
[nd

-

130, 1

67

200

188

27,4:;i

65

80, 353

455

519

41, 52, 54, 214, 303

190

229

466

: ayset or Scitterygusset (Indian), 41, 42

[69, 118

Submission to Massachusetts, 105

Submi of Scarboro, &c, 385

Sullivan, James, 327

Surrender of Plymouth charter, Si

it boundary by Massachusetts, 100

Surveys of land by Amlross, 274

i.i A.. 349

94,240. 271. 323

Tax on Mills.

Taylor, Geo C4

Col. Thomas,

Thing, Jonathan, 371,372

Alexander,

Thompson, 1 >;. \ id, 35

Thorpe, Rev. John, 161

Thury. '

287

Thury, F., French missionary, 435

Tilden, Nathaniel, Judith, 164

Trade al Richmond's island, 54,56

Trelawny, Robert, 25, 46, 48

Trelawny, R »bert, patent, -'. 56, 80

Trelawny's death ami heir, 57

.i imes, 73

Trickey, Joseph, 208

Tristram, Hannah, Ralph, 234

Triton, 77

Trustees of Fa m 27t

St Cle ives' fl

p irtn irshipandoccupa'n,64

Tucker, I. a • an I John, 315

Tucker, M irg uret, ,; l- 548

. :,.. 62, 64, ''.7, 72. '.•;., 114

[122, 124, 158,382, 888

Turner, Ralph, 130, 155, 200, 315

274,282,815

\\
- Wi 316

I M m ;oil . S ich 'in,

' John,

36

238

466

in, William, 127

Venner, Henry, '-77

1,32, 13, !. 68,73, B5, 88, SO, 94

[132, 343

Vim-, R I
"f, 545

Vines, i
550

i attempts at settlement, 25

Virginia colony, 29

Wadleigh, John,

\\ idlei 'i. John,

Wakely, Elizabi Hi,

Wakely, John,

Wakefield, John,

Wakely, Thomas,

Wakely, Thomas, death and

Waldo patent,

\\ aid \ (' melius,

Waldo, Brigadier Samuel,

Waldron, Major,

Wallis,John, 105,141,

Wall:-, Nathaniel, 105,108,

Wallis, Nathaniel,

Walter, Thomas,

\\ .iin.i ton, Thomas,

k,

Warrabita Indian),

Warwick, Karl of,

Watts, Henry,

Watt-. Henry, signature of,

i«. Indian chief,

Way, Elcazer,

W'.ar.

Webber, Joseph,

Wei i , Samuel.

Webber Th

Webhannet river.

91,99

357

£12

122, 153, 212

is;.. 188

122, 1

122, 158

family, 212

45, 70

147

120, 147

291

1S5, 206, 220, 316

12.'', 141. I

76, IIS

317

77

123

129

47

61, 01, 99, 159

175, 3S3

340

80

40,80

91

317

317

362

337
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"Wells, account of town, 336-362

Wells, addition to history, by E E. Bourne, 352

Wells, boundaries, 361

Wells, charter, 1653, 360

Wells, diseases and deaths, 350

Wells, ecclesiastical affairs, 315

Wells, educated men, 340

Wells, first settlers, 362

Wells, Rev. George W., 349

Wells, Indian title, ' 357

Wells, Selectmen, 361

Wells, town, 103, 397

Wells, Samuel, deposition of, 38

Wells, origin of name, 354

Wells, Nathaniel, 340

West, Capt. Francis, 34

West, John, 71, 91

West, John, fac-simile, 275

Westbrpok, Col. Thomas, 147

Westcustogo, 151, 185

Whale fishing, 30

Wharff, Nathaniel, 70, 112, 113, 114, 128, 144

Wharff, Nathaniel, death and family, 208

Wharff, Rebecca, 128, 208

Wharff, Thomas, 128, 20S

Wharton, Richard, 40, 64, 147

Wheelwright, Rev. John, 182, 341-344, 352, 355

Wheelwright, Hon. John, 345

Wheelwright, Samuel, 177

White, Nicholas, 105, 114, 141, 151

White, Rev. Benjamin, 348

Whites, 207

Whipping, a punishment,

Whitwell, William,

Whittier, Nathaniel,

Wilkinson, John,

Willard, Capt.,

Willard, R^v. Samuel,

Willcott, Hugh,

Williams, Abigail,

Williams, Henry,

Williams, Jenkins,

Williams, Thomas,

Willine, Roger,

Wincoll, John,

Winter, John,

Winter, John,

Winter, John, his death, 58

Winter harbor,

Winthrop, Governor,

Wise, Thomas, 71,

Wiswall,

Worumbo, Sachem,

370, 371

155

297

150

314

189

209

129, 155, 200, 217

85,99

132

177

144

46, 52, 54, 57

67,70,76,77,133

32

66, 91, 544, 549

75, 114, 115, 123

202

40

York county records, extracts from, 363

York county, earliest courts, 364

York, Benjamin, 318

York, James, 318

York, John, 272, 318

York, Richard, 318

York, Samuel, 318

York ri*er, 46

York shire, 106

;. .
! >
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